Public Document Pack

Committee Agenda
City of Westminster
Title:
Meeting Date:
Time:
Venue:
Members:

Audit and Performance Committee
Wednesday 29th September, 2021
6.30 pm
Rooms 18.01 – 18.03, 18th Floor, 64 Victoria Street, London,
SW1E 6QP
Councillors:
Ian Rowley (Chairman)
David Boothroyd
Danny Chalkley
Antonia Cox

Members of the press and public are welcome to attend the
meeting and listen to the discussion of Part 1 of the Agenda
Link to live meeting
To access the recording after the meeting, please revisit the
link.
Part 2 of the Agenda concerns matters under Section 100 (A)
(4) and Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act
1972 (as amended). The public and press will be excluded
from the meeting for this item of business because it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information.
If you require any further information, please contact the
Committee Officer, Artemis Kassi, Lead Scrutiny Advisor.
T

Tel: 07817054991 Email: akassi@westminster.gov.uk
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk

Note for Members: Members are reminded that Officer contacts are shown at the end of
each report and Members are welcome to raise questions in advance of the meeting.
With regard to item 2, guidance on declarations of interests is included in the Code of
Governance; if Members and Officers have any particular questions, they should contact
the Director of Law in advance of the meeting please.

AGENDA
PART 1 (IN PUBLIC)
1.

MEMBERSHIP
To note any changes to the membership.

2.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other
significant interest in matters on this agenda.

3.

MINUTES

(Pages 5 - 24)

To approve the minutes of the Committee’s meetings on 17 June
2021 and 14 July 2021.
4.

AUDITED ACCOUNTS AND STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS

(Pages 25 486)

To receive and review the audited Statement of Accounts for the
Council and the Pension Fund following a public inspection period of
the accounts from 19th May 2020 to 1st July 2020. To receive the
report by the external auditors, Grant Thornton.

5.

FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE BUSINESS PLAN
MONITORING REPORT

(Pages 487 578)

To review and monitor the City Council’s financial position
including revenue forecast outturn, revenue expenditure including
key risks and opportunities, capital expenditure and HRA revenue
and capital expenditure and reserves.
To review and monitor the quarterly performance results against
the 2021/2022 business plans (Quarter 1).
6.

INTERNAL AUDIT MONITORING REPORT
To oversee and monitor the success of the Audit Service in
planning and delivering outcomes in addition to establishing an

(Pages 579 588)

effective and robust internal control framework (Quarter 1).
7.

VERBAL UPDATE
To update the Committee on progress since its meeting of 14
July, following the thematic review undertaken on health and
safety in schools as part of the Internal Audit Plan.

8.

POLICY ON COUNCIL OFFICERS RELATING TO GIFTS AND
HOSPITALITY

(Pages 589 598)

To review the Council’s Gifts and Hospitality Policy, as applicable
to Council Officers.
9.

WORK PROGRAMME 2021/2022

(Pages 599 612)

To review the work programme for the remainder of the municipal
year.
10.

PROCUREMENT CONTRACT PERFORMANCE
That under Section 100(A) 4 and Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended), the public and press
be excluded from the meeting for this item of business because it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information on the
grounds shown below and it is considered that, in all the
circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.

Stuart Love
Chief Executive
21 September 2021

(Pages 613 632)

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

MINUTES
CITY OF WESTMINSTER

Audit and Performance Committee
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Minutes of a hybrid meeting of the Audit & Performance Committee held in person
and via Microsoft Teams at 6.30pm at Westminster City Hall, 64 Victoria Street,
Westminster on Thursday 17 June 2021.
Members Present: Councillors Ian Rowley (Chairman), David Boothroyd, Danny
Chalkley and Antonia Cox.
Officers Present: Stuart Love (Chief Executive), Bernie Flaherty (Executive Director,
Adult Social Care and Public Health), James Costantino (Information Services and
Strategy), Damian Highwood (Chief Analyst), Artemis Kassi (Scrutiny Advisor), Mohibur
Rahman (Head of Strategy and Intelligence), Patrick Ryan (S&I) and Sophie Shore
(Director, Strategy and Intelligence).
Also Present: Gerald Almeroth (Executive Director of Finance and Resources), Senel
Arkut, Deirdra Armsby (Director Place Shaping and Town Planning, GPH), Jake
Bacchus (Director of Corporate Finance), Michelle Badham (F&R), Hazel Best (Legal
Services), Joanne Brown (Grant Thornton), Cagdas Canbolat (F&R), Ian Clarke
(Performance Manager, GPH), Nicky Crouch (CS), Mathew Dawson (Treasury and
Pensions), Tony Galloway (Interim Director of Environment, ECM), Kevin Goad
(Director of City Highways, ECM), Janine Gray, James Green (Director of
Development, GPH), Laurelin Griffiths (Grant Thornton), Twila Grower (ECM), Christian
Hill (S&I), Martin Hinckley (Director of Revenues and Benefits), James Holden (CS),
David Hughes (Tri-Borough Director of Audit, Risk and Fraud), Andy Hyatt (Tri-Borough
Head of Fraud), Debbie Jackson (Executive Director, GPH), Dayana Kertova, Jeffrey
Lake (Deputy Director, PH), Elisabeth Lambrou, Andrea Luker, Moira Mackie (Head of
Internal Audit), Calvin Maclean (Director of Public Protection and Licensing, ECM),
Nadeem Mahmood, Raj Mistry (Executive Director, Environment and City
Management), Natalie Monaghan, Stephen Muldoon (Director of Commercial and
Financial Management), Sarah Newman (Executive Director, Children’s Services),
Anna Raleigh (Director, Public Health), Stuart Reilly, Visva Sathasivam, Annabel
Saunders (Director of Operations and Programmes, CS), Rikin Tailor (Head of
Corporate Finance), Phil Triggs (Tri-Borough Director of Treasury and Pensions),
Gareth Wall (Bi-borough Director of Integrated Commissioning), Neil Wightman
(Director of Housing), Lee Witham (Director, People Services), Paul Wilmette (BiBorough Director, Governance and Operations, PH) and Pedro Wrobel (Executive
Director, Innovation and Change).

1

MEMBERSHIP

Page 5

1.1

There was one change to membership. Cllr Richard Elcho stood down from
the Committee and Cllr Antonia Cox replaced him.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2.1

There were no declarations of interest.

3.

MINUTES

3.1

The Committee discussed outstanding minutes. Artemis Kassi undertook to
provide outstanding minutes ahead of the September meetings.

4.

2020-21 YEAR END PERFORMANCE REPORT

4.1

The Committee reviewed and noted the contents of a report collated by
Strategy and Intelligence, summarising the Council’s performance and
progress at the end of 2020-21. It was noted that 20% of Key Performance
Indicators (KPIs) were off track at the end of the year; this was explained as
being largely down to the effects of the coronavirus pandemic. One correction
was noted regarding the council tax KPI, which had achieved target although
it had previously been off target.
For each directorate, the Executive Director highlighted successes,
challenges and issues, with the Chief Executive providing additional
commentary.

4.2

For Adult Social Care and Public Health, Bernie Flaherty commented that the
targets had been set to be amongst the top five local authorities in London.
Bernie Flaherty noted that there had been positive changes to social work
practice, and that Council teams had been working alongside health partners
to improve timeliness of hospital discharges and lessen the impacts of the
pandemic. Key challenges were noted as staff wellbeing and resilience
throughout the pandemic; business as usual (BAU) work not being completed
due to the impact of the pandemic on capacity; and a decreasing market in
adult social care. Increasing health inequalities were mentioned as another
significant risk.

4.3

The Committee queried how vaccinations had been calculated in the local
population, as Westminster had many people who moved in and out of the
area transiently or due to work. Stuart Love commented that the use by the
Office for National Statistics of the population denominator was incorrect for
Westminster, particularly amongst some age cohorts, and that this was the
case across London. However, Stuart Love advised the Committee that he
had been informed that this was unlikely to change. It was further observed
that GP data also had significant shortfalls. This issue had been examined
because of Westminster’s low position in the vaccination league tables. The
Committee was informed that efforts were underway in tandem with Strategy
and Intelligence officers to understand reasons for people not being
vaccinated, or where people have been vaccinated and not remained in
Westminster.

Page 6

4.4

The Committee asked whether the cost of PPE for adult social care workers
had been borne by the Council or by contract partners, who may have
incurred further adverse financial impact from doing so, potentially making
them more vulnerable in a low market. Bernie Flaherty responded that part of
a Government grant had been used to assist care homes with PPE and staff
support.

4.5

The Committee queried the use of “monitoring demand” for social care
services, and whether it might be appropriate to instead consider mitigation
efforts for changed demand, as mitigation plans were not included in the
report. Bernie Flaherty responded that, in normal times, it was possible to
monitor trends. However, during the pandemic, these trends had changed
considerably and changes to monitoring would aim to predict changes in
demand across the next year and mitigate by allowing planning for
appropriate provision of care services. The Committee also raised the issue of
the financial deficit for CNWL CCG and its implications for the Council. Bernie
Flaherty responded that NHS colleagues had reassured the Council that
although efficiencies must be made, many of these would come from
improvements to contracts and procurement processes. Bernie Flaherty
further advised the Committee that the directorate continued to monitor, using
the Health and Well-Being Board.

4.6

The Committee queried whether moves towards compulsory vaccinations for
the adult social care workforce would see workers leaving the profession
locally, particularly given existent vaccine hesitancy and local demographics.
Bernie Flaherty responded that closer links with care homes had shown that
care homes were in favour of mandatory vaccinations, and most staff were
keen to support this. Bernie Flaherty commented that ward councillors could
have a role to play in helping reduce hesitancy locally. The Committee asked
for detail on the increase in social care demand and acuity, as well as the
issue of suppressed demand, and commented that targets could have been
achieved because of reduction in people attempting to obtain social care
assistance. Bernie Flaherty noted that this was very important, and used the
example of dementia in the community. She also noted that people were less
mobile because of having less access to healthcare services including
physiotherapy, so they needed more care support. Reduced admissions to
residential care driven by concerns over the pandemic was acknowledged to
be suppressed; however, this may not result in excessive demand for
residential care if home care is appropriately provided. Needs for home care
were projected to rise.

4.7

The Committee queried the impact of the Delta coronavirus variant locally,
testing rates, and questioned whether the Council had sufficient resources to
deal with this. Anna Raleigh commented that coronavirus case rates had
continued to increase, with both Westminster and the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea seeing rates considerably above the London
average of 69 per 100,000. The Committee was advised that Westminster
had the ninth highest case rate in London, with an increase of 47% on the
previous week, to 88.4 per 100,000. On testing rates, Westminster was
testing 663 people per 100,000, above the London average. Anna Raleigh
noted that there was considerably increased demand on Public Health
services and advised the Committee that the Public Health team was liaising

Page 7

with other teams across the Council to assess impact on contact tracing,
testing, and outbreak management amongst other activities. Anna Raleigh
further advised that Public Health recently refreshed their plan with a focus on
communications to encourage residents to follow hygiene, distancing, and
self-isolating advice, as well as vaccination. Stuart Love commented that,
although case rates had increased, there was no corresponding increase in
hospitalisations. He noted, on the point of Council resources, that there were
many Council staff who had been working on the pandemic for a long time,
many of whom were “tired and weary”. Stuart Love also noted that demand
was not projected to decrease going into the summer, so the Council aimed to
bring in additional resource to assist through summer and beyond.
4.8

Sarah Newman provided an overview of the activities and performance of the
Children’s Services directorate, including challenges and issues, and noted
that Children’s Services had met their target of completing all Education
Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) within the 20-week timeframe, and had
maintained low numbers of children coming into care and subject to protection
plans. The Committee heard that there were also low numbers of first-time
entrants into the criminal justice system and that placement sustainability for
children who had been in care for more than two years was high. The
Committee further heard that increased repeat referrals were noted to be
largely due to self-referrals, considered likely as a result of people actively
seeking help. An increase in requests for EHCPs was noted as a challenge,
as was a surplus of school places, up to 25% across the school system. The
Committee was advised that the percentage of young people not in education,
employment, or training (NEET) had increased by 46% on last year.

4.9

The Committee queried what mitigation could be put in place to address the
surplus in school places, as they considered it would not be desirable to plan
to close schools, although maintaining the surplus at that level would not be
possible. Sarah Newman noted that the numbers of children in Westminster
had been declining for ten years, and the impact was now being seen
particularly at primary level and would soon be seen at secondary level. The
Committee heard that, within the last three years, at primary level, state
school entrant numbers had declined, and independent school entrant
numbers had increased. Further, the Committee also heard that, although at
primary level the number of out-of-borough students was low, this was higher
at secondary level and that a Westminster Schools brand was being created
to attract families to Westminster’s state schools, with smaller schools likely to
be encouraged to amalgamate or federate. In addition, some two-form entry
schools had been reduced to one-form entry to help them manage financially
in terms of staffing.

4.10

The Committee requested comparisons with Westminster City Council’s peers
instead of national averages; figures for children returning to school was used
as an example. The Committee also requested that targets were noted more
clearly and consistently in the documentation sent to the Committee.

4.11

The Committee queried mitigation plans for risks noted by Children’s
Services, such as any increase in looked-after children, as these had not
been included in the report. Sarah Newman noted that the numbers of lookedafter children had decreased in recent years, but highlighted that the number

Page 8

of unaccompanied children seeking asylum was difficult to predict. It was
observed that any such children arrived in Westminster via Victoria Station
and that Government funding for those children often did not cover the cost to
the Council of supporting them. The Committee heard how the transition
period for looked-after children at age 18 into becoming care leavers was a
challenge and how the Council had statutory responsibility for care leavers
and for children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) until
the age of 25. Sarah Newman noted that at present, over 70% of
Westminster’s looked-after children were aged 14 or over, and would
therefore need supporting into independent accommodation as care leavers in
coming years.
4.12

The Committee asked whether the referrals to social care that may have been
suppressed during the coronavirus pandemic would begin to take place with
schools returning, and what the impact would be on the Council. Sarah
Newman acknowledged that an increase in referrals to social services was
anticipated, but had not yet taken place despite children’s return to schools.
Sarah Newman noted that the Council’s Early Help Service had supported
schools to provide assistance to families in need during the pandemic, which
appeared to have reduced the need for referrals into the social care system.

4.13

The Committee noted that the increase in youth unemployment might have
adverse impacts in terms of increased youth engagement in criminal activity,
particularly in North Westminster. It queried what the Council could do to
prevent that, and whether it had sufficient resource to do so. Sarah Newman
provided reassurance to the Committee that all young people not in
education, employment, or training had access to support services, and where
relevant would be supported by specialist workers from the Integrated Gangs
Unit to access training, work, or education opportunities. The Committee
queried the possibility of unmet demand, and Sarah Newman confirmed that
this was within Children’s Services’ planning. Sarah Newman noted that
mental ill health was a particular risk, so the Council had been working with
schools and support services to put in place improved mental health
signposting and support where possible. However, she highlighted that for the
18-24 age group, there was a pre-existing lack of provision generally, which
would remain a challenge.

4.14

Raj Mistry provided an overview of Environment and City Management’s
activities and performance over the year, including waste collections, public
realm schemes, al fresco dining licensing, and cycle lane provision. The
coronavirus pandemic had had adverse impacts on the Council’s leisure
facilities, inspections of premises, and work to properties. Mitigations had
been put in place for the highest risks, with remote inspections one example
of these.

4.15

The Committee noted the missed target for cleansing streets and queried how
this was measured. Raj Mistry explained that entire streets were evaluated by
an independent assessor to assess their street cleansing scores. He also
confirmed that parked cars (unmoved during the pandemic lockdowns) were a
significant obstruction for the usual street cleansing and explained that the
Council worked with its contractor Veolia to improve their methods, which had
resulted in improvements to the street cleansing in later months. The

Page 9

Committee commented that the reduction in tourist numbers would have
resulted in reductions to litter across the City, and queried plans to address
increased litter associated with an increase in tourists once restrictions were
lifted. Raj Mistry commented that, with the West End reopening, street
cleansing resources had been reallocated to tourist areas.
4.16

The Committee noted than many cycle lanes had been removed, and queried
how this was assessed. Raj Mistry commented that many cycle lanes were
unused to the extent anticipated during the lockdowns. He stated that data
collected during that time period would be used when planning future cycle
lane provision.

4.17

The Committee also noted that outdoor dining measures would have assisted
premises with sufficient outdoor space for these over and above their
commercial rivals without outdoor space.

4.18

The Committee enquired about the progress of the Smart street lighting
programme. Raj Mistry provided an update that the Smart lighting was being
installed as part of the LED street lighting upgrades in Westminster, and a
central management system was in place.

4.19

Gerald Almeroth provided an overview of Finance and Resource’s activities
and performance. This included the Council rapidly adapting to paying out
Government grants during the coronavirus pandemic as well as collecting
income from various sources. The Committee heard that the Council had
granted £1bn business rates relief and distributed Government business rates
grants to support Westminster’s businesses, as well as providing support
through grants for Westminster residents whose income had been affected by
the coronavirus. Despite unavailability of courts for recovery action, the
Council had exceeded its target for Council tax recovery. The Committee
further heard how a £13m grant had been secured to decarbonise the
Council’s operational buildings. The Committee was advised that the Smart
City programme was engaging with businesses to improve the Council’s use
of digital technology across services, with 115 ideas generated through recent
engagement. The Committee also heard that the Procurement Code had
been updated in 2021 from the 2017 version.

4.20

The Committee sought to understand the high rating for Covid-19 as an
operational risk; this was explained as being chiefly due to the likelihood of
the Council needing to make changes to respond to the changing guidance
from Government.

4.21

For Growth Planning, and Housing, Debbie Jackson provided overview of the
directorate’s activities and performance. Debbie Jackson noted that targets for
affordable housing had not been met, and explained that this was because of
the actions of private sector partners during the pandemic, where they had not
met Section 106 obligations. Debbie Jackson advised the Committee that
satisfaction for housing repairs had missed its target as non-essential repairs
had been paused during lockdown, but that 85% of those who had had repairs
carried out were satisfied with the quality of the work.

Page 10

4.22

The Committee queried spot purchases as a remedy for the affordable
housing shortfall. Debbie Jackson commented that private sector housing
partners had experienced ongoing constraints, and spot purchases were one
of a variety of methods that the Council would use to help meet its targets for
affordable housing. She commented that with the flux in the housing market,
spot purchases might be a good source of affordable housing units.

4.23

The Committee asked what lessons had been learned for street
homelessness as a result of the efforts during the coronavirus pandemic.
Debbie Jackson noted that the majority of the cohort who had been brought in
to accommodation from the streets through the pandemic efforts had
subsequently been moved into more settled accommodation. She commented
that the intensity of the efforts had resulted in a joined-up approach from
council services, and a bid had been submitted to Government for Changing
Futures grant funding aimed at addressing multiple disadvantages in
homeless people.

4.24

The Committee raised the issue of residents being unable to get through to
the correct teams in contact centres. Debbie Jackson stated that there was
ongoing work to embed digital solutions in the contact centres to enable more
effective working from staff.

4.25

The Committee asked whether the Council was prepared for Home Office
proposals due to follow the upcoming Building Safety bill; there would be a
significant increase in finance and other resources required. Debbie Jackson
confirmed that the Council was observing the upcoming changes and
planning to adapt as requirements became clear. The Committee queried the
Council’s plans to adhere to the BS-9997 standard for fire safety
management. Debbie Jackson noted that she would need to revert on this
query.

4.26

The Committee queried how private sector partners had failed to meet their
obligations. Debbie Jackson noted that the Council did not have the power to
compel developers to deliver Section 106 obligations by a particular date;
also, some developers were reviewing their business plans, and where
affordable housing was tied to private schemes this had not yet been brought
forward. The Committee queried whether affordable housing should be
dependent on the private sector.

4.27

For Innovation and Change, Pedro Wrobel provided the overview and noted
that the directorate had been involved in much of the previous work
discussed. He further noted that the refreshed City for All strategy had been
launched in March 2021, and a strategic reporting framework was being built
around that to assist the Council to align its objectives and spend. The
Committee heard that the finalisation of the City Plan was considered a
significant achievement across directorates. The refreshed website for
Westminster City Council represented a notable improvement over its
predecessor. Pedro Wrobel further highlighted that the scale of the Council’s
change agenda presented a serious risk.

4.28

Lee Witham provided the overview of activities and challenges for People
Services and noted that the measure of employee engagement over the

Page 11

previous year was “at an all-time high”. Staff had been redeployed to frontline
services and absences had been low. He commented that the Council had a
huge focus on diversity and inclusion, and was aiming to continue improving
capabilities in the officer group, particularly amongst leaders. He also noted
that the Council’s aim was to have a senior officer group that better
represented the community in Westminster. He praised the resilience shown
by the Council’s workforce, and reiterated Stuart Love’s earlier point regarding
levels of pressure on the workforce.
4.29

The Committee queried the Council’s aims and plans for staff returning to the
office. Stuart Love noted that officers were keen to return to Westminster, and
that innovation, creativity, and collaboration came from being in a place
together. However, he observed that officers were not expected to come back
to work in the same way they were working prior to the pandemic, and targets
had not been set for numbers of staff in Council offices each day. He
commented that tiredness and exhaustion had resulted from the way staff had
worked throughout the pandemic.

4.30

The Committee noted the churn in the Executive Leadership Team, and
queried whether the loss of legacy social capital, including accumulated
knowledge, contacts, and understanding, would impact on the organisation’s
success. The Committee enquired whether the Council had plans to address
the risk inherent in the loss of social capital and high levels of staff turnover.
Lee Witham commented that staff turnover across the Council was 8%
throughout the pandemic, down from 20% four years ago, and that leaders
could collaborate and share their knowledge to reduce loss of institutional
knowledge.

4.31

The Committee further queried whether diversity of opinion and perspective
was taken into account when assessing the Council’s focus on diversity. The
Committee further commented that the diversity focus appeared to be on
BAME staff, and queried whether the term “BAME” was useful given the wide
range of outcomes for people in that broad category. Stuart Love noted that
the BAME Staff Network were in the process of deciding whether BAME staff
should continue to be referred to as such. He also stated that the Council was
creating a culture of diversity of thought, approach, and challenge.

4.32

RESOLVED: The Committee approved the report.

5.

REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2020-21

5.1

The Committee noted the contents of the Revenue and Capital Outturn
Report, which provided details of the General Fund revenue position against
the approved budget.
Issues discussed included the year-to-date variances due to financial
pressures arising from the Covid19 pandemic; key income streams within
parking and planning; and capital underspend, including the Piccadilly
underpass.

5.2

The Committee noted that, although Government grant funding had helped
protect Westminster City Council from the most adverse impacts of the

Page 12

coronavirus pandemic, but withdrawal of that support combined with ongoing
issues for key income streams, notably parking and commercial waste, was a
significant financial risk.
Gerald Almeroth explained that a letter had been written to MHCLG making
the case for local government to receive support, as businesses were
receiving extended business rates relief support. He noted that parking had,
at times, performed well during the pandemic, as commuters were driving into
the City and using parking. Commercial waste, being so closely linked to the
success of hospitality businesses, remained significantly diminished, but was
expected to begin recovering as hospitality reopened.
5.3

Collection rates for Council Tax had fallen, but this did not represent a
significant impact on overall Council income. For Business Rates, although
the picture was complex, and Government grant funding had supported many
businesses, an increase in bad debt provision for Business Rates had been
anticipated. The Committee queried whether the Council could do more to
take recovery action for non-payments. Gerald Almeroth agreed it was
possible that with restrictions lifting, that would be the case.

5.4

The Committee queried whether the Council was adequately resourced to
deal with any grant fraud. Gerald Almeroth commented there was a high level
of confidence with regard to grants for Business Rates. New applicants,
however, were subject to extensive checks to prevent fraud, and some claims
had been denied. Stuart Love commented that he and Barry Quirk (Chief
Executive of The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea) were in
discussions about appropriate levels of resourcing, as they shared concerns
about the potential for fraud.

5.5

The Committee heard that the leisure contract had returned no income during
the pandemic, owing to restrictions on the operation of leisure businesses.
Government support had been allocated to supporting the Council’s leisure
services whilst they waited to be permitted to resume normal services.
However, the Council would monitor levels of demand emerging from the
pandemic context, and adjust future spend accordingly. The Committee was
advised that the leisure contract in place was based on usage and activity and
that the Council was still in contract with the provider until the end of January
2023.

5.6

The Committee raised a question about future borrowing, and whether it
would be subject to the advertised rates. Gerald Almeroth confirmed that all
agreed rates were legally binding, and represented low rates in the context of
inflation already beginning to increase following the drop during the pandemic.

5.7

RESOLVED: that the Committee note the report.

6.

REPORT ON TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY OUTTURN FOR
2020-21

6.1

The Committee received a report on the Treasury Management Strategy
Outturn for 2020/2021, which included a review of activities and actual
Prudential and Treasury indicators in accordance with the CIPFA Code of

Page 13

Practice for Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities. The Committee discussed the forward borrowing
loans and was advised that the deals entered into were legally binding and
still sound decisions. The Committee also discussed the Thurrock deposits
and expressed concern that the highest interest rate was 1.06%. The
Committee was advised that this did not present a risk. The Committee noted
the report.
6.2

RESOLVED: that the Committee note the report.

7.

EXTERNAL AUDIT CERTIFICATION OF CLAIMS AND RETURNS ANNUAL
AUDIT 2019-20

7.1

The Committee received a report on the annual external review of the grants
claimed by the City Council through a grants certification process. This report
provided a summary of the review of the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim for
2019/20. Martin Hinckley advised the Committee that officers recognised
scope for improvement.

7.2

RESOLVED: that the Committee note the report.

8.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT PLAN 2020-21 FOR WESTMINSTER CITY
COUNCIL

8.1

The Committee received a report on the 2020/2021 Audit Plan, outlining the
planned scope and timing of Westminster City Council’s statutory audit by its
External Auditors, Grant Thornton. Joanne Brown was present for Grant
Thornton as external audit partner.

8.2

Significant risks were noted as management override of controls; valuation of
operational land and buildings; valuation of investment properties; valuation of
pension fund net liability; and valuation and completeness of the equal pay
liability. There was discussion of Value For Money considerations and
governance, including around subsidiary companies. Key factors included the
coronavirus pandemic’s impacts on the Council’s service delivery and
governance, including around subsidiary ventures and commercial
companies. The audit was planned to begin in June 2021.

8.3

The Committee queried whether it was necessary or appropriate to value
assets annually, in particular assets which would not be sold, and noted that
to do this took considerable officer resource each year, taking away focus
from more critical issues. Joanne Brown commented that auditors were bound
by auditing standards and thus required to examine asset valuation as part of
audit risk, but that Grant Thornton planned to liaise with Council officers to
understand fully the judgements involved in and basis of valuations.

8.4

The Committee noted that the audit fee had risen considerably and
commented on the inclusion of Westminster Housing Investments.

8.5

RESOLVED: that the Committee note the report and receive quarterly reports
in future.

Page 14

9.

REPORT ON THE INTERNAL
WESTMINSTER PENSION FUND

AUDIT

PLAN

2020-21

FOR

THE

9.1

The Committee received a report on the 2020/2021 Audit Plan for the City of
Westminster’s Pension Fund, outlining the planned scope and timing of the
statutory audit by its External Auditors, Grant Thornton. The Committee
sought to understand the valuation of the pension fund and the £625 million
deficit, whether this was a CIPFA or actuarial figure. Phil Triggs advised the
Committee that, for the pension valuation, the accountants’ version of the
deficit was used. The Committee noted the full valuation every three years
and queried whether it could receive both valuations.
The Committee noted the Internal Audit Charter for 2020.

9.3

RESOLVED: that the Committee note the report and receive future updates.

10.

WORK PROGRAMME

10.1

The Committee noted the items on its Work Programme for its two September
meetings. The Committee agreed to review the Accounts on 15 th September.
The Committee noted the items proposed for 29th September, including an
update on immunisations, inter alia, and requested other items to be
confirmed as appropriate.

10.5

RESOLVED: that the Committee note the report.

The meeting closed at 20:39.

CHAIRMAN:
DATE

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

MINUTES
CITY OF WESTMINSTER

Audit and Performance Committee
MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
Minutes of a hybrid meeting of the Audit and Performance Committee held in person
in Rooms 18.01 – 18.03 at Westminster City Hall, 64 Victoria Street, Westminster and
via Microsoft Teams at 6.30 pm on Wednesday, 14 July 2021.
Members Present: Councillors Ian Rowley (Chairman), David Boothroyd, Danny
Chalkley and Antonia Cox.
Also Present: Gerald Almeroth (Executive Director, Finance and Resources), Michelle
Badham (SFM Finance, F&R), Ryan Giles (Head of Commercial, GPH), David Hughes
(Tri-Borough Director, Audit, Risk and Fraud), Ed Humphreys (Head of Commercial,
People Services), Andy Hyatt (Tri-Borough Head of Fraud), Artemis Kassi (Lead Scrutiny
Advisor/Statutory Officer), Moira Mackie (Head of Internal Fraud), Nicole Repetto (Head
of Procurement, Tendering Service), Annabel Saunders (Director of Operations and
Programmes, Children’s Services), Rikin Tailor (SFM Head of Corporate Finance, F&R),
Sarah Warman (Director of Commercial Partnerships, F&R), Dai Williams (Head of
Commercial, ECM).

1

MEMBERSHIP

1.1

There were no changes to membership.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

2.1

There were no declarations of interest.

3.

MINUTES

3.1

The Committee approved the minutes of meetings on 23 September 2020,
2 December 2020, and 2 March 2021. The Committee issued a point of thanks
for the minutes of these meetings.

3.2

RESOLVED: The Committee approved the minutes.

4.

PERIOD 2 FINANCE MONITORING REPORT

4.1

The Committee received the Period 2 Finance Monitoring Report presented by
Gerald Almeroth and Rikin Tailor.

Page 17

4.2

The Committee was advised about income losses and variances, including
expenditure variance in Adults Social Care and Children’s Services, in addition
to slippage seen in the outturn report.

4.3

The Committee queried the role of government support in assisting the Council
in maintaining balance in its budget. Gerald Almeroth and Rikin Tailor noted
that, in drawing up the budget, consideration had been given to the reduction
in income due to the COVID-19 pandemic, particularly from the Council’s fees
and charges income streams. The Committee was advised that the Council’s
budget had also been drawn up with the knowledge that key government
support schemes would end in June, and that the economy had not fully picked
up by this point. The Committee also queried what government support would
be in place following this point. Gerald Almeroth commented that local
government had made a request to MHCLG for continuance of support but that
this was not currently in place.

4.4

The Committee further queried the underspend forecast for Adult Social Care,
and whether this was due to altering numbers of placements or hours of care
provided. Gerald Almeroth commented that, during the pandemic, placement
numbers had reduced and home care increased, but it was as yet unknown
whether these trends would be maintained.

4.5

The Committee noted that the eviction ban had ended, and queried whether
therefore households in Temporary Accommodation (TA) who did not meet
homelessness criteria were being evicted. Gerald Almeroth advised the
Committee that care would be taken in such cases, especially as non-payment
of rent was often down to household circumstances (“can’t pay, rather than
won’t pay”), and that resumption of court activities more widely meant that
recovery of rent or housing would be able to resume.

4.6

The Committee noted that the report highlighted the Westminster pension fund
was again fully-funded. Gerald Almeroth noted that the Council element was
85%, with a plan to repay the deficit in full this year.

4.7

The Committee discussed the divergence between what was promised and
what was delivered in addition to exploring the merits of yearly budget-setting
versus longer term budgets (20 to 30 years).

4.8

The Committee queried whether the Council’s healthy reserve position might
be detrimental to appeals for continuation of government COVID grant funding.
The Committee heard that local government funding and finance more widely
was in a time of great uncertainty, and that rules on local government funding
generally applied across the board to all local authorities. However, officers
advised that Westminster would continue to make the case for Westminster,
given its local economic centres’ key role in delivering value back to the national
economy. The Committee noted the report.

4.9

RESOLVED: That the Committee note the report.

5.

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT AND DRAFT ACCOUNTS

5.1

The Committee received the draft Accounts and was informed that the annual

Page 18

audit was in progress.
5.2

The Committee was advised that the wider context of the draft Accounts was
the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, which continued to have significant
impact. Michelle Badham explained to the Committee that the largest variances
were due to accounting regulations for the Collection Fund; because of the
government COVID grant funding and the timing of the draft, losses for the
Collection Fund would not be recognised until next year. As a result, earmarked
reserves appeared higher than the previous year by around £444m; debtors
and creditors had increased variance, including a £462m increase in debtor
balance.

5.3

The Committee heard that the net asset position as of 31 March 2021 was
£2.598bn, representing a decrease of £77.2m on the previous year. £197.1m
was received for Section 31 grants for Business Rates Relief and would be
passed back to Council preceptors, therefore representing an increase in
liabilities. A £203.9m increase was explained to the Committee as being due to
the Business Rates accounting treatment. Further, long-term assets had
increased, including a £103m increase in property, plant, and equipment
assets.

5.4

The Committee was advised that the Council’s cash balance had reduced by
£44m, as cash was being used in money markets for easier access in the
uncertain financial climate.

5.5

The Committee queried the deficit in the Pension Fund, but this was explained
as an accounting treatment.

5.6

The Committee also queried risks and some aspects of the report’s
presentation, particularly requesting that context be added for the issues
around the reduced Sports and Leisure contract across the COVID-19
pandemic, as well as clarity around Westminster Builds names to avoid
confusion. The Committee noted the report.

5.7

RESOLVED: That the Committee note the report.

6.

ANNUAL INTERNAL AUDIT OPINION

6.1

The Committee received the annual Internal Audit opinion. The Committee was
advised that this was an overall positive opinion, indicating that the Council’s
governance, risk management and internal control systems in the areas audited
were adequate, and that the Council generally had effective internal control
systems, with 95% of audits receiving a positive (substantial or satisfactory)
assurance opinion. It was highlighted to the Committee that there was one
limited assurance audit, reported to the Committee in December 2020, which
related to Direct Payments in Adult Social Care. Officers advised the Committee
that follow-ups had indicated progress, with a medium-priority recommendation
yet to be addressed by Adult Social Care.

6.2

The Committee queried the levels of improvements to reporting. Moira Mackie
commented that improvements were to speed of delivery and presentation of
reporting.

Page 19

6.3

The Committee also queried the issue of Direct Payments in Adult Social Care,
and whether this was related to the COVID-19 pandemic. Moira Mackie
confirmed that this aspect of the audit had begun prior to the pandemic, and
care was taken during the pandemic to work with the service to address any
related weaknesses as the audit progressed.

6.4

The Committee further queried the reporting on the Hampshire County Council
Managed Service (“IBC”), and its equivalence to an audit. Moira Mackie
confirmed that it was possible for Internal Audit to audit whether the IBC system
was being used properly by staff and managers, including reporting of staff
absences and financial transactions, in line with the Council’s own policies and
procedures. However, the Committee was advised that Hampshire County
Council had responsibility for auditing the IBC system itself, and this included
review of the processes and controls for the system by Hampshire County
Council’s external auditor reviews. The Committee heard that this relied upon
the individuals being compliant with local controls (a “self-service model”) and
that the audit processes only reviewed specific points and processes.

6.5

The Committee noted that, regarding schools, 40% of schools had no wellbeing
policy at the time of audit. The Committee queried whether mental health could
be integrated into the broader consideration of wellbeing in schools. Moira
Mackie commented that she would bring this to the attention of the relevant
people in other departments, who were best placed to assist schools to improve
on this aspect.

6.6

The Committee queried some of the terminology used with regard to assurance,
when compared with the schools reporting, including whether schools could be
considered “satisfactory” considering that many were noted to be, for example,
not reviewing their information security and health and safety policies. Moira
Mackie noted that these specific policies were chosen as part of the thematic
review audit work, as these were not usually examined. She also commented
that some Westminster schools had not felt they had time to respond,
considering the review of such policies as being under school governors’ remit.
The Committee noted the low response rate and highlighted the importance of
schools being fully audited and being compliant. The Committee also noted the
importance of governance in Ofsted’s assessments of schools. The
Committee’s concerns were emphasised around consistency of reporting by
schools in certain areas, including risk assessments and child injury incidents.
The Committee recommended a more complete investigation of these
concerns by the relevant Executive Director and Cabinet Member, and referred
the issue to Scrutiny.

6.7

RESOLVED: That the Committee receive an update at its next meeting and
also refer these concerns to the Business and Children’s Policy and Scrutiny
Committee for further investigation at its next meeting.

7.

ANNUAL FRAUD REPORT

7.1

The Committee received the Annual Fraud report. It was noted that the
pandemic context had presented significant barriers to much routine anti-fraud
work, in particular with respect to fraud regarding council housing tenancies,

Page 20

preventing inspections of council housing to verify occupier identities. The
pandemic’s halting of court operations had caused backlogs in cases regarding
residents’ and blue badge parking fraud, although these were now beginning to
progress through courts. Overall, output was halved for the reporting year. The
easing of pandemic restrictions had permitted resumption of routine anti-fraud
activities, and although significant backlog remained, work had begun to clear
it.
7.2

The Committee reiterated prior concerns regarding the adequacy of Council
resourcing to identify and address fraud relating to the government business
support grants during the pandemic. Andy Hyatt explained that the relevant
Council teams had assessed that, with more than eight thousand Westminster
businesses supported from these grants, only twenty-five cases were actively
being pursued relating to grants being inaccurately distributed to businesses,
and of those only four were fraud (with the remainder being errors in information
provided to the Council). Andy Hyatt commented that, in comparison to the
furlough scheme and bounce-back loans, which had been administered
centrally and were widely reported to be subject to considerable levels of fraud,
the business grants scheme was less susceptible to fraud as it was the
responsibility of local authorities. The Committee heard that Westminster City
Council’s local awareness, data, intelligence, and oversight had allowed for
robust verification and checking processes to be put in place early to minimise
fraud.

7.3

RESOLVED: That the Committee note the report.

8.

PROCUREMENT REPORT

8.1

The Committee received a report on changes to the Council’s procurement
model, which the report noted oversees procurements over £100,000 in value.
The Committee was advised that current Westminster City Council spend on
services and contracts fulfilled by external parties exceeded £500million each
year, and that the changes to the procurement model aimed to deliver improved
value for this spend.

8.2

Sarah Warman, Director of Commercial Partnerships, provided the Committee
with further information. Sarah Warman advised the Committee that a
permanent procurement team had been recruited to deliver the changes in line
with the procurement code and improved ways of working with other Council
departments.

8.3

The Committee queried whether there was opportunity to improve on the todate figure of £2.1million savings on contracts. Sarah Warman commented that
these savings were being monitored as part of recent work incorporating an
initial savings tracker, and that workshops were imminently to take place to
identify further savings. Sarah Warman further advised the Committee that, in
terms of increasing value from suppliers, key commitments such as
environmental approaches and diversity and inclusion were to be part of future
work in this area with suppliers.

8.4

The Committee asked why some contracts were out-of-scope for the London
Living Wage. Sarah Warman offered to share the criteria that determine scope;

Page 21

this was welcomed by the Committee.
8.5

The Committee also queried the service’s target for satisfaction scores as
measured by its surveys. Sarah Warman noted that this was a new initiative
and was establishing a baseline. Sarah Warman further emphasised to the
Committee that the aim would be a high figure, likely with variation across
Council departments with suppliers, and that a figure below 80% would likely
be a cause for concern.

8.6

The Committee questioned whether £10,000 was an appropriate lower limit for
contracts awarded via procurement processes, or if full procurement for lowervalue contracts might cause drain on resources. Sarah Warman commented
that, although the bulk of efforts would be focused on high-value contracts, it
was considered important to ensure that best practice was implemented for
procurement across lower-value (i.e. below £100,000) contracts as well, to
improve engagement with and understanding of good procurement practice.

8.7

The Committee asked about the quality, effectiveness, and efficiency of data
gathering, monitoring, and utilisation. Sarah Warman noted that the range and
variety of data was broad, owned by many different Council areas, and the
quality of the information entered into systems was key to a good quality
dataset. Sarah Warman also noted that, at the time of the meeting, contract
data and spend data were not aligned, although the aim was to change that
with a new contract management system due for implementation in Spring
2022. The Committee was advised that a contract register was being built
across the Council to allow more oversight of the spend, but that lower-value
contracts were a challenge as they were dispersed across the Council.

8.8

The Committee queried aspects of the Council’s approach to achieving social
value, including its definition, and whether true value would be achieved if price
was not the foremost consideration, given that money was required for a wide
range of services provided by the Council to vulnerable people. Sarah Warman
noted that social value was just one aspect of procurement; she agreed that
clarity on social value as a concept was important, as well as monitoring of
providers’ delivery on social value obligations and impact, to ensure that the
Council delivered on commitments to residents.

8.9

The Committee also queried whether the Procurement team had a wide enough
skillset to procure the wide variety of programmes and contracts required by
the Council, drawing a contrast between small contracts and large Capital
Programme contracts. Sarah Warman noted that efforts had been made to
recruit a team with an appropriate range of skills to deliver best practice in
procurement. Further, the Committee was advised that efforts were being made
to reduce reliance on interim staff and recruit permanent staff to roles with input
into the Capital Programme. The Committee noted the report and also noted
that a further report relating to procurement would be coming to its September
meeting.

8.10

RESOLVED: That the Committee note the report.

Page 22

9.

WORK PROGRAMME

9.1

The Committee discussed its upcoming Work Programme for the remainder of
the municipal year.

9.2

The Committee noted a recent report from the Public Accounts Committee on
the future of local authority auditors, which considered that the reliance on a
small number of auditors put the market at risk. It was further noted that this
was a national issue, and that relatively few auditors were in the local authority
audit market at all as it had become unprofitable for audit firms, with the
consequence that only 45% of audits had been completed nationally by the
previous year’s deadline. The Committee queried the resilience of its own
external auditors against the prevailing market pressures. Gerald Almeroth
expressed his confidence in Grant Thornton to complete Westminster’s audit
by the September deadline.

9.3

The Committee discussed the search for an independent member to
complement the current Committee membership. David Hughes advised the
Committee that advertisements were being placed for an Independent Member
for the Committee.

9.4

The Committee also discussed the agenda items proposed for its 29 September
meeting, including immunisations update, Officers’ remuneration and gifts, and
Public Health Funerals. The Committee suggested that the agenda for its
meeting of 29 September appeared overcharged. The Committee agreed that
further discussions be held offline.

9.5

RESOLVED: That the work programme report be noted.

The meeting closed at 20:21.

CHAIRMAN:
DATE

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

Audit and
Performance
Committee Report

1.

Date:

29 September 2021

Classification:

General Release

Title:

2020/21 Annual Accounts

Wards Affected:

All

City for All Summary

The accounts detail the Council’s financial
performance for 2020/21. Further detail
regarding City for All, opportunities and risks
can be obtained in the Narrative Report and
Annual Governance Statement

Financial Summary:

This report presents the audited Statement
of Accounts and Pension Fund report for the
Council for the financial year ended 31
March 2021 and the external auditor’s
reports

Report of:

Gerald Almeroth, Executive Director –
Finance & Resources

Executive Summary

1.1 Since the Audit and Performance Committee reviewed the draft statement
of accounts at its meeting on 14 July 2021, the Council’s external auditors
Grant Thornton have completed their audit of the Council and Pension
Fund accounts.
1.2 The Council had a public inspection period of the accounts from 25 June
2021 to 5 August 2021. There were no objections raised during this
inspection period.
1.3 The key changes to both sets of accounts since the draft version was
presented to the Committee in July are outlined as follows:


Appendix 1 – main accounts: C: Audit Adjustments (page 33)
1

Page 25



Appendix 2 – pension fund: A: Audit Adjustments (page 16)

2.

Recommendations

2.1

That Audit and Performance Committee considers the findings outlined in
Grant Thornton’s Audit Findings Reports (AFR) of both the Council’s
Statement of Accounts and Pension Fund report (Appendix 1 and 2,
respectively),

2.1

That Audit and Performance Committee approves the revised 2020/21
Statement of Accounts for the Council and the Pension Fund report.

3.

Background

3.1

The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 state that the
draft accounts must be published by 31 July 2021, with Council’s
accounts approved by 30 September 2021.

3.2

The Council is ahead of these deadlines with draft accounts published on
the Council’s website on 24 June 2021, enabling the final audited
accounts to be presented to Audit and Performance Committee on 29
September 2021. This puts Westminster City Council amongst the first
authorities to have its accounts and audit substantively complete.

3.3

The statements are submitted here with unqualified opinions, which is the
first stage of the certification process. The next steps after this will be for
Grant Thornton to finalise the following:



Value for Money (VfM) assessment
Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)

3.4

Grant Thornton has outlined in the AFR that they will complete the Value
for Money (VfM) assessment in November which does not affect this
September sign-off. HM Treasury is not expected to issue the WGA form
until December this year and therefore cannot impact the September
sign-off timescale. As there were no objections on this year’s accounts,
the certification can be issued once the VfM and WGA assurance is
given.

3.5

The draft accounts and outturn position for 2020/21 were presented to the
Committee on 14 July 2021. Since then the Council’s external auditors,
Grant Thornton have carried out a detailed audit of the accounts. The
audit process is intended to ensure that there are no material
misstatements in the accounts and the audit is directed towards forming
and expressing an opinion about the financial statements.

2

Page 26

3.6

The audited accounts maintain that the Council’s strong financial position
provides resilience against the uncertainty of the post-pandemic financial
landscape and gives some medium-term protection against any changes
in core funding arising from future local government settlements.
Main Accounts (AFR Appendix 1)

3.7

During the audit process some adjustments have been made to the
statement of accounts and these are outlined in the Audit Findings Report
(AFR) Appendix 1: C Audit Adjustments (page 33). These adjustments
have had no impact on the bottom line and only impact the supporting
disclosure notes. The two prominent adjustments are noted in the
paragraphs below.

3.8

Following Grant Thornton’s recommendations during last year’s audit,
detailed in Appendix 1: B of the AFR (page 28), the Council has carried
out various exercises to data cleanse, review and improve processes. As
part of this improvement project, the Council has now written out some
infrastructure assets with £nil net book value (NBV) but with gross book
value (GBV) of £221m. This change does not affect the balance sheet.

3.9

This data cleanse exercise has resulted in a prior period adjustment
(PPA) within Note 18c to better reflect the timings of these assets ceasing
to be used by the Council. This adjustment has had zero impact on the
Council’s accounts and reflect the culmination of the review of
infrastructure assets in the Council’s asset register. The PPA is detailed
further under significant matters in Appendix 1 (page 4) of the AFR,
alongside the Group PPA, which was included in the draft set of
accounts.

3.10 A further amendment to the accounts is following the determination that
the Luton Street Development LLP, which had been consolidated as a
subsidiary of Westminster Housing Investments Limited (a subsidiary
undertaking of the Council), is now being treated as a joint venture of
Westminster Housing Investments Limited. This is now reflected in the
group accounts but does not impact the operation itself.
3.11 Appendix 1: A of the AFR (page 27), has noted some minor action points
to consider in next year’s audit. This action plan is reduced from prior
years. The work undertaken, and improvements made are also detailed in
Appendix 1: B (page 28).
Pension Fund report (AFR Appendix 2)
3.12 The Pension Fund AFR is outlined in Appendix 2: Audit Findings Report
(Pensions) 2020/21. The opinion at page 18 is unqualified.
3.13 The audited Pension Fund report includes audit amendments noted in
Appendix 2: A Audit Adjustments (page 16). No other changes are
required.
3

Page 27

4.

Objections

4.1

The auditors have not received any objections in relation to the 2020/21
statement of accounts.

5.

Conclusion

5.1

Grant Thornton are expecting to issue unqualified opinions on both the
main accounts and pension fund, subject to completion of final review
points noted in both AFRs.

5.2

Final certification will be given once the Value for Money assessment and
Whole of Government Accounts are audited. The accounts themselves
can be formally approved at the 29 September 2021 Audit and
Performance Committee,
If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect
any of the Background Papers, please contact:
Jake Bacchus jbacchus@westminster.gov.uk

BACKGROUND PAPERS:
Appendix 1: Audit Findings Report (Council) 2020/21
Appendix 2: Audit Findings Report (Pensions) 2020/21
Appendix 3: Audited Statement of Accounts 2020/21
Appendix 4: Audited Pension Fund report 2020/21

4

Page 28

Appendix 1

The Audit Findings for
Westminster City Council
Year ended 31 March 2021

Page 29

20 September 2021

Commercial in confidence

Contents
Section

Your key Grant Thornton
team members are:

Page

1.

Headlines

3

2.

Financial statements

5

3.

Value for money arrangements

23

4.

Independence and ethics

25

Page 30

Appendices
Joanne Brown

A.

Action plan

27

Key Audit Partner

B.

Follow up of prior year recommendations

28

T: 0141 223 0848

C.

Audit adjustments

33

E: joanne.e.brown@uk.gt.com

D.

Fees

36

E.

Audit Opinion

37

F.

Management Letter of Representation

41

G.

Audit letter in respect of delayed VFM work

43

Laurelin Griffiths
Senior Manager

The contents of this report relate only to the
matters which have come to our attention,
which we believe need to be reported to you as
part of our audit planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the relevant
matters, which may be subject to change, and in
particular we cannot be held responsible to you
for reporting all of the risks which may affect the
Council or all weaknesses in your internal
controls. This report has been prepared solely
for your benefit and should not be quoted in
whole or in part without our prior written
consent. We do not accept any responsibility for
any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or
refraining from acting on the basis of the
content of this report, as this report was
not prepared for, nor intended for, any
other purpose.

T: 0121 232 5363

E: laurelin.h.griffiths@uk.gt.com
Ciara Donnelly
Audit Incharge
T: 020 7728 2889
E: ciara.eg.donnelly@uk.gt.com

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

This Audit Findings presents the observations arising from the audit that are significant to the
responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial reporting process, as
required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260. Its contents have been discussed with
management prior to being presented to the Audit and Performance Committee.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability
partnership registered in England and Wales:
No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury
Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is
available from our registered office. Grant
Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by
the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton
UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton
International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member
firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services
are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its
member firms are not agents of, and do not
obligate, one another and are not liable for one
another’s acts or omissions.

2

Commercial in confidence

1. Headlines
This table summarises the key findings and other matters arising from the statutory audit of Westminster City Council (‘the Council’) and
the preparation of the group and Council's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 for those charged with governance.

Financial Statements
Under International Standards of Audit (UK) (ISAs) and the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of
Audit Practice ('the Code'), we are required to report whether, in our opinion:

•

•

Page 31

Our audit work was completed remotely during July-September. Our findings are summarised on pages 5
to 22. We have identified no adjustments to the financial statements that have resulted in an adjustment
the group and Council's financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position to the Council’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the time of writing this report.
Audit adjustments are detailed in Appendix C. We have also raised recommendations for management as
of the group and Council and the group and Council’s income and expenditure for the
a result of our audit work in Appendix A. Our follow up of recommendations from the prior year’s audit are
year; and
detailed in Appendix B.
have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting and prepared in accordance with the Local Audit and Accountability Act Our work is substantially complete and there are no matters of which we are aware that would require
modification of our audit opinion, the wording of which is included in Appendix E, or material changes to
2014.
the financial statements, subject to the outstanding matters listed on page 6.

We are also required to report whether other information published together with the audited
financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement (AGS), Narrative Report and
Pension Fund Financial Statements), is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

We have concluded that the other information to be published with the financial statements, is consistent
with our knowledge of your organisation and the financial statements we have audited.
Our anticipated audit report opinion will be unmodified.

Value for Money (VFM) arrangements
Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we are required to
consider whether the Council has put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Auditors are now required to report in more
detail on the Council's overall arrangements, as well as key recommendations on any significant
weaknesses in arrangements identified during the audit.

We have not yet completed all of our VFM work and so are not in a position to issue our Auditor’s Annual
Report. An audit letter explaining the reasons for the delay is attached in Appendix G to this report. We
expect to issue our Auditor’s Annual Report in November 2021. This is in line with the National Audit
Office's revised deadline, which requires the Auditor's Annual Report to be issued no more than three
months after the date of the opinion on the financial statements.

Auditors are required to report their commentary on the Council's arrangements under the
following specified criteria:

As part of our work, we considered whether there were any risks of significant weakness in the Council’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Our work is
underway and an update is set out in the value for money arrangements section of this report.

-

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness;

-

Financial sustainability; and

-

Governance

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

3

Commercial in confidence

1. Headlines
Statutory duties
The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Act’) also requires us to:

We have not exercised any of our additional statutory powers or duties.

•

report to you if we have applied any of the additional powers and duties
ascribed to us under the Act; and

•

to certify the closure of the audit.

We expect to certify the completion of the audit upon the completion of our work on the Council's VFM arrangements,
which will be reported in our Auditor’s Annual Report in November 2021, and our work on the Council’s Whole of
Government Accounts (WGA) return which will likely take place in December 2021.

Significant Matters

Page 32

As disclosed in Note 3 to the Group Accounts, the Council has determined that the Luton Street Development LLP, which
had been consolidated as a subsidiary of Westminster Housing Investments Limited (a subsidiary undertaking of the
Council), should have been treated as a joint venture of Westminster Housing Investments Limited. The Council have
included a Prior Period Adjustment in the group accounts to address this.
In addition, as part of our audit procedures we challenged the fact that the Property, Plant and Equipment disclosure
(Note 18c) included the write out of a number of assets with £nil net book value (NBV) but with gross book value (GBV) of
£221m. Following our challenge, management have confirmed that these write offs were the result of a data cleansing
exercise, and a number of these assets should have been written out of the financial statements in previous years. A Prior
Period Adjustment has been made within Note 18c to better reflect the timings of these assets ceasing to be used by the
Council.
We did not encounter any significant difficulties or identify any other significant matters arising during our audit.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

4

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements
Overview of the scope of our audit
This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from the audit that are significant to
the responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial reporting process, as
required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 and the Code of Audit Practice (‘the
Code’). Its contents have been discussed with management prior to being presented to the Audit
Committee.

Page 33

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK) and the Code, which is directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the
financial statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight of those charged
with governance. The audit of the financial statements does not relieve management or those
charged with governance of their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.

Audit approach
Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the group's business and is risk based,
and in particular included:
•

An evaluation of the group’s internal controls environment, including its IT systems and controls;

•

Substantive testing on significant transactions and material account balances, including the
procedures outlined in this report in relation to the key audit risks; and

•

An evaluation of the components of the group based on a measure of materiality considering
each as a percentage of the group’s gross revenue expenditure to assess the significance of the
component and to determine the planned audit response. From this evaluation we determined
that there were material balances within other entities within the Council’s group, on which audit
procedures would need to be completed. These procedures were completed by the audit team
alongside the audit of the Council.

We have had to alter our audit plan, as communicated to you in June 2021, to reflect significant risks
in relation to elements of the Council’s income and expenditure as a result of the impact of the Covid19 pandemic. Further detail on these changes is set out on page 12.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

5

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements
Conclusion
We have substantially completed our audit of your financial statements and subject to outstanding
queries being resolved, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion following the Audit and
Performance Committee meeting on 29 September 2021, as detailed in Appendix E. These
outstanding items include:
•

Page 34
•
•

Completion of detailed testing of the source data use to prepare a sample of the council’s
investment property valuations;
Completion of detailed testing of a sample of expenditure transactions after the end of the
financial year to ensure that these were recorded in the correct year;
Completion of our testing of the Council’s pension liability, including receipt and consideration
of assurances from the audit of the Pension Fund;

•

Resolution of outstanding queries in a number of sample areas, including capital transfers,
expenditure, grant income, schools payroll costs, and collection fund income and expenditure;

•

Review of disclosure-only elements of the financial statements;

•

Resolution of outstanding queries on the Group Accounts;

•

Review of the updated financial statements to ensure that expected adjustments have been
processed, and that they are internally consistent;

•

Final quality checks and senior personnel reviews of the audit work performed;

•

Receipt of management’s signed representation letter; and

•

Review of the final, approved set of financial statements.

We will provide the Committee with an update on these outstanding items at the meeting on 29
September

Acknowledgements
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance provided by
the finance team and other staff.
As highlighted in our audit plan presented to the Audit Committee in June 2021, the impact of the
pandemic has meant that both your finance team and our audit team faced audit challenges again
this year, including remote access of financial systems, and verifying the completeness and
accuracy of information produced and provided remotely by the entity.
The finance team have been extremely helpful in enabling us to gain the assurance that we require
for our auditor’s opinion on the financial statements.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

6

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements
.

Our approach to materiality

Page 35

The concept of materiality is fundamental
to the preparation of the financial
statements and the audit process and
applies not only to the monetary
misstatements but also to disclosure
requirements and adherence to
acceptable accounting practice and
applicable law.

Group Amount

Council Amount

Materiality for the financial statements

£16,000k

£15,500k

Performance materiality

£10,400k

£10,075k

Trivial matters

£800k

£775k

Materiality for disclosures relating to remuneration of senior officers, due to their sensitive nature

£100k

£100k

Materiality levels remain the same as
reported in our audit plan in June 2021.
We detail in the table to the right our
determination of materiality for
Westminster City Council and the group.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

7

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - significant risks
Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying
risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those
risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.
This section provides commentary on the significant audit risks communicated in the Audit Plan.
Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Risk relates to

Commentary

Council
(and Group)

We have:

Management override of controls
ISA (UK) 240

Page 36

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable
presumption that the risk of management override of
controls is present in all entities.
The Council faces external scrutiny of their spending
and this could potentially place management under
undue pressure in terms of how they report
performance.
We therefore identified management override of
control, and in particular journals, management
estimates, and transactions outside the course of
business as a significant risk, which was one of the
most significant assessed risks of material
misstatement.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

•

evaluated the design effectiveness of management controls over journals;

•

analysed the journals listing and determined the criteria for selecting high risk unusual journals;

•

Identified and tested unusual journals recorded during the year and after the accounts production stage for
appropriateness and corroboration;

•

gained an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical judgements applied made by management and
considered their reasonableness with regard to corroborative evidence; and

•

evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, estimates or significant unusual transactions.

We have not identified any changes to the Council’s accounting policies, or to the estimation processes for material estimates
in the financial statements.
Our detailed testing of individual journal transactions identified as being unusual through our risk-based analysis has not
identified any instances of management override. In addition, at the time of writing this report, no instances of management
override have been identified through the work performed on the Council’s material estimates and judgements. Additional
detail on the work performed on the most significant estimates and judgements is included on the following pages of this
report.

8

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - significant risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Risk relates to

Commentary

Council
(and Group)

We have:

Valuation of the pension fund net liability
The pension fund net liability, as reflected in the
balance sheet as the net defined benefit liability,
represents a significant estimate in the financial
statements. The pension fund net liability is
considered a significant estimate due to the size of
the numbers involved and the sensitivity of the
estimate to changes in key assumptions.

updated our understanding of the processes and controls put in place by management to ensure that the pension fund net
liability is not materially misstated and evaluated the design of the associated controls;

•

evaluated the instructions issued by management to their management experts (the actuary) for this estimate and the
scope of the actuary’s work;

•

assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary who carried out the pension fund valuation;

The methods applied in the calculation of the IAS 19
estimates are routine and commonly applied by all
actuarial firms in line with the requirements set out
in the Code of practice for local government
accounting (the applicable financial reporting
framework). We have therefore concluded that
there is not a significant risk of material
misstatement in the IAS 19 estimate due to the
methods and models used in their calculation.

•

assessed the accuracy and completeness of the information provided by the group to the actuary to estimate the liabilities;

•

tested the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in the notes to the core financial statements
with the actuarial reports from the actuary;

•

undertaken procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made by reviewing the report of the
consulting actuary (as auditor’s expert) and performing any additional procedures suggested within the report; and

•

requested assurances from the auditor of the City of Westminster Pension Fund as to the controls surrounding the validity
and accuracy of membership data; contributions data and benefits data sent to the actuary by the Fund and the fund assets
valuation in the Fund’s financial statements.

The source data used by the actuaries to produce
the IAS 19 estimates is provided by administering
authorities and employers. We do not consider this
to be a significant risk as this is easily verifiable.

Our audit work is ongoing at the time of writing this report, but we have not identified any issues in respect of the valuation of
the pension fund net liability. We have not yet received the requested assurances from the auditor of the City of Westminster
Pension Fund.

Page 37

•

The actuarial assumptions used are the
responsibility of the entity but should be set on the
advice given by the actuary. A small change in the
key assumptions (discount rate, inflation rate, salary
increase and life expectancy) can have a significant
impact on the estimated IAS 19 liability. We have
therefore concluded that there is a significant risk of
material misstatement in the IAS 19 estimate due to
the assumptions used in their calculation. With
regard to these assumptions we have therefore
identified valuation of the Authority’s pension fund
net liability as a significant risk.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

9

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - significant risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Risk relates to

Commentary

Council
(and Group)

We have:

Valuation of land and buildings
The Council revalues its land and buildings on a
rolling, five-yearly basis.
This valuation represents a significant estimate by
management in the financial statements due to the
size of the numbers involved and the sensitivity of
this estimate to changes in key assumptions.

Page 38

Management will need to ensure that the carrying
value in the Council’s (and group’s) financial
statements is not materially different from the
current value or the fair value (for surplus assets) at
the financial statements date.

•

evaluated management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate, the instructions issued to valuation
experts, and the scope of their work;

•

evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation expert;

•

written to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuation was carried out to ensure that the requirements of the
Code are met;

•

challenged the information and assumptions used by the valuer to assess the completeness and consistency with our
understanding, which included engaging our own valuer to assess the instructions issued by the Council to their valuer, the
scope of the Council’s valuers’ work, the Council’s valuers’ reports and the assumptions that underpin the valuations;

•

tested, on a sample basis, revaluations made during the year to see if they had been input correctly into the Council’s asset
register; and

•

evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year and how management has
satisfied themselves that these are not materially different from current value at year end.

Our audit work is ongoing at the time of writing this report. We have identified a number of potential issues in respect of the
valuations that are currently immaterial, but these will need to be considered in aggregate once our work is complete.
In particular, we have considered the indices that the valuer has used in performing the valuation of council dwellings and have
noted that the actual indices for February and March 2021 were different to those assumed by the valuer in performing the
valuation (extrapolated based on data from earlier in the year). Our own estimate of the value differed to the valuation by circa
£22m, but after having challenged this we are satisfied that the difference is largely due to the valuer using more specific
indices and is not an indication of error. The valuer has reperformed their calculation based on the most recent data available
and has confirmed that, in their view, the potential difference in value would be a £5.4m reduction, which is immaterial to the
financial statements. They are happy that their initial valuation remains appropriate, and we do not consider this to be unusual.
It is worth noting that, although minor issues have been identified though our detailed testing of the supporting information for
the data and assumptions that feed into a sample of the Council’s valuations, these are significantly fewer in number and
smaller in potential monetary impact than in the previous year’s audit. Management have put significant effort into addressing
our recommendations from the prior year, as detailed in Appendix B.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

10

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - significant risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Risk relates to

Commentary

Council
(and Group)

We have:

Valuation of Investment Properties
The Council revalues its Investment Properties on an
annual basis to ensure that these assets are held at
Fair Value at the financial statements date.
This valuation represents a significant estimate by
management in the financial statements due to the
size of the numbers involved and the sensitivity of
this estimate to changes in key assumptions.
Management have engaged the services of a valuer
to estimate the current value as at 31 March 2021.

Page 39
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

•

evaluated management's processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate, the instructions issued to the
valuation experts and the scope of their work;

•

evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation expert;

•

written to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuations were carried out;

•

challenged the information and assumptions used by the valuer to assess completeness and consistency with our
understanding, which included engaging our own valuer to assess the instructions issued by the Council to their valuer, the
scope of the Council’s valuers’ work, the Council’s valuers’ reports and the assumptions that underpin the valuations; and

•

tested, on a sample basis, revaluations made during the year to ensure they have been input correctly into the Council’s
asset register.

Our audit work is ongoing at the time of writing this report. We have identified a number of potential issues in respect of the
valuations that are currently immaterial, but these will need to be considered in aggregate once our work is complete. At the
time of writing this report, we have yet to receive supporting information for 5 of our 20 sample items.

11

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – new issues and risks
This section provides commentary on new issues and risks which were identified during the course of the audit that were not previously
communicated in the Audit Plan and a summary of any significant deficiencies identified during the year.
Risks identified subsequent to our Plan

Risk relates to

Commentary

Council
(and Group)

At the time of our audit planning, having considered the risk factors set out in ISA 240 and the nature of the revenue streams
of Westminster City Council, we determined that it was likely that the presumed risk of material misstatement due to the
improper recognition of revenue could be rebutted.

Presumed risk of fraud in revenue recognition
ISA (UK) 240
Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed
risk of material misstatement due to the improper
recognition of revenue.

The Covid-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the Council’s financial performance, and although we remain satisfied that
it is appropriate to rebut this presumed risk for all of the revenue streams of the Council during the year, we do not deem it
appropriate to rebut this presumed risk for manually accrued income at the end of the financial year.

Page 40

This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor
concludes that there is no risk of material
misstatement due to fraud relating to revenue
recognition.

We have therefore identified the occurrence and accuracy of accrued income transactions, and the existence and accuracy of
the related debtor balances, as a significant risk.
We have therefore extended our samples for the testing of year-end manual debtor balances to reflect the heightened risk in
this area.
Our audit work to date has not identified any issues in respect of the Council’s revenue recognition.

Risk of fraud in to expenditure recognition
PAF Practice Note 10
In line with the Public Audit Forum Practice Note 10,
in the public sector, auditors must also consider the
risk that material misstatements due to fraudulent
financial reporting may arise from the manipulation
of expenditure recognition (for instance by deferring
expenditure to a later period).
As most public bodies are net spending bodies, then
the risk of material misstatement due to fraud
related to expenditure recognition may in some
cases be greater than the risk of material
misstatements due to fraud related to revenue
recognition.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Council
(and Group)

Having considered the nature of the expenditure streams of Westminster City Council, we did not consider this to be a
significant risk for the Council at the time of our planning, however on the same basis as that set out above for revenue, we
have identified the completeness of accrued expenditure transactions, and the completeness of the related creditor balances,
as a significant risk.
We have therefore extended our samples of transactions and payments after the end of the financial year to reflect the
heightened risk in this area.
Our audit work to date has not identified any issues in respect of the Council’s expenditure recognition.

12

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key findings arising from
the group audit
In accordance with ISA (UK) 600, as group auditor we are required to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
components and the consolidation process to express an opinion on whether the group financial statements are prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.
Component

Individually
Significant?

Risks identified

Planned audit approach

Yes

Risks set out on pages 8 to 12 of this report

Full scope audit performed by Grant Thornton
UK LLP

No

We have not identified any significant risks of misstatement of the group financial statements, however the following
balances are material to the group:
• Land and buildings
• Deferred grant

Specific procedures have been completed on
these balances by Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Westminster
Housing
Investments
Limited

No

At the time of our planning, we had not identified any significant risks of misstatement of the group financial
statements, however we noted that the following balances were expected to be material to the group:
• Inventories
• Borrowings
The Council have included a prior period adjustment in the financial statements, due to a correction to the assessed
group boundary. This means that inventories are no longer material to the group accounts, and so no work has been
performed on this balance.

Specific procedures have been completed on
these balances by Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Other entities

No

None

Analytical review performed by Grant Thornton
UK LLP.

Westminster City
Council

Page 41

Westminster
Community
Homes Limited

Work performed

Commentary

Westminster Community Homes Limited

The land and building assets of Westminster Community Homes are valued by Sanderson Weatherall alongside the Council’s dwellings, using the same
approach. We have considered this alongside our work on council dwellings, with no concerns noted.
We have confirmed that the deferred grant has been treated in line with the requirements of the Code of Practice.

Westminster Housing Investments Limited

Work is ongoing to agree the appropriateness of the treatment of the loan from the Council to Westminster Housing Investments Limited.

Other procedures

Our review and reperformance of the Council’s consolidation calculations, is ongoing, with no significant issues noted at the time of writing this report.
Analytical procedures at a group level have not identified any areas of concern.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

13

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
This section provides commentary on key estimates and judgements inline with the enhanced requirements for auditors.
Significant
judgement or
estimate
Land and Building
valuations
(GF & HRA)
Draft: £690m
Final: £690m

Page 42

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

The Council has engaged Sanderson Weatherall to
complete the valuation of these properties. Each year,
approximately 20% of assets are subject to a full, formal
valuation process on a five yearly cyclical basis. The other
80% are subject to a formal desktop valuation to ensure
that the values are updated in line with market
movements. There are therefore no properties that are not
valued at the 31 March each year.

We have:

Other land and buildings revalued in 2020/21 comprised
£186m of specialised assets such as schools and libraries,
which are required to be valued at depreciated
replacement cost (DRC) at year end, reflecting the cost of a
modern equivalent asset necessary to deliver the same
service provision. The remainder of other land and
buildings revalued in 2020/21 (£194m) are not specialised
in nature and are required to be valued at existing use
value (EUV) at year end.
The total year end valuation of Other land and buildings
was £690m, a net increase of £14m from 2019/20 (£676m).
Management and their valuer have taken into account
available market data, and considered a range of available
indices, and have used this to determine an appropriate
estimate for the indexation of the Council’s land and
buildings.

•

Deepened our risk assessment procedures including understanding processes and controls
around the identification and determination of estimates. This included understanding
methods, assumptions and data used.

•

Confirmed that there have been no changes to the valuation method this year.

•

Considered the source of the inherent risk associated with the accounting estimate.

•

Analysed the method, data and assumptions used by management to derive the accounting
estimate, and validated the sources of the information used by management. In particular, we
have:
• reperformed a sample of valuation calculations; and
• tested the inputs into a sample of valuations to source documentation, with no
issues noted.

•

Confirmed that we have no concerns over the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
valuation expert used by the Council and considered all evidence obtained during the audit,
including both corroborative and contradictory audit evidence, when evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting estimates. In particular, our own expectation of the valuation
of the assets subject to a desktop valuation was £7.2m lower than that provided by the valuer.
After having challenged this, we are satisfied that the difference is not an indication of error.

•

Considered whether there are any indications of management bias in determining the
estimate and evaluated whether there is any evidence that contradicts management’s
assessment.

•

Confirmed that disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements is considered adequate.

Assessment
We consider the
estimate is
unlikely to be
materially
misstated
however
management’s
estimation
process contains
assumptions we
consider
optimistic

Assessment





Dark Purple We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
Blue
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
Grey
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
Light Purple We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

14

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
Significant
judgement or
estimate
Council dwelling
valuations
Draft: £1,562m
Final: £1,562m

Page 43

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

The Council owns 12,000 dwellings and is required to
revalue these properties in accordance with DCLG’s Stock
Valuation for Resource Accounting guidance. The guidance
requires the use of beacon methodology, in which a
detailed valuation of representative property types is then
applied to similar properties.

We have:

The Council has engaged Sanderson Weatherall to
complete the valuation of these properties. In the draft
financial statements, the year end valuation of Council
dwellings was £1,562m, a net increase of £13m from
2019/20 (£1,549m).
The Council’s valuer completed a full, formal review and
valuation of the dwellings portfolio at 1 April 2018, with a
valuation at 31 March 2021 completed based on a desktop
review and market indices.

•

Deepened our risk assessment procedures including understanding processes and controls
around the identification and determination of estimates. This included understanding
methods, assumptions and data used.

•

Considered the source of the inherent risk associated with the accounting estimate.

•

Analysed the method, data and assumptions used by management to derive the accounting
estimate, noting some minor differences in, and omissions from, the valuation approach when
compared to the prior year. This differences were immaterial to the financial statements.

•

Confirmed that we have no concerns over the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
valuation expert used by the Council, and considered whether there are any indications of
management bias in determining the estimate and evaluated whether there is any evidence
that contradicts management’s assessment.

•

Considered all evidence obtained during the audit, including both corroborative and
contradictory audit evidence, when evaluating the appropriateness of accounting estimates.
In particular we have considered the indices that the valuer has used in performing the
valuation and have noted that the actual indices for February and March 2021 were different
to those assumed by the valuer in performing the valuation (extrapolated based on data from
earlier in the year). Our own estimate of the value differed to the valuation by circa £22m, but
after having challenged this we are satisfied that the difference is largely due to the valuer
using more specific indices and is not an indication of error. The valuer has reperformed their
calculation based on the most recent data available and have confirmed that, in their view,
the potential difference in value would be a £5.4m reduction, which is immaterial to the
financial statements. They are happy that their initial valuation remains appropriate, and we
do not consider this to be unusual.

•

Confirmed that disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements is considered adequate.

Management and their valuer have considered a range of
available indices, and have used this to determine an
appropriate estimate for the indexation of the Council’s
dwellings.

Assessment
We consider the
estimate is
unlikely to be
materially
misstated
however
management’s
estimation
process contains
assumptions we
consider
optimistic

Assessment





Dark Purple We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
Blue
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
Grey
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
Light Purple We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

15

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
Significant
judgement or
estimate
Investment
property valuations
Draft: £467m
Final: £467m

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

The Council has a number of assets that it has determined
to be investment properties. Investment properties must
be included in the balance sheet at fair value (the price
that would be received in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date) so these
assets are valued every year at 31 March.

We have:

Page 44

•

Deepened our risk assessment procedures including understanding processes and controls
around the identification and determination of estimates. This included understanding
methods, assumptions and data used.

•

Confirmed that there have been no changes to the valuation method this year.

The Council has engaged Sanderson Weatherall to
complete the valuation of these properties. The year end
valuation of the Council’s investment property was £467m,
a net decrease of £32m from 2019/20 (£499m).

•

Considered the source of the inherent risk associated with the accounting estimate.

•

Analysed the method, data and assumptions used by management to derive the accounting
estimate, and validated the sources of the information used by management. At the time of
writing this report, this detailed testing is ongoing, but no issues have been identified to date.

Management and their valuer have taken into account
available market data at 31 March 2021.

•

Confirmed that we have no concerns over the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
valuation expert used by the Council and considered whether there are any indications of
management bias in determining the estimate and evaluated whether there is any evidence
that contradicts management’s assessment.

•

Considered all evidence obtained during the audit, including both corroborative and
contradictory audit evidence, when evaluating the appropriateness of accounting estimates.
In particular we have considered movements in the valuations of individual assets and their
consistency with indices provided by Gerald Eve as our auditor’s expert, and focussed our
detailed testing on those assets where the movement in valuation was outside of our
expectations.

•

Confirmed that disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements is considered adequate.

Assessment

TBC
We consider
management’s
process is
appropriate and
key assumptions
are neither
optimistic or
cautious

Assessment





Dark Purple We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
Blue
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
Grey
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
Light Purple We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

16

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
Significant
judgement or
estimate
Net Pension Liability
Draft: £705m
Final: £705m

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

Given the significant value of the net pension fund
liability, small changes in assumptions can result in
significant valuation movements.

•

We have no concerns over the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary used by
the Council.

•

We have used the work of PwC, as auditors expert, to assess the actuary and assumptions
made by the actuary. See below for consideration of key assumptions in the Westminster City
Council Pension Fund valuation:

The Council’s net pension liability at 31 March 2021 is
£705m (PY £625m) comprising obligations under both the
Westminster City Council Pension Fund Local Government
pension scheme and the London Pensions Fund Authority
scheme.

Page 45

The Council uses Barnett Waddingham to provide
actuarial valuations of the Council’s assets and liabilities
derived from these schemes.
A full actuarial valuation is required every three years. The
latest full actuarial valuation was completed in 2019. A roll
forward approach is used in intervening periods, which
utilises key assumptions such as life expectancy, discount
rates, salary growth and investment returns.

Assessment

Assumption

Actuary Value

PwC range

Assessment

Discount rate

2.00%

1.95% - 2.05%



Pension increase rate

2.80%

2.80% - 2.85%



Salary growth

3.80%

3.80% - 3.85%



Life expectancy
Males currently aged 45 / 65

45: 22.9
65: 21.6

21.9 – 24.4
20.5 – 23.1



Life expectancy
Females currently aged 45 / 65

45: 25.3
65: 24.1

24.8 – 26.4
23.3 – 25.0



•

No issues were noted with the completeness and accuracy of the underlying information used
to determine the estimate.

•

There have been no changes to the valuation method since the previous year, other than the
updating of key assumptions above.

•

We have confirmed that the Council’s share of the pension scheme assets is in line with
expectations.

We consider
management’s
process is
appropriate and
key assumptions
are neither
optimistic or
cautious

Assessment





Dark Purple We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
Blue
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
Grey
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
Light Purple We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

17

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
Significant
judgement or
estimate
Grants Income
Recognition and
Presentation

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

The government has provided a range of new financial
support packages to the Council and all local authorities
throughout the Covid-19 pandemic, including funding to
support the cost of services, and amounts to be paid out to
support local businesses.

Our work on the Council’s grant income is not complete at the time of drafting this report, but to
date, no issues have been noted.
In particular:
•

Page 46

The Council has needed to consider the nature and terms of
each of the various Covid-19 measures in order to
determine the appropriate accounting treatment, including •
whether there was income or expenditure to be recognised
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
(CIES) for the year.
•
The main considerations made by management in forming
their assessment were:
•

•

Where funding is to be transferred to third parties,
whether the Council was acting as a principal or agent,
and therefore whether income should be credited to the •
CIES or whether the associated cash should be
recognised as a creditor or debtor on the Balance Sheet
Whether there were any conditions outstanding at year- •
end, and therefore whether the grant should be
recognised as income or a receipt in advance

•

We are satisfied that management have effectively evaluated whether the Council is acting as
the principal or agent for each relevant scheme, which has determined whether any income is
recognised.
Schemes for which the Council has recognised income include the Business Rates Relief s31
Grant (£361m), Covid-19 Local Authority Support Grant (£20.0m), Covid-19 Income Loss
Compensation (£28.0m), and other, smaller grants (£15.7m). We are satisfied from review that
this treatment is consistent with the nature and terms of the relevant schemes.

Assessment
We consider
management’s
process is
appropriate and
key
assumptions
are neither
optimistic or
cautious

We have evaluated the underlying information used to determine whether there were
conditions outstanding (as distinct from restrictions) at the year-end that would determine
whether the grant should be recognised as a receipt in advance or income, and concluded that
this treatment was appropriate.
We have considered management’s assessment, for grants received, of whether the grant is
specific or non specific grant (or whether it is a capital grant) – which impacts on where the
grant is presented in the CIES. We are satisfied that the presentation in the CIES is appropriate.
Management’s disclosure of the Council’s accounting treatment for grant income in both the
financial statements and Narrative Report is sufficient.

Whether the grant was awarded to support expenditure
on specific services or was in the form of an unringfenced government grant – and therefore whether
associated income should be credited to the net cost of
services or taxation and non-specific grant income
within the CIES

Assessment





Dark Purple We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
Blue
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
Grey
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
Light Purple We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

18

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
Significant
judgement or
estimate
Provision for
business rates
appeals
Draft: £102m
Final: £102m

Page 47

Minimum Revenue
Provision

Draft: £18m
Final: £18m

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

The Council are responsible for repaying a proportion of
successful rateable value appeals. Management uses an
external organisation, Analyse Local, to calculate the level
of provision required. This calculation is based upon the
latest information about outstanding rates appeals
provided by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) and
previous success rates. This provision has increased by
£42m in 2020/21 due to a significant increase in the
number of ‘check and challenge’ cases.

•

We have assessed management’s expert, Analyse Local, to be competent, capable and
objective.

•

Analyse Local have used up to date data around outstanding appeals and potential information
around unlodged appeals and historic success rates to form a reliable estimate of the impact
on Rateable Values in the future, and timings based on historic observations.

•

The methodology used is consistent with comparable local authorities and previous years.

•

The disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements was found to be adequate.

The Council is responsible on an annual basis for
determining the amount charged for the repayment of
debt known as its Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The
basis for the charge is set out in regulations and statutory
guidance.

•

We are satisfied that the Council’s policy on MRP complies with the methodologies permitted
in the statutory guidance.

•

We are satisfied that the MRP has been calculated in line with the Council’s policy and
statutory guidance.

•

The Council’s policy on MRP was discussed with, and approved by, full council as part of the
Treasury Strategy in March 2020.

•

We are satisfied that the level of increase in the MRP charge is reasonable in the context of the
Council’s Capital Financing Requirement and financing.

The MRP charge for 2020/21 was £18.2m, a net increase of
£5.2m from 2019/20.

Assessment
We consider
management’s
process is
appropriate and
key
assumptions
are neither
optimistic or
cautious

We consider
management’s
process is
appropriate and
key
assumptions
are neither
optimistic or
cautious

Assessment





Dark Purple We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
Blue
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
Grey
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
Light Purple We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

19

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – other communication
requirements
We set out below details of
other matters which we, as
auditors, are required by
auditing standards and the
Code to communicate to those
charged with governance.

Page 48
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Issue

Commentary

Matters in relation to fraud

We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit and Performance Committee. We have not been
made aware of any incidents in the period and no issues have been identified during the course of our audit
procedures.

Matters in relation to related
parties

We are not aware of any related parties or related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

Matters in relation to laws and
regulations

You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and we have not identified any incidences from our audit work.

Written representations

A letter of representation has been requested from the Council, including specific representations in respect of
the group, the wording of which is included in Appendix F.

Confirmation requests from
third parties

We requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to the Council’s bank and
investment counterparties. This permission was granted and the requests were sent. The majority of these
requests were returned with positive confirmation. Where responses were not received we have undertaken
alternative procedures to obtain the assurance that we require over these balances.

Accounting practices

We have evaluated the appropriateness of the Council's accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial
statement disclosures. Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.

Audit evidence and explanations /
significant difficulties

All information and explanations requested from management were provided.

20

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – other communication
requirements
Issue

Commentary

Going
concern

In performing our work on going concern, we have had reference to Statement of Recommended Practice – Practice Note 10: Audit of financial
statements of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020). The Financial Reporting Council recognises that for particular
sectors, it may be necessary to clarify how auditing standards are applied to an entity in a manner that is relevant and provides useful
information to the users of financial statements in that sector. Practice Note 10 provides that clarification for audits of public sector bodies.
Practice Note 10 sets out the following key principles for the consideration of going concern for public sector entities:

Page 49

•

the use of the going concern basis of accounting is not a matter of significant focus of the auditor’s time and resources because the
applicable financial reporting frameworks envisage that the going concern basis for accounting will apply where the entity’s services will
continue to be delivered by the public sector. In such cases, a material uncertainty related to going concern is unlikely to exist, and so a
straightforward and standardised approach for the consideration of going concern will often be appropriate for public sector entities

•

for many public sector entities, the financial sustainability of the reporting entity and the services it provides is more likely to be of
significant public interest than the application of the going concern basis of accounting. Our consideration of the Council's financial
sustainability is addressed by our value for money work, which is covered elsewhere in this report.

Practice Note 10 states that if the financial reporting framework provides for the adoption of the going concern basis of accounting on the
basis of the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the future, the auditor applies the continued provision of service approach
set out in Practice Note 10. The financial reporting framework adopted by the Council meets this criteria, and so we have applied the
continued provision of service approach. In doing so, we have considered and evaluated:
•

the nature of the Council and the environment in which it operates

•

the Council's financial reporting framework

•

the Council's system of internal control for identifying events or conditions relevant to going concern

•

management’s going concern assessment.

On the basis of this work, we have obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to enable us to conclude that:

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

•

a material uncertainty related to going concern has not been identified

•

management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

21

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – other responsibilities
under the Code
Issue

Commentary

Other
information

We are required to give an opinion on whether the other information published together with the audited financial statements
(including the Annual Governance Statement, Narrative Report and Pension Fund Financial Statements), is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
No inconsistencies have been identified.

Page 50

Matters on which
we report by
exception

We plan to issue an unmodified opinion in this respect, as detailed in Appendix E.
We are required to report on a number of matters by exception in a number of areas:
•

if the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with disclosure requirements set out in CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is
misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit,

•

if we have applied any of our statutory powers or duties.

•

where we are not satisfied in respect of arrangements to secure value for money and have reported a significant
weakness/es.

We have nothing to report on these matters, although our work on the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money is
ongoing at the time of writing this report.
Specified
procedures for
Whole of
Government
Accounts

We are required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)
consolidation pack under WGA group audit instructions.

Certification of
the closure of the
audit

We intend to delay the certification of the closure of the 2020/21 audit of Westminster City Council in the audit report, as detailed
in Appendix E, due to the following work being incomplete:

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

As the Council exceeds the specified group reporting threshold we examine and report on the consistency of the WGA
consolidation pack with the Council's audited financial statements.
This work is not yet completed and the timelines for this work have not yet been confirmed. We anticipate completing this work
in early 2022.

•

work on the Council’s arrangements to secure value for money; and

•

required procedures on the Council’s WGA return.

22

Commercial in confidence

3. Value for Money arrangements
Revised approach to Value for Money
work for 2020/21
On 1 April 2020, the National Audit Office introduced a new
Code of Audit Practice which comes into effect from audit year
2020/21. The Code introduced a revised approach to the audit
of Value for Money (VFM).
There are three main changes arising from the NAO’s new
approach:
•

Page 51

A new set of key criteria, covering financial sustainability,
governance and improvements in economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

•

More extensive reporting, with a requirement on the
auditor to produce a commentary on arrangements across
all of the key criteria.

•

Auditors undertaking sufficient analysis on the Council's
VFM arrangements to arrive at far more sophisticated
judgements on performance, as well as key
recommendations on any significant weaknesses in
arrangements identified during the audit.

The Code require auditors to consider whether the body has
put in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. When
reporting on these arrangements, the Code requires auditors to
structure their commentary on arrangements under the three
specified reporting criteria.

Improving economy, efficiency and
effectiveness
Arrangements for improving the way
the body delivers its services. This
includes arrangements for
understanding costs and delivering
efficiencies and improving outcomes
for service users.

Financial Sustainability

Governance

Arrangements for ensuring the body
can continue to deliver services.
This includes planning resources to
ensure adequate finances and
maintain sustainable levels of
spending over the medium term (3-5
years)

Arrangements for ensuring that the
body makes appropriate decisions in
the right way. This includes
arrangements for budget setting and
management, risk management, and
ensuring the body makes decisions
based on appropriate information

Potential types of recommendations
A range of different recommendations could be made following the completion of work on the body’s arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, which are as follows:
Statutory recommendation

Written recommendations to the body under Section 24 (Schedule 7) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. A
recommendation under schedule 7 requires the body to discuss and respond publicly to the report.
Key recommendation
The Code of Audit Practice requires that where auditors identify significant weaknesses in arrangements to secure value for
money they should make recommendations setting out the actions that should be taken by the body. We have defined
these recommendations as ‘key recommendations’.
Improvement recommendation
These recommendations, if implemented should improve the arrangements in place at the body, but are not made as a
result of identifying significant weaknesses in the body’s arrangements

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Commercial in confidence

3. VFM - our procedures and conclusions
We have not yet completed all of our VFM work and so are not in a position to issue our Auditor’s Annual Report. An audit letter
explaining the reasons for the delay is attached in Appendix G to this report. We expect to issue our Auditor’s Annual Report by November
2021. This is in line with the National Audit Office's revised deadline, which requires the Auditor's Annual Report to be issued no more
than three months after the date of the opinion on the financial statements.

As part of our work, we consider whether there are any risks of significant weakness in the Council's arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We have not yet identified any risks, and our work remains underway.
Nothing has arisen through our VFM work to date that would impact on our planned audit opinion.

Page 52
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

24

Commercial in confidence

4. Independence and ethics
We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as
auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered
person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.
We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm
that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance
Note 01 issued in May 2020 which sets out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for
auditors of local public bodies.
Details of fees charged are detailed in Appendix D.
Transparency
Grant Thornton publishes an annual Transparency Report, which sets out details of the action we
have taken over the past year to improve audit quality as well as the results of internal and external
quality inspections. For more details see Transparency report 2020 (grantthornton.co.uk)

Audit and non-audit services

Page 53

For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the group. The following non-audit services were identified which were charged or
commenced from the beginning of the financial year to September 2021, as well as the threats to our independence and safeguards that have been applied to mitigate these threats.

Service

Fees £

Threats identified

Safeguards

Audit related services
Certification of Housing capital
receipts grant 2019/20

5,000

Certification of Teachers Pension
Return 2019/20

7,700

Certification of Housing Benefit
Claim 2019/20

36,000

Certification of Housing Benefit
Claim 2020/21

35,000

For all of these audit-related
services, we consider that the
following perceived threats may
apply:
•

Self-Interest
(because this is
a recurring fee)

•

Self Review

•

Management

Our team have no involvement in the preparation of the form which is certified, and do not expect material
misstatements in the financial statements to arise from the performance of the certification work. Although
related income and expenditure is included within the financial statements, the work required in respect of
certification is separate from the work required to audit the financial statements, and is performed after the
audit of the financial statements has been completed.
The scope of the work does not include making decisions on behalf of management or recommending or
suggesting a particular course of action for management to follow. Our team perform these engagements in
line with set instructions and reporting frameworks. Any amendments made as a result of our work are the
responsibility of informed management.

No non-audit related services

These services are consistent with the group’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. All services have been approved by the Audit and Performance Committee.
None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees.
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

25

Page 54

Appendices

26

Commercial in confidence

A. Action plan – Audit of Financial Statements
We have identified recommendations for the group as a result of issues identified during the course of our audit. We have agreed
our recommendations with management and we will report on progress on these recommendations during the course of the
2021/22 audit. The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the course of our audit and
that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.
Assessment

Issue and risk

Medium

Provisions for doubtful debts / credit loss impairments

Page 55

Our testing has identified that elements of the Council’s
provisions and allowances in respect of the Collection Fund
have been calculated based on the same assumed percentage
for a number of years.
We are satisfied that this does not give rise to a material
misstatement in the financial statements, but there is a risk
that the provisions and allowances are not reflective of the
risk faced by the Council.
Low

Recommendations

We recommend that the Council review the calculation of these balances each year to ensure that they remain
appropriate.
Management response

This provision estimate relates to court costs and not general bad debt or appeals provisions, which have been
reviewed this year in light of Covid-19. The Council feels that its provision for court costs remains appropriate and
prudent in 2020/21 and will review again in the new year.

External audit planning inquiries
We note that full and complete responses to our planning
inquiries were not received until August 2021. Planning
inquiries are an important part of our risk assessment process,
and this delayed engagement impacted on our work. We have
not experienced similar issues in previous years.

We recommend that management engage fully with our planning process in future years to enable audit efficiency.
Management response
Responses were collated from across the Council and follow on queries were discussed with Grant Thornton. Further
management review was built in as it was the first time this information had been requested, time was taken to
ensure responses were accurate and meaningful. Next year responses should not have changed significantly and this
work will be completed in a timely manner.

Controls




High – Significant effect on financial statements
Medium – Limited Effect on financial statements
Low – Best practice

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

27

Commercial in confidence

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations
We identified the following issues in the audit of Westminster City Council’s financial statements in previous years,
which resulted in a number of recommendations being reported in our 2019/20 Audit Findings Report. We have
followed up on the implementation of our recommendations below.
Assessment
✓

✓

Action completed

X

Not yet addressed

Issue and risk previously communicated

Update on actions taken to address the issue

Quality control (2019/20)

The financial statements provided for audit for the 2020/21
year were of an improved quality, demonstrating a more
thorough management review.

The draft financial statements provided for audit in 2019/20 contained a number of fundamental misstatements which a
robust management review may have identified and corrected. This resulted in the audit process being more complex and
time consuming than anticipated, due to the high number of issues arising during the course of our work.

Page 56

We recommended that management ensure sufficient time is built into the closedown processes to enable a robust
management and quality review to be completed prior to the financial statements being submitted for audit. In previous
years we have also recommended that management reconsider their close-down timetable, to allow for contingency and
for further quality control checks to be performed.
✓

Assessment

Uncertainties regarding treatment of HRA dwelling additions (2019/20)
When responding to audit challenge in 2019/20, there was some confusion regarding whether 65 dwellings acquired in
year had been disclosed as part of the HRA dwellings addition balance. Had this been an omission, it would have been
material to the financial statements. During the course of the audit there were also multiple iterations of the calculation
of the gains and losses on these assets.

This process was built into the Council’s closedown
timetable, and we will discuss timings for the next year’s
audit with Management to continue to allow for these
processes.

Management have employed a permanent resource in post
and have performed reconciliations in year.
We have not identified any issues regarding the treatment
of HRA dwellings additions.

Where management cannot confirm that the financial statements are consistent with supporting records, there is a risk
that there are other, related balances and transactions that are omitted.
We recommended that management ensure that a reconciliation between the disclosure note, the general ledger and the
Council’s asset register and related records is in place going forward.
✓

Issues in supporting property data (2019/20)
During detailed testing of inputs into the valuations of the Council’s HRA assets, we noted inconsistencies between the
data provided to the valuer and supporting documentation available, including details on property ownership shares and
the letting status of properties. In addition, a significant proportion of the supporting documentation available was
several years old, and the Council did not perform regular checks over the data held.

Management have provided supporting evidence for a
sample of property ownership shares tested within our
work on the HRA this year.
We have not identified any significant issues as a result of
this work.

Although we gained sufficient assurance that these issues did not lead to a material issue in the 2019/20 financial
statements, there is a risk that incorrect data will lead to errors in valuations and so we recommended that the Council
implement a process for ensuring that the data held by the Council and passed to the valuer for the basis of their property
valuations remains accurate.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

28

Commercial in confidence

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations
Assessment

Assessment
✓
(TBC)

✓

Action completed

X

Not yet addressed

Issue and risk previously communicated

Update on actions taken to address the issue

Valuations of assets transferred between categories within Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Property
(2019/20)

The Council reviewed all assets reclassified in-year, to
ensure that any changes of use that might affect the
valuation were identified.

Where assets are transferred between categories, these should be revalued at the date of transfer within the existing
category, using the relevant valuation basis of the existing category. At the end of the year, all assets should be subject to
appropriate valuation procedures based on their category at the balance sheet date.
We have noted instances of assets being revalued on the wrong basis prior to transfer, and of assets not being
subsequently valued at year end. An adjustment was made in 2019/20 relating to a material asset that was treated
incorrectly in the draft accounts.

We have not identified any similar issues during our audit
procedures this year, although this work is ongoing at the
time of drafting this report.

Page 57

We recommended that Management put appropriate checks in place to ensure that such transactions are correctly
accounted for, and avoid similar errors arising in future years.
✓

Use of blended indices for valuations (2019/20)
For operational assets that were subject to desktop valuation in 2019/20 (approx. 80% of the portfolio), indexation was
applied using a blend of indices for retail and office properties. The assets in question comprise a wide range of building
types, including schools and other specialist assets, and therefore this approach may lead to inaccurate valuations of the
assets in question.
We satisfied ourselves that the potential impact of alternative indexation on the 2019/20 financial statements was not
material, but recommended that management review the approach used for desktop valuations for future years, as a
more tailored indexation may be more appropriate.

✓

Valuations of disposed assets (2019/20)
We noted during our testing in 2019/20 that the Council calculated the gains and losses on disposals of assets within the
HRA based on their valuations as at 1 April 2018 rather than the updated 31 March 2019 valuations.
We satisfied ourselves that the impact of this on the 2019/20 financial statements was trivial, but this may not have been
the case, and a much larger error would have been possible as a result of this issue and so we recommended that checks
be introduced to ensure that the correct data is used for such calculations going forward.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

An updated approach to indexation has been taken for
2020/21, whereby the valuer has applied office and
industrial indices to such assets, and residential indices to
other assets such as care homes and nurseries.
When applying our view of alternative indexation to the
2020/21 portfolio, we have gained sufficient and
appropriate assurance over the appropriateness of this
approach.

The Council have completed a reconciliation of capital
receipts and disposal costs during the year.
We have not identified any similar issues during our audit
procedures this year.

29

Commercial in confidence

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations
Assessment

Assessment
✓

Useful economic lives of assets (2019/20)

The Council have completed a review of these assets
during 2020/21 and have now written a number of these
assets out of the fixed asset register and the financial
statements.

Page 58

In addition we noted that the Council wrote out a number of duplicate assets during the 2019/20 year. We recommended
that the Council complete a full review of assets with no useful economic life remaining and take appropriate action
based on their findings.

(TBC)

Not yet addressed

Update on actions taken to address the issue

The net book value of these assets was £nil, so they have no impact on the primary statements, however this may be
indicative that either:
• there are assets in the fixed asset register that no longer belong to the Council; or
• the useful economic lives assigned to these assets were not appropriate.

✓

Action completed

X

Issue and risk previously communicated

From review of the Council’s fixed asset register in 2019/20, we identified that there were 639 assets with a gross book
value of £193m which had no remaining useful economic life at 31 March 2020.

✓

✓

Capital transactions (2019/20)

Following our challenge, management have confirmed that
a number of these assets should have been written out of
the financial statements in previous years. A Prior Period
Adjustment has been made within Note 18c to better
reflect the timings of these assets ceasing to be used by the
Council.

Through our audit testing we identified that the Council records all capital transactions on 31 March each year, rather
than being recorded at the actual transaction date.

Having considered this, the Council's view is that changing
its policy in this regard would create a significant amount of
extra work for very limited added benefit.

Management should consider whether this is appropriate given the issues that we noted regarding capital accounting.
Recording transactions at the correct point in the year may help address some of our findings.

We have not identified any material issues arising from this
approach.

Related party transactions and declarations (2019/20)

The Council have adapted the leavers form for senior
officers in order to capture information when individuals
leave the organisation. In addition, companies house
searches will also be completed to check that members
have disclosed all interests.

Our work on the Council’s disclosure of related party transactions in 2019/20 identified that one return was not received
for a senior officer in post at year end, and four returns were not received for individuals who had left during the year or
were on long term leave. We also identified 7 interests that were not disclosed by members.
There is a risk that the Council has related parties that they are not aware of. We recommend that a process is introduced
to ensure that relevant information is obtained from all staff, including those who leave the organisation during the year,
and that consideration is given to the completeness of the declarations made in future.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Our work in this area is ongoing at the time of drafting this
report.

30

Commercial in confidence

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations
Assessment

Assessment
✓
(TBC)

Action completed

X

Not yet addressed

Issue and risk previously communicated

Update on actions taken to address the issue

Property leases (2019/20)

The Council aims to renew all leases prior to lease
completion dates. However, it can be best practice to
continue existing lease arrangements and leave the tenants
to hold over under the terms of the existing lease at a
higher rent.

For 2 of the 22 items that we sampled as part of our work on the valuation of Investment Properties in 2019/20, we
identified that the Council had no lease agreements in place, and the leases in question had expired in 2018.
Management should ensure that lease agreements are in place for all properties, to ensure that they have assurance over
the recoverability of rental income.

✓

✓

Capital programme reporting (2019/20)

Page 59

Monthly monitoring reports are presented to the Executive Leadership Team, members of Cabinet and the Capital Review
Group. These reports explain the reasons for slippage at a very high level.

We have not identified any material issues arising from this
approach, although this work is ongoing at the time of
drafting this report.
Further detail now forms part of the monthly monitoring
report presented to Capital Review Group.

We have no further concerns in this area.

The reports would be strengthened by enhancing the detail to explain the slippage, including explanations as to whether
the slippage was caused by matters within the Council’s control or by a third party delivering the scheme.
The reports should include the explicit actions that the Council are taking to bring the project back on track or to prevent
further slippage, including how the Council is actively managing any third parties.

✓

Bank account reconciliations (2018/19)
At the time of our 2018/19 audit, the Council were unable to fully reconcile the cash position per the General Ledger to
their bank balance. There is a risk that unreconciled items are masking other issues in the Council’s financial records.
Following the implementation of the Council’s new finance system in the previous financial year, the process and system
controls have been embedded within the financial system. Since November 2019 the bank account has been reconciled
on a regular basis, with appropriate review.

The Council continues to reconcile the bank account with
appropriate review on a regular basis.
We have not noted any instances of unreconciled amounts
at 31 March 2021.

While the Council has fully reconciled the cash position for the main bank accounts, there was one account that remained
unreconciled at the end of 2019/20, with an unexplained variance of £11.6k.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

31

Commercial in confidence

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations
Assessment

Assessment
✓

Land and building split assumptions for the purposes of depreciation (2018/19)

Checks were carried out as part of the year-end accounts
preparation. The Council confirmed that their approach was
reasonable for land and buildings for the 2020/21 year. In
addition, work has been completed to ensure there are no
properties in operational without a land/building split for
the purposes of depreciation.

Page 60

We recommended that formal consideration should be given each year to the appropriateness of the split of land and
buildings elements for the purposes of depreciation charges.

✓

Not yet addressed

Update on actions taken to address the issue

We identified that the Council have assumed the split of land and buildings for other operational properties too, not just
the HRA. In addition, we identified multiple properties in the fixed asset register that were not appropriately split
between land and buildings for the purposes of depreciation.

(TBC)

Action completed

X

Issue and risk previously communicated

During our work on the movement in the Council’s HRA balances in previous years, we noted that the Council estimate
the value of the land element of the HRA for the purposes of depreciation. The estimate used has remained the same for
a number of years, with no formal reassessment.

✓

✓

Classification of properties between Investment Properties and Operational Properties (2017/18)

We have not identified any specific issues during our audit
procedures this year.

A number of investment properties were reclassified as operational property, plant and equipment during the 2017/18
valuation process. Our testing identified one further asset that was classified incorrectly. We found further issues with the
classification of properties in 2018/19 and 2019/20.

As part of the prior year audit, the Council checked all HRA
investment properties to ensure income received was
being coded to the HRA. This review has been completed
again for 2020/21.

A review of investment properties should be performed each year to ensure that all investment properties are correctly
classified.

We have not identified any similar issues during our audit
procedures this year.

Cut-off of expenditure (2016/17)

As accounts are prepared with an element of estimation
and at a point in time, there is a risk that some transactions
are not accrued. Grant Thornton have previously flagged
this as a risk due to the Council closing their accounts
quickly. Last year the accounts were produced by 30 April.
A sample of the transactions for the first two weeks in April
were tested internally to understand if material accruals
had been missed.

In previous years’ audits, our sample testing of creditor balances and payments post year end identified items that did
not follow the Council’s guidance. Although we were satisfied that this was not indicative of a material misstatement in
the financial statements, we recommended that all budget managers follow the Council’s accruals guidance when
preparing the year end position.

This risk is reduced in 2020/21 as the accounts have been
prepared a few weeks later and a larger sample can be
taken, over a longer period (4 weeks instead of 2 as in
previous years).
Our work in this area is ongoing at the time of drafting this
report.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

32

Commercial in confidence

C. Audit Adjustments
We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been
adjusted by management.
Impact of adjusted misstatements
No adjusted misstatements have been identified for the year ending 31 March 2021 at the time of drafting this report.

Impact of unadjusted misstatements

Page 61

The table below provides details of adjustments identified during the 2020/21 audit which have not been made within the final set of financial statements. The Audit and Performance Committee is required
to approve management's proposed treatment of all items recorded within the table below.

Detail
Our testing of the Council’s property revaluations identified an error in the treatment of the revaluations in
the financial statements. The size of the error has been confirmed at £2.8m, but the exact impact of the
adjustment is yet to be confirmed.
Overall impact

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial
Expenditure Statement
Position
£‘000
£’ 000
TBC

£TBC

Reason for not adjusting

TBC Immaterial to the financial
statements

£TBC

33

Commercial in confidence

C. Audit Adjustments
Misclassification and disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements.

Disclosure

Detail

Property, Plant and
Equipment

Management identified an error whereby the value of assets held at historic cost in Note 18b for land and buildings included a small number of investment
properties that had been transferred to land and buildings in year but not valued at an operational value by the valuer until after the preparation and
publication of the draft accounts.

Note 18b

Adjusted?
✓

Management therefore confirmed that the value of assets held at historic cost in Note 18b was overstated by £1,720k, and the value of assets valued at 31
March 2021 was understated by the same amount. The accounts have been amended appropriately.

Page 62

Investment Properties
Note 20
Leases
Note 25
Various

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Management identified an error in the Investment Properties disclosure note, and have therefore moved £1,746k from the ‘purchases’ line to the ‘subsequent
expenditure’ line in the note to correct this.

✓

Work performed on the assets that the Council holds under finance leases identified that their value in Note 25 was overstated by £17,851k. The Council have
amended the accounts to reflect the correct balance of £103,811k, per the Fixed Asset Register.

✓

A number of other minor changes have been made to disclosure notes and accounting policies throughout the financial statements to improve accuracy, clarity
and user understanding.

✓

34

Commercial in confidence

C. Audit Adjustments
Impact of prior year unadjusted misstatements
The table below provides details of adjustments identified during the prior year audit which had not been made within the final set of 2019/20 financial statements

Detail

Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial
Expenditure Statement
Position
£‘000
£’ 000 Reason for not adjusting

Unrecorded liabilities
We tested a sample of 92 items from the first two months of 2020/21 back to supporting information. Of these, 6 items
related to the 2019/20 year but had not been recognised, and for 1 item the Council were unable to identify which period
the invoice related to.

Error was an immaterial estimate
based on the result of an
extrapolation

The errors identified were extrapolated over the population tested, giving an extrapolated error of £5,803k.

Page 63

We note that included in the payments made early in 2020/21 were a significant number of Covid-19 business rate grants.
We had not identified any issues with these items during our testing – 27 of the 92 items tested were grants. We were
unable to accurately identify these grants in our population in order to exclude them from our extrapolation, however we
considered that there was a risk they would skew the extrapolation results. If we excluded all transactions of £25k and
£10k as an approximation for this population, the errors identified would have extrapolated to £7,296k, which we
considered to be the maximum potential impact of the issues identified.
The potential impact of this on the financial statements would have been as follows:
Increase expenditure

7,296

Increase creditors (accruals)

(7,296)

We note that some of the expenditure would have been capital in nature, so the whole adjustment would not have
impacted on the CIES.
Valuations of Investment Properties
The Council’s valuer was unable to provide supporting calculations for one valuation of £145k. Although this item on its
own is below our clearly trivial threshold, if this valuation were 100% incorrect, the extrapolated error would be
approximately £2,649k:
Recognise loss on revaluation in CIES

Error was an immaterial
extrapolation based on a worst case
scenario
2,649

Decrease the value of Investment Property

(2,649)

For a number of the assets that we sampled (7 of 22) we identified issues when corroborating the inputs into the
valuations, such as assumed rental incomes and assumed lease periods, to supporting information.
We determined that the maximum possible impact of this on the financial statements would be as follows:
Recognise loss on revaluation in CIES

8,330

Decrease the value of Investment Property

Overall impact
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

(8,330)

£18,275k

(£18,275k)
35

Commercial in confidence

D. Fees
We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.
Audit fees

Final fee

Council Audit

£213,004

£TBC

Total audit fees (excluding VAT)

£213,004

£TBC

Proposed fee

Final fee

Page 64

Proposed fee

The fees reconcile to the financial statements as follows:
•

fees per financial statements

£143,004 (PSAA Scale Fee)

•

proposed additional fee 2020/21

£70,000 (subject to PSAA approval)

•

total fees per above

£213,004

Non-audit fees for other services
Audit Related Services:
•

Certification of Pooling of Housing Capital Receipts return 2019/20

£5,000

£5,000

•

Certification of Teachers’ Pensions return 2019/20

£7,700

£7,700

•

Certification of Housing Benefits claim 2019/20

£36,000

£36,000

•

Certification of Housing Benefits claim 2020/21

£35,000

£TBC

£83,700

£TBC

Total non-audit fees (excluding VAT)

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

36

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion
Our proposed audit opinion is included below. We anticipate we will provide the group with an unmodified audit report.

Independent auditor's report to the members of Westminster City
Council
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Page 65

Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of Westminster City Council (the ‘Authority’) and its
subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet,
the Cash Flow Statement, the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, the
Group Movement in Reserves Statement, the Group Balance Sheet and the Group Cash Flow
Statement, the Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement, the Movement on
the Housing Revenue Account Statement, the Collection Fund Statement and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The notes to the
financial statements include the Notes to the Accounts, Notes to the Housing Revenue Account
Statement, Notes to the Collection Fund Statement and Notes to the Group Accounts. The
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the
CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of the group and of the Authority as at 31
March 2021 and of the group’s expenditure and income and the Authority’s expenditure
and income for the year then ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on
local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group and the Authority in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Authority or group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the
auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Authority or the group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
In our evaluation of the Executive Director of Finance and Resources’ conclusions, and in
accordance with the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 that the Authority and group’s financial
statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks
associated with the continuation of services provided by the group and the Authority. In doing so
we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements and
regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the application of ISA
(UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness of the basis
of preparation used by the group and Authority and the group and Authority’s disclosures over
the going concern period.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the
Authority’s or the group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve
months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

37

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate.
The responsibilities of the Executive Director of Finance and Resources with respect to going
concern are described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Authority, the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources and Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements’ section of this
report.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
•

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to
law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at
the conclusion of the audit; or;

•

we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

Other information
The Executive Director of Finance and Resources is responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the
financial statements, our auditor’s report thereon and our auditor’s report on the pension fund
financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

Page 66

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we
are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit
Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 on behalf of
the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider
whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with ‘delivering good governance in
Local Government Framework 2016 Edition’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE or is misleading
or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to
consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks
are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.
Responsibilities of the Authority, the Executive Director of Finance and Resources and
Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements
As explained in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts, set out on page
x, the Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial
affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those
affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Executive Director of Finance and Resources. The
Executive Director of Finance and Resources is responsible for the preparation of the Statement
of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set
out in the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom
2020/21, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
Executive Director of Finance and Resources determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Executive Director of Finance and Resources is
responsible for assessing the Authority’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless there is an intention by government that the services provided by the Authority
and the group will no longer be provided.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

The Audit and Performance Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with
Governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting process.

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial
statements and our knowledge of the Authority, the other information published together with the
financial statements in the Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

38

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion



considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

•

Our audit procedures involved:

evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that the Executive Director of
Finance and Resources has in place to prevent and detect fraud;

journal entry testing, with a particular focus on significant journals at the end of
the financial year which impacted on the Authority’s financial performance;

testing of how management made the significant accounting estimates in respect
of property valuations and challenging assumptions and judgements made by
management in making these estimates;

substantive procedures to confirm the appropriateness of income and operating
expenditure with a particular emphasis on transactions recorded close to and
after 31 March 2021;

challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in making year
end income and expenditure accruals; and

assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as
part of our procedures on the related financial statement item.

•

These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements were free from fraud or error. However, detecting irregularities that result from
fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as those
irregularities that result from fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery
or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws
and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the
less likely we would become aware of it.

•

The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations and fraud included the potential for fraud in revenue and expenditure
recognition, and the significant accounting estimates related to the valuations of the
Authority’s land and buildings land and buildings, investment property and defined benefit
pensions liability valuations.

•

Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the
group and Authority’s engagement team included consideration of the engagement
team's:

understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar
nature and complexity through appropriate training and participation

knowledge of the local government sector;

understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Authority
and group including:

the provisions of the applicable legislation;

guidance issued by CIPFA, LASAAC and SOLACE;

the applicable statutory provisions.

•

In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding
of:

the Authority and group’s operations, including the nature of its income and
expenditure and its services and of its objectives and strategies to understand
the classes of transactions, account balances, expected financial statement

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities,
including fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We
design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material
misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an
audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial statements may not
be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the
ISAs (UK).
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is
detailed below:

Page 67

•

•

•
•

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable
to the group and Authority and determined that the most significant ,which are directly
relevant to specific assertions in the financial statements, are those related to the
reporting frameworks (international accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by
the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom
2020/21, the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015, the Local Government Act 2003, the Local Government Act 1972, the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, the Local Government Finance Act 1988 (as
amended by the Local Government Finance Act 1992) and the Local Government
Finance Act 2012.
We enquired of senior officers and the Audit and Performance Committee, concerning the
group and Authority’s policies and procedures relating to:

the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;

the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and

the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or noncompliance with laws and regulations.
We enquired of senior officers, internal audit and the Audit and Performance Committee,
whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or
whether they had any knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.
We assessed the susceptibility of the Authority and group’s financial statements to
material misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating officers’ incentives
and opportunities for manipulation of the financial statements. This included the
evaluation of the risk of management override of controls. We determined that the
principal risks were in relation to:

journal entries that altered the Authority’s financial performance for the year;

potential management bias in determining accounting estimates, especially in
relation to:

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

the calculation of the valuation of the Council’s land and buildings; and
accruals of income and expenditure at the end of the financial year.

39

Commercial in confidence

E. Audit opinion



disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material misstatement.
The Authority and group's control environment, including the policies and
procedures implemented by the Authority and group to ensure compliance with
the requirements of the financial reporting framework.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the
Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources
Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Authority’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not
been able to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Page 68

Our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources is not yet complete. The outcome of our work will be reported in our
commentary on the Authority’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual Report. If we identify any
significant weaknesses in these arrangements, these will be reported by exception in a further
auditor’s report. We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on our opinion on
the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.
Responsibilities of the Authority
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered,
whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the
guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021. This guidance sets out the
arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these
arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary on
arrangements under three specified reporting criteria:
•

Financial sustainability: how the Authority plans and manages its resources to ensure it
can continue to deliver its services;

•

Governance: how the Authority ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly
manages its risks; and

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

•

Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Authority uses information
about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

We document our understanding of the arrangements the Authority has in place for each of these
three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment and
commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we consider whether there
is evidence to suggest that there are significant weaknesses in arrangements.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in
certification of completion of the audit
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for Westminster City Council
for the year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed:
•

our work on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources and issued our Auditor’s Annual Report; and

•

the work necessary to issue our Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) Component
Assurance statement for the Authority for the year ended 31 March 2021.

We are required to give an opinion on the consistency of the pension fund financial statements of
the Authority included in the Pension Fund Annual Report with the pension fund financial
statements included in the Statement of Accounts. The Local Government Pension Scheme
Regulations 2013 require authorities to publish the Pension Fund Annual Report by 1 December
2021. As the Authority has not prepared the Pension Fund Annual Report at the time of this
report, we have yet to issue our report on the consistency of the pension fund financial
statements. Until we have done so, we are unable to certify that we have completed the audit of
the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.
We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments
Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other
than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.

40

Commercial in confidence

F. Management Letter of Representation

Dear Sirs

defined benefit net pension liabilities, and allowances for credit losses and impairments.
We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the financial
statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed in
the financial statements. We understand our responsibilities includes identifying and
considering alternative, methods, assumptions or source data that would be equally valid
under the financial reporting framework, and why these alternatives were rejected in
favour of the estimate used. We are satisfied that the methods, the data and the
significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates and their related
disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition, measurement or disclosure that is
reasonable in accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed in the financial
statements.

Westminster City Council
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Page 69

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of
Westminster City Council and its subsidiary undertakings, Westminster Community Homes Ltd,
WestCo Trading Ltd, Hub Make Lab PLC, Paddington Recreation Ground charity and
Westminster Housing Investments Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 for the purpose of
expressing an opinion as to whether the group and Council financial statements are presented
fairly, in all material respects in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2020/21 and applicable law.

vi.

We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the valuation of
pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits disclosures are
consistent with our knowledge. We confirm that all settlements and curtailments have
been identified and properly accounted for. We also confirm that all significant postemployment benefits have been identified and properly accounted for.

vii.

Except as disclosed in the group and Council financial statements:

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:
Financial Statements

i.

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the group and Council’s
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and
the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2020/21 ("the Code"); in particular the financial statements are fairly presented
in accordance therewith.

a.

there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent

b.

none of the assets of the [group and ]Council has been assigned, pledged or
mortgaged

c.

there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or nonrecurring items requiring separate disclosure.

ii.

We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the group and
Council and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the
financial statements.

viii.

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Code.

iii.

The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a
material effect on the group and Council financial statements in the event of noncompliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements of any regulatory
authorities that could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of
non-compliance.

ix.

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International
Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or disclosure have been
adjusted or disclosed.

x.

We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and disclosures
changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The group and Council
financial statements have been amended for these misstatements, misclassifications and
disclosure changes and are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

xi.

We have considered the unadjusted misstatements schedule included in your Audit
Findings Report and attached. We have not adjusted the financial statements for these
misstatements brought to our attention as they are immaterial to the results of the Council

iv.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of
internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those
measured at fair value, are reasonable. Such accounting estimates include the valuation
of land and buildings, council dwellings, and investment properties, the valuation of

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

41

Commercial in confidence

F. Management Letter of Representation
and group and its financial position at the year-end. The financial statements are free of
material misstatements, including omissions.

xix.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xii.

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.

xx.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we
are aware of and that affects the group and Council, and involves:

xiii.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

a.

management;

b.

employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

The prior period adjustments disclosed in the financial statements are accurate and
complete. There are no other prior period errors to bring to your attention.

c.

others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

xiv.
xv.

We have updated our going concern assessment and cashflow forecasts in light of the
Covid-19 pandemic. We continue to believe that the group and Council’s financial
statements should be prepared on a going concern basis and have not identified any
material uncertainties related to going concern on the grounds that :
a.

Page 70

the nature of the group and Council means that, notwithstanding any intention to
liquidate the group and Council or cease its operations in their current form, it will
continue to be appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
because, in such an event, services it performs can be expected to continue to
be delivered by related public authorities and preparing the financial statements
on a going concern basis will still provide a faithful representation of the items in
the financial statements

b.

the financial reporting framework permits the entry to prepare its financial
statements on the basis of the presumption set out under a) above; and

c.

the group and Council’s system of internal control has not identified any events
or conditions relevant to going concern.

We believe that no further disclosures relating to the group and Council's ability to
continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial statements.

xxi.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected
fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by employees, former employees,
analysts, regulators or others.

xxii.

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when
preparing financial statements.

xxiii.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the group and Council's related parties and all
the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxiv.

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects
should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

Annual Governance Statement
xxv.

Narrative Report
xxvi.

Information Provided
xvi.

We have provided you with:
a.

access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation
of the group and Council’s financial statements such as records, documentation
and other matters;

b.

additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your
audit; and

c.

access to persons within the Council via remote arrangements, in compliance
with the nationally specified social distancing requirements established by the
government in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. from whom you determined
it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xvii.

We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management is
aware.

xviii.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
financial statements.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects the Council's
risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that we are not aware of any
significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.

The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of the group
and Council's financial and operating performance over the period covered by the
financial statements.

Approval

The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Council’s Audit and Performance
Committee at its meeting on 29 September 2021.

42

Commercial in confidence

G. Audit letter in respect of delayed VFM work
Note that this letter does not form part of our formal communications under ISA 260 (Communication with Those Charged with
Governance) but is included here for ease of reference.

Dear Councillor Rowley, Chair of Audit and Performance Committee as TCWG

Page 71

Under the 2020 Code of Audit Practice, for relevant authorities other than local NHS bodies we
are required to issue our Auditor’s Annual Report no later than 30 September or, where this is
not possible, issue an audit letter setting out the reasons for delay.
As a result of the ongoing pandemic, and the impact it has had on both preparers and auditors
of accounts to complete their work as quickly as would normally be expected, the National
Audit Office has updated its guidance to auditors to allow us to postpone completion of our
work on arrangements to secure value for money and focus our resources firstly on the
delivery of our opinions on the financial statements. This is intended to help ensure as many
as possible could be issued in line with national timetables and legislation.
As a result, we have therefore not yet issued our Auditor’s Annual Report, including our
commentary on arrangements to secure value for money. We now expect to publish our
report no later than 31 December 2021.

For the purposes of compliance with the 2020 Code, this letter constitutes the required audit
letter explaining the reasons for delay.

Yours faithfully

Joanne Brown
Partner

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

43

Page 72
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context
requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal
entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one
another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

Appendix 2

The Audit Findings for the
City of Westminster Pension Fund
Year ended 31 March 2021

Page 73

20 September 2021

Commercial in confidence

Contents
Section
1. Headlines

3

2. Financial statements

4

3. Independence and ethics

Your key Grant Thornton
team members are:

Page

14

Appendices

Page 74

A. Audit adjustments

16

Joanne Brown

B. Fees

17

Key Audit Partner

C. Audit Opinion

18

D. Management Letter of Representation

20

T: 0141 223 0848
E: Joanne.E.Brown@uk.gt.com

The contents of this report relate only to the
matters which have come to our attention,
which we believe need to be reported to you as
part of our audit planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the relevant
matters, which may be subject to change, and in
particular we cannot be held responsible to you
for reporting all of the risks which may affect the
Pension Fund or all weaknesses in your internal
controls. This report has been prepared solely
for your benefit and should not be quoted in
whole or in part without our prior written
consent. We do not accept any responsibility for
any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or
refraining from acting on the basis of the
content of this report, as this report was
not prepared for, nor intended for, any
other purpose.

Laurelin Griffiths
Senior Manager
T: 0121 232 5363
E: Laurelin.H.Griffiths@uk.gt.com
Tanyaradzwa Chikari
Audit Incharge
T: 020 7728 2853
E: Tanyaradzwa.G.Chikari@uk.gt.com

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability
partnership registered in England and Wales:
No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury
Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is
available from our registered office. Grant
Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by
the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton
UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton
International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member
firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services
are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its
member firms are not agents of, and do not
obligate, one another and are not liable for one
another’s acts or omissions.

2

Commercial in confidence

1. Headlines
This table summarises the key
findings and other matters
arising from the statutory audit
of the City of Westminster
Pension Fund (‘the Pension
Fund’) and the preparation of
the Pension Fund's financial
statements for the year ended
31 March 2021 for those
charged with governance.

Page 75
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Financial Statements

Under International Standards of Audit (UK) (ISAs) and
the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice
('the Code'), we are required to report whether, in our
opinion:

Our work is substantially complete and there are no matters of which we are aware that would
require modification of our audit opinion, the wording of which is included in Appendix C, or
material changes to the financial statements, subject to the outstanding matters listed on the
next page.

•

the Pension Fund’s financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the
Pension Fund and its income and expenditure for
the year; and

We have concluded that the other information to be published with the financial statements is
consistent with our knowledge of your organisation and the financial statements we have
audited.

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with
the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting and prepared in accordance
with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

Our anticipated audit report opinion will be unmodified (subject to conclusion of outstanding
matters)

Our audit work was completed remotely during JuneSeptember. Our findings are summarised on pages 4 to
13.
We have identified no adjustments to the financial
statements that have resulted in an adjustment to the
Pension Fund’s reported financial position. Audit
adjustments are detailed in Appendix A.

3

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements

Overview of the scope of our audit

Page 76

This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from the
audit that are significant to the responsibility of those charged with
governance to oversee the financial reporting process, as required by
International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 and the Code of Audit
Practice (‘the Code’). Its contents have been discussed with management
prior to being presented to the Audit Committee.
As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance
with International Standards on Auditing (UK) and the Code, which is
directed towards forming and expressing an opinion on the financial
statements that have been prepared by management with the oversight
of those charged with governance. The audit of the financial statements
does not relieve management or those charged with governance of their
responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.

Audit approach

Conclusion
We have substantially completed our audit of your financial statements and subject to outstanding queries being resolved, we
anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion following the Audit Committee meeting on 29 September 2021, as detailed in
Appendix C.
These outstanding items include:
•

Completion of testing of a sample of movements in the Pension Fund’s member data to support our work on contributions
and pension payments;

•

Final quality checks and senior personnel reviews of the audit work performed;

•

Review of the updated financial statements to ensure that expected adjustments have been processed, and that they are
internally consistent;

•

Receipt of management’s signed representation letter;

•

Review of the final Annual Report; and

•

Review of the final, approved set of financial statements.

Acknowledgements

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the
Pension Fund’s business and is risk based, and in particular included:

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance provided by the finance team and other
staff.

•

An evaluation of the Pension Fund's internal controls environment,
including its IT systems and controls; and

•

Substantive testing on significant transactions and material account
balances, including the procedures outlined in this report in relation
to the key audit risks

As highlighted in our audit plan presented to the Audit Committee in June 2021, the impact of the pandemic has meant that
both your finance team and our audit team faced audit challenges again this year, including remote access of financial systems,
and verifying the completeness and accuracy of information produced and provided remotely by the entity.
The finance team have been extremely helpful in enabling us to gain the assurance that we require for our auditor’s opinion on
the financial statements.

We have not had to alter our audit plan, as communicated to you in June
2021.
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

4

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements
.

Pension Fund Amount (£)

Our approach to materiality

Page 77

The concept of materiality is fundamental
to the preparation of the financial
statements and the audit process and
applies not only to the monetary
misstatements but also to disclosure
requirements and adherence to
acceptable accounting practice and
applicable law.

Materiality for the financial statements

£17,500k

Performance materiality

£13,100k

Trivial matters

£875k

We have revised our materiality levels
from those reported in our Audit Plan in
June 2021, due to the increase in the
Pension Fund’s asset base.
We detail in the table to the right our
determination of materiality for the City
of Westminster Pension Fund.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

5

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - Significant risks
Significant risks are defined by ISAs (UK) as risks that, in the judgement of the auditor, require special audit consideration. In identifying
risks, audit teams consider the nature of the risk, the potential magnitude of misstatement, and its likelihood. Significant risks are those
risks that have a higher risk of material misstatement.
This section provides commentary on the significant audit risks communicated in the Audit Plan.
Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Commentary

Management override of controls
ISA (UK) 240

We have:

Page 78

•
Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable presumed risk that the •
risk of management over-ride of controls is present in all entities.
•
We therefore identified management override of control, in
particular journals, management estimates and transactions outside •
the course of business as a significant risk, which was one of the
most significant assessed risks of material misstatement.

•

evaluated the design effectiveness of management controls over journals;
analysed the journals listing and determined criteria for selecting high risk unusual journals;
tested unusual journals made during the year and after the draft accounts stage for appropriateness and corroboration;
gained an understanding of the accounting estimates and critical judgements applied by management and considered their
reasonableness; and
evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, estimates or significant unusual transactions.

We have not identified any changes to the Pension Fund’s accounting policies, or to the estimation processes for material estimates in
the financial statements.
Our detailed testing of individual journal transactions identified as being unusual through our risk-based analysis has not identified any
issues at the time of writing this report.

Presumed risk of fraud in revenue recognition
ISA (UK) 240

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA (UK) 240 and the nature of the revenue streams at the City of Westminster Pension
Fund, we have determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a rebuttable presumed risk that
revenue may be misstated due to the improper recognition of
revenue. This presumption can be rebutted if the auditor
concludes that there is no risk of material misstatement due to
fraud relating to revenue recognition.

•

there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition;

•

opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited; and

•

the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including the Fund, mean that all forms of fraud are seen as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for the City of Westminster Pension Fund.
Testing of the Pension Fund’s revenues in-year has not identified any issues, or any concerns that would make us revisit this
assessment.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

6

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - Significant risks

Commentary

Valuation of Level 3 investment assets

We have:

By their nature, Level 3 investment valuations lack observable
inputs. These valuations therefore represent a significant estimate
by management in the financial statements due to the size of the
numbers involved and the sensitivity of this estimate to changes in
key assumptions.

•

gained an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing level 3 investments and evaluated the design of the associated controls;

•

reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and considered what assurance management has over the year end valuations
provided for these types of investments to ensure that the requirements of the Code are met;

•

considered the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used;

•

reviewed the qualification of the expert used to value Level 3 investments at year end and gained an understanding of how the
valuation of these investments has been reached; and

•

for a sample of investments, tested the valuation by obtaining and reviewing the audited accounts (where available) at the latest
date for individual investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports at that date. Reconcile those values to the values
at 31 March 2020 with reference to known movements in the intervening period.

Page 79

Risks identified in our Audit Plan

Under ISA 315 significant risks often relate to significant nonroutine transactions and judgemental matters. Level 3
investments by their very nature require a significant degree of
judgement to reach an appropriate valuation at year end.
Management utilise the services of investment managers as
valuation experts to estimate the fair value as at 31 March 2021.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Our audit work has not identified any issues in respect of the valuation of Level 3 investments.

7

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
This section provides commentary on key estimates and judgements inline with the enhanced requirements for auditors.
Significant
judgement or
estimate
Level 3
Investments
Draft: £43.0m
Final: £43.0m

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

The Pension Fund holds investments in
Pantheon Pooled infrastructure investments
totalling £29.7m at 31 March 2021.

Pantheon

Page 80

•

Assets are valued at Fair Value in line with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation
(“IPEV”) Guidelines. The inputs used to value the investments when using the market approach may
include, but are not limited to, prices and other relevant information generated by the market transactions,
type of security, size of the position, purchase price, purchases of the same or similar securities by other
investors, marketability, foreign exchange rates, degree of liquidity, restrictions on the disposition, latest
round of financing data, completed or pending third-party transactions in the underlying investment or
comparable issuers, current financial position and operating results among other factors. The underlying
investments are all in infrastructure covering energy, telecom, transport, and water & environmental
services as well as aerospace and defence, healthcare, technology, information technology, and other
government industries.

•

The Pantheon audited accounts as at 31 December 2020 were reviewed and they were unqualified.

•

We have compared the audited financial statements as at 31 December with the capital statement at the
same date which identified a highly immaterial difference. This gives us assurance that the estimation
techniques are appropriate. We have confirmed the balance in the financial statement to the Pantheon
capital statement as at 31 March 2021.

These investments are not traded on an open
exchange/market and the valuation of the
investment is highly subjective due to a lack of
observable inputs.

The Pension Fund also holds investment in
Quinbrook and Macquarie Renewable
Infrastructure Funds totalling £7.3m and £6.0m
respectively at 31 March 2021.
These investments are traded on an open
exchange/market, but the valuation of the
investment is highly subjective due to a lack of
observable inputs.
Management have reviewed the year end
valuations provided by the Fund Managers
including the most recent set of financial
statements.
The value of the investment within the
Pantheon Pooled infrastructure investments has
increased by £9.1m in 2020/21, largely due to
additional investment during the financial year.
The investments in Quinbrook and Macquarie
Renewable Infrastructure Funds are new inyear.

Assessment
We consider
management’s
process is
appropriate and
key assumptions
are neither
optimistic or
cautious

Quinbrook Renewable Infrastructure & Macquarie Renewable infrastructure
•

Investments in these funds are immaterial to the financial statements, at £13.3m in total.

•

Assets are valued using a number of complex inputs, some of which are unobservable due to the nature of
the investments being undertaken.

•

We have reviewed the unaudited financial statements of Quinbrook and the audited financial statements
of Macquarie as at 31 March 2021 (which received an unmodified audit report). We agreed the valuations
of these investments to independent valuations as at 31 March 2021 with no differences noted.

We are satisfied that the estimate is fairly stated. The accounting policies are reasonable and the disclosures
within the financial statements are appropriate.

Assessment


[Purple] We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated





[Blue] We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
[Grey] We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
[Light Purple] We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

8

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements – key judgements
and estimates
Significant
judgement or
estimate
Level 2
Investments
Draft: £1,641m
Final: £1,641m

Summary of management’s approach

Audit Comments

The Pension Fund have investments in Pooled
Equity Funds, Pooled Bonds Funds, Pooled Multi
Credit Funds and a Pooled Long Lease Fund.

•

We have reviewed the estimation processes for the Level 2 investments and are satisfied that these are in
line with industry standards.

•

We have compared the valuations provided by the fund managers with the custodian and are satisfied that
there are no significant differences in the valuations.

The underlying investments are traded on an
open exchange/market although the pooled
valuation of the investment is subjective.

Page 81

We are satisfied that the estimate is fairly stated. The accounting policies are reasonable and the disclosures
within the financial statements are appropriate.

The Fund obtains valuations from the fund
manager and an independent confirmation from
the custodian to ensure that valuations are
materially fairly stated.

Assessment
We consider
management’s
process is
appropriate and
key assumptions
are neither
optimistic or
cautious

Assessment





Dark Purple We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
Blue
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
Grey
We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious
Light Purple We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

9

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - matters discussed with
management
This section provides commentary on the significant matters we discussed with management during the course of the audit.

Significant matter

Commentary

Work performed

Membership numbers and
member data

In our audit findings report for the 2019/20 financial year, we included commentary on
an internal audit report at Surrey County Council (to whom the Fund outsources day to
day pensions administration) which resulted in a minimal assurance opinion in
2018/19.

Due to the changes in membership as a result of the independent exercise to
deal with the status 2 cases, there have been delays in management being
able to provide us with member numbers and populations on which to base
our testing of movements in the Fund’s member data. This testing is therefore
not yet complete at the time of writing this report.

Page 82

As in previous years, we have not placed any reliance on the controls at Surrey County
Council Pension Fund and our work includes undertaking our own substantive testing on
member data and pensions payable. We have not identified any errors in the Pensions
Payments in the City of Westminster Pension Fund.
Management undertook their own data cleansing exercise in 2019, and commissioned a
third party supplier to carry out a detailed analysis on the funds data, and a subsequent
project to deal with approximately 1200 status 2 cases (cases that still need to be
processed).

We have requested confirmation of the potential impact that these changes
might have on the whole fund valuation under IAS26 from the Fund’s actuary.
We have not yet had a response to this request.

On receipt of this response and the information requested we will be able to
conclude on this significant matter. This is anticipated to be by end of
September so we can sign the financial statements.

This exercise completed during 2020/21. This has not impacted on the contributions and
pensions payable figures paid into and out of the fund. It has, however, meant that there
have been some significant changes in the membership numbers disclosed in Note 1 to
the financial statements.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

10

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - other communication
requirements
We set out details of other
matters which we, as auditors,
are required by auditing
standards and the Code to
communicate to those charged
with governance.

Page 83

Issue

Commentary

Matters in relation to fraud

We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Audit and Performance Committee and have not been
made aware of any incidents in the period and no issues have been identified during the course of our audit
procedures.

Matters in relation to related
parties

We are not aware of any related parties or related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

Matters in relation to laws and
regulations

You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
and we have not identified any incidences from our audit work.

Written representations

A letter of representation has been requested from the Pension Fund, which is included in Appendix D.

Confirmation requests from
third parties

We requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to the Pension Fund’s custodian, fund
managers and banks. This permission was granted and the requests were sent. These requests were returned with
positive confirmation.

Accounting practices

We have evaluated the appropriateness of the Pension Fund's accounting policies, accounting estimates and
financial statement disclosures. Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.

Audit evidence
and explanations / significant
difficulties

Due to the changes in membership data as a result of the independent exercise to deal with the status 2 cases,
there have been delays in management being able to provide us with member numbers and populations on which
to base our testing of movements in the Fund’s member data. This testing is therefore not yet complete at the
time of writing this report.
All other information and explanations requested from management were provided.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

11

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - other communication
requirements
Issue

Commentary

Going concern

In performing our work on going concern, we have had reference to Statement of Recommended Practice – Practice Note
10: Audit of financial statements of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020). The Financial Reporting
Council recognises that for particular sectors, it may be necessary to clarify how auditing standards are applied to an entity
in a manner that is relevant and provides useful information to the users of financial statements in that sector. Practice
Note 10 provides that clarification for audits of public sector bodies.
Practice Note 10 sets out the following key principles for the consideration of going concern for public sector entities:

Page 84

•

the use of the going concern basis of accounting is not a matter of significant focus of the auditor’s time and resources
because the applicable financial reporting frameworks envisage that the going concern basis for accounting will apply
where the entity’s services will continue to be delivered by the public sector. In such cases, a material uncertainty
related to going concern is unlikely to exist, and so a straightforward and standardised approach for the consideration of
going concern will often be appropriate for public sector entities

•

for many public sector entities, the financial sustainability of the reporting entity and the services it provides is more
likely to be of significant public interest than the application of the going concern basis of accounting.

Practice Note 10 states that if the financial reporting framework provides for the adoption of the going concern basis of
accounting on the basis of the anticipated continuation of the provision of a service in the future, the auditor applies the
continued provision of service approach set out in Practice Note 10. The financial reporting framework adopted by the
Pension Fund meets this criteria, and so we have applied the continued provision of service approach. In doing so, we have
considered and evaluated:
•

the nature of the Pension Fund and the environment in which it operates

•

the Pension Fund's financial reporting framework

•

the Pension Fund's system of internal control for identifying events or conditions relevant to going concern

•

management’s going concern assessment.

On the basis of this work, we have obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence to enable us to conclude that:

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

•

a material uncertainty related to going concern has not been identified

•

management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate.

12

Commercial in confidence

2. Financial Statements - other responsibilities
under the Code
Issue

Commentary

Disclosures

No inconsistencies have been identified. We plan to issue an unmodified opinion in this respect, as set out in Appendix C.

Matters on which we
report by exception

We are required to give a separate opinion for the Pension Fund Annual Report on whether the financial statements
included therein are consistent with the audited financial statements.
We propose to issue our ‘consistency’ opinion on the Pension Funds Annual Report on the same day we give our audit
opinion, subject to review of the final version of this report.

Page 85
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

13

Commercial in confidence

3. Independence and ethics

We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as
auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered
person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Transparency
Grant Thornton publishes an annual Transparency Report, which sets out details of the action we
have taken over the past year to improve audit quality as well as the results of internal and external
quality inspections. For more details see Transparency report 2020 (grantthornton.co.uk)

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the
Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered person, confirm
that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Page 86

Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance
Note 01 issued in May 2020 which sets out supplementary guidance on ethical requirements for
auditors of local public bodies.
Details of fees charged are detailed in Appendix C.

Audit and non-audit services
For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Pension Fund. No non-audit services were identified which were charged from the
beginning of the financial year to September 2021.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

14

Page 87

Appendices

15

Commercial in confidence

A. Audit Adjustments
We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been
adjusted by management.
Misclassification and disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. No other issues have been identified
that require reporting.
Detail

Critical Judgements
(Note 4)

We noted that the items disclosed as critical judgements in the Pension Fund's draft financial statements did not meet the definition of a critical judgement.
We also noted that the estimation uncertainty disclosed in the draft financial statements in relation to the valuation of level 3 investments was immaterial to
the accounts.

Page 88

Disclosure

Sources of Uncertainty
(Note 5)
Contributions Receivable
(Note 6)

Various

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Adjusted?
✓

We therefore requested that these items be removed from the financial statements.
Our testing identified that the Fund incorrectly used the 2019/20 contribution rate of 15.7% to calculate employer’s contributions within Note 6 to the draft
financial statements. This issue only impacts the calculation of the figures in the disclosure note, and no error has been made in the calculation and
collection of these contributions. Using the correct rate of 16.8% would increase the disclosed normal contributions by £1.3m, and reduce the disclosed
deficit recovery contributions by the same amount.

✓

A number of other minor changes have been made to disclosure notes and accounting policies throughout the financial statements to improve accuracy,
clarity and user understanding.

✓

16

Commercial in confidence

B. Fees

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit.
Audit fees

Proposed fee

Final fee

Pension Fund Audit

£33,000

£TBC

Total audit fees (excluding VAT)

£33,000

£TBC

Page 89

The fees reconcile to the financial statements as follows:
•

PSAA scale fee

•

ongoing additional fees from prior year £8,830 (subject to PSAA approval)

•

fees per financial statements

•

proposed additional fee 2020/21

•

total fees per above

£16,170

£25,000
£8,000 (subject to PSAA approval)
£33,000

No additional non-audit or audited related services have been undertaken for the Pension Fund.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

17

Commercial in confidence

C. Audit opinion
Our audit opinion is included below. We anticipate we will provide the Pension Fund with an unmodified audit report.

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Westminster City Council on the
pension fund financial statements of the City of Westminster Pension Fund
Opinion

Page 90

We have audited the financial statements of the City of Westminster Pension Fund (the ‘Pension Fund’)
administered by Westminster City Council (the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2021 which
comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement and notes to the pension fund financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority
accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21.

In our opinion, the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the Pension Fund during the year ended
31 March 2021 and of the amount and disposition at that date of the fund’s assets and liabilities;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved by
the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are
independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of
the Pension Fund’s financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Executive Director of Finance and
Resources’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Pension Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Pension Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.
In our evaluation of the Executive Director of Finance and Resources’ conclusions, and in accordance with
the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the
United Kingdom 2020/21 that the Pension Fund’s financial statements shall be prepared on a going
concern basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with the continuation of services provided by
the Pension Fund. In doing so we had regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of
financial statements and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the
application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness of the
basis of preparation used by the Authority in the Pension Fund financial statements and the disclosures in
the Pension Fund financial statements over the going concern period.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Pension Fund’s
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Executive Director of Finance and
Resources’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Pension Fund financial
statements is appropriate.
The responsibilities of the Executive Director of Finance and Resources with respect to going concern are
described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Authority, the Executive Director of Finance and Resources and
Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements’ section of this report.

18

Commercial in confidence

C. Audit opinion
Other information
The Executive Director of Finance and Resources is responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the Pension
Fund’s financial statements, our auditor’s report thereon, and our auditor’s report on the Authority’s and
group’s financial statements. Our opinion on the Pension Fund’s financial statements does not cover the
other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the Pension Fund’s financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the Pension Fund’s financial statements or our knowledge of the Pension Fund obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
Pension Fund financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we
are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Authority, the Executive Director of Finance and Resources and Those Charged
with Governance for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts, set out on
page xx, the Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial
affairs and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In
this authority, that officer is the Executive Director of Finance and Resources. The Executive Director of
Finance and Resources is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the
Pension Fund’s financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC
code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21, for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Executive Director of Finance and Resources
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the Pension Fund’s financial statements, the Executive Director of Finance and Resources is
responsible for assessing the Pension Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there
is an intention by government that the services provided by the Pension Fund will no longer be provided.

Page 91

The Audit and Performance Committee is Those Charged with Governance for the Pension Fund. Those
charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting process.
Opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) published by the National Audit
Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice)
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the Pension Fund’s financial
statements and our knowledge of the Pension Fund, the other information published together with the
Pension Fund’s financial statements in the Statement of Accounts, for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the Pension Fund financial statements.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:
•

we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law
under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the
conclusion of the audit; or;

•

we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

•

we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Pension Fund’s financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms
part of our auditor’s report.
Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including
fraud
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk
that material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is
properly planned and performed in accordance with the

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters in relation to the Pension Fund.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

19

Commercial in confidence

C. Audit opinion
ISAs (UK).

•

The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations and fraud included the potential for fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition,
and the significant accounting estimates related to the valuations of the Pension Fund’s level 3
investments, and IAS 26 pensions liability.

•

Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the
engagement team included consideration of the engagement team's.

understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature
and complexity through appropriate training and participation

knowledge of the local government pensions sector

understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the Pension Fund
including:

the provisions of the applicable legislation

guidance issued by CIPFA, LASAAC and SOLACE

the applicable statutory provisions.

•

In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of:

the Pension Fund’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and
its services and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions,
account balances, expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may
result in risks of material misstatement.

the Authority's control environment, including the policies and procedures implemented
by the Authority to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting
framework.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed
below:

Page 92

•

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the
Pension Fund and determined that the most significant ,which are directly relevant to specific
assertions in the financial statements, are those related to the reporting frameworks
(international accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by the CIPFA/LASAAC code of
practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21, the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Public Service Pensions Act
2013, The Local government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 and the Local Government
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016.

•

We enquired of senior officers and the Audit and Performance Committee, concerning the
Authority’s policies and procedures relating to:

the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations;

the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and

the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud or noncompliance with laws and regulations.

•

We enquired of senior officers and the Audit and Performance Committee, whether they were
aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations or whether they had any
knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

•

We assessed the susceptibility of the Pension Fund’s financial statements to material
misstatement, including how fraud might occur, by evaluating officers’ incentives and
opportunities for manipulation of the financial statements. This included the evaluation of the risk
of management override of controls. We determined that the principal risks were in relation to
journal entries that altered the Pension Fund’s financial performance for the year.

•

Our audit procedures involved:

evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources has in place to prevent and detect fraud;

journal entry testing, with a particular focus on significant journals at the end of the
financial year which impacted on the Pension Fund’s financial performance;

challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant
accounting estimates in respect of the valuation of level 3 investments, and IAS 26
pensions liability valuations;

assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement item.

•

These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial
statements were free from fraud or error. However, detecting irregularities that result from fraud
is inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as those irregularities that
result from fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from
events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become
aware of it.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities
of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

20

Commercial in confidence

D. Management Letter of Representation

Dear Sirs

source data that would be equally valid under the financial reporting framework, and why
these alternatives were rejected in favour of the estimate used. We are satisfied that the
methods, the data and the significant assumptions used by us in making accounting
estimates and their related disclosures are appropriate to achieve recognition,
measurement or disclosure that is reasonable in accordance with the Code and
adequately disclosed in the financial statements.

City of Westminster Pension Fund
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2021

Page 93

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of
the City of Westminster Pension Fund for the year ended 31 March 2021 for the purpose of
expressing an opinion as to whether the financial statements are presented fairly, in all material
respects in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 and applicable
law.

vi.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Fund’s financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 ("the
Code"); in particular the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance therewith.

ii.

We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the Fund and
these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the financial statements.

iii.

The Fund has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a
material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has
been no non-compliance with requirements of any regulatory authorities that could have a
material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance.

iv.

We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of
internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v.

Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those
measured at fair value, are reasonable. Such accounting estimates include the valuation
of level 2 and level 3 investments. We are satisfied that the material judgements used in
the preparation of the financial statements are soundly based, in accordance with the
Code and adequately disclosed in the financial statements. We understand our
responsibilities includes identifying and considering alternative, methods, assumptions or

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

a.

there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent

b.

none of the assets of the Fund has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged

c.

there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or nonrecurring items requiring separate disclosure.

vii.

Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for and
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Code.

viii.

All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International
Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or disclosure have been
adjusted or disclosed.

ix.

We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and disclosures
changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The financial statements have
been amended for these misstatements, misclassifications and disclosure changes and
are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

x.

We have considered the unadjusted misstatements schedule included in your Audit
Findings Report and attached. We have not adjusted the financial statements for these
misstatements brought to our attention as they are immaterial to the results of the Fund
and its financial position at the year-end. The financial statements are free of material
misstatements, including omissions.

xi.

Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.

xii.

We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.

xiii.

We have updated our going concern assessment. We continue to believe that the Fund’s

Financial Statements
i.

Except as disclosed in the financial statements:

21

Commercial in confidence

D. Management Letter of Representation
financial statements should be prepared on a going concern basis and have not identified
any material uncertainties related to going concern on the grounds that that :
a.

the nature of the Fund means that, notwithstanding any intention to liquidate the
Fund or cease its operations in their current form, it will continue to be
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting because, in such an
event, services it performs can be expected to continue to be delivered by
related public authorities and preparing the financial statements on a going
concern basis will still provide a faithful representation of the items in the
financial statements

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected
fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by employees, former employees,
analysts, regulators or others.

xx.

We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when
preparing financial statements.

xxi.

There have been no communications with The Pensions Regulator or other regulatory
bodies during the year or subsequently concerning matters of non-compliance with any
legal duty.

Page 94

b.

the financial reporting framework permits the entry to prepare its financial
statements on the basis of the presumption set out under a) above; and

xxii.

We are not aware of any reports having been made to The Pensions Regulator by any of
our advisors.

c.

the Fund’s system of internal control has not identified any events or conditions
relevant to going concern.

xxiii.

We have disclosed to you the identity of the Fund's related parties and all the related
party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxiv.

We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects
should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

We believe that no further disclosures relating to the Fund's ability to continue as a
going concern need to be made in the financial statements.

Information Provided
xiv.

xix.

We have provided you with:
a.

access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation
of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other matters;

b.

additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your
audit; and

c.

access to persons within the Fund via remote arrangements, in compliance with
the nationally specified social distancing requirements established by the
government in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. from whom you determined
it necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xv.

We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management is
aware.

xvi.

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the
financial statements.

xvii.

We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xviii.

We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we
are aware of and that affects the Fund, and involves:
a.

management;

b.

employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

c.

others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Authority’s Audit and
Performance Committee, on behalf of the Pension Fund, at its meeting on 29 September 2021.

22

Page 95
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context
requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal
entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one
another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 97

Page 98

Contents
1. MEMBER
PREFACE AND
ANNUAL
GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT
2020/21

Page 99

Annual
Governance
Statement
2020/21
Page 006

Executive
Director’s
Narrative Report
Page 014
Independent
Auditor’s Report
to the Members
of Westminster
City Council
Page 028
Statement of
Responsibilities
for the Statement
of Accounts
Page 03

3. CORE
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
Page 039
Movement in
Reserves
Statement
Page 041
Balance Sheet
Page 043
Cash Flow
Statement
Page 045

4. NOTES TO THE
ACCOUNTS

5. GROUP
ACCOUNTS

Supporting the
Core Financial
Statements
Page 046

Group Accounts
and Explanatory
Notes
Page 148

Supporting the
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
Page 056
Supporting the
Movement in
Reserves
Statement
Page 081

6.
SUPPLEMENTARY
ACCOUNTS AND
NOTES
Housing Revenue
Account (HRA)
Statements
Page 169
Housing Revenue
Account (HRA)
Explanatory Notes
Page 172

7. PENSION FUND
ACCOUNTS

7. GLOSSARY AND
CONTACTS

Pension Fund
Accounts and
Explanatory Notes
Page 181

Glossary of Terms
Page 219
Note References
Page 225
Contact
Information
Page 227

Collection Fund
Accounts
Page 174
Collection Fund
Explanatory Notes
Page 177

Supporting the
Balance Sheet
Page 090
Supporting the
Cash Flow
Statement
Page 133
Other Notes
Page 137

The Statement of Accounts for Westminster City Council for the year ended 31 March 2021 has been prepared and published in accordance with the Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015 and the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (“the Code”) issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy. The Code is based on International Financial Reporting Standards, as adapted for the UK public sector under the oversight of the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.

003 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • CONTENTS

Member Preface
Page 005

2. WRITTEN
STATEMENTS
AND EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR’S
NARRATIVE
REPORT

Page 100

Member Preface
Member Preface
Introduction to the 2020/21 statement of accounts by
the Cabinet Member for Finance & Smart Cities –
Councillor Paul Swaddle OBE

Page 101

The financial consequence of the pandemic has
impacted on the Council’s expenditure and income.
As less people have travelled into the City income
from fees and charges have reduced considerably and
the Council have incurred additional costs supporting
the most vulnerable people in our communities
during this challenging year.
The Council have also refreshed its City for All
priorities with a new pillar in response to the
pandemic – Thriving Economy. This is recognition of
the role the Council has to play in bringing people
back into the City and maintaining Westminster’s
position as an engine of the UK economy, which will
be even more important in a post covid and Brexit
world.
Although a challenging year the Council can also
reflect on 2020/21 being a successful one, particularly
the way in which Westminster responded to the
pandemic. Some of these achievements include:
•

Supported over 1,000 residents in the last
two years into work placements, paid work
and apprenticeships by requiring our
contractors to create employment
opportunities.

The Westminster Employment Service
helped move 179 residents into jobs and
supported 42 others to move into better
paid positions or gain further qualifications.

•

Supported 19,500 businesses through Retail
Rates relief or Small Business Rates relief.

•

Undertaken over 25,000 visits to ensure our
businesses operate in a COVID-19 secure
way to keep our communities safe.

•

Conducted over 300 one-to-one
appointments with businesses, which
resulted in more than £2m of alternative
support identified and awarded to them.

The year however was not without its difficult
decisions and in 2021 Councillors made the decision
to raise council tax by 0.5% - in line with inflation. This
was in addition to the 2% precept for social care. This
increase will help the Council to continue to deliver
services for all residents but still maintains the
Council’s position as having the lowest rate of council
tax in the country.

COUNCILLOR PAUL SWADDLE OBE – CABINET
MEMBER FOR FINANCE & SMART CITY

005 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • MEMBER PREFACE AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Council started the 2020/21 financial year in the
midst of the first global pandemic in 100 years and
these statements of accounts are a reflection of the
financial reality the pandemic has had on the Council.

•

Annual Governance Statement 2020/21
INTRODUCTION
The CIPFA/SoLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government
Framework (2016) requires local authorities to publish an Annual
Governance Statement, and to be responsible for ensuring that:
•

KEY ELEMENTS OF THE COUNCIL’S GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
Key elements of the governance framework at Westminster City Council are:

Their business is conducted in accordance all relevant
laws and regulations
public money is safeguarded and properly accounted for

•

resources are used economically, efficiently and
effectively to deliver agreed priorities and benefit local
people.

Page 102

The Council’s Audit and Performance Committee reviews
governance arrangements, risk registers and quarterly performance
reports. Their role is to recommend improvements or interventions
if expected performance is not being achieved, or if gaps in current
governance arrangements have been identified.

•

Provide leadership,
develop and set policy

•

All meetings are held
in public

•

Develop and set policy
to maintain the City’s
global standing

•

Decisions are recorded
on the Council website

•

HOW WE COMPLY WITH THE CIPFA/SOLACE
FRAMEWORK
The Council has arrangements in place to meet all relevant
requirements of the CIPFA/Solace Framework. The 7 “core principles”
underpinning the Framework are set out below together with a
summary of new or enhanced arrangements introduced in 2020/21.

•

Scrutiny committees
review Council policy
and can challenge
decisions
Audit and Performance
Committee reviews
governance, costs vs
budget and delivery of
agreed plans

•

Risk registers identify
operational and
strategic risks

•

Key risks are considered by
Executive Directors and
reported to Audit and
Performance Committee
quarterly

•

Monitors financial
outcomes, governance of
group companies and key
partnership arrangements

All Council decisions are
supported by detailed
officer reports

Support the City’s
diverse communities
and distinctive
neighbourhoods to
thrive and succeed.

Scrutiny and Review
•

•

Risk management

Executive Leadership Team (ELT)
ELT are responsible for the overall management of the Council
•

Head of Paid Service is the Chief Executive who is responsible
for all Council staff and for leading ELT

•

Executive Director of Finance and Resources is the Council’s
s.151 Officer and is responsible for safeguarding the Council’s
financial position and ensuring value for money.

•

Monitoring Officer is the Council’s Director of Law who
with the Chief Executive is responsible for ensuring legality
and promoting high standards of public conduct

006 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • MEMBER PREFACE AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

•

Decision making

Council, Cabinet and Leader

At Westminster, Codes of Conduct for members and officers reinforce a public service ethos and high standards of
behaviour. These are supported by more detailed guidance such as, Anti-Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Strategies, as
Behaving
with Governance
integrity, and respecting
the(continued)
rule of law well as Whistleblowing Procedures and a Procurement Code. The Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer both
Annual
Statement
have specific responsibilities to ensure that Council decisions meet legal requirements.
PRINCIPLE 1

PRINCIPLE 2
Ensuring open and comprehensive stakeholder
engagement

PRINCIPLE 3

Page 103

PRINCIPLE 4
Determining the intervention necessary to achieve
intended outcomes

PRINCIPLE 5
Developing capacity, including the capability of
leadership and individuals within the Council

PRINCIPLE 6
Managing risks and performance through strong
internal control and financial management
PRINCIPLE 7
Implementing good practices in transparency,
reporting and audit to deliver effective accountability

The strategic vision for Westminster is set out in its City for All Vision and Strategy, which sets out programmes of
work under four pillars – Thriving Economy, Greener & Cleaner, Vibrant Communities and Smart City. To deliver
these, the Council has defined specific outcomes for each pillar, such as net zero emissions, improving
employment outcomes and reducing health inequalities, and it will use key metrics and other functions with the
council such as quarterly performance and risk management, corporate project management, and budget
monitoring to report and monitor progress against achieving these outcomes them.
A quarterly performance report tracks the performance of all Council activities in terms of key performance
indicators, risk, achievements and issues. The report also highlights remedial actions being taken where slippage
does occur. Senior Management and Members (via Scrutiny Committees and the Audit and Performance
Committee), ensure the Council remains focused on achieving its agreed objectives and priorities. Regular
reporting also goes to the Innovation and Change Board which is made up of ELT members. This provides an
update on how the Council is progressing against its strategic indicators and outcomes.
The Council’s people strategy is called The Westminster Way. The Westminster Way forms a key part of the
Council’s service planning, building staff engagement and developing individual and collective capability and
resilience. The three pillars of The Westminster Way focus on personal development, valuing our people and
diversity and the Westminster Way of working. The Westminster Way is about creating a great place to work
where people can grow personally and professionally. The three pillars of the Westminster Way are built around
empowering staff to deliver the Council’s core objectives, i.e. a City for All.
Corporate risk registers are updated quarterly, with significant risks reviewed by senior management and
members. Internal Audit assess the overall quality of internal control and make recommendations for
improvement as necessary. The Council has a strong track record in financial management, delivering services
within budget and producing annual accounts within statutory deadlines.
The Council follows the Government Communication Service guidance on providing clear and accurate information and
has developed both its website and the format of Council reports to improve transparency and accessibility. Papers
(including performance reports) and minutes of meetings, key decisions, registers of interests, gifts and hospitality and
all items of expenditure and contracts awarded over £500 are published on the Council’s website.

007 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • MEMBER PREFACE AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 004

Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic,
social and environmental benefits.

The Council engages with stakeholders and partners through joint working arrangements, partnership boards
and representation on external bodies’ governing boards. The annual City Survey informs community
engagement strategies as well as service and budget priorities. The Council publishes a quarterly magazine and
utilises online communication channels such as e-bulletins, Twitter, Facebook, and YouTube. The Council also
uses its Open Forum events to allow residents to meet and discuss local issues with Cabinet Members and
senior officers, and it collects resident feedback on proposed service or policy changes through consultations.

Annual Governance Statement (continued)
ELT is responsible for putting in place adequate governance arrangements and effective systems of internal control. The Council uses several ways to review assess the
effectiveness of governance arrangements, as set out below:
Inspections and assessments
External assessments during 2020/21 would have been impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. In March 2020, OFSTED and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) gave a positive
review of Westminster’s Special Educational Needs and/or Disabilities (SEND) Service, outlining a number of strengths stating that leaders from education, health and care are
ambitious for children and young people with SEND, resulting in great outcomes.

Commencement of the 2020/21 internal audit work plan was slightly delayed by the pandemic as priorities and resources within the Council were focused on the response
required to support their residents and businesses. This slight delay did not impact significantly on the delivery of an appropriate level of internal audit coverage during the year
and the service was not adversely impacted by the need to work remotely.

Page 104

The annual report and opinion of the Head of Internal Audit for 2020/21 states that the Council’s internal control environment and systems of internal control in the areas audited
were adequate except for the following areas

Issues Identified for 2020/21

Planned Action

Further improvements required in respect of
Adult Social Care finances.

Three areas* have been reviewed in the last two years, where recommendations have been made to improve controls
in respect of Adult Social Care. All of these areas have been subject to follow up during 2020/21 and the evidence
provided demonstrates improvements in these areas however some Internal Audit recommendations have not yet been
implemented as agreed. Further follow up and liaison with the service areas will be undertaken in 2021/22 to ensure
that internal controls are operating effectively.

Improvements required within the Council’s
processes for managing Cyber Security.

Action plan of improvements now agreed. Appropriate actions have been taken or will be taken to address weaknesses.

Improvements required in respect of the
governance and accounting for income
generated from the Council’s commercial
property portfolio

Improvements to processes have been agreed and are being implemented, in particular to improve the accuracy of
information held in respect of the portfolio and processes for ensuring timely collection and recording of income due.

*Client Affairs (2019/20), Financial Assessments (2020/21 – advisory) and Direct Payments (2020/21)

008 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • MEMBER PREFACE AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Assurances from Internal and External Audit

Annual Governance Statement (continued)
The Council’s external auditor, Grant Thornton, provides assurance on the accuracy of the year-end Statement of Accounts and the overall adequacy of arrangements for
securing and improving value for money. The most recent Audit Letter, issued in November 2020, confirmed that they had been able to give an unqualified audit opinion in
respect of the Council’s 2019/20 Statement of Accounts and to issue an unqualified opinion in respect of value for money, subject to some recommendations which are detailed
in the 2019/20 audit findings report

Self-assessment and review of key performance indicators

The Council uses several key outcome indicators to confirm the adequacy of governance arrangements. These KPIs are outlined in the table below

Outcomes 2020/21

Formal reports by s151 or Monitoring Officer

None issued

Outcomes from Standards Committee or Monitoring
Officer investigations

There have been no Monitoring Officer or Standards Committee investigations during the year

Proven frauds carried out by councillors or members of
staff

None in 2020/21

Objections received from local electors

None in 2020/21

Local Government Ombudsman referrals upheld in line
with the London average

72% (21) of referrals upheld (national average 70%)

Internal audit reports

3 high risk areas identified as shown in the preceding table above

Group activities

No governance issues to address in 2020/21. Financial information provided by Group companies has been

Page 105

Key performance indicators

subject to regular review and both officers and elected members have attended company Board meetings
throughout the year.

009 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • MEMBER PREFACE AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Council’s Finance team work with Internal Audit to confirm that expected governance arrangements have been in place throughout the year. Management Assurance
Statements, signed by senior officers, also confirm that Codes of Conduct, Financial Regulations and other corporate processes have operated as expected.

Annual Governance Statement (continued)
KEY GOVERNANCE ISSUES
Last year’s Annual Governance Report highlighted three key areas for improvement. The table below sets out action taken to address these issues during 2020/21:

Performance in 2020/21

Improvements to controls and clarity on roles and
responsibilities in respect of Adult Social Care finances.

This links to the issues identified for 2020/21, please see above.

Housing complaints are not fully integrated with corporate
systems and reporting.

Good progress has been made to implement the recommendations made to improve the integration of
the housing complaints and corporate complaints systems. The majority of recommendations made
have been implemented (7/9 or 78%) and further follow up will be undertaken in 2021/22.

Page 106

Covid-19
Currently the key issue is COVID-19. The Council is working closely with central government and the health service to support businesses and residents across the City as follows:

• Supporting businesses - Rate relief coupled with grants for businesses in the retail, hospitality or leisure sector have to date helped out thousands of businesses with grants
totalling £216m.
• Supporting residents – the Council has supported vulnerable residents and tenants through its Westminster Connects service. With the help of volunteers, community
groups and businesses, Westminster Connects has supported more than 25,000 residents, and continues to reach out and offer support to those who are vulnerable.
Additionally, the Council continues to work with partners to proactively support rough sleepers. Residents who have serious underlying health conditions have been
identified and there are processes in place to support this group.
• Volunteering opportunities – an interactive map on the Council website provides details of local organisations that are assisting residents through COVID-19, the kinds of
support they offer, and how to get in touch. Additional advice for volunteers can also be found with the Westminster Connects service.
• Minimising disruption of services by encouraging staff to work remotely from home wherever possible
• Virtual Council meetings are taking place to maintain open and transparent decision making whilst observing social distancing. Physical attendance at Council meetings
follows central government guidance and regulations
• COVID-19 pages on the Council website are updated daily and provide further information see https://www.westminster.gov.uk/coronavirus
The Council’s Internal Audit service has worked with the Council to ensure that awareness of fraud risk and appropriate systems of governance and internal controls have
been maintained despite the changes in processes necessary to provide local people and businesses with rapid and effective support. Internal Audit has also provided
assurance that Covid-19 funding provided by the Government has been used for the purpose intended, for example in respect of Income Compensation Claims, Test and
Trace, Community Testing, Emergency Active Travel and Business Grants. This work will continue into 2021/22.

010 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • MEMBER PREFACE AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Issues Identified in Prior Years

Annual Governance Statement (continued)
An audit on the Council’s compliance with the CIPFA Financial Management Code has also been included in the 2021/22 Audit Plan and will be part of a number of compliance
reviews in respect of corporate governance.
Virtual Council meetings have been taking place to maintain open and transparent decision making whilst observing social distancing. COVID-19 pages on the Council website
are updated daily and provide further information
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/coronavirus

Planned Response

The impact of Brexit on Council services and communities across
Westminster

The Brexit Strategy Board has established a series of contingency plans and there is ongoing liaison with
the London Resilience Forum, Government departments and other local authorities to provide joint
solutions for any problems caused by Brexit.

A significant incident occurring in Westminster (e.g. weather
event, fire, terror attack, etc.)

Plans are in place to safeguard business continuity and respond to major incidents. Learning outcomes
from previous major incidents are used to inform future plans.

Providing affordable housing remains a key issue despite a
number of successful initiatives to date

To accelerate capacity the Council has set up Westminster Community Homes Limited, Westminster
Housing Investments Limited and Westminster Housing Developments Limited, to work in partnership
with the private sector and deliver a substantial affordable housing programme. The Council also works
in partnership with other local authorities to help homeless families find, where appropriate, affordable
housing outside the City.

Page 107

Issues Identified for 2021/22 (from risk register)

011 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • MEMBER PREFACE AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Other key strategic risks for 2021/22 have been identified as follows:

Annual Governance Statement (continued)
CONCLUSION
The Council is satisfied that appropriate governance arrangements are in place however it remains committed to maintaining and where possible improving these
arrangements, by:
Addressing issues identified by Internal Audit as requiring improvement
Ensuring that effective sovereign and shared services arrangements are put in place
Enhancing performance reporting to focus on key risks and areas for improvement
Using the City Survey to enable directorates to plan how they will improve services for local people

Page 108
Cllr Rachael Robathan

Stuart Love

Leader of Westminster City Council

Chief Executive of Westminster City Council

012 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • MEMBER PREFACE AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

•
•
•
•

Page 109

Executive Director’s Narrative Report
WESTMINSTER CITY COUNCIL
OVERVIEW AND EXTERNAL
ENVIRONMENT
1. THE CITY OF WESTMINSTER

2. COVID-19 PANDEMIC
The 2020/21 financial year has been unique for
Westminster with the world experiencing its first
global pandemic in 100 years. Since the first
lockdown at the end of March 2020 the Council had
very quickly established services to protect residents
and businesses. This has included:

•
•
•
•
•

Support for vulnerable communities and
those who were requested to shield from
the virus.
Supporting rough sleepers off the street.
Supporting our care homes and care
providers throughout the City.
Supporting the City’s schools through
various Covid-19 restrictions.
Creating new community forums to engage
with key stakeholders.
Supporting businesses throughout the City
through a series of grants and reliefs.

Financial Impact on the Council’s Budgets 2020/21
The financial impact of the pandemic has been felt
across all local government. The impact on
Westminster City Council has been three-fold:
•
•

•

The Council has incurred additional
expenditure in its response to the pandemic
The impact on the local economy has led to
significant falls in income from sales, fees
and charges.
Saving proposals have been delayed or are
considered no longer deliverable.

The impact of the pandemic has been mitigated by
the support provider to local authorities by Central
Government. The most considerable of these is the
general Covid-19 grant funding and the income
compensation scheme. Collectively these two
sources of funding have provided the Council with
£55m of income during the year which means along
with other service specific Covid-19 grants the net
impact on the general fund is £3.8m. This has meant

that the Council has been able to maintain a healthy
level of reserves as at the end of this financial year.
Medium Term Financial Planning
There is still uncertainty surrounding the impact of
pandemic on the UK’s – and by extension – the
Council’s medium to long-term finances. Due to the
Council’s reliance on commercial income and fees
and charges and consequently its exposure to the
economic cycle, the Council has sought in recent
years to build up the general fund balance to ensure
the Council is financially resilient in a recession. The
call on general fund balances this year has been fairly
low given all factors considered and the Council is
therefore in a sound financial position to draw upon
its general fund reserve balance in 2021/22 if
required. This is a similar approach to the one the
Council took during the last economic crisis in 2008,
before it then proceeded to build back reserves over
the subsequent decade.
The Council has reset its Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) this year in recognition of the impact of the
pandemic and the Council’s strategic objectives. The
Covid-19 crisis has meant that the Council has had to
focus on its ways of working and has put forward a
number of collaborative saving proposals which take
a departmentally cross-cutting approach. The
changing environment will require the Council to
continually review the services it provides, its
delivery models and the outcomes they achieve
going forward. This will also require the Council to
review the structural position of its base budget in
the short term and how that needs to change going

014 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Page 110

As the home to the Monarchy, Government, almost
11,000 listed buildings and the West End,
Westminster is politically, culturally and economically
significant on a regional, national and international
scale. Because of its destination status,
Westminster’s daily population can grow significantly
with an influx of workers and tourists. While this
does bring considerable economic benefits, it also
places a strain on the city’s infrastructure, natural
environment and resources. Westminster is also
home to over a quarter of a million people, rich in
culture and diversity and living in distinctive and wellknown neighbourhoods, which also provide
important social and economic functions for their
local areas. Westminster is seen as an affluent place,
but it also faces significant challenges: responding to
a highly mobile population, tackling wealth and other
inequalities, managing increasing demand for
services and now dealing with the impact of a global
pandemic.

•

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (Continued)
forward as it can’t be assumed that commercial
income will return to full to previous levels.

3. OTHER LOCAL GOVERNMENT
FUNDING ISSUES

The coronavirus pandemic has had a profound
impact on all aspects of life in Westminster. Through
2021/22 the Council will continue to adopt a proactive, evidence-led approach to how it prioritises its
resources and ensures that it responds to the
emerging needs of residents and businesses.

Fair Funding Review and Business Rates Retention

.

Page 111

015 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

The government has announced that the Fair
Funding Review (FFR) and Business Rates Retention
reset (BRR) will be implemented in April 2022,
although consultations and further details around
this are yet to emerge. Council officers will continue

to work with the Government on informing the
approach to funding for the next financial year and
beyond.

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (Continued)
4. CITY FOR ALL
5. POLITICAL STRUCTURE IN 2020/21
In March 2021 the Council refreshed its City for All
Vision and Strategy to re-align its priorities following
the Covid-19 outbreak. The four pillars of the
Council’s City for All programme of activity are:
•

•

Page 112

•

WESTMINSTER CITY COUNCIL
GOVERNANCE
Westminster City Council is a broad and complex
organisation. Policies are directed by the political
leadership (Leader and Cabinet) and implemented by
the Executive Leadership Team (ELT).

•
•

Conservative Party – 41 councillors
Labour Party – 19 councillors

The Council operates under a Leader/Cabinet system.
The Leader of the Council is Cllr Rachael Robathan
and is supported by two Deputy Leaders who are also
portfolio holders along with a further five Cabinet
Members across a range of portfolios.
The Council has a statutory duty to set a balanced
budget and this underwent scrutiny via the Budget
and Performance Task Group in January 2021.
Thereafter the Council’s Medium-Term Financial
Plan, Capital Strategy, HRA Business Plan and
Treasury Management Strategy were all approved by
Full Council in March 2021.

6. CHIEF OFFICER STRUCTURE
Councillors are supported by the Executive
Leadership Team (ELT), which is headed by the
Council’s Chief Executive, Stuart Love. ELT is
responsible for the overall leadership and
management of the Council, for setting and
monitoring overall direction and ensuring high
performance in the delivery of council services.

Gerald Almeroth
Executive Director – Finance and Resources
Section 151 Officer
Westminster City Council

016 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

•

Thriving Economy: Reinvigorating the West
End, addressing unemployment and
attracting sustainable investment to the city
Greener and Cleaner: Becoming a council
with net zero emissions by 2030 and a net
zero city by 2040.
Vibrant Communities: Empowering people
to be healthy and live well and providing
excellent employment and education
prospects for all
Smart City: Using the latest technological
innovations to empower and protect our
communities and improve their lives

The Council is made up of 60 councillors for 20
wards. The political make-up of the Council during
2020/21 was:

Including the Chief Executive, ELT is made up of eight
officers, including the Bi-Borough Executive Director
for Adults and Bi-Borough Executive Director for
Children’s. These officers carry out their roles for
both Westminster and the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea.

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (Continued)
in recent years has significantly reduced both the
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
overall pension fund deficit and the total interest
7. 2020/21 FINANCIAL PLANNING
payable by the Council to the Pension Fund.

Page 113

The Council has a strong financial management
process in place with monthly monitoring reports
presented to ELT and Cabinet members and
published quarterly through the Audit and
Performance Committee.

PENSION LIABILITIES £705M
The Council has net future pension liabilities of
£705m (£625m as at 31 March 2020) on an IAS19
basis. The Westminster City Council Pension Fund is
formally valued every three years by an independent
actuary to set future contribution rates. The most
recent actuarial revaluation, as at 31 March 2019,
assessed the funding level at 100%. When the Pension
Fund is in deficit, it generates an interest cost which
would not occur if it were fully funded. The Council’s
decision to make increased deficit recovery payments

The ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has still
created uncertainty surrounding illiquid asset values
and significant volatility in equity and credit markets.
Despite the Pension Fund’s assets recovering well
past their pre-pandemic highs, increasing by £310m in
year from £906m to £1,216m, the overall deficit on an
IAS19 basis grew. This is due to an increase in
liabilities from £1,531m to £1,921m. The future value
of pension liabilities is determined by the discount
rate, which is based on the yield on investment grade
corporate bonds. As the spread on corporate bonds
has dramatically reduced, it has led to a decrease in
the discount rate, which in turn reduces the future
value of liabilities.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT
The Council owns approximately 12,000 homes
generating rental income of over £74m in the year
(£73m in 2019/20). This income is held in a ringfenced account (the Housing Revenue Account - HRA),
which can only be used for social housing purposes.
The Council is planning to spend over £952m in the
next five years to increase and improve its social
housing stock.

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES
Westminster has the largest business rate income in
the country and therefore the largest appeals
provision.

8. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN:
2021/22 TO 2023/24
The Council has a three-year Medium-Term Financial
Plan (MTFP) for 2021/22 onwards. The Covid-19
pandemic has led to a review of the Council’s MTFP
as new pressures emerge from reduced activity in the
City, reducing fees and charges income. The Council
agreed a new savings approach with directorate
savings and collaborative, cross cutting saving
proposals included as part of the budget approved by
Full Council in March 2021. The MTFP position as
reported to Council is summarised below:
Change Since July 2020

2021/22
£'m

2022/23
£'m

2023/24
£'m

Total
£'m

Gap July 2020

29.242

31.010

31.151

91.403

Service Savings

(16.906)

(10.877)

(4.050)

(31.833)

Other Changes

(12.337)

2.241

(6.395)

(16.491)

Final Budget Gap - March 2021

(0.000)

22.374

20.706

43.079

Service Specific Items:

An update on the Council’s MTFP, along with an
analysis of the financial impact on the Council of
Covid-19 will be provided to Cabinet during the year.
A new medium-term plan for 2022/23 to 2024/25
will then be submitted to Cabinet and Full Council for
approval in February/March 2022.

017 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

A net budget of £180m for 2020/21 was approved by
Cabinet and Full Council in February and March 2020,
respectively. This included £31.8m of savings through
a combination of financing, commercial,
transformation and efficiency activities. Councillors
also agreed a 0.5% increase in Council Tax and 3%
increase for the Adult Social Care Precept. The
2020/21 outturn position is a £3.8m overspend. This
is reflective of the impact of the pandemic on the
Council’s finances; the variance being considerably
lower than originally anticipated due to the
government’s financial support that continued as the
country went back into lockdown.

The council currently holds £339m of provision for
repayment in the future of which £333m relates to
the 2017 Rateable Value list and £6m for the
2010/2005 Rateable Value list.

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (Continued)
9. CAPITAL STRATEGY
•

•

•

Page 114

•

The table below shows a summary of 2020/21 capital expenditure:

018 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

•

The Council’s City for All corporate strategy
drives an ambitious five-year capital
investment programme totalling £2.8bn,
including: Housing delivery schemes which will
enable the Council to achieve its target to
deliver 1,850 new affordable homes by 2023
Commenced construction on the first scheme
to be delivered by the Council’s subsidiary
housing company, Westminster Builds
Investment to ensure the continued success of
the West End as a business, leisure and
heritage destination including £150m towards
the Oxford Street District programme
New and improved leisure, adult social care
and educational facilities. More commercial
space for new and established businesses.
Improved cycle paths, transport management
systems, roads, bridges and footpaths. This
expenditure is financed from a combination of
capital receipts, grant funding and the Council’s
own financial resources.

•

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (continued)
10. CASHFLOWS & ASSETS
Westminster City Council manages cashflows and
assets in excess of £8 billion by:
• Collecting over £1.353bn of Business Rates, the
largest amount in the country. The Council keeps only
a small proportion of this.
• Collecting £108m Council Tax .

Page 115

• Accounting for £1.346bn per annum of fees,
charges, rents, and grant funding which are used to
help deliver services and keep council tax down.

.

019 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

• Managing a £3.248bn portfolio of land and
buildings.

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (Continued)
11. GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
NET ASSETS £2,598M (£2,675M AT 31
MARCH 2020)
The council has maintained a strong year-end balance
sheet. Sufficient funding is in place to repay both long
and short term liabilities as these fall due.

Group accounts provide an overview of organisations
subject to council control. In 2020/21 these were:

Page 116

•
•
•

Westminster Community Homes Limited – a
housing development vehicle.
Westco Trading Limited -offer Council
Services to public sector clients.
Westminster Housing Investments Group –
delivery of affordable housing.

Paddington Recreation Ground Charity – maintains
the park as open space in perpetuity

020 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

GROUP ACCOUNTS £2,657M (£2,730M
AT 31 MARCH 2020)

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (continued)
NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
12. ACHIEVEMENTS

•

Delivering a City for All

•

Here are some highlighted outcomes from our
pandemic response and wider City for All delivery of
which we’re particularly proud:

Greener and Cleaner
• More than eight out of ten residents were
satisfied with how we keep our streets clean
and regularly collect bins.
• Completed the roll out of the city-wide
20mph speed limit.

•

Vibrant Communities
• Quickly established Westminster Connects,
both a digital platform and a weekly network
of up to 300 volunteers dedicated to
supporting people shielding.
• Enhanced green spaces, widened footways,
improved lighting, and made street crossings
and other public spaces safer through the
Community Infrastructure Levy.
• Directly distributed our Winter COVID-19
grants totalling £750,000 to 6,706 children in
receipt of free school meals, over 1,600 lowincome households, 250 care leaves and 13
families with no recourse to public funds.
• Prevented 458 cases of homelessness since
April 2020.
• Opened our state-of-the-art and energy
efficient care home, Beachcroft House,
where 65 residents have settled in and are
enjoying its facilities.
• Rolled out a programme of on-site and
digital activities for our young people
through our libraries, City Lions, schools, and

•

•

flagship thematic events such as
Westminster Enterprise Week.
Continued to support all our families with a
child with special educational needs or
disability (SEND), remodelling our short
breaks offer to provide individual care to
children and their families.
Supported 615 vulnerable residents, since
April 2020, to continue living in their homes
by providing bathrooms suitable for their
needs, ensuring heating if a boiler breaks
down, and providing a Handyperson service

Smart City
• Distributed – with support from our partners
– over 4,000 laptops to children previously
without access to a personal computer to
minimise disruption to their learning and
development.
• Brought virtual concerts and performances
to our care home residents with Constella
OperaBallet, so that they could continue
enjoying music and culture.
• Launched a brand-new website, designed
using residents’ input to make it easy for all
• research to address our long-standing
challenges.
• Introduced our ‘Crowdfund Westminster’
platform to empower local residents and
organisations to crowdfund the financial
support needed for local activities. The
Council has pledged £58,000, and five
campaigns have already hit their funding
targets.

021 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Page 117

Thriving Economy
• Supported over 1,000 residents in the last
two years into work placements, paid work
and apprenticeships by requiring our
contractors to create employment
opportunities.
• From April to December 2020, the
Westminster Employment Service helped
move 179 residents into jobs and supported
42 others to move into better paid positions
or gain further qualifications.
• Supported 19,500 businesses through Retail
Rates relief or Small Business Rates relief.
• Undertaken over 25,000 visits to ensure our
businesses operate in a COVID-19 secure
way to keep our communities safe.
• Conducted over 300 one-to-one
appointments with businesses, which
resulted in more than £2m of alternative
support identified and awarded to them.

Added 7.5 miles of new cycle lanes to
support safe, active and sustainable travel
around the city
Completed ground-breaking low carbon
roadworks on King Street, exclusively using
electric vehicles, cargo bikes, tools, welfare
and recycled equipment, which cut the
project’s carbon emissions by an estimated
75%
Diverted over 345 tonnes of food waste from
incineration with our award-winning food
waste recycling collection trial.

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (continued)
13. PEOPLE STRATEGY
Westminster employs approximately 2,500 staff in
full-time and part-time positions. This number has
increased by a quarter in the last year since bringing
in house the Council’s former ALMO City West
Homes.

Everyone has talent
Everyone is valued
Everyone is a leader

The People Strategy forms the foundation of the
Council’s support and development of its staff.

022 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Page 118

Westminster sees the development of its employees,
a culture of lifelong learning and continuous
improvement as integral to providing quality
services. In support of this the Council has made
significant investments towards the learning and
development of its people across the council through
initiatives like the Senior Leaders Programme and
Emerging Leaders Programme and various service
specific training modules. The Council’s Westminster
Way People Strategy is based on three key pillars:

•
•
•

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (continued)
14. TOP STRATEGIC RISKS FOR UPCOMING YEAR
A risk management strategy is in place to identify and evaluate risk. There are clearly defined steps to support better decision making through the understanding of risk,
whether a positive opportunity or threat and the likely impact. The risk management processes are subject to regular review and updating. The key risks for the forthcoming
year include:
Subsequent health protection incidents could
compound the impact of Covid-19 and hinder
the local response – Public Health

Covid-19 has affected us all, our residents, communities, public institutions, businesses, and voluntary and community
organisations. Resources across the Council are fully mobilised in reducing the risk of exposure, through effective
outbreak managements, as well as reducing the risk of complications and death among our residents.

Recovery planning is underway to tackle the short, medium- and long-term adverse effects on physical and mental
health, economic challenges and environmental impact.
•

Page 119

•

•
•
•

•

The Council fails to meet its safeguarding
responsibilities for a child, young person or
adult – Adult Social Care and Children’s Services

Low uptake of vaccines may lead to outbreak situations, with particular risk to our most ethnically diverse
communities, in areas of highest deprivation and amongst care staff. A vaccination plan has been implemented to
ensure engagement across the system to maximise uptake and help reduce inequality. As of 12/5/21, the current
uptake of vaccines among all eligible residents is 37.02%.
The Council is giving robust support to NHS colleagues to encourage and increase uptake, including through GP
practices and the call centre hub, vaccine bus, community pop ups, increasing provision via pharmacies and
improving access through a blended model on council estates.
The Pfizer vaccine is available now to all including younger cohort from 12/5/21, which may also reduce hesitancy.
Further work is underway on vaccine take up with care home staff.
Failure to have a robust approach to winter planning and flu vaccination could lead to a surge in flu and Covid
infections. An approach to targeting flu vaccinations to vulnerable groups and children is being developed by Public
Health. We are awaiting the outcome of clinical guidance to potentially administer Covid-19 and flu vaccines at the
same time
The Council is also supporting the CCG with their approach to reaching those who are uncontactable

Independent scrutiny is provided by the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board and the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board
to ensure robust policies are in place, drive improvement in practice and support the implementation of lessons from
case reviews. We monitor our recruitment process and staff are asked to attend safeguarding training as part of their
induction and ongoing professional development.

023 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Mitigation:

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (continued)

Mitigation:
In the event of an incident, there would be a co-ordinated and multi-agency response to ensure appropriate and
timely action is taken. Additional measures are also in place to protect and safeguard individuals. Community
development, communications and public engagement workstreams are established to prevent potential incidents.
Learning outcomes are also discussed with the London Resilience Forum to feed future action plans.
3

A range of wider market dynamics contributes to increasing financial pressures placed on the Council, including
changing levels of service demand, the impacts of Covid-19, Brexit, and central government policy. These affect
services across the Council in different ways; however, ultimately, they could impact service quality and delivery and
therefore the residents and businesses, our overall financial position and reputation.
Mitigation:
The Medium-Term Planning process is in place as a mitigating action to ensure the Council balances its budget and
identifies savings that can be made.

Serious information or cyber security incident
due to data breach, malware outbreak,
phishing, ransomware attack – Finance &
Resources

Increased numbers of cyber-attacks, combined with the pressure to respond quickly to the emergency and the
unprecedented rise in working from home (while data protection requirements remain unchanged) potentially
increases the risk of unauthorised disclosure, data loss and wrongful use of personal data. Critical business systems
could be taken offline leading to financial loss through ransomware or outages on revenue generating systems as well
as data compromise, leading to Information Commissioners’ Office (ICO) fines, putting vulnerable residents’ dataries
with associated reputational damage or the Council being unable to undertake business. To date, there is no increase
in staff reporting data breaches since Covid-19.
Mitigation:
We continue to focus on improving system availability and reducing the risk of data loss. Improvements around
information security and data breach management are being made, such as the full migration to Windows 10 and the
design of new policies, with the support of our Data Protection Officer. Cybersecurity is also being improved via
mandatory training completion and corporate guidance on data handling when working from home, whilst
maintaining existing controls such as secure email.

024 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Page 120

4

Financial pressures resulting in an inability to
fund services for resident, businesses and
visitors – Finance and Resources

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (continued)

Failure of a major contract or an inability to secure
alternative provision resulting in the Council being
unable to provide services or meet its statutory
obligations – Finance and Resources

Mitigation:

Page 121

The Council has the following control measures in place: Procurement Code, the Supply Chain Resilience Forum,
Contract Management Framework, scrutiny of all new contracts worth more than £100k, performance monitoring,
periodic financial checks/enhanced financial checks pre-and post-contract award, a contract segmentation now
applied to all contracts (risk and value). The Procurement Code has been updated and the Procurement Governance
Process has been improved. The Council plans to enhance monitoring and awareness across contract managers in
particular to recognise early warning signs that might indicate supplier distress and embed contractual mechanisms to
ensure formal early warning of changes to the suppliers’ financial wellbeing.

025 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

The Council depends on a range of contracted partners to deliver its services. This supply chain could be disrupted by
several factors such as the Covid-19 pandemic, Brexit, and the economic fallout and uncertainties arising. This could
ultimately delay or disrupt critical services or service delivery, resulting in non-compliance of contractual obligations,
non-compliance of legal obligations, financial loss or impact the Council’s reputation. Covid-19 has had a
disproportionate impact on some sectors, notably social care affecting services for adults, children, and wider public
health. The financial impact of this has affected providers in different ways, increasing operational costs (for example
additional health and safety measures, increased use of temporary labour) and also through loss of income (for
example the increased level of voids in care homes) or utilisation of vehicles for transport services. Some third sector
organisations are also seeing normal funding streams disrupted.

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (continued)

A significant incident occurring in Westminster (e.g.
weather event, fire, terror attack, etc.) –
Environment and City Management

To help ensure Westminster’s sustainability and resilience, we work closely with other local authorities, the
emergency services and partner organisations. This coordination enables us to respond quickly if potential threats
such as terrorism or extreme weather were realised.
Mitigation:

Page 122

The impact of Brexit on Council services and
communities across Westminster – Environment,
City and Management

Britain left the EU on 31 January 2020 and Her Majesty’s Government agreed a trade deal with the EU27 on 24th
December 2020, avoiding a “No Deal” scenario. The impacts of Brexit are far-reaching and have an influence on
many parts to the Council’s service delivery and objectives both medium and long term. In the short term, Brexit
may mean potential workforce shortages, particularly in key sectors with fragile markets, and potential supply chain
disruption.
Mitigation:
Officers are monitoring the key issues that will impact Westminster and regular meetings are being held with the
WCC EU Exit Strategic Board to mitigate risks. The Council has also been advised that regional EU Exit response will
be rolled into the current London Strategic Coordination Group and Delivery Coordination Group arrangements.

026 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Terrorism Future controls are detailed within Prevent, Protect and Emergency Planning and Business Continuity. In
addition to carrying out test exercises, the Council participates fully in Safer City, a pan-London annual exercise, and
engages in partnership working with the Metropolitan Police Service. Flooding the Council follows the GLA’s London
Strategic Flood Framework and Environment Agency Guidance, the Serpentine Reservoir Inundation Plan, and it also
has its own Westminster Plan for Major Emergencies, WCC Staff 10 Point Plan for Business Continuity, and test
exercises. The Thames Barrier is also a major existing control against flood events.

Executive Director’s Narrative Report (continued)

be set aside for specific legal or accounting
purposes.

15. EXPLANATION OF ACCOUNTING
STATEMENTS
•

The Balance Sheet is a “snapshot” of the
Council’s assets, liabilities, cash balances and
reserves at the year-end date.

•

The Cash Flow Statement shows the reason
for changes in the Council’s cash balances
during the year, and whether that change is
due to operating activities, new investment,
or financing activities (such as repayment of
borrowing and other long-term liabilities).

Page 123

The Core Statements are:
•

•

The Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement – this records all of
the Council’s income and expenditure for the
year. The top half of the statement provides
an analysis by service area. The bottom half
of the statement deals with corporate
transactions and funding.
The Movement in Reserves Statement is a
summary of the changes to the Council’s
reserves over the course of the year.
Reserves are divided into “usable”, which
can be invested in capital projects or service
improvements, and “unusable” which must

The Supplementary Financial Statements are:
•

The Housing Revenue Account – this
separately identifies the Council’s statutory
landlord function as a provider of social
housing under the Local Government and
Housing Act 1989.

•

The Collection Fund, which summarises the
collection and redistribution of council tax
and business rates income

•

The Pension Fund Account, which reports
the contributions received, payments to
pensioners and the value of net assets
invested in the Local Government Pension
Scheme.

The Group Accounts include:
•

The statements of the single entity
accounts combined with the assets and
liabilities of companies and similar
entities, which the Council either controls
or significantly influences.

The Annual Governance Statement
•

The statement sets out the governance
structures of the Council and its key
internal controls.

The Notes to these financial statements provide
further detail about the Council’s accounting
policies and individual transactions.
A Glossary of key terms can be found at the end of
this publication.

027 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

The Statement of Accounts sets out the Council’s
income and expenditure for the year, and its
financial position at 31 March 2021 It comprises
core and supplementary statements, together with
disclosure notes. The format and content of the
financial statements are prescribed by the CIPFA
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in
the United Kingdom 2020/21, which in turn is
underpinned by International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF WESTMINSTER CITY
COUNCIL

•

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the group and of the Authority as
at 31 March 2021 and of the group’s
expenditure and income and the Authority’s

•

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit
Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit
Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor
General. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements’ section of
our report. We are independent of the group and the
Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN
We are responsible for concluding on the
appropriateness of the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence

obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Authority or group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Authority or the group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
In our evaluation of the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources’ conclusions, and in accordance with
the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC
code of practice on local authority accounting in the
United Kingdom 2020/21 that the Authority and
group’s financial statements shall be prepared on a
going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks
associated with the continuation of services provided
by the group and the Authority. In doing so we had
regard to the guidance provided in Practice Note 10
Audit of financial statements and regularity of public
sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020)
on the application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to
public sector entities. We assessed the
reasonableness of the basis of preparation used by
the group and Authority and the group and
Authority’s disclosures over the going concern period.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not
identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may
cast significant doubt on the Authority’s or the

028 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Page 124

We have audited the financial statements of
Westminster City Council (the ‘Authority’) and its
subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March
2021, which comprise the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement, the Movement in
Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow
Statement, the Group Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement, the Group Movement in
Reserves Statement, the Group Balance Sheet and the
Group Cash Flow Statement, the Housing Revenue
Account Income and Expenditure Statement, the
Movement on the Housing Revenue Account
Statement, the Collection Fund Statement and notes
to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The notes to the
financial statements include the Notes to the
Accounts, Notes to the Housing Revenue Account
Statement, Notes to the Collection Fund Statement
and Notes to the Group Accounts. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC
code of practice on local authority accounting in the
United Kingdom 2020/21.

expenditure and income for the year then
ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance
with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on
local authority accounting in the United
Kingdom 2020/21; and
have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

Independent Auditor’s Repot (continued)
group’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
period of at least twelve months from when the
financial statements are authorised for issue.
In auditing the financial statements, we have
concluded that the Executive Director of Finance and
Resources’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is appropriate.

OTHER INFORMATION

Page 125

The Executive Director of Finance and Resources is
responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in
the Statement of Accounts, other than the financial
statements, our auditor’s report thereon and our
auditor’s report on the pension fund financial
statements. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, except to
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report,
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material misstatement

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT BY
EXCEPTION

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to
report to you if:
•

We have nothing to report in this regard.
OTHER INFORMATION WE ARE REQUIRED TO
REPORT ON BY EXCEPTION UNDER THE CODE OF
AUDIT PRACTICE
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the
National Audit Office in April 2020 on behalf of the
Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit
Practice) we are required to consider whether the
Annual Governance Statement does not comply with
‘delivering good governance in Local Government
Framework 2016 Edition’ published by CIPFA and
SOLACE or is misleading or inconsistent with the
information of which we are aware from our audit.
We are not required to consider whether the Annual
Governance Statement addresses all risks and
controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by
internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
OPINION ON OTHER MATTERS REQUIRED BY THE
CODE OF AUDIT PRACTICE
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit of the financial statements and
our knowledge of the Authority, the other
information published together with the financial
statements in the Statement of Accounts for the
financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

•

•

•

•

we issue a report in the public interest under
section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or
at the conclusion of the audit; or
we make a written recommendation to the
Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of,
or at the conclusion of the audit; or
we make an application to the court for a
declaration that an item of account is
contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit;
or;
we issue an advisory notice under Section 29
of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of
the audit; or
we make an application for judicial review
under Section 31 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or
at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above
matters.
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUTHORITY, THE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND RESOURCES
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As explained in the Statement of Responsibilities for
the Statement of Accounts, set out on page x, the
Authority is required to make arrangements for the
proper administration of its financial affairs and to
secure that one of its officers has the responsibility

029 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

The responsibilities of theExecutive Director of
Finance and Resources with respect to going concern
are described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Authority,
the Executive Director of Finance and Resources and
Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements’ section of this report.

in the financial statements or a material misstatement
of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information, we are
required to report that fact.

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Page 126

In preparing the financial statements, the Executive
Director of Finance and Resources is responsible for
assessing the Authority’s and the group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless there is an
intention by government that the services provided
by the Authority and the group will no longer be
provided.
The Audit and Performance Committee is Those
Charged with Governance. Those Charged with
Governance are responsible for overseeing the
Authority’s financial reporting process.
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit

conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.
EXPLANATION AS TO WHAT EXTENT THE AUDIT
WAS CONSIDERED CAPABLE OF DETECTING
IRREGULARITIES, INCLUDING FRAUD
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of noncompliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined
above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent
limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk
that material misstatements in the financial
statements may not be detected, even though the
audit is properly planned and performed in
accordance with the ISAs (UK).
The extent to which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed
below:
We obtained an understanding of the legal and
regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the
group and Authority and determined that the most
significant ,which are directly relevant to specific
assertions in the financial statements, are those
related to the reporting frameworks (international

accounting standards as interpreted and adapted by
the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority
accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21, the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Accounts and
Audit Regulations 2015, the Local Government Act
2003, the Local Government Act 1972, the Local
Government and Housing Act 1989, the Local
Government Finance Act 1988 (as amended by the
Local Government Finance Act 1992) and the Local
Government Finance Act 2012.
•

•
•
•

•

We enquired of senior officers and the Audit
and Performance Committee, concerning the
group and Authority’s policies and
procedures relating to:
the identification, evaluation and compliance
with laws and regulations;
the detection and response to the risks of
fraud; and
The Authority and group's control
environment, including the policies and
procedures implemented by the Authority
and group to ensure compliance with the
requirements of the financial reporting
framework.

030 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

for the administration of those affairs. In this
authority, that officer is the Executive Director of
Finance and Resources. The Executive Director of
Finance and Resources is responsible for the
preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which
includes the financial statements, in accordance with
proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC code
of practice on local authority accounting in the United
Kingdom 2020/21, for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
Executive Director of Finance and Resources
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)
review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of
these arrangements.

MATTER ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT
BY EXCEPTION –THE AUTHORITY’S ARRANGEMENTS
FOR SECURING ECONOMY, EFFICIENCY AND
EFFECTIVENESS IN ITS USE OF RESOURCES

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that
the Authority has made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources. We are not required to consider,
nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the
Authority's arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.

Page 127

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to
report to you if, in our opinion, we have not been able
to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has made
proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
Our work on the Authority’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources is not yet complete. The outcome of
our work will be reported in our commentary on the
Authority’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual
Report. If we identify any significant weaknesses in
these arrangements, these will be reported by
exception in a further auditor’s report. We are
satisfied that this work does not have a material
effect on our opinion on the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUTHORITY
The Authority is responsible for putting in place
proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to
ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE REVIEW OF
THE AUTHORITY’S ARRANGEMENTS FOR SECURING
ECONOMY, EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS IN ITS
USE OF RESOURCES

We undertake our review in accordance with the
Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance
issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April
2021. This guidance sets out the arrangements that
fall within the scope of ‘proper arrangements’. When
reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit
Practice requires auditors to structure their
commentary on arrangements under three specified
reporting criteria:
Financial sustainability: how the Authority plans and
manages its resources to ensure it can continue to
deliver its services;
Governance: how the Authority ensures that it
makes informed decisions and properly manages its
risks; and
Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness:
how the Authority uses information about its costs

and performance to improve the way it manages and
delivers its services.

We document our understanding of the
arrangements the Authority has in place for each of
these three specified reporting criteria, gathering
sufficient evidence to support our risk assessment
and commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In
undertaking our work, we consider whether there is
evidence to suggest that there are significant
weaknesses in arrangements.
REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS –DELAY IN CERTIFICATION OF
COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an
audit certificate for Westminster City Council for the
year ended 31 March 2021 in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have
completed:
•

•

our work on the Authority’s arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources and
issued our Auditor’s Annual Report; and
the work necessary to issue our Whole of
Government Accounts (WGA) Component
Assurance statementfor the Authority for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

We are required to give an opinion on the consistency
of the pension fund financial statements of the

031 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS –THE AUTHORITY’S
ARRANGEMENTS FOR SECURING ECONOMY,
EFFICIENCY AND EFFECTIVENESS IN ITS USE OF
RESOURCES

Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

We are satisfied that this work does not have a
material effect on the financial statements.
USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the members of the
Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out
in paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities
of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public
Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work
has been undertaken so that we might state to the
Authority’s members those matters we are required
to state to them in an auditor's report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law,
we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the Authority and the Authority's members
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for
the opinions we have formed.

032 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Page 128

Authority included in the Pension Fund Annual Report
with the pension fund financial statements included in
the Statement of Accounts. The Local Government
Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 require authorities
to publish the Pension Fund Annual Report by 1
December 2021.As the Authority has not prepared
the Pension Fund Annual Report at the time of this
report, we have yet to issue our report on the
consistency of the pension fund financial statements.
statements. Until we have done so, we are unable to
certify that we have completed the audit of the
financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice.

Independent Auditor’s Report – Pension Fund
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF CITY OF
WESTMINSTER COUNCIL ON THE
PENSION FUND FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF CITY OF WESTMINSTER
OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements:
•
give a true and fair view of the financial
transactions of the Pension Fund during the year
ended 31 March 2021 and of the amount and
disposition at that date of the fund’s assets and
liabilities;
•

have been properly prepared in accordance with
the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting in the United Kingdom
2020/21; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK))
and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit
Practice (2020) (“the Code of Audit Practice”)
approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements’ section of our
report. We are independent of the Authority in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the Pension Fund’s financial
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
CONCLUSIONS RELATING TO GOING CONCERN
We are responsible for concluding on the
appropriateness of the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Pension Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our report. However, future events

or conditions may cause the Pension Fund to cease to
continue as a going concern.
In our evaluation of the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources’ conclusions, and in accordance with
the expectation set out within the CIPFA/LASAAC
code of practice on local authority accounting in the
United Kingdom 2020/21 that the Pension Fund’s
financial statements shall be prepared on a going
concern basis, we considered the inherent risks
associated with the continuation of services provided
by the Pension Fund. In doing so we had regard to the
guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of
financial statements and regularity of public sector
bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the
application of ISA (UK) 570 Going Concern to public
sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness of
the basis of preparation used by the Authority in the
Pension Fund financial statements and the
disclosures in the Pension Fund financial statements
over the going concern period.
Based on the work we have performed, we have not
identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may
cast significant doubt on the Pension Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least
twelve months from when the financial statements
are authorised for issue.
In auditing the financial statements, we have
concluded that the Executive Director of Finance and
Resources’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the Pension Fund
financial statements is appropriate.

033 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

Page 129

We have audited the financial statements of the City
of Westminster Pension Fund (the ‘Pension Fund’)
administered by Westminster City Council (the
‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2021 which
comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets
Statement and notes to the pension fund financial
statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC
code of practice on local authority accounting in the
United Kingdom 2020/21.

BASIS FOR OPINION

Independent Auditor’s Report – Pension Fund (continued)
The responsibilities of the Executive Director of
Finance and Resources with respect to going concern
are described in the ‘Responsibilities of the Authority,
the Executive Director of Finance and Resources and
Those Charged with Governance for the financial
statements’ section of this report.

Page 130

The Executive Director of Finance and Resources is
responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in
the Statement of Accounts, other than the Pension
Fund’s financial statements, our auditor’s report
thereon, and our auditor’s report on the Authority’s
and group’s financial statements. Our opinion on the
Pension Fund’s financial statements does not cover
the other information and, except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the Pension Fund’s
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with
the Pension Fund’s financial statements or our
knowledge of the Pension Fund obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we
identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material misstatement
in the Pension Fund financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of the other information,
we are required to report that fact.

• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the
course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

OPINION ON OTHER MATTER REQUIRED BY THE
CODE OF AUDIT PRACTICE (2020) PUBLISHED BY THE
NATIONAL AUDIT OFFICE ON BEHALF OF THE
COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL (THE CODE
OF AUDIT PRACTICE)

• we make an application for judicial review under
Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of
the audit.

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the
course of the audit of the Pension Fund’s financial
statements and our knowledge of the Pension Fund,
the other information published together with the
Pension Fund’s financial statements in the Statement of
Accounts, for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the
Pension Fund financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE AUTHORITY, THE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND RESOURCES
AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MATTERS ON WHICH WE ARE REQUIRED TO REPORT
BY EXCEPTION
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to
report to you if:
• we issue a report in the public interest under
section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of
the audit; or
• we make a written recommendation to the
Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the
conclusion of the audit; or
• we make an application to the court for a
declaration that an item of account is contrary to
law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the
conclusion of the audit; or;

We have nothing to report in respect of the above
matters in relation to the Pension Fund.

As explained more fully in the Statement of
Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts, set out
on page TBC, the Authority is required to make
arrangements for the proper administration of its
financial affairs and to secure that one of its officers
has the responsibility for the administration of those
affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Executive
Director of Finance and Resources. The Executive
Director of Finance and Resources is responsible for
the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which
includes the Pension Fund’s financial statements, in
accordance with proper practices as set out in the
CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority
accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21, for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for
such internal control as the Executive Director of
Finance and Resources determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

034 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Independent Auditor’s Report – Pension Fund (continued)
In preparing the Pension Fund’s financial statements,
the Executive Director of Finance and Resources is
responsible for assessing the Pension Fund’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless there is an
intention by government that the services provided
by the Pension Fund will no longer be provided.

Page 131

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the Pension Fund’s financial
statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the
audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of noncompliance with laws and regulations. We design
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined
above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent
limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk
that material misstatements in the financial
statements may not be detected, even though the
audit is properly planned and performed in
accordance with the ISAs (UK).
The extent to which our procedures are capable of
detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed
below:
• We obtained an understanding of the legal and
regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the
Pension Fund and determined that the most
significant ,which are directly relevant to specific
assertions in the financial statements, are those
related to the reporting frameworks (international
accounting standards as interpreted and adapted
by the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local
authority accounting in the United Kingdom
2020/21, the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015,
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013, The Local
government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013
and the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016.

• We enquired of senior officers and the Audit and
Performance Committee, concerning the
Authority’s policies and procedures relating to:
• the identification, evaluation and compliance
with laws and regulations;
• the detection and response to the risks of
fraud; and
• the establishment of internal controls to
mitigate risks related to fraud or noncompliance with laws and regulations.
• We enquired of senior officers and the Audit and
Performance Committee, whether they were
aware of any instances of non-compliance with
laws and regulations or whether they had any
knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud.
• We assessed the susceptibility of the Pension
Fund’s financial statements to material
misstatement, including how fraud might occur,
by evaluating officers’ incentives and
opportunities for manipulation of the financial
statements. This included the evaluation of the
risk of management override of controls. We
determined that the principal risks were in
relation to journal entries that altered the Pension
Fund’s financial performance for the year.
• Our audit procedures involved:
• evaluation of the design effectiveness of
controls that the Executive Director of Finance
and Resources has in place to prevent and
detect fraud;
• journal entry testing, with a particular focus on
significant journals at the end of the financial
•

035 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

The Audit and Performance Committee is Those
Charged with Governance for the Pension Fund.
Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting process.

EXPLANATION AS TO WHAT EXTENT THE AUDIT
WAS CONSIDERED CAPABLE OF DETECTING
IRREGULARITIES, INCLUDING FRAUD

Independent Auditor’s Report – Pension Fund (continued)
year which impacted on the Pension Fund’s
financial performance;
• challenging assumptions and judgements
made by management in its significant
accounting estimates in respect of the
valuation of level 3 investments, and IAS 26
pensions liability valuations;

Page 132

• These audit procedures were designed to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial
statements were free from fraud or error.
However, detecting irregularities that result from
fraud is inherently more difficult than detecting
those that result from error, as those irregularities
that result from fraud may involve collusion,
deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations. Also, the further removed
non-compliance with laws and regulations is from
events and transactions reflected in the financial
statements, the less likely we would become
aware of it.
• The team communications in respect of potential
non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations and fraud included the potential for
fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition, and
the significant accounting estimates related to the
valuations of the Pension Fund’s level 3
investments, and IAS 26 pensions liability.
• Assessment of the appropriateness of the
collective competence and capabilities of the
engagement team included consideration of the
engagement team's.

• knowledge of the local government pensions
sector
• understanding of the legal and regulatory
requirements specific to the Pension Fund
including:
• the provisions of the applicable legislation
• guidance issued by CIPFA, LASAAC and
SOLACE
• the applicable statutory provisions.
• In assessing the potential risks of material
misstatement, we obtained an understanding of:
• the Pension Fund’s operations, including the
nature of its income and expenditure and its
services and of its objectives and strategies to
understand the classes of transactions,
account balances, expected financial
statement disclosures and business risks that
may result in risks of material misstatement.
• the Authority's control environment, including
the policies and procedures implemented by
the Authority to ensure compliance with the
requirements of the financial reporting
framework.

USE OF OUR REPORT
This report is made solely to the members of the
Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of
the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as
set out in paragraph 43 of the Statement of
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies

published by Public Sector Audit Appointments
Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the Authority’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the
Authority and the Authority's members as a body,
for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Joanne Brown, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local
Auditor

036 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

• assessing the extent of compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations as part of our
procedures on the related financial statement
item.

• understanding of, and practical experience
with audit engagements of a similar nature and
complexity through appropriate training and
participation

Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts
THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The Council is required to:
•

Page 133

•

manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient
and effective use of resources and safeguard its
assets; and

•

selected suitable accounting policies and then
applied them consistently except where policy
changes have been noted in these accounts;

•

made judgements and estimates that were
reasonable and prudent; and

•

complied with the Code.

The Section 151 Officer has also:
•

kept proper accounting records which were up
to date; and

•

taken reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

approve the Statement of Accounts.

THE SECTION 151 OFFICER’S
RESPONSIBILITIES
The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the
preparation of the Council’s Statement of Accounts
and of its Pension Fund Statement of Accounts which,
in terms of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in Great Britain (‘the Code’), are
required respectively to present fairly the financial
position of the Council and of the Pension Fund at the
accounting date and the income and expenditure for
the year then ended.

Gerald Almeroth
Executive Director – Finance and Resources
Section 151 Officer

APPROVAL OF STATEMENT
OF ACCOUNTS
The Statement of Accounts was approved by the
Westminster City Council Audit and Performance
Committee.

Councillor Ian Rowley
Chairman of the Audit and Performance Committee

037 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • WRITTEN STATEMENTS AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR'S NARRATIVE REPORT

•

make arrangements for the proper
administration of its financial affairs and to
secure that one of its officers has the
responsibility for the administration of those
affairs, in line with statute this is the Section
151 Officer;

In preparing these Statements of Accounts, the
Section 151 Officer has:

Page 134

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) records all of the Council’s revenue income and expenditure for the year. Expenditure represents a
combination of statutory duties and discretionary spend focused on local priorities and needs. The CIPFA Code of Local Authority Accounting regulates how expenditure and
income relating to services is classified in the CIES.

Note

2020/21

Page 135

Gross

Gross

Net

Gross

Gross

Net

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

112,614

(63,281)

49,333

Finance and Resources

104,924

(41,158)

63,766

6,298

(8,943)

(2,645)

Innovation and Change

8,763

(3,446)

5,317

151,862

(93,661)

58,201

Adults’ Services

157,448

(88,221)

69,227

162,551

(115,551)

47,000

Children’s Services

183,630

(125,820)

57,810

192,637

(140,096)

52,541

Environment and City Management

176,672

(99,522)

77,150

446,216

(360,228)

85,988

Growth, Planning and Housing

419,602

(382,833)

36,769

1,072,178

(781,760)

290,418

1,051,039

(741,000)

310,039

Cost of services

039 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2019/20

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (continued)
2019/20

Note

2020/21

Gross

Net

Gross

Gross

Net

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

-

590

-

-

(32,573)

-

-

(315,520)

-

-

(57,085)

£'000

£'000

£'000

Page 136

Other operating expenditure

Note 5

-

-

(33,167)

Financing and investment income and expenditure

Note 6

-

-

24,568

Taxation and non-specific grant Income

Note 7

-

-

(289,280)

-

-

12,160

-

-

(5,456)

-

-

70,502

(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services

Items that will not be reclassified to the (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services
-

-

(67,299)

(Surplus)/deficit on revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment assets

-

-

(93,911)

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability

-

-

Note 31

(161,210)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

-

-

65,046

(218,295)

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit

-

-

77,206

Note 8 The Expenditure and Funding Analysis demonstrates in further detail how the Council has used available funding for the year in providing services, in comparison with
those resources that the Council has consumed or earned in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.

040 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Gross

Movement in Reserves Statement
The Movement in Reserves Statement shows the movement in year on reserve balances held by the Council.
2019/20

Revenue Reserves
General
Fund
Balance

Earmarked
GF Reserves

Schools
Reserves

General
Fund Total

Housing
Revenue
Account

Earmarked
HRA
Reserves

Capital Reserves
HRA
Total

Capital
Receipts
Reserve

Capital
Grants
Unapplied

Total
Usable
Reserves*

Total
Unusable
Reserves*

Total Council
Reserves

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(267,898)

(2,417)

(333,097)

(17,234)

-

(17,234)

(127,491)

(345,426)

(823,248)

(1,633,743)

(2,456,991)

(44,546)

-

-

(44,546)

(12,539)

-

(12,539)

-

-

(57,085)

-

(57,085)

Other Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(161,210)

(161,210)

Total Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure

(44,546)

(44,546)

(12,539)

-

(12,539)

-

-

(57,085)

(161,210)

(218,295)

Movement in reserves
during 2019/20
(Surplus)/Deficit on
provision of services
(accounting basis)

Page 137

Adjustments between
accounting basis and
funding basis under
regulations
Net (increase)/decrease
before Transfers to
Earmarked Reserves
Transfers to/(from)
Earmarked Reserves
(Increase)/Decrease In Year
Balance at 31 March 2020

11,517

-

-

11,517

12,408

-

12,408

31,637

(6,535)

49,027

(49,027)

-

(33,029)

-

-

(33,029)

(131)

-

(131)

31,637

(6,535)

(8,058)

(210,237)

(218,295)

32,499

(33,168)

669

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(530)

(33,168)

669

(33,029)

(131)

-

(131)

31,637

(6,535)

(8,058)

(210,237)

(218,295)

(63,312)

(301,066)

(1,748)

(366,126)

(17,365)

-

(17,365)

(95,854)

(351,961)

(831,306)

(1,843,980)

(2,675,286)

* For further detail, please refer to Note 17 – Transfers to and from Earmarked Reserves and Note 16 – Unusable Reserves

041 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

£’000
(62,782)

Balance at 31 March 2019

Movement in Reserves (continued)

2020/21

Revenue Reserves
General

Earmarked

Schools

General

Housing

Earmarked

Fund

GF Reserves

Reserves

Fund Total

Revenue

Balance

Balance at 31 March 2020

Capital Reserves
HRA Total

Capital

Capital

HRA

Receipts

Grants

Account

Reserves

Reserve

Unapplied

Total Usable

Total

Total Council

Reserves*

Unusable

Reserves

Reserves*

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(63,312)

(301,066)

(1,748)

(366,126)

(17,365)

-

(17,365)

(95,854)

(351,961)

(831,306)

(1,843,980)

(2,675,286)

35,446

(23,286)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Movement in reserves
during 2020/21
(Surplus)/Deficit on
provision of services
(accounting basis)

35,446

Page 138

Other Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure

-

Total Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure

-

-

35,446

35,446

(23,286)

Adjustments between
accounting basis and
funding basis under
regulations

(501,633)

(501,633)

23,077

Net (increase)/decrease
before Transfers to
Earmarked Reserves

(466,187)

Transfers to/(from)
Earmarked Reserves
(Increase)/Decrease In
Year
Balance at 31 March 2021

(23,286)
-

-

-

-

-

470,067

(467,060)**

(1,199)

1,808

(1,808)

3,880

(467,060)

(1,199)

(464,379)

(2,017)

(59,432)

(768,126)

(2,947)

(830,505)

(19,382)

-

-

12,160

(23,286)

12,160
65,046

65,046

12,160

65,046

77,206

23,077

(2,099)

58,123

(422,532)

422,532

-

(209)

(2,099)

58,123

(410,372)

487,578

77,206

(1,808)

-

-

-

-

-

(2,017)

(2,099)

58,123

(410,372)

487,578

77,206

(19,382)

(97,953)

(293,838)

(1,241,678)

(1,356,402)

(2,598,080)

-

(466,187)

(209)
-

-

*For further detail, please refer to Note 17 – Transfers to and from Earmarked Reserves and Note 16 – Unusable Reserves
**Within Transfers to earmarked reserves is £444m to Business Rates Deficit / S31 reserve. Of this, £370m is S31 grant received (including income compensation paid by government for
large loss in business rates income); £57m is surplus received in 20/21 but relating to prior years; and £16m is safety net payment to bring the council back to its baseline budget. The
reserve will be used to mitigate business rates shortfalls in future years

042 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

£’000

Balance Sheet
31 March 2020

Note

£’000

31 March 2021
£’000

ASSETS
Non-current
2,677,424
44,578
499,382
1,313

Property, plant and equipment

Note 18c

2,781,226

Heritage assets

Note 19

44,578

Investment property

Note 20

467,386

Intangible assets

2,861

Page 139

88,104

Long-term investments

Note 21a

47,261

70,623

Long-term debtors

Note 27

89,957

3,381,424

Total long-term assets

3,433,269

Current
543,945
116

Short-term investments

Note 21a

Inventories

237,853
130

97,970

Short-term debtors

Note 27

560,869

35,522

Cash and other cash equivalents

Note 22

80,402

677,553

Assets held for sale
Current assets

2,202
881,456

043 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Balance Sheet shows the values of assets and
liabilities held by the Council. The net assets of the
Council are matched by the reserves held by the
Council. The reserves are presented within two
categories, usable reserves and unusable reserves.
Usable reserves may be used to provide services,
subject to statutory limitations on their use and the
need to maintain a prudent level of reserves for
financial stability. Unusable reserves cannot be used
to fund Council services.

Balance Sheet (continued)
Certification by the Chief Financial Officer

31 March 2020

Note

£’000

I certify that the statement of accounts presents a
true and fair view of the financial position of the
Council as at 31 March 2021 and its income and
expenditure for the year then ended.

31 March 2021
£’000

LIABILITIES
Short-term borrowing

(349,341)

Short-term creditors

Note 28

(556,886)

Short-term provisions

Note 29

(971)

Revenue receipts in advance

Note 13

(10,643)

(687)
(11,484)

(7,128)

Gerald Almeroth

Page 140

Executive Director – Finance and Resources

(378,340)

Section 151 Officer

Total current liabilities

(575,628)

Long term
(52)

Long-term creditors

Note 28

(7,317)

(72,299)

Long-term provisions

Note 29

(108,988)

(206,143)

Long-term borrowing

(642,316)

Other long-term liabilities

Note 30

(722,126)

(84,541)

Capital receipts in advance

Note 13

(101,890)

(1,005,351)

(200,696)

Long-term liabilities

2,675,286

Net assets

(831,306)

Total Usable Reserves

(1,843,980)

Total Unusable Reserves

(2,675,286)

Total Reserves

(1,141,017)
2,598,080

(1,241,678)
Note 16

(1,356,402)
(2,598,080)

044 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(16,828)

Cash Flow Statement
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash
and cash equivalents of the Council during the
reporting period.
The Statement shows how the Council generates
and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying
cash flows as relating to operating, investing or
financing activities.

Page 141

Investing activities represent the extent to which
cash outflows have been made for resources which
are intended to contribute to the Council’s future
service delivery. Cash flows arising from financing
activities are useful in predicting claims on future
cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing by
the Council).
Cash is represented by cash-in-hand and deposits
with financial institutions repayable on notice of not
more than 24 hours demand without material
penalty. Cash equivalents are highly liquid
investments that mature in no more than three days
or less and that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash with low risk of change in value.

Note

£’000

2020/21
£’000

(57,085)

Net (surplus)/deficit on the provision of services

12,160

(62,759)

Adjustments to net (surplus)/deficit on the provision of services for noncash movements

Note 32

(201,332)

138,880

Adjustments for items included in the net (surplus)/deficit on the provision
of services that are investing and financing activities

Note 32

122,059

19,036

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

(67,113)

36,825

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Note 33

(233,787)

(41,479)

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Note 34

256,020

14,382

Net (increase)/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(44,880)

49,904

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period

35,522

35,522

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

80,402

045 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • CORE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The amount of net cash flows arising from operating
activities is a key indicator of the extent to which the
operations of the Council are funded by way of
taxation and grant income or from the recipients of
services provided by the Council.

2019/20

Page 142

Note 1 Accounting Policies
GENERAL PRINCIPLES
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (SI 2015 No
234) require the Council to prepare a Statement of
Accounts for each financial year in accordance with
proper accounting practices. For 2020/21, these
proper accounting practices principally comprise:

Asset class

Measurement Basis in the Balance Sheet

Property, Plant and Equipment: Dwellings

Current value, comprising existing use value for social housing
Dwellings are valued using market prices for comparable properties,
adjusted to reflect occupancy under secure tenancies.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Other
Land and Buildings

Current value, comprising existing use value
Where prices for comparable properties are available in an active
market, properties are valued at market value taking into account the
existing use. Where no market exists or the property is specialised,
current value is measured at depreciated replacement cost.

•

the Service Reporting Code of Practice 2020/21
(SeRCoP)

Property, Plant and Equipment: Surplus
Assets

Fair value

Investment Properties

Fair value

Financial Instruments – Fair Value through
Profit or Loss

Fair value

Pensions Assets

Fair value

Pensions Liabilities

Measured on an actuarial basis (see note 31)

The Statement of Accounts has been prepared on a
‘going concern’ basis. The accounting convention
adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally
historical cost, modified by the revaluation of certain
categories of non-current assets and financial
instruments:

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The Statement of Accounts has been adjusted to reflect events after 31 March 2021 and before the date the
Statement was authorised for issue only where the events provide evidence of conditions that existed at 31 March.
The Council’s over-arching accounting policies are set out below. Further detail on the accounting treatment
adopted for specific transactions and balances is included in relevant disclosure notes.

047 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (the
Code) supported by International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS)

Page 143

•

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued)
ACCRUALS OF INCOME AND
EXPENDITURE
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place
rather than when cash payments are made or
received. In particular:
•

Page 144
•

•

•

•

Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they
are consumed – where there is a gap between
the date supplies are received and their
consumption, they are carried as inventories on
the Balance Sheet.
Expenses in relation to services received
(including services provided by employees) are
recorded as expenditure when the services are
received rather than when payments are made.
Interest receivable on investments and payable
on borrowings is accounted for on the basis of
the effective interest rate for the relevant
financial instrument rather than the cash flows
fixed or determined by the contract.
Where revenue and expenditure have been
recognised but cash has not been received or
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant
amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors
is written down and a charge made to revenue
for the income that might not be collected.
Accruals are recognised where the value exceeds
£10,000.

The Council recognises revenue from contracts
with service recipients when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring promised
goods or services to a recipient, measured as the
amount of the overall transaction price allocated
to that obligation.

ASSET RECLASSIFICATION
The Council adheres to CIPFA and RICS guidance on
the classification of properties. Where a property has
had a change of use the Council will reflect this in the
accounts and movements between asset classes are
usually between PPE and Investment Property. Upon
reclassification assets are subsequently valued in line
with the relevant class of asset.
In certain cases, a property might be used for
combination of investment and operational purposes.
In these instances, the Council will split the valuation
of the property between PPE and Investment and
reflect this in the accounts.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with
financial institutions repayable on notice of not more
than 24 hours demand without material penalty. Cash
equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature
in no more than three days or less and that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash with low risk of
change in value.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
New Code requirements are set out in Note 2. The
Council has not adopted any other new accounting

standards or amendments with a significant impact
on the Council’s position.

INTERESTS IN COMPANIES AND OTHER
ENTITIES
The Council has material interests in subsidiary and
associate companies, which have been consolidated
into the Council’s Group Accounts on a line by line
basis for subsidiaries and the equity method for
associates, after first realigning accounting policies
with the Council where appropriate and eliminating
intra-Group transactions.
In the Council single entity accounts, interests in
companies and other entities are classified as longterm investments and measured at cost less provision
for any losses.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment properties are measured initially at cost
and subsequently at fair value. Investment properties
are not depreciated but are revalued annually
according to market conditions at the year-end.
Revaluation gains and losses are recognised in the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
line within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. However, regulations do not
permit unrealised gains and losses to impact the
General Fund balance. Therefore, gains and losses are
reversed via the Movement in Reserves Statement
and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account.
Net rental income together with any revaluation gains
and losses or impairments are recognised in the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
line within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

048 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

•

Revenue from the sale of goods or services is
recognised in accordance with the terms and
conditions of the contract.

•

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued)
SUPPORT SERVICES AND OVERHEADS
The costs of support services and overheads are
charged to those that benefit from the supply or
service in accordance with the absorption costing
principle. The full cost of overheads and support
services is shared between users in proportion to the
benefits received.

Page 145

Legislation permits defined items of revenue
expenditure charged to services within the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
to be treated as capital expenditure. All such
expenditure is transferred from the General Fund
balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement to
the Capital Adjustment Account and is included in the
Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing disclosure
at Note 24.

ROUNDING
It is not the Council’s policy to adjust for immaterial
cross-casting differences between the main
statements and disclosure notes.

SCHOOLS
Local authority-maintained schools are considered to
be under the control of the Council. Consequently,
the income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of
maintained schools are accounted for in the single

VALUE ADDED TAX
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account
excludes amounts relating to VAT and will be included
as an expense only if it is not recoverable from Her
Majesty's Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is
excluded from income within the Council's Income
and Expenditure account.

049 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED BY
CAPITAL UNDER STATUTE

entity accounts of the Council. The schools fall into
the following categories:
• 4 Maintained Nurseries
• 27 Voluntary Aided (26 Primary and 1
Secondary)
• 7 Community
• 2 Maintained Special.
Other types of schools, such as academies and free
schools are outside of the Council’s control and
therefore not included in this Statement of Accounts.

Note 2 Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted
At the balance sheet date, the following new
standards and amendments to existing standards
have been published but not yet adopted by the
Code of Practice of Local Authority Accounting in
the United Kingdom:
050 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 146

• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform amendments
to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 have an impact on
hedge accounting if interest rates change. The
amendments will not have an impact on the
council, as the council’s debt is fixed rate and
all of the council’s investments are in sterling
and low risk.
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2
amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16 relate to issues that arise if an
existing interest rate is replaced by an
alternative one. This is unlikely to have an
impact as interest rate benchmark reform is
rarely applied. In addition, financial
instruments are valued in the accounts at
amortised cost rather than fair value.

Note 3 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other
Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Page 147

The items in the Council’s Balance Sheet at 31
March 2021 for which there is a significant risk
of material adjustment in the forthcoming
financial year are as follows:

Item

Uncertainties

Consequences if actual results differ
from assumption

Valuation of operational property

For the rolling 80% of assets that are not subject to an
inspection and full valuation, it is our intention to only
revalue or index adjust individual assets where there is
considered significant impairment risk resulting from asset
specific or market changes. Impairment risk will be identified
through our impairment review at the end of the financial
year and by reference to three sources of information:
- Statements offered by WCC in response to the annual
impairment/enhancement information request
- Annual capital value and rent movement recorded in
commercial property indices, specifically published market
data from CoStar Suite and MSCI (where considered
appropriate)
- Annual construction cost movement recorded by BCIS.

A reduction in the estimated
valuations would result in reductions
to the Revaluation Reserve and / or a
loss recorded as appropriate in the
Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. This would
not impact real GF or HRA balances.

The outbreak of Covid-19 has impacted global financial
markets and as at the valuation date, less weight can be
attached to previous market evidence to inform opinions of
value. There is an unprecedented set of circumstances on
which to base a judgement.
Indexation has not been applied to assets that have been
valued using DRC methodology. Indexation of these values is
not considered appropriate due to the annual depreciation
adjustments applied within the DRC methodology.

An increase in estimated valuations
would result in increases to the
Revaluation Reserve and / or
reversals of previous negative
revaluations to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement
and / or gains being recorded as
appropriate in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.

There remains significant market uncertainty at the time of
preparing this valuation and analysis following the outbreak
of the Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), declared by the World
Health Organisation as a “Global Pandemic” on 11 March
2020. The UK's property markets have been significantly
impacted and, as at the valuation date, we consider that this
continued uncertainty and lower than usual transaction
activity may distort the indexation data that we have relied
on in preparing our assessment.
The estimated remaining useful life of all operational assets
is reviewed annually based on the advice from the Council
external valuers.

If the value of the Council's
operational properties were to
reduce by 10%, this would result in a
charge to the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement of
approximately £69m.

Depreciation charges for operational
buildings will change in direct relation
to changes in estimated current
value.

051 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated
figures that are based on assumptions made by
the Council about the future or situations that
are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made
using historical experience, current trends and
other relevant factors. However, because
balances cannot be determined with certainty,
actual results could be materially different
from the assumptions and estimates.

Note 3 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Items

Uncertainties

Consequences if actual results differ from
assumptions

Fair value
measurement
of investment
property

The Council’s external valuers use valuation techniques to
determine the fair value of investment property. This involves
developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how
market participants would p rice the property. The valuers
base their assumptions on observable data as far as possible,
but this is not always available. In that case, the valuers use
the best information available.

Estimated fair values may differ from the actual
prices that could be achieved in an arm’s length
transaction at the reporting date.

Page 148

Valuation of
HRA Dwellings

The HRA residential portfolio is valued based on a beacon
methodology. In order to value the whole portfolio, it was
necessary to research a number of information sources. These
include sales of directly comparable property, changes of
income flow for non-residential property, information
available at a local level showing house price movement plus
regional and National Indices.
Due to the impact of Covid-19, valuations are reported on the
basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as per the RICS Red
Book Global. Consequently, less certainty and a higher degree
of caution should be attached to the valuation.

A reduction in the estimate value of HRA dwellings
would be revaluation reserve or a loss in the CIES. If
the value of dwellings were to reduce by 10% this
would lead to a reduction in value of about £155m.
An increase in estimated valuations would result in
increases to the Revaluation Reserve or gains being
recorded as appropriate in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.

052 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

At the current time, it is not possible to accurately predict the
longevity and severity of the impact of Covid-19 on the
economy. Therefore, it has been difficult to value property
assets. Values have been based on the situation prior to
Covid-19, on the assumption that values will be restored when
the real estate market becomes more fluid.

Note 3 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)
Uncertainties

Consequences if actual results differ from
assumptions

Pensions
Liability

Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on
several complex judgements relating to the discount rate used,
the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in
retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on
Pension Fund investments.
The Council has engaged Barnett Waddingham as its consulting
actuary to provide expert advice about the assumptions to be
applied.

The effect of changes in these estimates on the
net pension liability of the Council are reviewed on
an ongoing basis by the Pension Fund Committee.
Variations in the key assumptions will have the
following impact on the net liability:
A 0.1% increase in the discount rate will reduce
the net pension liability by £36.4m;
A 0.1% increase in the assumed level of pension
increases will increase the net pension liability by
£34.3m;
An increase of one year in longevity will increase
the net pension liability by £89.4m.

Business Rates

The council is part of the London Business Rates pool with
30% share of the total business rates it collects. Under the
current scheme the council does not pay a levy on growth
above its baseline which gets passed over to the pool and
redistributed back to all councils, including Westminster, as
retained growth within local government.

The Council’s overall financial losses are protected via
the London Pool with any variance to the Council’s
assumptions being offset by the safety net payment
entitlement for the London pool which will be
distributed according to each Councils individual
safety net position as determined by central
government (which is accrued for at year- end).

In 2020/21 the Council retained 30% (£699m) of the business
rates income it collected. However, it paid a tariff of
approximately £582m into the London pool.
The Council is exposed to large business rates appeals from
businesses / agencies which directly impacts the total incomes
it collects in future years. It therefore needs to determine the
possible successful appeals which will reduce its income
collected. It currently holds appeals provision in relation to
rates lists for 2005, 2010 and 2017 list.
The Collection Fund currently holds £339m appeals provision
to counter the potential impact of successful appeals in future
years. £334m relates to 2017 list and the rest to prior years.

During Covid-19, it collected far less business rates
income due to reliefs given and reduced collection
rate. Nevertheless the council will lose no more than
approx. £6.8m in business rates income within its
General Fund due to the safety net protection and
the section 31 grant it receives to fund reliefs such as
Retail, Hospitality & Leisure reliefs given to
businesses this year. However, the £6.8m loss will be
covered via the business rates equalisation reserve
which the council has built over the years to counter
the financial impact in such scenarios.

053 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 149

Items

Note 3 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (continued)

Uncertainties

Consequences if actual results differ from
assumptions

Impairment
allowance for
doubtful debt

As at 31 March 2021, the Council had an outstanding balance
of short-term debtors totalling £560m. Against this debtors’
balance, there is an impairment allowance of £101m. It is not
certain that this impairment allowance would be sufficient as
the Council cannot assess with certainty which debts will be
collected or not. The economic impact of the Covid-19
pandemic has made the estimation of debt impairment more
difficult as there is more uncertainty about the economic
viability of debtors and hence their ability to settle their debts.
The council also has larger share of the collection fund arrears
from businesses which increased from £37m to £68m and
therefore recognised a higher bad debt provision.

An understatement of doubtful debts would lead to a
future adjustment and impairment to be reflected.
The impairment allowances held are based on
policies adapted to historic experience and success
rates experienced in collection. The nature of the
debt and service area have been considered and
further review has been carried out to reflect the
uncertainty of the collection rates as a result of
Covid-19. If collection rates were to deteriorate by
5% then the Council would need to review its policies
on the calculation of its impairment allowance for
doubtful debts.

Valuation of
Group housing
dwellings

The value of the dwellings held by the Council’s subsidiaries
have been revalued from depreciated historic cost to
existing use value-social housing (EUV-SH) on consolidation.
In revaluing the dwellings, the value at 31 March 2021 was
estimated using an average of valuation indices for
dwellings in the relevant area. The indices used were the
Land Registry, Acadata and the Nationwide.

A variation of +/- 1% in the indexed value would be
£0.59m on the EUV-SH of £59m.

The outbreak of Covid-19 has had an unprecedented impact
on global financial markets and as at the valuation date, less
weight can be attached to previous market evidence to
inform opinions of value. Valuations are therefore reported
on the basis of ‘material valuation uncertainty’ as per the
RICS Red Book Global. Values have been based on the
situation prior to Covid-19, on the assumption that values
will be restored when the real estate market becomes more
fluid.

054 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 150

Items

Note 4 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
In applying the accounting policies laid out in Note
1, the Council has had to make certain critical
judgements about complex transactions or those
involving uncertainty about future events. In the
accounts, these are as follows:
•

The Council has assessed the legal framework
underlying each type of school and determined
the treatment of non-current assets within the
financial statements according to whether it
owns or has some responsibility for, control
over or benefit from the service potential of
the premises and land occupied. The Council
has considered its accounting classification for

•

o

Recognises school assets for community
schools on its balance sheet because the
rights and obligations associated with such
schools rests with the Council; and

o

Assesses that the assets relating to
academies, voluntary aided (VA), voluntary
controlled (VC) or free schools are not
controlled by the Council but, following
consultation and review, the VA and VC
schools have been deemed to be owned by
the relevant dioceses. Recognition of the
disposal of school assets on the Council’s
balance sheet occurs on the date on which
a school converts to academy status, not
on the date of any related announcement.
Neither is any impairment recognised by
the Council prior to conversion.

The Council normally collects approximately
net £2.4bn in business rates. However,
following the pandemic and supports
announced by government we expect to collect
only £1.4bn this year. We expect to have a
larger than usual outstanding debts this year
and have therefore adjusted the bad debt and
appeals provision accordingly. In relation to the
assumptions around the outcome of appeals
against the NNDR valuations (either received to
date or expected in future years) represent a

material and critical judgement applied to the
accounts, especially now that many businesses
will be challenging their RV rates due to the
current crisis. The appeals provision is
empirically derived from the experience with
both the 2005 and 2010 lists as well as appeals
determinations so far made against the 2017
list. The council will also be using consultants to
review its required appeals provision and
determine a prudent level of provision. The
Council is in the business rates pool for
2020/21 and will ensure that councils will not
lose more than 7.5% of their baseline funding,
in our case 7.5% of £88.93m which is
approximately £6.7m. However, due to the
technical adjustment relating to the Collection
Fund Adjustment Account this will not impact
the council’s current accounts and only hit the
Council’s General Fund in future years.
Therefore, if the net rate income reduces
below the levels set by central government the
Council is expected to be compensated via the
pool and the new compensation scheme
announced by the Government.
•

Dwellings held by Westminster Community
Homes Ltd have been re-valued to Existing Use
Value- Social Housing on consolidation into the
Council’s Group Accounts to align with the
Council’s valuation of council dwellings. This is
because tenants occupy these dwellings on
assured tenancy terms similar to those of
council dwellings except for the Right to Buy.

055 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 151
•

The Council has interests in other entities that
fall within the group boundary of the Council
on the grounds of control and significant
influence in line with the Code. The Council’s
interests in Westminster Community Homes
Ltd and Westminster Housing Investments Ltd
are material to the Council’s overall financial
position and therefore have been consolidated
within the Council’s group accounts. In October
2018, the Council decided to bring the housing
management services provided by City West
Homes in-house from 31st March 2019 and this
transition has been completed. Under the
termination agreement all assets and liabilities
transferred to the Council as at that date.
CityWest Homes Ltd and its subsidiary,
CityWest Homes Services Ltd, are currently in a
dormant state before they are formally wound
up.

each school on an individual case basis in
conjunction with relevant dioceses for
voluntary aided and voluntary controlled
schools. As a result, the Council:

Page 152

Note 5 Other Operating Income and Expenditure
The Council’s various income streams have been
assessed and classified in line with Chapter 2 of the
2020/21 Code of Practice and revenue has been
recognised accordingly, with specific consideration
given to:
•

•

Page 153

Government grants and third-party contributions are
recognised when there is reasonable assurance that
the Council will comply with any conditions attached
to the payments, and that grant monies and
contributions will be received. Where conditions
attached to grants and contributions remain
outstanding, monies received to date are carried
forward in the Balance Sheet as creditors (receipts in
advance) until the conditions have been satisfied.

2019/20

2020/21

£’000

£’000

2,506

Levies

2,516

3,911

Payments to the Government Housing Capital Receipts Pool

2,397

(5,222)
(605)
590

(Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets
Other income
Total

(38,070)
(10)
(33,167)

057 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

•

implied or stated contractual terms for
exchange transactions
obligating events and/or conditions
attached to non-exchange transactions,
where a party receives something of value
without directly giving value in exchange
the significance of the income stream to
the Council.

Other operating expenditure reported includes all levies payable, total payments made to the Government
Housing Receipts Pool in line with statutory arrangements for certain property sales within the Housing Revenue
Account and gains/losses generated from in year disposals of non-current assets.

Note 6 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
Financing and investment income and expenditure
includes interest receivable and payable on the
Council’s investment portfolio. The Council’s net
rental income on the properties it holds purely for
investment purposes is also included. It also includes
the interest element of the pension fund liability.

2019/20

2020/21

£’000

£’000
Interest payable and similar charges

16,269

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset)

14,111

Interest receivable and similar income

(6,475)

(12,930)
883

9,289

Page 154

Net (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

1,099

(47,302)

Income and expenditure in relation to investment properties and changes in their fair value

6,544

(32,573)

Total

24,568

058 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

10,507

Note 7 Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income
2019/20

2020/21

£’000

£’000

(57,319)
(108,521)
(34,219)

Council Tax Income
Non-Domestic Rates income
LESS WCC share of NNDR Collection fund deficit*
Non-ringfenced government grants*

(115,461)

Capital grants and contributions

(315,520)

Total

(60,520)
(172,886)
444,355
(449,636)
(50,593)
(289,280)

* The large deficit is due mainly to the increase in collection fund cost arising from loss of business rate income following Covid-19. This is offset by
an increase in non-ringfenced government grants, specifically section 31 grant, to compensate for this loss

Page 155

059 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

This note consolidates all non-specific grants and
contributions receivable that cannot be identified
with individual service expenditure and therefore
cannot be credited to the gross income amount
relevant to the service area. All capital grants and
contributions are credited to non-specific grant
income even if service-specific. The note also
identifies the Council's proportion of council tax and
business rates used to fund in year service activities.
.

Note 8 Expenditure and Funding Analysis
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis demonstrates how the Council has used available funding for the year (i.e. government grants, rents, council tax and business rates) in
providing services, in comparison with those resources that the Council has consumed or earned in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices. It also shows how
the Council has allocated this expenditure for decision making purposes between the Council’s Executive Leadership Teams. Income and expenditure accounted for under
generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
Table A
2019/20

2020/21

Net Expenditure in the

Expenditure chargeable

Adjustments between

Net Expenditure in

CIES

to GF and HRA balances

funding and accounting

the CIES

HRA balances

basis (see Table D)

£’000

£’000

£’000

17,282

(32,051)

49,333

(2,220)

425

58,325

basis (see Table D)
£’000

£’000

Finance and Resources*

(1,132)

(64,898)

63,766

(2,645)

Innovation and Change

21,071

15,754

5,317

124

58,201

Adult Services

60,349

(8,878)

69,227

45,599

(1,401)

47,000

Childrens Services

54,788

(3,022)

57,810

23,343

(29,198)

52,541

Environment & City Management

47,149

(30,001)

77,150

88,977

2,989

85,988

Growth, GF-Housing and Planning

31,946

(4,823)

36,769

231,306

(59,112)

290,418

214,171

(95,868)

310,039

Net Cost of Services

£’000

060 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Adjustments between
funding and accounting

Page 156

Expenditure
chargeable to GF and

Note 8 Expenditure and Funding Analysis (continued)
Table B
2019/20

2020/21

Expenditure chargeable

Adjustments between

Net Expenditure in

Expenditure chargeable

to GF and HRA balances

funding and accounting

the CIES

to GF and HRA balances

basis

Adjustments between

Net Expenditure in

funding and

the CIES

accounting basis

£’000

£’000

(17,248)

(17,838)

590

(48,593)

(16,020)

(32,573)

(198,625)

116,895

(315,520)

(33,160)

23,925

(57,085)

£’000

£’000

£’000

(23,436)

9,731

(33,167)

41,845

17,277

24,568

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure

(698,976)

(409,696)

(289,280)

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

(466,396)

(478,556)

12,160

Other Operating Income and Expenditure
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

Page 157

061 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

£’000

Note 8 Expenditure and Funding Analysis (continued)
Table C
2019/20

2020/21

Surplus or Deficit on the
Provision of Services

Closing Balance

Opening Balance

Surplus or Deficit on the
Provision of Services

Closing Balance

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(62,782)

(530)

(63,312)

General Fund Balance

(63,312)

3,880

(59,432)

(17,234)

(131)

(17,365)

Housing Revenue Account Balance

(17,365)

(2,017)

(19,382)

(80,016)

(661)

(80,677)

Sub-Total General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Balance

(80,677)

1,863

(78,813)

(267,898)

(33,168)

(301,066)

(301,066)

(467,060)

(768,126)

(2,417)

669

(1,748)

(1,748)

(1,199)

(2,947)

(270,315)

(32,499)

(302,814)

Sub-Total Earmarked and Schools Reserves

(302,814)

(468,259)

(771,073)

(350,331)

(33,160)

(383,491)

Total Reserves

(383,491)

(466,396)

(849,887)

General Fund Earmarked Reserves*
Schools Reserves

*Within General Fund Earmarked Reserves is £444m to Business Rates Deficit / S31 reserve. Of this, £370m is S31 grant received (including income compensation paid by government for large loss in business rates income); £57m is
surplus received in 20/21 but relating to prior years; and £16m is safety net payment to bring the council back to its baseline budget. The reserve will be used to mitigate business rates shortfalls in future years.

062 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 158

Opening Balance

Note 8 Expenditure and Funding Analysis (continued)

Table D
Adjustments from the General Fund to arrive at the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement amounts:
2019/20

2020/21

Net Change for
Pensions
Adjustments

Other Differences

Total
Adjustments

Adjustments
for Capital
Purposes

Net Change for
Pensions
Adjustments

Other
Differences

Total
Adjustments

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(24,152)

(8,272)

373

(32,051)

Finance and Resources*

(55,283)

(9,651)

37

(64,897)

(38)

594

(131)

425

Innovation and Change

15,754

-

-

15,754

(662)

1,010

(224)

124

Adults’ Services

(8,878)

-

-

(8,878)

(2,253)

1,143

(291)

(1,401)

Children’s Services

(3,022)

-

-

(3,022)

(30,863)

2,152

(487)

(29,198)

Environment & City Management

(30,002)

-

-

(30,002)

855

2,621

(487)

2,989

Growth, GF-Housing and Planning

(4,722)

-

(101)

(4,823)

(57,113)

(752)

(1,247)

(59,112)

Net Cost of Services

(86,153)

(9,651)

(64)

(95,868)

(17,838)

-

-

(17,838)

Other Operating Income and Expenditure

9,732

-

-

9,732

(375)

(16,269)

624

(16,020)

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

18,297

-

(1,020)

17,277

110,298

-

6,597

116,895

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure

34,658

-

(444,355)

(409,697)

34,972

(17,021)

5,974

23,925

Difference Between General Fund Surplus or Deficit and
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

(23,466)

(9,651)

(445,439)

(478,556)

063 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 159

Adjustments for
Capital Purposes

` Expenditure and Funding Analysis (continued)

Net change for the Pensions adjustments
This column adjusts for the net change for the
renewal of pension contributions and the addition of
IAS19 Employee Benefits pension related expenditure
and income. For services, this represents the removal
of the employer pension contributions made by the
authority as allowed by statute and the replacement
with current service costs and past service costs. For
financing and investment income and expenditure,
this adjusts for the net interest on the defined benefit
liability is charged to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

Other differences
Other differences between amounts debited /
credited to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement and amounts payable /
receivable to be recognised under statute. For
services, this represents removal of the annual leave
accrual adjustment. For financing and investment
income and expenditure the other differences column
recognises adjustments to General Fund for the
timing differences for premiums and discounts and
financial instruments. The charge under taxation and
non-specific grant income and expenditure represents
the difference between what is chargeable under
statutory regulations for Council Tax and NonDomestic Rates that was projected to be received at
the start of the year and the income recognised under
generally accepted accounting practices in the Code.
This is a timing difference, as any difference will be
brought forward in future Surpluses or Deficits on the
Collection Fund.

064 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 160

Adjustments for Capital purposes
This column adds in depreciation and impairment and
revaluation gains and losses in the service line. For
other operating expenditure, it adjusts for capital
disposals with a transfer of income on disposal of
assets and the amounts written off for those assets.
For financing and investment income and
expenditure, it adjusts for the statutory charges for
capital financing and investment i.e. Minimum
Revenue Provision and other revenue contributions
are deducted from other income and expenditure as
these are not chargeable under generally accepted
accounting practices. For taxation and non-specific
grant income and expenditure, capital grants are
adjusted for income not chargeable under generally
accepted accounting practices. Revenue grants are
adjusted from those receivable in the year to those
receivable without conditions or for which conditions
were satisfied throughout the year. The taxation and
non-specific grant income and expenditure line is
credited with capital grants receivable in the year
without conditions or for which conditions were
satisfied in the year.

Note 8 Expenditure and Funding Analysis (continued)
EXPENDITURE AND INCOME ANALYSED BY NATURE
The Council’s expenditure and income is analysed by type in the table below:

The Council’s Fees, Charges and Other Service Income is analysed by type in the
table below:

2020/21

£’000

£’000

2019/20

260,518

£’000

1,197,961

(161,573)

23,400

(87,733)

250,943

Employee Benefits Expenses

705,004

Other Service Expenses

26,776

Interest Payments

Fees, Charges and Other Service Income

2020/21
£’000

Rent
Parking Income

(67,163)

Page 161

3,911

Payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool

2,397

(6,292)

2,506

Precepts and Levies

2,516

(73,921)

Schools Income

77,515

(18,684)

Commercial Waste

(7,684)

Road Management

(8,644)

77,407

Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairments

Planning Application Fees

(159,812)

(5,010)
(74,408)

1,031,308

Total Expenditure

1,564,307

(9,470)

(534,169)

Government Grants and Contributions

(909,403)

(47,798)

Other Income

(42,072)

(405,471)

Fees, Charges and Other Service Income

(364,793)

(405,471)

Total Income

(364,793)

(165,840)

Income from Council Tax, Non-Domestic Rates,
District Rate Income

(233,406)

(5,222)

Gains on the Disposal of Assets

(38,070)

(12,930)

Interest and Investment Income

(6,475)

(1,088,393)
(57,085)

Total Income
Surplus on the Provision of Services

(1,552,147)
12,160

Benefits paid during employment
Short-term employee benefits such as wages and salaries, paid annual leave, sick
leave and expenses are paid on a monthly basis and reflected as expenditure in the
relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

065 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

2019/20

Note 9 Section 75
Social Care

Any surplus or deficit generated from the
arrangement is the responsibility of the respective
partner to whom it is attributed and is shared in
proportion to the funding. The partner authorities
are responsible for managing the individual schemes
for which they have lead responsibility.

2019/20
WCC

CCGs

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

-

3,835

3,835

-

7,163

7,163

-

10,998

10,998

2020/21
s.75

WCC

CCGs

Total

£000s

£000s

£000s

Better Care Fund Lead Commissioning

-

3,747

3,747

Non - Better Care Fund

-

4,910

4,910

Total

-

8,657

8,657

066 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 162

The Council has entered into a non-pooled
partnership arrangement under section 75 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 with the Central
London and West London Clinical Commissioning
Groups for the provision of Adult Social Care and
Health Services with primary support needs of
physical support, mental health support, learning
disability support, support with memory and
cognition, social support and services to safeguard
adults. The aim is to meet the needs of people living
in the Westminster City Council area.

Gross expenditure incurred by the Council under the section 75 agreement was £8.657m in 2020/21 (£10.998 in
2019/20). Gross income received was £8.657m in 2020/21 (£10.998 in 2019/20). The reduction between the two
financial years is due to changes in the scope of the Better Care Fund programme.

Note 10 Officers’ Remuneration (including termination
benefits and members’ allowances)
Note 10a Senior Officers’ Remuneration
Remuneration disclosures for Senior Officers whose salary is £150,000 or more per year/statutory post/reports directly to Head of Paid Service (HoPS).

Deferred
Pay **

Private Health
Insurance /
Benefits in Kind

Pension
Contributions

Expenses

Compensation
for Loss of
Office

Total

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

Chief Executive - S Love

211,722

18,870

-

56,726

4,249

-

-

291,567

Executive Director of Finance Resources - G Almeroth

169,206

1,249

-

31,219

697

-

-

202,371

Executive Director Growth, Planning and Housing - B Brownlee

169,206

16,589

-

45,706

405

62

-

231,968

Bi Borough Executive Director of Adults Social Care - B Flaherty

169,206

16,589

3,024

46,449

-

-

-

235,268

Executive Director of City Management & Communities – S Sutton

144,102

12,356

1,750

38,919

291

-

-

197,418

48,669

16,589

-

16,054

-

7

-

81,319

Bi Borough Executive Director of Children's Services – S Newman

137,961

4,939

-

35,153

291

-

-

178,344

Executive Director of Policy, Performance and Communications - J Corkey

160,308

14,435

1,398

43,331

-

-

-

219,472

Her Majesty's Coroner - Inner West London - F Wilcox

162,935

-

4,874

40,789

-

-

-

208,598

Director of Public Health - H Al-Sharifi

251,663

-

-

-

-

-

-

251,663

Director of Law – T Shawkat

131,524

12,416

3,282

36,217

1,934

-

-

185,373

Director of People Services – L Witham

143,632

12,645

3,020

39,187

-

-

-

198,484

Page 163

Bi Borough Executive Director of Children's Services (Ex) – M Caslake

Election
Expenses

067 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Salary, Fees
and
Allowances *

2019-20

Note 10 Officers’ Remuneration (including termination benefits and members’ allowances) (continued)
2020/21

Notes

Salary, Fees
and
Allowances*

Deferred
Pay**

Private Health
Insurance /
Benefits in Kind

Pension
Contributions

Election
Expenses

Expenses

Compensation
for Loss of
Office

Total

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

£

Chief Executive - S Love

217,545

-

-

53,516

-

-

-

271,061

Executive Director of Finance Resources - G Almeroth

173,859

-

-

56,247

-

502

-

230,608

116,486

-

-

694

-

-

-

117,180

Executive Director Growth, Planning and Housing - D Jackson

B

116,687

-

-

29,083

-

-

-

145,770

Bi Borough Executive Director of Adults Social Care & Public Health - B Flaherty

C

182,319

-

2,795

45,538

-

-

-

230,652

Executive Director of City Management & Communities - Ex

D

87,188

-

1,008

21,695

-

-

-

109,891

Executive Director of City Management & Communities - R Mistry

E

85,452

-

-

21,021

-

-

-

106,473

Bi-Borough Executive Director of Children's Services - S. Newman

F

156,156

-

-

38,414

-

-

-

194,570

Executive Director of Policy, Performance and Communications - Ex

G

13,727

-

106

3,403

-

-

101,455

118,691

Interim Executive Director of Innovation & Change - Ex

H

106,218

-

-

-

-

-

-

106,218

Executive Director of Innovation & Change - P Wrobel

I

56,279

-

-

13,902

-

-

-

70,181

Her Majesty's Coroner - Inner West London - F Wilcox

J

166,898

-

-

41,757

-

-

-

208,655

Bi-Borough Interim Director of Public Health - Ex

K

118,944

-

-

-

-

-

-

118,944

Bi-Borough Interim Director of Public Health - R Styles

L

201,427

-

-

-

-

-

-

201,427

M

58,120

-

447

16,615

-

-

-

75,182

Director of Law - T Shawkat

137,307

-

3,076

34,534

67

-

-

174,984

Director of People Services - L. Witham

157,750

-

2,647

39,457

-

-

-

199,854

2,152,362

-

10,079

415,876

67

502

101,455

2,680,341

Bi-Borough Director of Public Health

Total

* Salary, Fees and Allowances include elements such as market forces supplement, honorarium.
** Deferred Pay is the full amount of this element paid in 2020/21

068 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

A

Page 164

Executive Director Growth, Planning and Housing - Ex

Note 10 Officers’ Remuneration (including termination benefits and members’ allowances) (continued)
A) The post holder ceased on 12 July 2020
B) The post holder commenced on 13 July 2020
C) The Bi-Borough Executive Director of Adult Social Care & Public Health is employed by Westminster City Council. The costs of this post are shared between the Royal Borough
of Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster City Council. The share was 50% RBKC, 50% WCC
D) The post holder ceased on 14 December 2020

F) The Bi-Borough Executive Director of Children's Services is employed by Westminster City Council. The costs of this post are shared between the Royal Borough of Kensington
& Chelsea and Westminster City Council. The share was 50% RBKC; 50% WCC
G) The post holder ceased on 30 April 2020. The Policy, Performance and Communications (PPC) directorate went through a restructure in 2020/21. This Executive post also
became defunct as part of that

Page 165

H) The post holder commenced on 29 June 2020 and ceased on 30 November 2020. This is part of the restructure of PPC directorate
I) The post holder commenced on 28 November 2020. This is part of the restructure of the PPC directorate
J) The post of Her Majesty's Coroner for the Inner West London Coroner's District is shared across four London boroughs based on population share. The current share based on
mid-2019 population per Borough is 27.0% Westminster, 21.9% Merton, 16.5% RBKC and 34.6% Wandsworth
K) The post holder ceased on 31 July 2020
L) The post holder commenced on 01 August 2020. The Bi-Borough Interim Director of Public Health is employed by Westminster City Council. The costs of this post are shared
between the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea and Westminster City Council. The share was 44% RBKC, 56% WCC
M) post holder commenced on 1st Oct 2020 on maternity leave throughout 2020/21

069 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

E) The post holder commenced on 14 September 2020

Note 10 Officers’ Remuneration (including termination benefits and members’ allowances) (continued)

Note 10b Other Employees with
Remuneration over £50,000
The Council’s other employees receiving more than
£50,000 remuneration for the year (excluding
employer’s pension contributions) were paid the
following amounts:

2019/20

2020/21

No of Employees

No of Employees
£50,000 - £54,999

233

151

£55,000 - £59,999

189

97

£60,000 - £64,999

104

48

£65,000 - £69,999

63

38

£70,000 - £74,999

40

32

£75,000 - £79,999

34

28

£80,000 - £84,999

24

13

£85,000 - £89,999

24

13

£90,000 - £94,999

14

8

£95,000 - £99,999

14

5

£100,000 - £104,999

6

2

£105,000 - £109,999

4

3

£110,000 - £114,999

7

6

£115,000 - £119,999

4

1

£120,000 - £124,999

1

1

£125,000 - £129,999

1

1

£130,000 - £134,999

2

2

£135,000 - £139,999

1

2

£140,000 - £144,999

4

1

£145,000 - £149,999

1

661

Total

770

070 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 166

209

Note 10 Officers’ Remuneration (including termination benefits and members’ allowances) (continued)
Note 10c Exit Packages
The number of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other redundancies are set out in the table below:
2019/20

2020/21

(c) Number of

(d) Total number of

Total cost of exit

(a) Exit package cost band

(b) Number of

(c) Number of

(d) Total number of

Total cost of exit

compulsory

other departures

exit packages by

packages in each

(including special payments)

compulsory

other departures

exit packages by

packages in each

redundancies

agreed

cost band [(b) + (c)]

band

redundancies

agreed

cost band [(b) + (c)]

band

42

-

42

305

£0 - £20,000

18

-

18

114

11

-

11

317

£20,001 - £40,000

7

-

7

214

2

-

2

105

£40,001 - £60,000

1

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

£60,001 - £80,000

-

-

-

-

1

-

1

89

£80,001 - £100,000

-

-

-

-

2

-

2

258

£100,001 - £150,000

1

-

1

101

1

-

1

199

£150,001 - £200,000

-

-

-

-

1

-

1

333

£300,001 - £350,000

-

-

-

-

60

-

60

1,606

Total

27

-

27

429

£’000

£’000

Page 167

The Council terminated the contracts of 27 employees in 2020/21. Of the total payment of £0.481m, there were no enhancements of retirement benefits.

Note 10d Termination Benefits
Termination benefits are payable following a decision by the Council to terminate an officer’s employment before their normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept
voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. Costs are charged on an accruals basis to the respective Service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement at the earlier of when the Council can no longer withdraw the offer of the benefits or when the Council recognises costs for a restructuring.
Where termination benefits include the enhancement of pension benefits, regulations require the General Fund to be charged with the amount payable to the pension fund
rather than the amount calculated under accounting standards. Entries are made in the Movement in Reserves Statement to transfer the accounting standards based entries to
the Pension Reserve and replace these with the amount payable to the pension fund.

Note 10e Members’ Allowances
The Council paid allowances to its members of £0.988m in 2020/21 (£0.967m in 2019/20).

071 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

(b) Number of

Note 11 External Audit Fees
The Council has incurred the following costs in relation
to the audit of the Statement of Accounts, certification
of grant claims and statutory inspections and to nonaudit services provided by the Council’s external
auditors:

2019/20

2020/21

£’000
143

£’000
Fees payable to external auditors with regard to external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor for
the year

143

Fees payable to external auditors for the certification of grant claims and returns for the year

15

Fees payable in respect of other services provided by external auditors during the year relating to 18/19 Audit

-

10

Fees payable in respect of Teacher's Pension audit

8

Fees payable in respect of audit of pooling of capital receipts

5

5
211

Total

36

192

Page 168

072 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

38

Note 12 Dedicated Schools Grant
Central
Expenditure

Individual
Schools Budget

Total 2020/21

Total 2019/20

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Final DSG before Academy Recoupment

160,678

154,211

Academy figure recouped

(71,585)

(67,642)

89,093

86,569

2,382

2,581

(2,382)

(2,581)

Total DSG after Academy recoupment

Plus: Brought forward
Less: Carry forward projected
Agreed initial budgeted distribution

Page 169

Details of the Schools Budget funded by DSG
receivable for 2020/21 are as follows:

24,585

64,508

89,093

86,569

-

(2,459)

(2,459)

(2,885)

24,585

62,049

86,634

83,684

(25,025)

-

(25,025)

(20,067)

Less Actual ISB deployed to schools

-

(61,605)

(61,605)

(64,188)

(Drawdown from)/Contribution to DSG Reserve

-

-

-

372

(440)

444

4

(199)

2,386

2,382

In year adjustments
Final budgeted distribution

Less Actual central expenditure

Estimated Carry Forward to 2021/22
Total

073 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The council’s expenditure on schools is funded
primarily by grant monies provided by the
Education and Skills Funding Agency, the
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). DSG is
ringfenced and can only be applied to meet
expenditure properly included in the schools
budget, as defined in the School Finance and
Early Years (England) (No 2) Regulations 2018.
The schools budget includes elements for a
range of educational services provided on an
authority-wide basis and for the individual
schools budget (ISB), which is divided into a
budget share for each maintained school.

Note 13 Grant Income
The Council credited the following grants,
contributions and donations to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement in 2020/21.

2019/20
£’000
(13,298)

Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income

2020/21
£’000

Non-Ringfenced Government Grants (Revenue)
Section 31 Grant*

(361,845)

Revenue Support Grant

(30,119)

-

Local government income compensation scheme for lost sales, fees and charges

(28,008)

(9,125)

Covid 19 Grant

(20,010)

(8,370)

New Homes Bonus

(6,237)

(3,426)

Collection Allowance – Business Rates and Business Rates Supplement

(3,417)

(34,219)

Sub-Total

(449,636)

* Section 31 Grant has increased to compensate for loss of Business Rate income arising from Covid-19 pandemic in 2020/21 and 2021/22

074 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 170

-

Note 13 Grant Income (continued)
2019/20

Credited to Services

£’000

2020/21
£’000

(191,393)

Housing Benefits Subsidy

(183,606)

(83,684)

Dedicated Schools Grant

(86,635)

(30,425)

Public Health Grant

(31,593)

(19,444)

Better Care Funding - Clinical Commissioning Group element

(17,738)

(15,807)

Improved Better Care Funding Programme*

(17,130)

Winter Pressures Grant*

(2,260)

Social Care Support Grant

(9,155)

(6,869)

Homelessness Grants

(9,140)

(8,307)

Education and Skills Funding Agency Grant

(7,635)

(4,338)

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Grant

(5,561)

(4,095)

Pupil Premium Grant

(3,832)

S106 Contributions

(2,571)

(1,538)

DFE Teachers Pay Grant & Teachers’ Pensions Employment Contributions Grant

(2,485)

(1,078)

Discretionary Housing Payments Grant

(1,466)

Cross River Partnership

(1,455)

Housing Benefit Subsidy Administration Grant

(1,312)

-

(1,241)
-

DWP Grants

-

(840)

(903)

Universal Infant Free School Meals**

-

(893)

Troubled Families grants**

-

(7,869)

Other Government Grants**

(3,022)

Other Non-Government grants and contributions

(384,489)

Sub-Total

(11,118)
(189)
(393,461)

*Improved Better Care Funding Programme includes the Winter Pressures Grant; this was disclosed separately in
2019/20.
** Other Government grants in 2020/21 consist of 48 grants (including 2 disclosed separately in 2019/20), none of
which individually are over £1m.

075 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 171

(1,323)

Note 13 Grant Income (continued)

2019/20

Credited to Services – Covid Related

£’000

2020/21
£’000

Contain Outbreak Management Fund (COMF)

(4,129)

-

LA Test and Trace Service Support Grant

(2,891)

-

Homelessness

(2,703)

-

Next Steps Accommodation Programme

-

Other Government Grants

-

Sub-Total

Page 172

(418,708)

Total

(912)
(5,078)
(15,713)
(858,810)

076 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

-

Note 13 Grant Income (continued)

2019/20

Capital Grants and Contributions

2020/21

Community Infrastructure Levy

(20,141)

£’000
(38,368)

£’000

GLA Contributions

(8,640)

(2,483)

S106 Contributions - General

(7,497)

S278 Contributions

(5,878)

(6,556)

Transport for London Grants

(2,958)

(1,857)

DfE Grants

(1,847)

Utilities Company contribution to Planned
Maintenance

(1,234)

Disabled Facilities Grant

(1,189)

(18,486)

Page 173

(1,452)
(37,330)

S106 Contributions - Affordable Housing Fund
General Fund

-

(1,026)

Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea
Contributions

-

(1,827)

Other Capital Grants & Contributions

(115,461)

Total

(1,209)
(50,593)

077 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

(6,076)

Note 13 Grant Income (continued)
2019/20

Capital Grants Receipts in Advance (Non-Current)

2020/21

(54,353)

S106/ S278 Contributions*

(78,683)

-

BEIS Decarbonisation Fund

(12,999)

-

Affordable Housing Fund

(2,252)

(26,119)

GLA Regeneration Grant*

(2,065)

Special Provision Capital Fund (DfE)

(1,290)

City of London SIP

(1,125)

£’000

(1,503)
-

Basic Need Grant

(622)

Other Government Grants

(850)

Other Grants and Contributions

Page 174

(84,541)

Total

2019/20

Revenue Grants and Contributions Receipts in Advance (Current)

£’000

(342)
(3,127)
(7)
(101,890)

2020/21
£’000

-

Housing Benefit Subsidy*

(4,468)

-

Contain Outbreak Management Fund (Covid)

(2,180)

(9,183)
(267)
(1,376)
(658)
(11,484)

Section 31 Grant

-

New Homes Bonus*

-

Other Government Grants*
Other Non Government Grants and Contributions
Total

(3,409)
(586)
(10,643)

*New Homes Bonus, disclosed separately in 2019/20 has been included in Other Government Grants in 2020/21.
Housing Benefit Subsidy, included in Other Government Grants in 2019/20 at £0.103m, is now disclosed separately.

078 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

(1,094)

£’000

Note 14 Agency Services
2019/20

2019/20

2020/21

2020/21

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Transport for London
(7,190)

Contributions

7,190

Expenditure
-

(3,330)
3,330

(Surplus)/ Deficit

INNER WEST LONDON CORONER’S
DISTRICT

1,523

Expenditure

Page 175

394

(1,239)
1,704

(Surplus)/ Deficit

465

Collection of Mayoral CIL
(16,139)

Contributions
(646)

(8,698)

Proportion retained by WCC (see note)

(348)

Thames Water
(4,492)
3,486
(1,006)
(1,258)

Contributions

-

Expenditure

-

(Surplus)/ Deficit
Net Surplus

117

The Inner West London Coroner's District was set up
by statute and provides services to four local
authorities (Kensington & Chelsea, Merton,
Wandsworth and Westminster City Council).
During the year £1.70m of expenditure was incurred
by the Coroners Service towards which contributions
were received or accrued totalling £1.24m from the
other three local authorities this year. The balance of
£0.46m is Westminster's contribution to the service.

079 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Contributions

Transport for London reimburses the council for
works undertaken on the highway which aim to
promote sustainable transport and improve the
public realm, including traffic management schemes.
During 2020/21 £3.33m of works were undertaken
for TFL.

-

Inner West London Coroner's District
(1,129)

TRANSPORT FOR LONDON

Note 14 Agency Services (continued)
COLLECTION OF MAYORAL CIL
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a planning charge, introduced by the Planning Act 2008, as a tool for
local authorities in England and Wales to help deliver infrastructure to support the development of their area. The
Levy was ratified on 29th February 2012 and applies to developments agreed after 1st April 2012.
The CIL is charged on most developments in Central London at the following rate:

The collection of the CIL is delegated to the relevant planning authority in each administrative area and the
planning authority is able to retain 4% of the levy to cover the costs of administration and collection.

Page 176

During 2020/21, Mayoral CIL contributions of £8.70m is forecast to be received, the balance of £0.35m is
retained by Westminster to cover administrative costs.

THAMES WATER
Up until 31st March 2020 the council charged its Housing tenants for water rates on behalf of Thames Water. The
amount repayable to Thames Water was reduced by a commission, void rate, arrears and bad debt provision, all
at fixed percentages based on the total water charge.
In August 2018 Thames Water Utilities issued Westminster City Council (WCC) with notification of their decision
to bring customer billing back in-house. From 31st March 2020, WCC no longer collects tenant water charges on
their behalf. WCC is not alone in this change to be implemented by Thames Water, as the billing process was
being brought back in-house from local authorities across the board.

080 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

• Zone 1 boroughs - £50 per square metre: Camden, City of London, City of Westminster, Hammersmith and
Fulham, Islington, Kensington and Chelsea, Richmond-upon-Thames, Wandsworth.

Page 177

Note 15 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and
Funding Basis Under Regulations
The resources available to the Council in any financial year and the expenses that are charged against those resources are specified by statute (the Local Government Act
2003 and the 2003 Regulations). Where the statutory provisions differ from the accruals basis used in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,
adjustments to the accounting treatment are made in the Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS) so that usable reserves reflect the funding available at the year-end.
Unusable reserves are created to manage the timing differences between the accounting and funding bases. The material adjustments are:
Funding Basis in MiRS

Adjustment Account

Property, plant and Equipment

Depreciation and revaluation/impairment losses

Minimum revenue provision (MRP) to cover historical cost
determined in accordance with the 2003 Regulations

Capital Adjustment Account

Intangible Assets

Amortisation and impairment

Minimum revenue provision (MRP) to cover historical cost
determined in accordance with the 2003 Regulations

Capital Adjustment Account

Investment Properties

Movements in fair value

Minimum revenue provision (MRP) to cover historical cost
determined in accordance with the 2003 Regulations

Capital Adjustment Account

Revenue Expenditure Funded
from Capital under Statute

Expenditure incurred in 2020/21

Minimum revenue provision (MRP) to cover historical cost
determined in accordance with the 2003 Regulations

Capital Adjustment Account

Capital Grants and Contributions

Grants that became unconditional in 2020/21 or were
received in 2020/21 without conditions

No credit

Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve (amounts
unapplied at 31 March 2020)
Capital Adjustment Account (other amounts)

Financial Instruments

Premiums payable and discounts receivable on the early
repayment of borrowing in 2020/21
Losses on soft loans granted in 2020/21and interest
receivable in 2020/21 on an amortised cost basis

Deferred debits and credits of premiums and discounts from earlier
years in accordance with the 2003 Regulations
Interest due to be received on soft loans in 2020/21

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account

Pooled Investments

Movements in the fair value of pooled investment funds

Historical cost gains/losses for money market fund investments
disposed of in 2020/21

Pooled Investment Funds Adjustment
Account

Pensions Costs

Movements in pensions assets and liabilities (see Note 31)

Employer’s pensions contributions payable and direct payments
made by the Council to pensioners for 2020/21

Pensions Reserve

Council Tax

Accrued income from 2020/21 bills

Demand on the Collection Fund for 2020/21 plus share of estimated
surplus for 2019/20

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

Business Rates

Accrued income from 2020/21 bills

Budgeted income receivable from the Collection Fund for 2020/21
plus share of estimated surplus for 2019/20

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

Dedicated Schools Grant

Expenditure incurred in 2020/21 to be met from Dedicated
Schools Grant

Expenditure incurred up to the amount receivable for 2020/21

Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment
Account

Holiday Pay

Projected cost of untaken leave entitlements at 31 March
2021

No charge

Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account

082 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Accounting Basis in CIES

Page 178

Expense

Note 15 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under Regulations (continued)
2019/20

Usable Reserves
General
Fund
Balance

Housing
Revenue
Account

Capital
Receipts
Reserve

Major
Repairs
Reserve

Capital
Grants
Unapplied

Unusable
Reserves

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(322)

59

-

-

-

263

(17,022)

-

-

-

-

17,022

Pensions Reserve
Collection Fund Adjustment Account

Relevant Unusable Reserve*

Adjustments to Revenue Resources

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account /
Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve

Page 179

·

Financial instruments

·

Pensions costs

·

Council tax

6,597

-

-

-

-

(6,597)

·

Holiday pay

(198)

(163)

-

-

-

361

·

Capital expenditure

11,411

12,562

(23,481)

(23,331)

(75,354)

98,193

Capital Adjustment Account

14,002

-

51,757

23,331

68,819

(157,909)

Capital Adjustment Account

(3,766)

(50)

3,816

-

-

-

815

-

(455)

-

-

(360)

11,517

12,408

31,637

-

(6,535)

(49,027)

Accumulated Absences Account

Capital and Revenue Financing
Resources set aside for capital financing
Use of capital receipts for revenue purposes

Recognition and transfer on realisation of deferred capital receipts

Total adjustments

*Details of movements in unusable reserves are in note 16.

Deferred Capital Receipts

083 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement differ from increases/decreases in
revenue for the year calculated in accordance with statutory requirements:

Note 15 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under Regulations (continued)
2020/21

Usable Reserves
General Fund
Balance

Housing
Revenue
Account

Capital
Receipts
Reserve

Major
Repairs
Reserve

Capital
Grants
Unapplied

Unusable
Reserves

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Relevant Unusable Reserve*

Adjustments to Revenue Resources

Financial instruments

(1,070)

49

-

-

-

1,021

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account

·

Pensions costs

(9,651)

-

-

-

-

9,651

Pensions Reserve

·

Collection Fund

(444,355)

-

-

-

-

444,355

·

Holiday pay

37

(101)

-

-

-

64

·

Capital expenditure

(62,918)

15,036

(3,123)

(24,608)

(17,651)

93,264

Capital Adjustment Account

Resources set aside for capital financing

19,307

-

-

24,608

75,776

(119,691)

Capital Adjustment Account

Use of capital receipts for revenue purposes

(2,396)

1,224

1,172

-

-

-

(588)

6,867

(147)

-

-

(6,132)

(501,634)

23,075

(2,098)

-

58,125

422,532

Page 180

·

Collection Fund Adjustment Account
Accumulated Absences Account

Capital and Revenue Financing

Recognition and transfer on realisation of deferred capital
receipts
Total adjustments

*Details of movements in unusable reserves are in Note 16.

Deferred Capital Receipts

084 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Amounts by which income and expenditure included in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement differ from
increases / decreases in revenue for the year calculated in
accordance with statutory requirements:

Note 16 Unusable Reserves
Adjustments between Accounting and
Funding Basis
Unusable Reserves

Other Comprehensive

Adjustments to

Capital and Revenue

Income and

Revenue

Financing

Expenditure 2018/19

Resources

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(450,758)

(67,299)

-

-

18,384

(499,673)

Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve

1,383

-

(620)

-

-

763

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account

1,634

-

883

-

-

2,517

Pensions Reserve

701,679

(93,911)

17,022

-

-

624,790

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

(17,763)

-

(6,597)

-

-

(24,360)

1,490

-

361

-

-

1,851

(1,869,056)

-

139,013

(198,729)

(18,384)

(1,947,156)

(2,352)

-

-

(360)

-

(2,712)

(1,633,743)

(161,210)

150,062

(199,089)

-

(1,843,980)

Page 181

Accumulated Absences Account
Capital Adjustment Account
Deferred Capital Receipts
Total

Other Movements

Closing Balance
31 March 2020

085 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Revaluation Reserve

Opening Balance 1 April 2019

Note 16 Unusable Reserves (continued)
Adjustments between Accounting
and Funding Basis
Unusable Reserves

Opening Balance 1 April 2020

Other

Adjustments to

Capital and

Other

Closing Balance

Comprehensive

Revenue

Revenue

Movements

31 March 2021

Income and

Resources

Financing

Expenditure 2020/21
£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(499,673)

(5,456)

-

-

14,688

(490,441)

2,517

-

-

-

-

2,517

763

-

1,021

-

-

1,784

Pensions Reserve

624,790

70,502

9,651

-

-

704,943

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

(24,360)

-

444,355

-

-

419,995

1,851

-

64

-

-

1,915

(1,947,156)

-

186,853

(213,280)

(14,688)

(1,988,271)

(2,712)

-

-

(6,132)

(1,843,980)

65,046

641,944

(219,412)

Revaluation Reserve
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account
Financial Instruments Revaluation

Page 182

Accumulated Absences Account
Capital Adjustment Account
Deferred Capital Receipts
Total

-

(8,844)
-

(1,356,402)

086 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

£’000

Note 17 Transfer to/from Earmarked Reserves
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Earmarked reserves are created by appropriating amounts out of the
General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Where expenditure has been incurred which is to be financed from an earmarked reserve, the expenditure is charged to the relevant service within the Surplus or Deficit on the
Provision of Services within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. An amount is then transferred from the earmarked reserve to the General Fund Balance via
an entry in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

Reclassification

Transfers
Out

Transfers
In

31 March 2020

Reclassification

Transfers
Out

Transfers
In

31 March 2021

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Adults Services Reserve

(11,700)

(96)

-

(1,297)

(13,093)

-

147

-

(12,946)

Business Rate Equalisation Reserve

(48,948)

-

-

-

(48,948)

9,000

-

-

(39,948)

Business Rates net contribution to the pool, timing
difference

(6,000)

-

-

-

(6,000)

-

-

-

(6,000)

Children's Services Reserve

(5,534)

(50)

1,959

(1,267)

(4,892)

-

2,149

(999)

(3,742)

-

(5,000)

180

-

(4,820)

Page 183

1 April 2019

Climate Change Reserve
Contract Risk Reserve

(11,713)

7,175

530

(12,117)

(16,125)

4,946

-

-

(11,179)

-

-

-

(10,000)

(10,000)

(9,125)

9,125

(4,554)

(14,554)

Dedicated Schools Grant

(2,581)

-

1,048

(849)

(2,382)

-

-

(183)

(2,565)

Digitalisation/Smart City Reserve

(5,000)

-

-

-

(5,000)

(6,873)

-

-

(11,873)

Economic recession not covered by safety net

(7,000)

-

-

-

(7,000)

(7,000)

-

-

(14,000)

Economy and Enterprise Reserve

(1,893)

-

307

-

(1,586)

-

469

-

(1,117)

Housing Benefits Reserve

(1,000)

-

-

-

(1,000)

-

-

-

(1,000)

Infrastructure reserve

(23,674)

1

71

-

(23,602)

5,000

-

-

(18,602)

Insurance Reserve

(13,421)

-

712

-

(12,709)

-

4,494

(3,713)

(11,928)

Invest to Save Reserve

(23,788)

-

165

(4,500)

(28,123)

-

1,139

-

(26,984)

(2,295)

-

-

(54)

(2,349)

-

-

(169)

(2,518)

Covid 19 Reserve

Learning and Skills Council Reserve

087 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Earmarked Reserves

Note 17 Transfer to/from Earmarked Reserves (continued)
Earmarked Reserves

Reclassification

Transfers
Out

Transfers
In

31 March
2020

Reclassification

Transfers
Out

Transfers
In

31 March 2021

(8,000)

-

-

-

(8,000)

8,000

-

-

-

(10,687)

(13,738)

-

-

(24,425)

(1,472)

-

(22,635)

(48,532)

My Westminster

-

(3,324)

878

-

(2,446)

-

664

(3,000)

(4,782)

Pension Deficit Equalisation Reserve

-

-

-

-

-

(9,000)

-

-

(9,000)

Property Reserve

(3,404)

-

-

-

(3,404)

(4,424)

-

-

(7,828)

Public Health Reserve

(6,275)

-

989

-

(5,286)

-

-

(464)

(5,750)

Recognising S31 grants in future years due to
timing difference

(6,000)

-

-

-

(6,000)

-

-

-

(6,000)

Redundancy and Reorganisation

(2,701)

-

174

-

(2,527)

(2,601)

128

-

(5,000)

Revenue Receipts in Advance without conditions

(3,387)

1,185

1,014

-

(1,188)

1,189

(1)

-

-

Smoothing out business rates timing differences

(24,000)

-

-

-

(24,000)

7,000

-

-

(17,000)

(340)

(1)

16

(30)

(355)

(368)

17

-

(706)

(16,830)

14,499

-

(3,307)

(5,638)

5,508

130

-

-

-

(10,782)

6,863

(5,511)

(9,430)

-

3,805

(5,654)

(11,279)

(21,727)

5,131

3,061

(12,023)

(25,558)

5,220

1,546

(5,332)

(24,124)

(267,898)

-

17,787

(50,955)

(301,066)

-

23,992

(46,703)

(323,777)

Modernisation Reserve
MRP Equalisation Reserve

Page 184

Statues Reserves
Transformation Reserve
Temporary Accommodation Reserve
Other Council Reserves
Total General Fund Reserves
Business Rates Deficit Section 31*

-

-

-

-

-

-

(444,349)

(444,349)

HRA Earmarked Reserves

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

17,787

(50,955)

(301,066)

-

23,992

(491,052)

(768,126)

Total Reserves

(267,898)

-

*Business Rates Deficit Section S31 reserve includes; £370m S31 grant received (including income compensation paid by government for large loss in business rates income);
£57m surplus received in 20/21 but relating to prior years; and £16m safety net payment to bring the council back to its baseline budget. The reserve will be used to mitigate
business rates shortfalls in future years

088 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

1 April 2019

Note 17 Transfer to/from Earmarked Reserves (continued)

The Adults’ Services Reserve is provided to
support joint working with the CCG (Clinical
Commissioning Group) to support vulnerable
Adults within the borough and assist them in
living independent lives.

The Transformation Reserve is provided to
finance the transformation of the Council’s
services as required to achieve leading edge
service and financial provision

Page 185

The Infrastructure Reserve is provided to
support improvements to the Council’ buildings,
estates, highways and related matters allowing
more flexible and industrious use of these
premises
The Economy and Enterprise Reserve supports
the creation of innovative economic
development projects to deliver growth and
regeneration within Westminster.
The Modernisation Reserve is provided to
support bringing the Council, where necessary,
up to modern standards
The Insurance Reserve is established in order to
finance costs (e.g. claims and premium
payments) associated with insurable risk. The
reserve meets expenditure relating to various
types of future claims which are not covered by
the Insurance Fund.

The Redundancy and Re-organisation Reserve
are provided to support staffing cost
implications of service transformation
programmes.
The Council has a number of Business Rates
Reserves for planned future spending based on
presumed business rates income that is yet to
materialise. The Council has agreed to create a
Business Rates Equalisation Reserve (BRER) to
utilise in future years if the Council loses out on
funding from the Business Rates Baseline reset
and to smooth out Business Rates income
caused by timing differences. It is proposed that
the council place additional reserves into the
BRER to counteract timing difference caused by
the net contribution to the business rate pool,
section 31 grant payments from central
government and the impact of economic
recession not covered by the SafetyNet
payment. These reserves ensure that that if
future business rates income falls short of the
expected sums, the reserve can be drawn upon.
The Housing Benefit Earmarked Reserve relates
to the carry forward of an unspent budget to
support HB payments while options to absorb
the planned reduction in Discretionary Housing
Benefit payment from government are
considered.

The Property Modernisation Reserve is to
enhance to Council’s operational estate.
The Receipts in Advance Reserve relates to
grant monies received in prior years, which do
not have conditions but which is planned to be
spent on its original purpose.
The Statues and Monuments Reserve is in place
to provide the funds to maintain some of the
many statues within Westminster.
The Children’s Reserve’s support projects within
Children’s services.
The Contracts Risk Reserve is held to protect
the Council from any impact should any of its
contracted services go into administration.
The Corporate Risk Reserve is to protect the
Council against the risk of external factors such
as economic shocks and other potential
national issues or crises.
Other Council Reserves represent minor
balances.
Ring-Fenced Revenue Reserves represent
carried forward funding, including Schools
balances from the Dedicated Schools Grant
(DSG), grant funding of the Adult Education
Service from the Learning Skills Council (LSC) to
match expenditure in line with the academic
year.

089 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Digitalisation Reserve is in place to deliver
enhanced digital services.

The Invest to Save Reserve represents a sum set
aside to generate long term financial benefits
from pump-priming financial resources.

Page 186

Note 18a Capital Contractual Commitments
At 31 March 2021, the Council has entered into a
number of contracts for the construction or
enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment in
future years. The major commitments amounting to
£1m or more are as follows and equivalent figures
have been provided for 31 March 2021:

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£’000

£’000
FM Conway Various Public Realm Schemes

30,299

70,000

Axis

16,660

70,000

United Living

60,000

16,954

Precision Lifts

14,532

8,000

Effectable

6,000

Page 187

23,100

Oakray

19,800

13,650

GEM

11,700

2,558
15,502
1,977
18,910

Beachcroft House

-

West End Gate

10,502

Ashbridge, Ashmill & Cosway Street

34,381

Parsons North

5,429

3,457

Lisson Grove Refurbishment

-

8,835

Tollgate

-

-

Lisson Arches

18,494

-

Lanark Road

1,766

-

300 Harrow Road

2,465

266,555

Total

232,028

091 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

13,612

Note 18b Revaluations
The Council carries out a rolling programme that
ensures that all Property, Plant and Equipment
required to be measured at fair value is revalued at
least every five years. Sanderson Weatherall
undertook valuations on behalf of the Council in
2020/21 for operational property and investment
property. HRA stock was valued at 31 March 2021.

Council
Dwellings

Other Land and
Buildings (HRA)

Other Land and
Buildings (GF)

Investment
Property

Heritage Assets

Vehicles, Plant,
Furniture and
Equipment

Infrastructure
Assets

Community
Assets

Total

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

2,012

67,740

-

44,578

42,542

461,101

27,691

645,664

.

-

Different Valuations are applied to
different asset classes.

-

31st March 2021

1,562,036

95,450

529,382

467,386

-

-

-

-

2,654,254

31st March 2020

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

31st March 2019

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

31st March 2018

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

31st March 2017

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

31st March 2016

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

31st March 2015

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,562,036

97,462

597,122

467,386

44,578

42,542

461,101

27,691

3,299,918

Total Cost or Valuation

092 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 188

Held at Historic Cost and at
depreciated historic cost

The valuations of land and buildings were carried out
in accordance with the methodologies and bases for
estimation set out in the professional standards of
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
Valuations concerning vehicles, plant, furniture and
equipment are based on current prices where there
is an active second-hand market or latest list prices,
with consideration given for the condition of the
asset.

Note 18c Property, Plant and Equipment

Page 189

Property, plant and equipment is recognised where
the initial cost or value exceeds £10,000.
Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:
• the purchase price
• any costs attributable to bringing the asset
to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management
• the cost of dismantling and removing the
item and restoring the site on which it is
located
Infrastructure, community assets, assets under
construction and vehicles, plant and equipment are
then carried in the Balance Sheet at depreciated
historic cost. Other categories of Property, Plant and
Equipment are subsequently re-measured at existing
use or fair value – see General Principles within Note
1 for details. Assets are revalued sufficiently
regularly to ensure that their carrying amount is not
materially different from their current value at the
year-end, but as a minimum every five years. Assets

are revalued in accordance with the methodologies
and requirements of the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors.
Revaluation
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the
Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised gains.
Where decreases in value are identified, they are
accounted for as follows:
•

•

where there is a balance of revaluation gains for
the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the
carrying amount of the asset is written down
against that balance (up to the amount of the
accumulated gains)
where there is no balance in the Revaluation
Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying
amount of the asset is written down against the
relevant service line(s) in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.

The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains
recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its
formal implementation. Gains arising before that
date have been consolidated into the Capital
Adjustment Account.
Impairment
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether
there is any indication that an asset may be
impaired. Where indications exist and possible
differences are estimated to be material, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and,
where this is less than the carrying amount of the
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the
shortfall. Where impairment losses are identified,

they are accounted for in the same way as
revaluation losses. When an asset is disposed of or
decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset
in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, Plant and
Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to
the Other Operating Expenditure line in the CIES
against any receipts arising from the disposal as a
gain or loss on disposal.
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant
and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation of
their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An
exception is made for assets without a determinable
finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain
Community Assets) and assets that are not yet
available for use (i.e. assets under construction).
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:
•

Buildings - straight-line allocation over the
useful life of the property as estimated by a
qualified valuer;
• HRA dwellings are depreciated based upon
component accounting basis. In the year of
disposal a full year’s depreciation is charged
to the accounts and nothing in the year of
acquisition;
• Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment - a
percentage of the value of each class of
assets in the Balance Sheet, as advised by a
suitably qualified officer;
• Infrastructure - straight-line allocation over
10 - 15 years.
Where an asset is material and has major
components whose cost is significant to the total

093 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or
enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is
probable that the future economic benefits or
service potential associated with the item will flow
to the Council and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but
does not add to an asset's potential to deliver future
economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs
and maintenance) is charged as an expense when it
is incurred.

cost of the asset and have markedly different useful
lives, the components are depreciated separately.
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an
amount equal to the difference between current
value depreciation charged on assets and the
depreciation that would have been chargeable
based on their historical cost being transferred each
year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital
Adjustment Account.

Any disposal receipts in excess of £10,000 are
categorised as capital receipts and must be credited
to the Capital Receipts Reserve. A proportion of
receipts relating to housing disposals must be paid
to the Government.
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge
against council tax but is subject to separate
arrangements for capital financing. Amounts
reflected in the CIES are appropriated to the Capital
Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves
Statement.

094 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 190

Disposals
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned,
the carrying amount of the asset is de-recognised in
the Balance Sheet. This amount, net of any receipts
from disposal, are accounted for as a gain or loss on
disposal and taken to the Other Operating
Expenditure line in the CIES. Any revaluation gains
previously accounted for in the Revaluation Reserve
are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Minimum Revenue Provision
The Council is not required to use Council Tax to
fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment
losses or amortisation of non-current assets.
However, it is required to make an annual
contribution from revenue towards provision for the
reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal
to either an amount calculated on a prudent basis or
as determined by the Council in accordance with
statutory guidance.

Note 18c Property, Plant and Equipment – Movement of
Balances in 2019/20
Other Land
and Buildings
(HRA)

Other Land
and Buildings
(GF)

Vehicles,
Plant,
Furniture and
Equipment

Infrastructure
Assets

Community
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

Service
Concession
Assets
Included in
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

1,468,136

124,467

498,868

76,685

530,659

23,134

143,079

2,865,028

6,687

-

-

-

(40,540)*

(142,185)*

-

-

(182,725)

-

1,468,136

124,467

498,868

36,145

388,474

23,134

143,079

2,682,303

6,687

Additions

67,679

35

30,037

4,375

50,287

1,965

70,463

224,841

-

Revaluation Increases/(Decreases) recognised in the
Revaluation Reserve

16,356

5,072

4,867

-

-

-

-

26,295

8,058

Revaluation Increases/(Decreases) recognised in the
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

(5,116)

(890)

(24,527)

-

-

-

-

(30,533)

-

Derecognition – disposals

(7,161)

(7,486)

(153)

-

-

-

(357)

(15,157)

-

-

(47)

(2,802)

-

(36,630)*

-

(832)

(40,311)

-

9,450

(2,194)

50,774

-

2

2

(59,550)

(1,516)

-

1,549,344

118,957

557,064

40,520

402,133

25,101

152,803

2,845,922

14,745

Cost of Valuation
At 1 April 2019

Page 191

Prior year adjustment*
At 1 April 2019 Restated

Derecognition - other
Other Movement in Cost or Valuation
At 31 March 2020

095 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Council
Dwellings

Note 18c Property, Plant and Equipment – Movement of Balances in 2019/20 (continued)
Other Land
and Buildings
(HRA)

Other Land
and Buildings
(GF)

Vehicles,
Plant,
Furniture and
Equipment

Infrastructure
Assets

Community
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

Service
Concession
Assets
Included in
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

At 1 April 2019

-

(1,765)

(1,173)

(68,582)

(284,317)

-

-

(355,837)

(4,508)

Prior year adjustment*

-

-

-

40,540*

142,185*

-

-

182,725

-

At 1 April 2019 Restated

-

(1,765)

(1,173)

(28,042)

(142,132)

(173,112)

(4,508)

(17,266)

(2,688)

(23,219)

(2,842)

(31,392)

-

-

(77,407)

(630)

17,266

2,834

19,172

-

-

-

-

39,272

-

Depreciation written out to the Surplus/Deficit on
the Provision of Services

-

-

4,393

-

-

-

-

4,393

-

Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

-

343

106

-

-

-

-

449

-

Derecognition - other

-

-

-

-

36,630*

-

-

36,630

-

Derecognition - Disposals

-

1,275

720

(2)

-

-

(716)

1277

-

At 31 March 2020

-

(1)

(1)

(30,886)

(136,894)

-

(716)

(168,498)

(5,138)

At 31 March 2020

1,549,344

118,956

557,063

9,634

265,239

25,101

152,087

2,677,424

9,607

At 31 March 2019

1,468,136

122,702

497,695

8,103

246,342

23,134

143,079

2,509,191

2,179

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment

Page 192

Depreciation Charge
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve

Net Book Value:

*The Council has carried out a data cleanse exercise, leading to the write out of a number of infrastructure and vehicles, plant and equipment assets with £nil net book value,
but with gross book value of £221m. This change does not affect the balance sheet. The Prior Period Adjustment (PPA) better reflects the timings of these assets ceasing to be
used by the Council.

096 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Council
Dwellings

Note 18c Property, Plant and Equipment – Movement of
Balances in 2020/21
Other Land
and Buildings
(HRA)

Other Land
and Buildings
(GF)

Vehicles,
Plant,
Furniture and
Equipment

Infrastructure
Assets

Community
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

Service
Concession
Assets
Included in
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

1,549,344

118,957

557,064

40,520

402,133

25,101

152,803

2,845,922

14,745

64,754

79

25,899

1,372

60,503

2,283

83,620

238,510

-

Revaluation Increases/(Decreases) recognised in the
Revaluation Reserve

(45,531)

(1,298)

18,843

-

-

-

-

Revaluation Increases/(Decreases) recognised in the
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

(15,528)

(744)

(15,199)

-

-

-

(3,536)

(8,661)

(5,393)

-

-

-

(7,902)

(25,492)

(8)

Derecognition – Other

-

-

-

-

(1,718)

-

-

(1,718)

-

Assets reclassified (to)/from assets held for sale

-

-

-

-

-

-

(11,351)

(11,351)

-

12,533

(10,871)

15,908

650

183

307

(18,869)

(159)

-

1,562,036

97,462

597,122

42,542

461,101

27,691

198,301

2,986,255

14,809

Cost of Valuation

Page 193

At 1 April 2020
Additions

Derecognition – Disposals

Other movement in Cost or Valuation
At 31 March 2021

-

(27,986)
(31,471)

72
-

097 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Council
Dwellings

Note 18c Property, Plant and Equipment – Movement of Balances in 2020/21 (continued)
Other Land
and Buildings
(HRA)

Other Land
and Buildings
(GF)

Vehicles,
Plant,
Furniture and
Equipment

Infrastructure
Assets

Community
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

Service
Concession
Assets
Included in
Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

(1)

(1)

(30,886)

(136,894)

-

(716)

(168,498)

(5,138)

(17,364)

(2,774)

(23,129)

(3,718)

(30,202)

-

-

(77,187)

-

17,364

2,370

13,708

-

-

-

-

33,442

-

Accumulated Impairment written out to the
Revaluation Reserve

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Depreciation losses/(reversals) recognised in the
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

-

118

2,734

-

-

-

2,852

-

Derecognition - Disposals

-

157

1,408

-

-

-

716

2,281

-

Derecognition - Other

-

-

-

-

1,718

-

-

1,718

-

Other Movements in Depreciation and Impairments

-

(26)

389

-

-

-

-

363

-

At 31 March 2021

-

(156)

(4,891)

(34,604)

(165,378)

-

-

(205,029)

(5,138)

At 31 March 2021

1,562,036

97,306

592,231

7,938

295,723

27,691

198,301

2,781,226

9,671

At 31 March 2020

1,549,344

118,956

557,063

9,634

265,239

25,101

152,087

2,677,424

9,607

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment
At 1 April 2020
Depreciation Charge

Page 194

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve

-

Net Book Value:

098 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Council
Dwellings

Note 19 Heritage Assets
The Council’s heritage assets fall into two categories:

Page 195

The Council’s heritage assets have been donated to
the Council and its predecessor bodies over the past
two centuries. All statues and monuments are
accessible to members of the public as they form part
of the public realm. The Council’s collection of civic
regalia and works of art is held at City Hall – access is
by application.

Balance at 1 April 2020
Revaluations
Balance at 31 March 2021

Statues and Monuments
(Note a)

Civic Regalia, Works of
Art, Trophies and similar
(Note b)

Total Assets

£’000

£’000

£’000

39,920

4,658

44,578

-

-

-

39,920

4,658

44,578

These assets have historical, artistic or scientific importance and are held primarily for their contribution to art and
culture. The valuation has been based upon an Insurance Valuation by Protector Insurance.
Where assets are donated for nil consideration they are recognised at valuation. All heritage assets were valued in
2019/20 on an insurance basis supplemented with a specialist valuation of the collection of civic regalia and works
of art. Heritage assets are deemed to have infinite lives and are not subject to depreciation, but the carrying
amounts are reviewed where there is evidence of impairment such as physical damage. Any impairment is
recognised and measured in accordance with the Council’s general accounting policy on impairment.

099 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

a) 86 statues and monuments located throughout
the city the most notable of which are
Cleopatra’s Needle and Sphinxes on Victoria
Embankment and Shaftsbury Memorial Fountain
(commonly known as Eros) at Piccadilly Circus,
and
b) A collection of civic regalia, including the
Mayor’s chain, and works of art comprising 112
paintings largely of past mayors and aldermen of
the borough.

Note 20 Investment Property
The following items of income and expense have been accounted for in the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement:
2019/20
General Fund

Properties

Investment

Total

HRA Commercial

General Fund

Properties

Investment

Properties

Total

Properties

Page 196

£’000

£’000

£’000

8,462

26,144

34,606

Rental income from investment property

(1,784)

(4,408)

(6,192)

Direct operating expenses arising from investment property

6,678

21,736

28,414

Net gain

£’000

£’000

£’000

6,851

29,689

36,540

(1,445)

(9,451)

(10,896)

5,406

20,238

25,644

There are no restrictions on the Council’s ability to realise the value inherent in its investment property or on the Council’s right to the remittance of income and the proceeds of
disposal. There are contractual obligations on the Council to repair and maintain certain investment properties and these have been included in the relevant property valuations.
Investment properties are those that are held solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair
value. Properties are not depreciated, with gains and losses on revaluation being posted to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement. The line is also credited/debited with gains/losses on the disposal of properties, measured as the difference between the carrying amount
and sale proceeds.

100 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

HRA Commercial

2020/21

Note 20 Investment Property (continued)
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value. Investment Properties are not depreciated but are revalued annually according to market
conditions at the year-end.
The following table summarises the movement in the fair value of investment properties over the year:
2019/20
HRA Commercial

General Fund

Properties

Investment

2020/21

Total

HRA Commercial

General Fund

Properties

Investment
Properties

£’000

£’000

£’000

187,505

285,320

472,825

Balance at 1 April

£’000

£’000

£’000

150,439

348,943

499,382

-

-

-

410

1,336

1,746

(347)

-

(347)

(12,626)

(19,559)

(32,185)

-

-

-

(674)

(536)

(1,210)

137,202

330,184

467,386

Additions:

Page 197

-

5,775

5,775

Purchases

212

1,483

1,695

Subsequent expenditure

(16)

(24)

(40)

669

18,219

18,888

Disposals
Net gains/losses from fair value adjustments
Transfers:

(37,710)

37,710

-

(221)

460

239

150,439

348,943

499,382

Assets reclassified (to)/from HRA & GF
Assets reclassified (to)/from Property, Plant and Equipment
Balance at 31 March

101 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Properties

Total

Note 21 Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are recognised on the Balance
Sheet when the Council becomes party to the
contractual provisions of a financial instrument.
They are initially measured at fair value.

Page 198

Annual charges to the Financing and Investment
Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement are based on the
carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the
effective rate of interest for the instrument.
Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified as below:
•

Financial assets held at amortised cost.
These represent loans and loan-type
arrangements where repayments of
interest and principal take place on set
dates and at specified amounts. The
amount presented in the Balance Sheet
represents the outstanding principal
received plus accrued interest. Interest
credited to the CIES is the amount
receivable as per the loan agreement.

• Fair Value Through Profit and Loss (FVTPL).
These assets are measured and carried at
fair value. All gains and losses due to
changes in fair value (both realised and

Allowances for impairment losses have been
calculated for amortised cost assets, applying the
expected credit losses model. Changes in loss
allowances (including balances outstanding at the
date of derecognition of an asset) are
debited/credited to the Financing and Investment
Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.
Changes in the value of assets carried at fair value
are debited/credited to the Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES
as they arise.

102 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost. For the Council’s borrowing this
means that the amount presented in the Balance
Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus
accrued interest).

unrealised) are recognised in the CIES as
they occur.

Note 21a Financial Instruments
The value of debtors and creditors reported in the table below are solely those amounts meeting the definition of a financial instrument. The balances of debtors and creditors
reported in the balance sheet and Notes 28 and 29 also include balances which do not meet the definition of a financial instrument, such as tax-based debtors and creditors.

31 March 2020 Restated

31 March 2021
Short term

Long term

Short term

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

26,384

-

Investments

18,230

237,853

56,728

82,261

-

80,402

101,342

400,516

(200,695)

(7,128)

(7,317)

(72,505)

(16,025)

(1,182)

(224,037)

(80,815)

Fair Value Through Profit and Loss – Financial Assets
29,874

-

Investments
Financial assets at amortised cost

Page 199

58,230

543,945

53,436

53,690

Debtors

-

35,522

Cash and Cash Equivalents

141,540

633,157

Total Financial Assets
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

(206,143)

(16,828)

Borrowing

(52)

(142,465)

Creditors

(16,393)

(1,136)

(222,588)

(160,429)

Service concession and finance lease liabilities
Total Financial Liabilities

103 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Long term

Note 21b Financial Instruments
Income, Expense, Gains and Losses
2019/20

2020/21

Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets

Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities

Financial Assets

Financial Assets

Measured at

Measured at

Measured at Fair

Measured at

Measured at

Measured at Fair

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

Value through

Amortised Cost

Amortised Cost

Value through

Profit and Loss

Profit and Loss

£’000

£’000

-

-

883

10,507

-

-

10,507

-

883

-

(12,930)

-

-

(12,930)

-

10,507

(12,930)

883

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

1,099

Interest Expense

9,289

-

-

Total Expense in Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Service

9,289

-

1,099

Interest Income

-

(6,475)

-

Total income in Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

-

(6,475)

-

9,289

(6,475)

1,099

Net loss on financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

Net Gain/(Loss) for the Year

During 2019/20, the Council arranged forward borrowing loans totalling £400m. These loans have enabled the Council to agree competitive rates for which the Council will not
pay any interest until the loans are drawn down. These loans are summarised below:
Two forward borrowing deals with Phoenix Group:
•

£37.5m: start date 15th March 2022, end date 15th March 2062 at 2.706%.

•

£12.5m: start date 15th March 2023, end date 15th March 2063 at 2.751%.

A forward deal agreed with Barings Bank/Mass Mutual:
•

£150m: start date 15th August 2022, end date 15th August 2052 at 1.970%.

A forward deal agreed with Rothesay Life:
•

£200m: start date 8th May 2023, end date 8th May 2063 at 2.887%.

104 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 200

£’000

Note 21c Financial Instruments (continued)
Fair value of assets and liabilities
Financial liabilities and financial assets classed as
loans and receivables and financial liabilities at
amortised cost are carried in the balance sheet at
amortised cost.
Their fair values can be estimated by calculating the
present value of cash flows that will take place over
the remaining term of the instruments.

31 March 2021

Carrying Amount

Fair Value

Carrying Amount

Fair Value

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

26,384

26,384

Fair Value Through Profit and Loss
29,874

29,874

Investments
Financial Assets Held at Amortised Cost

Page 201

602,175

603,473

Investments

256,083

256,674

107,126

108,700

Debtors

138,989

141,496

35,522

35,522

80,402

80,402

774,697

777,569

501,858

504,956

(136,909)

(164,967)

(70,914)

(102,246)

(207,823)

(267,213)

Creditors

(79,822)

(79,822)

Service concession and finance lease liabilities

(17,207)

(29,255)

(304,852)

(376,290)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total Financial Assets
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Borrowing*

(152,004)

(174,113)

(70,967)

(95,899)

(222,971)

(270,012)

(142,517)

(142,517)

(17,529)

(26,173)

(383,017)

(438,702)

Public Works Loan Board
Lender Option Borrower Options

Total Financial Liabilities

105 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The fair value of borrowing is greater than the
carrying value because this reflects the fact that the
average rate of interest (4.2%) on the Council’s
borrowing is higher than current rates (0.79 – 2.19%)
for new borrowing.

31 March 2020 Restated

Note 22 Cash and Cash Equivalents
The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements:

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000
Cash held by the Authority

7,997

(232)

Cash at bank

(5,396)

30,150

Short-term liquid deposits

77,801

35,522

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents

80,402

Page 202

106 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

5,604

Note 23 Nature and Extent of Risk
The Council’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund services. Risk management is carried out by a
central treasury team, under policies approved by the Council in the annual treasury management strategy. The
Council provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as interest rate risk, credit risk and the investment of surplus cash.

Page 203

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the Council’s
customers. This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which requires that deposits are not
made with financial institutions unless they meet minimum credit ratings from the three major credit ratings
agencies. The Annual Investment Strategy also imposes a maximum sum to be invested with a financial institution
located within each rating category and country. The Annual Investment Strategy is contained within the Council’s
approved Treasury Management Strategy.

107 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

CREDIT RISK

Note 23 Nature and Extent of Risk (continued)
The credit quality of debtors is reflected in the level of
the impairment allowance for trade debtors shown In
Note 27.

A summary of the credit quality of the Council’s investments at 31 March 2021 is shown below:

31 March 2020 Restated
Fair Value through
Profit & loss

31 March 2021

Loans and
receivables

Fitch Rating

Fair Value through
Profit & loss

Amortised Cost

The Council does not allow credit for customers, as
such, all unpaid balances are past due date for
payment. The gross past due sundry debtor amount
can be analysed by age as follows:

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

30,150

AAA

-

77,801

-

-

AA+

-

-

-

18,652

AA

-

5,001

£’000

31 March 2020
Restated

31 March 2021

£’000

Page 204

-

381,423

AA-

-

175,815

45,075

Less than three months

73,625

-

156,370

A+

-

77,638

2,727

Three to six months

1,648

-

50,319

A

-

-

1,335

Six months to one year

1,091

29,874

107,909

N/A

26,384

139,219

4,553

More than one year

5,897

29,874

744,823

Total

26,384

475,474

53,690

Total

82,261

108 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

£’000

Note 23 Nature and Extent of Risk (continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK
The Council has a comprehensive cash flow management system that seeks to ensure that cash is available as needed. If unexpected movements happen, the Council has
immediate access to liquid investments as well as ready access to borrowings from the money markets and the Public Works Loans Board. There is no significant risk that it
will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial instruments. The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows:

PWLB

LOBO*

Mortgage

Other

31 March 2021

Total

PWLB

LOBO*

Annuity

Mortgage

Other

Total

Annuity

Page 205

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

(15,959)

(824)

(45)

-

(16,828)

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

(6,264)

(816)

(48)

-

(7,128)

(5,400)

-

(48)

-

(5,448)

Between one and two years

-

-

(50)

-

(50)

(10,000)

(10,000)

(50)

-

(20,050)

Between two and five years

(17,000)

(10,000)

-

-

(27,000)

(32,700)

-

-

-

(32,700)

Maturing in five to ten years

(35,700)

-

-

-

(35,700)

(87,945)

(60,000)

-

-

(147,945)

Maturing in more than ten
years

(77,945)

(60,000)

-

-

(137,945)

(222,971)

Total

Less than one year

(207,823)

*The LOBO maturity profile assumes that the lender will not exercise their option until maturity. The LOBOs are of fixed rates, ranging between 3.65% and 10.75%. Of the total
amount, £25m have a break clause of every 5 years, whilst £45m have a break clause at every interest payment date twice a year. However, in the current low interest rate
environment, it is unlikely that the lender will exercise their option to request early repayment of these LOBOs.

109 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

31 March 2020

Note 23 Nature and Extent of Risk (continued)
MARKET RISK
Price Risk

The Council is exposed to changes in interest rates
as a result of its borrowings being at long-term
fixed rates and investment being short-term or at
variable rates of interest. Consequently, falls in
interest rates will have an adverse impact on the
Council’s finances.

The Council holds some financial instruments of
which the capital value may fluctuate as a result of
market conditions. However, these instruments are
all purchased on a hold to maturity basis and
therefore any temporary fluctuations in the market
value of such products would have no impact on
the Council’s finances.

Page 206

Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal
gains and losses on fixed rate borrowing would not
impact on the surplus or deficit on the Provision of
Services or Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure. However, changes in interest
receivable on a particular investment class, namely,
variable floating rate notes in the sum of £10m, will
be posted to the surplus or deficit on the Provision
of Services and will affect the General Fund
Balance.
Movements in the fair value of fixed rate
investments that have a quoted market price will
be reflected in Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure.

110 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Interest Rate Risk

Note 24 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing
2019/20

GF

HRA

£’000

£’000

£’000

746,454

471,633

274,821

2020/21

Capital Financing Requirement at 1 April

GF

HRA

£’000

£’000

£’000

830,186

536,351

293,835

238,510

98,903

139,607

Capital investment
224,841

106,073

118,768

Property, Plant and Equipment

7,470

7,470

-

Investment Properties

1,746

1, 746

-

698

698

-

Intangible Assets

1,893

1,893

-

35,107

35,107

-

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute

15,832

15,832

-

14,342

14,342

-

Long-term Investments

16,913

16,913

-

(60,796)

(9,214)

(51,582)

(108,569)

(45,152)

(63,417)

(733)

(733)

-

(24,608)

-

(24,608)

Sources of finance
(51,756)

(21,251)

(30,505)

Capital Receipts

(109,637)

(63,719)

(45,918)

Government grants and other contributions

Sums set aside from revenue
-

-

-

(23,331)

-

(23,331)

Direct Revenue Contributions
Major Repairs Allowance

111 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 207

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in
the year is shown in the table below (including the
value of assets acquired under finance leases and
PFI/PP contracts), together with the resources that
have been used to finance it. Where capital
expenditure is to be financed in future years by
charges to revenue, as assets are utilised by the
Authority, the expenditure results in an increase in
the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), a measure
of the capital expenditure incurred historically by the
Authority that has yet to be financed. The CFR is
analysed in the second part of this note

Note 24 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing (continued)

2019/20

GF

HRA

2020/21

GF

HRA

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(18,213)

(18,213)

-

(361)

(361)

-

891,800

597,965

293,835

80,188

80,188

-

(18,213)

(18,213)

-

(361)

(361)

-

61,614

61,614

-

Debt repayment
(13,021)

-

Minimum Revenue Provision

(981)

(981)

-

Minimum Revenue Provision PFI and Finance Lease

830,186

536,351

293,835

Capital Financing Requirement at 31 March

Page 208

Explanation of movements in year
97,734

78,721

19,013

Increase /(decrease) in underlying need for borrowing
(unsupported by government financial assistance)

(13,021)

(13,021)

-

Statutory provision for repayment of debt (Minimum
Revenue Provision)

(981)

(981)

-

Statutory provision for PFI and Finance Lease debt
(Minimum Revenue Provision)

83,732

64,719

19,013

Total

112 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

(13,021)

Note 25 Leases
COUNCIL AS LESSEE

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£’000

£’000

Page 209

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under
finance leases is accounted for using the policies
applied generally to such assets and is subject to
depreciation which is charged over the lease term if
this is shorter than the asset's estimated useful life
(where ownership of the asset does not transfer to
the Council at the end of the lease period).
The interest element of finance leases is charged to
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Other Land and Buildings

103,811

110,125

Total

103,811

Minimum Lease Payments
The Council is committed to making minimum lease payments under these leases to settle the long-term liability
for the interest in the properties acquired by the Council. The table below reconciles the future minimum lease
payments to their present values.

For leases of land and buildings, the land and building
elements are considered separately for classification.
Property, plant and equipment held under finance
leases are recognised on the Balance Sheet at the
commencement of the lease at fair value measured at
the lease's inception (or the present value of the
minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset
recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation
to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Council are
added to the carrying amount of the asset. Premiums
paid on entry into a lease are written off over the
initial rental period. Contingent rents are charged as
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

110,125

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

Minimum

Finance

Present

Minimum

Finance

Lease

Charges

Value

Lease

Charges

Payment

Present Value

Payment

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

904

884

814

904

883

834

3,617

3,523

2,737

Later than one year and not later than five years

3,617

3,516

2,737

40,597

30,024

7,117

Later than five years

39,693

29,148

7,096

45,118

34,431

10,668

Total

44,214

33,547

10,667

Not later than one year

The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on event taking place after the lease was
entered into, such as adjustment following rent reviews and potential hurdles linked to turnover rents or profit
share.
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£’000

£’000

3,421

Contingent Rent due within 1 Year

3,388

113 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Finance Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the
terms of the agreement transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset.
Key factors considered include the length of the lease
term in relation to the economic life of the asset,
present value of the minimum lease payments in
relation to the asset’s fair value and whether the
Council obtains ownership of the asset at the end of
the lease term.

Statement. The principal element of finance lease payments is applied to write down the lease liability.

Note 25 Leases (continued)
Operating Leases
All other leases are treated as operating leases.
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as an
expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased assets. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over
the life of the lease; even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. if there is a rent-free period at the
commencement of the lease).

Page 210

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£’000

£’000

55,075

Not later than one year

51,755

17,393

Later than one year and not later than five years

12,989

502,710

Later than five years

525,223

575,178

Total

589,967

The expenditure charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during the year in relation to
these leases was:
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£’000

£’000

52,569
755
(29,001)
24,323

Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sublease payments receivable
Total

57,421
648
(27,956)
30,113

114 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The Council has a number of properties and equipment held under operating leases. The future minimum lease
payments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are:

Note 25 Leases (continued)
COUNCIL AS LESSOR

Page 211

Operating Leases
Where the Council grants an operating lease over a
property or an item of plant or equipment, the asset
is retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is
recognised in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement on a straight-line basis over
the life of the lease, even if this does not match the
pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at
the commencement of the lease).

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£’000

£’000

29,567
119,653

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years

29,450
107,299

1,266,376

Later than five years

1,029,294

1,415,596

Total

1,166,043

The minimum lease payments receivable do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the
lease was entered into, such as adjustments following rent reviews.

115 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Finance Leases
Where the Council grants a finance lease over a
property or an item of plant or equipment, the
relevant asset is written out of the Balance Sheet as
a disposal and replaced by a long-term debtor in the
Balance Sheet valued on the future income due
under the finance lease. This value then reduces
over time as principal repayments are made.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are:

Note 26 Service Concessions

The original recognition of these assets at fair value
(based on the cost to purchase the property, plant
and equipment) is balanced by the recognition of a
liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to
pay for the capital investment.
Non-current assets related to these contracts and
recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and
depreciated in the same way as property, plant and
equipment owned by the Council.
The amounts payable to the service concession
operators each year are analysed into five elements
which are accounted for as set out below:
•

•

•

Fair value of services received during the
year – debited to the relevant service line in
the CIES
finance costs, debited to the Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure line in
the CIES
contingent rents to be paid for the property
during the contract - debited to the

•
•

Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line in the CIES
principal repayments – reduce the Balance
Sheet liability
lifecycle replacement costs – recognised as
additions to Property, Plant and Equipment
when the relevant works have been carried
out

Veolia Waste Disposal Contract
2017/18 was due to be the final year of a seven-year
service concession contract for waste and recycling
collection, street cleansing and ancillary services,
terminating part way through 2017/18. This contract
was extended during the year to now terminate part
way through 2020/21. Under the contract, the
operator provides a fleet of vehicles subject to a
renewal programme approved by the Authority for
the sole use of the contract. During the contract
period to date, the vehicle fleet was completely
renewed in April 2012 at a cost of £5.015m. At the
end of the contract, the Authority has the option to
purchase the vehicles at net book value, which is
currently estimated to be £nil. The contract provides
for the Authority's depots to be leased to the
operator for the duration of the contract and
returned to the Authority in good condition at the
end of contract. The contract specifies the routes
and to whom the services are provided, minimum
standards of service with deductions from the fee
payable if performance falls below the minimum
standards.

Haven Contract
The Haven contract is a 25-year contract which
started in 1998. Under the contract the operator has
provided a new nursing home at Forrester Court.
The operator valued the building at £4.2m when it
became operational. The Authority occupies the
majority of the beds (maximum 90 and minimum of
84) and a small element (about 20 beds) is sold to
the marketplace by the operator. The Authority
regulates the services provided and has nomination
rights to the majority of the beds. There is no fixed
unitary charge but the Council is charged per bed
and must use the maximum 90 bed allocation (78
guaranteed) otherwise adjustments to charges are
made. The Authority owns the freehold to the land.
At the end of the contract the building transfers to
the Authority for no further payment.
Penfold Contract
Penfold Street was jointly commissioned in 2004
between the Council and Notting Hill Housing Trust
with the objective of providing housing for older
people in the heart of London. Under the terms of
the contract, the Authority provided the operator
with a site for demolition and development on a 99
year lease, the operator constructed a new building
on the site, which reverts to the Authority at the end
of the lease, and the Authority has 100% nomination
rights and provides an annual care contract for
residents. The operator retains all rent and service
charge income from residents.
Sport and Leisure Management Ltd contract
2020/21 was the fifth year of a ten-year service
concession contract with Sport and Leisure

116 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 212

Service concessions are contracts to receive services,
where the responsibility for making available the
property, plant and equipment needed to provide
the services passes to the contractor. The Council
recognises the assets used under such contracts on
its Balance Sheet within Property, Plant and
Equipment, because it controls the services that are
provided under the contracts, has exclusive use of
the assets concerned, and ownership of the
property, plant and equipment will pass to the
Council at the end of the contracts for no additional
charge.

Note 26 Service Concessions (continued)

Page 213

The Council has the rights under the contract to
specify the activities and services to be provided and
regulate the prices charged. the contract specifies
minimum standards to be met by the contractor
with penalties payable if the facilities or
performance is below minimum standards. The
Council is responsible for the maintenance of the
structure of the leisure centres, and the contractor
for maintenance and redecoration, including
equipment replacement.
The buildings, plant and equipment provided by the
Council at the start of the contract remain the
Council's assets, together with the planned
enhancement works. In addition, the Council has
the right to buy any plant and equipment supplied
by the contract at the end of the contract at its
written down value. The Council has an option to
extend the contract for a further five years. Also,
the Council has the option to terminate the contract
either for poor performance, of in the event that the
Council wishes to reconfigure leisure services, it may
terminate the contract subject to paying
compensation to the contactor.

Property, Plant and Equipment
The assets used to provide services under the service concession contracts are recognised on the Authority’s
Balance Sheet. Movements in their value over the year are detailed in the analysis of the movement on the
Property, Plant and Equipment balance in Note 18c.
Payments
The Authority makes agreed payments each year to the operators, increased in line with inflation where stated in
the contract and similarly reduced if performance falls below minimum standards in any year. Payments remaining
to be made under the Service Concession contracts at 31 March 2021 (including an estimate of inflation) are as
follows:
2020/21

Payment for Services

Reimbursement of
Capital Expenditure

Interest

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

20,549

348

34

20,931

4,659

677

22

5,358

Payable within 6-10 years

-

363

-

363

Payable within 11-15 years

-

363

-

363

Payable within 16 - 20 years

-

363

-

363

Payable within 21+ years

-

4,403

-

4,403

25,208

6,517

56

31,781

Payable within 2021/22
Payable within 2 to 5 years

Total

117 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Management Ltd which commenced on 1 July 2016,
to take over the operation and maintenance of the
Council's eight leisure centres, including and
upgrade of the facilities over the first two years of
the contract. Under the contract, the contractor will
retain all income generated, but in addition there is
a profit share in the event the financial performance
targets are exceeded. The contractor will pay a
management fee of £35.4m to the Council over the
life of the contract.

Note 26 Service Concessions (continued)

2019/20

Payment for Services

Reimbursement of
Capital Expenditure

Interest

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

322

48

23,002

7,207

953

56

8,216

Payable within 6-10 years

-

363

-

363

Payable within 11-15 years

-

363

-

363

Payable within 16 - 20 years

-

363

-

363

-

4,497

-

4,497

29,839

6,861

104

36,804

Payable within 2 to 5 years

Page 214

Payable within 21+ years
Total

Whilst the unitary payments made to the contractors have been calculated to compensate the contractor for the fair value of the services provided, the financing costs arising
from the capital expenditure incurred remain to be reimbursed as set out below:
31 March 2019/20

31 March 2020/21

£'000

£'000

Balance outstanding at start of the year

7,824

6,861

Payments made during the year

(963)

(344)

Balance outstanding at year end

6,861

6,517

118 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

£'000
22,632

Payable within 2020/21

Note 27 Debtors
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

Short Term

Total

Long Term

Short Term

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

37,232

37,232

Business Rates***

-

437,577

437,577

-

-

-

City of London: WCC Share of business rates pool

-

29,061

29,061

-

38,446

38,446

Sundry Debtors*

-

27,297

27,297

-

29,242

29,242

Parking Fines

-

24,975

24,975

-

13,856

13,856

Westminster Share of Council Tax

-

19,422

19,422

-

7,695

7,695

Property

-

15,660

15,660

-

7,296

7,296

Business Rates Supplement - GLA*

-

16,501

16,501

-

20,366

20,366

Adults Services

-

15,526

15,526

-

17,214

17,214

Housing Benefits Overpayments

-

15,276

15,276

-

8,274

8,274

VAT

-

14,573

14,573

-

232

232

Section 106*

-

11,103

11,103

-

-

-

Covid-19 Grant

-

12,582

12,582

-

3,253

3,253

HRA Rent & Lessee Service Charges

-

5,453

5,453

-

4,871

4,871

Housing - Temporary Accommodation

-

5,442

5,442

15,013

825

15,838

HRA Major Works

21,040

4,768

25,808

20,155

-

20,155

Local Government Association

20,154

-

20,154

9,147

-

9,147

Westminster Community Homes

8,222

6,757

14,979

7,951

-

7,951

Westminster Housing Investments Ltd

24,916

-

24,916

4,137

-

4,137

City Hall Rent**

6,398

-

6,398

13,500

-

13,500

Moberly Loan

6,650

-

6,650

720

-

720

Other Long-Term Debtors**

2,577

-

2,577

-

(90,832)

(90,832)

Less: Provision for irrecoverable debts (see below)

-

(101,104)

(101,104)

70,623

97,970

168,593

Total

89,957

560,869

650,826

119 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 215

Long Term

Note 27 Debtors (continued)
*Disclosed in Sundry Debtors in 2019/20 Accounts
**Disclosed in Other Long-Term Debtors in 2019/20 Accounts
***This includes what GLA owe us to cover the large collection fund deficit
Impairment allowance for doubtful debts
31 March 2020

31 March 2021
£’000

Page 216

Business Rates

(26,820)

(26,431)

Parking Fines

(22,608)

(17,053)

Housing Benefits overpayments

(15,462)

(8,012)

Council Tax

(10,219)

(4,391)

Housing - Temporary Accommodation

(4,814)

(3,230)

Property

(3,359)

(3,185)

Adults Services

(3,052)

(2,254)

HRA Major Works

(2,492)

(1,438)

HRA Rent & Lessee Service Charges

(1,678)

(9,910)

Other Provisions

(90,832)

Total

(10,600)
(101,104)

120 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

£’000
(14,928)

Note 28 Creditors
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

Short Term

Total

Long Term

Short Term

Total

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

(66,242)

(66,242)

WCC share of Business Rate prepayments

-

(42,358)

(42,358)

-

(6,879)

(6,879)

WCC share of Council Tax prepayments

-

(5,725)

(5,725)

-

(3,736)

(3,736)

Amount owed by WCC to preceptors - Council tax

-

-

-

-

(135,971)

(135,971)

Amount owed by WCC to preceptors - Business rates*

-

(333,073)

(333,073)

-

-

-

Amounts owed by WCC to Government - Business and resident Covid
grants

-

(75,443)

(75,443)

-

(4,047)

(4,047)

PAYE & NI

-

(3,476)

(3,476)

-

(10,578)

(10,578)

Major Works

-

(9,153)

(9,153)

-

(3,438)

(3,438)

HRA Rent Prepayments

-

(3,959)

(3,959)

-

(1,297)

(1,297)

HRA Service Charge Prepayments

-

(1,989)

(1,989)

-

(15,006)

(15,006)

Receipts in advance

-

(18,357)

(18,357)

-

(102,147)

(102,147)

Sundry Creditors

-

(63,353)

(63,353)

(52)

-

(52)

Long term Creditors

(7,317)

-

(7,317)

(52)

(349,341)

(349,393)

Total

(7,317)

(556,886)

(564,203)

*We were given

GLA and Central Government's (CG) share of the s31 grant to help the council with cashflow issues but the grant needs to be returned back to CG. The total s31
grant owed is £689m but reduced by various items including the collection fund deficit owed by CG.

121 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 217

Long Term

Note 29 Provisions
Provisions are recognised where the Council has a
legal or constructive obligation arising from a past
event that will probably require settlement by a
transfer of economic benefits or service potential,
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

Where some or all of the payment required to settle
a provision is expected to be recovered from a third
party, this is only recognised as income for the
relevant service if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received if the Council settles
the obligation.

Balance at 1
April 2020

Transfers
between longterm and
short-term

Additional
provisions
made in
2020/21

Amounts used
in 2020/21

Unused
amounts
reversed in
2020/21

Balance at 31
March 2021

Short Term Provision

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Compensation, Property and
Contractual Claims

(210)

-

-

-

-

(210)

Other

(477)

-

(480)

136

60

(761)

Total

(687)

-

(480)

136

60

(971)

Compensation, Property and
Contractual Claims

(3,674)

-

(645)

183

2,522

(1,614)

Insurance Claims

(8,085)

-

(321)

3,407

-

(4,999)

(59,760)

-

(42,035)

-

-

(101,795)

Other

(780)

-

-

200

-

(580)

Total

(72,299)

-

(43,001)

3,790

2,522

(108,988)

Grand Total

(72,986)

-

(43,481)

3,926

2,582

(109,959)

Long Term Provision

Business Rates Appeals

122 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 218

Provisions are charged as an expense to the
appropriate service line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that
the Council becomes aware of the obligation and are
measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet
date of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation, taking into account relevant risks and
uncertainties.

The table below sets out the provisions for 2020/21.

Note 29 Provisions (continued)

Closing provisions include the following elements:
Compensation, Property and Contractual Claims
This provision relates to a range of smaller claims
against the Council for which financial resources have
been set aside.

Other
Other provisions include those relating to property
search fees, the cost of staff redundancies scheduled
as a consequence of moving back office processes to
a managed service model, planning decisions and
other potential liabilities.
Apart from the Business Rates Appeals provision, all
other provisions are expected to be used within the
next two years.

123 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 219

Insurance Claims
A provision has been made to meet known and
anticipated liabilities on claims under the Council’s
insurance arrangements. This is assessed by a
professional insurance contractor on an annual basis
and adjusted as appropriate.

Business Rates Appeals
Due to the localisation of Business Rates, which
became effective from 1 April 2013, the Council has
set aside a provision for any potential liabilities as a
result of Business Rate payers’ appeals against
rateable valuations. From 2020/21 the Council is
responsible for 30% share of this liability, Greater
London Authority is responsible for 37% and 33% for
Central Government. The provision includes an
amount for appeals lodged to date but yet to be
determined by the Valuation Office Agency (VOA) plus
an amount for appeals expected but not yet lodged
with VOA which has been estimated based on
experience and analysis of the appeals listing from the
VOA. It is expected that the majority of appeals for
the 2005 / 2010 list will be settled by the VOA
towards the end of 2020. However, the Council
cannot be certain as to when the lodged appeals will
be resolved because the timing of resettlement
depends on the VOA. Furthermore due to the
pandemic we expect an increase in the required
provisions as businesses will be inclined to appeal
their current RV following the change in current
market.

Note 30 Other Long-Term Liabilities
2019/20

Note

£'000
(10,668)

2020/21
£'000

Note 25

(10,668)

Service Concessions

Note 26

(6,517)

(624,787)

Pension Liability

Note 31

(704,941)

(642,316)

Total

(6,861)

(722,126)

Page 220

124 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Lease Liabilities

Note 31 Pension Schemes
POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of
its officers, the Council makes contributions towards
the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these
benefits will not actually be payable until employees
retire, the Council has a commitment to fund the
payments (for those benefits) and to disclose them at
the time that employees earn their future entitlement.

Employees of the Council are members of three
separate pension schemes:
•

The Teachers’ Pension Scheme administered
by Capita Teachers' Pensions on behalf of the
Department for Education.

• The Local Government Pension Scheme
administered by Westminster City Council and
the London Pension Fund Authority.
•

The NHS Pension Scheme administered by
NHS Pensions.

Page 221

All of the above schemes provide defined benefits to
members e.g. retirement lump sums and pensions,
earned as employees working for the Council, or for
related parties.
Under IAS 19 and Code requirements, the Council
recognises the cost of post-employment benefits in the
reported cost of services when they are earned by
employees rather than when the benefits are
eventually paid as pensions.

However, the arrangements for the Teachers' scheme
and NHS Scheme mean that liabilities for these benefits
cannot ordinarily be identified for the Council. These
schemes are therefore accounted for as if they were
defined contributions schemes and no liability for
future payments of benefits is recognised in the
Balance Sheet. Children's Services and Adult Services
within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement are charged with the employer's
contributions payable to Teachers' Pensions and NHS
Pensions respectively in the year.

125 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

PARTICIPATION IN PENSIONS SCHEMES

Note 31a Pensions Schemes Accounted for as Defined
Contribution Schemes
Teachers employed by the Council are members of the
Teachers’ Pension Scheme administered by the
Department for Education. The Scheme provides
teachers with specified benefits upon their retirement
and the Council contributes towards the cost by
making contributions based on a percentage of scheme
members’ pensionable salaries. The Scheme itself is a
defined benefit scheme but however is unfunded. The
Department for Education uses a notional fund as the
basis for calculating the employers’ contribution rate
paid by local authorities. The notional fund is valued
every four years. However, this is a multi-employer
scheme and the number of participating employers
makes it impossible to identify the Council’s share of
the financial position and performance attributable to
its own employees with sufficient reliability for
accounting purposes. For the purposes of this
Statement of Accounts, they are therefore accounted
for on the same basis as a defined contribution
scheme. In 2020/21, the Council paid £7.897m million
(£7.824m in 2019/20) to the Teachers Pensions Agency
in respect of teachers’ retirement benefits. The
expected contributions to the Teachers' Pension
Scheme for 2021/22 are £7.897m million, unchanged
from 2020/21.

Former NHS employees that work for The Council can
choose to maintain their membership of the NHS
Pension Scheme. The Scheme provides these
employees with specified benefits upon their
retirement and the Council contributes towards the
costs by making contributions based on a percentage
of members’ pensionable salaries. The scheme is an
unfunded defined benefit scheme.
However, the Council is not able to identify its share of
the underlying financial position and performance of
the Scheme with sufficient reliability for accounting
purposes. As a result, for the purposes of this
Statement of Accounts, the Council accounts for the
scheme on the same basis as a defined contribution
scheme. In 2020/21, the Council paid £0.055m million
(£0.055 m in 2019/20) to the NHS Pension Scheme in
respect of former NHS staff retirement benefits. The
Council expects contributions to the NHS Pension
scheme for 2021/22 to remain unchanged from
2020/21, at £0.055m million.

126 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

NHS STAFF PENSION SCHEME

Page 222

TEACHERS’ PENSIONS SCHEME

Note 31b Defined Benefit Pension Schemes
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION
SCHEME

•

Service cost comprising:
o current service cost – allocated in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement (CIES) to the services for which
the employees worked

The Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted
for as a defined benefits scheme.

This future liability is then discounted back to present
value, using a discount rate determined by reference
to market yields at the balance sheet date of highquality corporate bonds.
The assets of the City of Westminster Pension Fund
attributable to the Council are included in the Balance
Sheet at their fair value.
The change in the net pensions’ liability is analysed
into the following components:

o

past service cost – debited to the Surplus
or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the
CIES as part of Non-Distributed Costs

o

net interest on the net defined benefit
liability – charged to the Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure line of
the CIES

• Remeasurements comprising:
o

the return on plan assets – excluding
amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability (asset) – charged to
the Pensions Reserve as Other
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

o

actuarial gains and losses – changes in the
net pensions liability that arise because
events have not coincided with
assumptions made at the last actuarial
valuation or because the actuaries have
updated their assumptions – charged to
the Pensions Reserve as Other
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

contributions paid to the pension fund are
charged to the General Fund via an entry in
the Movement in Reserves Statement to
replace the service cost items above.

DISCRETIONARY BENEFITS
The Council provides discretionary post-employment
benefits which arise from additional service and are
awarded on a discretionary basis. These benefits are
unfunded with costs met directly from the Council's
revenue account.

DESCRIPTION OF THE WESTMINSTER
FUND
The Council administers a defined benefit final salary
scheme where the retirement benefits are
determined independently from investments of the
scheme, and employers have obligations to make
contributions where assets are insufficient to meet
employee benefits. The schemes which make up the
overall Westminster Scheme are: The Local
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) administered
locally by Westminster City Council (WCC) which is a
funded defined benefit final salary scheme meaning
that the authority and employees pay contributions
into a fund, calculated at a level intended to balance
the pension liabilities with investment assets, and; the
London Pensions Fund Authority (LPFA) Pension Fund
administered by the London Pension Fund Authority.

127 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 223

The liabilities of the City of Westminster Pension Fund
attributable to the Council are included in the Balance
Sheet on an actuarial basis. The basis of calculation is
the projected unit method - i.e. an assessment of the
future payments that will be made in relation to
retirement benefits earned to date by employees,
including assumptions about mortality rates,
employee turnover rates and projections of projected
earnings for current employees.

o

Note 31b (i) – Net Pensions Liability
2019/20

2020/21
Net Pensions
Liability

£000s

£000s

£000s

979,787

(1,681,464)

(701,677)

-

(39,949)

(39,949)

-

(9,442)

(9,442)

23,589

(39,858)

(16,269)

(820)

-

(820)

(47,404)

47,404

-

(1,378)

-

(1,378)

-

1,634

1,634

(26,013)

(40,211)

(66,224)

Page 224

Pensions

Net Pensions

Obligations

Liability

£000s

£000s

£000s

924,717

(1,549,505)

(624,788)

Current Service Cost

-

(39,395)

(39,395)

Past Service Cost and gains/losses on curtailments

-

(125)

(125)

22,025

(36,136)

(14,111)

(992)

-

(992)

Retirement Grants and Pensions

(51,012)

51,012

-

Settlement Prices received/(paid)

11,341

-

11,341

-

(7,603)

(7,603)

(18,638)

(32,247)

(50,885)

• The Council

41,234

-

41,234

• Employees

8,841

(8,841)

-

50,075

(8,841)

41,234

281,362

-

281,362

• Other Actuarial Gains and Losses

-

-

-

• Actuarial Gains and Losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions

-

25,484

25,484

Programme area

Opening Balance at 1 April

Interest Income and Expense
Administration Expenses

Liabilities assumed/(extinguished) on settlements
Total Post-Employment Benefits Charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

Scheme Assets

Contributions
49,202

-

49,202

8,329

(8,329)

-

57,531

(8,329)

49,202

Employers contributions payable to scheme
Remeasurements

(86,855)

-

(86,855)

• Return on Plan Assets

267

-

267

-

54,633

54,633

-

149,152

149,152

• Actuarial Gains and Losses from changes in financial assumptions

-

(397,404)

(397,404)

-

(23,680)

(23,680)

•Experience loss /(gain) on defined benefit obligation

-

21,583

21,583

-

394

394

-

(1,527)

(1,527)

(86,588)

180,499

93,911

281,362

(351,864)

(70,502)

924,717

(1,549,505)

(624,788)

1,237,516

(1,942,457)

(704,941)

Changes in the effect of the Asset Ceiling
Post-Employment Benefits Charged to other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement
Closing Balance at 31 March

128 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Pensions
Obligations

Scheme Assets

Note 31b (ii) – Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION
SCHEME ASSETS COMPRISED

WCC Pension Scheme

WCC Pension Scheme

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

%

Page 225

£’000

%

148,608

16.4%

Corporate Bonds - Overseas

166,551

13.7%

585,372

64.6%

Equities - Overseas

859,498

70.7%

89,709

9.9%

Property

48,628

4.0%

14,498

1.6%

Infrastructure

30,392

2.5%

54,369

6.0%

Multi Asset Credit

66,863

5.5%

13,592

1.5%

Cash/Temporary Investments

43,765

3.6%

906,148

100%

Total

1,215,697

100%

LPFA Pension Scheme

LPFA Pension Scheme

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£’000

%

£’000

%

10,056

54%

Equities

11,855

54%

4,526

24%

Target Return Portfolio

5,135

24%

1,303

7%

Infrastructure

1,849

8%

1,696

9%

Property

1,985

9%

986

5%

Cash

994

5%

18,567

100%

Total

21,818

100%

129 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

£’000

Note 31b (iii) – Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

Discounting of future payments gives the amount in
today’s money that is required to meet obligations –
a higher discount rate means a lower current
requirement to meet future payments. This is why
the actuaries prudently use a discount rate based on
highly rated corporate bond yields, as a small change
in these would have a very large impact upon the
size of the liability, which taxpayers are statutorily
bound to pay.
The principal assumptions used by the actuaries
have been:

WCC Pension Scheme

LPFA Pension Scheme

WCC Pension Scheme

LPFA Pension Scheme

31 March 2020

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

31 March 2021

Mortality assumptions:
Longevity at 65 for current
Pensioners (years):
21.8

21.0

Men

21.6

20.9

24.4

24.2

Women

24.1

24.2

Longevity at 65 for future
Pensioners (years):
23.2

22.4

Men

22.9

22.5

25.8

25.7

Women

25.3

25.6

2.7%

2.9%

Rate of Inflation (RPI)

3.2%

3.4%

1.9%

1.9%

Rate of Inflation (CPI)

2.8%

2.9%

2.9%

2.9%

Rate of Increase in salaries

3.9%

3.9%

1.9%

1.9%

Rate of increase in pensions

2.9%

2.9%

2.4%

2.4%

Rate for discounting scheme
liabilities

1.9%

1.9%

130 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 226

A change in any of the key assumptions can have a
significant impact upon the size of the Council’s
pension liabilities, which would require the Council
during its triennial review to adjust the amount it
must pay the Westminster Pension Fund. The
biggest risks include an increase in member life
expectancy, salary and pension accumulation rate or
a decrease in the real discount rate, which would
have an impact on the Council’s liability to the
Pension Fund.

Note 31b (iv) – Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

WCC Pension Scheme

Increase in
Assumption

Decrease in Assumption

£'000

£'000

Longevity (increase or decrease in 1 year)

(89,433)

85,225

Rate of inflation (increase or decrease by 0.1%)

(34,289)

33,652

Rate of increase in salaries (increase or decrease by 0.1%)

(2,547)

2,527

Rate of increase in pensions (increase or decrease by 0.1%)

(34,289)

33,652

36,425

(37,165)

Rate for discounting scheme liabilities (increase or decrease by 0.1%)

Page 227

131 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

WCC Pension Scheme

Note 31b (v) – Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)
IMPACT ON THE COUNCIL'S CASH
FLOWS

Page 228

The scheme will need to take account of the national
changes to the scheme under the Public Pensions
Services Act 2013. Under the Act, the Local
Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales
and the other main existing public service schemes
may not provide benefits in relation to service after
31 March 2014. The Act provides for scheme
regulations to be made within a common framework,
to establish new career average revalued earnings
schemes to pay pensions and other benefits to certain
public servants.
The Council anticipated paying £40.91m (main
scheme) employer contributions in 2020/21 but is no
longer paying towards the LPFA scheme as the last
active member has now left.
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit
obligation for the WCC scheme members is 20 years,
2020/21 (20 years 2019/20).

where employers leave the Fund but with insufficient
assets to cover their pension obligations so that the
difference may fall on the remaining employers.

In general, participating in a defined benefit pension
scheme means that the Employer is exposed to a
number of risks:
•

•

•

•

Investment risk: The Fund holds investment
in asset classes such as equities, which have
volatile market values and while these assets
are expected to provide real returns over the
long-term, the short-term volatility can cause
additional funding to be required if a deficit
emerges.
Interest rate risk: The Fund’s liabilities are
assessed using market yields on high quality
corporate bonds to discount the liabilities. As
the Fund holds assets such as equities, the
value of the assets and liabilities may not
move in the same way.
Inflation risk: All the benefits under the Fund
are linked to inflation and so deficits may
emerge to the extent that the assets are not
linked to inflation.
Longevity risk: In the event that the
members live longer than assumed, a deficit
will emerge in the Fund. There are also other
demographic risks.

In addition, as many unrelated employers participate
in both the City of Westminster Pension Fund and the
LPFA Pension Fund, there is an orphan liability risk,

132 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employers'
contributions at as constant a rate as possible. The
Council has agreed a strategy with the scheme's
actuary, Barnett Waddingham, to achieve a funding
level of 100% over the next 22 years. Funding levels
are monitored on an annual basis. The next triennial
valuation is due to be completed for 31 March 2022.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit
obligation for the LPFA scheme members is 12 years,
2020/21 (12 years 2019/20).

133 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 229

Note 32 Cash Flows from Operating Activities
The cash flows for operating activities include the
following items:

2019/20

2020/21

£'000
(11,302)
8,502

£'000
Interest received
Interest paid

(7,866)
9,392

Page 230

Depreciation and Amortisation

(77,516)

(26,517)

Impairment and downward valuations

(28,620)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors

(39,278)

16,087
(29,609)
15

(Increase)/decrease in provisions
Increase/(decrease) in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in inventories

56,579
14

(17,022)

Movement in pension liability

(18,426)

Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held for sale, sold or derecognised

(32,702)

Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services

(70,158)

90,229
(62,759)

Sub-total of non-cash movements

(9,651)

(201,332)

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that are
investing or financing activities
115,460
23,420
138,880

Capital Grants credited to surplus or deficit on the provision of services

50,593

Proceeds from the sale of property plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets

71,466

Sub-total of adjustments included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that

122,059

are investing or financing activities
76,121

Total

(79,273)

134 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements
(77,516)

Note 33 Cash Flows from Investing Activities
2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

240,046
1,336,050

(1,402,030)
(113,821)
36,825

243,659

Purchase of short and long-term investments

947,656

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets

(65,334)

Proceeds from short and long-term investments
Capital Grants Received
Total Cash Flows from Investing Activities

(1,291,052)
(68,716)
(233,787)

Page 231

135 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

(23,420)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets

Note 34 Cash Flows from Financing Activities
2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

20

Cash payments for the reduction of outstanding liabilities relating to finance leases and on-Balance-Sheet PFI contracts

21

Repayments of short- and long-term borrowing

15,044

(44,503)

Net Council Tax & NNDR due from Preceptors*

240,955

(41,479)

Net cash flows from financing activities

256,020

Page 232

*See notes 27 and 28 for further detail

136 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

3,004

Page 233

Note 35 Related Party Transactions
MEMBERS

CENTRAL GOVERNMENT

Councillors Glanz, Mitchell, Caplan, Robathan and
Butler-Thalassis are trustees of the City of
Westminster Charitable trust. The trust receives funds
collected via a voluntary community contribution
from the Council and distributes this via grant funding
to community groups working in Westminster.

Page 234

Central Government has significant influence over the
general operations of the Council - it is responsible for
providing the statutory framework within which the
Council operates. It provides the majority of its
funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms
of many of the transactions that the Council has with
other parties (e.g. Council Tax bills, Housing Benefits).
Grants received from Government departments are
set out in the analysis in Note 13.

The following Members held positions of control or
significant influence in related parties to the Council
during 2020/21:
Councillor Angela Harvey is Trustee to the Edward
Harvist Trust, which passes income to the Council for
distribution to Westminster’s charitable
organisations.

Councillor Nafsika Butler-Thalassis is also a trustee of
One Westminster – The charity has various contracts
with the Council aimed at delivering voluntary sector
and volunteering support, The Council spent
£351,007 with One Westminster in 2020/21.
Councillor Mitchell is also a trustee of London Disability
Network London (LDN), formerly the Westminster
Society. The charity receives funds from the council to
provide support to learning disabled Londoners. The
Council spent £6,378,942 with LDN in 2020/21.
Lady Christabel Flight served as a trustee of the Sir
Simon Milton Foundation the year. The Foundation
staff are co-located with the Council and have
benefited from the use of Council support services (IT
and use of desk space). During 2020/21 the value of
in-kind services provided was £4,970 (2019/20:

£16,212), while the chargeable cost of services
provided was £4,970 (2019/20: £16,212).
Further details are recorded in the Register of
Member’s Declarations of Interest, which can be
found on the Council’s website.

138 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

This disclosure note has been prepared using the
Council’s Register of Members’ Declarations of
Interest in addition to a specific declaration obtained
in respect of related party transactions from members
and senior officers. The Council is required to disclose
material transactions with related parties - bodies and
individuals that have the potential to control or
influence the Council or to be controlled or influenced
by the Council.

Note 35 Related Party Transactions (continued)

ENTITIES CONTROLLED OR SIGNIFICANTLY INFLUENCED BY THE COUNCIL
The Council has a number of subsidiaries over which it has control and an associate company over which it exerts
significant influence. The Council’s subsidiary companies and related transactions are summarised below:
31 March 2020
Loan

Expenditure

Income

Income outstanding
to WCC (WCC debtor
balance)

Balance
outstanding (WCC
creditor balance)

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

9,147

22,297

(3,263)

104

-

WestCo Trading Ltd

-

2,734

(470)

170

273

Paddington Recreation Ground Trust

-

1,787

(854)

-

-

Westminster Housing Investment Ltd

10,342

-

(98)

98

-

Westminster Community Homes

Page 235

Name

31 March 2021
Loan

Expenditure

Income

Income outstanding
to WCC (WCC debtor
balance)

Balance
outstanding (WCC
creditor balance)

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

8,222

4,663

(4,333)

6,667

125

WestCo Trading Ltd

-

1,940

(872)

143

384

Paddington Recreation Ground Trust

-

1,560

(502)

-

-

Westminster Housing Investment Ltd

20,750

4,256

(442)

342

-

Westminster Community Homes

The Council also has a controlling interest in Westminster Housing Development Ltd and Westminster Procurement
Services but there are no transactions to report in these entities.

139 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Name

Note 35 Related Party Transactions (continued)
The Following officers and members hold positions on
boards of entities controlled or significantly
influenced by the Council:

The Council has the following associate:

Westminster Community Homes –Dermot Moloney,
Thomas Harding, James Green, Cllr Susie Burbridge.

a) Nature of the business

Page 236

Westminster Housing Investment Ltd - Barbara
Brownlee, James Green, Stephen Muldoon, Cllr
Jacqueline Wilkinson
Westminster Housing Development Ltd - Barbara
Brownlee, James Green, Stephen Muldoon, Cllr
Jacqueline Wilkinson
Westminster Procurement Services - Dai Williams

The company, which trades as Hub Westminster, is an
innovative business start-up and small business centre
located in a single open-plan office floor space,
providing low cost affordable hot-desking and other
space in the heart of London’s West End for start-up
businesses, particularly in the social enterprise sector,
with a particular focus on social and environmental
sustainability.
b) Relationship with the Council
The company is a community interest company with a
nominal share capital of £0.940m of which 40.0% is
owned by the Council.
Loans outstanding at 31 March 2021 and due to the
Council are £0.091m (£0.091m at 31 March 2020).
c) Financial performance
The Company ceased trading at its current location in
February 2018 and there are no material transactions
for the financial year. The company dissolved in June
2021.
d) Council Officers/Members on the Board
The following Council representatives are/were
directors of the Company during 2020/21: Greg Ward.

140 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Westco trading Limited – Dai Williams, Cllr Tony
Devenish

Hub Make Lab CIC

Note 36 Contingent Liabilities
No liability is recognised if an outflow of economic resources as a result of present obligations is not probable. Such situations are disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
outflow of resources is remote.
There are no contingent liabilities at the reporting date.

141 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 237

Note 37 Contingent Assets

Page 238

i) In connection with the sale of the Dolphin Square
residential complex, a company called Dolphin Square
2005 Ltd was set up to manage tenants’ rights. The
Company was part funded by a proportion of the
Council’s proceeds and a legal charge is held over this
fund in favour of the Council. Any unexpended
amount will be returned, inclusive of interest, to the
Council on the event of the winding up of the
Company or when the relevant number of tenants
with protected rights falls below twenty.
ii) Following the decision of the Supreme Court to
allow in part the City Council’s appeal in relation to
the recovery of costs through licence fees, the
European Court of Justice has now issued a ruling on
matters referred to it by the Supreme Court. The City
Council is now seeking an Order from the
Administrative Court for the return of the sum of
approximately £1.4m paid to the claimants. It is
considered that there is a good prospect that the
Court will agree to do so.

142 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken
place that gives the Council a possible asset whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Council. Contingent assets
are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but are
disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is
probable that there will be an inflow of economic
benefits or service potential.

Note 38 Fair Value
38A FAIR VALUE – BASIS OF VALUATION
The basis of valuation of each class of investment asset is set out below. There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year. All assets have been valued
using fair value techniques based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximising the use of market-based information.
Valuation
hierarchy

Basis of valuation

Observable and unobservable inputs

Key sensitivities affecting the valuations provided

Assets and liabilities held
at amortised cost

Level 2

Fair value has been assessed by calculating the
present value of the cash flows that take place
over the remaining life of the instruments.

For PWLB loans payable, PWLB new loan rate

Not required.

For non-PWLB loans payable, prevailing market
rates
For loans receivable, prevailing market rates

Page 239

Freehold and Leasehold
investment properties

Investment in closed
pooled property fund

No early repayment is recognised
Where instruments have a maturity of less
than 12 months or are trade or other
receivable, fair value is taken to be the carrying
amount or billed amount
Level 2

Level 3

Valued at Fair Value at the year-end using the
investment method of valuation by Sanderson
Weatherall. The valuations have been
prepared in accordance with the RICS
Valuation – Global Standards (January 2020)
published by The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS) (“The Red Book”) and in
particular VPS 4 and UKVS 1, 2 and 4. This
report also takes account of the requirements
of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting.

Assumed void periods

Council's share of the Net Asset Value of the
fund

NAV based on the latest quarterly unaudited
accounts.

Estimated Rental Value (ERV)
Capitalisation Rate (Equivalent Yield)

All variables listed are observable inputs and susceptible to market
change.
The portfolio experiences high occupancy levels with most assets capable
of generating good levels of tenant demand in the current market.
Consequently, the total Fair Value reported for the portfolio has a low
level of sensitivity to significant changes in the assumed void period
input.
In contrast, the total Fair Value of the portfolio has a much higher level of
sensitivity to significant change in both the ERV and Equivalent Yield
inputs. We have prepared sensitivity analysis based on significant
changes made to these two inputs, which is summarised as follows:
Equivalent Yield change of +/- 100 bps results in a variance in the total
Fair Value for the portfolio from -15.06% to +21.67%. ERV change of +/10% results in a variance in the total Fair Value for the portfolio from 8.02% to +8.12%.
Material economic events occurring between 31 December 2019 and 31
March 2020

143 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Description of asset or
liability

NOTE 38B VALUATION OF ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
The valuation of financial instruments has been
classified into three levels, according to the quality
and reliability of information used to determine fair
values.
•

Page 240
•

144 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

•

Level 1 – where fair values are derived from
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (quoted
equities, quoted fixed securities, quoted
index linked securities and unit trusts). Listed
investments are shown at bid prices. The bid
value is based on the market quotation of
the relevant stock exchange.
Level 2 – where market prices are not
available, for example, where an instrument
is traded in a market that is not considered
to be active or where valuation techniques
are used to determine fair value and where
these techniques use inputs that are based
significantly on observable market data.
Level 3 – where at least one input that could
have a significant effect on the instrument’s
valuation is not based on observable market
data. Such instruments would include
unquoted equity investments and hedge
fund of funds, neither of which the Fund
currently invests in.

Note 38 Fair Value (continued)

The following table provides an analysis of the
financial assets and liabilities of the Council grouped
into the level at which fair value is observable.

31 March 2020 Restated*

31 March 2021

Quoted

Using

With

Quoted

Using

With

market

observable

significant

market price

observable

significant

price

inputs

unobservable

inputs

unobservable

inputs

inputs

Level 2

Level 3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Financial Assets

Page 241

-

-

27,483

Fair value through profit and loss assets

26,384

-

230

-

Assets at amortised cost

-

499,381

-

Investment property

-

-

-

Assets held for sale

2,202

-

499,611

27,483

Total Financial Assets

2,202

230
467,386

467,616

Liabilities at Amortised Cost*
-

174,113

-

Borrowing: Public Works Loan Board
(PWLB)

164,967

-

95,899

-

Lender Option Borrower Option loan

102,246

-

3,065

-

Service Concessions

-

273,077

-

Total Liabilities

3,643
270,856

*Loans and service concession liabilities are disclosed at fair value in this Note in accordance with the Code but are
carried at amortised cost in the Council’s balance sheet.

26,384

145 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Level 1

Note 38 Fair Value (continued)

NOTE 38C TRANSFERS BETWEEN LEVELS 1 AND 2
There were no transfers of assets between levels 1 and 2 during the year.

Page 242

2019/20 Restated*

Pooled property fund

2020/21

Pooled property fund

1 April 2019

Transfers into
Level 3

Transfers out of
Level 3

Purchases

Sales

Unrealised
gains/(losses)

Realised
gains/(losses)

31 March 2020

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

24,366

-

-

4,000

-

(883)

-

27,483

1 April 2020

Transfers into
Level 3

Transfers out of
Level 3

Purchases

Sales

Unrealised
gains/(losses)

Realised
gains/(losses)

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

27,483

-

-

-

-

(1,099)

-

26,384

146 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

NOTE 38D RECONCILIATION OF FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS WITHIN LEVEL 3

Note 39 Events After the Reporting Period
The Director of Finance and Resources authorised the Statement of Accounts on 23rd June 2021. Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements
or notes. Where events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 2021, the figures in the financial statements and notes have
been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.

147 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 243

148 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

Page 244

Group Accounts and Explanatory Notes
INTRODUCTION

•

The Group Accounts include the following:
•

Page 245
•

Group Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement - summarises
the resources that have been
generated and consumed in providing
services and managing the Group
during the year. It includes all day-today expenses and related income on an
accruals basis.
Group Movement in Reserves - shows
the movement in the year on the
Council's single entity usable and
unusable reserves together with the
Council's share of the Group reserves.

•

Group Balance Sheet - reports the
Council Group financial position at the
year-end.
Group Cash Flow Statement - shows the
changes in cash and cash equivalents of
the Group during the year. The
statement shows how the Group
generates and uses cash and cash
equivalents by classifying cashflows as
operating, financing and investing
activities.
Notes to the Group Accounts where the
balances are materially different to
those in the single entity accounts.

RESULTS OF SUBSIDIARIES
The following notes provide additional details about
the Authority's involvement in the entities
consolidated to form the group accounts.
Westminster Community Homes Ltd
The company is a housing development vehicle for
the Council and is structured as an Industrial and
Provident Society. The Council holds one of the three
shares in the company. The Council has dominant
control of the company by virtue of guaranteed
majority voting rights on the Board. Three officers of
the Council are members of the Board.
For 2020/21, the company’s results showed a profit of
£0.701m (£2.390m deficit in 2019/20), and net assets
of £10.021m (£9.320m at 31 March 2020). Loans
outstanding from the Council to the company total
£8.222m (£9.147m at 31 March 2020).
A full copy of the company's accounts can be
obtained from the Directors, Westminster Community
Homes Ltd, 64 Victoria Street, London SW1E 6QP. The
accounts are audited by Jones Avens Ltd.
Westminster Builds
Westminster Builds includes Westminster Housing
Developments Limited, and Luton Street LLP, which
provides cost effective housing in Westminster and
the rest of London. The company made a profit of
£3.943m (£0.216m in 2019/20), the group has net
liabilities of £4.159m (£0.216m in 2019/20).

149 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

The purpose of the Group Accounts is to provide a
picture of Westminster City Council and the group of
companies and other entities, which are either
controlled or are significantly influenced by the
Council. The Group Accounts show the full extent of
the Authority’s wider assets and liabilities, provide
transparency and enable comparison with other
entities that have different corporate entities.

•

Other entities within the Group
The other entities within the Group are:

•

Hub Make Lab CIC, which trades as Hub
Westminster, provides low cost office space
in the heart of London’s West End for startup businesses. The Company ceased trading
at its current location in February 2018 and
there are no material transactions for the
financial year. The company dissolved in June
2021. In 2020/21, the company reported a
loss of £0.002m. (£0.003m loss in 2019/20),
and net liabilities of £0.336m (net liabilities
of £0.329m at 31 March 2020).

•

Paddington Recreation Ground charity was
set up under the Paddington Recreation
Ground Act 1893 to manage the land and

150 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

WestCo Trading Ltd, which provides
communications support and business
transformation programmes mainly to public
sector clients. The company is a private
limited company with share capital of
£0.080m and is wholly owned by the Council.
The company had a net loss of £0.190m in
2020/21 (£0.048m in 2019/20) and had net
assets of £0.807m (£0.997m at 31 March
2020).

Page 246

•

facilities at Paddington Recreation Ground in
perpetuity. The Council is sole trustee of the
charity, which aims to break even year-onyear, entirely supported by funding from the
Council. The charity generated a surplus of
£1.058m in 2020/21 (0.933m in 2019/20).

Group Account Statements
GROUP COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
The statement shows the economic cost in year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices/IFRS, rather than the amount to be funded
from taxation. Councils' raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations: this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position, general fund, is
shown in the Movement in Reserves statement.
2019/20 Restated*

2020/21

Gross

Net

Gross

Gross

Net

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

112,615

(63,281)

49,334

Finance & Resources

104,924

(41,158)

63,766

7,718

(10,402)

(2,684)

Innovation and Change

10,698

(5,190)

5,508

151,862

(93,661)

58,201

Adults’ Services

157,449

(88,221)

69,228

162,551

(115,551)

47,000

Children’s Services

183,630

(125,820)

57,810

192,637

(140,096)

52,541

Environment and City Management

176,671

(99,522)

77,149

443,312

(374,671)

68,641

Growth, Planning & Housing

410,693

(377,813)

32,879

1,070,695

(797,662)

273,033

1,044,065

(737,724)

306,341

Cost of Services – Continuing Operations

151 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Page 247

Gross

Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (continued)
2019/20 Restated*

2020/21

Gross

Net

Gross

Gross

Net

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

Expenditure

Income

Expenditure

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

1,814

0

1,814

-

(33,457)

(33,457)

511

(32,874)

(32,363)

25,078

(110)

24,968

-

(315,520)

(315,520)

-

(289,280)

(289,280)

1,073,020

(1,146,056)

(73,036)

1,100,143

(1,091,571)

8,572

17

-

17

-

-

-

213

-

213

449

-

449

1,073,250

(1,146,056)

(72,806)

Group (Surplus)/Deficit

1,100,592

(1,091,571)

9,021

-

(68,748)

(68,748)

Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment

(6,250)

-

(6,250)

-

(93,911)

(93,911)

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability

70,502

-

70,502

-

(162,659)

(162,659)

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

64,252

-

64,252

1,073,250

(1,308,715)

(235,465)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

1,168,844

(1,091,571)

73,273

Other operating expenditure
Financing and investment income and expenditure
Taxation and non-specific grant Income
(Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services

Tax expenses of subsidiary
Share of (surplus)/Deficit on Joint Venture

*For further detail, please refer to Note 3 – Prior Period Adjustment

152 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Page 248

Gross

GROUP MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT

2019/20

Revenue Reserves

Capital Reserves

Restated*
General

Earmarked

Schools

General

Housing

Ear-

HRA

Capital

Capital

Fund

General

Reserves

Fund

Revenue

marked

Total

Receipts

Grants

Total

Account

Reserve

Unapplied

Balance

Fund
Reserves

Unusable
Reserves

Total
Authority
Reserves

Authority's
share of
subsidiaries

Total
Group
Reserves

Reserves

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(62,783)

(267,897)

(2,417)

(333,097)

(17,234)

-

(17,234)

(127,491)

(345,427)

(823,249)

(1,573,659)

(2,396,908)

(97,689)

(2,494,598)

(44,546)

-

-

(44,546)

(12,539)

-

(12,539)

-

-

(57,085)

-

(57,085)

1,431

(55,654)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(162,659)

(162,659)

-

(162,659)

(44,546)

-

-

(44,546)

(12,539)

-

(12,539)

-

-

(57,085)

(162,659)

(219,744)

1,431

(218,313)

Page 249

Movement in
reserves during
2019/20
(Surplus) or deficit
on provision of
services
(accounting basis)
Other
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Total
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure

153 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Balance at 31
March 2019
Restated

HRA

Total
Usable
Reserves

Group Movement in Reserves Statement (continued)
2019/20
Restated*

Revenue Reserves

Capital Reserves

Total
Usable
Reserves

Unusable
Reserves

Total
Authority
Reserves

Authority's
share of
subsidiaries

Total Group
Reserves

Earmarked
General
Fund
Reserves

Schools
Reserves

General
Fund
Total

Housing
Revenue
Account

Earmarked
HRA
Reserves

HRA
Total

Capital
Receipts
Reserve

Capital
Grants
Unapplied

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(17,153)

(17,153)

Net increase
before transfers

(44,546)

-

-

(44,546)

(12,539)

-

(12,539)

-

-

(57,085)

(162,659)

(219,744)

(15,722)

(235,466)

Adjustments
between
accounting basis
& funding basis
under regulations

11,517

-

11,517

12,408

-

12,408

31,637

(6,535)

49,027

(49,028)

(1)

-

(1)

(33,029)

-

-

(33,029)

(131)

-

(131)

31,637

(6,534)

(8,057)

(211,687)

(219,744)

(15,722)

(235,466)

32,499

(33,168)

669

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(530)

(33,168)

669

(33,029)

(131)

-

(131)

31,637

(6,534)

(8,057)

(211,687)

(219,744)

(15,722)

(235,466)

(63,313)

(301,065)

(1,748)

(366,126)

(17,365)

-

(17,365)

(95,854)

(351,961)

(831,306)

(1,785,346)

(2,616,652)

(113,411)

(2,730,063)

Adjustments
between group
accounts and
authority
accounts

Page 250

Net Increase /
Decrease before
Transfers to
Earmarked
Reserves
Transfers to /
from Earmarked
Reserves
Increase /
Decrease in Year
Balance at 31
March 2020

*For further detail, please refer to Note 3 – Prior Period Adjustment

154 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

General
Fund
Balance

Group Movement in Reserves Statement (continued)

2020/21

Revenue Reserves

Capital Reserves

General

Earmarked

Schools

General

Housing

Ear-

HRA

Capital

Capital

Fund

General

Reserves

Fund

Revenue

marked

Total

Receipts

Grants

Total

Account

Reserve

Unapplied

Balance

Fund
Reserves

HRA

Total
Usable
Reserves

Unusable
Reserves

Total
Authority
Reserves

Authority's
share of
subsidiaries

Total
Group
Reserves

Reserves

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

(63,313)

(301,065)

(1,748)

(366,126)

(17,365)

-

(17,365)

(95,854)

(351,961)

(831,306)

(1,785,346)

(2,616,652)

(113,411)

(2,730,063)

35,446

-

-

35,446

(23,286)

-

(23,286)

-

-

12,160

-

12,160

(5,063)

7,097

Other
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

64,252

64,252

-

64,252

Total
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure

35,446

-

-

35,446

(23,286)

-

(23,286)

-

-

12,160

64,252

76,412

(5,063)

71,349

Balance at 31
March 2020
Movement in
reserves during
2020/21

Page 251

(Surplus) or deficit
on provision of
services
(accounting basis)

* The unusable reserves include the revaluation reserve for dwellings held by Westminster Community Homes Ltd. Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure includes the
adjustment for the re-valuation to Existing Use Value - Social Housing on consolidation into the Council’s Group Accounts

155 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

£’000

Group Movement in Reserves Statement (continued)
2020/21

Page 252

Net increase
before transfers
Adjustments
between
accounting basis
& funding basis
under regulations
Net Increase /
Decrease before
Transfers to
Earmarked
Reserves
Transfers to /
from Earmarked
Reserves
Increase /
Decrease in Year
Balance at 31
March 2021

Capital Reserves

Total
Usable
Reserves

Unusable
Reserves

Total
Authority
Reserves

Authority's
share of
subsidiaries

Total
Group
Reserves

General
Fund
Balance

Earmarked
General
Fund
Reserves

Schools
Reserves

General
Fund
Total

Housing
Revenue
Account

Earmarked
HRA
Reserves

HRA
Total

Capital
Receipts
Reserve

Capital
Grants
Unapplied

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,923

1,923

35,446

-

-

35,446

(23,286)

-

(23,286)

-

-

12,160

64,252

76,412

(3,141)

73,272

(501,634)

-

-

(501,634)

23,077

-

23,077

(2,099)

58,123

(422,533)

422,533

-

-

-

(466,188)

-

-

(466,188)

(209)

-

(209)

(2,099)

58,123

(410,373)

486,785

76,412

(3,141)

73,272

470,068

(467,060)

(1,199)

1,808

(1,808)

-

(1,808)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

3,880

(467,060)

(1,199)

(464,380)

(2,017)

-

(2,017)

(2,099)

58,123

(410,372)

486,785

76,413

(3,141)

73,272

(59,433)

(768,125)

(2,947)

(830,506)

(19,382)

-

(19,382)

(97,953)

(293,838)

(1,241,678)

(1,298,561)

(2,540,239)

(116,552)

(2,656,791)

156 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Adjustments
between group
accounts and
authority
accounts

Revenue Reserves

GROUP BALANCE SHEET
31 March 2020 Restated*

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000
ASSETS
Non-current
2,746,503

499,382
1,318

Heritage Assets
Investment property
Intangible Assets

2,845,874
44,578
467,386
2,861

Page 253

85,633

Long -term investments

44,575

64,752

Long -term debtors

84,191

3,442,166

Total Long Term Assets

3,498,533

Current
543,947
261

Short-term investments
Inventories

237,998
485

97,502

Short-term debtors

562,297

43,761

Cash and other cash equivalents

88,366

685,471

Assets held for sale
Current Assets

2,202
891,348

157 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

44,578

Property, plant and equipment

Group Balance Sheet (continued)

31 March 2020 Restated*

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000
LIABILITIES

(16,828)

Short-term borrowing

(351,268)

Short-term creditors

(687)
(23,226)

(52)

Page 254

(72,299)

Short-term RIA
Current Liabilities

Long-term creditors

(559,760)
(1,105)
(15,112)
(583,105)

(7,317)

Provisions

(108,988)

(206,144)

Long-term borrowing

(200,697)

(642,316)

Other long-term liabilities - Pensions

(722,126)

(84,541)

Capital Grants - Receipts in Advance

(110,195)

(1,005,352)
(213)

Long-term liabilities
Council’s share Net Liabilities of Joint Venture

(1,149,323)
(661)

2,730,063

Net assets

(831,306)

Total Usable Reserves

(1,241,678)

Total Unusable Reserves

(1,298,560)

(1,785,346)
(113,411)
(2,730,063)

Share of Subsidiary reserves
Total Reserves

*For further detail, please refer to Note 3 – Prior Period Adjustment

2,656,792

(116,554)
(2,656,792)

158 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

(392,009)

Short-term provisions

(7,128)

GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT
2019/20
Restated*

Group Cash Flow Statement

£'000

2020/21

£'000
Cash flows from operating activities

(57,085)

Operating loss/surplus for the financial year

12,160

(11,302)

Interest received

(7,866)

8,502

Interest paid

9,392

Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements
Depreciation

(77,516)

(26,517)

Impairment and downward valuations

(28,620)

Increase/(decrease) in creditors

(39,278)

16,087
-

Page 255

(29,609)
15

Increase/(decrease) in provisions
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
(Increase)/decrease in inventories

56,579
14

(17,022)

Movement in pension liability

(18,426)

Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held for sale, sold or derecognised

(32,702)

Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services

(70,158)

90,229
(62,759)
0
23,420

Sub-total of non-cash movements

(9,651)

(201,332)

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that are investing
or financing activities
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible assets

71,466

115,460

Any other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing cash flows

50,593

138,880

Sub-total of adjustments included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of services that are
investing or financing activities

(1,923)

Subsidiary’s Cash Flows from Operating Activities by Group Entities

17,113

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

122,059
(4,124)
(71,237)

159 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

(77,516)

GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT (Continued)
2019/20
Restated*

Group Cash Flow Statement

£'000

2020/21
£'000

Investing activities
240,046
1,336,050
(23,420)

(113,821)

243,659

Purchase of short-term and long-term investments

947,656

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment property
and intangible assets

(65,334)

Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments
Other receipts from investing activities

(1,291,052)
(68,716)

Page 256

36,825

Authority's Cash Flows from Investing Activities

(233,787)

14,194

Subsidiary's Cash Flows from Investing Activities

5,616

51,019

Net cash flows from investing activities

(228,171)

Cash receipts of short- and long-term borrowing
20
3,004

Cash payments for the reduction of outstanding liabilities relating to finance
leases and on-Balance-Sheet PFI contracts
Repayments of short- and long-term borrowing

21
15,044

(44,503)

Other payments for financing activities

240,955

(41,479)

Authority's Cash Flows from Financing Activities

256,020

(16,906)

Subsidiary's Cash Flows from Investing Financing

(1,217)

(58,385)

Net cash flows from financing activities

254,803

Net (increase) or decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(44,605)

9,747
53,509

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period

43,761

43,761

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

88,366

*For further detail, please refer to Note 3 – Prior Period Adjustment

160 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

(1,402,030)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and intangible
assets

Note 1 Accounting Policies for the Group
The Group Accounts have been prepared in
accordance with the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21,
issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance
and Accountancy (CIPFA).

• WestCo Trading Ltd
• Westminster Procurement Services Ltd/CIC
• Hub Make Lab Ltd
• Paddington Recreation Ground Charity

Where group entities use different accounting policies
to the Council, their accounts have been restated to
re-align their accounting policies with those of the
Council where the effect of not doing so would be
material to the reader’s interpretation of the
accounts.
Grants held by Westminster Community Homes Ltd
are held on an amortised basis, as prescribed in the
Housing Associations SORP. Upon consolidation into
the Council’s Group accounts the grants are
recognised as income once conditions are met, in
order to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice.
Intra-group transactions have been eliminated before
consolidation on a line by line basis.

161 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Page 257

The Council has consolidated its interests in all the
entities over which it exercises control or significant
influence. Westminster Community Homes Ltd
Westminster Housing Investments Group have been
consolidated because together they are material to
the Council’s balance sheet. In addition, the Council
has consolidated the following remaining entities
within the Council Group in order to provide a full
picture of the Council’s arrangements for good
governance:

The results of entities, which the Council controls,
have been consolidated on a line by line basis as
subsidiaries.

Note 2 Group Property Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment within the Group is measured at current value and revalued at least every five years, by the Council’s valuers Sanderson Weatherall.
Details of when the Council’s property plant and equipment were revalued are shown in Note 18b to the single entity accounts.

2019/20

Other Land and
Buildings

Vehicles, Plant,
Furniture &
Equipment

Infrastructure
Assets

Community
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

1,527,384

633,229

76,758

530,659

23,135

143,079

2,934,244

Additions

84,623

30,072

4,375

50,287

1,965

78,306

249,628

Revaluations increases/(decrease) recognised in the Revaluation Reserve

(5,405)

9,939

-

-

-

-

4,534

Revaluations increases/(decrease) recognised in the Surplus/deficit on the
Provision of Services

(5,116)

(25,417)

-

-

-

-

(30,533)

Derecognition - disposals

(9,909)

(7,639)

-

-

-

(357)

(17,905)

Derecognition - other

(386)

(2,849)

-

-

-

(832)

(4,067)

Assets reclassified

7,691

(9,895)

(63)

-

-

2,267

-

Other Movement in Cost or Valuation

9,423

48,580

-

2

2

(59,550)

(1,543)

1,608,305

676,020

81,070

580,948

25,102

162,913

3,134,358

Gross book value

Page 258

At 1 April 2019

At 31 March 2020

162 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Council
Dwellings

Note 2 Group Property Plant and Equipment (continued)
2019/20 Restated*

Council Dwellings

Other Land and
Buildings

Vehicles, Plant,
Furniture &
Equipment

Infrastructure Assets

Community
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total Property, Plant
and Equipment

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

(6,131)

(10,431)

(68,679)

(284,316)

-

-

(369,557)

(17,829)

(25,907)

(2,842)

(31,392)

-

-

(77,970)

31,500

22,006

-

-

-

-

53,506

-

4,393

-

-

-

-

4,393

Derecognition - disposals

24

449

-

-

-

-

473

Derecognition - other

22

-

-

-

-

-

22

(7,586)

9,488

92

-

-

(716)

1,278

-

(2)

(71,429)

(315,708)

-

(716)

(387,855)

At 31 March 2020 Restated*

1,608,305

676,018

9,641

265,240

25,102

162,197

2,746,503

At 31 March 2019

1,521,253

622,798

8,079

246,343

23,135

143,079

2,564,687

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2019

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation
Reserve
Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in the
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

Page 259

Other Movements in Depreciation and
Impairments
At 31 March 2020

Net book value:

163 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Depreciation Charge

Note 2 Group Property Plant and Equipment (continued)
2020/21

Council Dwellings

Other Land and
Buildings

Vehicles, Plant,
Furniture &
Equipment

Infrastructure
Assets

Community
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Gross book value
At 1 April 2020

Revaluations increases/(decrease) recognised in the
Revaluation Reserve

Page 260

Revaluations increases/(decrease) recognised in the
Surplus/deficit on the Provision of Services
Derecognition - Disposals
Derecognition - Other
Assets reclassified
Other Movement in Cost or Valuation
At 31 March 2021

676,020

81,070

580,948

25,102

162,913

3,134,358

67,175

25,978

1,372

60,503

2,283

89,587

246,898

(48,485)

17,545

-

-

-

-

(30,940)

(15,528)

(15,943)

-

-

-

-

(31,471)

(4,185)

(14,054)

-

-

-

(7,901)

(26,141)

(79)

(1)

(40,540)

(180,532)

-

-

(221,152)

-

-

-

(1)

-

(11,351)

(11,352)

12,471

5,039

652

183

307

(18,869)

(218)

1,619,674

694,584

42,554

461,101

27,692

214,379

3,059,983

164 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Additions

1,608,305

Note 2 Group Property Plant and Equipment (continued)
2020/21

Council Dwellings

Other Land and
Buildings

Vehicles, Plant,
Furniture &
Equipment

Infrastructure Assets

Community
Assets

Assets Under
Construction

Total Property, Plant
and Equipment

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

(2)

(71,429)

(315,708)

-

(716)

(387,855)

(19,752)

(25,902)

(3,727)

(30,202)

-

-

(79,584)

19,603

16,078

-

-

-

-

35,681

-

2,852

-

-

-

-

2,852

Derecognition - disposals

88

1,564

-

-

-

716

2,368

Derecognition - other

61

-

40,541

180,532

-

-

221,134

Other Movements in Depreciation and
Impairments

-

363

-

-

-

-

363

At 31 March 2021

-

(5,048)

(34,616)

(165,377)

-

-

(205,041)

At 31 March 2021

1,619,674

689,536

7,939

295,723

27,692

214,379

2,854,942

At 31 March 2020 Restated*

1,608,305

676,018

9,641

265,240

25,102

162,197

2,746,503

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 April 2020

Depreciation written out to the Revaluation
Reserve
Impairment losses/(reversals) recognised in
the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services

Page 261

Net book value:

165 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

Depreciation Charge

Note 3 Group Prior Period Adjustment
A review of the Council's accounts identified the following issue requiring restatement of the 2019/20 figures.
In 2019/20 the Council had taken the view that the Luton Street Development LLP was a subsidiary based on profit share arrangements which entitle the Council to 60% of net
returns. The LLP was consolidated on this basis using 2019/20 management accounts. In 2020/21 WCC has re-visited this appraisal and concludes that the requirement for
unanimous consent in decision-making takes precedence over financial considerations, the LLP has therefore been accounted for as a joint venture.
As the adjustment occurs during 2019/20, the balances at 1 April 2019 are not affected and as such no restatement is required..

Growth, Planning & Housing
Cost of services

£'000
69,109
273,501

Restatement
Removal - Luton Street Development
LLP
£'000
(468)
(468)

(Surplus)/Deficit on provision of services
Share of (surplus)/Deficit on Joint Venture

(72,568)
-

(468)
213

(73,036)
213

(72,551)
(235,211)

(255)
(255)

(72,806)
(235,466)

2019/20 as previously stated

Page 262

Group (Surplus)/Deficit
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit

2019/20 Restated
£'000
68,641
273,033

EFFECT ON MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT – AUTHORITY'S SHARE OF SUBSIDIARIES
Restatement
2019/20 as previously stated

Removal - Luton Street Development
LLP

2019/20 Restated
£'000

£'000

£'000

(Surplus)/Deficit on provision of services

1,686

(255)

1,431

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

1,686

(255)

1,431

Net (Increase) / Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves

(15,467)

(255)

(15,722)

(Increase)/Decrease in Year
Balance at 31 March 2020

(15,467)

(255)

(15,722)

(113,156)

(255)

(113,411)

166 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

EFFECT ON COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 2019/20

Note 3 Group Prior Period Adjustment (continued)
EFFECT ON MOVEMENT IN RESERVES – TOTAL GROUP RESERVES
Restatement
Removal - Luton Street Development
LLP

2019/20 Restated

£'000

£'000

£'000

(55,399)

(255)

(55,654)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

(218,058)

(255)

(218,313)

Net (increase)/decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves

(235,211)

(255)

(235,466)

(Increase)/Decrease in Year

(235,211)

(255)

(235,466)

(2,729,808)

(255)

(2,730,063)

(Surplus)/Deficit on provision of services

Balance at 31 March 2020

Page 263

EFFECT ON BALANCE SHEET AT 31 MARCH 2020

Long -term debtors
Total Long Term Assets
Short-term investments
Inventories
Short-term debtors
Cash and other cash equivalents
Current Assets
Short-term creditors
Current Liabilities
Long-term creditors
Long-term borrowing
Long-term liabilities
Share of subsidiary & joint venture net assets
Net assets
Share of Subsidiary & Joint Venture Reserves
Total Reserves

Restatement
2019/20 as previously stated
£'000
54,450
3,431,864
543,945
22,197
97,559
45,119
708,820
(354,306)
(395,047)
(227)
(216,446)
(1,015,829)
0
2,729,808
(113,156)
(2,729,808)

Removal - Luton Street Development LLP
£'000
10,302
10,302
2
(21,936)
(57)
(1,358)
(23,349)
3,038
3,038
175
10,302
10,477
(213)
255
(255)
(255)

2019/20 Restated
£'000
64,752
3,442,166
543,947
261
97,502
43,761
685,471
(351,268)
(392,009)
(52)
(206,144)
(1,005,352)
(213)
2,730,063
(113,411)
(2,730,063)

167 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GROUP ACCOUNTS AND EXPLANATORY NOTES

2019/20 as previously stated

Page 264

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Statements
HRA INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
STATEMENT AND MOVEMENT ON HRA
BALANCE

2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000
Expenditure

24,459

Repairs and Maintenance

18,953

50,583

Supervision and Management

52,171

1,568

Rents, Rates, Taxes and Other Charges

1,402

(1,302)

Increase/(decrease) in Impairment Allowance for Doubtful Debts

1,179

26,354

Depreciation, Impairment and Revaluation losses in relation to non-current assets

98
101,760

Debt Management Cost
Total HRA Expenditure

40,718
114,422

HRA Income
(72,810)

Dwellings Rents

(74,076)

(1,794)

Non-dwellings Rents

(7,488)

Charges for Services and Facilities

(20,316)

(19,264)

Contributions towards Expenditure

(11,266)

(101,356)
404

Total HRA Income
Net Cost of HRA services as included in the whole-authority Income and Expenditure Statement

(1,149)

(106,806)
(7,616)

169 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

Page 265

This account shows the cost of financing, managing
and maintaining the Council’s housing stock. The total
cost is met by income from rents, charges and other
income such as commercial rents. The Council
brought Housing Services in house from 2020/21,
which was previously outsourced to the Council’s
Arm’s Length Management Organisations (ALMO),
City West Homes. There was no management fee for
2020/21 and CWH staff were transferred over to the
Council as part of TUPE arrangements. The increase or
decrease in HRA Balances, on the basis upon which
income and expenditure are managed, is shown in the
Movement on the Housing Revenue Account
Statement.

HRA Income and Expenditure Statement

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Statements (continued)
HRA Income and Expenditure Statement (continued)
2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

163

HRA services share of Corporate and Democratic Core

567

Net Cost of HRA services including HRA share of costs not allocated to specific services

101
(7,716)

(Gain) or loss on sale of HRA non-current assets

(5,803)

Capital grants and contributions

(7,738)

Movements in the fair value of investment properties

12,626

(770)

Page 266

10,000

Interest payable and similar charges

(7,494)

HRA Investment Property income

(68)
(12,539)

HRA Investment Income
(Surplus) or deficit for the year on HRA services

(38,473)

9,382
(6,579)
(221)
(23,286)

170 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

(8,971)

Movement on the Housing Revenue Account Statement
2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

(17,234)

Balance on the HRA at the end of the previous reporting period

(17,365)

(12,539)

(Surplus) or deficit for the year on the HRA Services

(23,286)

Adjustments between the accounting basis and funding basis:
23,331
8,962

59
(20,714)

24,608

(Gain) or loss on sale of HRA non-current assets

31,610

Movements in the fair value of investment properties
Financial Instrument Adjustment
Transfer (to) the Capital Adjustment Account (CAA)

(12,626)
49
(28,555)

Page 267

-

Contributions to Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve (DCRR)

6,868

-

Transfers to Accumulated Absences Account

(101)

-

Transfers to Capital Receipts Reserve (CRR)

1,224

Net (increase) or decrease before transfers to or from reserves

(209)

(131)
(131)

Transfers to or (from) the General Fund

(1,808)

(Increase) or decrease in year on the HRA

(2,017)

(17,365)

Balance on the HRA at the end of the current reporting period

(19,382)

(17,365)

Total HRA Reserves

(19,382)

171 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

770

Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Explanatory Notes
HRA 1 Housing Stock
31 March 2021

£’000

£’000

748
11,009
80

Page 268

8,949
20,786

Rented Houses
Rented Flats
Shared Ownership
Leasehold Properties
Total Stock

750
11,074
65
8,947
20,836

172 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

31 March 2020

HRA 2 Housing Asset Valuation
a) The vacant possession value of HRA tenanted dwellings is £6.180m.
b) The difference between the vacant possession value and the Balance Sheet value of dwellings within the HRA adjusts for the economic cost to the Government of providing
housing at below market rents. This cost is determined by applying the Government prescribed discount rate (25% of Market Value) to the vacant possession value.

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£’000

£’000

Page 269

2,966
(1,448)
1,517

Rent Arrears
Bad Debt Provision
Total

3,199
(1,678)
1,521

173 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

HRA 3 Rent Arrears and Provision

Collection Fund Accounts
The Collection Fund shows the transactions of the billing authority in relation to the collection of council tax and non-domestic rates from local taxpayers, and its subsequent
distribution to local authorities and the Government. There is no requirement for a separate Collection Fund Balance Sheet since the assets and liabilities arising from collecting
non-domestic rates and council tax belong to the bodies concerned (i.e. major preceptors, the billing authority and the Government). The Council’s share of council tax and
business rates income is reflected in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis in line with the Code.
The Council’s share of council tax and business rates income is reflected in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an agency basis in line with the Code.
However, the amount to be reflected in the General Fund is determined by regulation. Therefore, there is an adjustment for the difference between the accrued income and the
statutory credit made through the Movement in Reserves Statement and the Collection Fund Adjustment Account.

Page 270

Business Rates

Business Rates

Council Tax

Total

2020/21
Collection Fund

Business Rates

Supplement
£’000

£’000

Business Rates

Council Tax

Total

Supplement
£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

(107,939)

(107,939)

(1,316,755)

-

-

(1,316,755)

8,593

-

-

8,593

-

(44,818)

-

(44,818)

(1,308,163)

(44,818)

(107,939)

(1,460,919)

INCOME
-

-

(104,703)

(104,703)

(2,224,437)

-

-

(2,224,437)

5,119

-

-

5,119

-

(78,908)

-

(78,908)

(2,219,318)

(78,908)

(104,703)

(2,402,929)

Council Tax
Non-domestic rates
Transitional protection payments - non-domestic rates
Income collectable in respect of Business Rate Supplements
Total amounts to be credited

174 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

2019/20

Collection Fund Accounts (continued)
2019/20
Business Rates

Business Rates

Council Tax

Total

2020/21
Collection Fund

Business Rates

Supplement
£’000

£’000

Business Rates

Council Tax

Total

Supplement
£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

-

-

-

-

Central Government

768,652

-

-

768,652

City of Westminster Council

698,774

-

59,704

758,478

Greater London Assembly

861,822

-

44,065

905,887

Payment to levying authority's Business Rate Supplement Revenue Account

-

44,156

-

44,156

Administrative Costs

-

103

-

103

Write-offs of uncollectable amounts

15,311

558

557

16,427

Increase/(decrease) in allowance for impairment

58,300

-

4,900

63,200

214,815

-

-

214,815

3,314

-

-

3,314

EXPENDITURE
-

-

-

-

Transitional protection payments - non-domestic rates

555,939

-

-

555,939

1,067,403

-

56,683

1,124,086

600,414

-

41,769

642,183

Page 271

Business Rate Supplement:
-

77,976

-

77,976

-

102

-

102

Charges to Collection Fund
22,745

830

-

23,575

200

-

3,920

4,120

(72,500)

-

-

(72,500)

3,324

-

-

3,324

Increase/(decrease) in allowance for appeals
Charge to General Fund for allowable collection costs for non-domestic rates

175 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

Precepts, demands and shares

Collection Fund Accounts (continued)
2019/20
Business Rates

£’000

Business Rates

Council

Supplement

Tax

£’000

£’000

Total

2020/21
Collection Fund

Business Rates

Business Rates

Council Tax

Total

Supplement
£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

Central Government

23,869

-

-

23,869

City of Westminster Council

48,685

-

1,043

49,728

Greater London Assembly

27,386

-

768

28,154

2,720,928

44,818

111,038

2,876,784

1,412,766

-

3,099

1,415,865

(46,256)

-

(2,481)

(48,737)

1,366,510

-

618

1,367,128

Apportionment of previous year's estimated Collection Fund surplus:
-

-

(11,442)

13,962

-

846

14,808

875

-

598

1,473

2,180,920

78,908

103,816

2,363,644

Total amounts to be debited

Page 272

Movements on the Collection Fund

(38,398)

-

(887)

(39,285)

(7,858)

-

(1,594)

(9,452)

(46,256)

-

(2,481)

(48,737)

(Surplus) /deficit arising during the year

(Surplus)/deficit brought forward at 1 April
(Surplus)/deficit carried forward at 31 March

176 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

(11,442)

Collection Fund Explanatory Notes
COLL 1 General

Page 273

Surpluses or deficits on the council tax income and
distributions are apportioned to the relevant
precepting body in the following financial year in
proportion to each body’s Band D Council Tax
amount.
Business rate surpluses or deficits are distributed in
accordance with the relevant proportions set out in
the localised business rate regulations.

The proportions were as follows:
2019/20

2020/21

Council Tax

Business Rates

Council Tax

Business Rates

-

25%

Department of Communities & Local Government

-

33%

42.5%

27%

Greater London Authority

42.6%

37%

57.5%

48%

Westminster City Council (General Fund)

57.4%

30%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

177 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

The Council, as a billing authority, is statutorily
required to maintain a separate Collection Fund
account as agent into which all transactions relating
to collection of business rate and council tax income
from taxpayers and distribution to local government
bodies and central government are made. The
Collection Fund account is accounted for separately
from the General Fund.

COLL 2 Council Tax
2019/20
Band

2020/21

Range of property

Number of chargeable

values (£)

dwellings

£
A

Multiplier

Number of

Band D

chargeable

equivalent

dwellings

dwellings

£
40,000

1,722

6/9

1,704

934

Page 274

B

40,001

52,000

6,676

7/9

6,627

4,063

C

52,001

68,000

15,962

8/9

15,968

12,025

D

68,001

88,000

22,834

9/9

22,866

19,718

E

88,001

120,000

23,159

11/9

23,389

24,798

F

120,001

160,000

17,806

13/9

18,105

22,889

G

160,001

320,000

23,180

15/9

23,376

34,764

H

320,001

15,867

18/9

16,005

30,173

128,040

149,364

127,206
Adjustment for Council Tax Reduction Scheme

(13,028)

Total

136,336

Westminster Council Share (97%)

132,246

Ministry of Defence Adjustment
Final Council Tax Base

453
132,669

178 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

Council tax is charged on residential properties based
upon valuation bandings established when the system
was introduced in 1993. The number of properties in
each band and calculation of the tax base (adjusted to
reflect relevant discounts and exemptions) was
approved by Full Council in January 2020, and is
summarised in the table to the right:

COLL 3 Business Rates
The Council collects business rates for its area based
on rateable values (as determined by the Valuation
Office Agency) and multipliers set by central
government. There are two multipliers:
51.2p / £
Rateable Value
(50.4p in
2019/20)

Small Business Multiplier

49.9p / £
Rateable Value
(49.1p in
2019/20)

A system of Tariff and Top-Up payments operates on
the localised shares distributed to local government
bodies (Westminster and the GLA). A significant
proportion of Westminster’s retained share (£699m)
in 2020/21 is subsequently top-sliced and returned to
Business Rates Pool for redistribution across local
government. The main advantage of being part of the
pool is not paying levy on growth which would
normally be paid to MHCLG but is now redistributed
within London boroughs.

Page 275

The total income to be received in the year was
estimated and notified to related bodies in the
immediately preceding January in accordance with
Regulations. Those estimates were as follows:

2019/20

2020/21

£’000
555,939

£’000
Central Government

768,652

1,067,403

Westminster City Council

698,774

600,414

Greater London Assembly

861,882

2,223,756

Total

2,329,248

179 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

Standard Multiplier

The total rateable value for business premises as at
the end of March 2021 was £5.020bn (£5.078bn for
the prior year).

COLL 4 Business Rates Supplements – Crossrail
Business Rates Supplement (BRS) is levied by the
Greater London Authority on non-domestic properties
with a rateable value of £70,000 or more and is
subject to certain allowances and exemptions.

The aggregate rateable value of properties liable for BRS at 31st March 2021 was £4.478bn (the equivalent figure at
31st March 2020 being £4.546bn). The multiplier has remained at 2.0p / £ since the BRS was introduced.

180 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • SUPPLEMENTARY ACCOUNTS AND NOTES

Page 276

181 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 277

Pension Fund Accounts
FUND ACCOUNT
2019/20

Notes

£'000

2020/21
£'000

Dealings with members, employers and others
directly involved in the fund

(54,244)

From Employers

Note 6

(46,660)

(10,105)

From Members

Note 6

(10,854)

Page 278

(8,267)

Individual Transfers in from Other Pension
Funds

(3,678)

(72,616)

(61,192)

Benefits
47,628

Pensions

Note 7

49,146

7,092

Commutation, Lump Sum Retirement and
Death Benefits

Note 7

8,677

1,190

Payments in respect of tax

521

Payments to and on Account of Leavers
7,480
306
63,696

Individual Transfers Out to Other Pension
Funds
Refunds to Members Leaving Service

5,602
130
64,076

182 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Contributions

Fund Account (continued)
2019/20

Notes

£'000
(8,920)

6,834
(2,086)

2020/21
£'000

Net (Additions)/Withdrawals from Dealings with
Members

Management Expenses

2,884

Note 8

12,971

Returns on Investments
(16,259)

Page 279

(1,716)

Investment Income
Other Income

Note 9
-

(17,975)

114,859

(8,656)
(9)
(8,665)

(Profit) and loss on disposal of investments and
changes in the market value of investments

Note 11

(432,487)

96,884

Net return on investments

(441,152)

94,798

Net (Increase)/Decrease in the Net Assets Available
for Benefits During the Year

(428,181)

(1,418,332)

Opening Net Assets of the Scheme

(1,323,534)

(1,323,534)

Closing Net Assets of the Scheme

(1,751,715)

183 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Net (additions)/withdrawals including management
expenses

10,087

Fund Account (continued)
NET ASSETS STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021*
2019/20

Notes

£'000
150
1,300,427

2020/21
£'000

Investment assets
11

150

Pooled Investment Vehicles

11

1,684,306

Income Due

11

109

Debtors

11

62,788

Other Investment Balances:
119
-

Page 280

19,044

Cash Deposits

1,319,740
-

1,747,353
11

Investment Liabilities

150
-

-

Net Value of Investment Assets

Note 10

1,747,353

4,640

Current Assets

Note 18

5,198

(846)

Current Liabilities

Note 19

(836)

1,319,740

1,323,534 Net Assets of the Fund Available to Fund
Benefits at the Period End

1,751,715

* The Fund's financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the period end.
The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed in Note 17.

184 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Equities

Pension Fund Accounts (continued)

Note 1 Description of the City of Westminster Pension
Fund
The Fund is governed by the Public Service Pensions
Act 2013 and the following secondary legislation:
•

The LGPS Regulations 2013 (as amended)

•

The LGPS (transitional Provisions, Savings and
Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as amended)
and

•

The LGPS (Management and Investment of
Funds) Regulations 2016.

b) Funding
The Fund is financed by contributions from
employees, the Council, the admitted and scheduled
bodies and from interest and dividends on the Fund’s
investments. Contributions are made by active
members of the Fund in accordance with the LGPS
Regulations 2013 and range from 5.5% to 12.5% of
pensionable pay for the financial year ending 31
March 2021. Employers also pay contributions into
the Fund based on triennial funding valuations. The
last such valuation was as at 31 March 2019, this
covers the three financial years following 2019/20.
Currently employer contribution rates range from
12.0% to 37.0% of pensionable pay, as per the 2019
valuation.

185 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 281

a) General
The Pension Fund (the Fund) is part of the Local
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and is
administered by the Westminster City Council. It is a
contributory defined benefits scheme established in
accordance with statute, which provides for the
payment of benefits to employees and former
employees of the Westminster City Council and the
admitted and scheduled bodies in the Fund. These
benefits include retirement pensions and early
payment of benefits on medical grounds and payment
of death benefits where death occurs either in service
or in retirement. The benefits payable in respect of
service from 1st April 2014 are based on career
average revalued earnings and the number of years of
eligible service. Pensions are increased each year in
line with the Consumer Price Index.

Note 1 Description of the City of Westminster Pension Fund (continued)
c) Benefits
Prior to 1 April 2014, pension benefits under the LGPS were based on final pensionable pay and length of
pensionable service, summarised in the following table:

Pension

Service post 31 March 2008

Each year worked is worth 1/80 x final pensionable

Each year worked is worth 1/60 x final pensionable

pay

pay

Automatic lump sum of 3 x pension.

No automatic lump sum.

In addition, part of the annual pension can be

Page 282

exchanged for a one-off tax-free cash payment. A
lump sum of £12 is paid for each £1 of pension given
up.

Part of the annual pension can be exchanged for a
one-off tax-free cash payment. A lump sum of £12
is paid for each £1 of pension given up.

From 1 April 2014, the scheme became a career average revalued earnings (CARE) scheme, whereby members
accrue benefits based on their pensionable pay in that year at an accrual rate of 1/49th. Accrued pension is updated
annually in line with the Consumer Prices Index.
There are a range of other benefits provided under the scheme including early retirement, disability pensions, and
death benefits.
Westminster Pension Fund provides an additional voluntary contributions (AVC) scheme for its members, the assets
of which are invested separately from the pension fund. The Fund has appointed Aegon and Utmost Life and
Pensions as its AVC providers. AVCs are paid to the AVC providers by employers and specifically for providing
additional benefits for individual contributors. Each AVC contributor receives an annual statement showing the
amount held in their account and the movements in the year.

The Committee reports to the Full Council and has full
delegated authority to make investment decisions.
The Committee considers views from Council Officers
including the Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and
Treasury, and obtains, as necessary, advice from the
Fund’s appointed investment advisors, fund managers
and actuary.
In line with the provisions of the Public Service
Pensions Act 2013 the Council has set up a Local
Pension Board to oversee the governance
arrangements of the Pension Fund. The Board meets
quarterly and has its own Terms of Reference. Board
members are independent of the Pension Fund
Committee.
The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the
preparation of the Pension Fund Statement of
Accounts. The Audit and Performance Committee are
responsible for approving the financial statements for
publish.

186 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Lump Sum

Service pre 1 April 2008

d) Governance
The Council has delegated management of the fund to
the Pension Fund Committee (the ‘Committee’) who
decide on the investment policy most suitable to meet
the liabilities of the Fund and have the ultimate
responsibility for the investment policy. The
Committee is made up of four Members of the Council
each of whom has voting rights.

Note 1 Description of the City of Westminster Pension Fund (continued)

Page 283

The Committee has delegated the management of
the Fund’s investments to external investment
managers (see Note 10) appointed in accordance
with regulations, and whose activities are specified in
detailed investment management agreements and
monitored on a quarterly basis.

f) Membership
Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and employees are
free to choose whether to join the scheme, remain in the
scheme or make their own personal arrangements outside
the scheme.
Organisations participating in the City of Westminster
Pension Fund include:
Scheduled bodies, which are local authorities and
similar bodies whose staff are automatically
entitled to be members of the Fund
Admitted bodies, which are other organisations that
participate in the Fund under an admission
agreement between the Fund and the relevant
organisation. Admitted bodies include voluntary,
charitable and similar bodies or private
contractors undertaking a local authority
function following outsourcing to the private
sector.

The following table summarises the membership
numbers of the scheme:
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

30

Number of employers with
active members

32

3,981

Active members

4,228

6,122

Pensioners receiving benefits

6,280

6,700

Deferred Pensioners

6,856

16,803

17,364

187 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

e) Investment Principles
In accordance with the LGPS (Management and
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 the
Committee approved an Investment Strategy
Statement on 11 March 2021 (available on the
Council’s website). The Statement shows the
Authority’s compliance with the Myners principles of
investment management.

Note 2 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements
The Statement of Accounts summarise the Fund’s transactions for 2020/21 and its position at year end as at 31st March 2021. The accounts have been prepared in accordance
with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (the Code) issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
which is based upon International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as amended for the UK public sector.
The accounts summarise the transactions of the Fund and report on the net assets available to pay pension benefits.

Page 284

The Pension Fund Accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis, with the assumption that the functions of the authority will continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. The City of Westminster Pension Fund remains a statutory open scheme, with a strong covenant from the active employers and is therefore able to take a
long term outlook when considering the general investment and funding implications of external events.

188 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

The accounts do not take account of obligations to pay pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of the financial year, nor do they take into account the actuarial present
value of promised retirement benefits. The Code gives administering authorities the option to disclose this information in the Net Asset Statement, in the notes to the accounts
or by appending an actuarial report prepared for this purpose. The Authority has opted to disclose this information in an accompanying report to the accounts, which is disclosed
in Note 17.

Note 3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
FUND ACCOUNT – REVENUE
RECOGNITION
a) Contribution Income
Normal contributions, both from the members and
from the employer, are accounted for on an accruals
basis at the percentage rate recommended by the
actuary in the payroll period to which they relate.

Page 285

Employer’s augmentation and pension strain
contributions are accounted for in the period in which
the liability arises. Any amount due in year but unpaid
is classed as a current financial asset.
b) Transfers to and from Other Schemes
Transfer values represent the amounts received and
paid during the year for members who have either
joined or left the Fund during the financial year and are
calculated in accordance with the LGPS Regulations.
Individual transfers in/out are accounted for when
received/paid, which is normally when the member
liability is accepted or discharged. Bulk (group)
transfers are accounted for on an accruals basis in
accordance with the terms of the transfer agreement.

Interest income is recognised in the fund account as it
accrues, using the effective interest rate of the
financial instrument as at the date of acquisition or
origination.
Distributions from pooled funds are recognised at the
date of issue. Any amount not received by the end of
the reporting period is recognised as a current financial
asset in the net asset statement.
Where the amount of an income distribution has not
been received from an investment manager by the
balance sheet date, an estimate based upon the
market value of their mandate at the end of the year is
used.
Changes in the net market value of investments are
recognised as income and comprise all realised and
unrealised profits and losses during the year.

FUND ACCOUNT – EXPENSE ITEMS
d) Benefits Payable
Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable include all
amounts known to be due as at the end of the financial
year. Lump sums are accounted for in the period in
which the member becomes a pensioner. Any
amounts due but unpaid are disclosed in the net assets
statement as current liabilities.
e) Taxation
The Fund is an exempt approved fund under section
1(1) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as such
is exempt from UK income tax on interest received and
from capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments
sold. As the Council is the administering authority for
the Fund, VAT input tax is recoverable on all Fund
activities including expenditure on investment
expenses. Where tax can be reclaimed, investment
income in the accounts is shown gross of UK tax.
Income from overseas investments suffers withholding
tax in the country of origin, unless exemption is
permitted. Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as a fund
expense as it arises.
f) VSP, MSP and lifetime allowance
Members are entitled to request the Pension Fund
pays their tax liabilities due in respect of annual
allowance and lifetime allowance in exchange for a
reduction in pension.
Where the Fund pays member tax liabilities direct to
HMRC it is treated as an expense in the year in which
the payment occurs

189 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Employer deficit funding contributions are accounted
for on the due dates on which they are due under the
schedule of contributions set by the actuary or on
receipt if earlier than the due date.

c) Investment Income
Investment income is reported gross of withholding
taxes which are accrued in line with the associated
investment income. Investment income arising from
the underlying investments of the Pooled Investment
Vehicles is either reinvested within the Pooled
Investment Vehicles and reflected in the unit price or
taken as a cash dividend to support the Fund’s
outgoing cash flow requirements.

Note 3 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

g) Management Expenses
Pension fund management expenses are accounted for
in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for
Local Government Pension Scheme Management Costs
2016.

Oversight and governance expenses are accounted for
on an accrual’s basis. All staff costs associated with
governance and oversight are charged to the Fund.
Associated management, accommodation and other
overheads are apportioned to this activity and charged
as expenses to the Fund.
The cost of obtaining investment advice from the
external advisor is included in oversight and
governance costs.
All investment management expenses are accounted
for on an accrual’s basis. The Committee has appointed
external investment managers to manage the
investments of the Fund. Managers are paid a fee
based on the market value of the investments they
manage and/or a fee based on performance.
Where an investment manager’s fee note has not been
received by the balance sheet date, an estimate based
upon the market value of the mandate as at the end of
the year is used for inclusion in the fund account.

h) Financial Assets
Financial assets are included in the net assets
statement on a fair value basis as at the reporting date.
A financial asset is recognised in the net asset
statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the
contractual acquisition of the asset. From this date any
gains or losses arising from changes in the value of the
asset are recognised in the Fund account.
The values of investments as shown in the net asset
statement have been determined at fair value in
accordance with the requirements of the Code and
IFRS 13 (see Note 14).
i) Derivatives
The Fund uses derivative financial instruments
indirectly to manage its exposure to specific risks
arising from its investment activities. The Fund does
not hold derivatives for speculative purposes.
j) Foreign Currency Transactions
Dividends, interest and purchases and sales of
investments in foreign currencies have been
accounted for at the spot market rates at the date of
the transaction. End of year spot market exchange
rates are used to value cash balances held in foreign
currency bank accounts, market values of overseas
investments and purchases and sales outstanding at
the end of the reporting period.
k) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and
deposits with financial institutions which are repayable
on demand without penalty.

l) Financial Liabilities
The Fund recognises financial liabilities at fair value as
at the reporting date. A financial liability is recognised
in the net assets statement on the date the Fund
becomes party to the liability. From this date any gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
liability are recognised by the Fund.
m) Actuarial present value of promised retirement
benefits
The actuarial present value of promised retirement
benefits should be disclosed and based on the
requirements of IAS 19 Post-Employment Benefits and
relevant actuarial standards. As permitted under the
Code, the financial statements include a note
disclosing the actuarial present value of retirement
benefits (see Note 17).
n) Additional Voluntary Contributions
AVCs are not included in the accounts in accordance
with Regulation 4(1)(b) of the Local Government
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of
Funds) Regulations 2016 but are disclosed as a note
only (Note 20).
o) Recharges from the General Fund
The LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016 permit the Council to charge
administration costs to the Fund. A proportion of the
relevant Council costs have been charged to the Fund
on the basis of actual time spent on Pension Fund
business. Costs incurred in the administration and the
oversight and governance of the Fund are set out
separately in Note 21.

190 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 286

All administrative expenses are accounted for on an
accrual’s basis. All staff costs of the pension
administration team are charged direct to the Fund.
Associated management, accommodation and other
overheads are apportioned to this activity and charged
as expenses to the Fund.

NET ASSETS STATEMENT

Note 4 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting
Policies
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 3 above, the Council has had to make certain critical judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty
about future events.
There were no such critical judgements made during 2020/21.
191 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 287

Note 5 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other
Major Sources of Uncertainty

COVID-19 IMPACT

Page 288

Following the uncertainty surrounding asset values as result of the COVID19 outbreak during late 2019/20, Officers now believe asset values have
stabilised in order that a materially accurate value can be applied to
illiquid assets.

Item
Actuarial present value of
promised retirement benefits

Uncertainties

Effect if actual results differ from
assumptions

Estimation of the net liability to pay
pensions depends on a number of
complex judgements relating to the
discount rates used, the rate at which
salaries are projected to increase,
changes in retirement ages, mortality
rates and expected returns on pension
fund assets. A firm of consulting
actuaries is engaged to provide the fund
with expert advice about the
assumptions to be applied.

The effects on the net pension liability of
changes in assumptions can be measured.
For instance, a 0.1% increase in the
discount rate assumption would result in a
decrease in the pension liability of
£42.25m. A 0.1% increase in assumed
earnings would increase the value of
liabilities by approximately £2.95m and a
year increase in life expectancy would
increase the liability by about £103.99m.

PENSION FUND LIABILITY
The Pension Fund liability is calculated triennially by the appointed actuary with annual updates in the intervening years. The methodology used in the intervening years follows
generally agreed guidelines and is in accordance with IAS 19. These assumptions are summarised in Note 16. The estimates are sensitive to changes in the underlying
assumptions underpinning the valuations

192 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Preparing financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported
for assets and liabilities at the year-end and the amounts reported for
income and expenditure during the year. Estimates and assumptions are
made taking into account historical experience, current trends and other
relevant factors. However, the nature of estimation means that the actual
results could differ from the assumptions and estimates.

Note 6 Contributions Receivable
Employees’ contributions are calculated on a sliding scale based on a percentage of their gross pay. The Council, scheduled and admitted bodies are required to make contributions
determined by the Fund’s actuary to maintain the solvency of the Fund. The table below shows a breakdown of the total amount of employers’ and employees’ contributions.

BY AUTHORITY
2019/20

2020/21

Administering Authority

£'000

£'000

(49,833)

(10,105)

(3,087)

Scheduled bodies

(3,679)

(4,294)

Admitted bodies

(4,002)

Page 289

(64,349)

Total

2019/20

(57,514)

2020/21
£'000
Employees' normal contributions

(10,854)

Employers’ contributions:
(21,634)

Normal contributions

(25,048)

(31,820)

Deficit recovery contributions

(21,483)

(790)
(64,349)

Augmentation contributions
Total

(129)
(57,514)

193 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

£'000
(56,968)

BY TYPE

Note 7 Benefits Payable
The table below shows a breakdown of the total amount of benefits payable by category.

BY TYPE

BY AUTHORITY
2019/20

2020/21

£'000

6,686
406

Page 290

£’000

£'000

49,146

42,709

Commutation and lump sum retirement
benefits

7,375

2,481

Scheduled Bodies

2,730

9,530

Admitted Bodies

10,821

Lump sum death benefits

1,302
Total

57,823

Pensions

54,720
54,720

2020/21

Total

57,823

£'000
Administering Authority

44,272

194 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

47,628

2019/20

Note 8 Management Expenses
The table below shows a breakdown of the
management expenses incurred during the year.

Investment management expenses are further analysed below in line with the CIPFA Guidance on Accounting for
Management Costs in the LGPS.

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

4,778

Management fees

6,211

85

Performance fees

45

31

Custody fees

54

Page 291

750

Administration
Expenses

981

422

Oversight and
Governance

428

5,662

Investment
Management
Expenses

8,678

6,834

Total

768
5,662

10,087

Transaction costs

2,368

Total

8,678

195 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

2019/20

Note 9 Investment Income
The table below shows a breakdown of the investment income for the year:
2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

2,070

Pooled investments - unit trust and other managed funds

5,658

Pooled property investments

2,406

Page 292

182

Infrastructure Income

404

151

Interest and cash deposits

188

16,259

Total before taxes

8,656

196 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

13,856

Note 10 Investment Management Arrangements
As at 31 March 2021, the investment portfolio is
managed by ten external managers:
•

The Fund became a shareholder in the London LGPS CIV
Ltd (the organisation set up to run pooled LGPS
investments in London) in 2015 and holds £150,000 of
regulatory capital in the form of unlisted UK equity
shares.
Northern Trust acts as the Fund’s global custodian. They
are responsible for safe custody and settlement of all
investment transactions and collection of income. The
bank account for the Fund is held with Lloyds Bank.

31 March 2020

%

Fund Manager

Mandate

Market Value

31 March
2021

%

Market
Value
£'000

£'000

Investments merged by the London CIV asset pool:
3

0.0%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Majedie

UK Equity (Active)

150

0.0%

London CIV

Share Capital

153

0.0%

UK Equity

276,397

20.9%

0

0.0%

523,071

39.6%

0

0.0%

799,468

60.5%

78,765

6.0%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - CQS

78,765

6.0%

Fixed Income

878,386

66.5%

Total pooled

3

0%

150

0%

153

0%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Baillie Gifford

Global Equity (Active)

429,778

24.6%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Morgan
Stanley

Global Equity (Active)

337,309

19.3%

LGIM Passive

World Equity (Passive)

40

0.0%

LGIM Future World

World Equity (Passive)

398,414

22.8%

1,165,541

66.7%

98,641

5.6%

98,641

5.6%

1,264,335

72.3%

69,172

4.0%

69,172

4.0%

240,140

13.7%

240,140

13.7%

Global Equity
Multi Asset Credit

Sub-Total

Investments managed outside of the London CIV asset pool:
55,353

4.2%

Longview

Global Equity (Active)

55,353

4.2%

Global Equity

216,088

16.4%

Insight Buy and Maintain Bond Fund

216,088

16.4%

Bonds

61,478

4.7%

Hermes

Property

89

0.0%

68,592

5.2%

Standard Life

Property

71,261

4.1%

130,070

9.9%

Property

71,350

4.1%

Bonds

197 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 293

The UK property portfolio is managed by
Aberdeen Standard;
• Fixed income mandates are managed by CQS
(Multi Asset Credit, via the London CIV) and
Insight (Bonds);
• Alternatives are managed by Pantheon
(Infrastructure),
Macquarie
(Renewable
Infrastructure) and Quinbrook (Renewable
Infrastructure);
• Equity portfolios are split between Baillie
Gifford (active global, managed by the London
CIV), Morgan Stanley (active global, managed
by the London CIV), Legal and General
Investment Management (passive global) and
Longview Partners (active global).
All managers have discretion to buy and sell investments
within the constraints set by the Committee and their
respective Investment Management Agreements. Each
manager has been appointed with clear strategic
benchmarks which place maximum accountability for
performance against that benchmark on the investment
manager.

The market value and proportion of investments managed by each fund manager at 31 March 2021 was as follows:

Note 10 Investment Management Arrangements (continued)

31 March 2020
Market Value

%

Fund Manager

Mandate

£'000

31 March 2021
Market Value

%

£'000
1.6%

Pantheon Global Infrastructure

Infrastructure

29,728

1.7%

-

0.0%

Macquarie GIG Renewable Energy

Infrastructure

6,004

0.3%

-

0.0%

Quinbrook Renewables Impact Fund

Infrastructure

7,333

0.4%

20,639

1.6%

Alternatives

43,065

2.4%

422,150

32.0%

423,727

24.2%

19,204

1.4%

Cash deposits

59,291

3.5%

1,319,740

100%

Total investments at 31 March

1,747,353

100%

Total outside pool

Sub-total

198 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 294

20,639

Note 11 Reconciliation in Movement in Investments
2019/20

Purchases during the year and
derivative payments

Sales during the year and
derivative receipts

Change in market value during
the year

Market value 31 March 2020

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-

-

-

-

-

150

-

-

-

150

1,260,862

20,035

(10,404)

(120,669)

1,149,824

127,023

84

(665)

3,537

129,979

14,403

9,243

(5,673)

2,650

20,623

1,402,438

29,362

(16,742)

(114,482)

1,300,576

5,802

(367)

19,045

-

-

-

120

-

119

Spot FX contracts

-

(10)

-

Amounts payable for purchases
of investments

-

-

-

1,408,360

(114,859)

1,319,740

Bonds
Equities
Pooled investments

Page 295

Pooled property investments
Infrastructure
Total
Cash deposits
Amounts receivable for sales of
investments
Investment income due

Net investment assets

199 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Market value 1 April 2019

Note 11 Reconciliation in Movement in Investments continued

2020/21

Purchases during the year and
derivative payments

Sales during the year and
derivative receipts

Change in market value during
the year

Market value 31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

150

-

-

-

150

1,149,824

9,728

(20,556)

431,013

1,570,009

129,979

64

(59,905)

1,123

71,261

20,623

29,346

(7,414)

481

43,036

1,300,576

39,138

(87,875)

432,617

1,684,456

19,045

(100)

62,788

-

-

-

119

-

109

Spot FX contracts

-

(30)

-

Amounts payable for purchases
of investments

-

-

-

1,319,740

432,487

1,747,353

Equities
Pooled investments
Pooled property investments
Infrastructure
Total
Cash deposits
Amounts receivable for sales of
investments
Investment income due

Net investment assets

200 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 296

Market value 1 April 2020

Note 12 Investments Exceeding 5% of Net Assets
The table below shows the Fund’s investments which
exceed 5% of net assets. These are all pooled investment
vehicles, which are made up of underlying investments,
each of which represent substantially less than 5%.

31 March 2020
Market Value

31 March 2021

Holding

Market Value

%
39.6%

-

-

-

-

276,397

20.9%

55,353

4.2%

216,088

16.4%

78,765

6.0%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - CQS

68,592

5.2%

Aberdeen Standard

1,218,266

92.3%

1,319,740

£'000

%

-

0.0%

LGIM Future World

398,414

22.8%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Morgan
Stanley

337,309

19.3%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Baillie
Gifford

429,622

24.6%

-

0.0%

240,140

13.7%

95,312

5.5%

-

0.0%

Total Top Holdings

1,500,797

85.9%

Total Value of Investments

1,747,353

LGIM Global Passive

Longview
Insight Buy and Maintain Bond
Fund

201 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 297

£'000
523,071

Holding

Note 13a Fair Value – Basis of Valuation
The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is set out below. There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year. All assets have been
valued using fair value techniques based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximising the use of market-based information.
Description of asset

Basis of valuation

Observable and unobservable
inputs

Key sensitivities affecting the valuations provided

Pooled Investments - Equity
Funds UK and Overseas
Managed Funds

Level 2

Level 2

The NAV for each share class is calculated based
on the market value of the underlying equity
assets.

Evaluated price feeds

Not required

Quoted UK and Overseas Bonds

Level 2

Level 2

Fixed income securities are priced based on
evaluated prices provided by independent
pricing services.

Evaluated price feeds

Not required

Pooled Long Lease Property
Fund

Level 2

Level 2

The Aberdeen Standard Long Lease Property
Fund is priced on a Single Swinging Price.

In house evaluation of market data

Not required

Pooled Investments – Multi
Asset Credit

Level 2

Level 2

Fixed income securities are priced based on
evaluated prices provided by independent
pricing services.

Evaluated price feeds

Not required

Pooled Investments Infrastructure

Level 3

Level 3

Latest available fair value provided by the
manager, adjusted for cash movements
subsequent to that date as required.

Manager valuation statements are
prepared in accordance with ECVA
guidelines

Upward valuations are only considered when there is
validation of the investment objectives and such
progress can be demonstrated

202 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Valuation
hierarchy
20/21

Page 298

Valuation
hierarchy
19/20

Note 13a Fair Value – Basis of Valuation (continued)
SENSITIVITY OF ASSETS VALUED AT LEVEL 3
Having analysed historical data and current market trends, and consulted with independent investment advisors, the fund has determined that the valuation methods described
above are likely to be accurate to within the following ranges, and has set out below the consequent potential impact on the closing value of investments held at 31 March 2021.
Description of asset

Assessed Valuation Range (+/-)

Value on increase

Value on decrease

£000

£000

£000

10.0%

29,698

32,668

26,728

Quinbrook - Renewable Infrastructure (b)

9.1%

7,333

8,001

6,666

Macquarie - Renewable Infrastructure (c)

10.0%

6,004

6,605

5,404

43,035

47,274

38,798

Pantheon – Infrastructure (a)

Total

Page 299

a.

b.
c.

The inputs used by the General Partner during valuation include, but are not limited to, prices and other relevant information generated by the market transactions,
type of security, size of the position, purchase price, purchases of the same or similar securities by other investors, marketability, foreign exchange rates, degree of
liquidity, restrictions on the disposition, latest round of financing data, completed or pending third-party transactions in the underlying investment or comparable
issuers, current financial position and operating results among other factors.
The valuation of the fund is estimated to be within a +/- 9.1% flex range based on the actual valuation range calculated. The % flex will be an implied rate based on the
actual valuation range calculated, which in turn will be based on a sensitivity analysis for the current holdings.
The valuation of the fund is estimated to be within a +/- 10% range and with a lower boundary on the downside i.e. not capturing any potential long-term upsides such
as repowering or asset life extensions.

As at March 2020:
Description of asset

Hermes - Property funds
Pantheon – Infrastructure*
Total

Assessed Valuation Range (+/-)

Value at 31 March 2020

Value on increase

Value on decrease

£’000

£’000

£’000

1.3%

61,388

62,186

60,590

12.2%

20,623

23,139

18,107

82,011

85,325

78,697

*Pantheon confirmed due to the valuation assumptions used and material uncertainty during the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, the true market value could be as much as 12.2%
greater or lesser than reflected in the statement of accounts

203 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Value at 31 March 2021

Note 13b Valuation of Financial Instruments Carried at
Fair Value
The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the Fund grouped into the level at
which fair value is observable.
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

Quoted

Using Observable

With Significant

Quoted

Using Observable

With Significant

Market

Inputs

Unobservable Inputs

Market

Inputs

Unobservable Inputs

Price

Level 2

Level 3

Price

Level 2

Level 3

£'000

£'000

£'000

Level 2 – where market prices are not available, for
example, where an instrument is traded in a market
that is not considered to be active or where valuation
techniques are used to determine fair value and
where these techniques use inputs that are based
significantly on observable market data.

-

-

1,641,271

43,185

-

-

-

-

1,641,271

43,185

Page 300

Level 1 – where fair values are derived from
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (quoted equities, quoted
fixed securities, quoted index linked securities and
unit trusts). Listed investments are shown at bid
prices. The bid value is based on the market quotation
of the relevant stock exchange.

Level 3 – where at least one input that could have a
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation is not
based on observable market data. Such instruments
would include infrastructure, which the Fund holds
assets in, unquoted equity investments and hedge
fund of funds, neither of which the Fund currently
invests in.

Level 1
£'000

Level 1
£'000

£'000
Financial
Assets

1,218,415

82,161

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit
and loss
Financial
Liabilities

-

-

-

-

1,218,415

82,161

1,300,576

Financial
liabilities at fair
value through
profit and loss

Total

1,684,456

204 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

The valuation of financial instruments has been
classified into three levels, according to the quality
and reliability of information used to determine fair
values.

Note 13c Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements
Within Level 3
2019/20

Transfers
into
Level 3

Transfers
out of
Level 3

Purchases

Sales

Unrealised
gains/losses

Realised
gains/losses

Closing
balance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

150

-

-

-

-

-

-

150

Hermes - Property fund

62,315

-

-

-

-

-

(927)

61,388

Pantheon - Infrastructure

14,403

-

-

9,243

(5,673)

-

2,650

20,623

Total

76,868

-

-

9,243

(5,673)

-

1,723

82,161

Opening
balance

Transfers
into
Level 3

Transfers
out of
Level 3

Purchases

Sales

Unrealised
gains/losses

Realised
gains/losses

Closing
balance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

150

-

-

-

-

-

-

150

Hermes - Property fund

61,388

-

-

-

(58,904)

-

(2,484)

-

Pantheon - Infrastructure

20,623

-

-

11,760

(2,185)

(735)

235

29,698

Quinbrook - Renewable
Infrastructure

-

-

-

11,157

(3,500)

(324)

-

7,333

Macquarie - Renewable
Infrastructure

-

-

-

6,428

-

(424)

-

6,004

82,161

-

-

29,345

(64,589)

(1,483)

(2,249)

43,185

Equity

Page 301

2020/21

Equity

Total

205 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Opening
balance

Note 14a Classification of Financial Instruments
The following table shows the classification of the Fund’s financial instruments.
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

Fair value through profit
and loss

Financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Fair value through
profit and loss

Financial assets at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Pooled funds - investment vehicles
1,149,974

Pooled Funds

Page 302

129,980
20,623

71,261

Infrastructure

43,036

Cash Balances (held directly by Fund)

119

Other Investment Balances

23,803

1,224
109

Cash Deposits

3,833
1,300,577

UK Unit Trust - Property

807

19,044

1,570,159

62,778

Debtors
-

3,974
1,684,456

68,095

-

206 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Financial Assets

Note 14a Classification of Financial Instruments (continued)
31
March
2020

31 March
2021

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost

Financial
liabilities
at
amortised
cost

Fair value
through
profit
and loss

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost

Financial
liabilities
at
amortised
cost

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Other Investment
Balances

-

-

-

Creditors

-

-

(223)

-

-

(223)

1,684,456

68,095

(223)

Financial Liabilities
-

-

-

-

(209)

-

-

(209)

1,300,577

23,803

(209)

Page 303

-

1,324,171

Total

1,752,328

207 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Fair value
through
profit
and loss

Note 14b Net Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments
This table summarises the net gains and losses on
financial instruments classified by type of instrument.
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000
Financial Assets

(367)

Designated at fair value through profit and loss
Financial assets at amortised cost

(114,849)

432,617
(100)
432,517

Page 304

Financial Liabilities
(10)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

(10)
(114,859)

(30)
(30)

Total

432,487

The authority has not entered into any financial guarantees that are required to be accounted for as financial
instruments.

208 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

(114,482)

Note 15 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from
Financial Instruments
RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Responsibility for the Fund’s risk-management
strategy rests with the Committee. Risk management
policies are established that aim to identify and
analyse the investment risks faced by the Fund and
these are regularly reviewed in the light of changing
market and other conditions.

Price Risk
Price risk represents the risk that the value of a
financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market prices (other than those arising
from interest rate risk or foreign exchange risk),
whether those changes are caused by factors specific
to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors
affecting all such instruments in the market.
Assets exposed to price risk

Price Risk

The Fund is exposed to share and derivative price
risk. This arises from investments held by the Fund
for which the future price is uncertain. All securities
represent a risk of loss of capital. The maximum risk
resulting from financial instruments (with the
exception of derivatives where the risk is currency
related) is determined by the fair value of the
financial instruments. The Fund’s investment
managers aim to mitigate this price risk through
diversification and the selection of securities and
other financial instruments.

209 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 305

The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that its assets
will fall short of its liabilities (i.e. promised benefits
payable to members). Therefore the aim of
investment risk management is to minimise the risk
of an overall reduction in the value of the Fund and
to maximise the opportunity for gains across the
whole fund portfolio. The Fund achieves this
through asset diversification to reduce exposure to
market and credit risk to an acceptable level. In
addition, the Fund manages its liquidity risk to
ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet the Fund’s
forecast cash flows.

a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss emanating from general
market fluctuations in equity and commodity prices,
interest and foreign exchange rates and credit
spreads. The Fund is exposed to market risk across all
its investment activities. In general, excessive
volatility in market risk is managed through the
diversification of the portfolio in terms of asset class,
geographical and industry sectors and individual
securities. To mitigate market risk, the Committee
and its investment advisors undertake regular
monitoring of market conditions and benchmark
analysis.

The Fund has determined that a 10.9% increase or
decrease in market price risk is reasonable for
2020/21. This analysis excludes debtors, creditors,
other investment balances and forward foreign
exchange, as these financial instruments are not
subject to price risk.

Value £bn

Value on
price increase

Value on
price decrease

£'000

£'000

£'000

As at 31 March 2020

10%

1,319,740

1,451,714

1,187,766

As at 31 March 2021

10.9%

1,747,353

1,937,814

1,556,891

Note 15 Nature and Extent of Risks Ariing from Financial Instruments (continued)

Interest Rate Risk
The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return on its investments. Fixed interest
securities and cash are subject to interest rate risks, which represent the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Committee and its investment
advisors regularly monitor the Fund’s interest rate risk exposure during the year.

Page 306

Assets exposed to
interest rate risk

Fixed Income - Global

Average Duration

Value

Value on 1%
increase

Value on 1%
decrease

Years

£'000

£'000

£'000

8.15

216,088

198,477

233,699

1.86

78,765

77,300

80,230

294,853

275,776

313,930

Value

Value on 1%

Value on 1%

increase

decrease

Bonds
Fixed Income - Global

Currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Fund is exposed to currency risk on financial
instruments that are denominated in any currency
other than Sterling. The Fund aims to mitigate this risk
through the use of hedging, which is applied to the
LGIM equities mandate. The Committee recognises
that a strengthening/weakening of the pound against
the various currencies in which the Fund holds
investments would increase/decrease the net assets
available to pay benefits.

Multi Asset Credit
As at 31 March 2020

Assets exposed to

Average Duration

interest rate risk

Fixed Income - Global

Years

£'000

£'000

£'000

8.27

240,140

220,281

260,000

1.33

98,641

97,329

99,953

338,781

317,610

359,953

Bonds
Fixed Income - Global
Multi Asset Credit
As at 31 March 2021

Overseas equities, fixed interest securities and futures,
cash in foreign currencies, forward foreign exchange
contracts and some elements of the pooled
investment vehicles are exposed to currency risk. The
following table demonstrates the change in value of
these assets had there been a 6.44%
strengthening/weakening of the pound against foreign
currencies during 2020/21. This has fallen from a
10.0% currency risk as at 31 March 2020, reflecting a
reduction in volatility following the UKs orderly exit
from the EU.
.

210 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Fixed interest securities, cash and cash equivalents are exposed to interest rate risk. The table below demonstrates
the change in value of these assets had the interest rate increased or decreased by 1%.

Currency Risk

Note 15 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments (continued)

Value

Value on
foreign exchange rate increase

Value on
foreign exchange rate decrease

£'000

£'000

316,823

348,505

285,140

As at 31 March 2021
6.44%

754,503

803,093

705,913

Page 307

£'000
As at 31 March 2020
10.0%

b) Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss.
The market values of investments generally reflect an assessment of credit in their pricing and consequently the risk
of loss is implicitly provided for in the carrying value of the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities. The selection of highquality fund managers, counterparties, brokers and financial institutions minimises credit risk that may occur through
the failure to settle a transaction in a timely manner.
There is a risk that some admitted bodies may not honour their pension obligations with the result that any ensuing
deficit might fall upon the Fund. To mitigate this risk, the Fund regularly monitors the state of its admitted bodies.

c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not
be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Committee monitors cash flows and takes steps to
ensure that there are adequate cash resources to meet
its commitments.
The Fund has immediate access to its cash holdings.
The Fund defines liquid assets as assets that can be
converted to cash within three months, subject to
normal market conditions. As at 31 March 2021, liquid
assets were £1,633m representing 93% of total fund
assets (£1,169m at 31 March 2020 representing 89%
of the Fund at that date). The majority of these
investments can in fact be liquidated within a matter
of days.

211 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Assets exposed to
currency risk
Currency Risk

Note 16 Funding Arrangements
The LGPS Regulations require that a full actuarial
valuation of the Fund is carried out every three years.
The purpose of this is to establish that the City of
Westminster Pension Fund is able to meet its liabilities
to past and present contributors and to review the
employer contribution rates.

The actuary’s smoothed market value of the scheme’s
assets at 31 March 2019 was £1,410.6m and the
Actuary assessed the present value of the funded
obligation at £1,430.6m. This indicates a net liability of
£20m, which equates to a funding position of 99%
(2016: £264.1m and 80%).

Future assumed
returns at 2019

2019 Allocation
%

Neutral
Assumption%

Corporate Bonds

13.5

2.6

Equities

65.0

6.7

Infrastructure

5.0

6.7

Multi Asset Credit

6.5

4.8

10.0

3.7

Property

Financial
assumptions

2019

2016

2013

%

%

%

Discount rate
- scheduled
bodies

4.8

5.1

5.9

Discount rate
- admitted
bodies

3.3

4.5

4.9

RPI

3.6

3.3

3.5

CPI

2.6

2.4

2.7

Pension
increases

2.6

2.4

2.7

Short-term
pay increases

n/a

2.4

1.0

Long-term
pay increases

3.6

3.9

4.5

The contribution rate is set on the basis of the cost of
future benefit accrual, increased to bring the funding
level back to 100% over a period of 19 years, as set out
in the Funding Strategy Statement (2016: 22 years).
The common future service contribution rate for the
Fund was set at 17.9% of pensionable pay (2016:
16.9%).
The triennial valuation also sets out the individual
contribution rate to be paid by each employer from 1
April 2020 depending on the demographic and
actuarial factors particular to each employer. Details of
each employer’s contribution rate are contained in the
Statement to the Rates and Adjustment Certificate in
the triennial valuation report

212 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 308

The latest full triennial valuation of the Fund was
carried out by Barnett Waddingham, the Fund’s
actuary, as at 31 March 2019 in accordance with the
Funding Strategy Statement of the Fund and
Regulation 36 of the Local Government Pension
Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008. The results
were published in the triennial valuation report dated
30 March 2020, with the funding level rising to 100%.
This report details the fund assumptions and employer
contribution rates for the three years following
2020/21. The report and Funding Strategy Statement
are both available on the Council’s website.

The actuarial valuation, carried out using the projected
unit method, is based on economic and statistical
assumptions, the main ones being:

Note 17 Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement
Benefits

Page 309

In calculating the required numbers, the actuary
adopted methods and assumptions that are consistent
with IAS19.
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

(1,860,231)

1,319,740

(540,491)

Present Value of
Promised
Retirement
Benefits

(2,337,834)

Fair Value of
Scheme Assets
(bid value)

1,747,353

Net Liability

(590,481)

Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits
comprise of £2,310m (2019/20: £1,839m) and £28.3m
(2019/20: £21.4m) in respect of vested benefits and
non-vested benefits respectively as at 31 March 2021.

ASSUMPTIONS
To assess the value of the Fund’s liabilities at 31 March
2021, the value of the Fund’s liabilities calculated for
the funding valuation as at 31 March 2019 have been
rolled forward, using financial assumptions that
comply with IAS19.

DEMOGRAPHIC ASSUMPTIONS
The demographic assumptions used are consistent
with those used for the most recent Fund valuation,
which was carried out as at 31 March 2019.The post
retirement mortality tables adopted are the S3PA
tables with a multiplier of 110%, for males and 105%
for females. These base tables are then projected using
the CMI 2020 Model, allowing for a long-term rate of
improvement of 1.25% p.a.

Assumed life expectancy from age 65 is:
Life expectancy
from age 65
years
Retiring today

Retiring in 20
years

31 March
2020

31 March
2021

Males

21.8

21.6

Females

24.4

24.3

Males

23.2

22.9

Females

25.8

25.7

FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS
The main financial assumptions are:
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

%

%

RPI increases

2.90

3.20

CPI Increases

1.90

2.80

Salary increases

2.90

3.80

Pension increases

1.90

2.80

Discount rate

2.35

2.00

213 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

The table below shows the total net liability of the Fund
as at 31 March 2021. The figures have been prepared
by Barnett Waddingham, the Fund’s actuary, only for
the purposes of providing the information required by
IAS26. In particular, they are not relevant for
calculations undertaken for funding purposes or for
other statutory purposes under UK pension’s
legislation.

Note 18 Current Assets
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000
Debtors:

ANALYSIS OF DEBTORS
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

Contributions due - employers

2,608

-

776

Contributions due - employees

826

784

621

Sundry debtors

540

3,049

Administering Authority

3,319

807

Cash balances

3,833

Total

3,974

4,640

Total

1,224

Central Government Bodies
Other entities and individuals

1
654

5,198

Note 19 Current Liabilities
ANALYSIS OF CREDITORS
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

(637)

Central government bodies

(613)

(209)

Other entities and individuals

(223)

(846)

Total

(836)

(846)

Sundry creditors

(836)

(846)

Total

(836)

214 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 310

2,436

Note 20 Additional Voluntary Contributions
The Pension Fund’s Additional Voluntary Contributions
(AVC) providers are Aegon and Utmost Life and
Pensions. The table below shows information about
these separately invested AVCs.
Market Value 31
March 2021

£'000

£'000

828

Aegon

934

214

Utmost Life and
Pensions

366

1,042

Total

1,300

The AVC providers secure benefits on a money
purchase basis for those members electing to pay
AVCs. Members of the AVC schemes each receive an
annual statement confirming the amounts held in their
account and the movements in the year. The Fund
relies on individual contributors to check that
deductions are accurately reflected in the statements
provided by the AVC provider.

Page 311

215 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Market Value 31
March 2020

In accordance with Regulation 4(1)(b) of the Pension
Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016, the contributions paid and the
assets of these investments are not included in the
Fund’s Accounts.

Note 21 Related Party Transactions
The Fund is administered by Westminster City Council.
The Council incurred costs of £0.545m in the period
2020/21 (2019/20: £0.535m) in relation to the
administration of the Fund and were reimbursed by
the Fund for the expenses. The Fund uses the same
Banking and Control Service provider as WCC and no
charge is made in respect of this.

The key management personnel of the Fund are the
Members of the Pension Fund Committee, the Director
of Finance and Resources, the Tri-Borough Director of
Pensions and Treasury Management and the Director
of People Services. There were no costs apportioned to
the Pension Fund in respect of the Director of Finance
and Resources post for 2019/20 and 2020/21. Total
remuneration payable to key management personnel
from the Pension Fund is set out below:

Page 312

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

56

Short-term benefits

63

253

Post-employment benefits

132

309

Total

195

216 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
REMUNERATION

Note 22 External Audit Costs
The external fee payable to the Fund’s external auditors Grant Thornton UK LLP was £25k (£16k in 2019/20).

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000
External audit fees

25

16

Total

25

Note 23 Events After the Reporting Period
Page 313

Management have reviewed and can confirm that there are no significant events occurring after the reporting period.

Note 24 Contractual Commitments
The Fund has committed $91.5m (£66.4m) to the Pantheon Global Infrastructure Fund III, of this commitment $50.5m (£36.7m) was still outstanding at 31 March 2021. Alongside
this, during the year the Fund committed £50m to the Quinbrook Renewables Impact Fund with £42.7m outstanding as at 31 March 2021. The Fund has also committed €55m
(£46.8m) to the Macquarie Renewable Energy Fund, €47.9m (£40.8m) of which was outstanding at 31 March 2021.

217 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

16

Page 314

Glossary of Terms
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The rules and practices adopted by the Council that determine how transactions and
events are reflected in the accounts.

ACCRUALS
Amounts included in the accounts for income or expenditure in relation to the
financial year but not received or paid as at 31 March.

These arise where actual events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions
made for the last valuations (known as experience gains and losses) or the actuarial
assumptions have been changed.

Page 315

AMORTISATION
A measure of the cost of economic benefits derived from intangible fixed assets that
are consumed during the period.

ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The annual governance statement is a statutory document that explains the
processes and procedures in place to enable the council to carry out its functions
effectively.

BALANCES (OR RESERVES)
These represent accumulated funds available to the Council. Some balances
(reserves) may be earmarked for specific purposes for funding future defined
initiatives or meeting identified risks or liabilities. There are a number of unusable
reserves, which are set out for technical purposes. It is not possible to utilise these
to provide services.

BUSINESS RATES (NNDR/NDR)
Rates are payable on business premises based on their rateable value (last assessed
in the 2017 Rating List by the Valuation Office Agency) and a national rate poundage
multiplier (50.4p/£ in 2018/19). Westminster acts as the “billing authority” for its
area and under the current Localised Business Rates regime retains 64% of the net

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
Payments for the acquisition, construction, enhancement or replacement of assets
such as land, buildings, roads, and computer equipment.

CAPITAL ADJUSTMENT ACCOUNT
A reserve set aside from revenue resources or capital receipts to fund capital
expenditure or the repayment of external loans and certain other capital financing
transactions.

CAPITAL RECEIPTS
Income received from the sale of land, buildings or equipment.

CENTRAL SUPPORT SERVICES
Support provided to front line services by administrative and professional officers,
including financial, legal, people services, IT, property and general administrative
support.

CIPFA (CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC FINANCE AND
ACCOUNTING)
CIPFA is the professional institute for accountants working in the public services.
CIPFA publishes the Code.

COLLECTION FUND
An account that shows the income due from NNDR and Council Tax payers and the
sums paid to central government and to the precepting authorities.

COMMUNITY ASSETS
The class of Fixed Assets held by an authority in perpetuity that have no
determinable useful life and may have restriction on their disposal, such as parks and
open spaces, historical buildings, works of art, etc.

219 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES

yield from business rates with the Greater London Authority receiving 36%. A system
of Tariffs and Top-ups as well as a Safety Net scheme operate within the Council’s
General Fund to further adjust the amount the Council ultimately retains.

Glossary of Terms (continued)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT
A statement which details the total income received and expenditure incurred by the
Council during a year in line with IFRS reporting as required by the Code.

CONTINGENT ASSET
An asset arising from past events, whereby its existence can only be confirmed by
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council.

A contingent liability is either:
•

Page 316
•

CREDITORS
Amounts owed by the Council for goods and services received but not paid for as at
31 March.

CURRENT SERVICE COST
An estimate of the true economic cost of employing people in a financial year. It
measures the full liability estimated to have been generated in the year.

a possible obligation arising from a past event whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Council; or

DEBTORS

a present obligation arising from past events where it is not probable that there
will be an associated cost or the amount of the obligation cannot be accurately
measured.

DEFERRED CAPITAL INCOME

CORPORATE AND DEMOCRATIC CORE
This comprises all activities which local authorities engage in specifically because
they are elected, multi-purpose organisations. The cost of these activities are thus
over and above those which would be incurred by a series of independent, single
purpose, nominated bodies managing the same services. It includes costs relating to
the corporate management and democratic representation.

COUNCIL TAX
A local tax on properties within the City Council, set by the charging (Westminster)
and precepting (GLA) authorities. The level is determined by the revenue
expenditure requirements for each authority divided by the council tax base for the
year.

COUNCIL TAX BASE
The amount calculated for each billing authority from which the grant entitlement of
its share is derived. The number of properties in each band is multiplied by the

Amounts owed to the Council for goods and services provided but where the
associated income was not received as at 31 March.

Deferred Capital Income comprises amounts derived from sales of assets which will
be received in instalments over agreed periods of time. They arise principally from
mortgages on sales of council houses, which form the main part of mortgages under
loans for purchase and improvement of property.

DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution
scheme. Usually, the scheme rules define the benefits independently of the
contributions payable, and the benefits are not directly related to the investments of
the scheme.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SCHEME
A pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an employee pays regular
fixed contributions as an amount or as a percentage of pay, and will have no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not have
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to the employee service in the
current and prior periods.

220 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

relevant band proportion in order to calculate the number of Band D equivalent
properties in the area. The calculation allows for exemptions, discounts, appeals and
a provision for non-collection.

Glossary of Terms (continued)
IMPAIRMENT

A measure of the cost of the economic benefits of the tangible fixed assets
consumed during the period.

A reduction in the carrying value of a fixed asset below its carrying value (due to
obsolescence, damage or an adverse change in the statutory environment).

EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

INTEREST COST

Material items which derive from events or transactions that fall within the ordinary
activities of the Council, which need to be disclosed separately by virtue of their size
or incidence to give a fair representation in the accounts.

For defined benefit pension schemes the interest cost is the present value of the
liabilities during the year as a result of moving one year closer to being paid.

EXPECTED RETURN ON ASSETS

Page 317

For a defined benefit scheme, this is a measure of the return on the investment
assets held by the plan for the year. It is not intended to reflect the actual realised
return by the plan, but a longer-term measure based on the value of assets at the
start of the year taking into account movements in assets during the year and an
expected return factor.

FINANCE LEASE
A lease that substantially transfers the risks and rewards of a fixed asset to the
lessee. With a Finance Lease, the present value of the lease payments would equate
to the fair value of the leased asset.

FIXED ASSETS
Assets that yield benefit to the Council and the services it provides for a period of
more than one year.

INFRASTRUCTURE ASSETS
A class of assets whose life is of indefinite length and which are not usually capable
of being sold, such as highways and footpaths.

INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
‘Non-financial’ fixed assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable
and are controlled by the Council through custody or legal rights. Purchased
intangibles, such as software licences, are capitalised at cost whilst internally
developed intangibles are only capitalised where there is a readily ascertainable
market value for them.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are a set of accounting standards
developed by an independent, not-for-profit organisation called the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB)

GENERAL FUND

INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(IPSAS)

The account to which the cost of providing the Council Services is charged that are
paid for from Council Tax and Government Grants (excluding the Housing Revenue
Account).

International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) are a set of accounting
standards issued by the IPSAS Board for use by public sector entities around the
world in the preparation of financial statements.

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA)

LEVIES

A statutory account maintained separately from the General Fund for the recording
of income and expenditure relating to the provision of council housing.

Payments made to the London Pensions Fund Authority, the Environment Agency
and the Lee Valley Regional Park Authority.

221 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

DEPRECIATION

Glossary of Terms (continued)
LONG TERM DEBTORS
These debtors represent the capital income still to be received, for example, from
the sale of an asset or the granting of a mortgage or a loan.

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION
The minimum amount that the Council must charge to the income and expenditure
statement to provide for the repayment of debt.

This financial statement presents the movement in usable and unusable reserves
(the Council’s total reserve balances).

Page 318

NET BOOK VALUE
The amount at which fixed assets are included in the Balance Sheet, i.e. their
historical cost or current value, less the cumulative amount provided for
depreciation.

NET REALISABLE VALUE
The amount at which an asset could be sold after the deduction of any direct selling
costs.

NON-DISTRIBUTED COSTS
Non-distributed costs are defined as comprising:
•

retirement benefit costs including past service costs, settlements and
curtailments. To note, current service pension costs are included in the total
costs of services;

•

the costs associated with unused shares of IT facilities; and

•

the costs of shares of other long-term unused but unrealisable assets.

NON-OPERATIONAL ASSETS
Fixed assets held by a local authority but not directly occupied, used or consumed in
the delivery of services. Examples of non-operational assets are investment

OPERATING LEASE
A lease other than a finance lease. This is a method of financing assets which allows
the Council to use, but not own the asset and therefore is not capital expenditure. A
third party purchases the asset on behalf of the Council, who then pays the lessor an
annual rental charge for the use of the asset.

OPERATIONAL ASSETS
Fixed assets held and occupied, used or consumed by the local authority, in the
direct delivery of those services for which it has either a statutory or discretionary
responsibility.

PAST SERVICE COST
A cost arising from decisions taken in the current year but whose financial effect is
derived from years of service earned in earlier years.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
These events, both favourable and unfavourable, occur between the Balance Sheet
date (31 March) and the date on which the statement of accounts are signed.

PRECEPTS
These are demands made upon the Collection Fund, by the Greater London
Authority for monies, which it requires to finance the services it provides.

PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT
A material adjustment applicable to prior years arising from changes in accounting
policies or correction of fundamental errors.

PROJECTED UNIT METHOD – PENSION FUND VALUATION
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme liabilities make
allowance for projected earnings. An accrued benefits valuation method is a
valuation method in which the scheme liabilities at the valuation date relate to:

222 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT

properties and assets that are surplus to requirements, pending sale or
redevelopment.

Glossary of Terms (continued)
•

•

the benefits for pensioners and deferred pensioners (i.e. individuals who have
ceased to be active members but are entitled to benefits payable at a later date)
and their dependents, allowing where appropriate for future increases, and
the accrued benefits for members in service on the valuation date.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION
A related party transaction is the transfer of assets or liabilities or the performance
of services by, to, or for a related party, irrespective of whether a charge is made.
Examples of related party transactions include:
•

the purchase, sale, lease, rental or hire of assets between related parties;

A liability that is of uncertain timing or amount which is to be settled by transfer of
economic benefits.

•

the provision by a pension fund to a related party of assets of loans, irrespective
of any direct economic benefit to the pension fund;

PRUDENTIAL CODE

•

the provision of services to a related party, including the provision of pension
fund administration services; and

•

transactions with individuals who are related parties of an authority or a
pension fund, except those applicable to other members of the community or
the pension fund, such as Council Tax, rents and payments of benefits.

Page 319

Since 1 April 2004, local authorities have been subject to a self-regulatory
“prudential system” of capital controls. This gives authorities the freedom to
determine how much of their capital investment they can afford to fund by
borrowing. The objectives of the code are to ensure that the local authority’s capital
investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable, with Councils being
required to set specific prudential indicators.

RELATED PARTIES
Two or more parties are related parties when at any time during the financial period:
•

one party has direct or indirect control of the other party; or

•

the parties are subject to common control from the same source; or

•

one party has influence over the financial and operational policies of the other
party, to an extent that the other party might be inhibited from pursuing at all
times its own separate interests; or

•

the parties, in entering a transaction, are subject to influence from the same
source, to such an extent that one of the parties to the transaction has
subordinated its own separate interests.

Advice from CIPFA is that related parties to a local authority include Central
Government, bodies precepting or levying demands on the Council Tax, members
and chief officers of the Council and its pension fund.

RESERVES
An amount set aside for a specific purpose in one year and carried forward to meet
future obligations.

REVENUE EXPENDITURE
Day to day payments on the running of Council services including salaries, wages,
contract payments, supplies and capital financing costs.

REVENUE SUPPORT GRANT
The main Government grant paid to local authorities. It is intended to adjust for
differences in needs between areas so that, if all local authorities were to spend at
the level which the Government assess that they need to spend, the Council Tax
would be the same across the whole country.

REVENUE EXPENDITURE FUNDED FROM CAPITAL UNDER
STATUTE (REFCUS)
Legislation in England and Wales allows some expenditure to be classified as capital
for funding purposes when it does not result in the expenditure being carried on the

223 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

PROVISIONS

Balance Sheet as a fixed asset. Examples include works on property owned by other
parties, renovation grants and capital grants to other organisations.

SERVICE CONCESSIONS
An arrangement involving the private sector constructing or upgrading assets used in
the provision of a public service and operating and maintaining those assets for a
specified period of time.

SOCIETY OF LOCAL AUTHORITY CHIEF EXECUTIVES (SOLACE)
Solace (Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers) is the
representative body for senior strategic managers working in the public sector.

Representative body of section 151 Officers from all 32 London Boroughs, the City of
London Corporation and the Greater London Authority Group.

The Code incorporates guidance in line with IFRS, IPSAS and UK GAAP Accounting
Standards. It sets out the proper accounting practice to be adopted for the
Statement of Accounts to ensure they ‘present fairly’ the financial position of the
Council. The Code has statutory status via the provision of the Local Government Act
2003.
NOTE: values throughout these accounts are presented rounded to whole numbers.
Totals in supporting tables and notes may not appear to cast, cross-cast, or exactly
match to the core statements or other tables due to rounding differences.

UK GAAP
UK GAAP is the Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in the UK (UK GAAP) is the
body of accounting standards and other guidance published by the UK's Financial
Reporting Council (FRC)

Page 320

224 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

SOCIETY OF LONDON TREASURERS

THE CODE

Note References
Note

Description

Notes to the Accounts

Note 21c

Financial Instruments - Fair value of assets and liabilities

Note 1

Accounting Policies

Note 22

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Note 2

Accounting standards issued but not yet adopted

Note 23

Nature and Extent of Risk

Note 3

Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation uncertainty

Note 24

Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing

Note 4

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

Note 25

Leases

Note 5

Other operating income and expenditure

Note 26

Service Concessions

Note 6

Financing and investment income and expenditure

Note 27

Debtors

Note 7

Taxation and non-specific grant income

Note 28

Creditors

Note 8

Expenditure and funding analysis

Note 29

Provisions

Note 9

Section 75

Note 30

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Note 10

Officers’ remuneration (including termination benefits and members’ allowances)

Note 31

Pension Schemes

Note 11

External Audit Fees

Note 31a

Pension Schemes Accounted for as Defined Contribution Schemes

Note 12

Dedicated Schools Grant

Note 31b

Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

Note 13

Grant Income

Note 32

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Note 14

Agency Services

Note 33

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Note 15

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations

Note 34

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Note 16

Unusable Reserves

Note 35

Related Party Transactions

Note 17

Transfer to/from earmarked reserves

Note 36

Contingent Liabilities

Note 18a

Capital Contractual Commitments

Note 37

Contingent Assets

Note 18b

Revaluations

Note 38a

Fair value – basis of valuation

Note 18c

Property, Plant and Equipment

Note 38b

Valuation of assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Note 19

Heritage Assets

Note 38c

Transfers between Levels 1 and 2

Note 20

Investment Property

Note 38d

Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements within Level 3

Note 21a

Financial Instruments - Analysed by type

Note 39

Events After the Reporting Period

Note 21b

Financial Instruments - Income and Expense Gains and Losses

Page 321

225 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

Description

Note

Note References (continued)
Note

Note

Description

Group Accounts Explanatory Notes

Note 8

Management Expenses

Note 1

Group Accounting Policies

Note 9

Investment Income

Note 2

Group Property Plant and Equipment

Note 10

Investment Management Arrangements

Note 3

Group Inventories

Note 11

Reconciliation in Movement in Investment

Housing Revenue Account Explanatory Notes

Note 12

Investments exceeding 5% of Net Assets

Note 13a

Fair Value – Basis of Valuation

Note 13b

Valuation of Financial Instruments carried at Fair Value

Note 13c

Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements within Level 3

Note 14a

Classification of Financial Instruments

Note 14b

Net Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments

Note 15

Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments

Note 16

Funding Arrangements

Note 17

Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits

Note 18

Current Assets

Note 19

Current Liabilities

Note 20

Additional Voluntary Contributions

Note 21

Related Party Transactions

Note 22

External Audit Costs

Note 23

Events after the reporting period

Note 24

Contractual Commitments

HRA 1

Housing Stock

HRA 2

Housing Asset Valuation Notes

HRA 3

Rent Arrears and Provision

Page 322

Collection Fund Explanatory Notes

COLL 1

General

COLL 2

Council Tax

COLL 3

Business Rates

COLL 4

Business Rates Supplements - Crossrail
Pension Fund Explanatory Notes

Note 1

Description of the City of Westminster Pension Fund

Note 2

Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements

Note 3

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Note 4

Critical Judgements in applying Accounting Policies

Note 5

Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of uncertainty

Note 6

Contributions receivable

Note 7

Benefits payable

226 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

Description

Contact Information
This document gives details of Westminster City Council’s Annual Accounts
and is available on the Council’s website at westminster.gov.uk.

CONTACT FOR FURTHER INFORMATION:

Telephone: +44(0)7971026029
3

Page 323

227 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

Rikin Tailor
Head of Corporate Finance
Corporate Finance
64 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 6QP

Page 324

Page 325

This page is intentionally left blank

N Fund

Page 327

Annual Report

City of Westminster Pension Fund ● 2020/21

002 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • CONTENTS

Page 328

Contents
2. MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

3. INVESTMENT POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

4. SCHEME ADMINISTRATION

Report from Chairman of the Pension
Fund Committee
Page 005

Governance Arrangements
Page 009

Investment Policy
Page 028

Service Delivery
Page 038

Scheme Management and Advisors
Page 011

Asset Allocation
Page 029

Risk Management
Page 012

Investment Performance
Page 031

Internal Dispute Resolution
Procedure
Page 038

Financial Performance
Page 016

Corporate Governance
Page 034

Introduction
Page 006

Administration Update
Page 039

Administration Management
Performance
Page 020

Page 329

5. ACTUARIAL INFORMATION

7. ASSET POOLS

8. GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

Report by Actuary
Page 041

Asset Pool Background and
Governance
Page 083

Glossary of Terms
Page 088

Funding Strategy Statement
Page 102

Contact for Further Information
Page 091

Investment Strategy Statement
Page 113

6. PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS
Statement of Responsibilities
Page 044
Independent Auditors Report
Page 045
Pension Fund Accounts and
Explanatory Notes
Page 046

Pool Set up Costs
Page 084
Other Investment Management costs
Page 085
Asset Allocations and Performance
Page 086

9. APPENDICES
Governance Compliance Statement
Page 093
Communication Policy
Page 098

Responsible Investment Statement
Page142
Pensions Administration Strategy
Page 148
Report of the Pension Board
Page 156

003 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • CONTENTS

1. PREFACE

Page 330

1.
Preface

Report from Chairman of the Pension Fund Committee
WELCOME TO THE ANNUAL REPORT OF
THE CITY OF WESTMINSTER PENSION
FUND.

Page 331

During the year, the value of the Fund increased by
£0.428bn to £1.751bn, reflecting the complete
recovery of assets from the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic shock at the end of 2019/20 and leading the
fund to all time high asset valuations. Markets have
stabilised across all asset classes, but the Pension Fund
Committee continues to monitor the Fund closely at
every meeting and challenges the officers, investment
advisers and investment managers as necessary to
ensure the Fund’s investments are being managed
effectively.
The Pension Fund was last valued by the Fund’s
actuary, Barnett Waddingham, at the 31 March 2019
triennial actuarial valuation. The actuary reported that
the Fund has sufficient assets to cover 99% of the
liabilities. Preparations are commencing for the next
actuarial valuation as at 31 March 2022 with planned
improvements to the Fund’s membership data. The
City Council’s deficit recovery plan is continuing to pay
enhanced deficit contributions to the Fund throughout
2021/22, with the aim of improving the overall funding
level and reducing the deficit recovery period.

The Pension Fund is committed to being a responsible
investor and has made great strides within renewable
energy infrastructure and other Environment,
Governance and Social (ESG) investments in the last
year. The Pension Fund has committed 6% of its total
allocation to renewable infrastructure investments
which, alongside the positive environmental
externalities, will secure genuine diversification of
portfolio risk and long term stable cash flows for the
Fund.
The Fund has also reorganised its equity portfolio to
reduce its carbon exposure which is a considerable
long term investment risk. This has been achieved by
transferring its previous active UK equity portfolio to
the LCIV Global Sustain Fund managed by Morgan
Stanley Investment Management, which excludes
investment in fossil fuels, alcohol, firearms, weapons
and tobacco. In addition, the Fund’s passive equity
portfolio has been reorganised to allocate more capital
to companies that are better aligned to the UN
sustainable development goals.

The Pension Fund launched its inaugural Responsible
Investment Statement in 2021, setting out the Fund’s
commitment to environmental, social and governance
factors as a core part of its investment decision making.
Since 2018, the Fund has reduce its carbon to value
invested by over 60% in its equity portfolio as part of
this core investment strategy.
In addition, as the Chairman of the Westminster City
Council Pension Fund, I regularly attend the
Responsible Investment working group at the London
CIV, where issues on ESG and responsible investment
issues with other London Borough funds are being
explored further. The Pension Fund’s annual general
meeting will likely be held in early 2022 as the situation
allows with Covid-19 restrictions.
I would like to thank all those involved in the
governance of the Westminster Pension Fund during
the year during 2020/21, especially the members of
the Pension Fund Committee and the Local Pension
Board.

Councillor Eoghain Murphy
Chairman of the Pension Fund Committee

005 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PREFACE

The Pension Fund Committee is responsible for
overseeing the governance of the Westminster City
Council Pension Fund, including investment
management and pensions administration. As the
Chairman of this Committee, I am pleased to introduce
the Pension Fund’s Annual Report for the year
2020/21.

The Fund continues to work closely with its LGPS pool,
the London Collective Investment Vehicle (LCIV), to
achieve efficiencies through pooling of Pension Fund
assets. The Fund continues to benefit from the lower
fees negotiated by LCIV on its Legal and General
Passive Equities Portfolio, as well as benefitting from
lower fees in active equity and alternative investment
managers. The Fund’s proportion of assets pooled
now is over 72%, making the City of Westminster
Pension Fund one of the biggest investors within the
London CIV pool.

Introduction

Page 332

The Fund is financed by contributions from employees,
the Council, the admitted and scheduled bodies and
returns from the Fund’s investments. Contribution
rates for employees and employers are set by the
Fund’s actuary at the actuarial valuation which is
carried out every three years. The most recent
revaluation, carried out as at 31 March 2019, was used
to set contribution rates with effect from 1 April 2020
through to April 2023.
A new LGPS scheme was introduced with effect from
1st April 2014. One of the main changes is that a
scheme member’s pension is no longer based on their
final salary but on their earnings throughout their
career. This is known as a Career Average Revalued
Earnings (CARE) scheme. Everything built up in the
Scheme before 1st April 2014 is protected so benefits
up to that date will be based on the scheme member’s
final year’s pay.

Benefits payable from the Fund are set out in the Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, as
amended, and in summary consist of:
•

A pension based on career average earnings
(revalued in line with the Consumer Price Index)

•

Pensionable pay to include non-contractual
overtime and additional hours

•

Flexibility for member to pay 50% contributions
for 50% of the pension benefit

•

Normal pension age to equal the individual
member’s State Pension Age

•

Option to trade £1 of pension for a £12 tax-free
lump sum at retirement

•

Death in service lump sum of three times
pensionable pay and survivor benefits

•

Early payment of pensions in the event of ill health

The Fund is governed by the Public Service Pensions
Act 2013 and the LGPS Regulations 2013 (as amended)
and the LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016. The content and format of this
annual report is prescribed by the LGPS Regulations
2013.
Publication of this report gives the Council the
opportunity to demonstrate the high standard of
governance and financial management applied to the
Fund. It brings together several separate reporting
strands into one comprehensive document that
enables both the public and employees to see how the
Fund is managed and how well it is performing.
It is in the interest of both employees and the public
that the Fund is well managed and continues to
provide high returns and excellent value for money.
Detailed guidance on the accounting and disclosure
requirements for LGPS financial statements and annual
report is published by CIPFA annually and can be found
online. This guidance includes a Code disclosure
checklist, listed by must, should and may, which the
City of Westminster has applied in the preparation of
the annual report and accounts.

006 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PREFACE

The City of Westminster Pension Fund is part of the
national Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS),
administered by Westminster City Council. It is a
contributory defined benefit pension scheme
established under statute, which provides for the
payment of benefits to employees and former
employees of the Westminster City Council and the
admitted and scheduled bodies in the Fund.

Introduction (continued)
This annual report comprises the following sections:
•

Management and Financial Performance which
explains the governance and management
arrangements for the Fund, as well as
summarising the financial position and the
approach to risk management.

•

Scheme Administration which sets out how the
Scheme’s benefits and membership are
administered.

•

The funding position of the Fund with a statement
from the Fund’s actuary.

The Fund’s annual accounts for the year ended 31
March 2021

•

Asset Pools and their governance structure
including costs

•

List of contacts and a glossary of some of the more
technical terms

•

Appendices setting out the various regulatory
policy statements of the Fund:
•

Governance Compliance Statement

•

Investment Strategy Statement

•

Communication Policy

•

Funding Strategy Statement

•

Further information about the Local
Government Pension Scheme can be found at
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/aboutcouncil/city-westminster-pension-fund

007 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PREFACE

Investment Policy and Performance detailing the
Fund’s investment strategy, arrangements and
performance.

Page 333

•

•

Page 334

2.
Management
and Financial
Performance

Governance Arrangements
LOCAL PENSION BOARD

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Westminster City Council has delegated responsibility
for pension matters to the Pension Fund Committee
(the Committee).
The Committee obtains and
considers advice from the Tri-Borough Director of
Pensions and Treasury, the Section 151 Officer and, as
necessary, from the Fund’s appointed actuary, advisors
and investment managers.

At the start of 2015/16, the Pension Fund Committee
established a local Pension Board in compliance with
the requirements of the Public Service Pensions Act.
The purpose of the Board is to provide oversight of the
Fund Committee.

The Pension Fund is governed by elected members
acting as trustees and the Code of Conduct for elected
members sets out how any conflicts of interests should
be addressed. A copy is available from Legal and
Democratic Services at 64 Victoria Street, London,
SW1E 6QP or by telephone: 020 7641 3160.

Terms of Reference for the Pension Fund Committee
are set out in Appendix 1 as part of the Governance
Compliance Statement.

Page 335

The Committee is made up of four elected Members of
the Council (three from the majority party and one
minority party representative) who meet at least four
times a year. All members have full voting rights.
The current membership of the Pension Fund
Committee is:
•

Councillor Eoghain Murphy (Chairman)

•

Councillor Barbara Arzymanow

•

Councillor Angela Harvey

•

Councillor Patricia McAllister

Councillors may be contacted at 64 Victoria Street,
London, SW1E 6QP.

Terms of Reference for the Local Pension Board can be
found on the Pension Fund website at:
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/media/document/te
rms-of-reference-city-of-westminster-pension-board
The Board comprises six members – three from the
Council representing employers and three employee
representatives. The Chairman is elected by the Board.
The Board membership during 2020/21 was as follows:
• Councillor Tim Mitchell (Chairman)
• Councillor Guthrie McKie (Vice-Chairman)
• Terry Neville (Member Representative)
• Marie Holmes (Employer Representative)
• Christopher Smith (Member Representative)
• Chris Walker (Member Representative)

The Code includes general provisions on ethics and
standards of behaviour which require elected
members to treat others with respect and not to bully,
intimidate or do anything to compromise the
impartiality of those who work for or on behalf of the
Council. The Code also contains rules about
“disclosable pecuniary interests” and sets out the
action an elected member must take when they have
such an interest in Council business, for instance
withdrawing from the room or chamber when the
matter is discussed and decided in committee, unless
dispensation has been obtained from the Council’s
Monitoring Officer.
The Code also requires elected members to register
disclosable pecuniary interests.

009 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

PENSION FUND COMMITTEE

GOVERNANCE COMPLIANCE
STATEMENT
The LGPS Regulations 2013 require Pension Funds to
prepare, publish and maintain a governance
compliance statement; and to measure the
governance arrangements in place against a set of best
practice principles. This measurement should result in
a statement of full, partial or non-compliance with a
further explanation provided for any non- or partialcompliance.

Formal committee structure;

•

Committee membership and representation;

•

Selection and role of lay members;

•

Voting rights;

•

Training, facility time and expenses.

Page 336

•

The Fund’s Governance Compliance statement can be
found in Section 9.

010 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The key issues covered by the best practice principles
are:

Scheme Management and Advisors
EXTERNAL PARTIES
Investment Adviser
Investment Managers

Deloitte

Page 337

Asset Pool

London CIV

Custodian

Northern Trust

Banker

Lloyds Bank

Actuary

Barnett Waddingham

Auditor

Grant Thornton UK LLP

Legal Adviser
Scheme Administrators
AVC Providers

Renewable Infrastructure
Macquarie Asset Management
Quinbrook Partners
Fixed Income
Insight Investment
London LGPS CIV Ltd - CQS
Property
Hermes Investment Management Ltd*
Standard Life Investments

Eversheds
Surrey County Council
Aegon

Utmost Life and Pensions

OFFICERS
Executive Director - Finance and Resources & Section 151 Officer
Director of People Services

Gerald Almeroth
Lee Witham

Tri-Borough Pensions Team

Phil Triggs
Matthew Hopson
Mathew Dawson
Billie Emery

Pensions and Payroll Officer

Sarah Hay

Julia Stevens
Tim Mpofu to Jan 2021
Patrick Rowe from Feb 2021
Alastair Paton

Contact details are provided in Section 8 of this report. *Hermes Investment Management Ltd was terminated during 2020/21.

011 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Equities (Active)
London LGPS CIV Ltd - Baillie Gifford
Longview
London LGPS CIV Ltd - Morgan Stanley
Equities (Passive)
Legal and General Investment Management
Infrastructure
Pantheon Ventures

Risk Management
Responsibility for the Fund’s risk management strategy rests with the Pension Fund Committee.
In order to manage risks a Pension Fund Risk Register is maintained and reviewed quarterly. Risks identified have
been reduced through planned actions. The risk objective areas of risk have been updated to reflect the CIPFA risk
classifications. The Risk Register is managed by the Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and Treasury.
The key risks identified within the Pension Fund risk register, as updated on 5 May 2021, are:

Risk

Risk rating

Mitigating actions

Asset and Investment Risk

The global outbreak of COVID-19 poses
economic uncertainty across the global
investment markets.

High

TREAT 1) Officers will continue to monitor
the impact lockdown measures have on the
Funds’ investments. 2) The Fund holds a
diversified portfolio, which should reduce
the impact of stock market movements. 3)
Asset allocation was reviewed during June
2020, a new strategy was agreed in light of
COVID-19 with ESG focused equity and
renewable infrastructure mandates agreed.
4) Pension Fund Officers in frequent contact
with Fund Managers and the Fund’s
investment advisor.

Asset and Investment Risk

Significant volatility and negative
sentiment in global investment
markets following disruptive geopolitical uncertainty. Increased risk to
global economic stability.

High

TREAT 1) Continued dialogue with
investment managers re management of
political risk in global developed markets. 2)
Investment strategy involving portfolio
diversification and risk control. 3)
Investment strategy review took place
during June 2020 and a new strategic asset
allocation was agreed.

Administrative and
Communicative Risk

Failure to successfully transition the
pensions administration service to
Hampshire County Council by 1
December 2021, following termination
of Surrey contract. Alongside this the
administration software is to be moved
from Heywood's Altair to Civica.

High

TREAT 1) The Pension Fund is moving the
pensions
administration
service
to
Hampshire CC following termination of the
Surrey contract. 2) Officers maintain regular
contact with Surrey CC and Hampshire CC
administration team during this time. 3)
Project manager to join Westminster City
Council on 25 February 2021, to lead the
pensions administration transfer project
including administration software.

Page 338

Objective area at risk

012 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that its assets
fall short of its liabilities such that there are
insufficient assets to pay promised benefits to
members. The investment objectives have been set
with the aim of maximising investment returns over
the long term within specified risk tolerances. This
aims to optimise the likelihood that the promises
made regarding members’ pensions and other
benefits will be fulfilled.

Risk Management (continued)

Risks arising from financial instruments are outlined in
the notes to the Pension Fund Accounts (Note 15).
The Funding Strategy Statement (at Appendix 4) sets
out the key risks, including demographic, regulatory,
governance, to not achieving full funding in line with
the strategy. The actuary reports on these risks at each
triennial valuation or more frequently if required.

Risk

Risk rating

Mitigating actions

Administrative and
Communicative Risk

Administrators do not have sufficient
staff or skills to manage the service
leading to poor performance and
complaints. There is a concern regarding
the high level of senior management
departures.

Medium

TREAT 1) Surrey CC administers pensions for
Surrey, East Sussex, LB Hillingdon and the TriBorough. All Tri-Borough Pension Funds are
transitioning their pensions administration
from Surrey CC. 2) Officers will continue to
monitor ongoing staffing changes at Surrey CC.
3) Ongoing monitoring of contract and KPIs.

Asset and Investment Risk

Investment managers fail to achieve
benchmark/ outperformance targets
over the longer term: a shortfall of 0.1%
on the investment target will result in an
annual impact of £1.7m. Following
COVID-19, there was some concern
around Fund Managers outperforming
their benchmarks.

Medium

TREAT 1) The Investment Management
Agreements (IMAs) clearly state WCC's
expectations in terms of investment
performance targets. 2) Investment manager
performance is reviewed on a quarterly basis.
3) The Pension Fund Committee should be
positioned to move quickly if it is felt that
targets will not be achieved. 4) Portfolio
rebalancing is considered on a regular basis by
the Pension Fund Committee. 5) The Fund's
investment management structure is highly
diversified, which lessens the impact of
manager risk compared with less diversified
structures.

Liability Risk

Scheme members live longer than
expected leading to higher than
expected liabilities.

Medium

TOLERATE 1) The scheme's liability is reviewed
at each triennial valuation and the actuary's
assumptions are challenged as required. The
actuary's most recent longevity analysis has
shown that the rate of increase in life
expectancy is slowing down.

Liability Risk

Price inflation is significantly more than
anticipated in the actuarial assumptions:
an increase in CPI inflation by 0.1% over
the assumed rate will increase the
liability valuation by upwards of 0.47%.

Medium

TREAT 1) Actuarial valuation results show an
increase in the CPI assumption of 0.2% from
the 2016 valuation. 2) The fund holds
investment in index-linked bonds RPI
protection which is higher than CPI and other
real assets to mitigate CPI risk. Moreover,
equities will also provide a degree of inflation
protection.

013 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Page 339

Objective area at risk

Risk Management (continued)
THIRD PARTY RISKS
The Council has outsourced the following functions of
the Fund:

The results of these reviews are summarised below and cover 100% of investment holdings at 31 March 2021.
Fund manager

Type of assurance

Control framework

Compliance with controls

Reporting accountant

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

KPMG LLP

Baillie Gifford (LCIV) 2

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

PwC LLP

Aberdeen Standard

1

•

Investment management;

•

Custodianship of assets;

CQS (LCIV) 3

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

Deloitte

•

Pensions administration.

Hermes

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

EY LLP

4

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

KPMG LLP

LGIM

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

KPMG LLP

Longview

ISAE3000

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

EY LLP

To mitigate the risks regarding investment
management and custodianship of assets, the Council
obtains independent internal controls assurance
reports from the reporting accountants to the relevant
service providers. These independent reports are
prepared in accordance with international standards.
Any weaknesses in internal control highlighted by the
controls assurance reports are reviewed and reported
as necessary to the Pension Committee.

Macquarie

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

PwC LLP

Morgan Stanley (LCIV) 6

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

Deloitte

Pantheon Ventures

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

KPMG LLP

Quinbrook

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

BDO

ISAE3402

Reasonable assurance

Reasonable assurance

KPMG LLP

7

Custodian
Northern Trust

The Council’s internal audit service undertakes
planned programmes of audits of all the Councils’
financial systems on a phased basis, all payments and
income/contributions are covered by this process as
and when the audits take place.

Periods covered by the above reports are typically not aligned with the Pension
Fund’s financial year. The following bridging statements have been provided:
1 Aberdeen Standard – “With reference to the Aberdeen Standard Investments
Internal Controls Report for the period ended 30 September 2020; to the best
of my knowledge there have been no material changes in the operation of the
internal controls covered within the report that would be likely to impact the
auditors’ opinion for the period 1 October 2020 to 31 March 2021.”
2 Baillie Gifford – “We confirm that since 30 April 2020 the controls in
operation continue to be designed effectively in order to meet the control
objectives and we are not aware of any significant weaknesses identified

within our internal control environment, which would result in a qualified opinion within the Report for the year to 30 April 2021.”
3 CQS – “On behalf of CQS, we note that we do not believe there have been any changes to the procedures and controls described in that report for the period 1
January 2020 to 31 March 2021 that would result in a change in results of the assurance report.”
4 Hermes – “To the best of my knowledge, the ISAE 3402 Report for the year to 31 December 2019 continues to provide a substantially accurate description of the
internal controls environment within Hermes Fund Managers Limited for the period 1 January 2020 to 31 March 2021.”
5 Insight – “To the best of our knowledge there have been no material adverse changes to the control environment and/or objectives, and the control environment
continued to operate substantially in accordance with the objectives, policies and procedures as stated and tested in the latest available report, between 1st October
2020 and 28th February 2021.”
6 Morgan Stanley – “To the best of our knowledge, the internal control environment covered in the SSAE18 report provided has not changed materially through the
period of July 1, 2020 to March 31, 2021.”
7 Quinbrook – “can confirm that there were no significant changes in the policy, procedures and control environment from 1st October 2019 to 31st March 2021.”

014 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Insight 5

Page 340

As these functions are outsourced, the Council is
exposed to third party risk. A range of investment
managers are used to diversify manager risk.

Risk Management (continued)
INTERNAL AUDIT TESTING
The Council’s Internal Audit function provides a level of assurance over the Pension Fund’s activities, including
investment records, financial and performance reporting, pensions administration, systems and controls and
organisational and management requirements. The most recent internal audit of the Pension Fund investment
process took place during March 2018 and was followed up in April 2019, whereby the Fund was awarded a
satisfactory audit opinion.

Nil

Limited

Satisfactory

Substantial



Audit Opinion

Page 341

RECOMMENDATIONS SUMMARY
Area of Scope

Frequency

Regulatory, Organisational and
Management Requirements

Every 2-3
years

Pension Fund Investment
Transactions and Records

Every 2-3
years

Financial and Performance
Management Reporting

Every 2-3
years

Controls over Systems and Records

Every 2-3
years

Adequacy

Effectiveness

A number of audit recommendations were raised following the internal audit, as of 31 March 2021 all
recommendations have been fully or partially implemented.

015 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

ASSURANCE OPINION

Financial Performance
The Fund asset value increased by £428m to £1.752bn as at 31 March 2021 from £1.324bn as at 31 March 2020. This
was largely as a result of exceptional performance within the equity funds, following the COVID-19 outbreak during
the first quarter of 2020.
The most recent triennial valuation took place as at 31 March 2019, this will cover the three financial years from
2020/21. The funding level has increased greater than anticipated during the 2019 valuation to a 99% funding level
as at 31 March 2019, up 19% from the 2016 valuation. However, funding levels for different employers vary
significantly.

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

(58,868)

(61,242)

(72,616)

(61,192)

Pensions

57,350

58,189

63,697

64,076

Net (additions)/withdrawals from dealings with members

(1,518)

(3,053)

(8,920)

2,884

5,734

5,823

6,834

10,087

Net investment returns

(15,785)

(12,242)

(17,975)

(8,665)

Change in market value

(56,708)

(72,883)

114,858

(432,486)

Net (increase)/decrease in the Fund

(68,277)

(82,356)

94,798

(428,181)

Fund Account

Page 342

Dealings with members
Contributions

Management expense

Net investment returns in 2020/21 have decreased
from 2019/20, this is due to switching part of the
equity holdings into accumulation funds, whereby
distributions are reinvested.
During 2020/21, the net increase in Fund value was
£428m, compared to a decrease in value of £94m
during the 2019/20. This is due to equities performing
exceptionally well during the year.
Both officers and the Pension Fund Committee
monitor investment performance closely and refer to
independent investment advisers as necessary to
ensure the Fund’s investments are being managed
effectively.

016 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

ANALYTICAL REVIEW

Over the four-year period, contributions received have
exceeded pensions paid by £10.6m. This is due to the
increased level of deficit recovery contributions to
bring the funding level to 100% as at 31 March 2019.

Financial Performance (continued)

Net Asset Statement
Fixed Interest Securities
Equities
Pooled Investment Vehicles
Cash Deposits

Total Investment Assets

Current assets

Page 343

Current Liabilities
Total Net Assets available to fund benefits

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

183,879

-

-

-

150

150

150

150

1,129,276

1,402,288

1,300,427

1,684,306

10,321

5,802

19,044

62,788

6,453

120

119

109

1,330,079

1,408,360

1,319,740

1,747,353

6,728

11,293

4,640

5,198

(831)

(1,321)

(846)

(836)

1,335,976

1,418,332

1,323,534

1,751,715

The points to note are:
•

73% of pooled investment vehicles comprise of
global equity shareholdings, 20% within fixed
income funds, 4% in property pooled funds while
the remaining 3% is invested in Infrastructure
(65% within equity pooled funds, 23% in fixed
income, 10% within property pooled funds and 2%
in infrastructure in 2019/20).

•

The overall value of pooled investment vehicles
increased by £384m (30%) during the year.

•

Cash deposits increased by £44m due to the sale
of the Hermes Property Fund during the year.

•

The Fund no longer holds direct investments
within fixed interest securities.

Further details are given in the Investment Policy and
Performance Section.

017 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Other

2017/18

Financial Performance (continued)
ANALYSIS OF DEALINGS WITH SCHEME MEMBERS

The key variances were due to the following:

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

£’000

£’000

£’000

£’000

- Members

(8,894)

(8,982)

(10,105)

(10,854)

- Employers

(44,982)

(45,363)

(54,244)

(46,660)

- Transfers in

(4,992)

(6,897)

(8,267)

(3,678)

Total Income

(58,868)

(61,242)

(72,616)

(61,192)

Contributions receivable

Page 344

Benefits/Expenses
- Pensions

43,802

45,610

47,628

49,146

- Lump sum retirements and death benefits

8,674

7,464

7,092

8,677

- Transfers out

4,807

4,919

7,480

5,602

67

196

306

130

-

-

1,190

521

Total Expenditure

57,350

58,189

63,697

64,076

Net Dealings with Members

(1,158)

(3,053)

(8,920)

2,884

- Refunds
- Payments in respect of tax

Employer contributions decreased by £7.6m
during 2020/21, this was due to the reduced level
of deficit recovery receipts during the year.

•

Transfers out decreased in 2020/21 because less
members chose to transfer their benefits to
another employer or remove them under the
freedom of choice legislation.

•

Transfers in also decreased during the year,
reflecting a lower number of new starters joining
the scheme and members choosing to transfer in
benefits on commencement of employment.

•

There were payments in respect of tax of £0.521m
during 2020/21, this relates to VSP tax payments
in respect of members’ annual/lifetime
allowances.

018 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

2017/18

•

Financial Performance (continued)
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONAL EXPENSES
The costs of running the pension fund are shown below.
2019/20

2020/21

£’000

£’000

£’000

Employees

184

352

308

Supplies and services

363

398

673

546

750

981

240

183

236

Investment advisory services

100

78

92

Governance and compliance

44

73

43

External audit

16

16

25

Actuarial fees

36

72

32

437

423

428

Management fees

4,572

4,779

6,211

Performance fees

0

85

45

38

31

54

230

768

2,368

4,840

5,662

8,678

5,823

6,834

10,087

The key variances were due to the following:
•

Increased costs for administrative services in
2020/21 from 2019/20, due to an increase in the
Surrey County Council administration contract
fees, along with payment of the 5-year license fee
for the administration software, Altair.

•

Governance and oversight costs during 2020/21
have remained in line with 2019/20. However,
employee costs have increased due to changes in
the recharge split within the Tri-Borough S113
agreement.

•

The increase in investment management costs in
2020/21 reflects the increased market value of the
assets. Additionally, the cost transparency code
has led to greater disclosure of transaction costs,
as well as investment within more complex asset
classes, which carry a higher management charge.

Administration

Governance and Oversight
Employees

Page 345

Investment Management

Custodian fees
Transaction Costs

Total

019 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

2018/19

Administration Management Performance
The administration of the Fund is managed by Westminster City Council and undertaken by Surrey County Council
under a not-for-profit contractual arrangement operational from 1 September 2014.

PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The contract with Surrey County Council includes a number of performance indicators included to ensure that service
to members of the pension fund is effective. The targets are set out below, along with actual performance.
Performance Indicators

Target

ORBIS
The Pension Fund uses the ORBIS on-line pension
system, which enables members to:
Update personal details

•

Check membership records and calculate pension
projections

•

View payslips and P60s
Nominate beneficiaries

Performance
2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

Page 346

Letter detailing transfer in quote

30 days

100%

100%

100%

•

Letter detailing transfer out quote

30 days

99%

98%

99%

Scheme employers can use the new system to:

Process refund and issue payment voucher

14 days

96%

100%

100%

Letter notifying estimate of retirement benefit

5 days

99%

91%

91%

Letter notifying actual retirement benefit

5 days

99%

100%

96%

Letter acknowledging death of member

5 days

95%

100%

98%

Letter notifying amount of dependant’s
benefits

5 days

98%

100%

100%

Calculate and notify deferred benefits

30 days

98%

100%

100%

The performance indicators for 2020/21 show performance is broadly in line with 2019/20 and still an improvement
from 2018/19.
A switch to working from home, following the outbreak of COVID-19, had a slightly negative impact on the
performance indicators including notifying of actual retirement benefits and letters acknowledging the death of a
member. However, there have been no delays in processing pension payments and no impact on the accuracy of
final calculations made.
Looking forward, the pensions administration service will be transitioned from Surrey County Council to Hampshire
County Council from 1 December 2021. This includes a change in administration software from Heywood’s Altair to
Civica.

•

Submit starter and leaver details and other
changes online

•

View and update employee details

•

Run benefit calculations, e.g. early retirements

COMPLAINTS RECEIVED
The pension administrators occasionally deal with
members of the fund who dispute an aspect of their
pension benefits. These cases are dealt with by the
Internal Dispute Resolution Procedure (see section 4).
There have been two IDRP cases during 2020/21 and
one case sent to the Pensions Ombudsman.

020 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

•

Administration Management Performance (continued)
STAFFING INDICATORS

ADMINISTRATION COST PER MEMBER

£60.00

The administration of the Fund comprises:
3 full-time equivalent (FTE) staff engaged by
Surrey CC working directly on pension
administration for Westminster

•

4.45 fte Westminster HR staff to deal with internal
administration.

•

2.2 fte Westminster Finance staff, assigned to the
oversight and governance of the Pension Fund.

£50.00

London average

£40.00

City of Westminster Pension
Fund
£30.00

Page 347

£20.00

English pension fund average

£10.00

£0.00

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

The contract for administering the Fund was tendered
in 2014 resulting in Surrey County Council being
appointed. Costs rose slightly in 2014/15 as a result of
the changeover of administrator, and again in 2016/17
reflecting the implementation of the ORBIS online
portal. Although this reduced in 2017/18, this has
increased in the years to 2020/21 due to ad hoc
administration works in relation to data cleansing,
GMP reconciliation, microfiche retrieval works and an
increase in the Surrey annual administration charge. In
addition to this the number of FTE Westminster HR
personnel has increased from 2.5 FTE in 2018/19 to
4.45 FTE in 2020/21.
During 2019/20, costs increased above the average for
London borough pension funds. This was largely due to
the increased size of the HR administration function
following the end of the BT finance contract and works
relating to data cleansing. This rose again significantly
during 2020/21, this relates to an increase in the
annual administration charge, as well as payment
relating to the administration software 5-year license
fee.

021 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

•

Administration Management Performance (continued)
MEMBERSHIP NUMBERS AND TRENDS
Overall membership has increased 25.6% over the past
14 years from 13,827 to 17,364.

8,000
7,000
6,000
5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000
0

31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
31
March March March March March March March March March March March March March March
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014 2015 2016 2017
2018 2019
2020 2021
Contributors

Deferred

Pensioners

022 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Page 348

However, over this period, the number of contributing
members to the Pension Fund has declined steadily
from 2008/09 to 2012/13 and again during 2016/17
and 2019/20, as shown in the chart below. The
introduction of auto-enrolment in 2013 and the
increase in employers admitted into the Scheme has
reversed this trend somewhat. Nonetheless, the
number of pensioners and deferred members has
continued to rise in common with other local
government pension funds, reflecting the increasing
maturity of the Fund.

FUND MEMBERSHIP

Administration Management Performance (continued)
The total number of pensioners in receipt of enhanced
benefits due to ill health or early retirement on the
grounds of redundancy or efficiency of the service is
given below as at each year on 31 March. This has
decreased significantly year on year to 31 March 2021.

Reason for Leaving

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

5

1

1

2

Early Retirement

39

23

15

10

Total

44

24

16

12

Ill Health
Retirement

023 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Page 349

Administration Management Performance (continued)
CONTRIBUTING EMPLOYERS AND CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVED
Below is a list of the current active contributing employers and the contributions
received for 2020/21 (figures include early retirement and deficit funding
contributions).

Employers
Contributions

Total
Contributions

St Augustine's High School

(78)

(310)

(388)

St. Augustine's Primary School

(15)

(63)

(78)

(7)

(29)

(36)

Employers
Contributions

Total
Contributions

St Barnabas
St Clement Danes

(15)

(60)

(75)

£'000

£'000

£'000

St Gabriel's

(12)

(46)

(58)

St George Hanover Square

(7)

(29)

(36)

St James & St Michaels

(9)

(37)

(46)

(19)

(81)

(100)

(8)

(33)

(41)

St Mary Bryanston Square

(12)

(52)

(64)

St Mary Magdalene

(17)

(65)

(82)

St Mary of the Angels

(27)

(111)

(138)

St Matthew's

(15)

(58)

(73)

St Peters CE

(16)

(64)

(80)

St Peters Eaton Square

(13)

(54)

(68)

St. Edward`s RC Primary School

(20)

(79)

(99)

St. Saviours

(28)

(114)

(142)

St Vincent De Paul Primary School

(10)

(42)

(51)

St. Vincent`s RC Primary School

(11)

(49)

(61)

St Stephens CE primary School

(11)

(45)

(56)

Tachbrook Nursery

(13)

(50)

(63)

Westminster Cathedral

(17)

(73)

(90)

(8,841)

(40,992)

(49,833)

(8,040)

(37,678)

(45,718)

All Souls

(14)

(57)

(70)

Barrow Hill Junior

(19)

(66)

(85)

Burdett Coutts

(12)

(51)

(63)

Christ Church Bentinck Primary

(17)

(69)

(86)

College Park

(37)

(139)

(176)

Dorothy Gardner Centre

(27)

(137)

(165)

Edward Wilson

(21)

(81)

(101)

Essendine Primary

(31)

(122)

(153)

George Eliot

(23)

(165)

(188)

Hallfield

(43)

(169)

(212)

Hampden Gurney Primary

(12)

(50)

(62)

Mary Paterson Nursery School

(16)

(66)

(82)

Our Lady of Dolours Primary School

(22)

(86)

(108)

Portman Early Childhood Centre

(43)

(169)

(212)

Queen Elizabeth 11

(35)

(149)

(184)

Queen's Park

(16)

(63)

(79)

Robinsfield

(12)

(41)

(53)

Soho Parish

(22)

(90)

(112)

St Joseph's RC Primary School
St Lukes

Page 350

Total Contributions from Administering
Authority

024 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Employees
Contributions

Administering Authority Employers
Westminster City Council

Employees
Contributions

Administration Management Performance (continued)
SCHEDULED BODIES
The Fund provides pensions not only for employees of Westminster City Council, but
also for the employees of a number of scheduled and admitted bodies.
Scheduled bodies are organisations which have a statutory right to be a member of
the Local Government Pension Scheme under the regulations e.g. academy schools.
Employers’
Contributions

Total
Contributions

Ark Atwood Primary Academy

(24)

(72)

(96)

Beachcroft Academy

(19)

(39)

(58)

Churchill Gardens Academy

(12)

(44)

(56)

Gateway Academy

(26)

(85)

(111)

Grey Coat Hospital Academy

(70)

(203)

(273)

Harris Westminster Free School

(20)

(45)

(64)

Harris Academy St Johns Wood

(61)

(164)

(225)

King Solomon Academy

(212)

(610)

(822)

Marylebone Boys School

(32)

(90)

(122)

Millbank Primary Academy

(15)

(46)

(60)

Paddington Academy

(77)

(203)

(280)

(158)

(365)

(523)

(13)

(29)

(42)

Scheduled Bodies

Page 351

Pimlico Academy
Pimlico Free School

Employers’
Contributions

Total
Contributions

(7)

(17)

(23)

St Georges Maida Vale Academy

(50)

(143)

(194)

St Marylebone Academy

(68)

(177)

(245)

St Marylebone Bridge School

(22)

(63)

(85)

Westminster Academy

(54)

(129)

(183)

Westminster City School

(49)

(124)

(172)

Wilberforce Academy

(11)

(35)

(46)

(1,000)

(2,679)

(3,679)

Scheduled Bodies
Sir Simon Milton University Technical College

Total Contributions from Scheduled Bodies

025 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Employees
Contribution

Employees
Contribution

Administration Management Performance (continued)
ADMITTED BODIES

EMPLOYER ANALYSIS

Admitted bodies participate in the pension scheme via an admission agreement made
between the Council and the employing organisation. Examples of admitted bodies
are not for profit organisations linked to the Council and contractors who have taken
on delivery of services with Council staff also transferred to third parties.

The following table summarises the number of employers in the fund analysed by
scheduled bodies and admitted bodies which are active (with active members) and
ceased (no active members but with some outstanding pensions liabilities).

Employers
Contributions

Total
Contributions

Accent Catering

(1)

(7)

(8)

Bouygues

(2)

(11)

(13)

BT

(5)

(28)

(33)

Continental Landscapes Ltd

(4)

(19)

(23)

(141)

(241)

(382)

(4)

(24)

(28)

0

0

0

Housing and Communities Agency

(254)

(550)

(804)

Independent Housing Ombudsman

(258)

(958)

(1,216)

(1)

(8)

(9)

(342)

(1,142)

(1,485)

(0)

(2)

(2)

(1,014)

(2,988)

(4,002)

(10,855)

(46,659)

(57,514)

Admitted Bodies

Page 352

Creative Education Trust
Gold Care Homes
Hatsgroup

Pinnacle Housing
Regulator for Social Housing
Sanctuary Housing
Total Contributions from Admitted Bodies

Grand Total

Ceased

Total

1

0

1

Scheduled Body

20

0

20

Admitted Body

11

1

12

Total

32

1

33

Administering Authority

026 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Employees
Contribution

Active

Page 353

3.
Investment
Policy and
Performance

Investment Policy
The Pension Fund Committee sets out a broad
statement of the principles it has employed in
establishing its investment and funding strategy in the
Investment Strategy Statement (ISS). The ISS has been
updated following the asset allocation strategy review
during 2020 and can be found within section 9
(appendices).

asset allocations

•

restrictions on investment types

•

methods of investment management

•

performance monitoring.

Page 354

•

The ISS also sets out the Fund’s approach to
responsible investment and corporate governance
issues, and how the Fund demonstrates compliance
with the “Myners Principles”. These Principles are a set
of recommendations relating to the investment of
pension funds originally prepared by Lord Myners in
2001 and subsequently endorsed by Government. The
current version of the Myners Principles covers the
following areas:
•

Effective decision making;

•

Clear objectives;

•

Risk & liabilities;

•

Performance Measurement;

•

Responsible ownership;

•

Transparency and reporting.

The ISS addresses each of the objectives included in
the 2016 Regulations, namely:
•

The administering requirement to invest fund
money in a wide range of instruments

•

The administering authority’s assessment of the
suitability of particular investments and types of
investment

•

The administering authority’s approach to risk,
including the ways in which risks are to be
measured and managed

•

The administering authority’s approach to pooling
investments, including the use of collective
investment vehicles

•

The administering authority’s policy on how social,
environmental and governance considerations are
taken into account in the selection, non-selection,
retention and realisation of investments.

The ISS can be obtained from:
Pension Fund Team, 16th Floor, 64 Victoria Street,
London, SW1E 6QP
Email: pensionfund@westminster.gov.uk

028 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The ISS sets out responsibilities relating to the overall
investment policy of the Fund including:

For 2020/21, the LGPS (Management and Investment
of Funds) Regulations 2016, requires the Fund to
publish an Investment Strategy Statement (ISS), which
replaces the Statement of Investment Principles.

Asset Allocation
The strategic asset allocation is agreed by the Pension
Fund Committee and the Fund’s advisers. The
allocation effective during the year ended 31 March
2021 was as follows:
Asset Class

Target
Allocation %
42.5

Global Equities (passive)

22.5

Fixed Income

19.0

Property
Infrastructure

Page 355

TOTAL

The asset allocation of the Pension Fund at the start
and end of the financial year is set out below. These
figures are based on market value and reflect the
relative performance of investment markets and the
impact of tactical asset allocation decisions made by
the Pension Fund Committee.

During the year, the Committee elected to transition
global passive equities into the LGIM Future World
Fund and Morgan Stanley Global Sustain Fund.
Alongside this, the Committee agreed to terminate the
Hermes Property mandate and transition into
renewable infrastructure, with Macquarie and
Quinbrook each allocated c.£50m. The Hermes sale
proceeds are currently being held with the Custodian,
Northern Trust, whilst the infrastructure managers
draw down.

5.0
11.0

Cash

100.0

The Pension Fund Committee holds Fund Managers
accountable for decisions on asset allocation within
the Fund mandate under which they operate. In order
to follow the Myners Principles, fund managers are
challenged formally about asset allocation decisions.
Investment portfolios are reviewed at each Committee
meeting in discussion with the investment adviser and
officers, and fund managers are called to a Committee
meeting if there are issues that need to be addressed.
Officers meet fund managers regularly and advice is
taken from the investment adviser on matters relating
to fund manager arrangement and performance.
Fund managers provide a rationale for asset allocation
decisions based upon their research resource in an
effort to ensure that they are not simply tracking the

Property

Alternatives

Fixed income

Global equities (passive and active)

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

Actual allocation 2020/21

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

Actual allocation 2019/20

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

029 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

Global Equities (active)

peer group or relevant benchmark index. The Fund’s
asset allocation strategy can be found in the ISS.

Asset Allocation (continued)
LGPS AVERAGE ASSET ALLOCATION

Equity

Fixed
Income

Alternatives

Property

Cash

Diversified
Growth

Other

Universe Average*

56

17

14

8

2

2

1

City of Westminster

71

19

2

4

4

0

0

-15

-2

12

4

-2

2

1

Variance

*At the 31 March 2021 the Universe was comprised of 64 funds
This data has been extracted from the PIRC 2020/21 Local Authority Fund Statistics.

Page 356

FUND ASSETS

FUND VALUE

The Fund is invested to meet liabilities over the
medium to long-term and therefore its performance
should be judged over a corresponding period. Annual
returns can be volatile and do not necessarily indicate
the underlying health of the Fund.

1,751,715

1,800,000
1,600,000
1,400,000

1,261,893
1,098,972

1,200,000
995,697

£ million

The value of the Fund has more than doubled over the
past ten years. The slight fall in value in 2015/16
reflected uncertainty around the strength of the global
economy and China in particular, but the Fund
recovered well and continued to make gains up to
2018/19. The Fund value fell during 2019/20, due to
the COVID-19 outbreak impacting global markets
during Q4 of 2019/20. However, the Fund recovered
well during 2020/21 with an increase in asset value of
£428m, largely due to exceptional performance within
the equity mandates.

1,000,000
800,000

1,335,976

1,418,331
1,323,534

1,066,343

874,176
774,153

600,000
400,000
200,000
0
2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

030 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Pensions and Investments Research Consultants
(PIRC), report annually on the average asset allocation
across the LGPS Universe. As at 31 March 2021, the
City of Westminster Pension Fund had 15% more
allocated to equities compared to the LGPS average,
whereas the Fund had 12% less allocated to
alternatives. It should be noted that when comparing
asset allocation to performance, factors such as
funding level and manager selection should also be
taken into consideration.

Investment Performance
The Fund’s overall performance in 2020/21 outperformed its benchmark for the year by 4.6% gross of fees, as shown
below. This was largely as a result of exceptional performance within the equity portfolios. Alongside this, annualised
performance has exceeded the benchmark since inception and over the past three and five-years gross of fees.

ANNUALISED FUND PERFORMANCE

Performance of fund managers is reviewed quarterly
by the Pension Fund Committee, which is supported by
the Fund’s independent investment advisor, Deloitte.

32.7%
28.1%

30.0%
25.0%

Page 357

20.0%
15.0%

9.4%

10.7%

9.7%

8.9%

9.7%

10.0%

8.9%

5.0%
0.0%
1 year

3 years
City of Westminster Pension Fund

5 years

Since inception

Strategic Benchmark

031 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

35.0%

Performance of the Fund is measured against an
overall strategic benchmark. Below this, each fund
manager is given individual performance targets which
are linked to index returns for the assets they manage.
Details of these targets can be found in the ISS.

Investment Performance (continued)
The portfolio is a mixture of active and passively
managed asset classes:

All managers have provided a positive return since inception. Baillie Gifford, LGIM, Insight and Aberdeen Standard
have outperformed their benchmarks since inception. The Fund transitioned into four new mandates (LGIM Future
World, Morgan Stanley, Quinbrook and Macquarie) during the year, therefore it is too early to assess the
performance of the renewable infrastructure funds. The Hermes property fund was exited during the year, with funds
to be transitioned to the Macquarie and Quinbrook renewable infrastructure funds. The Longview equity mandate is
in the process of being transitioned into the Pantheon Global Infrastructure Fund.

•

Targets for active fund mandates are set to outperform the benchmark by a set percentage
through active stock selection and asset
allocation. Fund managers with active fund
mandates are Baillie Gifford (LCIV), CQS (LCIV),
Insight, Longview, Macquarie, Morgan Stanley
(LCIV), Pantheon and Quinbrook.

•

Targets for passive funds are set to achieve the
benchmark through investment in a stable
portfolio. Fund managers with passive fund
mandates are Aberdeen Standard and LGIM.

FUND MANAGER PERFORMANCE

Page 358

18.0%
16.0%

17.0%
14.4%

13.9% 13.8%

14.0%

15.2%

14.4%
12.0%

12.0%
9.6%

10.0%

7.8%

8.0%

6.0%

5.9%

5.6%

4.7%

6.0%

3.8%

3.5%

4.0%

7.7%

2.0%
0.0%
Baillie Gifford
(LCIV)

CQS (LCIV)

Insight

LGIM Future
World
Since Inception

Longview
Partners
Benchmark

Morgan
Stanley (LCIV)

Pantheon

Aberdeen
Standard

032 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The overall performance of each manager is measured over rolling three and five-year periods, as inevitably there
will be short-term fluctuations in performance.

Investment Performance (continued)
Annually the Pensions and Investments Research Consultants (PIRC) compile a list of Local Authority pension
performance analytics, ranking each Fund according to their performance in the 1-year to 30-year time periods. In
the wider LGPS Universe, the average 1-year Fund return to 31 March 2021 was 22.80% compared to a 10-year
average return of 8.3% p.a. As at 31 March 2021 the Universe comprised of 64 funds with a total value of £230bn.

Page 359

LGPS AVERAGE PERFORMANCE
1 Year

3 Yrs

5 Yrs

10 Yrs

20 Yrs

30 Yrs

(% p.a.)

(% p.a.)

(% p.a.)

(% p.a.)

(% p.a.)

Universe Average

22.8

7.6

9.5

8.3

6.9

8.4

City of Westminster*

32.7

9.4

10.7

9.5

-

-

Total Equity

39.0

10.0

12.3

9.7

7.5

9.0

Total Bonds

7.3

3.9

4.9

5.7

5.8

7.3

Alternatives

8.0

8.1

9.2

8.3

6.2

-

15.2

3.6

4.0

-

-

-

0.4

2.5

4.5

6.9

6.5

7.7

Diversified Growth
Property

*The City of Westminster Pension Fund has performance data up to the 10-year period.
This data has been extracted from the PIRC 2020/21 Local Authority Fund Statistics.

033 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The City of Westminster Pension Fund placed in the top quartile of fund returns for the 1-year period, this was largely
due to excellent performance within the equity mandates, following the crash in stock markets triggered by the
COVID-19 pandemic. Over the longer 10-year period the Fund also placed in the top quartile of pension fund
performance. The table below shows the LGPS Universe average returns compared to the Fund over the 1-year to
30-year period, along with average LPGS returns by asset class over the same time periods.

Corporate Governance
RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT AND
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE POLICIES

Page 360

The Fund investment managers, acting in the best
financial interests of the Fund, are expected to
consider, amongst other factors, the effects of social,
environmental and ethical issues on the performance
of a company when undertaking the acquisition,
retention or realisation of investments for the Fund.
The Fund’s investment managers have adopted
socially responsible investment policies which are
subject to regular review both by officers and by the
Council’s Pension Committee.
The Pension Fund recognises that the neglect of
corporate social responsibility and poor attention paid
to environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues
may lead to poor or reduced shareholder returns. This
presents a significant responsibility for the Pension
Fund Committee (the Committee). The ESG approach
has become integral to the Fund’s overall investment
strategy.

PROFESSIONAL BODIES
The Council is a member of the CIPFA Pensions
Network which provides a central coordination point
for all LGPS funds and local authority members.
CIPFA staff and the network more generally are able to
advise subscribers on all aspects of pensions and
related legislation. Relevant training and seminars are
also available to officers and members of participating
funds.
While the Fund is a member of the Pensions Lifetime
and Savings Association (PLSA) as well as the Local
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF), it does not
subscribe to nor is it a member of UK Sustainable
Investment & Finance Association or the Institutional
Investors Group on Climate change or any other
bodies.

VOTING
Fund managers have the delegated authority to vote at
shareholder meetings in accordance with their own
guidelines, which have been discussed and agreed with
the Pensions Committee. The Officers keep under
close review the various voting reports that it receives
from Fund managers. Equity proxy voting for 2020/21
can be found within the table on page 37.

COLLABORATIVE VENTURES
The Fund has been working closely with other London
LGPS funds in the London Collective Investment
Vehicle set up to enable greater buying power,
reduced
fees
and
enhanced
governance
arrangements. The City of Westminster is a
shareholder in London LGPS CIV Limited.
Following FCA approval in 2016, the LCIV has
continued to trade and the City of Westminster
Pension Fund transferred the Baillie Gifford mandate
(valued at £178m) into the LCIV in April 2016. This was
followed by transferring the Majedie portfolio in May
2017 (valued at £308m), the CQS multi asset credit
fund in November 2018 (valued at £91m). In addition
to this this, the Fund transitioned proceeds from the
Majedie sale into the LCIV Morgan Stanley Global
Sustain fund during November 2020 (valued at
£328m).

FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT
The Funding Strategy Statement (Section 9) sets out
the aims and purpose of the pension fund and the
responsibilities of the administering authority as
regards funding the scheme.
Its purpose is:
•

To establish a clear and transparent fund-specific
strategy to identify how employers’ pension
liabilities are best met going forward;

•

To support the regulatory requirement to
maintain as nearly constant employer
contribution rates as possible;

034 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Pension Fund has a paramount fiduciary duty to
obtain the best possible financial return on Fund
investments without exposing assets to unnecessary
risk. It believes that following good practice in terms
of social, environmental and ethical issues is generally
likely to have a favourable effect on the long-term
financial performance of a company and will improve
investment returns to its shareholders.

The Fund’s policies on environmental, social and
governance (ESG) issues and responsible investment
can be found within the Investment Strategy
Statement (ISS). In addition to this, the Fund has a
Responsible Investment Statement which is reviewed
annually and can be found within section 9.

Corporate Governance (continued)
•

To take a prudent longer-term view of funding
those liabilities.

SEPARATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

Page 361

The Fund’s bank account is held with Lloyd’s Bank.
Funds not immediately required to pay benefits are
held as interest bearing operational cash with Lloyds
Bank.

The actuary is responsible for assessing the long-term
financial position of the pension fund and issues a
Rates and Adjustments Certificate following the
triennial valuation of the Pension Fund, which sets out
the minimum contributions which each employer in
the Scheme is obliged to pay over the following three
years.

STEWARDSHIP CODE
The Pensions Committee believes that investor
stewardship is a key component of good governance
and is committed to exercising this responsibility with
the support of its investment managers. In line with
this approach, all of the Council’s equity investment
managers are signatories to the UK Stewardship Code.
The Pension Fund Committee believes that companies
should be accountable to shareholders and should be
structured with appropriate checks and balances so as

The Pension Fund Committee encourages fund
managers to consider a range of factors before making
investment decisions, such as the company’s historical
financial performance, governance structures, risk
management approach, the degree to which strategic
objectives have been met and environmental and
social issues. Such considerations may also be linked
to voting choices at company AGMs.
The Pension Fund Committee’s role is not to micromanage companies but provide perspective and share
with boards and management our priorities for
investment and approach to corporate governance.
The ultimate aim is to work with management,
shareholders and stakeholders to bring about changes
that enhance long-term performance.
The Stewardship Policy provides further information
on the different elements of the Council’s commitment
to stewardship. It is intended as a guide for investment
managers, investee companies and pension fund
members and can be accessed via the pension fund
website on
https://www.westminster.gov.uk/media/document/st
ewardship-policy

CODE OF TRANSPARENCY
Following the shift towards investment management
fee transparency and consistency within the LGPS, the
Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) has developed a
voluntary Code of Transparency for LGPS asset
managers. Transparency is also a target for the revised
CIPFA accounting standard issued for inclusion
in the statutory annual report and accounts and is
included in the government’s investment
reform guidance and criteria for LGPS pooling.
The Code is voluntary and details the provision of
transparent and consistent investment cost and fee
information between investment managers and
administering authorities. Signatories to the code are
required to complete a template which details
management expenses associated with the running of
the fund, including direct and indirect costs.
Asset managers which sign up to the code are required
to put systems in place within 12 months of signing up
to allow the automatic submission of the templates to
each Administrating Authority. The SAB reserves the
right to remove any signatory which is reported by an
Administering Authority to be in breach of the code.
The Fund uses the templates completed by the asset
managers to compile the management expenses of the
Pension Fund at a detailed level. This data is used to
inform investment decisions, including manager
selection, risk management and holding mangers to
account in regard to performance fees.

035 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Fund employs a global custodian (Northern Trust),
independent to the investment managers, to be
responsible for the safekeeping of all of the Fund’s
investments. Northern Trust is responsible for the
settlement of all investment transactions and the
collection of income.

to safeguard shareholders’ interests and deliver longterm returns.

Corporate Governance (continued)
PROXY VOTING 2020/21

Page 362

Additionally, the Fund is a member of the Pension and
Lifetime Savings Association (PLSA) and the Local
Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and in this way
joins with other investors to magnify its voice and
maximise the influence of investors as asset owners.
Our equity manager proxy voting for 2020/21 is shown
in the below table.
Asset
Manager
Billie Gifford
(LCIV)
Morgan
Stanley
(LCIV)
Legal &
General
Longview
TOTAL

Number of
resolutions

For

Against

Other

1,270

1,149

35

86

156

137

16

3

50,998

42,731

8,022

245

435

403

25

7

52,859

44,420

8,098

341

036 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • INVESTMENT POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Committee has delegated the Fund’s voting rights
to the investment managers, who are required, where
practical, to make considered use of voting in the
interests of the Fund. The Fund through its
participation in the London CIV will work closely with
other LGPS Funds in London to enhance the level of
engagement both with external managers and the
underlying companies in which invests.

Page 363

4.
Scheme
Administration

Scheme Administration
COMMUNICATION POLICY STATEMENT

Although the LGPS is a national scheme, it is
administered locally. Westminster City Council has a
statutory responsibility to administer the pension
benefits payable from the Pension Fund on behalf of
the participating employers and the past and present
members and their dependents.

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations
2013 require Pension Funds to prepare, publish and
maintain a communication policy statement, which
can be found within section 9. The Communication
Policy details the overall strategy for involving
stakeholders in the pension fund. A key part of this
strategy is a dedicated pension fund website, which
includes a great deal more information about the
benefits of the pension fund and this can be accessed
via the following link:

Page 364

The City Council administers the scheme for 32
employers (a list of employers is provided in section 2).
These employers include not only the City Council, but
also academy schools within the borough and a small
number of organisations linked to the Council which
have been admitted to the Pension Fund under
agreement with the City Council.

A not-for-profit contractual arrangement is in place
with Surrey CC for the provision of pension
administration services. Performance of this service
against targets within the contract is reported on page
20. The City Council’s Human Resources provide
oversight of the administration service.

http://www.wccpensionfund.co.uk/

INTERNAL DISPUTE RESOLUTION
PROCEDURE
Members of pension schemes have statutory rights to
ensure that complaints, queries and problems
concerning pension rights are properly resolved. To
facilitate this process, an Internal Disputes Resolution
Procedure (IDRP) has been established. While any
complaint is progressing, fund members are entitled to
contact The Pensions Advisory Service (TPAS), who can
provide free advice.

IDRP Stage 1 involves making a formal complaint in
writing. This would normally be considered by the body
that made the decision in question. In the event that
the fund member is not satisfied with actions taken at
Stage 1 the complaint will progress to Stage 2.
IDRP Stage 2 involves a referral to the administering
authority, Westminster City Council to take an
independent view.
IDRP Stage 3 is a referral of the complaint to the
Pension Ombudsman.
Please see page 20 for details of all IDRP and Pensions
Ombudsman cases during 2020/21.
Both TPAS and the Pensions Ombudsman can be
contacted at:
10 South Colonnade
Canary Wharf
E14 4PU
Tel: 0800 917 4487

038 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • SCHEME ADMINISTRATION

SERVICE DELIVERY

Scheme Administration (continued)

ADMINISTRATION UPDATE

Page 365

The pension administration function was run for the
majority of the year from the administration team
based in East Sussex offices in Lewes as part of the
Orbis combined pension administration service. The
pension administration service moved from the East
Sussex team to the Kingston team in April when the
Orbis pension service disbanded on the 1st of April.
The handover of work at the end of March may have
contributed to a few late cases in that month where
the KPI had previously been at 100%
The Westminster fund is now engaged with the
Hampshire Pension Service (HPS) to move the
administration service to them in November 2021 and
the focus will be on maintaining a high level of service
for members whilst ensuring a seamless transfer to the
new provider.

039 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • SCHEME ADMINISTRATION

This year was difficult for everyone and the pension
administration team had been a primarily office based,
team up to March 2020 when the pandemic hit. The
administration had to adapt to home working and did
so quickly and overall, the KPI data was very good. We
asked the team to concentrate on three key areas
including death cases, retirements and refunds.

Page 366

5.
Actuarial
Information

Report by Actuary
INTRODUCTION
The last full triennial valuation of the City of
Westminster Pension Fund (“the Fund”) was carried
out as at 31 March 2019 in accordance with the
Funding Strategy Statement of the Fund. The results
were published in the triennial valuation report dated
30 March 2020.

At 31 March 2019, the smoothed value of assets was
£1,410.6m which was 99% of the liabilities valued on
an ongoing basis. The corresponding funding level at
the previous valuation as at 31 March 2016 was 80%.

Page 367

CONTRIBUTION RATES
The contribution rates, in addition to those paid by the
members of the Fund, are set to be sufficient to meet:
•

•

The annual accrual of benefits allowing for
future pay increases and increases to
pensions in payment when they fall due,
known as the “primary rate”;
plus an amount to reflect each participating
employer’s notional share of the Fund’s
assets compared with 100% of their liabilities
in the Fund, in respect of service to the
valuation date’ known as the secondary rate.

The 2019 valuation certified a total primary rate of
17.9% p.a. of pensionable pay. Each employer body
participating in the Fund has to pay a contribution rate
consisting of the employer’s individual primary rate
and a secondary rate reflecting the employer’s
particular circumstances and funding position within
the Fund.

Assumptions

this will be at the rate of £12
lump sum for £1 pension.

ASSUMPTIONS
The assumptions used to value the liabilities at 31
March 2019 are summarised below:
Assumptions

Assumptions used for 2019
Valuation

CPI Inflation

2.6% p.a.

Salary increases

3.6% p.a.

Discount Rate:
Scheduled bodies

4.8% p.a.

Admitted bodies

3.3% p.a.

Post retirement mortality
(member) – base table

S3PA tables with a multiplier of
110% for males and 105% for
females

Allowance for improvements
in life expectancy

2018 CMI Model with a
smoothing parameter of 7.5,
an
initial
addition
to
improvements of 0.5% p.a.,
and a long-term rate of
improvement of 1.25%

Retirement age

For each tranche of benefit the
“tranche retirement age” is
the earliest age a member
could retire with unreduced
benefits. Each member is
assumed to retire at the
weighted average of these for
all tranches of benefit.

Allowance for cash
commutation

Members
will
commute
pension at retirement to
provide a lump sum of 50% of
the additional maximum
allowed under HMRC rules and

Assumptions used for 2019
Valuation

UPDATED POSITION
Assets
Returns over the year to 31 March 2021 have been
strong, more than offsetting the fall in asset values at
the end of the previous year. As at 31 March 2021, in
market value terms, the Fund assets were slightly more
than where they were projected to be based on the
previous valuation.

Liabilities
The key assumption which has the greatest impact on
the valuation of liabilities is the real discount rate (the
discount rate relative to CPI inflation) – the higher the
real discount rate the lower the value of liabilities. As
at 31 March 2021, the real discount rate is estimated
to be lower than at the 2019 valuation due to lower
future expected returns on assets in excess of CPI
inflation.
Please note that we have updated the derivation of the
CPI inflation assumption to be 0.8% p.a. below the 20
year point on the Bank of England (BoE) implied
inflation curve. The assumption adopted at the 2019
valuation was that CPI would be 1.0% p.a. below the 20
year point on the BoE implied inflation curve. This
update was made following the Government’s
response (on 25 November 2020) to the consultation
on the reform of RPI, and the expectation that the UK

041 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • ACTUARIAL INFORMATION

ASSET VALUE AND FUNDING LEVEL

Details of each employer’s contribution rate are
contained in the Rates and Adjustment Certificate in
the triennial valuation report.

Statistics Authority will implement the proposed
changes to bring RPI in line with CPIH from 2030. This
updated approach leads to a small increase in the value
of liabilities.

We will continue to monitor the funding level on a
quarterly basis as requested by the administering
authority.

The value of liabilities will also have increased due to
the accrual of new benefits net of benefits paid.

Overall Position

Page 368

On balance, we estimate that the funding position has
slightly improved when compared on a consistent basis
to 31 March 2019 (but allowing for the update to the
CPI inflation assumption).

The change in the real discount rate since 31 March
2019 is likely to place a higher value on the cost of
future accrual which results in a higher primary
contribution rate. No deficit contributions would be
required as a result of the worsening in the funding
position with the total contributions being overall
higher.
Future investment returns that will be achieved by the
Fund in the short term are more uncertain than usual,
in particular the return from equites due to actual and
potential reductions and suspensions of dividends.
There is also uncertainty around future benefits due to
the McCloud/Sargeant cases and the cost cap process.

Barry McKay FFA
Partner, Barnett Waddingham LLP
042 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • ACTUARIAL INFORMATION

It is currently unclear what the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic is on the Fund’s funding position. It is
expected that COVID-related deaths will not have a
material impact on the Fund’s current funding level,
however, impact on future mortality rates may be
more significant and we will be reviewing the Fund’s
mortality assumption as part of the next valuation.

Page 369

6.
Pension Fund
Accounts

Statement of Responsibilities
Responsibility for the Financial Statements, which
form part of this Annual Report, is set out in the
following declaration.

In preparing these Statements of Accounts, the Section
151 Officer has:
•

THE COUNCIL’S RESPONSIBILITIES
The Council is required to:
make

arrangements

•
for

the

proper

Page 370

administration of its financial affairs and to

•

secure that one of its officers has the

The Section 151 Officer has also:

responsibility for the administration of those

•

affairs, in line with statute this is the Section
151 Officer;
•

manage its affairs to secure economic,
efficient and effective use of resources and

•

kept proper accounting records which were
up to date; and
taken reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

safeguard its assets; and
•

approve the Statement of Accounts.

THE SECTION 151 OFFICER’S
RESPONSIBILITIES
The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the
preparation of the Council’s Statement of Accounts
and of its Pension Fund Statement of Accounts which,
in terms of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in Great Britain (‘the Code’), are
required respectively to present fairly the financial
position of the Council and of the Pension Fund at the
accounting date and the income and expenditure for
the year then ended.

Gerald Almeroth
Executive Director - Finance and Resources
Section 151 Officer

The Statement of Accounts was approved by the
Westminster City Council Audit and Performance
Committee.

Councillor Ian Rowley
Chairman of the Audit and Performance Committee

044 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

•

selected suitable accounting policies and then
applied them consistently except where
policy changes have been noted in these
accounts;
made judgments and estimates that were
reasonable and prudent; and
complied with the Code.

APPROVAL OF STATEMENT OF
ACCOUNTS

Independent Auditors Report

045 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 371

Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes
FUND ACCOUNT
2019/20

Notes

£'000

202/21
£'000

Dealings with members, employers and others directly involved in the fund

(54,244)

From Employers

6

(46,660)

(10,105)

From Members

6

(10,854)

Page 372

(8,267)

Individual Transfers in from Other Pension Funds

(3,678)

(72,616)

(61,192)

Benefits
47,628

Pensions

7

49,146

7,092

Commutation, Lump Sum Retirement and Death Benefits

7

8,677

1,190

Payments in respect of tax

521

Payments to and on Account of Leavers
7,480
306

63,696

Individual Transfers Out to Other Pension Funds
Refunds to Members Leaving Service

5,602
130

64,076

046 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Contributions

Pension Fund Accounts and Explanatory Notes (continued)
2020/21

Notes

£'000
(8,920)

6,834
(2,086)

2020/21
£'000

Net (Additions)/Withdrawals from Dealings with Members

Management Expenses

2,884

8

Net (additions)/withdrawals including management expenses

10,087
12,971

(16,259)
(1,716)

Investment Income

9

(8,656)

Other Income

-

(9)

Page 373

(17,975)

114,859

(8,665)

(Profit) and loss on disposal of investments and changes in the market value of investments

11

(432,487)

96,884

Net return on investments

(441,152)

94,798

Net (Increase)/Decrease in the Net Assets Available for Benefits During the Year

(428,181)

(1,418,332)

Opening Net Assets of the Scheme

(1,323,534)

(1,323,534)

Closing Net Assets of the Scheme

(1,751,715)

047 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Returns on Investments

Net Assets Statement for the year ended 31 March 2021*
2019/20

Notes

2020/21

£'000

£'000
Investment assets

150
1,300,427

Equities

11

150

Pooled Investment Vehicles

11

1,684,306

Income Due

11

109

Cash Deposits

11

62,788

Other Investment Balances:
119

1,319,740
-

1,747,353
Investment Liabilities

-

Page 374

1,319,740

Net Value of Investment Assets

10

1,747,353

4,640

Current Assets

18

5,198

(846)

Current Liabilities

19

(836)

1,323,534

Net Assets of the Fund Available to Fund Benefits at the Period End

1,751,715

* The Fund's financial statements do not take account of liabilities to pay pensions and other benefits after the
period end. The actuarial present value of promised retirement benefits is disclosed in Note 17.

048 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

19,044

Note 1 Description of the City of Westminster Pension
Fund
The Fund is governed by the Public Service Pensions
Act 2013 and the following secondary legislation:
•

The LGPS Regulations 2013 (as amended)

•

The LGPS (transitional Provisions, Savings and
Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as amended) and

•

The LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016.

b) Funding
The Fund is financed by contributions from employees,
the Council, the admitted and scheduled bodies and
from interest and dividends on the Fund’s investments.
Contributions are made by active members of the Fund
in accordance with the LGPS Regulations 2013 and
range from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable pay for the
financial year ending 31 March 2021. Employers also
pay contributions into the Fund based on triennial
funding valuations. The last such valuation was as at 31
March 2019, this covers the three financial years
following 2019/20. Currently employer contribution
rates range from 12.0% to 37.0% of pensionable pay,
as per the 2019 valuation.

049 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 375

a) General
The Pension Fund (the Fund) is part of the Local
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) and is
administered by the Westminster City Council. It is a
contributory defined benefits scheme established in
accordance with statute, which provides for the
payment of benefits to employees and former
employees of the Westminster City Council and the
admitted and scheduled bodies in the Fund. These
benefits include retirement pensions and early
payment of benefits on medical grounds and payment
of death benefits where death occurs either in service
or in retirement. The benefits payable in respect of
service from 1st April 2014 are based on career
average revalued earnings and the number of years of
eligible service. Pensions are increased each year in
line with the Consumer Price Index.

Note 1 Description of the City of Westminster Pension Fund (continued)
c) Benefits
Prior to 1 April 2014, pension benefits under the LGPS were based on final pensionable pay and length of pensionable
service, summarised in the following table:
Pension
Lump Sum

Service post 31 March 2008
Each year worked is worth 1/60 x final
pensionable pay
No automatic lump sum.
Part of the annual pension can be
exchanged for a one-off tax-free cash
payment. A lump sum of £12 is paid
for each £1 of pension given up.

From 1 April 2014, the scheme became a career average revalued earnings (CARE) scheme, whereby members accrue
benefits based on their pensionable pay in that year at an accrual rate of 1/49th. Accrued pension is updated annually
in line with the Consumer Prices Index.
There are a range of other benefits provided under the scheme including early retirement, disability pensions, and
death benefits.
Westminster Pension Fund provides an additional voluntary contributions (AVC) scheme for its members, the assets
of which are invested separately from the pension fund. The Fund has appointed Aegon and Utmost Life and Pensions
as its AVC providers. AVCs are paid to the AVC providers by employers and specifically for providing additional benefits
for individual contributors. Each AVC contributor receives an annual statement showing the amount held in their
account and the movements in the year.

The Council has delegated management of the fund to
the Pension Fund Committee (the ‘Committee’) who
decide on the investment policy most suitable to meet
the liabilities of the Fund and have the ultimate
responsibility for the investment policy. The
Committee is made up of four Members of the Council
each of whom has voting rights.
The Committee reports to the Full Council and has full
delegated authority to make investment decisions. The
Committee considers views from Council Officers
including the Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and
Treasury, and obtains, as necessary, advice from the
Fund’s appointed investment advisors, fund managers
and actuary.
In line with the provisions of the Public Service
Pensions Act 2013 the Council has set up a Local
Pension Board to oversee the governance
arrangements of the Pension Fund. The Board meets
quarterly and has its own Terms of Reference. Board
members are independent of the Pension Fund
Committee.
The Section 151 Officer is responsible for the
preparation of the Pension Fund Statement of
Accounts. The Audit and Performance Committee are
responsible for approving the financial statements for
publish.

050 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 376

Service pre-1 April 2008
Each year worked is worth 1/80 x final
pensionable pay
Automatic lump sum of 3 x pension.
In addition, part of the annual
pension can be exchanged for a oneoff tax-free cash payment. A lump
sum of £12 is paid for each £1 of
pension given up.

d) Governance

Note 1 Description of the City of Westminster Pension Fund (continued)
e) Investment Principles
In accordance with the LGPS (Management and
Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 the Committee
approved an Investment Strategy Statement on 11
March 2021 (available on the Council’s website). The
Statement shows the Authority’s compliance with the
Myners principles of investment management.

Organisations participating in the City of Westminster
Pension Fund include:
•

•

Scheduled bodies, which are local authorities and
similar bodies whose staff are automatically
entitled to be members of the Fund

Page 377

Admitted bodies, which are other organisations
that participate in the Fund under an admission
agreement between the Fund and the relevant
organisation. Admitted bodies include voluntary,
charitable and similar bodies or private
contractors undertaking a local authority function
following outsourcing to the private sector.

The following table summarises the membership
numbers of the scheme:
31 March
2020
32

31 March
2021
Number of employers with
active members

32

3,981

Active members

4,228

6,122

Pensioners receiving benefits

6,280

6,700

Deferred Pensioners

6,856

16,803

17,364

051 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

The Committee has delegated the management of the
Fund’s investments to external investment managers
(see Note 10) appointed in accordance with
regulations, and whose activities are specified in
detailed investment management agreements and
monitored on a quarterly basis.

f) Membership
Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and employees are free
to choose whether to join the scheme, remain in the scheme
or make their own personal arrangements outside the
scheme.

Note 2 Basis of preparation of financial statements

Page 378

The accounts summarise the transactions of the Fund
and report on the net assets available to pay pension
benefits.

The accounts do not take account of obligations to pay
pensions and benefits which fall due after the end of
the financial year, nor do they take into account the
actuarial present value of promised retirement
benefits. The Code gives administering authorities the
option to disclose this information in the Net Asset
Statement, in the notes to the accounts or by
appending an actuarial report prepared for this
purpose. The Authority has opted to disclose this
information in an accompanying report to the
accounts, which is disclosed in Note 17.
The Pension Fund Accounts have been prepared on a
going concern basis, with the assumption that the
functions of the authority will continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. The City of
Westminster Pension Fund remains a statutory open
scheme, with a strong covenant from the active
employers and is therefore able to take a long term
outlook when considering the general investment and
funding implications of external events.

052 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

The Statement of Accounts summarise the Fund’s
transactions for 2020/21 and its position at year end as
at 31st March 2021. The accounts have been prepared
in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21
(the Code) issued by the Chartered Institute of Public
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) which is based upon
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
amended for the UK public sector.

Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies
FUND ACCOUNT – REVENUE
RECOGNITION
a) Contribution Income
Normal contributions, both from the members and
from the employer, are accounted for on an accruals
basis at the percentage rate recommended by the
actuary in the payroll period to which they relate.

Page 379

Employer’s augmentation and pension strain
contributions are accounted for in the period in which
the liability arises. Any amount due in year but unpaid
is classed as a current financial asset.
b) Transfers to and from other schemes
Transfer values represent the amounts received and
paid during the year for members who have either
joined or left the Fund during the financial year and are
calculated in accordance with the LGPS Regulations.
Individual transfers in/out are accounted for when
received/paid, which is normally when the member
liability is accepted or discharged. Bulk (group)
transfers are accounted for on an accruals basis in
accordance with the terms of the transfer agreement.

Interest income is recognised in the fund account as it
accrues, using the effective interest rate of the
financial instrument as at the date of acquisition or
origination.
Distributions from pooled funds are recognised at the
date of issue. Any amount not received by the end of
the reporting period is recognised as a current financial
asset in the net asset statement.
Where the amount of an income distribution has not
been received from an investment manager by the
balance sheet date, an estimate based upon the
market value of their mandate at the end of the year is
used.
Changes in the net market value of investments are
recognised as income and comprise all realised and
unrealised profits and losses during the year.

FUND ACCOUNT – EXPENSE ITEMS
d) Benefits Payable
Pensions and lump-sum benefits payable include all
amounts known to be due as at the end of the financial
year. Lump sums are accounted for in the period in
which the member becomes a pensioner. Any
amounts due but unpaid are disclosed in the net assets
statement as current liabilities.
e) Taxation
The Fund is an exempt approved fund under section
1(1) of Schedule 36 of the Finance Act 2004 and as such
is exempt from UK income tax on interest received and
from capital gains tax on the proceeds of investments
sold. As the Council is the administering authority for
the Fund, VAT input tax is recoverable on all Fund
activities including expenditure on investment
expenses. Where tax can be reclaimed, investment
income in the accounts is shown gross of UK tax.
Income from overseas investments suffers withholding
tax in the country of origin, unless exemption is
permitted. Irrecoverable tax is accounted for as a fund
expense as it arises.
f) VSP, MSP and life time allowance
Members are entitled to request the Pension Fund
pays their tax liabilities due in respect of annual
allowance and life time allowance in exchange for a
reduction in pension.
Where the Fund pays member tax liabilities direct to
HMRC it is treated as an expense in the year in which
the payment occurs.

053 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Employer deficit funding contributions are accounted
for on the due dates on which they are due under the
schedule of contributions set by the actuary or on
receipt if earlier than the due date.

c) Investment Income
Investment income is reported gross of withholding
taxes which are accrued in line with the associated
investment income. Investment income arising from
the underlying investments of the Pooled Investment
Vehicles is either reinvested within the Pooled
Investment Vehicles and reflected in the unit price or
taken as a cash dividend to support the Fund’s
outgoing cash flow requirements.

Note 3 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
g) Management Expenses
Pension fund management expenses are accounted for
in accordance with the CIPFA guidance Accounting for
Local Government Pension Scheme Management
Costs 2016.

Page 380

Oversight and governance expenses are accounted for
on an accruals basis. All staff costs associated with
governance and oversight are charged to the Fund.
Associated management, accommodation and other
overheads are apportioned to this activity and charged
as expenses to the Fund.
The cost of obtaining investment advice from the
external advisor is included in oversight and
governance costs.
All investment management expenses are accounted
for on an accruals basis. The Committee has appointed
external investment managers to manage the
investments of the Fund. Managers are paid a fee
based on the market value of the investments they
manage and/or a fee based on performance.
Where an investment manager’s fee note has not been
received by the balance sheet date, an estimate based
upon the market value of the mandate as at the end of
the year is used for inclusion in the fund account.

l) Financial Liabilities

h) Financial Assets
Financial assets are included in the net assets
statement on a fair value basis as at the reporting date.
A financial asset is recognised in the net asset
statement on the date the Fund becomes party to the
contractual acquisition of the asset. From this date any
gains or losses arising from changes in the value of the
asset are recognised in the Fund account.

The Fund recognises financial liabilities at fair value as
at the reporting date. A financial liability is recognised
in the net assets statement on the date the Fund
becomes party to the liability. From this date any gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the
liability are recognised by the Fund.

The values of investments as shown in the net asset
statement have been determined at fair value in
accordance with the requirements of the Code and
IFRS 13 (see Note 14).
i) Derivatives
The Fund uses derivative financial instruments
indirectly to manage its exposure to specific risks
arising from its investment activities. The Fund does
not hold derivatives for speculative purposes.
j) Foreign Currency Transactions
Dividends, interest and purchases and sales of
investments in foreign currencies have been
accounted for at the spot market rates at the date of
the transaction. End of year spot market exchange
rates are used to value cash balances held in foreign
currency bank accounts, market values of overseas
investments and purchases and sales outstanding at
the end of the reporting period.
k) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and
deposits with financial institutions which are repayable
on demand without penalty.

m) Actuarial present value of promised retirement
benefits
The actuarial present value of promised retirement
benefits should be disclosed and based on the
requirements of IAS 19 Post-Employment Benefits and
relevant actuarial standards. As permitted under the
Code, the financial statements include a note
disclosing the actuarial present value of retirement
benefits (see Note 17).
n) Additional Voluntary Contributions
AVCs are not included in the accounts in accordance
with Regulation 4(1)(b) of the Local Government
Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of
Funds) Regulations 2016 but are disclosed as a note
only (Note 20).
o) Recharges from the General Fund
The LGPS (Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016 permit the Council to charge
administration costs to the Fund. A proportion of the
relevant Council costs have been charged to the Fund
on the basis of actual time spent on Pension Fund
business. Costs incurred in the administration and the
oversight and governance of the Fund are set out
separately in Note 21.

054 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

All administrative expenses are accounted for on an
accruals basis. All staff costs of the pension
administration team are charged direct to the Fund.
Associated management, accommodation and other
overheads are apportioned to this activity and charged
as expenses to the Fund.

NET ASSETS STATEMENT

Note 4 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 3
above, the Council has had to make certain critical
judgements about complex transactions or those
involving uncertainty about future events.
There were no such critical judgements made during
2020/21.
055 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 381

Note 5 Assumptions made about the future and other
major sources of uncertainty

Page 382

COVID-19 IMPACT

Following the uncertainty surrounding asset values as
result of the COVID-19 outbreak during late 2019/20,
Officers now believe asset values have stabilised in
order that a materially accurate value can be applied
to illiquid assets.

PENSION FUND LIABILITY
The Pension Fund liability is calculated triennially by
the appointed actuary with annual updates in the
intervening years. The methodology used in the
intervening years follows generally agreed guidelines
and is in accordance with IAS 19. These assumptions
are summarised in Note 16. The estimates are
sensitive to changes in the underlying assumptions
underpinning the valuations.

Item

Uncertainties

Effect if actual results differ from
assumptions

Actuarial present value of promised
retirement benefits

Estimation of the net liability to pay
pensions depends on a number of
complex judgements relating to the
discount rates used, the rate at which
salaries are projected to increase,
changes in retirement ages, mortality
rates and expected returns on
pension fund assets. A firm of
consulting actuaries is engaged to
provide the fund with expert advice
about the assumptions to be applied.

The effects on the net pension
liability of changes in assumptions
can be measured. For instance, a
0.1% increase in the discount rate
assumption would result in a
decrease in the pension liability of
£42.25m. A 0.1% increase in assumed
earnings would increase the value of
liabilities by approximately £2.95m
and a year increase in life expectancy
would increase the liability by about
£103.99m.

056 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Preparing financial statements requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported for assets and liabilities at
the year-end and the amounts reported for income
and expenditure during the year. Estimates and
assumptions are made taking into account historical
experience, current trends and other relevant factors.
However, the nature of estimation means that the
actual results could differ from the assumptions and
estimates.

Note 6 Contributions receivable
Employees contributions are calculated on a sliding scale based on a percentage of their
gross pay. The Council, scheduled and admitted bodies are required to make
contributions determined by the Fund’s actuary to maintain the solvency of the Fund.
The table below shows a breakdown of the total amount of employers’ and employees’
contributions.

BY TYPE

BY AUTHORITY
2020/21

£'000

£'000

(56,968)

Administering Authority

(49,833)

(3,087)

Scheduled bodies

(3,679)

(4,294)

Admitted bodies

(4,002)

Page 383

(64,349)

(57,514)

2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

(10,105)

Employees' normal contributions

(10,854)

Employer's contributions:
(21,634)

Normal contributions

(25,048)

(31,820)

Deficit recovery contributions

(21,483)

(790)
(64,349)

Augmentation contributions

(129)
(57,514)

057 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

2019/20

Note 7 Benefits payable
The table below shows a breakdown of the total amount of benefits payable by category.

BY TYPE
2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

47,628
6,686

54,720

2019/20

2020/21

49,146

£'000

Commutation and lump sum retirement benefits

7,375

42,709

Lump sum death benefits

1,302

2,481

Scheduled Bodies

2,730

9,530

Admitted Bodies

10,821

57,823

54,720

£'000
Administering Authority

44,272

57,823

Page 384

058 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

406

Pensions

BY AUTHORITY

Note 8 Management Expenses
The table below shows a breakdown of the management expenses incurred during the
year.

Investment management expenses are further analysed below in line with the CIPFA
Guidance on Accounting for Management Costs in the LGPS.

2019/20

2020/21

2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Administration Expenses

981

4,778

Management fees

6,211

422

Oversight and Governance

428

85

Performance fees

45

8,678

31

Custody fees

54

10,087

768

5,662
6,834

Investment Management Expenses

5,662

Transaction costs

2,368
8,678

Page 385

059 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

750

Note 9 Investment Income
The table below shows a breakdown of investment income for the year:
2019/20

2020/21

£'000

£'000

13,856
2,070

Pooled investments - unit trust and other managed funds

5,658

Pooled property investments

2,406

Infrastructure Income

404

151

Interest and cash deposits

188

16,259

Total before taxes

8,656

Page 386

060 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

182

Note 10 Investment Management Arrangements
As at 31 March 2021, the investment portfolio is
managed by ten external managers:
•
•

•

Page 387

All managers have discretion to buy and sell
investments within the constraints set by the
Committee and their respective Investment
Management Agreements. Each manager has been
appointed with clear strategic benchmarks which
place maximum accountability for performance
against that benchmark on the investment manager.
The Fund became a shareholder in the London LGPS
CIV Ltd (the organisation set up to run pooled LGPS
investments in London) in 2015 and holds £150,000 of
regulatory capital in the form of unlisted UK equity
shares.
Northern Trust acts as the Fund’s global custodian.
They are responsible for safe custody and settlement
of all investment transactions and collection of
income. The bank account for the Fund is held with
Lloyds Bank.

31 March 2020

%

Fund Manager

Mandate

31 March 2021

£'000

%

£'000

Investments managed by the London CIV asset pool:
3

0.0%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Majedie

UK Equity (Active)

150

0.0%

London CIV

Share Capital

153

0.0%

276,397

20.9%

0

0.0%

523,071

39.6%

0

0.0%

799,468

60.5%

78,765

6.0%

78,765

6.0%

Fixed Income

878,386

66.5%

Total pooled

UK Equity

3

0.0%

150

0.0%

153

0.0%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Baillie Gifford

Global Equity (Active)

429,778

24.6%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Morgan Stanley

Global Equity (Active)

337,309

19.3%

LGIM Passive

World Equity (Passive)

40

0.0%

LGIM Future World

World Equity (Passive)

398,414

22.8%

1,165,541

66.7%

98,641

5.6%

98,641

5.6%

Sub-Total

1,264,335

72.3%

Global Equity (Active)

69,172

4.0%

69,172

4.0%

240,140

13.7%

240,140

13.7%

Global Equity
London LGPS CIV Ltd - CQS

Multi Asset Credit

Investments managed outside of the London CIV asset pool:
55,353

4.2%

Longview

55,353

4.2%

216,088

16.4%

216,088

16.4%

61,478

4.7%

Hermes

Property

89

0.0%

68,592

5.2%

Standard Life

Property

71,261

4.1%

130,070

9.9%

71,350

4.1%

20,639

1.6%

Pantheon Global Infrastructure

Infrastructure

29,728

1.7%

0

0.0%

Macquarie GIG Renewable Energy

Infrastructure

6,004

0.3%

0

0.0%

Quinbrook Renewables Impact Fund

Infrastructure

7,333

0.4%

20,639

1.6%

Alternatives

43,065

2.4%

422,150

32.0%

Total outside pool

423,727

24.2%

19,204

1.4%

59,291

3.5%

1,319,740

100%

Global Equity
Insight Buy and Maintain Bond Fund

Bonds
Bonds

Property

Cash deposits
Total investments at 31 March 2021

Sub-total

1,747,353

100%

061 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

•

The UK property portfolio is managed by
Aberdeen Standard;
Fixed income mandates are managed by CQS
(Multi Asset Credit, via the London CIV) and
Insight (Bonds);
Alternatives are managed by Pantheon
(Infrastructure), Macquarie (Renewable
Infrastructure) and Quinbrook (Renewable
Infrastructure);
Equity portfolios are split between Baillie
Gifford (active global, managed by the
London CIV), Morgan Stanley (active global,
managed by the London CIV), Legal and
General Investment Management (passive
global) and Longview Partners (active global).

The market value and proportion of investments managed by each fund manager at 31 March 2021 was as follows:

Note 11 Reconciliation in movement in investments
2019/20

Purchases during the year
and derivative payments

Sales during the year and
derivative receipts

Change in market value
during the year

Market value 31 March 2020

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

150

-

-

-

150

1,260,862

20,035

(10,404)

(120,669)

1,149,824

127,023

84

(665)

3,537

129,979

14,403

9,243

(5,673)

2,650

20,623

1,402,438

29,362

(16,742)

(114,482)

1,300,576

5,802

(367)

19,045

-

-

-

120

-

119

Spot FX contracts

-

(10)

-

Amounts payable for purchases of investments

-

-

-

1,408,360

(114,859)

1,319,740

Equities
Pooled investments
Pooled property investments

Page 388

Infrastructure
Total
Cash deposits
Amounts receivable for sales of investments
Investment income due

Net investment assets

062 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Market value 1 April 2019

Note 11 Reconciliation in Movement in Investments (continued)
2020/21

Purchases during the year
and derivative payments

Sales during the year and
derivative receipts

Change in market value
during the year

Market value 31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

150

-

-

-

150

1,149,824

9,728

(20,556)

431,013

1,570,009

129,979

64

(59,905)

1,123

71,261

20,623

29,346

(7,414)

481

43,036

1,300,576

39,138

(87,875)

432,617

1,684,456

19,045

(100)

62,788

-

-

-

119

-

109

Spot FX contracts

-

(30)

-

Amounts payable for purchases of investments

-

-

-

1,319,740

432,487

1,747,353

Equities
Pooled equity investments
Pooled property investments
Infrastructure
Total

Page 389

Cash deposits
Amounts receivable for sales of investments
Investment income due

Net investment assets

063 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Market value 1 April 2020

Note 12 Investments exceeding 5% of net assets
The table below shows the Fund’s investments which exceed 5% of net assets. These are all pooled investment vehicles, which are made up of underlying investments, each of
which represent substantially less than 5%.
31 March 2020

Holding

Market Value

Market Value
% Holding
39.6%

£'000

% Holding

-

0.0%

-

-

LGIM Future World

398,414

22.8%

-

-

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Morgan Stanley

337,309

19.3%

276,397

20.9%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - Baillie Gifford

429,622

24.6%

55,353

4.2%

-

0.0%

216,088

16.4%

240,140

13.7%

78,765

6.0%

London LGPS CIV Ltd - CQS

95,312

5.5%

68,592

5.2%

Aberdeen Standard

-

0.0%

1,218,266

92.3%

Total Top Holdings

1,500,797

85.9%

Total Value of Investments

1,747,353

LGIM Global Passive

Longview
Insight Buy and Maintain Bond Fund

064 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 390

£'000
523,071

1,319,740

31 March 2021

Note 13a Fair Value – Basis of Valuation
The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is set out below. There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year. All assets have been
valued using fair value techniques based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of maximising the use of market-based information.
Valuation hierarchy
20/21

Basis of valuation

Observable and
unobservable inputs

Pooled Investments - Equity
Funds UK and Overseas
Managed Funds

Level 2

Level 2

Evaluated price feeds

Quoted UK and Overseas Bonds

Level 2

Level 2

Evaluated price feeds

Not required

Pooled Long Lease Property
Fund

Level 2

Level 2

In house evaluation of
market data

Not required

Pooled Investments – Multi
Asset Credit

Level 2

Level 2

Evaluated price feeds

Not required

Pooled Investments Infrastructure

Level 3

Level 3

The NAV for each share class is
calculated based on the market
value of the underlying equity
assets.
Fixed income securities are
priced based on evaluated
prices provided by independent
pricing services.
The Aberdeen Standard Long
Lease Property Fund is priced on
a Single Swinging Price.
Fixed income securities are
priced based on evaluated
prices provided by independent
pricing services.
Latest available fair value
provided by the manager,
adjusted for cash movements
subsequent to that date as
required.

Key sensitivities
affecting the valuations
provided
Not required

Manager
valuation
statements are prepared
in accordance with ECVA
guidelines

Upward valuations are
only considered when
there is validation of
the
investment
objectives and such
progress
can
be
demonstrated

065 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Valuation hierarchy
19/20

Page 391

Description of asset

SENSITIVITY OF ASSETS VALUED AT LEVEL 3
Having analysed historical data and current market trends, and consulted with independent investment advisors, the fund has determined that the valuation methods described
above are likely to be accurate to within the following ranges, and has set out below the consequent potential impact on the closing value of investments held at 31 March 2021.

Description of asset

Quinbrook - Renewable Infrastructure (b)

Page 392

Macquarie - Renewable Infrastructure (c)
Total

a)

Value at 31 March
2021

Value on increase

Value on decrease

£000

£000

£000

10.0%

29,698

32,668

26,728

9.1%

7,333

8,001

6,666

10.0%

6,004

6,605

5,404

43,035

47,274

38,798

The inputs used by the General Partner during valuation include, but are not limited to, prices and other relevant information generated by the market transactions, type
of security, size of the position, purchase price, purchases of the same or similar securities by other investors, marketability, foreign exchange rates, degree of liquidity,
restrictions on the disposition, latest round of financing data, completed or pending third-party transactions in the underlying investment or comparable issuers, current
financial position and operating results among other factors.

b) The valuation of the fund is estimated to be within a +/- 9.1% flex range based on the actual valuation range calculated. The % flex will be an implied rate based on the
actual valuation range calculated, which in turn will be based on a sensitivity analysis for the current holdings.
c)

The valuation of the fund is estimated to be within a +/- 10% range and with a lower boundary on the downside i.e. not capturing any potential long-term upsides such
as repowering or asset life extensions.

066 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Pantheon – Infrastructure (a)

Assessed Valuation Range (+/-)

As at 31 March 2020:
Description of asset

Hermes - Property fund
Pantheon – Infrastructure*
Total

Assessed Valuation Range (+/-)

Value at 31 March
2020

Value on increase

Value on decrease

£000

£000

£000

1.3%

61,388

62,186

60,590

12.2%

20,623

23,139

18,107

82,011

85,325

78,697

*Pantheon confirmed due to the valuation assumptions used and material uncertainty during the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, the true market value could be as much as 12.2%
greater or lesser than reflected in the statement of accounts
067 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 393

Note 13b Valuation of Financial Instruments carried at
Fair Value
The valuation of financial instruments has been
classified into three levels, according to the quality and
reliability of information used to determine fair values.

Level 2 – where market prices are not available, for
example, where an instrument is traded in a market
that is not considered to be active or where valuation
techniques are used to determine fair value and where
these techniques use inputs that are based significantly
on observable market data.
Level 3 – where at least one input that could have a
significant effect on the instrument’s valuation is not
based on observable market data. Such instruments
would include infrastructure, which the Fund holds
assets in, unquoted equity investments and hedge
fund of funds, neither of which the Fund currently
invests in.

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

Quoted Market

Using Observable

With Significant

Quoted

Using

With Significant

Price

Inputs

Unobservable

Market

Observable

Unobservable

Level 1

Level 2

Inputs

Price

Inputs

Inputs

Level 3

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Financial assets at fair
value through profit
and loss

-

1,641,271

43,185

Financial liabilities at
fair value through
profit and loss

-

-

-

-

1,641,271

43,185

£'000

£'000

Financial Assets
-

1,218,415

82,161

-

-

-

-

1,218,415

82,161

1,300,576

1,684,456

068 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 394

Level 1 – where fair values are derived from
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (quoted equities, quoted
fixed securities, quoted index linked securities and unit
trusts). Listed investments are shown at bid prices. The
bid value is based on the market quotation of the
relevant stock exchange.

The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets and liabilities of the Fund grouped into the level at
which fair value is observable.

Note 13c Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements
within Level 3
2020/21

Transfers into
Level 3

Transfers out of
Level 3

Purchases

Sales

Unrealised
gains/losses

Realised
gains/losses

Closing balance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

150

-

-

-

-

-

-

150

Hermes - Property fund

61,388

-

-

-

(58,904)

-

(2,484)

-

Pantheon - Infrastructure

20,623

-

-

11,760

(2,185)

(735)

235

29,698

Quinbrook - Renewable Infrastructure

-

-

-

11,157

(3,500)

(324)

-

7,333

Macquarie - Renewable Infrastructure

-

-

-

6,428

-

(424)

-

6,004

82,161

-

-

29,345

(64,589)

(1,483)

(2,249)

43,185

Opening balance

Transfers into
Level 3

Transfers out of
Level 3

Purchases

Sales

Unrealised
gains/losses

Realised
gains/losses

Closing balance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

150

-

-

-

-

-

-

150

Hermes - Property fund

62,315

-

-

-

-

-

(927)

61,388

Pantheon - Infrastructure

14,403

-

-

9,243

(5,673)

-

2,650

20,623

Total

76,868

-

-

9,243

(5,673)

-

1,723

82,161

Equity

Page 395

Total

As at 31 March 2020:
2019/20

Equity

069 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Opening balance

Note 14a Classification of Financial Instruments
The following table shows the classification of the
Fund’s financial instruments.
31-Mar-20
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

£'000

£'000

£'000

Fair value
through
profit and
loss

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

£'000

£'000

£'000

Financial Assets
Pooled funds - investment vehicles

Page 396

1,149,974

Pooled funds

129,980
20,623

UK Unit Trust - Property

71,261

Infrastructure

43,036

807

Cash Balances (held directly by Fund)

119

Other Investment Balances

109
62,788

Debtors

3,833
23,803

1,224

Cash Deposits

19,044

1,300,577

1,570,159

-

3,974
1,684,456

68,095

-

070 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Fair value
through
profit and
loss

31-Mar-21

Note 14a Classification of Financial Instruments (continued)

31 March 2020
Fair value

Financial

through

assets at

profit and

amortised

loss

cost

£'000

£'000

31 March 2021
Fair value
through profit
and loss

Financial
assets at
amortised
cost

Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost

£'000

£'000

£'000

Other Investment Balances

-

-

-

Creditors

-

-

(223)

-

-

(223)

1,684,456

68,095

(223)

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
£'000
Financial Liabilities

-

-

-

-

(209)

-

-

(209)

1,300,577

23,803

(209)

1,324,171

Total

1,752,328

071 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 397

-

Note 14b Net Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments
This table summarises the net gains and losses on
financial instruments classified by type of instrument.

31 March 2020

31 March 2021
£'000

£'000
Financial Assets
(114,482)

Loans and receivables

(114,849)

432,617
(100)
432,517

Financial Liabilities
(10)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Page 398

(10)
(114,859)

(30)
(30)

Total

432,487

The authority has not entered into any financial guarantees that are required to be accounted for as financial
instruments.

072 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

(367)

Designated at fair value through profit and loss

Note 15 Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial
Instruments
RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Responsibility for the Fund’s risk-management strategy
rests with the Committee. Risk management policies are
established that aim to identify and analyse the
investment risks faced by the Fund and these are
regularly reviewed in the light of changing market and
other conditions.

Assets exposed to
price risk

Price Risk
Price risk represents the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market
prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or
foreign exchange risk), whether those changes are
caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or
its issuer or factors affecting all such instruments in the
market.

The Fund is exposed to share and derivative price risk.
This arises from investments held by the Fund for which
the future price is uncertain. All securities represent a
risk of loss of capital. The maximum risk resulting from
financial instruments (with the exception of derivatives
where the risk is currency related) is determined by the
fair value of the financial instruments. The Fund’s
investment managers aim to mitigate this price risk
through diversification and the selection of securities
and other financial instruments.
The Fund has determined that a 10.9% increase or
decrease in market price risk is reasonable for 2020/21.
This analysis excludes debtors, creditors, other
investment balances and forward foreign exchange, as
these financial instruments are not subject to price risk.

Price Risk

Value £bn

Value on
price increase

Value on
price decrease

£'000

£'000

£'000

As at 31 March 2020

10.0%

1,319,740

1,451,714

1,187,766

As at 31 March 2021

10.9%

1,747,353

1,937,814

1,556,891

073 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 399

The Fund’s primary long-term risk is that its assets will
fall short of its liabilities (i.e. promised benefits payable
to members). Therefore the aim of investment risk
management is to minimise the risk of an overall
reduction in the value of the Fund and to maximise the
opportunity for gains across the whole fund portfolio.
The Fund achieves this through asset diversification to
reduce exposure to market and credit risk to an
acceptable level. In addition, the Fund manages its
liquidity risk to ensure there is sufficient liquidity to meet
the Fund’s forecast cash flows.

a) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk of loss emanating from general
market fluctuations in equity and commodity prices,
interest and foreign exchange rates and credit spreads.
The Fund is exposed to market risk across all its
investment activities. In general, excessive volatility in
market risk is managed through the diversification of the
portfolio in terms of asset class, geographical and
industry sectors and individual securities. To mitigate
market risk, the Committee and its investment advisors
undertake regular monitoring of market conditions and
benchmark analysis.

Note 15 Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments (continued)
Interest Rate Risk
The Fund invests in financial assets for the primary purpose of obtaining a return on its investments. Fixed interest
securities and cash are subject to interest rate risks, which represent the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Committee and its investment
advisors regularly monitor the Fund’s interest rate risk exposure during the year.

Assets exposed to
interest rate risk

Value

Value on 1%
increase

Value on 1%
decrease

Yrs

£'000

£'000

£'000

Fixed Income - Global Bonds

8.15

216,088

198,477

233,699

Fixed Income - Global Multi Asset Credit

1.86

78,765

77,300

80,230

294,853

275,776

313,930

Page 400

Average
Duration

As at 31 March 2020

Assets exposed to

Average

interest rate risk

Duration

Value

Value on 1%

Value on 1%

increase

decrease

Yrs

£'000

£'000

£'000

Fixed Income - Global Bonds

8.27

240,140

220,281

260,000

Fixed Income - Global Multi Asset Credit

1.33

98,641

97,329

99,953

338,781

317,610

359,953

As at 31 March 2021

Overseas equities, fixed interest securities and futures,
cash in foreign currencies, forward foreign exchange
contracts and some elements of the pooled
investment vehicles are exposed to currency risk. The
following table demonstrates the change in value of
these assets had there been a 6.44%
strengthening/weakening of the pound against foreign
currencies during 2020/21. This has fallen from a
10.0% currency risk as at 31 March 2020, reflecting a
reduction in volatility following the UKs orderly exit
from the EU.

074 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Fixed interest securities, cash and cash equivalents are exposed to interest rate risk. The table below demonstrates
the change in value of these assets had the interest rate increased or decreased by 1%.

Currency Risk
Currency risk represents the risk that the fair value of
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Fund is exposed to currency risk on financial
instruments that are denominated in any currency
other than Sterling. The Fund aims to mitigate this risk
through the use of hedging, which is applied to the
LGIM equities mandate. The Committee recognises
that a strengthening/weakening of the pound against
the various currencies in which the Fund holds
investments would increase/decrease the net assets
available to pay benefits.

Note 15 Nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments (continued)
Assets exposed to
currency risk

Currency
Risk

Value on

Value on

Value

foreign
exchange rate
increase

foreign
exchange rate
decrease

10.0%

£'000
316,823

£'000
348,505

£'000
285,140

As at 31 March 2021

6.44%

754,503

803,093

705,913

b) Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the risk that the counterparty to a transaction or a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the Fund to incur a financial loss.

Page 401

The market values of investments generally reflect an assessment of credit in their pricing and consequently the risk
of loss is implicitly provided for in the carrying value of the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities. The selection of highquality fund managers, counterparties, brokers and financial institutions minimises credit risk that may occur through
the failure to settle a transaction in a timely manner.
There is a risk that some admitted bodies may not honour their pension obligations with the result that any ensuing
deficit might fall upon the Fund. To mitigate this risk, the Fund regularly monitors the state of its admitted bodies.

The Fund has immediate access to its cash holdings.
The Fund defines liquid assets as assets that can be
converted to cash within three months, subject to
normal market conditions. As at 31 March 2021, liquid
assets were £1.633bn representing 93% of total fund
assets (£1.169bn at 31 March 2020 representing 89%
of the Fund at that date). The majority of these
investments can in fact be liquidated within a matter
of days.

075 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

As at 31 March 2020

c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk represents the risk that the Fund will not
be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Committee monitors cash flows and takes steps to
ensure that there are adequate cash resources to meet
its commitments.

Note 16 Funding Arrangements
The LGPS Regulations require that a full actuarial
valuation of the Fund is carried out every three years.
The purpose of this is to establish that the City of
Westminster Pension Fund is able to meet its liabilities
to past and present contributors and to review the
employer contribution rates.

The actuary’s smoothed market value of the scheme’s
assets at 31 March 2019 was £1.410bn and the Actuary
assessed the present value of the funded obligation at
£1.430bn. This indicates a net liability of £20m, which
equates to a funding position of 99% (2016: £264.1m
and 80%).

Future assumed
returns at 2019

2019
Allocation

Neutral
Assumption

%

%

Corporate Bonds

13.5

2.6

Equities

65.0

6.7

Infrastructure

5.0

6.7

Multi Asset Credit

6.5

4.8

10.0

3.7

Property

Financial
assumptions

2019

2016

2013

%

%

%

Discount rate scheduled bodies

4.8

5.1

5.9

Discount rate admitted bodies

3.3

4.5

4.9

RPI

3.6

3.3

3.5

CPI

2.6

2.4

2.7

Pension increases

2.6

2.4

2.7

Short-term pay
increases

n/a

2.4

1.0

Long-term pay
increases

3.6

3.9

4.5

The contribution rate is set on the basis of the cost of
future benefit accrual, increased to bring the funding
level back to 100% over a period of 19 years, as set out
in the Funding Strategy Statement (2016: 22 years).
The common future service contribution rate for the
Fund was set at 17.9% of pensionable pay (2016:
16.9%).
The triennial valuation also sets out the individual
contribution rate to be paid by each employer from 1
April 2020 depending on the demographic and
actuarial factors particular to each employer. Details of
each employer’s contribution rate are contained in the
Statement to the Rates and Adjustment Certificate in
the triennial valuation report.

076 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

Page 402

The latest full triennial valuation of the Fund was
carried out by Barnett Waddingham, the Fund’s
actuary, as at 31 March 2019 in accordance with the
Funding Strategy Statement of the Fund and
Regulation 36 of the Local Government Pension
Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008. The results
were published in the triennial valuation report dated
30 March 2020, with the funding level rising to 100%.
This report details the fund assumptions and employer
contribution rates for the three years from 2020/21.
The report and Funding Strategy Statement are both
available on the Council’s website.

The actuarial valuation, carried out using the projected
unit method, is based on economic and statistical
assumptions, the main ones being:

Note 17 Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement
Benefits

In calculating the required numbers, the actuary
adopted methods and assumptions that are consistent
with IAS19.

The demographic assumptions used are consistent
with those used for the most recent Fund valuation,
which was carried out as at 31 March 2019. The post
retirement mortality tables adopted are the S3PA
tables with a multiplier of 110%, for males and 105%
for females. These base tables are then projected using
the CMI 2020 Model, allowing for a long-term rate of
improvement of 1.25% p.a.

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

(1,860,231)

Present Value of
Promised
Retirement Benefits

(2,337,834)

1,319,740

Fair Value of
Scheme Assets (bid
value)

1,747,353

(540,491)

Net Liability

(590,481)

Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits
comprise of £2,310m (2019/20: £1,839m) and £28.3m
(2019/20: £21.4m) in respect of vested benefits and
non-vested benefits respectively as at 31 March 2021.

To assess the value of the Fund’s liabilities at 31 March
2021, the value of the Fund’s liabilities calculated for
the funding valuation as at 31 March 2019 have been
rolled forward, using financial assumptions that
comply with IAS19.

DEMOGRAPHIC ASSUMPTIONS

Assumed life expectancy from age 65 is:
Life expectancy from age 65
years
Retiring today

Retiring in 20 years

31
March
2020

31
March
2021

Males

21.8

21.6

Females

24.4

24.3

Males

23.2

22.9

Females

25.8

25.7

FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS
The main financial assumptions are:
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

%

%

RPI increases

2.90

3.20

CPI increases

1.90

2.80

Salary increases

2.90

3.80

Pension increases

1.90

2.80

Discount rate

2.35

2.00

077 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

ASSUMPTIONS

Page 403

The table below shows the total net liability of the Fund
as at 31 March 2021. The figures have been prepared
by Barnett Waddingham, the Fund’s actuary, only for
the purposes of providing the information required by
IAS26. In particular, they are not relevant for
calculations undertaken for funding purposes or for
other statutory purposes under UK pension’s
legislation.

Note 18 Current Assets
31 March
2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000
Debtors:

2,436

Contributions due - employers

2,608

776

Contributions due - employees

826

621

Sundry debtors

540

4,640

Cash balances

1,224

Total

5,198

31 March 2020

31 March 2021

£'000
787

£'000
Central Government Bodies

1

Other entities and individuals

654

3,049

Administering Authority

3,319

3,833

Total

3,974

Page 404

Note 19 Current Liabilities
31 March
2020

31 March 2021

£'000

£'000

31 March
2020

31 March
2021

£'000

(846)

Sundry creditors

(836)

(846)

Total

(836)

£'000

(637)

Central government bodies

(613)

(209)

Other entities and individuals

(223)

(846)

Total

(836)

078 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

807

ANALYSIS OF DEBTORS

Note 20 Additional Voluntary Contributions
The Pension Fund’s Additional Voluntary Contributions (AVC) providers are Aegon and Equitable Life Assurance
Society. The table below shows information about these separately invested AVCs.
31 March 2020

31 March 2021

Market Value

Market Value

£'000

£'000
Aegon

934

214

Utmost Life and Pensions*

366

1,042

Total

1,300

The AVC providers secure benefits on a money
purchase basis for those members electing to pay
AVCs. Members of the AVC schemes each receive an
annual statement confirming the amounts held in their
account and the movements in the year. The Fund
relies on individual contributors to check that
deductions are accurately reflected in the statements
provided by the AVC provider.

Page 405

079 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

828

In accordance with Regulation 4(1)(b) of the Pension
Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016, the contributions paid and the
assets of these investments are not included in the
Fund’s Accounts.

Note 21 Related Party Transactions
The Fund is administered by Westminster City Council.
The Council incurred costs of £0.545m in the period
2020/21 (2019/20: £0.535m) in relation to the
administration of the Fund and were reimbursed by
the Fund for the expenses. The Fund uses the same
Banking and Control Service provider as WCC and no
charge is made in respect of this.

KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION
The key management personnel of the Fund are the Members of the Pension Fund Committee, the Director of
Finance and Resources, the Tri-Borough Director of Pensions and Treasury Management and the Director of People
Services. There were no costs apportioned to the Pension Fund in respect of the Director of Finance and Resources
post for 2019/20 and 2020/21. Total remuneration payable to key management personnel from the Pension Fund is
set out below:
31 March 2021

£'000
56

£'000
Short-term benefits

63

Page 406

253

Post-employment benefits

132

309

Total

195

080 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

31 March 2020

Note 22 External audit costs
The external fee payable to the Fund’s external
auditors Grant Thornton UK LLP was £25k (£16k in
2019/20).
31 March
2020

31 March
2021

£'000

£'000
External audit fees

25

16

Total

25

Page 407

Note 23 Events after the
reporting period
Management have reviewed and can confirm that
there are no significant events occurring after the
reporting period.

Note 24 Contractual
Commitments
The Fund has committed $91.5m (£66.4m) to the
Pantheon Global Infrastructure Fund III, of this
commitment $50.5m (£36.7m) was still outstanding at
31 March 2021. Alongside this, during the year the
Fund committed £50m to the Quinbrook Renewables
Impact Fund with £42.7m outstanding as at 31 March
2021. The Fund has also committed €55m (£46.8m) to
the Macquarie Renewable Energy Fund, €47.9m
(£40.8m) of which was outstanding at 31 March 2021.

081 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

16

Page 408

7.
Asset Pools

Asset Pool Background and Governance
GOVERNANCE

During 2015 the Ministry of Housing, Communities
and Local Government (MHCLG) issued guidance on
LGPS asset pooling (LGPS: Investment Reform Criteria
and Guidance), which sets out how the government
expected funds to establish asset pooling
arrangements. In January 2019, the MHCLG issued a
consultation and draft guidance on asset pooling
within the LGPS, setting out changes to the pooling
framework. This guidance will set out the
requirements on administering authorities, replacing
previous guidance, and build on previous ministerial
communications and guidance on investment
strategies.

There are a number of governance issues to be
considered under pooling arrangements such as the
relationship between the pension fund and asset
pool, governance structure of the pool and the role of
administering authorities.

Page 409

The Fund recognises the Government’s requirement
for LGPS funds to pool their investments and is
committed to pursuing a pooling solution that
ensures maximum cost effectiveness for the Fund,
both in terms of return and management cost.

The pension funds across England and Wales have
come together to form eight asset pools. The Fund
joined the London Collective Investment Vehicle
(LCIV) in December 2015, the pool comprises of the
32 local authorities within London and has £23.6bn of
assets under management, including £11bn under
direct management, with 19 funds launched as of
2020/21.
The Fund has transitioned assets into the London CIV
with a value of £1.264bn or 72% as at the 31 March
2021. Going forward the Fund will look to transition
further assets as and when there are suitable
investment strategies available on the platform that
meet the needs of the Fund.

The London CIV Shareholder Committee is
responsible for scrutinising the actions of the LCIV
Company Board, reporting and transparency,
consultation on the strategy, responsible investment
and emerging issues. The Committee comprises of 12
members including Councillors and Treasurers from
the LLAs.

The London CIV has four Committees, responsible for
investment oversight, audit and risk, remuneration
and nominations and day to day operations of the
company. These comprise of executive and nonexecutive members.
External independent oversight and assurance of the
pool company is provided by the FCA, depositary,
external auditors and the MHCLG. The London CIV
hosts an AGM on a semi-annual basis, to which all 32
members are invited. This allows members the
opportunity to exercise shareholder power, approve
the annual budget and hold the Board to account.
SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE

London CIV shareholders approved a new Corporate
Governance and Controls framework at the July 2018
Annual General Meeting (AGM). This framework
details the governance arrangements for approving
the London CIV’s annual budget, business plan and
objectives, governance structures and appointments,
shareholder agreement and transparency of
information and reporting.
The London CIV Company Board comprises of an
independent Chairman, 7 non-executive Directors
(NEDs), including 2 nominated by the LLAs, 3
executive Directors and the LCIV Treasurer. The
Board has a duty to act in the best interests of the
shareholders and has collective responsibility for;
strategy oversight, budgeting, performance review,
major decision making, financial reporting and
controls, compliance and risk management, key
policies and governance.

BOARD

LONDON LGPS CIV LTD

LCIV CLIENTS

4 COMMITTEES

London CIV Governance Structure

083 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • ASEET POOLS

BACKGROUND

Pool Set Up Costs
POOL SET UP AND TRANSITION COSTS
The set up and transition costs incurred by the Fund in relation to pooling are detailed in the following table.

Direct
Set up costs
Other costs

2020/21
Indirect
Total

Cumulative

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

6

85

91

306

85

91

306

838

-

838

130
932

Total transition costs

838

-

838

1,062

TOTAL EXPECTED COSTS AND SAVINGS
The Pension Fund has four mandates held with the London CIV pool company; Baillie Gifford Alpha Growth Equities, Morgan Stanley Global Sustain Equities, LGIM Future World
Equities and CQS Multi Asset Credit. The following table details actual and forecasted costs and savings to 2024/25 by pooling these funds.
2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

2020/21

2021/22

2022/23

2023/24

2024/25

Actual

Actual

Actual

Actual

Actual

Forecast

Forecast

Forecast

Forecast

£'000
0

£'000
(77)

£'000
(69)

£'000
(69)

£'000
(91)

£'000
(89)

£'000
(90)

£'000
(90)

£'000
(89)

Transition costs

(25)

0

(3)

(65)

(838)

0

0

0

0

Fee savings/(costs)

201

(577)

(495)

(27)

957

1,601

1,634

1,667

1,701

Net savings/(costs) realised

176

(654)

(567)

(161)

28

1,512

1,544

1,577

1,612

Set up costs

The Fund is monitoring developments and the opening of investment strategy fund openings on the London CIV platform with a view
to transitioning assets across to the London CIV as soon as there are appropriate sub-funds to meet the Fund’s investment strategy requirements.

084 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • ASEET POOLS

6

Page 410

Total set up costs
Transition costs
Taxation
Other transition costs

Other Investment Management Costs
The table below splits investment management costs between pooled and non-pooled.
Asset Pool

Fund
Total

Non-asset pool
Total

Direct

Indirect

Total

Management fees
Asset pool shared costs
Transaction costs
Custody

£'000
2,886
110
160
-

£'000
1,732
-

£'000
2,886
110
1,892
-

£'000
3,260
54

£'000
476
-

£'000
3,260
476
54

£'000
6,146
110
2,368
54

Total

3,156

1,732

4,888

3,314

476

3,790

8,678

An analysis of operational expenses including variances to prior years can be found within section 2 of this report.

085 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • ASEET POOLS

Indirect

Page 411

Direct

Asset Allocations and Performance
Asset allocation and performance is separated by pooled and non-pooled in the following table.
Asset Category

Opening Value

Closing Value

Performance

Passive
Index

Benchmark

Gross
£'000

%

%

%

%

3
150
276,397
523,071
78,765

0.0%
0.0%
20.9%
39.6%
6.0%

3
150
767,087
398,454
98,641

0.0%
0.0%
43.9%
22.8%
5.6%

N/A
N/A
56.2%
N/A
25.2%

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
41.3%
N/A
4.4%

Total

878,386

66.6%

1,264,335

72.3%

Non-asset pool managed
Global Equity (Active)
Global Bonds
Property**
Property (Passive)
Infrastructure
Renewable Infrastructure
Cash

55,353
216,088
61,478
68,592
20,639
19,205

4.2%
16.4%
4.7%
5.2%
1.6%
0.0%
1.5%

69,172
240,140
89
71,261
29,728
13,337
59,291

4.0%
13.7%
0.0%
4.1%
1.7%
0.7%
3.5%

34.9%
10.1%
N/A
N/A
-3.8%
N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A
N/A
3.8%
N/A
N/A
N/A

40.7%
7.2%
N/A
-3.7%
8.4%
N/A
N/A

Total

441,354

33.4%

483,018

27.7%

1,319,740

100%

1,747,353

100.0%

Grand Total

*During the year the Fund transitioned from the LGIM Global Passive Fund into the LGIM Future World Fund
**During the year the Fund terminated the Hermes property mandate with funds to be transitioned into renewable infrastructure
See section 3 of this report for more information regarding Fund performance and asset management.

086 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • ASEET POOLS

%

Page 412

£'000
Asset pool managed
UK Equity (Active)
UK Equity (Passive)
Global Equity (Active)
World Equity (Passive)*
Multi Asset Credit

087 | ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 • ASEET POOLS

Page 413

8.
Glossary and
Contacts

Glossary of Terms
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The rules and practices adopted by the authority that
determine how the transactions and events are
reflected in the accounts.

ACCRUALS

ACTIVE MANAGEMENT

Page 414

Active management or active fund management is
where the fund manager makes specific investments
with the aim of outperforming an investment
benchmark.

CIPFA (CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF PUBLIC
FINANCE AND ACCOUNTING)

An option available to active scheme members to
secure additional pension benefits by making regular
contributions to separately held investment funds
managed by the Fund’s AVC provider.

CIPFA is the professional institute for accountants
working in the public services. CIPFA publishes the
Code.

ADMITTED BODY
An organisation, whose staff can become members of
the Fund by virtue of an admission agreement made
between the Council and the organisation. It enables
contractors who take on the Council’s services with
employees transferring, to offer those staff continued
membership of the Fund.

CREDITORS
Amounts owed by the Council for goods and services
received but not paid for as at 31 March.

DEBTORS
Amounts owed to the Council for goods and services
provided but where the associated income was not
received as at 31 March.

ASSET ALLOCATION

DEFERRED MEMBERS

The apportionment of a Fund’s assets between
different types of investments (or asset classes). The
long-term strategic asset allocation of a Fund will
reflect the Fund’s investment objectives.

Scheme members, who have left employment or
ceased to be active members of the scheme whilst
remaining in employment but retain an entitlement to
a pension from the scheme.

These arise where actual events have not coincided
with the actuarial assumptions made for the last
valuations (known as experience gains and losses) or
the actuarial assumptions have been changed.

BENCHMARK

DEFINED BENEFIT SCHEME

A measure against which the investment policy or
performance of an investment manager can be
compared.

ACTUARY

BONDS

A type of pension scheme, where the pension that will
ultimately be paid to the employee is fixed in advance,
and not impacted by investment returns. It is the
responsibility of the sponsoring organisation to ensure
that sufficient assets are set aside to meet the pension
promised.

ACTIVE MEMBER
Current employee who is contributing to a pension
scheme.

ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES

An independent professional who advises the Council
on the financial position of the Fund. Every three years
the actuary values the assets and liabilities of the Fund
and determines the funding level and the employers’
contribution rates.

Investments, mainly in government stocks, which
guarantee a fixed rate of interest. The securities
represent loans which are repayable at a future date,
but which can be traded on a recognised stock
exchange in the meantime.

088 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

Amounts included in the accounts for income or
expenditure in relation to the financial year but not
received or paid as at 31 March.

ADDITIONAL VOLUNTARY
CONTRIBUTIONS (AVC)

Glossary of Terms (continued)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

POOLED INVESTMENT VEHICLES

A derivative is a financial instrument which derives its
value from the change in price (e.g. foreign exchange
rate, commodity price or interest rate) of an underlying
investment (e.g. equities, bonds, commodities,
interest rates, exchange rates and stock market
indices), which no net initial investment or minimal
initial investment and is settled at a future date

Any contract giving rise to a financial asset in one entity
and a financial liability or equity in another entity.

Funds which manage the investments of more than
one investor on a collective basis. Each investor is
allocated units which are revalued at regular intervals.
Income from these investments is normally returned to
the pooled fund and increases the value of the units.

EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTION RATES
The percentage of the salary of employees that
employers pay as a contribution towards the
employees’ pension.

Page 415

EQUITIES
Ordinary shares in UK and overseas companies traded
on a stock exchange. Shareholders have an interest in
the profits of the company and are entitled to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

EXCHANGE TRADED
This describes a financial contract which is traded on a
recognised exchange such as the London Stock
Exchange or the London International Financial
Futures Exchange.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets are cash, equity instruments within
another entity (e.g. shares) or a contractual right to
receive cash or another asset from another entity (e.g.
debtors) or exchange financial assets or financial
liabilities under potentially favourable conditions (e.g.
derivatives).

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial assets are contractual obligations to deliver
cash or another financial asset (e.g. creditors) or
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under
potentially unfavourable conditions (e.g. derivatives).

FORWARD FOREIGN EXCHANGE
DERIVATIVE
Forward foreign exchange derivatives are over the
counter contracts whereby two parties agree to
exchange two currencies on a specified future date at
an agreed rate of exchange.

PROJECTED UNIT METHOD –
PENSION FUND VALUATION
An accrued benefits valuation method in which the
scheme liabilities make allowance for projected
earnings. An accrued benefits valuation method is a
valuation method in which the scheme liabilities at the
valuation date relate to:
•

the benefits for pensioners and deferred
pensioners (i.e. individuals who have ceased to be
active members but are entitled to benefits
payable at a later date) and their dependents,
allowing where appropriate for future increases,
and

•

the accrued benefits for members in service on
the valuation date.

INDEX
A calculation of the average price of shares, bonds, or
other assets in a specified market to provide an
indication of the average performance and general
trends in the market.

OVER THE COUNTER
This describes a financial contract which is potentially
unique as they are not usually traded on a recognised
exchange

PASSIVE MANAGEMENT
Passive management is where the investments mirror
a market index.

089 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

DERIVATIVE

Glossary of Terms (continued)
RELATED PARTIES

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

SCHEDULED BODY

Two or more parties are related parties when at any
time during the financial period:

A related party transaction is the transfer of assets or
liabilities or the performance of services by, to or for a
related party, irrespective of whether a charge is
made. Examples of related party transactions include:

An organisation that has the right to become a
member the Local Government Pension Scheme under
the scheme regulations. Such an organisation does not
need to be admitted, as its right to membership is
automatic.

•

the parties are subject to common control from
the same source; or

•

one party has influence over the financial and
operational policies of the other party, to an
extent that the other party might be inhibited
from pursuing at all times its own separate
interests; or

•

the parties, in entering a transaction, are subject
to influence from the same source, to such an
extent that one of the parties to the transaction
has subordinated its own separate interests.

Advice from CIPFA is that related parties to a local
authority include Central Government, bodies
precepting or levying demands on the Council Tax,
members and chief officers of the authority and its
pension fund.

•

the purchase, sale, lease, rental or hire of assets
between related parties;

•

the provision by a pension fund to a related party
of assets of loans, irrespective of any direct
economic benefit to the pension fund;

•

the provision of services to a related party,
including the provision of pension fund
administration services; and

•

transactions with individuals who are related
parties of an authority or a pension fund, except
those applicable to other members of the
community or the pension fund, such as Council
Tax, rents and payments of benefits.

RETURN
The total gain from holding an investment over a given
period, including income and increase or decrease in
market value.

THE CODE
The Code incorporates guidance in line with IFRS, IPSAS
and UK GAAP Accounting Standards. It sets out the
proper accounting practice to be adopted for the
Statement of Accounts to ensure they ‘present fairly’
the financial position of the Council. The Code has
statutory status via the provision of the Local
Government Act 2003.

UNREALISED GAINS/LOSSES
The increase or decrease in the market value of
investments held by the fund since the date of their
purchase.
NOTE: values throughout these accounts are
presented rounded to whole numbers. Totals in
supporting tables and notes may not appear to cast,
cross-cast, or exactly match to the core statements or
other tables due to rounding differences.

090 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

one party has direct or indirect control of the
other party; or

Page 416

•

Contact Information
This document gives details of Westminster City Council’s Annual Accounts
and is available on the Council’s website at westminster.gov.uk.

FOR FURTHER DETAILS PLEASE CONTACT:

pensionfund@westminster.gov.uk
Contact details of the City of Westminster Pension Fund’s pool company are as follows:

Page 417

London CIV
4th Floor
22 Lavington Street
London
SE1 0NZ
pensionsCIV@londonciv.org.uk

091 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • GLOSSARY AND CONTACTS

The Pensions Team
16th Floor
64 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 6QP

Page 418

9.
Appendices

Governance Compliance Statement
BACKGROUND
The City of Westminster is the administering authority
for the City of Westminster Pension Fund (“the Fund”)
and it administers the Local Government Pension
Scheme on behalf of the participating employers.

Pension Fund Committee

Director of Finance and
Resources

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The diagram below shows the governance structure in
place for the Fund.
Full Council has delegated its functions in relation to
the Pension Fund regulations, as shown in the diagram.
The sections below explain the role of each party and
provide the terms of reference.

Director of People Services

Pension Board

093 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 419

Regulation 55 of the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013 requires all administering
authorities for local government pension schemes to
publish a Governance Compliance Statement setting
out the Fund’s governance arrangements. Information
on the extent of the Fund’s compliance with guidance
issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and
Local Government is also a requirement of this
regulation.

Full Council of City of Westminster

Governance Compliance Statement (continued)
PENSION FUND COMMITTEE
Full Council has delegated all decisions in relation to
the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 to the Pension
Fund Committee.

Page 420

The Committee comprises four elected members three Majority Party councillors and one opposition
councillor. The Committee may co-opt non-voting
independent members, including Trade Unions and
representatives from the admitted and scheduled
bodies in the Pension Fund.
All Councillors on the Committee have voting rights. In
the event of an equality of votes, the Chair of the
Committee shall have a second casting vote. Where
the Chair is not in attendance, a Vice-Chair will be
elected.
The Committee meets four times a year and may
convene additional meetings as required. Three
members of the Committee are required to attend for
a meeting to be quorate.

1. To agree the investment strategy and strategic
asset allocation having regard to the advice of the
fund managers and the Investment Consultant.
2. To monitor performance of the Superannuation
Fund, individual fund managers, custodians,
actuary and other external advisors to ensure that
they remain suitable;
3. To
determine
the
Fund
management
arrangements, including the appointment and
termination of the appointment of the fund
managers, Actuary, Custodians and Fund Advisers.
4. To agree the Statement of Investment Principles,
the Funding Strategy Statement, the Business Plan
for the Fund, the Governance Policy Statement, the
Communications Policy Statement and the
Governance Compliance Statement and to ensure
compliance with these.
5. To approve the final statement of accounts of the
Superannuation Fund and to approve the Annual
Report.
6. To receive actuarial valuations of the
Superannuation Fund regarding the level of
employers’ contributions necessary to balance the
Superannuation Fund.
7. To oversee and approve any changes to the
administrative arrangements, material contracts
and policies and procedures of the Council for the
payment of pensions, and allowances to
beneficiaries.

8. To make and review an admission policy relating to
admission agreements generally with any
admission body.
9. To ensure compliance with all relevant statutes,
regulations and best practice with both the public
and private sectors.
10. To review the arrangements and managers for the
provision of Additional Voluntary Contributions for
fund members.
11. To receive and consider the Auditor’s report on the
governance of the Pension Fund.
12. To determine the compensation policy on
termination of employment and to make any
decisions in accordance with that policy other than
decisions in respect of the Chief Executive, Chief
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers of the Council
(which fall within the remit of the Appointments
Sub-Committee).
13. To determine policy on the award of additional
membership of the pension fund and to make any
decisions in accordance with that policy other than
decisions in respect of the Chief Executive, Chief
Officers and Deputy Chief Officers of the Council
(which fall within the remit of the Appointments
Sub-Committee).
14. To determine policy on the award of additional
pension and to make any decisions in accordance
with that policy other than decisions in respect of
the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief
Officers of the Council (which fall within the remit
of the Appointments Sub-Committee).

094 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

The role of the Pension Fund Committee is to have
responsibility for all aspects of the investment and
other management activity of the Fund.

The terms of reference for the Pension Fund
Committee are:

Governance Compliance Statement (continued)
15. To determine policy on retirement before the age
of 60 and to make any decisions in accordance with
that policy other than decisions in respect of the
Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief
Officers of the Council (which fall within the remit
of the Appointments Sub-Committee).

Page 421

17. To determine questions and disputes pursuant to
the Internal Disputes Resolution Procedures
18. To determine any other investment or pension
fund policies that may be required from time to
time so as to comply with Government regulations
and to make any decisions in accordance with
those policies other than decisions in respect of the
Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief
Officers of the Council (which fall within the remit
of the Appointments Sub-Committee).

With effect from 1st April 2015, all administering
authorities are required by the Public Services
Pensions Act 2013 to establish a Pension Board to
assist them. The City of Westminster Pension Board
was established by the General Purposes Committee
on 25th February 2015.
The role of the Pension Board is to assist the
administering authority with securing compliance with
Local Government Pension Scheme regulations and
other legislation relating to the governance and
administration of the scheme. The Board does not
have a decision-making role in relation to management
of the Fund but is able to make recommendations to
the Pension Fund Committee.
The membership of the Board is as follows:
•

Three employer representatives comprising one
from an admitted or scheduled body and two
nominated by the Council; (Councillors)

•

Three scheme members representatives from the
Council or an admitted or scheduled body.

All Board members are entitled to vote, but it is
expected that as far as possible Board members will
reach a consensus. Three Board members are required
to attend for a meeting to be quorate. The Board will
meet a minimum of twice a year but is likely to meet
on a quarterly basis to reflect the same frequency as
the Pension Fund Committee.

COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY
GUIDANCE
It is a regulatory requirement that the Fund publishes
the extent to which it complies with statutory guidance
issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and
Local Government. The guidance and compliance
levels are set out in Appendix 1.

REVIEW OF STATEMENT
This statement will be kept under review and updated
as required. Consultation with the admitted and
scheduled bodies of the Fund will take place before the
statement is finalised at each change.

095 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

16. To determine a policy on flexible retirement and to
make any decisions in accordance with that policy
other than decisions in respect of the Chief
Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers
of the Council (which fall within the remit of the
Appointments Sub-Committee).

PENSION BOARD

Governance Compliance Statement (continued)
Compliance Requirement

Compliance

Notes

The management of the administration of benefits and strategic management of fund assets clearly rests with the main
committee established by the appointing council.

Compliant

As set out in terms of reference of the Pension Fund
Committee.

That representatives of participating LGPS employers, admitted bodies and scheme members (including pensioner and deferred
members) are members of either the main or secondary committee established to underpin the work of the main committee.

Compliant

Representatives of the employers and scheme members are
Pension Board members, rather than members of the
Pension Fund Committee.

That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, the structure ensures effective communication across both
levels

Not applicable

All Pension Fund matters are considered by the Pension Fund
Committee

That where a secondary committee or panel has been established, at least one seat on the main committee is allocated for a
member from the secondary committee or panel

Not applicable

All Pension Fund matters are considered by the Pension Fund
Committee

Compliant

Representatives of the employers and scheme members are
Pension Board members, rather than members of the
Pension Fund Committee. Expert advisers attend the
Committee as required

Not applicable

All Pension Fund matters are considered by the Pension Fund
Committee

That committee or panel members are made fully aware of the status, role and function they are required to perform on either
a main or secondary committee

Compliant

As set out in terms of reference of the Pension Fund
Committee

That at the start of any meeting, committee members are invited to declare any financial or pecuniary interest related to specific
matters on the agenda

Compliant

This is a standing item on the Pension Fund Committee
agendas

Compliant

As set out in terms of reference of the Pension Fund
Committee

Structure

That all key stakeholders are afforded the opportunity to be represented within the main or secondary committee structure.
These include:i) employing authorities (including non-scheme employers, e.g. admitted bodies);
ii) scheme members (including deferred and pensioner scheme members),
iii) where appropriate, independent professional observers, and
iv) expert advisors (on an ad hoc basis).
That where lay members sit on a main or secondary committee, they are treated equally in terms of access to papers and
meetings, training and are given full opportunity to contribute to the decision making process, with or without voting rights
Selection and role

Voting
The policy of individual administering authorities on voting rights is clear and transparent, including the justification for not
extending voting rights to each body or group represented on main LGPS committees.

096 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 422

Committee membership and representation

Governance Compliance Statement (continued)
Compliance Requirement

Compliance

Notes

That in relation to the way in which statutory and related decisions are taken by the administering authority, there is a clear
policy on training, facility time and reimbursement of expenses in respect of members involved in the decision-making process

Compliant

As set out in the Council’s allowances policy and the Pension
Fund Knowledge and Skills policy

That where such a policy exists, it applies equally to all members of committees, sub-committees, advisory panels or any other
form of secondary forum

Compliant

As set out in the Council’s constitution

That an administering authority’s main committee or committees meet at least quarterly.

Compliant

As set out in terms of reference of the Pension Fund
Committee

That an administering authority’s secondary committee or panel meet at least twice a year and is synchronised with the dates
when the main committee sits

Not applicable

All Pension Fund matters are considered by the Pension Fund
Committee.

That administering authorities who do not include lay members in their formal governance arrangements, provide a forum
outside of those arrangements by which the interests of key stakeholders can be represented

Compliant

Represented on the Pensions Board

Compliant

As set out in the Council’s constitution

Compliant

As set out in terms of reference of the Pension Fund
Committee

Compliant

All meeting minutes, reports and Pension Fund policies are
published on the Council’s website

Training, facility time and expenses

Page 423

Access
That subject to any rules in the council’s constitution, all members of main and secondary committees or panels have equal
access to committee papers, documents and advice that falls to be considered at meetings of the main committee
Scope
That administering authorities have taken steps to bring wider scheme issues within the scope of their governance
arrangements
Publicity
That administering authorities have published details of their governance arrangements in such a way that stakeholders with
an interest in the way in which the scheme is governed, can express an interest in wanting to be part of those arrangements

097 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Meetings

Communication Policy
GENERAL COMMUNICATIONS

Regulation 61 of the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013 requires administering
authorities to prepare, publish and maintain a policy
statement setting out its communication strategy for
communicating with:

Correspondence:
Wherever possible we prefer to use electronic systems
to receive and send correspondence and data,
however hard copy postal services are also available.

Scheme Members

•

Members’ Representatives

•

Prospective members

•

Employers participating in the Fund

Page 424

•

This document sets out the mechanisms that we use to
meet our communication responsibilities. We aim to
use the most appropriate communication method for
the audiences receiving the information. This may
involve using more than one medium of
communication.

Telephone:
Surrey County Council is our third party pension’s
administrator, their contact information is publicised in
the scheme literature and on the website.
The telephone number for general enquiries and
complaints: 0208 541 9293
Briefing Sessions and Pension Surgeries:The WCC HR Team will organise pension briefing
sessions and pension surgeries on an annual basis to
ensure staff have access to both personal and general
scheme information.
During times of uncertainty including regulation
amendments and reorganisation exercises additional
briefing sessions and surgeries will be arranged to
meet the demand.

Pension’s Intranet site:
We have a website which has been designed to
communicate and promote the benefits of the Local
Government Pension Scheme, this is regularly
updated.
It also contains:
•

information to help potential members to
understand the pension scheme,

•

a link that allows current members to see their
records online and calculate their own estimates

•

online forms,

•

advice on how
membership,

•

and, links to other useful websites

to

purchase

additional

We also have information about recent scheme
updates, provide fund investment information, and
have a section for feedback.
We are committed to making this website as best as it
can possibly be and therefore we have a section for
feedback.
We consider this website to be one of our key methods
of communication.
http://www.wccpensionfund.co.uk/

098 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

BACKGROUND

Communication Policy (continued)
PROSPECTIVE SCHEME MEMBERS

OTHER EMPLOYERS

Pension & Lifetime Savings Association (PLSA)

Scheme Guides

Other employers that form part of our fund are invited
to Employer Forums meetings that are held
periodically. In the recent past these have been used
to as a mechanism for communicating major strategic
issues, significant legislation changes, triennial
valuation matters and the Funding Strategy Statement.

All administering Authorities who are members of the
PLSA are invited to attend, these meetings provide an
opportunity to discuss issues of common interest and
share best practice.

Employers’ are kept informed throughout the process
of the tri-annual valuation which is carried out by the
Councils actuaries. The employers’ comments are
always encouraged and welcomed and where
appropriate taken into consideration.

Representatives of the Council regularly participate at
seminars and conferences.

Scheme guides are available on the website or can be
requested from Surrey County Council.

Page 425

We also publicise information regarding autoenrolment to staff via the website and we will liaise
with all other scheme employers to remind them of
their responsibilities to members on Auto-enrolment
periodically offering support as necessary.

OTHER BODIES
London Pensions Officer’s Group:
Pensions Officers from London Boroughs meet
regularly in order to share information and ensure
uniform interpretation of Local Government Pension
Scheme, and other prevailing regulations.

Seminars
099 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

We promote to all potential members the benefits of
the LGPS via the website posters and new starter
information.

Communication Policy (continued)
The table below shows the availability of Fund publications along with their publication frequency and review periods.
Electronic Form

Intranet for staff

When Published

When reviewed

Pension Scheme Guide

√

√

√

Constantly available

Quarterly

Purchase of Additional Membership

√

X

√

Constantly available

Quarterly

Annual Benefit Statement

√

X

√

Annually

Annually

Statutory Notifications

√

X

X

On Joining & ABS

Annually

Pensions Updates

√

√

√

As required

After each Publication

Annual Pension Fund report

√

X

√

Annually

Annually

Early Leaver Information

√

√

√

Sent with Deferred benefits statement

Annually

Retirement Information

√

√

√

Sent with retirement details

Annually

Pensions Increase Letters

√

X

X

Annually

Annually

Actuarial Valuation Report

√

X

X

Tri-annually

Tri-annually

Pension Fund Committee

√

√

√

Quarterly

Quarterly

Communication Policy

√

√

√

Upon request

Quarterly

Governance Policy

√

√

√

Upon Request

Quarterly

100 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Paper Based

Page 426

Communication Material

Communication Policy (continued)
FURTHER INFORMATION
If you need more information about the Scheme you
should contact Surrey County Council at the following
address:

SURREY COUNTY COUNCIL

Page 427

General enquiries and complaints:
Phone: 0300 200 1031

101 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Pension Services (WCC Team)
Surrey County Council
Room 243, County Hall
Penrhyn Road
Kingston upon Thames
Surrey KT1 2DN
Email: myhelpdeskpensions@surreycc.gov.uk

Funding Strategy Statement

The Fund’s employers and the Fund Actuary, Barnett
Waddingham LLP, have been consulted on the
contents of this statement.

Page 428

This statement should be read in conjunction with the
Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) and has
been prepared with regard to the guidance (Preparing
and Maintaining a funding strategy statement in the
LGPS 2016 edition) issued by the Chartered Institute of
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

that ensures the solvency and long-term cost
efficiency of the Fund are met; and
•

2. AIMS AND PURPOSE OF THE FUND
2.1 The aims of the Fund are to:
•

•

1. PURPOSE OF THE FUNDING STRATEGY
STATEMENT
1.1 The purpose of this Funding Strategy Statement
(FSS) is to:
•

•

•

Establish a clear and transparent fund-specific
strategy that will identify how employers’
pension liabilities are best met going forward;
Support the desirability of maintaining as
nearly constant a primary contribution rate as
possible, as required by Regulation 62(6) of
the Regulations;
Ensure that the regulatory requirements to
set contributions to meet the future liability
to provide Scheme member benefits in a way

Take a prudent longer-term view of funding
those liabilities.

•

Manage employers’ liabilities effectively and
ensure that sufficient resources are available
to meet all liabilities as they fall due;
Enable primary contribution rates to be kept
as nearly constant as possible and (subject to
the administering authority not taking undue
risks) at reasonable cost to all relevant parties
(such as the taxpayers, scheduled, resolution
and admitted bodies), while achieving and
maintaining Fund solvency and long-term
cost efficiency, which should be assessed in
light of the risk profile of the Fund and
employers, and the risk appetite of the
administering authority and employers alike;
and
Seek returns on investment within reasonable
risk parameters.

2.2 The purpose of the Fund is to:
•

•

Pay pensions, lump sums and other benefits
to Scheme members as provided for under
the Regulations;
Meet the costs associated in administering
the Fund; and

•

Receive and invest contributions, transfer
values and investment income.

3. FUNDING OBJECTIVES
3.1 Contributions are paid to the Fund by Scheme
members and the employing bodies to provide for
the benefits which will become payable to Scheme
members when they fall due.
3.2 The funding objectives are to:
•

•
•

•

•

Ensure that pension benefits can be met as
and when they fall due over the lifetime of the
Fund;
Ensure the solvency of the Fund;
Set levels of employer contribution rates to
target a 100% funding level over an
appropriate time period and using
appropriate actuarial assumptions, while
taking
into
account
the
different
characteristics of participating employers;
Build up the required assets in such a way that
employer contribution rates are kept as
stable as possible, with consideration of the
long-term cost efficiency objective; and
Adopt appropriate measures and approaches
to reduce the risk, as far as possible, to the
Fund, other employers and ultimately the
taxpayer from an employer defaulting on its
pension obligations.

3.3 In developing the funding strategy, the
administering authority should also have regard
to the likely outcomes of the review carried out
under Section 13(4)(c) of the Public Service

102 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

This is the Funding Strategy Statement for the City of
Westminster Pension Fund (the Fund). It has been
prepared in accordance with Regulation 58 of the Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 as
amended (the Regulations) and describes Westminster
City Council’s strategy, in its capacity as administering
authority, for the funding of the City of Westminster
Pension Fund.

Pensions Act 2013. Section 13(4)(c) requires an
independent review of the actuarial valuations of
the LGPS funds; this involves reporting on
whether the rate of employer contributions set as
part of the actuarial valuations are set at an
appropriate level to ensure the solvency of the
Fund and the long-term cost efficiency of the
Scheme so far as relating to the pension Fund.
The review also looks at compliance and
consistency of the actuarial valuations.

4. RESPONSIBILITIES OF KEY PARTIES

The Administering Authority

Page 429

4.2 The administering authority for the Fund is
Westminster City Council.
The main
responsibilities of the administering authority are
to:
•
•

•
•
•
•

•

Operate the Fund in accordance with the
LGPS Regulations;
Collect
employee
and
employer
contributions, investment income and other
amounts due to the Fund as stipulated in the
Regulations;
Invest the Fund’s assets in accordance with
the Fund’s Investment Strategy Statement;
Pay the benefits due to Scheme members as
stipulated in the Regulations;
Ensure that cash is available to meet liabilities
as and when they fall due;
Take measures as set out in the Regulations
to safeguard the Fund against the
consequences of employer default;
Manage the actuarial valuation process in
conjunction with the Fund Actuary;

•
•

•

Prepare and maintain this FSS and also the ISS
after consultation with other interested
parties;
Monitor all aspects of the Fund’s
performance;
Effectively manage any potential conflicts of
interest arising from its dual role as both Fund
administrator and Scheme employer; and
Enable the Local Pension Board to review the
valuation process as they see fit.

Scheme Employers
4.3 In addition to the administering authority, a
number of other Scheme employers participate in
the Fund. The responsibilities of each employer
that participates in the Fund, including the
administering authority, are to:
•

•

•

•

•

Collect employee contributions and pay these
together with their own employer
contributions, as certified by the Fund
Actuary, to the administering authority within
the statutory timescales;
Notify the administering authority of any new
Scheme members and any other membership
changes promptly;
Develop a policy on certain discretions and
exercise those discretions as permitted under
the Regulations;
Meet the costs of any augmentations or other
additional costs in accordance with agreed
policies and procedures; and
Pay any exit payments due on ceasing
participation in the Fund.

Scheme Members
4.4 Active Scheme members are required to make
contributions into the Fund as set by the Ministry
of Housing, Communities and Local Government
(MHCLG).
The Fund Actuary
4.5 The Fund Actuary for the Fund is Barnett
Waddingham LLP. The main responsibilities of the
Fund Actuary are to:
•

•

•
•

•

•

Prepare valuations including the setting of
employers’ contribution rates at a level to
ensure Fund solvency and long-term cost
efficiency after agreeing assumptions with
the administering authority and having regard
to the FSS and the Regulations;
Prepare advice and calculations in connection
with bulk transfers and the funding aspects of
individual benefit-related matters such as
pension strain costs, ill-health retirement
costs, compensatory added years costs, etc;
Provide advice and valuations on the exiting
of employers from the Fund;
Provide advice and valuations relating to new
employers, including recommending the level
of bonds or other forms of security required
to protect the Fund against the financial
effect of employer default;
Assist the administering authority in assessing
whether employer contributions need to be
revised between valuations as permitted or
required by the Regulations;
Ensure that the administering authority is
aware of any professional guidance or other
professional requirements which may be of
relevance to their role in advising the Fund;
and

103 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

4.1 The key parties involved in the funding process and
their responsibilities are set out below.

•

•

Advise on other actuarial matters affecting
the financial position of the Fund.

5. FUNDING STRATEGY

expected to be accrued after the valuation date
(future service). These are evaluated as follows:
•

5.1 The factors affecting the Fund’s finances are
constantly changing, so it is necessary for its
financial position and the contributions payable to
be reviewed from time to time by means of an
actuarial valuation to check that the funding
objectives are being met.

5.3 The individual employer contribution rates are set
out in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate which
forms part of the Fund’s 2019 valuation report.

Page 430

5.4 The actuarial valuation involves a projection of
future cashflows to and from the Fund. The main
purpose of the valuation is to determine the level
of employers’ contributions that should be paid to
ensure that the existing assets and future
contributions will be sufficient to meet all future
benefit payments from the Fund. A summary of the
methods and assumptions adopted is set out in the
sections below.

•

6.4 The adjustment required to the primary rate to
calculate an employer’s total contribution rate is
referred to as the secondary rate, as defined in
Regulation 62(7). Further details of how the
secondary rate is calculated for employers is given
below in the Deficit recovery/surplus amortisation
periods section.

6.2 The funding target is to have sufficient assets in the
Fund to meet the accrued liabilities for each
employer in the Fund.

6.5 The approach to the primary rate will depend on
specific employer circumstances and in particular
may depend on whether an employer is an “open”
employer – one which allows new recruits access
to the Fund, or a “closed” employer – one which
no longer permits new staff access to the Fund.
The expected period of participation by an
employer in the Fund may also affect the total
contribution rate.

6.3 For all employers, the method adopted is to
consider separately the benefits accrued before
the valuation date (past service) and benefits

6.6 For open employers, the actuarial funding method
that is adopted is known as the Projected Unit
Method. The key feature of this method is that, in

6. FUNDING METHOD
6.1 The key objective in determining employers’
contribution rates is to establish a funding target
and then set levels of employer contribution rates
to meet that target over an agreed period.

6.7 For closed employers, the actuarial funding
method adopted is known as the Attained Age
Method. The key difference between this method
and the Projected Unit Method is that the
Attained Age Method assesses the average cost of
the benefits that will accrue over a specific period,
such as the length of a contract or the remaining
expected working lifetime of active members.
6.8 The approach by employer may vary to reflect an
employer’s specific circumstance, however, in
general the closed employers in the Fund are
admission bodies who have joined the Fund as
part of an outsourcing contract and therefore the
Attained Age Method is used in setting their
contributions. All other employers (for example
the Council, higher education bodies and
academies) are generally open employers and
therefore the Projected Unit Method is used. The
administering authority holds details of the open
or closed status of each employer.

7. VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS AND
FUNDING MODEL
7.1 In completing the actuarial valuation it is necessary
to formulate assumptions about the factors
affecting the Fund's future finances such as price
inflation, pay increases, investment returns, rates
of mortality, early retirement and staff turnover
etc.
7.2 The assumptions adopted at the valuation can
therefore be considered as:
•

The demographic (or statistical) assumptions
which are essentially estimates of the

104 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

5.2 The most recent valuation of the Fund was as at 31
March 2019.

The past service funding level of the Fund.
This is the ratio of accumulated assets to
liabilities in respect of past service. It makes
allowance for future increases to members’
pay and pensions. A funding level in excess of
100% indicates a surplus of assets over
liabilities; while a funding level of less than
100% indicates a deficit; and
The future service funding rate (also referred
to as the primary rate as defined in Regulation
62(5) of the Regulations) is the level of
contributions required from the individual
employers which, in combination with
employee contributions is expected to cover
the cost of benefits accruing in future.

assessing the future service cost, the primary rate
represents the cost of one year’s benefit accrual
only.

•

likelihood or timing of benefits and
contributions being paid, and
The financial assumptions which will
determine the estimates of the amount of
benefits and contributions payable and their
current (or present) value.

Financial Assumptions: Future Price Inflation

Financial Assumptions: Future Pension Increases
7.4 Pension increases are linked to changes in the level
of the Consumer Price Index (CPI). Inflation as
measured by the CPI has historically been less than
RPI due mainly to different calculation methods. A
deduction of 1.0% p.a. is therefore made from the
RPI assumption to derive the CPI assumption.
Financial Assumptions: Future Pay Increases
7.5 As some of the benefits are linked to pay levels at
retirement, it is necessary to make an assumption
as to future levels of pay increases. Historically,
there has been a close link between price inflation
and pay increases with pay increases exceeding
price inflation in the longer term. The long-term
pay increase assumption adopted as at 31 March
2019 was CPI plus 1.0% p.a. which includes
allowance for promotional increases.

Future

Investment

7.6 To determine the value of accrued liabilities and
derive future contribution requirements, it is
necessary to discount future payments to and from
the Fund to present day values.
7.7 The discount rate that is adopted will depend on
the funding target adopted for each Scheme
employer.
7.8 The discount rate that is applied to all projected
liabilities reflects a prudent estimate of the rate of
investment return that is expected to be earned
from the Fund’s long-term investment strategy by
considering average market yields in the six months
straddling the valuation date. The discount rate so
determined may be referred to as the “ongoing”
discount rate.
7.9 It may be appropriate for an alternative discount
rate approach to be taken to reflect an individual
employer’s situation. This may be, for example, to
reflect an employer targeting a cessation event or
to reflect the administering authority’s views on
the level of risk that an employer poses to the Fund.
The Fund Actuary will incorporate any such
adjustments after consultation with the
administering authority.
7.10 A summary of the financial assumptions adopted
for the 2019 valuation is set out in the table below:
Financial assumptions as at 31 March 2019
RPI Inflation

3.6% p.a.

CPI Inflation

2.6% p.a.

Financial assumptions as at 31 March 2019
Pension/deferred pension
increases and CARE revaluation

In line with CPI
inflation

Pay Increases

CPI inflation + 1.0%
p.a.

Discount rate – Scheduled
bodies

4.8% p.a.

Discount Rate – Admitted
bodies

3.3% p.a.

Admitted Bodies
7.11 A more prudent discount rate is adopted for
admitted bodies in the Fund, resulting in a higher
level of contributions being required from these
bodies. This is in recognition of the fact that such
employers may typically be expected to participate
in the Fund for a limited period of time and so the
aim is to increase the likelihood of sufficient assets
being available to fund their employees’ past
service benefits by the time they cease
participation in the Fund. In this way, the risk of
deficits arising after the termination date and thus
needing to be met by other employers in the Fund
is reduced. Some admitted bodies may also be
deemed to have a weaker covenant than other
employers and so a higher contribution
requirement reflects the increased risk that these
employers present to the Fund.
Asset valuation
7.12 For the purpose of the valuation, the asset value
used is the market value of the accumulated fund
at the valuation date, adjusted to reflect average
market conditions during the six months straddling

105 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 431

7.3 The base assumption in any valuation is the future
level of price inflation over a period commensurate
with the duration of the liabilities, as measured by
the Retail Price Index (RPI). This is derived using the
20 year point on the Bank of England implied Retail
Price Index (RPI) inflation curve, with consideration
of the market conditions over the six months
straddling the valuation date. The 20 year point on
the curve is used as this is consistent with the
average duration of an LGPS Fund.

Financial
Assumptions:
Returns/Discount Rate

the valuation date. This is referred to as the
smoothed asset value and is calculated in a
consistent way to the valuation of the liabilities.
7.13 The Fund’s assets are allocated to employers at an
individual level by allowing for actual Fund returns
achieved on the assets and cashflows paid into and
out of the Fund in respect of each employer (e.g.
contributions received and benefits paid).
Demographic Assumptions

McCloud/Sargeant Judgements
7.15 The McCloud/Sargeant judgements were in
relation to two employment tribunal cases which
were brought against the government in relation to
possible age and gender discrimination in the
implementation of transitional protection
following the introduction of the reformed 2015
public service pension schemes from 1 April 2015.
These judgements were not directly in relation to
the LGPS, however, do have implications for the
LGPS.
7.16 In December 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that
the transitional protection offered to some
members as part of the reforms amounted to
unlawful discrimination. On 27 June 2019 the
Supreme Court denied the government’s request
for an appeal in the case. A remedy is still to be
either imposed by the Employment Tribunal or
negotiated and applied to all public service

7.17 At the time of drafting this FSS, it is still unclear
how this will affect current and future LGPS
benefits. As part of the Fund’s 2019 valuation, in
order to mitigate the risk of member benefits being
uplifted and becoming more expensive, the
potential impact of McCloud was covered by the
prudence allowance in the discount rate
assumption. As the remedy is still to be agreed the
cost cannot be calculated with certainty, however,
the Fund Actuary expects it is likely to be less than,
the impact of reducing the discount rate
assumption by 0.05%.
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) Indexation
and Equalisation
7.18 As part of the restructuring of the state pension
provision, the government needs to consider how
public service pension payments should be
increased in future for members who accrued a
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) from their
public service pension scheme and expect to reach
State Pension Age (SPA) post-December 2018. In
addition, a resulting potential inequality in the
payment of public service pensions between men
and women needs to be addressed.
7.19 On 22 January 2018, the government published
the outcome to its Indexation and equalisation of
GMP in public service pension schemes
consultation, concluding that the requirement for
public service pension schemes to fully protect the

GMP element of individuals’ public service pension
would be extended to those individuals reaching
SPA before 6 April 2021. HMT published a
Ministerial Direction on 4 December 2018 to
implement this outcome, with effect from 6 April
2016.
7.20 The 2019 valuation assumption for GMP is that
the Fund will pay limited increases for members
that have reached SPA by 6 April 2016, with the
government providing the remainder of the
inflationary increase. For members that reach SPA
after this date, it is assumed that the Fund will be
required to pay the entire inflationary increase.

8. DEFICIT RECOVERY/SURPLUS
AMORTISATION PERIODS
8.1 Whilst one of the funding objectives is to build up
sufficient assets to meet the cost of benefits as they
accrue, it is recognised that at any particular point
in time, the value of the accumulated assets will be
different to the value of accrued liabilities,
depending on how the actual experience of the
Fund differs to the actuarial assumptions. This
theory applies down to an individual employer
level; each employer in the Fund has their own
share of deficit or surplus attributable to their
section of the Fund.
8.2 Where the valuation for an employer discloses a
deficit then the level of required employer
contributions includes an adjustment to fund the
deficit over a maximum period of 19 years. The
adjustment will usually be set as a fixed monetary
amount.
8.3 Where the valuation for an employer discloses a
surplus then the level of required employer

106 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 432

7.14 The demographic assumptions incorporated into
the valuation are based on Fund-specific
experience and national statistics, adjusted as
appropriate to reflect the individual circumstances
of the Fund and/or individual employers. Further
details of the assumptions adopted are included in
the Fund’s 2019 valuation report.

schemes, so it is not yet clear how this judgement
may affect LGPS members’ past or future service
benefits.
It has, however, been noted by
government in its 15 July 2019 statement that it
expects to have to amend all public service
schemes, including the LGPS. Further details of this
can be found below in the Regulatory risks section.

contribution may include an adjustment to
amortise a proportion of the surplus.
8.4 The deficit recovery period or amortisation period
that is adopted, and the proportion of any
deficit/surplus that is recovered/amortised, for any
particular employer will depend on:
•
•

•

Page 433

9. POOLING OF INDIVIDUAL EMPLOYERS
9.1 The policy of the Fund is that each individual
employer should be responsible for the costs of
providing pensions for its own employees who
participate in the Fund. Accordingly, contribution
rates are set for individual employers to reflect
their own particular circumstances. Pooling of
individual employers may be considered in
exceptional circumstances if deemed appropriate
by the administering authority and Fund Actuary.

10. NEW EMPLOYERS JOINING THE FUND
10.1 When a new employer joins the Fund, the Fund
Actuary is required to set the contribution rates
payable by the new employer and allocate a share
of Fund assets to the new employer as appropriate.
The most common types of new employers joining
the Fund are admission bodies and new academies.
These are considered in more detail below.

Contribution Rate

10.2 New admission bodies in the Fund are commonly
a result of a transfer of staff from an existing
employer in the Fund to another body (for example
as part of a transfer of services from a council or
academy to an external provider under Schedule 2
Part 3 of the Regulations). Typically these transfers
will be for a limited period (the contract length),
over which the new admission body employer is
required to pay contributions into the Fund in
respect of the transferred members.

10.5 The contribution rate may be set on an open or a
closed basis. Where the funding at the start of the
contract is on a fully funded basis then the
contribution rate will represent the primary rate
only; where there is a deficit allocated to the new
admission body then the contribution rate will also
incorporate a secondary rate with the aim of
recovering the deficit over an appropriate recovery
period.

Funding at Start of Contract
10.3 Generally, when a new admission body joins the
Fund, they will become responsible for all the
pensions risk associated with the benefits accrued
by transferring members and the benefits to be
accrued over the contract length. This is known as
a full risk transfer. In these cases, it may be
appropriate that the new admission body is
allocated a share of Fund assets equal to the value
of the benefits transferred, i.e. the new admission
body starts off on a fully funded basis. This is
calculated on the relevant funding basis and the
opening position may be different when calculated
on an alternative basis (e.g. on an accounting
basis).
10.4 However, there may be special arrangements
made as part of the contract such that a full risk
transfer approach is not adopted. In these cases,
the initial assets allocated to the new admission
body will reflect the level of risk transferred and
may therefore not be on a fully funded basis or may
not reflect the full value of the benefits attributable
to the transferring members.

10.6 Depending on the details of the arrangement, for
example if any risk sharing arrangements are in
place, then additional adjustments may be made to
determine the contribution rate payable by the
new admission body. The approach in these cases
will be bespoke to the individual arrangement.
Security
10.7 To mitigate the risk to the Fund that a new
admission body will not be able to meet its
obligations to the Fund in the future, the new
admission body may be required to put in place a
bond in accordance with Schedule 2 Part 3 of the
Regulations, if required by the letting authority and
administering authority.
10.8 If, for any reason, it is not desirable for a new
admission body to enter into a bond, the new
admission body may provide an alternative form of
security which is satisfactory to the administering
authority.
NEW ACADEMIES
10.9 When a school converts to academy status, the
new academy (or the sponsoring multi-academy
trust) becomes a Scheme employer in its own right.

107 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

•

The significance of the surplus or deficit
relative to that employer’s liabilities;
The covenant of the individual employer
(including any security in place) and any
limited period of participation in the Fund;
The remaining contract length of an employer
in the Fund (if applicable); and
The implications in terms of stability of future
levels of employers’ contribution.

ADMISSION BODIES

Funding at Start
10.10 On conversion to academy status, the new
academy will be allocated assets based on the
active cover of the relevant local authority at the
conversion date. The active cover approach is
based on the funding level of the local authority’s
active liabilities, after fully funding the local
authority’s deferred and pensioner liabilities.
Contribution Rate

11. CESSATION VALUATIONS
11.1 When a Scheme employer exits the Fund and
becomes an exiting employer, as required under
the Regulations, the Fund Actuary will be asked to
carry out an actuarial valuation in order to
determine the liabilities in respect of the benefits
held by the exiting employer’s current and former
employees. The Fund Actuary is also required to
determine the exit payment due from the exiting
employer to the Fund or the exit credit payable
from the Fund to the exiting employer.
11.2 Any deficit in the Fund in respect of the exiting
employer will be due to the Fund as a single lump
sum payment, unless it is agreed by the
administering authority and the other parties
involved that an alternative approach is
permissible. For example:
•

It may be agreed with the administering
authority that the exit payment can be spread
over some agreed period;

•

the assets and liabilities relating to the
employer may transfer within the Fund to
another participating employer; or
the employer’s exit may be deferred subject
to agreement with the administering
authority, for example if it intends to offer
Scheme membership to a new employee
within the following three years.

11.3 Amendments to the LGPS Regulations which came
into effect from May 2018 allow flexibility over the
payment of exit credits to employers where there
is a surplus at the exit date. Given that the Fund
will retain the long term risks associated with the
residual liabilities of ceasing employers, it is
possible that adverse future experience may lead
to a deficit arising at some point after the date of
exit and this would need to be funded by the other
employers in the Fund. Therefore, in order to
protect the Fund and the remaining active
employers, the policy of the Fund is that no exit
credit shall be paid to an employer on exit where a
surplus is calculated as part of the cessation
valuation and the employer’s exit payment in this
scenario shall be certified as nil.
11.4 In assessing the value of the liabilities attributable
to the exiting employer, the Fund Actuary may
adopt differing approaches depending on the
employer and the specific details surrounding the
employer’s cessation scenario.
11.5 For example, if there is no guarantor in the Fund
willing to accept responsibility for the residual
liabilities of the exiting employer, then those
liabilities are likely to be assessed on a “minimum
risk” basis leading to a higher exit payment being
required from the employer, in order to extinguish
their liabilities to the Fund and to reduce the risk of

these liabilities needing to be met by other
participating employers in future.
11.6 If it is agreed that another employer in the Fund
will accept responsibility for the residual liabilities,
then the assumptions adopted will be consistent
with the current ongoing funding position.

12. BULK TRANSFERS
12.1 Bulk transfers of staff into or out of the Fund can
take place from other LGPS Funds or non-LGPS
Funds. In either case, the Fund Actuary for both
Funds will be required to negotiate the terms for
the bulk transfer – specifically the terms by which
the value of assets to be paid from one Fund to the
other is calculated.
12.2 The agreement will be specific to the situation
surrounding each bulk transfer but in general the
Fund will look to receive the bulk transfer on no less
than a fully funded transfer (i.e. the assets paid
from the ceding Fund are sufficient to cover the
value of the liabilities on the agreed basis).
12.3 A bulk transfer may be required by an issued
Direction Order. This is generally in relation to an
employer merger, where all the assets and
liabilities attributable to the transferring employer
in its original Fund are transferred to the receiving
Fund.

13. LINKS WITH THE INVESTMENT
STRATEGY STATEMENT (ISS)
13.1 The main link between the Funding Strategy
Statement (FSS) and the ISS relates to the discount
rate that underlies the funding strategy as set out
in the FSS, and the expected rate of investment
return which is expected to be achieved by the
long-term investment strategy as set out in the ISS.

108 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 434

10.11 The total contribution rate for new academies
will be chosen to meet both the costs of benefits
accruing to the existing active members in the
future, and to try to restore the funding level to
100% over the Fund’s maximum deficit recovery
period.

•

13.2 As explained above, the ongoing discount rate
that is adopted in the actuarial valuation is derived
by considering the expected return from the longterm investment strategy.
This ensures
consistency between the funding strategy and
investment strategy.

14. RISKS AND COUNTER MEASURES

required employer contribution by around 0.7% of
payroll p.a.
14.5 However, the Investment and Pension Fund
Committee regularly monitors the investment
returns achieved by the fund managers and
receives advice from the independent advisers and
officers on investment strategy.

14.2 The major risks to the funding strategy are
financial, although there are other external factors
including demographic risks, regulatory risks and
governance risks.

DEMOGRAPHIC RISKS

FINANCIAL RISKS
14.3 The main financial risk is that the actual
investment strategy fails to produce the expected
rate of investment return (in real terms) that
underlies the funding strategy. This could be due
to a number of factors, including market returns
being less than expected and/or the fund managers
who are employed to implement the chosen
investment strategy failing to achieve their
performance targets.
14.4 The valuation results are most sensitive to the real
discount rate (i.e. the difference between the
discount rate assumption and the price inflation
assumption).
Broadly
speaking
an
increase/decrease of 0.1% p.a. in the real discount
rate will decrease/increase the valuation of the
liabilities by around 2%, and decrease/increase the

14.7 In addition, the Fund Actuary provides funding
updates between valuations to check whether the
funding strategy continues to meet the funding
objectives.

14.8 Allowance is made in the funding strategy via the
actuarial
assumptions
for
a
continuing
improvement in life expectancy. However, the
main demographic risk to the funding strategy is
that it might underestimate the continuing
improvement in longevity. For example, an
increase in the long-term rate of mortality
improvement of 0.25% p.a. will increase the
liabilities by around 1%.
14.9 The actual mortality of pensioners in the Fund is
monitored by the Fund Actuary at each actuarial
valuation and assumptions are kept under review.
For the past two funding valuations, the Fund has
commissioned a bespoke longevity analysis by
Barnett Waddingham’s specialist longevity team in
order to assess the mortality experience of the
Fund and help set an appropriate mortality
assumption for funding purposes.
14.10 The liabilities of the Fund can also increase by
more than has been planned as a result of the

14.11 The administering authority is currently
implementing an ill-health self-insurance pool
within the Fund whereby a portion of all employers’
contributions into the Fund are allocated to a
segregated ill-health section of the Fund. When an
ill-health retirement occurs, a funding strain (i.e.
the difference between the value of the benefits
payable to the ill-health member and the value that
was assumed as part of the actuarial valuation) is
generated in the employer’s section of the Fund.
As part of the self-insurance policy, assets equal to
the funding strain are transferred from the
segregated ill-health assets section of the Fund to
the employer’s section of the Fund to cover the
funding strain.
MATURITY RISKS
14.12 The maturity of a Fund (or of an employer in the
Fund) is an assessment of how close on average the
members are to retirement (or already retired).
The more mature the Fund or employer, the
greater proportion of its membership that is near
or in retirement. For a mature Fund or employer,
the time available to generate investment returns
is shorter and therefore the level of maturity needs
to be considered as part of setting funding and
investment strategies.
14.13 The cashflow profile of the Fund needs to be
considered alongside the level of maturity: as a
Fund matures, the ratio of active to pensioner

109 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

14.6 The Committee may also seek advice from the
Fund Actuary on valuation related matters.

Page 435

14.1 Whilst the funding strategy attempts to satisfy the
funding objectives of ensuring sufficient assets to
meet pension liabilities and stable levels of
employer contributions, it is recognised that there
are risks that may impact on the funding strategy
and hence the ability of the strategy to meet the
funding objectives.

additional financial costs of early retirements and
ill-health retirements. However, the administering
authority monitors the incidence of early
retirements; and procedures are in place that
require individual employers to pay additional
amounts into the Fund to meet any additional costs
arising from early retirements.

members falls, meaning the ratio of contributions
being paid into the Fund to the benefits being paid
out of the Fund also falls. This therefore increases
the risk of the Fund having to sell assets in order to
meets its benefit payments. The Fund may carry
out cash flow modelling to assess if, when and in
what circumstances the Fund will become cash
flow negative and options to address this.

Page 436

REGULATORY RISKS
14.15 The benefits provided by the Scheme and
employee contribution levels are set out in
Regulations determined by central government.
The tax status of the invested assets is also
determined by the government. The funding
strategy is therefore exposed to the risks of
changes in the Regulations governing the Scheme
and changes to the tax regime which may affect the
cost to individual employers participating in the
Scheme. However, the administering authority
participates in any consultation process of any
proposed changes in Regulations and seeks advice
from the Fund Actuary on the financial implications
of any proposed changes.
14.16 There are a number of general risks to the Fund
and the LGPS, including:
• If the LGPS was to be discontinued in its
current form it is not known what would
happen to members’ benefits.

The potential effects of GMP equalisation
between males and females, if implemented,
are not yet known.
More generally, as a statutory scheme the
benefits provided by the LGPS or the
structure of the scheme could be changed by
the government.
The State Pension Age is due to be reviewed
by the government in the next few years.

enhance Scheme benefits from 1 April 2019.
However, as a funded Scheme, the LGPS also had a
cost cap mechanism controlled by the Scheme
Advisory Board (SAB) in place and HMT allowed SAB
to put together a package of proposed benefit
changes in order for the LGPS to no longer breach
the HMT cost cap. These benefit changes were due
to be consulted on with all stakeholders and
implemented from 1 April 2019.

14.17 At the time of preparing this FSS, specific
regulatory risks of particular interest to the LGPS
are in relation to the McCloud/Sargeant
judgements, the cost cap mechanism and the
timing of future funding valuations consultation.
These are discussed in the sections below.

4.20 However, on 20 December 2018 there was a
judgement made by the Court of Appeal which
resulted in the government announcing their
decision to pause the cost cap process across all
public service schemes. This was in relation to two
employment tribunal cases which were brought
against the government in relation to possible
discrimination in the implementation of
transitional protection following the introduction
of the reformed 2015 public service pension
schemes from 1 April 2015. Transitional protection
enabled some members to remain in their pre2015 schemes after 1 April 2015 until retirement or
the end of a pre-determined tapered protection
period. The claimants challenged the transitional
protection arrangements on the grounds of direct
age discrimination, equal pay and indirect gender
and race discrimination.

•

•

McCloud/Sargeant Judgements and Cost Cap
14.18 The 2016 national Scheme valuation was used to
determine the results of HM Treasury’s (HMT)
employer cost cap mechanism for the first time.
The HMT cost cap mechanism was brought in after
Lord Hutton’s review of public service pensions
with the aim of providing protection to taxpayers
and employees against unexpected changes
(expected to be increases) in pension costs. The
cost control mechanism only considers “member
costs”. These are the costs relating to changes in
assumptions made to carry out valuations relating
to the profile of the Scheme members; e.g. costs
relating to how long members are expected to live
for and draw their pension.
Therefore,
assumptions such as future expected levels of
investment returns and levels of inflation are not
included in the calculation, so have no impact on
the cost management outcome.
4.19 The 2016 HMT cost cap valuation revealed a fall
in these costs and therefore a requirement to

4.21 The first case (McCloud) relating to the Judicial
Pension Scheme was ruled in favour of the
claimants, while the second case (Sargeant) in
relation to the Fire scheme was ruled against the
claimants. Both rulings were appealed and as the
two cases were closely linked, the Court of Appeal
decided to combine the two cases. In December
2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that the
transitional protection offered to some members
as part of the reforms amounts to unlawful

110 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

14.14 The government has published a consultation
(Local government pension scheme: changes to the
local valuation cycle and management of employer
risk) which may affect the Fund’s exposure to
maturity risk. More information on this can be
found in the Regulatory risks section below.

•

Consultation: Local Government Pension Scheme:
Changes to the Local Valuation Cycle and
Management of Employer Risk

Page 437

14.22 On 8 May 2019, the government published a
consultation seeking views on policy proposals to
amend the rules of the LGPS in England and Wales.
The consultation covered:
• amendments to the local fund valuations
from the current three year (triennial) to a
four year (quadrennial) cycle;
• a number of measures aimed at mitigating
the risks of moving from a triennial to a
quadrennial cycle;
• proposals for flexibility on exit payments;
• proposals for further policy changes to exit
credits; and
• proposals for changes to the employers
required to offer LGPS membership.
14.23 The consultation is currently ongoing: the
consultation was closed to responses on 31 July
2019. A partial government response was issued in
February 2020 concerning flexibility around the
payment of exit credits only, which has been
reflected in this FSS and discussed in the “Cessation

valuations” section above. We await the outcome
of the consultation regarding the other proposals.
Timing of Future Actuarial Valuations
14.24 LGPS valuations currently take place on a
triennial basis which results in employer
contributions being reviewed every three years. In
September 2018 it was announced by the Chief
Secretary to HMT, Elizabeth Truss, that the national
Scheme valuation would take place on a
quadrennial basis (i.e. every four years) along with
the other public sector pension schemes. This
results of the national Scheme valuation are used
to test the cost control cap mechanism and HMT
believed that all public sector scheme should have
the cost cap test happen at the same time with the
next quadrennial valuation in 2020 and then 2024.
Changes to Employers Required to offer LGPS
Membership
14.25 At the time of drafting this FSS, under the current
Regulations further education corporations, sixth
form college corporations and higher education
corporations in England and Wales are required to
offer membership of the LGPS to their nonteaching staff.
14.26 With consideration of the nature of the LGPS and
the changes in nature of the further education and
higher education sectors, the government has
proposed to remove the requirement for further
education corporations, sixth form college
corporations and higher education corporations in
England to offer new employees access to the
LGPS. This could impact on the level of maturity
and the cashflow profile for these employers. As
described earlier this may increase the risk of
contribution income being insufficient to meet

benefit outgo, if not in the short term then in the
long term as the payroll in respect of these types of
employers decreases with fewer active members
participating in the Fund.
14.27 This also brings an increased risk to the Fund in
relation to these employers becoming exiting
employers in the Fund. Should they decide not to
admit new members to the Fund, the active
membership attributable to the employers will
gradually reduce to zero, triggering an exit under
the Regulations and a potential significant exit
payment. This has the associated risk of the
employer not being able to meet the exit payment
and thus the exit payment falling to the other
employers in the Fund.
14.28 There are very few employers of this type
currently participating in the Fund and so the risks
are considered relatively low at present.
EMPLOYER RISKS
14.29 Many different employers participate in the
Fund. Accordingly, it is recognised that a number
of employer-specific events could impact on the
funding strategy including:
•
•
•

Structural changes in an individual employer’s
membership;
An individual employer deciding to close the
Scheme to new employees; and
An employer ceasing to exist without having
fully funded their pension liabilities.

14.30 However, the administering authority monitors
the position of employers participating in the Fund,
particularly those which may be susceptible to the
events outlined, and takes advice from the Fund
Actuary when required. In particular, the Fund
regularly commissions an employer risk review

111 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

discrimination. On 27 June 2019 the Supreme
Court denied the government’s request for an
appeal in the case. A remedy is still to be either
imposed by the Employment Tribunal or
negotiated and applied to all public service
schemes, so it is not yet clear how this judgement
may affect LGPS members’ past or future service
benefits.
It has, however, been noted by
government in its 15 July 2019 statement that it
expects to have to amend all public service
schemes, including the LGPS. At the time of drafting
this FSS, it is not yet known what the effect on the
current and future LGPS benefits will be.

Page 438

14.31 In addition, the administering authority keeps in
close touch with all individual employers
participating in the Fund to ensure that, as
administering authority, it has the most up to date
information available on individual employer
situations. It also keeps individual employers
briefed on funding and related issues.
GOVERNANCE RISKS
14.32 Accurate data is necessary to ensure that
members ultimately receive their correct benefits.
The administering authority is responsible for
keeping data up to date and results of the actuarial
valuation depend on accurate data. If incorrect
data is valued then there is a risk that the
contributions paid are not adequate to cover the
cost of the benefits accrued.
MONITORING AND REVIEW
14.33 This FSS is reviewed formally, in consultation
with the key parties, at least every three years to
tie in with the triennial actuarial valuation process.
14.34 The most recent valuation was carried out as at
31 March 2019, certifying the contribution rates

payable by each employer in the Fund for the
period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2023.
14.35 The timing of the next funding valuation is due
to be confirmed as part of the government’s Local
government pension scheme: changes to the local
valuation cycle and management of employer risk
consultation which closed on 31 July 2019. At the
time of drafting this FSS, it is anticipated that the
next funding valuation will be due as at 31 March
2022 but the period for which contributions will be
certified remains unconfirmed.
14.36 The administering authority also monitors the
financial position of the Fund between actuarial
valuations and may review the FSS more frequently
if necessary.

112 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

from the Fund Actuary to help identify the
employers in the Fund that might be considered as
high risk. In the case of admitted bodies, the Fund
has a policy of requiring some form of security from
the employer, in the form of a guarantee or a bond,
in case of employer default where the risk falls to
the Fund. Where the risk of default falls on the
liabilities of an original letting authority, the Fund
provides advice to the letting authority to enable
them to make a decision on whether a guarantee,
some other form of security or a bond should be
required.

City of Westminster Pension
Fund Investment Strategy
Statement 2021/22
1. Introduction
1.1 This is the Investment Strategy Statement (ISS)
adopted by the City of Westminster Pension Fund (“the
Fund”), which is administered by Westminster City
Council (“the Administering Authority”).

1.2 This Statement addresses each of the objectives
included in the 2016 Regulations:
a) A requirement to invest fund money in a wide
range of instruments;
b) The authority’s assessment of the suitability
of particular investments and types of
investment;
c) The authority’s approach to risk, including the
ways in which risks are to be measured and
managed;
d) The authority’s approach to pooling
investments, including the use of collective
investment vehicles;
e) The authority’s policy on how social,
environmental or corporate governance
considerations are taken into account in the
selection, non-selection, retention and
realisation of investments; and
f) The authority’s policy on the exercise of rights
(including voting rights) attaching to
investments.

1.3 The Pension Fund Committee (the “Committee”) of
the City of Westminster Pension Fund oversees the
management of the Fund’s assets. Although not
trustees, the Members of the Committee owe a
fiduciary duty similar to that of trustees to the counciltax payers and guarantors of other scheme employers,
who would ultimately have to meet any shortfall in the
assets of the Fund, as well as to the contributors and
beneficiaries of the Fund.

•
•

•

1.4 The relevant terms of reference for the Committee
within the Council’s Constitution are:
The Pension Fund Committee’s responsibilities are set
out in their terms of reference and are to have
responsibility for all aspects of the investment and
other management activity of the Council’s Pension
Fund, including, but not limited to, the following
matters:
• To agree the investment strategy and
strategic asset allocation having regard to the
advice of the fund managers and the
Investment Consultant.
• To
monitor
performance
of
the
Superannuation Fund, individual fund
managers, custodians, actuary and other
external advisors to ensure that they remain
suitable;
• To determine the Fund management
arrangements, including the appointment
and termination of the appointment of the
fund managers, Actuary, Custodians and Fund
Advisers.
• To agree the Statement of Investment
Principles, the Funding Strategy Statement,
the Business Plan for the Fund, the
Governance
Policy
Statement,
the
Communications Policy Statement and the

•
•
•
•
•

•

Governance Compliance Statement and to
ensure compliance with these.
To approve the final accounts and balance
sheet of the Superannuation Fund and to
approve the Annual Report.
To receive actuarial valuations of the
Superannuation Fund regarding the level of
employers’ contributions necessary to
balance the Superannuation Fund.
To oversee and approve any changes to the
administration
arrangements,
material
contracts and policies and procedures of the
Council for the payment of pensions,
compensation payments and allowances to
beneficiaries.
To make and review an admission policy
relating to admission agreements generally
with any admission body.
To ensure compliance with all relevant
statutes, regulations and best practice with
both the public and private sectors.
To review the arrangements and managers
for the provision of Additional Voluntary
Contributions for fund members.
To receive and consider the Auditor’s report
on the governance of the Pension Fund.
To determine the compensation policy on
termination of employment and to make any
decisions in accordance with that policy other
than decisions in respect of the Chief
Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief
Officers of the Council (which fall within the
remit of the Appointments Sub-Committee).
To determine policy on the award of
additional membership of the pension fund
and to make any decisions in accordance with
that policy other than decisions in respect of
the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy
Chief Officers of the Council (which fall within
the remit of the Appointments SubCommittee).

113 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 439

Under the Local Government Pension Scheme
(Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations
2016 the Fund is required to publish this ISS. The
Regulations require administering authorities to
outline how they meet each of 6 objectives aimed at
improving the investment and governance of the Fund.

We deal with each of these in turn below.

•

•

Page 440

•
•

The Committee has responsibility for:
• Determining an overall investment strategy
and strategic asset allocation, with regard to
diversification and the suitability of asset
classes
• Appointing the investment managers, an
independent custodian, the actuary, the

•

•
•

investment advisor(s) and any other external
consultants considered necessary
Reviewing on a regular basis the investment
managers’ performance against benchmarks,
portfolio risk and satisfying themselves as to
the managers’ expertise and the quality of
their internal systems and controls
Monitoring compliance with the ISS &
Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) and
reviewing its contents
Reviewing policy on social, environmental and
ethical considerations, and on the exercise of
voting rights

The Executive Director of Finance and Resources, the
Tri-Borough Director of Treasury and Pensions and the
appointed consultants and actuaries support the
Pension
Fund
Committee.
The
day-to-day
management of the Fund’s assets is delegated to
investment managers.
1.5 This ISS will be reviewed at least once a year, or
more frequently as required - in particular following
valuations, future asset/liability studies and
performance reviews, which may indicate a need to
change investment policy, or significant changes to the
FSS.
1.6 Under the previous Regulations the Statement of
Investment Principles required to state how it complies
with the revised six investment principles as outlined
within the CIPFA Pensions Panel Principles. Although
not formally required under the 2016 Regulations this
information is given in Appendix A. In addition,
Appendix B includes a disclosure of the Fund’s policy
on how the Committee discharge their stewardship
responsibilities.
1.7 Governing all investment decisions are the
Committee’s core investment beliefs they have been

established based on the views of the members and
are listed below:
1 Investment Governance
a) The Fund has access to the necessary skills,
expertise and resources to manage the whole
Fund, as well as internally managing a small
proportion of the Fund’s assets, such as cash
management.
b) Investment
consultants,
independent
advisors and officers are a source of expertise
and research to inform
and assist the Committee’s decisions.
c) The ultimate aim of the Fund’s investments is
to pay pension liabilities when they become
due. The
Committee will therefore take account of
liquidity and the long-term ability of the Fund
to meet these
obligations.
d) The Fund is continuously improving its
governance structure through bespoke
training to implement tactical
views more promptly, but acknowledges that
it is not possible to achieve optimum market
timing.
2 Long Term Approach
a) The strength of the employers’ covenant
allows the Fund to take a longer term view of
investment strategy
than most investors.
b) The most important aspect of risk is not the
volatility of returns, but the risk of absolute
loss over the
medium and long term. This would in turn
impact the ability of the employers to make
adequate
contributions to meet the Fund’s liabilities.

114 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

•

To determine policy on the award of
additional pension and to make any decisions
in accordance with that policy other than
decisions in respect of the Chief Executive,
Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers of the
Council (which fall within the remit of the
Appointments Sub- Committee).
To determine policy on retirement before the
age of 60 and to make any decisions in
accordance with that policy other than
decisions in respect of the Chief Executive,
Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers of the
Council (which fall within the remit of the
Appointments Sub- Committee).
To determine a policy on flexible retirement
and to make any decisions in accordance with
that policy other than decisions in respect of
the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy
Chief Officers of the Council (which fall within
the remit of the Appointments SubCommittee).
To determine questions and disputes
pursuant to the Internal Disputes Resolution
Procedures.
To determine any other investment or
pension policies that may be required from
time to time so as to comply with
Government regulations and to make any
decisions in accordance with those policies
other than decisions in respect of the Chief
Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief
Officers of the Council (which fall within the
remit of the Appointments Sub-Committee).

c)

Illiquidity and volatility are shorter term risks
which offer potential sources of additional
compensation to
the long term investor. Moreover, it is
important to avoid being a forced seller in
short term market
setbacks.
d) Over the long term, equities are expected to
outperform other liquid assets, particularly
government bonds
and cash.

4 Asset allocation
a) Allocations to asset classes other than
equities and government bonds (e.g.,

5 Management Strategies
a) A well-balanced portfolio has an appropriate
mix of passive and active investments.
b) Passive, index-tracker style management
provides low cost exposure to equities and
bonds, and is especially attractive in efficient
markets.
c) Active management will typically incur higher
investment management fees but can
provide additional return. Fees should be
aligned to the interests of the Fund.
d) Active management performance should be
monitored over multi-year rolling cycles and
assessed to confirm that the original
investment process on appointment is being
delivered and that continued appointment is
appropriate.
e) Employing a range of management styles can
reduce the volatility of overall Fund returns
but can also reduce long term
outperformance.

2. Objective 7.2 (a): A requirement to invest fund
money in a wide range of instruments
2.1 Funding and investment risk is discussed in more
detail later in this ISS. However, at this stage it is
important to state that the Committee is aware of the
risks it runs within the Fund and the consequences of
these risks.
2.2 In order to control risk the Committee recognises
that the Fund should have an investment strategy that
has:
• Exposure to a diverse range of sources of
return, such as market, manager skill and
through the use of less liquid holdings.
• Diversity in the asset classes used.
• Diversity in the approaches to the
management of the underlying assets.
• Adaptability to be able to maintain liquidity
for the Fund.
2.3 This approach to diversification has seen the fund
dividing its assets into four broad categories global
equities, Fixed Income, Property and Alternatives. The
size of the assets invested in each category will vary
depending on investment conditions, the strategic
asset allocation can be found within appendix E.
However, it is important to note that each category is
itself diversified. A consequence of this approach is
that the Fund’s assets are invested in a wide range of
instruments.
2.4 The main risk the Committee are concerned with is
to ensure the long-term ability of the fund to meet
pension, and other benefit obligations, as they fall due
is met. As a result, the Committee place a high degree
of importance on ensuring the expected return on the
assets is sufficient to do so and does not have to rely
on a level of risk which the Committee considers
excessive. The Fund currently has a negative cash flow
position. The Committee is mindful that this position

115 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 441

3 Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) factors
a) Certain ESG factors are financially material
and may therefore influence the risk and
return characteristics of the Fund’s
investments and the likelihood that the
Fund’s objectives will be achieved.
b) Well governed companies that manage their
business in a responsible manner are less
vulnerable to downside risk and may
therefore produce higher returns over the
long term.
c) In order to improve corporate governance,
investment managers should exercise the
voting rights attached to the shares they own,
as well as engage with management of the
companies they invest in.
d) Environmental considerations should reflect a
growing recognition in the Committee of the
urgency required in its decision-making
processes
when
making
investment
allocations.
e) If an investment manager fails to adequately
consider ESG issues, the Committee is
prepared to disinvest assets from that
manager.

corporate bonds, private markets and
property) offer the Fund other forms of risk
premia
(e.g.,
additional
solvency
risk/illiquidity risk).
b) Diversification across asset classes and asset
types that have low correlation with each
other will tend to reduce the volatility of the
overall Fund return.
c) In general, allocations to bonds and
alternatives are made to achieve additional
diversification. As the funding level improves,
the Committee may look to certain lower risk
strategies to mitigate liability risks and thus
dampen the volatility of the Fund’s actuarial
funding level.

may change in future and keeps the liquidity within the
Fund monitored. At all times the Committee seeks to
ensure that their investment decisions, including those
involving diversification, are the best long-term
interest of Fund beneficiaries and seeks appropriate
advice from investment advisors.

Page 442

3. Objective 7.2(b): The authority’s assessment of the
suitability of particular investments and types of
investment
3.1 Suitability is a critical test for whether or not a
particular investment should be made. When assessing
the suitability of investments, the Committee takes
into account the following from its due diligence:
• Prospective return
• Risk
• Concentration
• Risk management qualities the asset has,
when the portfolio as a whole is
considered
• Geographic and currency exposures
• Whether the management of the asset
meets the Fund’s ESG criteria.
3.2 Each of the Fund’s investments has an individual
performance benchmark which their reported
performance is measured against.

3.3 The policy on asset allocation is compatible with
achieving the locally determined solvency target.

3.4 The Committee monitors the suitability of the
Fund’s assets on a quarterly basis. To that end they
monitor the investment returns and the volatility of
the individual investments together with the Fund level
returns and risk. This latter point being to ensure the
risks caused by interactions between investments
within the portfolio is properly understood. Where
comparative statistics are available the Committee will
also compare the Fund asset performance with those
of similar funds.
3.5 The Committee relies on external advice in relation
to the collation of the statistics for review.
4. Objective 7.2(c): The authority’s approach to risk,
including ways in which risks are to be measured and
managed
4.1 The Committee recognises that there are a number
of risks involved in the investment of the assets of the
Fund amongst which are the following:
4.2 Geopolitical and currency risks:
• are measured by the value of assets (the
concentration risk), in any one market
leading to the risk of an adverse influence
on investment values arising from
political intervention; and
• are managed by regular reviews of the
actual investments relative to policy and

through regular assessment of the levels
of diversification within the existing
policy.
4.3 Manager risk:
• is measured by the expected deviation of
the prospective risk and return as set out
in the manager(s) investment objectives,
relative to the investment policy; and
• is managed by monitoring the actual
deviation of returns relative to the
objective and factors inherent in the
manager(s) investment process.
4.4 Solvency and mismatching risk:
• are measured through a qualitative and
quantitative assessment of the expected
development of the liabilities relative to
the current and alternative investment
policies; and
• are managed by assessing the progress of
the actual growth of the liabilities relative
to the selected investment policy.
4.5 Liquidity risk:
• is measured by the level of cash flow
required over a specified period; and
• managed by assessing the level of cash
held in order to limit the impact of the
cash flow requirements on the
investment cash policy
4.6 Custodial risk:
• is measured by assessing the
creditworthiness of the global custodian
and the ability of the organisation to
settle trades on time and provide secure
safekeeping of the assets under custody.
4.7 Employer contributions are based upon financial
and demographic assumptions determined by the

116 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

2.5 To mitigate these risks the Committee regularly
reviews both the performance and expected returns
from the Fund’s investments to measure whether it
has met and is likely to meet in future its return
objective. In addition to keeping their investment
strategy and policy under regular review the
Committee will keep this ISS under review to ensure
that it reflects the approaches being taken.

3.3 The Committee monitors the suitability of the
Fund’s assets on a quarterly basis. To that end they
monitor the investment returns and the volatility of
the individual investments together with the Fund level
returns and risk. This latter point being to ensure the
risks caused by interactions between investments
within the portfolio is properly understood. Where
comparative statistics are available the Committee will
also compare the Fund asset performance with those
of similar funds.

Page 443

4.8 The investment management agreements
constrain the manager’s actions in areas of particular
risk and set out the respective responsibilities of both
the manager and the Fund.
4.9 The Committee are aware investment risk is only
one aspect of the risks facing the Fund. The other key
risk they are aware of is the ability of the Fund to meet
the future liabilities, support the investment risk (i.e.
the level of volatility of investment returns) and
underwrite actuarial risk, namely the volatility in the
actuarial funding position and the impact this has on
contributions.
4.10 The Committee are of the view that the
diversification of the Fund assets is sufficiently broad
to ensure the investment risk is low and will continue
to be low. When putting in place the investment
strategy the Committee carefully considered both the
individual asset risk characteristics and those of the
combined portfolio to ensure the risks were
appropriate. Estimating the likely volatility of future
investment returns is difficult as it relies on both
estimates of individual asset class returns and the
correlation between them. These can be based on
historic asset class information for some of the listed

asset classes the Fund uses. However, for other private
market and less liquid assets it is much more difficult.
The Committee is also mindful that correlations
change over time and at times of stress can be
significantly different from when they are in more
benign market conditions.
4.11 To help manage risk the Committee uses an
external investment adviser to monitor the risk. In
addition, when carrying out their investment strategy
review the Committee also had different investment
advisers’ asses the level of risk involved.
4.12 The Fund targets a long-term return 4.8% as
aligned with the latest triennial valuation from the
Actuary. The investment strategy is considered to have
a low degree of volatility.
4.13 When reviewing the investment strategy on a
quarterly basis the Committee considers advice from
their advisers and the need to take additional steps to
protect the value of the assets that may arise or
capitalise on opportunities if they are deemed suitable.
In addition to this the risk registers are updated on a
quarterly basis, appendix F.
4.14 At each review of the Investment Strategy
Statement the assumptions on risk and return and
their impact on asset allocation will be reviewed.
5 Objective 7.2(d): The authority’s approach to pooling
investments, including the use of collective investment
vehicles
5.1 The Fund recognises the Government’s
requirement for LGPS funds to pool their investments
and is committed to pursuing a pooling solution that
ensures maximum cost effectiveness for the Fund,
both in terms of return and management cost.

5.2 The Funds approach to pooling arrangements meet
the criteria set out in the Local government pension
scheme: investment reform criteria and guidance.
5.3 The Fund joined the London Collective Investment
Vehicle (LCIV) as part of the Government’s pooling
agenda. The London CIV was launched in December
2015 by the 32 local authorities within London and has
circa £23.6bn of assets under management, including
£11bn under direct management, with 19 funds
launched as of 2020/21.
5.4 The Fund has transitioned c. 50% of assets into the
London CIV as of 31 March 2021. Going forward the
Fund will look to transition further assets as and when
there are suitable investment strategies available on
the platform that meet the needs of the Fund.
5.5 The Fund is monitoring developments and the
opening of investment strategy fund openings on the
London CIV platform with a view to transitioning assets
across to the London CIV as soon as there are
appropriate sub-funds to meet the Fund’s investment
strategy requirements.
5.6 The Fund holds c. 23% of its assets within a passive
equity fund and intends to retain these outside of the
London CIV in accordance with government guidance
on the retention of life funds outside pools for the time
being. However, the Fund benefits from reduced
management fees, with Legal & General Investment
Management having reduced their fees to match those
available through the London CIV. The Fund agrees for
the London CIV to monitor the passive funds as part of
the broader pool.
5.7 The remaining c. 27% of Fund is held within
investment assets including property, bonds and
infrastructure, and these will remain outside of the
London CIV pool. The cost of exiting these strategies
early would have a negative financial impact on the

117 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

actuary. The main risks to the Fund are highlighted
within the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS). The risks
to the Fund are controlled in the following ways:
• The adoption and monitoring of asset
allocation benchmarks, ranges and
performance targets constrain the
investment managers from deviating
significantly from the intended approach
while permitting the flexibility for
managers to enhance returns
• The appointment of more than one
manager with different mandates and
approaches
provides
for
the
diversification of manager risk

Fund. These will be held as legacy assets until such time
as they mature and proceeds re-invest through the
pool assuming it has appropriate strategies available or
until the Fund changes asset allocation and makes a
decision to disinvest.
5.8 The table below details the investment funds held
by the Pension Fund and indicates whether this
mandate is available on the LCIV platform and if the
funds have been transferred.
City of Westminster Fund

Transferred
to LCIV

Yes

Yes

Global: Baillie Gifford

Yes

Yes

Global: Longview

Yes

No

Global: Morgan Stanley

Yes

Yes

Listed Equities
Passive Equities: LGIM

Page 444

Cash
At Custody

No

Fixed Income
Multi Asset Credit: CQS

Yes

Global Bonds: Insight

No

Infrastructure
Infrastructure: Pantheon

No

Renewable Infrastructure:
Quinbrook

No

Renewable Infrastructure:
Macquarie

No

Property
Property: Aberdeen
Standard

No

Yes

5.10 At each review of the investment strategy, which
will happen at least every three years, the investment
of the above assets will be actively considered by the
City of Westminster Pension Fund, and in particular
whether a collective investment option is appropriate.
5.11 The London CIV is an FCA authorised company
established by the London Local Authorities (LLAs) to
provide a collaborative vehicle for pooling LGPS
pension fund assets. London CIV shareholders
approved a new Corporate Governance and Controls
framework at the July 2018 Annual General Meeting
(AGM). This framework details the governance
arrangements for approving the London CIV’s annual
budget, business plan and objectives, governance
structures and appointments, shareholder agreement
and transparency of information and reporting. It was
agreed to review the framework after one year of
operation which provides an opportunity to assess
how it can be improved further, in particular to
improve its effectiveness in achieving collaboration
and an effective working relation between London CIV
and its 32 shareholders collectively.
5.12 The London CIV Company Board comprises of an
independent Chairman, 7 non-executive Directors
(NEDs), including 2 nominated by the LLAs, 3 executive
Directors and the LCIV Treasurer. The Board has a duty
to act in the best interests of the shareholders and has
collective responsibility for:

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Strategy and Oversight
Budget &forward plan
Reviews performance
Major contracts and significant
decisions including in relation to
funds
Financial reporting & controls
Compliance, risk and internal
controls
Key policies
Governance

5.13 The London CIV has four Committees, responsible
for investment oversight, audit and risk, remuneration
and nominations and day to day operations of the
company. These comprise of executive and nonexecutive members.
The role of the Investment Oversight Committee is to:
• determine, maintain and monitor the
Company’s
investment
strategy,
investment
performance
and
performance risks of the portfolios in
accordance with the Company strategy
and business plan.
The responsibilities of the Compliance, Audit & Risk
Committee include:
• oversee compliance obligations;
• risk management framework; and
• integrity of financial statements and
reporting
The responsibilities of the Remuneration &
Nomination Committee include:
• remuneration policy;
• remuneration of key staff; and
• nominations and succession planning of
key staff and Board members.

118 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Available
on the
LCIV

5.9 The Pension Fund Committee is aware that certain
assets held within the Fund have limited liquidity and
moving them would come at a cost. Whilst it is the
expectation to make use of the London CIV for the
management of the majority of the Fund assets in the
longer term, the Committee recognises that
transitioning from the current structure to the London
CIV will be a protracted exercise spread over a number
of years to ensure unnecessary costs are not incurred.

5.14 The London CIV Shareholder Committee is
responsible for scrutinising the actions of the Board,
reporting and transparency, consultation on the
strategy and business plan, matters reserved to
shareholders, responsible investment and emerging
issues. The Committee meets on a quarterly basis and
comprises of 12 members including Councillors and
Treasurers from the LLAs.

5.15 The London CIV hosts an AGM on a semi-annual
basis, to which all 32 members are invited. This allows
members the opportunity to exercise shareholder
power, approve the annual budget and hold the Board
to account.
5.16 External independent oversight and assurance of
the pool company is provided by the FCA, depositary,
external auditors and the MHCLG.

5.17 More information on the London CIV and its
operation is included in Appendix C of this statement.
6 Objective 7.2(e): How social, environmental or
corporate governance considerations are taken into
account in the selection, non-selection, retention and
realisation of investments
6.1 A review of the Fund’s carbon exposure was
undertaken by TruCost and reported to Committee in
September 2019, whereby the Fund’s equity and
property portfolio carbon footprints were mapped.
This exercise will be undertaken on an annual basis
going forward. Following this, a responsible
investment (RI) policy and ESG policy was drafted for
the Fund to be adopted by the Committee for 2020/21
onwards. The RI Policy outlines the approach to the
management of Environmental, Social and Governance
(ESG) issues within the investment portfolio and can be
fund within appendix D.
The Present ESG Policy
Introduction
6.2 The City of Westminster (WCC) Pension Fund (the
Pension Fund) is committed to being a responsible
investor and a long-term steward of the assets in which
it invests. The Fund has a fiduciary duty to act in the
best interests of its beneficiaries and this extends to
making a positive contribution to the long-term
sustainability of the global environment.
6.3 The Pension Fund recognises that the neglect of
corporate social responsibility and poor attention paid
to environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues
may lead to poor or reduced shareholder returns. This
presents a significant responsibility for the Pension
Fund Committee (the Committee). The ESG approach
has become integral to the Fund’s overall investment
strategy.

6.4 The Fund maintains a policy of non-interference
with the day-to-day decision making of the investment
managers. The Committee believes that this is the
most efficient approach whilst ensuring the
implementation of policy by each manager is
consistent with current best practice and the
appropriate disclosure and reporting of actions.
6.5 There are a wide range of ESG issues, with none
greater currently than climate change and carbon
reduction. The Pension Fund recognises climate
change as the biggest threat to global sustainability
alongside its administering authority employer,
Westminster City Council, which has committed itself
to achieving carbon neutrality by 2030.
6.6 The Pension Fund Committee hold a fiduciary duty
to act in the members’ best interests and ensure that
their pension benefits are fully honoured in
retirement. That is why, as well as targeting investment
returns that match the pension liabilities, the
Committee is committed to managing the investment
risks: the risks that pose a substantial threat to LGPS
members’ long-term future.
6.7 The Pension Fund’s revised investment strategy
should be governed by the following investment
principles, which are set out below
6.8 Investment Principles
•

•

The Pension Fund as a long-term
investor, is committed to investing to
build a better future through the
integration of ESG issues at all stages of
the investment decision-making process.
Through active ownership, the Pension
Fund engages with the investment
community to help ensure a sustainable
future for all its stakeholders. This
includes demanding best practice

119 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 445

The Executive Directors acting collectively as the
Executive Committee have a number of specific
delegated responsibilities for the day-to-day
operations of the company, supported by the wider
executive leadership team. The role of the Executive
Committee in summary is to:
• execute
board-approved
strategic
objectives and business plan in line with
risk appetite and financial limits;
• identify, discuss, and formulate effective
solutions to address issues and
opportunities facing the Company;
• ensure the day-to-day operations meet
relevant legal requirements and
compliance obligations of the Company;
and
• ensure the Board & Board Committee
members receive timely, accurate and
transparent management information &
reporting to fulfil their duties &
responsibilities.

amongst its investment managers and
challenging their investment outcomes
where appropriate.
•

Page 446

The Pension Fund wants to gain the
confidence of members in the
governance process and the way in which
in the Fund is invested on their behalf. It
is important for the Pension Fund to be
completely transparent and accountable
to members and stakeholders.

6.9 Policy Implementation: investing to build a better
future
The Pension Fund will continue to assess investment
opportunities that have a positive impact on society as
whole. These include but are not limited to,
investments in fixed income (green bonds), property,
low carbon assets, renewables and social impact
opportunities. The Fund currently has a 6% allocation
to renewable infrastructure, where the asset managers
invest solely within renewables including solar, wind,
transmission and storage. Alongside this, the Fund has
transitioned c. £690m in equities into the LCIV Global
Sustain Fund and LGIM Future World Fund. The Global
Sustain Fund seeks to provide a concentrated highquality global portfolio of companies, however,
excludes tobacco, alcohol, adult entertainment,
gambling, civilian weapons, fossil fuels, and gas or

The Pension Fund views engagement with companies
as an essential activity and encourages companies to
take position action towards reversing climate change.
The Westminster Pension Fund is a responsible owner
of companies and cannot exert that positive influence
if it has completely divested from carbon intensive
producing companies. The Pension Fund will continue
to encourage positive change whilst officers will
continue to engage with the investment managers on
an ongoing basis to monitor overall investment
performance, including carbon and other ESG
considerations.
6.10 Policy Implementation: engaging with investment
community
Institutional investors have the power to influence and
change behaviour globally. The WCC Pension Fund
believes that there is significant value in being able to
actively engage with the companies we invest in and
be part of the transition to a global, low carbon
economy.
The Fund expects managers to integrate ESG factors
into investment analysis and decision making.
Monitoring these effectively can assist with resolving
issues at early stages through effective engagement
with companies and board members. The Fund
expects asset managers where possible to engage and
collaborate with other institutional investors, as
permitted by relevant legal codes to ensure the
greatest impact.
The measurement of ESG performance is still
developing and benefitting from significant
improvements. There are several performance

benchmarks and disclosure frameworks that exist to
measure the different aspects of available ESG data
which include carbon emissions and a variety of social
impact scores.
•

The Pension Fund carries out a carbon
footprint exercise on its separate
portfolios annually via a specialist firm.
The outcome of this measurement
exercise will be instrumental in ensuring
that the fund is able to meet its
decarbonisation goals through effective
asset allocation.

•

The Pension Fund will continue to work
closely with its investment managers to
measure the carbon impact of its
investments. This will involve developing
internal metrics and agreed targets
which will be reviewed on a regular basis.

Increasingly, there is growing interest in the
investment community to develop investment
strategies that focus on sustainable investments. As
well as the wider investment community, the Pension
Fund will support and contribute to the work carried
out by the London CIV in the development of
sustainable investments.
6.11 Policy Implementation: collaboration with other
stakeholders
The introduction of pooling across the Local
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) will impact how
the Pension Fund’s responsible investment policy is
implemented. The WCC fund is committed to playing a
key role as part of the LGPS London CIV pool, with circa
70% of assets pooled.
As asset owners, the Pension Fund, in line with its
investment strategy, is responsible for deciding how its

120 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

•

The Pension Fund recognises that
significant value can be achieved through
collaboration with other stakeholders.
The Pension Fund will work closely with
its LGPS pool company (the London CIV),
other LGPS funds and member groups
such as the Local Authority Pension Fund
Forum (LAPFF) to ensure corporate
interests are aligned with the Pension
Fund’s values.

electrical utilities. The LGIM Future World Fund tracks
the L&G ESG Global Markets Index, whereby an
Environmental, Social and Governance screening of
companies takes place to remove those companies
which do not meet the required ESG criteria.

Page 447

The Pension Fund actively contributes to the
engagement efforts of pressure groups, such as the
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and
requires investment managers to vote in accordance
with the LAPPF’s governance policies. In exceptional
cases, investment managers will be required to explain
their reason for not doing so, preferably in advance of
the AGM. This will be monitored on a regular basis.
6.12 Policy Implementation: gaining our members
confidence
WCC’s LGPS members have spent at least part of their
careers helping to deliver key services to their
community. It is important for them to understand
how their Pension Fund is managed and the
contribution its investments make in securing a
sustainable future. Members are encouraged to take
an active interest in the governance processes of their
Pension Fund and their views are represented within
the work of the Local Pension Board.
The Pension Fund will aim to provide members with a
variety of information which allows them to easily

understand the types of investments within the
portfolio.
The Pension Fund reports on its overall performance
annually through an annual report which is readily
accessible to members on the fund’s website.
Data within the annual report will include investment
performance, an assessment of the key performance
indicators (KPIs) of the Fund’s administrative function
and the Fund’s assessment of its many risks.
The Pension Fund hosts an annual general meeting
(AGM), following the end of the financial year, which
all members and key stakeholders are invited to
attend. This includes updates on the administration
service, investment performance from our investment
advisor, as well as a market update from an asset
manager and a presentation from our actuary.
7 Objective 7.2(f): The exercise of rights (including
voting rights) attaching to investments
7.1 The Committee has delegated the Fund’s voting
rights to the investment managers, who are required,
where practical, to make considered use of voting in
the interests of the Fund. The Committee expects the
investment managers to vote in the best interests of
the Fund. In addition, the Fund expects its investment
managers to work collaboratively with others if this will
lead to greater influence and deliver improved
outcomes for shareholders and more broadly.
7.2 The Fund through its participation in the London
CIV will work closely with other LGPS Funds in London
to enhance the level of engagement both with external
managers and the underlying companies in which
invests.
7.3 In addition the Fund:
• Is a member of the Pension and Lifetime
Savings Association (PLSA) and the Local

•

Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and in
this way joins with other investors to magnify
its voice and maximise the influence of
investors as asset owners; and
Joins wider lobbying activities where
appropriate opportunities arise.

7.4 Ongoing voting and engagement is covered with
the Funds Responsible Investment Policy (Appendix D).
7.5 The Committee expects any directly appointed
asset managers and the pool company (London CIV) to
comply with the Stewardship Code (2020) and this is
monitored on an annual basis. See appendix B and C
for further details on the Funds approach to
stewardship.
8 Feedback on this statement
Any feedback on this Investment Strategy Statement is
welcomed. If you have any comments or wish to
discuss any issues, then please contact:
Tri-Borough Treasury and Pensions Team
PensionFund@westminster.gov.uk
Westminster City Council
16th Floor City Hall
Tri-Borough Treasury and Pensions Team
64 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 6QP

121 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

assets are invested through its strategic asset
allocation. In addition to engaging with the investment
community, the Pension Fund will continue to work
closely with other UK and London LGPS funds to find
common solutions for ESG issues.
As more funds are onboarded into the London CIV, the
Pension Fund expects to further increase its
investment in the pool. This is expected to create
economies of scale and increased synergies for the
Pension Fund through a significant reduction in
management fees and greater influence when
engaging with external stakeholders. The London CIV
will manage the Pension Fund’s investments in line
with the Fund’s strategic objectives and those of the
other London LGPS Funds.

Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix A
Compliance with CIPFA Pensions Panel Principles for
investment decision making in the local government
pension scheme in United Kingdom

Page 448

The Fund aims to comply with all of the Myners’
Principles, recognising it is in all parties’ interests if the
Fund operates to standards of investment decisionmaking and governance identified as best practice. It is
also recognised as important to demonstrate how the
Fund meets such principles and best practice.
The Secretary of State has previously highlighted the
principle contained in Roberts v. Hopwood whose
administering bodies exercise their duties and powers
under regulations governing the investment and
management of Funds:

“A body charged with the administration for definite
purposes of funds contributed in whole or in part by
persons other than members of that body owes, in my
view, a duty to those latter persons to conduct that
administration in a fairly business-like manner with
reasonable care, skill and caution, and with a due and
alert regard to the interest of those contributors who
are not members of the body. Towards these latter
persons the body stands somewhat in the position of
trustees or managers of others”.

Business plans are presented to the Committee
annually.

Principle 1 - Effective decision-making

Several of the Committee members have extensive
experience of dealing with Investment matters and
training is made available to new Committee members.

Administrating authorities should ensure that:

Principle 2 - Clear objectives

•

•

Decisions are taken by persons or
organisations with the skills, knowledge,
advice and resources necessary to make them
effectively and monitor their implementation;
and
Those persons or organizations have
sufficient expertise to be able to evaluate and
challenge the advice they receive and manage
conflicts of interest.

Full Compliance
The Council has delegated the management and
administration of the Fund to the Committee, which
meets at least quarterly. The responsibilities of the
Committee are described in paragraph 1.4 of the ISS.
The Committee is made up of elected members of the
Council who each have voting rights.
The Committee obtains and considers advice from and
is supported by the Executive Director of Finance and
Resources, Tri-Borough Director of Treasury &
Pensions, and as necessary from the Fund’s appointed
actuary, investment managers and advisors.
The Committee has delegated the management of the
Fund’s investments to professional investment
managers, appointed in accordance with the scheme’s
regulations, whose activities are specified in detailed
investment management agreements and regularly
monitored.

An overall investment objective(s) should be set for the
Fund that takes account of the pension liabilities, the
potential impact on local tax payers, the strength of
the covenant for non-local authority employers, and
the attitude to risk of both the administering authority
and scheme employers, and these should be clearly
communicated to advisors and investment managers.
Full Compliance
The aims and objectives of the Fund are set out within
the FSS and within the ISS. The main fund objective is
to meet the cost of pension liabilities and to enable
employer contribution rates to be kept as nearly
constant as possible at reasonable cost to the
taxpayers and admitted bodies.
The investment strategy has been set with the
objective of controlling the risk that the assets will not
be sufficient to meet the liabilities of the Fund while
achieving a good return on investment (see paragraphs
4 and 5 above). The approach taken reflects the Fund’s
liabilities and was decided upon without reference to
any other funds. The Fund’s performance is measured
against the investment objective on a quarterly basis.
The Fund’s strategy is regularly reviewed.
Principle 3 – Risk and liabilities
In setting and reviewing their investment strategy,
administrating authorities should take account of the
form and structure of liabilities. These include the
implications for local taxpayers, the strength of the

122 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Decision Making
Regulation 12(3) of The Local Government Pension
Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2009 requires an administering authority
to report on its compliance with the six Myners’
Principles, in accordance with guidance given by the
Secretary of State. The guidance for the Local
Government Pension Scheme is set out in the CIPFA
publication “Investment Decision Making and
Disclosure in the Local Government Pension Scheme in
the United Kingdom 2012’,

The Myners’ Principles are seen as supporting this
approach. The principles, together with the Fund’s
position on compliance, are set out below:

covenant for participating employers, the risk of their
default and longevity risk.
Full Compliance
The Committee has, in conjunction with its advisers,
agreed an investment strategy that is related to the
Fund’s liabilities. An actuarial valuation of the Fund
takes place every three years, with the most recent
triennial valuation taking place in 2019. The
investment strategy is designed to give diversification
and specialisation and achieve optimum return against
acceptable risk.

Principle 4 – Performance Assessment

Page 449

Arrangements should be in place for the formal
measurement of performance of the investments,
investment managers and advisors. Administering
authorities should also periodically make a formal
assessment of their own effectiveness as a decisionmaking body and report on this to scheme members
Full Compliance
The IAC has appointed investment managers with clear
index strategic benchmarks (see paragraph 4.2 above)
within an overall Investment objective which place
maximum accountability for performance against that
benchmark on the manager.
The managers are monitored at quarterly intervals
against their agreed benchmarks, and independent
detailed monitoring of the Fund’s performance is
carried out by Deloitte, the Fund’s advisor and by
Northern Trust, the Fund’s custodian who provide the
performance figures. Moreover, portfolio risk is
measured on quarterly basis and the risk/return

The actuary is assessed on the quality and consistency
of the actuarial advice received. Both the advisor and
the actuary have fixed term contracts which when
expired are tendered for under the OJEU procedures.
The Committee monitors the investment decisions it
has taken, including the effectiveness of these
decisions. In addition, the Committee receives
quarterly reports as to how the Fund has performed
against their investment objective.
In order to comply with the CMA investment
consultancy and Fiduciary Management Market
Investigation Order 2019, The Fund’s investment
advisors are measured annually against an agreed set
of criteria which was agreed by Committee at the 23
October 2019 meeting.
Principle 5 – Responsible Ownership
Administering authorities should:
• Adopt, or ensure their investment managers
adopt, the Institutional Shareholders
Committee Statement of Principles on the
responsibilities of shareholders and agents.
• Include a statement of their policy on
responsible ownership in the statement of
investment principles.
• Report periodically to scheme members on
the discharge of such responsibilities.
Full Compliance
The Fund is committed to making full use of its
shareholder rights. The approach used is outlined in
paragraph 8 of the ISS and in the Fund’s Responsible
Investment (RI) Policy (Appendix D). Authority has

been delegated to the investment managers to
exercise voting rights on behalf of the Fund. The
investment managers are required to report how they
have voted in their quarterly reports.
The Fund believes in using its influence as a
shareholder to promote corporate social responsibility
and high standards of corporate governance in the
companies in which it invests – the Fund’s approach to
this is outlined in paragraph 7 of the ISS and in the
Fund’s RI Policy (Appendix D).
Principle 6 – Transparency and reporting
Administering authorities should:
• Act in a transparent manner, communicating
with stakeholders on issues relating to their
management of investments, its governance
and risks, including performance against
stated objectives.
• Provide regular communications to scheme
members in the form they consider most
appropriate.
Full Compliance
Links to the Governance Compliance Statement, the
ISS, the FSS, and the Communications Statement are all
included in the Pensions Fund Annual Report which is
published and is accessible to stakeholders of the Fund
on the Council’s web site, and a website developed
specifically for the Fund.
All Committee meetings are open to members of the
public and agendas and minutes are published on the
Council’s website and internal intranet.

123 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

The asset allocation of the Fund is set to maximise the
potential to close the funding deficit over future years.
The current asset allocation is outlined in appendix E.

implications of different strategic options are fully
evaluated.
The advisor is assessed on the appropriateness of asset
allocation recommendations and the quality of advice
given.

Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix B
Compliance with the Stewardship Code
The Stewardship Code is a set of principles or
guidelines released in 2010 and updated in 2020 by the
Financial Reporting Council (FRC) directed at
institutional investors who hold voting rights in United
Kingdom companies. Its principal aim is to make
shareholders, who manage other people's money, be
active and engage in corporate governance in the
interests of their beneficiaries.
124 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 450

The Code applies to pension funds and adopts the
same "comply or explain" approach used in the UK
Corporate Governance Code. This means that it does
not require compliance with principles but if fund
managers and institutional investors do not comply
with any of the principles set out, they must explain
why they have not done so. The Committee has not
formally adopted the latest version of the Stewardship
code. However, it expects any directly appointed fund
managers and the pool company (London CIV) to
comply and this is monitored on an annual basis.

Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix C
Information on London CIV
Stewardship Statement is attached – Other London
CIV details are included in ISS main Statement

Page 451

The London LGPS CIV Limited (“London CIV”) is fully
authorised by the FCA as an Alternative Investment
fund manager (AIFM) with permission to operate a UK
based Authorised Contractual Scheme fund (ACS
Fund). The London CIV in the management of its
investments has appointed a number of external
investment managers. We therefore see our role as
setting the tone for the effective delivery of
stewardship managers on our behalf and on behalf of
our investing Funds. We are clear that we retain
responsibility for this being done properly and fully in
the interests of our own shareholders.
This Statement sets out how the London CIV
implements the seven principles of the Code.
Principle 1
Institutional investors should publicly disclose their
policy on how they will discharge their stewardship
responsibilities.
The London CIV on behalf of its London Local Authority
Shareholders recognises its position as an investor on
their behalf with ultimate responsibility to members
and beneficiaries and recognises that effective
stewardship can help protect and enhance the long-

As we do not invest directly in companies, we hold our
fund managers accountable for the delivery of
stewardship on our behalf in terms of day-to-day
implementation of its stewardship activity. We require
the appointed fund management teams to be
responsible for holding to account the management
and boards of companies in which they invest. The
London CIV believes that this approach is compatible
with its stewardship responsibilities as it is the most
effective and efficient manner in which it can promote
and carry out stewardship activities in respect of its
investments and ensure the widest reach of these
activities given the London CIV’s investment
arrangements.
A key related area where stewardship is integrated into
the wider process is in the selection and monitoring of
external investment managers. When considering the
appointment of external investment managers, the
consideration of Environmental Social and Governance
(ESG) integration and stewardship activity of each
investment manager is part of the selection process.
The London CIV expects its equity investment
managers to adhere to the principles within the UK
Stewardship Code. This position is communicated to
the Fund’s investment managers and forms the basis
of the approach to monitoring the investment
managers as outlined in this document. Whilst the
Stewardship Code is primarily directed at UK equity
investments, the London CIV encourages its
investment managers to apply the principles of the
Code to overseas equity holdings where possible.
The primary mechanisms for the application of
effective stewardship for the London CIV are exercise
of voting rights and engagement with investee
companies. The London CIV expects its external equity

investment managers that invest directly in
companies, to pursue both these mechanisms. We
receive quarterly reporting from managers which
includes their stewardship and voting activities where
appropriate. We seek consistently to ensure that these
stewardship activities are carried out actively and
effectively in the furtherance of good long-term
investment returns
We expect all of the London CIV’s equity managers to
be signatories to the Code and have publicly disclosed
their policy via their Statements on how they will
discharge their stewardship responsibilities. We expect
managers that invest in companies directly to
discharge their responsibilities by:
•

•

having extensive dialogue with the company’s
management throughout the year on a range
of topics such as governance, financial
performance and strategy; and
voting, either directly or via the services of
voting agencies.

Principle 2
Institutional investors should have a robust policy on
managing conflicts of interest in relation to
stewardship which should be publicly disclosed.
Day-to-day implementation of the Fund’s stewardship
activity has been delegated to external investment
managers. The London CIV expects its investment
managers to document their approach to stewardship,
which should include how they manage any conflicts of
interest that arise to ensure that the interests of the
London CIV’s Investors are prioritised.
The London CIV will review annually the conflicts of
interest policy of its managers and how any conflicts
have been managed during the year. The London CIV
has policies in place to manage conflicts of interest that
may arise for the Board and its officers when making

125 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

The London Collective Investment Vehicle (CIV) was
formed as a voluntary collaborative venture by the
London Local Authorities in 2014 to invest the assets of
London Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).
The London CIV and its London Local Authority
investors recognise the importance of being long term
stewards of capital and in so doing supports the UK
Stewardship Code, which it recognises as best practice.

term value of its investments to the ultimate benefit of
all stakeholders in the LGPS.

decisions on its behalf. The Conflicts of Interest policy
is reviewed by the London CIV board on a regular basis.
A Conflicts of Interest Register is maintained.
Shareholders of the London CIV attending the Pensions
Sectoral Joint Committee are required to declare any
conflicts of interest at the start of any meeting.
Principle 3
Institutional investors should monitor their investee
companies.

The London CIV requires its external investment
managers to monitor investee companies. Issues to be
monitored are likely to vary, however typically these
might include a company’s corporate strategy,
financial performance, risk (including those from
environmental and social factors), capital structure,
leadership team and corporate governance. The
London CIV encourages its investment managers to
satisfy themselves that investee companies adhere to
the spirit of the UK Corporate Governance Code.
The London CIV reviews investment managers in this
area as part of their regular meetings. For equity
investment managers this includes consideration of:
•
•
•
•

who has overall responsibility for ESG risk
analysis and integration;
resources and experience of the team;
at what stages of the process ESG risks are
considered;
exposures to environmental, social or
governance risk within the portfolio; and

the investment manager’s willingness to
become an insider and, if so, whether the
manager has a policy setting out the
mechanisms through which this is done.

Principle 4
Institutional investors should establish clear
guidelines on when and how they will escalate their
stewardship activities.
The London CIV recognises that constructive
engagement with company management can help
protect and enhance shareholder value. Typically, the
London CIV expects its investment managers to
intervene with investee companies when they view
that there are material risks or issues that are not
currently being adequately addressed.
The London CIV reviews investment managers in this
area as part of their regular meeting. For equity
investment managers that invest directly in
Companies, this includes consideration of:
• whether voting activity has led to any changes
in company practice;
• whether the manager’s policy specifies when
and how they will escalate engagement
activities;
• overall engagement statistics (volume and
areas of focus);
• example of most intensive engagement
activity discussed as part of the manager’s
annual review meeting; and
• the estimated performance impact of
engagement on the strategy in question.
• Given the range of fund managers and Fund
investments, the London CIV carries out its
monitoring at the manager level to identify:
• trends to ensure progress is being made in
stewardship activities;
• specific managers where progress or the rate
of progress is not adequate; and
• appropriate specific actions necessary.

Principle 5
Institutional investors should be willing to act
collectively with other investors where appropriate.
As day-to-day management of the Fund’s assets has
been delegated to external investment managers, the
London CIV expects its investment managers to get
involved in collective engagement where this is an
efficient means to protect and enhance long-term
shareholder value.
In addition, the London CIV will work collectively with
other investors including other LGPS Asset pools and
the Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) to
enhance the impact of their engagement activities
Principle 6
Institutional investors should have a clear policy on
voting and disclosure of voting activity.
The London CIV has delegated its voting rights to the
Fund’s investment managers and requires them to
vote, except where it is impractical to do so. The
London CIV also monitors the voting alerts of the LAPFF
and where these are issued, requires the investment
managers to take account of these alerts as far as
practical to do so. Where the investment manager
does not vote in line with the LAPFF voting alerts, the
London CIV will require detailed justification for noncompliance.
The London CIV reviews and monitors the voting
policies and activities of its investment managers, this
includes consideration of:
• the manager’s voting policy and, what areas
are covered;
• the level of voting activity
• whether the investment manager typically
informs companies of their rationale when
voting against or abstaining (and whether this
is typically in advance of the vote or not);

126 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 452

We recognise that active and ongoing monitoring of
companies is the foundation of good stewardship,
reminding companies in which we invest that they
have obligations to their shareholders to deliver
returns over the appropriate long-term investment
timeframe and, consistent with this, to manage any
related environmental and social risks responsibly.

•

•

•

if securities lending takes place within a
pooled fund for the strategy, whether the
stock is recalled for all key votes for all stocks
held in the portfolio; and
whether a third-party proxy voting service
provider is used and, if so, how.

Principle 7
Institutional investors should report periodically on
their stewardship and voting activities.

Page 453

In addition, the London CIV receives reviews and
monitors quarterly the voting and stewardship
engagement activities of its investment managers. The
London CIV reports quarterly to its investors and will
include information on voting and engagement
activities from investment managers where
appropriate including updates as required on updated
stewardship and voting policies of managers. The
London CIV also requires its managers to provide it
with annual assurances on internal controls and
compliance through recognised framework such as the
AAF01/06 or equivalent.

127 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

The London CIV encourages transparency from its
investment managers and expects its managers to
report publicly on their voting in an appropriate
manner.

Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix D

its investment managers. To that extent, the
Pension Fund maintains a policy of noninterference with the day-to-day decisionmaking processes of the investment
managers. However, as part of its investment
manager appointment process, the Pension
Fund Committee assesses the investment
managers’ abilities to integrate ESG factors
into their investment selection processes.

administering
authority
employer,
Westminster City Council, with the Council
having recently committed itself to achieving
carbon neutrality by the year 2030.

Responsible Investment Policy
Introduction
1.1.

1.2.

Failure to appropriately manage ESG factors is
considered to be a key risk for the Pension
Fund as this can have an adverse impact on
the Fund’s overall investment performance,
which ultimately affects the scheme
members, employers and local council tax
payers.

1.3.

The United Nations has established 17
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) as a
blueprint to achieving a better and more
sustainable future for all. These goals aim to
address the challenges of tackling climate
change, supporting industry, innovation and
infrastructure, and investing in companies
that are focused on playing a key role in
building that sustainable future.

1.4.

The Pension Fund acknowledges that these
goals form a vital part of acting as a
responsible
investor
alongside
its

1.5.

The Pension Fund maintains a policy of
engagement with all its stakeholders,
including those operating in the investment
industry. It is broadly recognised that, in the
foreseeable future, the global economy will
transition from its reliance on fossil fuels to
the widespread adoption of renewable
energy as its main source. The impact of this
transition on the sustainability of investment
returns will be continually assessed by
officers, advisors and investment managers.

1.6.

The Pension Fund Committee is committed to
playing an active role in the transition to a
sustainable
economic
and
societal
environment. To that extent, the Pension
Fund will continue to seek investments that
match its pensions liability profile, whilst
having a positive impact on overall society.
Greater impact can be achieved through
active ownership and lobbying for global
companies to change and utilise their
resources sustainably.

1.7.

With these noble objectives at the forefront,
it is important to note that the Pension Fund
Committee has a vital, fiduciary duty to act in
the best interests of the LGPS beneficiaries to
ensure that their pension benefits are
honoured in retirement.
Policy Implementation: Selection Process

1.8.

The Pension Fund Committee delegates the
individual investment selection decisions to

1.9.

This includes, but is not limited to:
a) evidence of the existence of a
Responsible Investment policy;
b) evidence of ESG integration in the
investment process;
c) evidence of sign-up to the relevant
responsible investment frameworks
such as the United Nations Principles
for Responsible Investment (PRI);
d) evidence of compliance with the
Stewardship Code as published by
the Financial Reporting Council
(FRC);
e) a track record of actively engaging
with
global
companies
and
stakeholders to influence best
practice;
f) an ability to appropriately disclose,
measure and report on the overall
impact of ESG decisions made.

1.10.

As part of its investment selection process,
the Pension Fund Committee will obtain
proper advice from the Fund’s internal and
external advisors with the requisite
knowledge and skills. Our investment advisor
will assess ESG considerations as part of its
due diligence process and assess investment
managers against the following criteria:

128 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 454

Responsible Investment is defined by the
United Nation’s ‘Principles for Responsible
Investment’ document as an approach to
investing that aims to incorporate
environmental, social and governance (ESG)
factors into investment decisions, to better
manage risk and to generate sustainable, long
term returns. The Pension Fund’s approach to
responsible investment is aligned with the
Fund’s investment beliefs and recognises ESG
factors as central themes in measuring the
sustainability and impact of its investments.

a)

Investment managers are expected to follow
best practice and use their influence as major
institutional investors and long-term stewards
of capital to promote best practice in the

basis to monitor overall investment
performance, including ESG considerations.
This can be implemented in several forms
which include, but are not limited to:

companies/projects in which they invest.
Investee companies will be expected to
comply with all applicable laws and
regulations in their respective markets as a
minimum.

a.
Policy Implementation: Ongoing Engagement
and Voting
1.12.

1.13.

1.14.

Whilst it is still quite difficult to quantify the
impact of the less tangible non-financial
factors on the economic performance of an
organisation, this is an area that continues to
see significant improvement in the
measurement
of
benchmarking
and
organisational progress. Several benchmarks
and disclosure frameworks exist to measure
the different aspects of available ESG data
which include carbon emissions, diversity on
company boards and social impact. It is
apparent that poor scoring on these ESG
factors can have an adverse impact on an
organisation’s financial performance. It is
therefore important for the appointed
investment managers to effectively assess the
impact such factors may have on the
underlying investment performance.
The Pension Fund views active engagement as
an essential activity in ensuring long-term
value and encourages investment managers
to consider assessing a range of factors, such
as the company’s historical financial
performance, governance structures, risk
management approach, the degree to which
strategic objectives have been met and
environmental, governance and social issues.
Pension Fund officers will continue to engage
with the investment managers on an ongoing

b.

c.

d.

e.

Regular meetings with investment
managers to assess investment
performance and the progress made
towards achieving ESG targets;
reviewing reports issued by
investment
managers
and
challenging performance where
appropriate;
working with investment managers
to establish appropriate ESG
reporting and disclosures in line with
the Pension Fund’s objectives;
contributing to various working
groups that seek to positively
influence the reporting of industry
standards on ESG metrics;
actively contributing to the efforts of
engagement groups such as the
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum
(LAPFF), of which the fund is a
member (currently 83 LGPS member
funds).

1.15.

The Pension Fund holds units in pooled equity
funds, where our asset managers will have the
opportunity to vote at company meetings on
our behalf. Engagement with companies can
have a direct impact on voting choices and
fund manager voting and engagement reports
are reviewed on a regular basis.

1.16.

The Fund will continue to collaborate with the
London CIV on maintaining a shared voting
policy for the equity managers on the London

129 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 455
1.11.

for active managers, the advisor
will assess how ESG issues are
integrated into investment
selection, divestment and
retention decisions;
b) for passive managers, the
investment advisor is aware of
the nature of the index
construction in the investment
selection process places and the
proximity of ESG issues in
comparison with an active
portfolio, but still hold ESG
issues in its responsible
investment policy as the passive
manager actively engages with
global
companies
and
stakeholders
where
appropriate;
c) consideration
of
whether
managers are making most
effective use of voting rights
and if votes are exercised in a
manner consistent with ESG
considerations specified by the
manager;
d) how significantly managers
value ESG issues and whether
any specialist teams and
resources are dedicated to this
area; and
e) how ESG risk assessment is
integrated into the portfolio
investment selection process
and the value and effectiveness
of these assessments.

CIV platform and actively seek to align these
policies with manager insights. Lobbying with
other London CIV clients will give the Pension
Fund greater control and impact over our
voting choices and a centralised process will
ensure our voting remains consistent and has
the greatest impact.
1.17.

In preparing and reviewing its Investment
Strategy Statement, the Pension Fund will
consult with interested stakeholders
including, but not limited to:
a.
b.
c.
d.

Pension Fund employers;
Local Pension Board;
advisors/consultants to the fund;
investment managers.

Policy Implementation: Training
1.19.

The Pension Fund Committee and the Fund’s
officers will receive regular training on ESG
issues and responsible investment. A review
of training requirements and needs will be
carried out at least once on annual basis.
Training is intended to cover the latest
updates in legislation and regulations, as well
as best practice with regards to ESG

pension

fund’s

130 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 456

1.18.

The Pension Fund’s officers will work closely
with the London CIV pool, through which the
Pension Fund will increasingly invest, in
developing and monitoring its internal
frameworks and policies on all ESG issues
which could present a material financial risk
to the long-term performance of the fund.
This will include the London CIV’s ESG
frameworks and policies for investment
analysis, decision making and responsible
investment.

integration into the
investment process.

Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix E
Strategic Asset Allocation
The below table sets out the Fund’s strategic asset
allocation along with review range which would trigger
a rebalancing exercise.
Review
Range

Listed Equities

65.0%

+/-3.0%

Passive Equities

22.5%

Global – Active

42.5%

Cash

0.0%

Cash

0.0%

Fixed Income

19.0%

Global Bonds

12.5%

Multi Asset Credit

6.5%

Alternatives

11.0%

Infrastructure

5.0%

Renewable Infrastructure

6.0%

Property

5.0%

Property

5.0%

Total

100.0%

+/-0.0%
+/-1.9%

+/-1.0%

+/-0.5%

131 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Target
(%)

Page 457

Strategic Asset Allocation

Investment Strategy Statement: Appendix F

Investment & Administration Risk Registers

132 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 458

133 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 459

134 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 460

135 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 461

136 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 462

137 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 463

138 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 464

139 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 465

140 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 466

141 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 467

Responsible Investment Statement
1. Introduction
2. Investment Horizon
3. Carbon Journey
Administering Authority

•

Employers

ESG Case Studies

Page 468

•

Environmental Case Study

•

Social Case Study

•

Governance Case Study

5. Fund Key Facts
6.

7.

Voting & Engagement
•

Engagement Case Study

Connected Organisations
•

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum

•

Pensions and Lifetime Savings
Association

•

ShareAction

142 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

4.

•

1. Introduction
Responsible Investment is defined by the United
Nation’s ‘Principles for Responsible Investment’
document as an approach to investing that aims to
incorporate environmental, social and governance
(ESG) factors into investment decisions, to better
manage risk and to generate sustainable, long term
returns.

The Fund’s investment priorities over the coming years
will be centred around the following topics:

Renewable
Infrastructure

Real Estate

Page 469

There are a wide range of ESG issues, with none
greater currently than climate change and carbon
reduction. The Pension Fund recognises climate
change as the biggest threat to global sustainability
alongside its administering authority employer,
Westminster City Council, which has committed itself
to achieving carbon neutrality by 2030.
The Pension Fund acknowledges that the neglect of
corporate social responsibility and poor attention paid
to environmental, social and governance issues is more
likely to lead to poor or reduced shareholder returns.
Therefore, the ESG approach has become integral to
the Fund’s overall investment strategy and recognises
ESG factors as central themes in measuring the
sustainability and impact of the Fund’s investments.
2. Investment Horizon
The City of Westminster Pension Fund Investment
Strategy Statement (ISS) sets out the Fund’s policy on
investment, risk management, LGPS pooling and
environmental, social and governance issues.

Green Bonds

• UK government has pledged to target net zero
greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, therefore
significant investment is required within renewables
infrastructure.
• The Fund has committed a 6% asset allocation to
renewables infrastructure, with a number of
specialist managers to be considered.
• There is potential within the real estate asset
allocation for further diversification, alongside the
long lease property mandate.
• Moving in to residential property or affordable
housing could offer another form of diversification,
whilst socially benefiting the community.

• To help meet the UK target of net zero carbon
emissions by 2050, the UK government will issue its
first green bonds in 2021.
• There is potential for a future review of the Fund's
existing allocation to corporate bonds and exploring
options available within the green bonds space.

3. Carbon Journey
The City of Westminster Pension Fund has committed
to reducing its carbon emissions, alongside
Westminster City Council. The Pension Fund appointed
TruCost to undertake a carbon mapping of the Fund’s
equity and property investments as at 30 September
2019. This included metrics such as carbon intensity,
carbon emissions, stranded assets and energy
transition.
Since this mapping took place, the Fund has
transitioned its London CIV (LCIV) UK Equity allocation

and Legal & General (LGIM) Global Passive Equities into
the LCIV Global Sustain Fund and LGIM Future World
Fund. The Global Sustain Fund seeks to provide a
concentrated high-quality global portfolio of
companies, however, excludes tobacco, alcohol, adult
entertainment, gambling, civilian weapons, fossil fuels,
and gas or electrical utilities. The LGIM Future World
Fund tracks the L&G ESG Global Markets Index,
whereby an Environmental, Social and Governance
screening of companies takes place to remove those
companies which do not meet the required ESG
criteria.
Alongside this, a 6% commitment has been made
towards investment within renewable infrastructure,
with funds from the sale of the Hermes Property Fund.
A fund manager selection process took place during
December 2020, with Macquarie and Quinbrook each
selected to manage a 3% allocation. The first
drawdowns totalling c.£15m, took place during Q1 of
2021.
During November 2020, the Pension Fund
commissioned TruCost to undertake a Carbon Review
of the Fund following the transition into the ESG equity
mandates, as at 31 October 2020.
The carbon to value invested metric is used by TruCost
to reflect how efficient companies are at creating
shareholder value, relative to the carbon emissions
produced. The following graph depicts the Fund’s
carbon to value invested journey against the
benchmark, within the equity allocation, from 30 June
2019 to 30 November 2020. The Pension Fund has
been benchmarked against the FTSE World Index.

143 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

The City of Westminster Pension Fund is committed to
being a responsible investor and a long-term steward
of the assets in which it invests. The Fund has a
fiduciary duty to act in the best interests of its
beneficiaries and this extends to making a positive
contribution to the long-term sustainability of the
global environment.

Alongside this the Fund’s core investment beliefs set
out the foundation of discussions, regarding the
structure of the Fund, its strategic asset allocation and
the selection of investment managers, incorporating
ESG factors into this decision-making process.

Weighted Average Carbon to Value Invested
Carbon to Value Invested (tCO₂e/mGBP)

350

which include carbon emissions and a variety of social
impact scores.

Environmental: Gwynt y Môr case study

300
250

Gwynt y Môr is a 576-megawatt wind farm located off
the coast of North Wales, and it’s held within our
Macquarie Renewable Energy Fund.

200
150

healthcare at a time when hospitals and clinics would
otherwise be unavailable to them. Teladoc operates in
over 175 countries, and the company claims in the US
an average saving of $472 per medical visit. Alongside
this, in countries with nationalised healthcare, savings
will benefit the government and therefore the public.

Governance: Atlas Copco case study

100
50
-

Benchmark (FTSE World)

4. ESG Case Studies

Page 470

Environmental, Social and Governance factors are key
indicators in measuring the sustainability and
suitability of an investment. There is growing research
which suggests, when integrated into business
decisions and portfolio construction, these can offer
stability in future returns.
The Fund expects managers to integrate ESG factors
into investment analysis and decision making.
Monitoring these effectively can assist with resolving
issues at early stages through effective engagement
with companies and board members. The Fund
expects asset managers where possible to engage and
collaborate with other institutional investors, as
permitted by relevant legal codes to ensure the
greatest impact.
The measurement of ESG performance is still
developing and benefitting from significant
improvements. There are several performance
benchmarks and disclosure frameworks that exist to
measure the different aspects of available ESG data

It is estimated that the windfarm cuts carbon emissions
by around 2m tonnes a year, with the CO2e avoided
equivalent to taking 234,680 cars off the road.

Social: Teladoc case study
The Pension Fund holds, Teladoc, within its LCIV (Baillie
Gifford) Growth Alpha Equity portfolio. The company is
the largest telemedicine company in the US, providing
remote access to services such as primary care
appointments, expert second opinions, health support
and chronic care management.
By providing healthcare services via video or phone
consultants, this increases the accessibility to the
services, helps to lower average healthcare costs and
improves efficiency of the healthcare system.
In the first quarter of 2020, following the COVID-19
outbreak, Teladoc welcomed over a million new
customers, ensuring the ability to continue to access

Atlas Copco is a leading manufacturer of industrial
equipment, held within the LCIV (Baillie Gifford)
Growth Alpha Equity fund. The manager has engaged
with Atlas’s Head of Sustainability to discuss how its
technology enables its customers to reduce their
environmental impact, with many operating in highemitting industries. Atlas Copco equipment is energy
efficient, enabling more work to be completed at less
cost and with lower emissions. This results in a saving
for customers with 70-75% of ownership cost
attributed to energy during use.
Baillie Gifford has also learned more about how the
company implements its sustainability strategy across
a decentralised business. The central sustainability role
sets the overall direction for the company,
empowering leaders within each business segment to
set targets and drive innovation, with this approach
embedded in the business culture. The manager
remains supportive, long-term shareholders in Atlas
and aim to continue engagement with the company to
better understand how they are supporting the
transition to a low-carbon society.
5. Key Fund Facts
Aberdeen Standard Long Lease
•
•
•

77% of energy data collected
74% of water data collected
83% A-D Energy Performance Certificate
Rating

144 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Pension Fund

The fund has a 10% stake in the windfarm and is the
fifth largest operating offshore wind farm in the world.
Macquarie manages an additional 10% exposure in
Gwynt Y Môr through their existing renewable
infrastructure funds and therefore is already familiar
with the asset. Operational since 2015, Gwynt y Mor is
comprised of 160 Siemens 3.6MW wind turbines
spread across 80 square kilometres and provides
enough clean electricity to power approximately
430,000 UK homes each year.

•

5 metric tonnes of carbon saved by solar
installation

Pantheon Global Infrastructure
•
•
•
•

5% invested in solar
4% invested in wind power
43% of senior roles held by women
100% recycling rate

Insight Buy & Maintain
The carbon intensity of the fund is 84
(t/USDm) lower than its comparators

Page 471

CARBON INTENSITY (T/USDM)

Carbon Footprint
249

200
150

105

100
50
0

Insight Buy &
Maintain

Comparator

LGIM Future World
•

48% women employed
52% men employed
41.8% lower relative carbon footprint than
the benchmark

LCIV Global Sustain
•

The Global Sustain Fund avoids sectors such
as alcohol, tobacco, weapons, gambling, fossil
fuels and electric utilities and undertakes an
engaged investment approach considering
financial returns and ESG criteria.

6. Voting & Engagement

300
250

•
•
•

Companies failing to meet globally accepted
business practices are excluded from the
Future World Fund, based on any of the
following criteria:
 Involved in production of
controversial weapons
 Involved solely in the
extraction of coal
 Violators of the UN Global
Compact initiative

The Committee has delegated the Fund’s voting rights
to the investment managers, who are required, where
practical, to make considered use of voting in the
interests of the Fund. The Committee expects the
investment managers to vote in the best interests of
the Fund. In addition, the Fund expects its investment
managers to work collaboratively with others if this will
lead to greater influence and deliver improved
outcomes for shareholders and more broadly.
The Fund will continue to collaborate with the London
CIV on maintaining a shared voting policy for the equity
managers on the London CIV platform and actively
seek to align these policies with manager insights.
Lobbying with other London CIV clients will give the
Pension Fund greater control and impact over our
voting choices and a centralised process will ensure
our voting remains consistent and has the greatest
impact.
The Pension Fund views engagement with companies
as an essential activity and encourages companies to
take positive action towards reversing climate change.
The Westminster Pension Fund is a responsible owner

of companies and cannot exert that positive influence
if it has completely divested from all carbon intensive
producing companies. The Pension Fund will continue
to encourage positive change whilst officers will
continue to engage with the investment managers on
an ongoing basis to monitor overall investment
performance, including carbon and other ESG
considerations.

Engagement: Microsoft case study
As part of the LCIV Global Sustain Fund, Morgan
Stanley have engaged with Microsoft on a number of
issues including carbon and diversity and inclusion.
Microsoft have pledged to become carbon-negative by
2030, Morgan Stanley have engaged with the company
on these decarbonisation targets and how they can be
achieved. This engagement has shown that Microsoft
is increasingly focusing on decarbonising their supply
chains, not just direct operations. To assist in
understanding and reducing these supply chain
emissions, Microsoft has started charging a carbon
price on these activities and developed tools to
incentivise suppliers to reduce these. Other Microsoft
initiatives include $1bn funding new carbon removal
technologies, transition to renewable energy and
establishing a net zero initiative with other large
companies.
The company has disclosed that they include diversity
as part of senior management remuneration and have
set up recruitment campuses at universities with high
levels of diversity.
7. Connected Organisations
The Pension Fund recognises that significant value can
be achieved through collaboration with other
stakeholders. The Pension Fund works closely with its
LGPS pool company, other LGPS funds and member

145 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

•

LCIV Global Alpha

groups such as the Local Authority Pension Fund
Forum (LAPFF), Pensions and Lifetime Savings
Association (PLSA) and ShareAction to ensure
corporate interests are aligned with the Pension Fund’s
values.

Local Authority Pension Fund Forum

Page 472

The Local Authority Pension Fund Forum are a
collection of over 83 local authority pension funds,
with assets under management of over £300bn,
promoting the highest standard of governance with
the aim of protecting the long-term value of pension
funds. The LAPFF engage directly with companies, on
behalf of all asset owners and pension fund trustee
members, on issues such as executive pay, reliable
accounting and a transition to a net carbon zero
economy.

LAPFF case study
The LAPFF produce quarterly engagement reports,
covering all ESG related issues from climate change,
governance, human rights and cyber security. Over the
quarter to 30 September 2020, the LAPFF engaged
with 27 companies, including Sainsbury, Tesco and the
National Grid.
At the National Grid 2020 AGM, LAPFF asked the
National Grid to commit to its delayed setting of scope
3 carbon emission reduction targets. The company
published a response on its website, signifying that it

Alongside this, the company has set a target of aiming
for a carbon-neutral grid by 2025, including the
provision of electric vehicle charging stations.
Pensions and Lifetime Savings Association
The City of Westminster Pension Fund is a member of
the PLSA, who aim to raise industry standards, share
best practice and support members. The PLSA works
across a range of stakeholders including governments,
regulators and parliament to help the implementation
of sustainable policies and regulation. They represent
over 1,300 pension schemes totalling £1.3tn in assets
under management, including those in the public and
private sectors.
The PLSA provide an important source for training,
support and guidance on regulations and pension
support services.

PLSA case study
The PLSA published its response to the MHCLG
proposals regarding the McCloud and Sargeant
discrimination cases by, extending the underpin to
younger scheme members with the underpin period
applying from the 1st April 2014 to the 31st March
2022.
The PLSA conducted a survey of its members and
consulted the Local Authority Committee on the
proposals within the MHCLG consultation. On the
whole the PLSA was supportive of the Government’s
plan to implement a two-stage underpin process,
however they did express concerns about the impact
these proposals would have on funds and pensions
administrators given the significant resourcing
requirements.

ShareAction
ShareAction is a registered charity who promotes
responsible investment, working with investors to help
influence how companies operate their business on a
range of Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
factors. This includes areas such as climate change,
gender diversity, living wages, decarbonisation,
biomass and healthy markets.
Most recently, ShareAction has been working on a
Healthy Markets coalition group. The Healthy Market
Initiative aims to make food retailers and
manufactures take on accountability for their role and
impact on people’s diets. The City of Westminster is a
member of the Healthy Markets coalition and along
with other members, represents over $1 trillion in
assets under management. The Fund has actively
engaged with ShareAction on this initiative, attending
coalition meetings, as well as contacting our equity
managers and the LAPFF on their behalf to see if they
would be willing to engage.
In 2019 ShareAction partnered with the Access to
Nutrition Initiative (ATNI) on its Healthy Markets
Campaign. ATNI adapted the core methodology used
for the Global Access to Nutrition Indexes to assess the
disclosure of the UK food retail sector. In March 2020,
the ATNI published its UK Supermarkets spotlight
analysing the top 10 food retailers in the UK, scoring
them against a number of indicators including
governance, nutrient profiling, promotions and
labelling.
During 2021, ShareAction co-ordinated a Special
Resolution, asking Tesco to report on its nutrition and
health strategy, together with metrics and targets,
including progress reporting within its Annual Report.
These resolutions have led to Tesco committing to;
increase the share of its UK sales derived from
healthier food and drink products from 58% to 65% by

146 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

The Pension Fund actively contributes to the
engagement efforts of pressure groups, such as the
Local Authority Pension Fund Forum (LAPFF) and
requires investment managers to vote in accordance
with the LAPPF’s governance policies. In exceptional
cases, investment managers will be required to explain
their reason for not doing so, preferably in advance of
the AGM.

would provide information on scope 3 targets in
October.

2025, increase sales of healthier food and drinks within
Central Europe, encourage consumers to choose
healthier options by increasing ranges of healthier
products available, engage with ShareAction and
members of its Healthy Markets investor coalition as
the Company develops and implements its health
strategy.

147 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 473

Pension Administration Strategy
Contents
1. Introduction

Page 474

•

Pension Administration Strategy Statement

•

Statutory background

•

Aims & Objectives

•

Other documents which make up the overall
strategy

3. Roles and Responsibilities
•

Administering Authority

•

Employers

4. Liaison, engagement and communication strategy
5. Standard of expected service between the
Administrating Authority and employers
•

Employer targets

6. Pension Administration Strategy - Schedule of
Charging
7. Strategy to develop web enabled services for
employers
8. Further Information

148 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

2. Policy Statement

1. Introduction
The delivery of a high quality, cost effective pensions
administration service is not just the responsibility of
the Administering Authority (Westminster City
Council), it also depends upon collaborative working
with all stakeholders to ensure that Scheme members,
and other interested parties, receive the appropriate
level of service and ensure that statutory requirements
are met.

Page 475

This document also shows the relationship and details
the split of responsibilities between the Administering
Authority and the Admitted and Scheduled body
employers (Employers).
For clarity Westminster acting as Administering
Authority (WAA) for the pension fund will treat
Westminster the main fund employer (WFE) exactly
the same as all the other fund employers.

2. Pension Administration Strategy Statement

•

a schedule of charges that apply when
standards of service fall below expectations
a strategy in place to develop web enabled
services for Employers and employees.

This statement sets out the aims and objectives of the
PAS and references other documents which together
make up the overall pensions administration
management system.

Other documents which make up the overall strategy

Statutory background

3. Roles and responsibilities

Regulation 59 of the Local Government Pension
Scheme Regulations 2013 (LGPS 2013) enables an
Administering Authority to prepare a document
detailing administrative standards, performance
measurement, data flows and communication vehicles
with Employers.

Administering Authority

Regulation 70 of the LGPS 2013 allows an
Administering Authority to recover costs from an
Employer where costs have been incurred because of
an Employer’s non-compliant level of performance in
carrying out its functions under the Regulations.

•

Throughout this document contractual and best
practice levels of performance are referenced with the
aim of incrementally improving the provision of timely
accurate data and levels of pension administrative
services.
Failure to comply with the standards shown in this
document could result in charges being levied by the
Administering Authority to Employers in accordance

To support these aims this PAS document introduces:
• the standard of expected service between the
Administrating Authority and Employers

Local
Government
Pension
Communications Policy

Scheme

The responsibilities of the Administering Authority are:
1.

To decide how any previous service or
employment of an employee is to count for
pension purposes, and whether such service
is classed as a 'period of membership'.

2.

To notify each member regarding the
counting of membership in the scheme
following notification from the member’s
employer of the relevant service details.

3.

To set up and maintain a record for each
member of the scheme which contains all the
information necessary to produce an
accurate benefit calculation following the
employer providing useable and accurate
financial data.

4.

To calculate and pay the appropriate benefits
at the correct time, based on membership
details held the termination date and the final
pay details provided by the employer when an
employee ceases employment, or ceases
membership of the Scheme.

Aims & Objectives
In creating this strategy, the aim of the Administrating
Authority is to have in place a pension management
system that meets the needs of the stakeholders by:
• clarifying the roles and responsibilities of all
the major stakeholders
• ensuring the services provided by all the
major stakeholders are accessible, equitable
and transparent
• assisting Employers to provide the effective
provision of timely and accurate data

It should be noted that the Administering Authority is
working with Surrey County Council (SCC) to provide
the main pension administration service to all fund
employers under a 101 shared service arrangement.

•

149 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

The aim of this Pension Administration Strategy (PAS)
is to ensure that the Administering Authority along
with their Admitted and Scheduled body employers
are aware of their responsibilities under the Local
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

with the terms set out in the schedule of charging in
Section 6.

5.

To supply beneficiaries with details of their
entitlements including the method of
calculation.

6.

To set up and maintain a record for each
pensioner member.

7.

To increase pensions periodically in
accordance with the provisions of Pensions
Increase Acts and Orders.
To pay benefits to the correct beneficiaries
only and to take steps to reduce the
possibility of fraud taking place.

9.

To ensure that sufficient information is issued
to satisfy the requirements of Regulation 61
of the LGPS 2013. This relates to fund
communication more details are contained
within section 4 of this document or
alternatively see the communications policy
which is also available on the Westminster
Pension fund website.

10. To maintain an appointed person for the
purposes of the scheme internal dispute
resolution procedure (IDRP). The appointed
person will in general be the Director of
People Services or where the Director had
previously been involved in the case an officer
of equivalent level will be asked to make a
determination. The appointed person will be
able to access advice from the funds
appointed legal advisors where necessary.
11. To appoint all necessary advisors to enable
the appointed person to perform the duties
required by the IDRP.
12. To appoint an actuary for the purposes of the
triennial valuation of the Pension Fund and

13. To arrange and manage the triennial
valuation of the pension fund.

3.

To determine the pay of employees for the
purposes of calculating the pension
contributions.

4.

To determine final pay for the purposes of
calculating benefits due from the Scheme.

5.

To issue a notification to any employees who
cannot become members of the Scheme
explaining the reason(s) why.

6.

Where, after reasonable efforts, an employee
fails to provide information relating to
previous service, provide basic information to
the Administrating Authority.

7.

At cessation of membership of the Scheme, to
determine the reason for leaving and
entitlement to benefit and notify the
Administrating Authority and the Scheme
member of the decision.

8.

To supply timely and accurate information to
the Administrating Authority to ensure the
correct calculation of benefits payable from
the Scheme.

9.

To deduct Additional Voluntary Contributions
(AVCs) from a member's pay and pay over to
the provider within the statutory deadlines.

14. To ensure compliance with the Data
Protection Act 1998.
15. The Administering Authority and it’s agents
will respond to queries from employers
external or internal auditors within 5 working
days or advise when a full response can be
sent if not possible within that time frame.
16. The Administering Authority and it’s agents
will respond to relevant Freedom of
Information requests within 14 working days
if possible or advise when a full response can
be sent if not possible within that time frame.
17. The Administering Authority will reply to any
Pension Ombudsman query within 30 days of
receipt or advise of reason for further delay.
Employers
The main duties of the Employer are:
1.

2.

To decide who is eligible to become a
member of the Scheme. The employer must
abide by any admission agreement entered
into with the administering authority if
applicable. If there is a closed admission
agreement only the named employees can be
entered into the LGPS.
To decide whether that person is employed in
a full time, part time, variable time or casual
capacity. If the employee is part time the
employer must determine the proportion

10. To be responsible for exercising the
discretionary powers given to Employers by
the regulations. These regulations also
require the Employer to publish its policy in
respect of these key discretions.

150 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 476

8.

which the employees’ contractual hours
relate to the hours of a comparable full time,
employee.

provide periodical actuarial advice when
required.

11. To provide a notice, drawing the employee's
attention to their right of appeal under the
LGPS, with any statement issued to an
employee relating to any decision made
about the Scheme.
12. To use an Independent Registered Medical
Practitioner qualified in Occupational Health
medicine that has been approved by the
Administrating Authority in determining ill
health retirement.

Page 477

14. To provide the Administrating Authority with
Monthly and Year-end information as at 31
March each year in an approved format.
15. To provide the Administrating Authority with
an audited copy of the final statement which
shall also contain the name and pensionable
pay of each employee who is an active
member, the amounts which represent
pension deductions from pay for each of
those employees and the periods covered by
the deductions and any other information
requested. The information should also
distinguish those amounts representing
deductions for voluntary contributions and
the employees paying those voluntary
contributions.
16. To be responsible for complying with the
requirements for funding early retirement for
whatever reason as required by the
Administering Authority using actuary factors.
17. To cover any professional costs for legal or
actuarial services that are incurred by the

18. Pay the Administrating Authority interest on
payments due from the Employer which are
overdue by more than one month.
19. Where a member leaves the Scheme and full
contributions have not been deducted for
whatever reason, immediately make payment
of outstanding member's and Employer's
contributions to the Administrating Authority.
20. To ensure compliance with Data Protection
Act 1998.
21. The employer and it’s agents will respond to
queries from the Administering Authorities
external or internal auditors within 5 working
days or advise when a full response can be
sent if not possible within that time frame.
22. The employer will reply to the Administering
Authority on any query relating to a Pension
Ombudsman issue with 14 days of request to
allow the Administering Authority to respond
to the Pension Ombudsman.

23. The employer must advise the Administering
Authority of any change of contact details for
the payroll or finance functions for
communication purposes.
24. The employer is responsible for all Auto
enrolment functions and must advise the
Administering Authority of anyone auto
enrolled as per the normal new starter
process. Employers are advised to contact the
pension regulator directly if they have any
queries
see
link
to
website.
http://www.thepensionsregulator.gov.uk/
4. Liaison, engagement and communication strategy
The Administrating Authority will issue and annually
review their Local Government Pension Scheme
Communications Policy
The policy will include a strategy for communicating
with:
•
•
•
•

Scheme Members
Members’ Representatives
Prospective members
Employers participating in the Fund

This policy document will set out the mechanisms that
the Administrating Authority will use to meet their
communication responsibilities it will also include
details of what is communicated and the frequency.
Annually the Administrating Authority will issue an
engagement plan that will include events for
employers, members of the scheme and perspective
members of the scheme.
The Communications policy will be updated on the
Westminster Pension Fund where it can be found

151 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

13. To repay to the Scheme member any
incorrectly
deducted
employee's
contributions.

administering authority on behalf of any
employer investigating any amendment in
relation to its members of the scheme. An
example of this would be where an
(transferee) employer wishes to tupe eligible
staff to another employer (transferor) and the
transferor wishes to become an admitted
body within our fund. The transferee
employer would be expected to meet the
actuarial and legal costs associated with the
process and will be invoiced for this. Costs
may occur in other circumstances where
employers require an individual response on
either a legal or actuarial matter.

under the Forms and Publications sub heading under
the About us main tab.
See link to the pension fund website below.
http://www.wccpensionfund.co.uk/
5.

Standard of expected service between the
Administrating Authority and the employers

152 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 478

153 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 479

6.

Pensions Administration Strategy - Schedule of
Charging

Page 480

Where additional costs have been incurred by the
Administrating Authority as a direct result of an
Employer’s poor performance these costs will be
recovered from the Employer.
The Administrating Authority will give the reasons for
doing so in accordance with the regulations.

In addition to the schedule below other circumstances
could generate a charge:
•

Instances where the performance of the
Employing Authority has resulted in fines
being levied against the Administering
Authority by the Pension Regulator, Pensions
Ombudsman, HMRC or other regulatory
body.

•

Additional cost incurred in providing specialist
third party advice in administering the
Scheme on behalf of the employer, including
but not exclusive to actuarial services,

•

Persistent failure to resolve issues in a timely
and satisfactory fashion.

In these circumstances the Administrating Authority
will set out the calculations of any loss or additional
cost incurred, in writing, stating the reason for the
cost(s) and the basis for the calculation.
WAA will monitor aspects of the PAS on a quarterly
basis, the aspect monitored may change and not all
employers data will necessarily be reviewed on each
occasion. WAA will be reviewing data from SCC to
ensure it’s own compliance which will be reported on
to the Pension fund Committee and the Pension board.

WAA will also seek evidence from SCC of employer
compliance with the PAS but may also request data
directly from the employer who will be expected to
respond with relevant evidence or assurance of
compliance where relevant. If an employer does not
respond to any request for information within 30 days
of request then this will also be chargeable at £200 an
occasion.

154 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Westminster acting as Administering Authority (WAA)
wishes to support it’s fund employers to enable them
to provide all relevant data to both members and to
WAA as per the requirements of the PAS set out above.
Any employer who is unclear on the requirements of
the PAS or is struggling with any aspect of the
requirements should inform WAA of any concern as
soon as possible, WAA will provide support where it
can. WAA’s first priority is to ensure compliance for the
benefit of members and employers, ensuring that
accurate data is stored for members. That pension can
be processed quickly and accurately when required
and that WAA and it’s employers all meet their
statutory obligations.

occupational medical practitioner services
and legal services.

7.

Strategy to develop web enabled services for
employers and employees.

In 2016/17 the Administrating Authority will
implement, develop and engage employers in an on
line portal. Initially, the portal will be used for data
sharing
with
employers
and
information
communication with employees.

8.

Further Information

Page 481

Sarah Hay
Pensions and Payroll Officer
11th Floor
64 Victoria Street
London
SW1E 6QP
Email: shay@westminster.gov.uk
Tel: 0207 641 6015

155 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Whilst forms will be restricted to being downloaded
completed and resent, it is anticipated that the portal
will be developed to allow members of the scheme to
self-serve e-forms direct to the scheme administrators.

Annual Report of the Pension Board 2020/21
The role of the Local Pension Board is to assist the
scheme manager (the administering authority) in
securing compliance with:
•
•
•

Page 482

The Local Pension Board is required to have an equal
number of representatives from employers and
scheme members. They may also have other types of
members, such as independent experts, but such
members will not have a vote.

The law requires Local Pension Board members to have
knowledge and understanding of relevant pension
laws, and to have a working knowledge of the LGPS, its
governance and documentation. Whereas the role of
the Pension Fund Committee usually involves carrying
out a decision-making function, members of Local
Pension Boards should focus on the processes involved
in running the fund. For example, are policies and
procedures up-to-date, are the requirements of the
Pensions Regulator being met and is the Fund following
recognised best practice?
At a national level, the LGPS Scheme Advisory Board
(SAB) consists of representatives from across a broad
spectrum of LGPS stakeholders. Its purpose is to
encourage best practice, increase transparency and
coordinate technical and standards issues by being
reactive and proactive. Separate SABs exist for the

Employer Representatives
•
•
•

Councillor Tim Mitchell, Chairman of the Local
Pension Board (Westminster, Conservative)
Councillor Guthrie McKie (Westminster,
Labour)
Marie Holmes (The Grey Coat Hospital)

Scheme Member Representatives
•
•
•

Terry Neville OBE, Vice-Chairman of Local
Pension Board
Christopher Smith (Westminster, UNISON)
Chris Walker

During the year 2019/20 the Board met twice:
•
•

16 June 2020
31 March 2021

During the year, the Board’s work programme covered
the following areas:
•
•

•
•

The monitoring of quarterly fund investment
performance
Reports detailing the Fund’s financial
management, including cash flow and
scrutiny of the fund risk register
Pensions administration key performance
indicators
Pension fund costs

Other notable examples of work that the Board
covered during the year:
•

The Board had oversight of the Strategic
Investment Review that included a response
to the Covid-19 pandemic and a set of
recommendations to the asset allocation of
the fund.

The Board underwent the following training in the
year:
•

The Board attended three half-day bespoke
training events that took place in November
2020, December 2020 and February 2021 and
covered the following topics:



2020 from an actuarial perspective and
funding updates
The macro-economic outlook
Asset allocation and portfolio construction
Diversity in the asset management industry
Investing in renewable energy
LGPS current developments
Physical climate risk management
Impact investing
Responsible investment
Behavioural finance
How asset managers approach risk
management
Fixed income update
Risk and compliance perspective from an
asset pool














156 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

•

The scheme regulations
Other governance and administration
legislation
Any requirements of the Pensions Regulator
(tPR)
Additional matters, if specified by scheme
regulations

schemes in England and Wales, Scotland and Northern
Ireland.



Environmental risk

Councillor Tim Mitchell
Chairman of Westminster Local Pension Board
June 2021

157 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 483

158 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 484

159 | ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2020/2021 • APPENDICES

Page 485

Photos: Kristina Mikneviciute

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5

Monthly Financial Report
Period 4
July 2021/22

Page 487

1

1. Introduction
1.1.

In March 2021 Full Council approved the 2021/22 budget which included £16.9m of
savings and £28.7m of growth. This budget was set within the context of the Covid19 pandemic, with much of the growth items being related to income from sales, fees
and charges. In setting the 2021/22 budget it has been anticipated that the Council
will continue to be impacted by the pandemic – particularly with regards to reduced
income across the City.

1.2.

The period 4 monitoring report provides the year to date position and the forecast
position for the rest of the year, based on activity trends reviewed over the last few
months as lockdown restrictions slowly disappear. Income activity levels in some
cases are still below pre-pandemic levels. How this unfolds over the coming months
is yet to see seen but financial uncertainty continues and estimating the magnitude of
what will happen by the end of the financial year continues to be challenging. The
delay in lifting lockdown restrictions from 21 June to 19 July is an example of how
quickly external factors can impact the Council’s forecasting.

1.3.

The past year has had a major adverse impact on council finances and the financial
pressures were beyond what could have reasonably been planned for by local
government. The Council benefited from Government support over the last year –
particularly in relation to the various grants and income compensation scheme which
reduced the pressure on general fund balances. However, this support is now being
wound down, for example, Sales, Fees and Charges compensation ended on 30
June 2021 so any subsequent income losses will be fully borne by the Council.

1.4.

Furlough and business rates relief tapers off over the financial year and there may be
an impact on the demand for Council support. The budget contains some
contingency budgets to mitigate any fluctuations that may arise from either demand
increases or reductions in income.

1.5.

The monitoring report assesses the impact of the restrictions on the Council’s
commercial income, Covid related expenditure and provides a gross and net full year
forecast for the Council (taking account of central Government funding).

2

Page 488

2. Executive Summary
Overview
2.4.

At period 4 the Council forecasts a gross variance of £5.6m against the budget
before taking into account the Government’s sales, fees and charges (SFC)
compensation scheme in place for Q1 of 2021/22 which has now discontinued by
central government.

2.5.

The General Fund shows a potential upper range variance of £11.950m which is
inclusive of further identified risks and opportunities, but once the SFC compensation
is taken into account the net variance reduces to between £3.3m and £8.150m.

General Fund

ELT Portfolio

Adult Social Care
Public Health
Growth, Planning & Housing
Finance and Resources
Environment and City Management
Children's Services
Innovation and Change
Other Corporate Directorates
Collaborative Savings
NET CONTROLLABLE BUDGET
Council Tax
Business Rates - Net of Tariff
CORPORATE FINANCING
SFC Compensation
Net (Surplus) / Deficit*

FY Budget FY Forecast
(£m)
(£m)
52.122
(1.029)
25.435
44.443
6.377
41.141
9.978
4.278
182.745
(62.078)
(120.667)
(182.745)

52.022
(1.029)
27.495
44.077
9.018
42.423
10.113
4.278
188.397
(62.078)
(120.667)
(182.745)

FY
Variance
(£m)
(0.100)
2.100
(0.400)
2.600
1.300
0.100
5.600
(2.300)
3.300

P4 YTD
Variance
(£m)
(17.800)
(0.300)
(0.300)
(0.100)
(18.500)

Projected
Risks
Opps
Variance
Identified Identified inc Opps
(£m)
(£m)
and Risks
(£m)
0.300
0.200
3.200
(1.900)
3.400
(0.400)
(0.800)
1.400
4.000
0.800
2.100
0.500
(0.100)
0.500
2.550
2.550
8.750
(2.400)
11.950
(1.500)
(3.800)
8.750
(3.900)
8.150

*The net figure is inclusive of the forecast compensation income of £2.3m the
Council is expected to receive in 2021/22 for the SFC scheme.

2.7.

These forecasts are based on information known at the time and based on best
estimates. However, the full year impact is dependent on the level of activity in the
City which is still very unpredictable following the due to the on-going impact of the
pandemic, particularly factors such as homeworking. The Council included a Covidrelated risk budget in 2021/22 to help mitigate in income levels over the year.

2.8.

The Council has committed to supporting the Afghan Relocations and Assistance
Policy. Support for the programme will come from a number of areas of the Council’s
services, including; Housing, Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and
Westminster Employment Service. The Home Office announced funding support for
this programme initially but have subsequently announced further funding streams.
Details of how funding will be allocated are still to be determined and further
updates will be incorporated into future monitoring reports.

3

Page 489

3.0.

Income Summary
3.1.

The YTD income variance is currently £2.325m, while the full year forecast is
projected with a £3.267m adverse variance, reflecting some degree of
increasing demand as the year progresses, albeit still lower than prepandemic levels.

3.2.

It should be noted that the adverse income variances are in comparison to
budget adjustments made this financial year to take account of reduced
activity following the pandemic. A total of £20m Covid adjustment was made
in the 2021/22 budget, across all directorates to account for anticipated
income losses. Therefore, the variance against pre-pandemic income levels
is c£23m.

3.3.

The key income streams impacted are summarised in the table below with
indicative forecasts for the full year (favourable variances in red brackets).
Further commentary on income variances are included in the directorate
specific sections in section 5.

4

Page 490

5

Page 491

4.0.

Savings Summary
4.1.

Details of progress against approved savings are outlined in the commentary
for each directorate. The council has achieved £3.818m savings YTD,
£14.905m is on track to be achieved, £3.583m has been reprofiled and
£0.660m will not be achieved. Full details listed in Appendix 1.

4.2.

Where savings are not on track, the directorate will consider mitigations to
bring the budget back on target for this year.

Directorate (£000s)
Adults
Children's
Environment & Highways
Growth, Planning & Housing
Innovation and Change
Finance & Resources
Collaborative Savings
HRA Savings
Total

4.3.

Complete
1,368
0
0
600
590
880
0
380
3,818

Green
1,695
2,180
3,003
1,305
210
2,260
4,074
178
14,905

Amber
0
138
0
545
0
350
2,550
0
3,583

Red
0
250
410
0
0
0
0
0
660

Total
3,063
2,568
3,413
2,450
800
3,490
6,624
558
22,966

Reprofiling of collaborative savings are as follows:


Business Support Function Review - £2.050m reprofiled to 2022/23.
Engagement across the Council continues to take place to agree the future
operating model. This operating model is now anticipated to go live in early
2022/23



CED strategy: contact centre review - £0.500m reprofiled to 2022/23. Project
is currently being rescoped and will be considered later this year.

6

Page 492

5.0.

Summary by ELT

Adult Social Care
5.1.

Despite the challenging pressures across Adult Social Care from an increase
in demand and complexity the projected outturn at period 4 is an underspend
of £0.100m against annual budget of £52.122m. This has remained
unchanged from previous month’s reported position.

5.2.

As Covid restrictions have ended, the directorate is seeing an upward trend in
demand for placements. The number of placements at the end of last year
was 498, since then, a further 42 placements have been made, to date, an
increase of 8.43. This is largely driven by an increase in activity from acute
settings whereby more people are going to hospital and a backlog of medical
treatments that were previously stopped or delayed which are now being
carried out. At the end of July, the total number of placements made post
discharge from hospital are 70 which is an increase of 29 compared to the
pre-pandemic level for the same period. In terms of complexity, in some areas
we are seeing the packages of care/duration continue to increase while the
number of clients remain the same which indicates that more care provision is
required to meet their needs. For example, the number of people receiving
direct payments has remained at a stable level, however because of care
needs increasing the value of direct payments is going up. The total value of
direct payments made so far is £4.126m, which compared to the same period
last year is an increase of £0.492m. This is largely driven by a deterioration of
health while treatments or operations were stopped during the pandemic,
increased isolation during lockdown and less support from family members.

5.3.

The financial planning for this year anticipated an increase in costs and based
on current throughput the extra demand is manageable. The directorate will
continue to work hard to establish mitigating measures to offset any financial
pressures. However, if the current upward trend on demand and complexity
continues then it may put further pressure on ASC budgets that could
subsequently result in a financial overspend at year end. This is difficult to
quantify however the range could be between £0.300m to £0.600m, hence a
pressure of £0.300m is being reported at this stage.

5.4.

The current trend being experienced in Westminster is something that is
being felt across London in particular the demand for nursing placements due
to discharge from hospital driven by a need for capacity in acute settings.

5.5.

There have been recent announcements on social care reforms with the
introduction of a new upper limit of £100k, which is more than four times the
current limit before an individual is required to pay for their care costs in full.
People with assets between £20k and £100k will be means-tested for
financial support on a sliding scale. However, there will be a cap on care
costs across an individual’s lifetime of £86k, excluding accommodation or
food costs. The changes are expected to come into effect from October 2023
and so do not have any financial implications for the current year. As details
emerge, further analysis and its implication for Westminster’s MTFP will be
appraised and stakeholders informed.

7

Page 493

Public Health
Commissioned Services:
5.6.

For the Behaviour Change service the forecast reflects continued reductions
in demand for Health Checks and smoking cessation services accessed via
GPs. Although services may return to normal capacity, it is still anticipated
that demand will be lower than before the pandemic resulting in a forecast
underspend of £0.157m.

5.7.

For Families and Children the forecast overspend is £0.097m which is due to
minor underspends in Oral Health and Healthy Start Vitamins, which are
partly offset by increased expenditure in Community Based Initiatives and an
inflationary increase in School Nursing.

5.8.

Within Sexual Health, GUM is forecast to budget however, there is a forecast
underspend of £0.024m in other Sexual Health services due to reductions in
demand.

5.9.

For Substance Misuse, the forecast underspend of £0.044m recognises a
continued reduction in demand for Detox Placements, GP Shared Care and
the Reducing Reoffending Pilot. These will be monitored closely as services
return to normal capacity.

Non-Commissioned Services:
5.10.

The annual Public Health grant allocations were announced in March 2021
and confirmed a level of grant for Westminster which is £0.420m more than
budget. In addition to this core grant, the Council has brought forward
unspent Covid grants received in 2020/21 for Test & Trace (£1.9m) and
Rough Sleepers Drug and Alcohol Treatment (£0.9m); both of which will be
fully spent in 2020/21. Asymptomatic Community Testing expenditure is being
compensated for as spend is incurred (£0.740m up to June).

5.11.

Salaries and Overhead is forecast to overspend by £0.091m; a continuing
trend from 20/21 which is due to weekend working and the use of agency
staff to increase the capacity for the Covid response.

5.12.

The budget is planned to be balanced by a transfer to reserves of £0.305m.
However, as a result of the variances listed above, the forecast transfer to
reserves is now £0.762m.

Growth, Planning & Housing
Expenditure
5.13.

Growth, Planning and Housing is forecasting an overspend of £2.060m this
month (£2.783m in P3), driven mainly by expenditure on Temporary
Accommodation (TA) and Private Rented Sector properties, with further risks
of £3.178m partly offset by opportunities of £1.908m.

8

Page 494

5.14.

Westminster faces an on-going demand for over 2,600 units of
accommodation for homeless households. Delivering this level of
accommodation would cost £1.9m more (based on previous year’s activity)
than the existing TA budget allows. However, any overspend in TA will be
offset by drawing down from the Homelessness Prevention grant (previously
Flexible Housing Support Grant) - current commitments result in a forecast
carry-forward balance of £12.1m at the end of 2021/22.

5.15.

The TA reduction strategy (TAR) is addressing the deficit through a number of
initiatives:

5.16.

Acquisition of properties for TA use – a 4-5 year programme to purchase up
to 223 properties. This will reduce the need to lease properties from the
private rented sector, replacing them with assets owned by the Council. 35
properties are expected to be purchased in 2021/22 (Four have been
purchased and another six due for completion. More purchasing expected to
take place from September), generating savings of £0.167m (taking into
account the time taken to identify, purchase, refurbish and let out each
property). Once all 223 properties are let, savings of £3.4m per annum are
anticipated.

5.17.

The original timing for the entire acquisition programme (which comprises 7
separate programmes approved in the 21/22 capital strategy) over the next
few years originally submitted was too optimistic. A re-profiling over the next
four years has been proposed by the service which they believe is more
realistic and achievable. The TA out-turn forecast is based on this re-profiling.

5.18.

The Council is responding to negative homelessness decisions. There are
c.200 tenants currently in TA properties who have received a negative
homelessness decision but have not moved on due to the ban on evictions
during the pandemic. Now that the eviction ban has ended, it is forecast that
the majority of these will move on in 2021/22 resulting in a saving of £0.464m
in 2021/22 and £0.924m overall.

5.19.

Other initiatives – primarily reviewing the use of Council stock that is void
through regeneration schemes – are due to be rolled out and will be reported
on when the opportunities present themselves.

5.20.

At period 4, a risk of £1.908m is reported in Temporary Accommodation as
set out above, based upon a possible increase in demand projections.
However, as previously described, the Temporary Accommodation risk will be
offset by funding from the Homelessness Prevention reserve, subject to S151
Officer approval.

5.21.

Place Shaping & Town Planning is forecasting a pay overspend of £0.340m.
This is due to one-off redundancy costs linked to the planning review
restructure.

9

Page 495

5.22.

A risk of £1.270m is also reported in the Westminster Employment Service.
The service is mainly funded from external sources (including S106 income).
However all historic s106 funds and reserves which have previously
supported the service have now been fully utilised. Since 2019, and via the
implementation of new s106 guidance for developers, over £6.4m has been
committed to the service. To date only a small number of schemes
committing funds have actually started – 7% - and there is no certainty as to
when they will commence work, triggering the cash payment of these
funds. This is therefore casting doubt on whether the service can be fully
funded from external income this year.

Income
Housing Operations
5.23.

Housing Operations forecasts a shortfall of £0.045m in rental income from
intermediate housing (net budget is approx. £154k, 29% of budget). This is
because not all of the 25 properties acquired for use will be let out until
February 2022. This is therefore not expected to be a pressure next year.

Place Shaping & Town Planning
5.24.

Place Shaping & Town Planning forecasts an income shortfall of £1.675m
(24%) on fees and charges (YTD income is £0.538m/23% below budget).
Income is showing some signs of recovery (the forecast has therefore been
uplifted by £0.175m from last month) but activity levels are still below prepandemic levels.

10

Page 496

Finance and Resources
5.25.

A net favourable variance of £0.366m is reported for Finance and Resources
at period 4 against the approved net budget of £24.621m (a net adverse
movement of £0.048m from period 3).

5.26.

The change in forecast since period 3 is a result of reprofiling an IT saving of
£0.100m relating to a contract saving currently on hold while a service review
takes place. This is offset by an increase in the favourable variance in
investment income of £0.052m.

5.27.

The overall variance of £0.366m is as a result of an adverse variance of
£0.350m within IT from a delay to the ongoing service review. This is offset by
a favourable variance of £0.716m within Treasury and Pensions for interest
receivable, due to the average balances for the year to date achieving a
higher return on investment.

5.28.

Net opportunities of £0.380m have been identified in Corporate Property (no
change from period 3). There is an opportunity of £0.400m from a one-off
rebate on Year 1 Facilities Management contract costs. This is partially offset
by the risk that as the Council seeks to reduce its carbon footprint and move
away from gas usage, utility costs increase by £0.020m due to the differential
in the cost of gas and electricity.

Treasury and Pensions
5.29.

Within Treasury and Pensions there is a forecast a favourable variance for
interest receivable for the year of £0.716m due to the average balances for
the year to date achieving a higher return on investment.

Legal Services
5.30.

In Legal Services the receipts to date on Local Land Charges income are on
target with budget which was reduced by £0.360m from 2020/21 due to the
impact of the pandemic.

Corporate Property
5.31.

There is a reduction of £1.735m on budgeted property income since 2020/21
to reflect the greater level of risk that exists in the economy with a reduction in
the number of people entering the City and spending money in local
businesses, particularly in the retail, hospitality and service sectors as
Government support for businesses is removed. If activity does not return to
pre-Covid level fairly quickly a negative cashflow can only be survived by
most businesses for a short period of time having not being able to trade fully
over the last 15 months. The Government has recently announced that
commercial tenants will continue to be protected from bailiffs and legal action
for a further nine months. The nature and billing cycles of the portfolio means
that there will always be fluctuations around the year-to-date position. This is
due to expiries that are coming up and currently there is more of a risk that
when tenants renew that the market has dropped or incentives for tenants
have increased, which can mean that the amount that is collected can
fluctuate. At this stage of the year and based on current information there are
not expected to be any material full year variances from the budget. Income
and debt repayment will continue to be monitored closely throughout the year.
11

Page 497

Environment and City Management
5.32.

As at Period 4, Environment and City Management is forecasting an adverse
variance of £2.641m (a net adverse movement of £0.975m since last month).

5.33.

The movement of £0.975m from last month is due to a projected shortfall from
car clubs’ income £0.250m, income shortfalls expected in paid for parking of
£0.750m, which has been mitigated by net expenditure savings.

5.34.

The adverse variance of £2.641m is due to the Covid pressures (£3.391m)
offset by non-Covid related impacts (£0.750m). The variances and the drivers
for changes in activity levels are detailed in the narrative below. A breakdown
of the Covid and non-Covid forecast variances are shown below:

o

Community Services - £0.716m (all Covid-related) consisting of £0.516m
income shortfall at Sayers Croft due to slow recovery of residential visits
after lockdown and £0.200m unbudgeted share of loss for Q1 2021/22 from
a deed of variation on the leisure contract.

o

Waste & Parks - £0.950m (all Covid) reduction in commercial waste income.

o

Parking - £0.975m (£1.725m Covid and -£0.750m non Covid):
a. Covid Impact - £1.725m - Paid for Parking income shortfall
£1.100m, PCNs £0.500m, car clubs £0.250m offset by
expenditure reductions of £0.125m.
b. Non-Covid Impact - £0.750m favourable - increase in
suspension income -£1.000m, offset by other net pressures of
£0.250m

Commercial Income
5.35.
o

The main variances on income are set out below:
Parking – Paid for Parking - The forecast variance at Period 4 is £1.100m
which is 2% of the FY budget (an adverse movement of £0.750m from
Period 3). After a strong start to the year, activity fell throughout July
averaging £0.720m per week against £0.750m in the last week of June.
The number of transactions this year have increased from 471,000 in April to
550,000 in July, giving a year to date position of 2,060,000. This indicates a
strong recovery from the Covid position last year (where the comparative for
the same period was 1,200,000, 72% up), and only 9% down on the prior
year (pre covid where the transactions were 2,250,000).
The full year projection is assumed to be on a slower recovery than
assumed in Period 3 which accounts for the significant shift in the adverse
variance. The projection assumes activity for the remainder of the year is
projected at 95% of budget in Aug, 98% September and October, 99%
November and December, and 103% January to March, giving total
6,400,000 transactions for the year.

12

Page 498

o

Parking – PCN’s (Traffic Cameras) - ticket issues this year have been
around 3,500 a month, with 4,000 in May, giving the year to date position of
of 14,000 tickets. This is 17% up from same period last year (covid), which
was 12,000 and 16% down on pre covid levels (2019-20, which was approx.
17,000, an average of 4,200 a month.
Projections for the full year assume ticket issues increasing to around 4,500
a month, giving a full year total of 52,000 partly from increased on-street
vehicle activity post-lockdown, and partly from additional cameras due to
come online shortly. The projection is maintained as reported in last month,
a projected shortfall in income of £500k for the full year. This compares to
39,000 for full year 2020-21 and 46,500 for 2019-20.

o

Commercial Waste - Income to date is £3.29m which is £0.49m (13%)
below the 2021/22 approved budget to date of £3.77m. Pre-covid income in
2019/20 (pre covid) was £6.04m at Period 4 meaning that income has fallen
significantly due to covid and the impact on businesses in Westminster.
There has been some recovery as at P4 in 2020/21 the income was lower at
just £2.16m due to the first lockdown and the high level of restrictions at the
time. However, while income has increased slightly this year it is unlikely to
reach close to pre-covid levels this year due to business trading levels and
reduced footfall in Westminster.

o

Commercial Waste Services consists of two main income streams;
Container sales contracts which include ongoing hire costs and bin lifts, plus
Pre-Paid Waste Bag sales. At P4 the Container sales income is £1.83m
compared to £1.64m last year and £3.22m in 2019/20. Pre-paid Bag sales
are £1.46m compared to £0.52m last year and £2.82m in 2019/20. Due to
covid restrictions at the start of this year income to date has been lower than
expected. While July had a greater income per week than June which is a
sign of improvement, the amount received was lower than the July budget.
As a result the forecast under-recovery of £0.95m will remain this month.

o

Sayers Croft - now expects income in year of £932k, giving pressure of
£516k against a budget of £1,448k. The centre has been open for residential
customers since mid April, but orders are only slowly recovering; there is still
uncertainty in schools around residential bookings which presents a risk of
continuing income shortfalls in the current year.

MTFP Savings – 2021/22
5.36.

The savings that are currently not on track total £0.410m. The service is
seeking to mitigate these shortfalls and so is not currently projecting this to
impact the forecast.

Risks and Opportunities:
5.37.

5.38.

The total risks included in period 4 are £1.400m (Potential shortfalls in
Licensing income £0.500m; potential shortfall in public conveniences income
£0.400m, Potential Impact of NSL Industrial Action £0.500m).
The directorate is working to mitigate these risks where possible.

13

Page 499

Future Outlook
5.9.

Work is underway to understand what options are available for ongoing leisure
provision and what financial impact this might have.

5.10.

There is also significant uncertainty on the impacts of Covid on commercial income.
The current projections assume a certain level of recovery following the pandemic.
The forward projections are based on a number of assumptions and these
projections could significantly change should the impacts continue through the year
or if there were any future lockdowns or delays to the economic recovery.

Children's Services
Expenditure
5.11.

Reported overspend of £1.282m, including £0.333m relating to Covid.

Education - £0.792m overspend
5.12.

SEN Transport is reporting a pressure (£0.287m) based on 75% of the total
identified, with the remaining 25% being reported as a risk until more live data is
available. 2020/21 was an anomalous year that saw a 25% reduction in the number
of trips taken, however this year's forecast reflects the expectation that numbers will
continue to rise beyond pre-pandemic levels.

5.13.

The needs of new starters and the number of routes not served by minibuses
resulting in an increased requirement for single occupancy taxi journeys continues to
be a factor, and the service is scoping a range of proposals to deliver transport
differently as part of the new MTFP. These include targeted reviews following
changes to circumstances, growth in personal transport budgets, further promotion of
independent travel training through the Local Offer and consideration of wider travel
options.

5.14.

Short Breaks is also reporting a pressure (£0.467m) based on 75% of the total
identified, with the balance flagged as a risk. Covid meant some families couldn’t
access their usual Short Breaks and the provision of alternative support means that
annual data is not easily comparable, so this position will continue to be reviewed as
more live data becomes available.

5.15.

Staffing continues to be a factor as demand for Short Breaks increases significantly.
Also included in the forecast are 40 Disabled Children’s Team placements for those
with more complex needs and costs reaching up to £95k per year after joint funding
contributions have been applied.

14

Page 500

5.16.

The directorate is working to mitigate these pressures with a number of initiatives
already underway. These include a directorate-wide review of commissioning
arrangements and a move towards more targeted preventative services.

Family Services - £0.358m overspend
5.17.

This month's improvement in variance is due predominantly to a review of S113 cost
sharing arrangements in the Tri-Borough Fostering & Adoption team, following work
undertaken by Westminster’s Transformation & Innovation team to ensure that each
borough’s recharges are equitable.

5.18.

The Council continues to face pressures arising from a shortfall in Home Office
funding for Former UASC Care Leavers when compared to the cost of providing
support. This is further exacerbated by the current age profile of UASC and the rate
at which they are turning 18. Care Leaver numbers continue to increase, with
growth in Former UASC Care Leavers accounting for a large part of this.

5.19.

Former UASC Care Leaver numbers include those with no further entitlement to
Home Office funding but whom the LA still supports until its statutory duties can be
discharged. Around a quarter of Former UASC Care Leavers were not entitled to
funding on 31st March 2021.

5.20.

Funding is payable at £270 per week for those who are eligible. This compares to an
average weekly placement cost of £800, and costs range from £525 to £3,600. The
shortfall is mitigated in part by the overall Home Office grant; however, this position
becomes less viable as increasing numbers of UASC turn 18 in-year resulting in a
cliff edge reduction in funding, from £1,001 per week to £270. (The full package of
support measures recently announced by the Home Office, which includes a £3m
contingency fund for dealing with backlogs arising from the pandemic, is yet to be
determined.)

5.21.

There are some staffing pressures arising from increased costs associated with a
more experienced workforce, and in-year pressures resulting from the impact of
planned staffing savings. The former has so far been mitigated in part through held
vacancies, which may present an on-going pressure. A full establishment review has
been completed and options for managing these pressures in the longer term are
being scoped.

WCC Registrars- £0.201m underspend
5.22.

Staffing pressures arising from the need to cover increasing numbers of wedding and
citizenship ceremonies are exceeded by an overachievement of income also arising
from the backlog.

COVID-19 - £0.333m overspend
5.23.

The reported position includes an early estimate of discretionary support for NRPF
families and the cost of continuing support to match the government Universal Credit
15

Page 501

increase for Former UASC and NRPF Care Leavers to September 2021. Delivery of
the 1066 Project, which was designed and delivered in conjunction with Westminster
Archives to help combat the detrimental impact of the pandemic on the mental health
and wellbeing of children in Westminster schools, is also included.
5.24.

The Covid Winter Grant (now the Covid Local Support Grant) and Holiday Activity
Fund will be spent on providing support to vulnerable children most at risk due to the
pandemic. This spend is reported separately from general Covid pressures and
allocations will be spent in full.

Savings Pressures (included in the directorate forecast) - £0.388m
5.25.

Undeliverable savings forming part of the forecast overspend include staffing
pressures in Safeguarding (£0.100m) and a pressure in MASH (£0.050m) relating to
partner activity. Savings relating to traded services with schools (£0.100m) are
undeliverable both this year and going forward due to the longer-term impact of
Covid on school budgets but have been achieved in part through education staffing
savings. Independent Travel Training (£0.050m) has been delayed due to Covid and
the saving will need reprofiling across future years as part of the initiative to deliver
transport differently - and current IT Case Management savings (£0.088m) are also
undeliverable and will be rescoped and reprofiled in line with the planned
implementation date for the new system on 1st April 2023.

Innovation and Change
Expenditure
5.26.

5.27.

At period 4, Innovation and Change is reporting an overspend of £0.135m against the
budget of £9.978m. This is a change of £0.135m from the nil variance reported last
month.
The overspend is within Cabinet and Committee Services (£0.115m) and was mostly
reported as a risk last month. The overspend is from salaries £0.175m from a recent
restructure pressure, offset by underspends on allowances £0.040m and other nonpay budgets £0.020m. There is also an overspend on salaries in Policy £0.095m on a
required post and £0.025m in CPMO, both of which had been reported as risks last
month. These overspends are offset by reported underspends in Lord Mayor's Office
£0.050m on part-year vacancies and also from net additional income of £0.050m in
City Promotions, Events and Filming.

5.28.

Net risks of £0.395m have been identified. This includes a £0.460m risk relating to
additional posts within Strategy and Intelligence, for which the source of funding is
yet to be identified. There is an opportunity reported on funding being explored for
part of the salary overspend in Cabinet and Committee services £0.065m.

5.29.

Within the MTFP savings targets totalling £0.945m, a total of £0.735m has already
been achieved from a combination of post deletions and other non-pay budget
reductions. The balance of £0.210m savings target relating to a review of the
efficiency and cost effectiveness of the Communications function as a whole is
currently on target to be achieved.

Income
5.30.

There is a net reported additional income of £0.050m.
16

Page 502

5.31.

There is a reported under recovery of income of £0.050m from Outdoor Media. There
were approved budget pressure adjustments to income targets in City Promotions,
Events and Filming of £2.760m reflecting reduced income as a result of the
pandemic on advertising and other service events. Currently the expected scenario
for Outdoor Media is that there is guaranteed income until at least December 2021,
business rates cover for nine months and for current contract income to resume from
January 2022. For The Flame, the expected scenario is for the 50% revenue share to
end in June 2021, for income from July 2021 to December 2021 to be at the same
level as experienced in October 2020 and for an assumed 50:50 share in the last
quarter year.

5.32.

The Events and Filming budget was adjusted to take into account the cancellation of
some large events. There is however forecast additional income in Events and
£0.100m in one-off commercial income from events associated with the Euro 2020
competition fan zones and applications.

Other Corporate Directorates
Expenditure
5.33.

A nil variance is being reported at period 4 against the approved budget of £4.278m
from People Services and Chief Executive Office. This variance has not changed
from the previous month forecast.

17

Page 503

6. HRA
6.1.

At the end of period 4 the Housing Revenue Account is forecasting a net nil variance
to budget, with net risks of £0.709m.

Housing Revenue Account:

Growth, Planning & Housing

Full Year
Budget
(£m)

Full Year
Forecast
(£m)

0.855

0.855

Full Year
Variance
(£m)

-

Projected
Variance
Risks
Opps
inc. Opps
Identified Identified
and
P4 (£m)
P4 (£m)
Risks P4
(£m)
1.983

(1.274)

0.709

6.2.

The £0.709m risk forecast is made up as follows:
o Director of Housing £0.104m adverse variance (staff costs);
o Property Services £1.070m favourable variance (salary underspends offset by
additional communal electricity and asbestos costs);
o Customer Services and Digital £0.203m favourable variance (salary underspend);
o Neighbourhoods £1.021m adverse variance (dwelling income under recovery and
additional water / drainage / sewage costs offset by salary underspend alongside
additional service charge and lease extension income);
o Housing Innovations and Improvements £0.009m adverse variance (salary
overspend);
o General HRA £0.849m adverse variance (increased insurance premiums, IT and
regeneration costs).

6.3.

The potential dwelling income under-recovery risk identified as part of the business
plan refresh is currently forecast at £1.244m. The additional leasehold service charge
income is currently forecast at £0.114m.

6.4.

The overall HRA staffing cost underspend is currently £1.942m, including salary
capitalisation.

18

Page 504

7. Capital Budget 2021/22
Overview
The table below summarises the Council’s budget and forecast position on the
2021/22 capital programme, which reflects a projected £23.885m gross expenditure
variance.

7.1.

2021/22
Exp
Budget
£m

ELT

2021/22
Inc
Budget
£m

2021/22
Net
Budget
£m

2021/22
Exp
Forecast
£m

2021/22 2021/22 2021/22
Income Net
Exp
Forecast Forecast Variance
£m
£m
£m

2021/22
Income
Variance
£m

2021/22
Net
Variance
£m

Adult's Services

1.669

(1.369)

0.300

0.937 (0.637)

0.300

(0.732)

0.732

0.000

Children's Services

28.126

(21.069)

7.057

22.189 (16.727)

5.462

(5.937)

4.342

(1.595)

Growth, Planning & Housing

108.415

(27.746)

80.669

87.007 (22.317)

64.690

(21.408)

Environment & City
Management
Finance and Resources

87.994

(35.020)

52.974

78.514 (31.002)

47.512

(9.480)

4.018

(5.462)

41.758

(13.210)

28.548

39.228 (13.000)

26.228

(2.530)

0.210

(2.320)

Westminster Builds inc.
Luton Street

46.460

0.000

46.460

63.199 (7.213)

55.986

16.739

(7.213)

9.526

Projects Funded from
Flexible use of Capital
Receipts
Total for Council

1.332

0.000

1.332

0.795

(0.537)

0.000

(0.537)

315.754

(98.414)

217.340

291.869 (90.896) 200.973

(23.885)

0.795

0.000

5.429 (15.979)

7.518 (16.367)

7.2.

There is an overspend on the Marble Arch Mound project with the forecast outturn in
the region of £6m (including the running costs) against a budget allocation of £3.3m.
This will be funded from within the overall £150m provision for the Oxford St District
programme. Further details on this will be reported to Members in due course,
following conclusion of the thorough internal review.

7.3.

The majority of the expenditure variance is due to the following projects:

Project

2021/22
Variance to Budget
Comments
£m
Variance to budget of £16.739m relates to both the
council investment in Westminster Builds (£13.881m
variance) and the Luton Street LLP (£2.858m
variance). The investment in Westminster Builds is
driven by the speed of delivery of schemes in the
pipeline of works. An updated version of the
Westminster Builds Business Plan has been
produced and approved by Cabinet since the budget
was set. This has identified the following is required;

Westminster Builds & Luton Street

16.739





19

Page 505

£7.132m of additional investment for
acquisitions of intermediate rental units at
Farm Street, West End Gate and Parsons
North, in support of council commitments
£8.258m additional investment, to be offset
by grant funding of £6.852m, for reprofiling
of the 300 Harrow Road scheme to align
with the current timelines in the Full
Business Case.





£1.585m additional investment offset by
grant income of £0.361m in the Jubilee
scheme and £2.331m additional investment
in the Luton Street scheme. These have
both been re-aligned to reflect good
progress on site.
A reduction of £5.545m due to the removal
of out-of-borough schemes from the
Business Plan, as requested by Cabinet.

The additional investment by the Council directly to
the Luton Street LLP of £2.858m relates to the backto-back loan arrangement with Westminster Builds.
£2.331m of this is the council directly matching WB’s
investment as per the loan agreements and reflects
the good progress on site. The LLP also agreed an
additional loan with the council of £0.640m to cover
agreed variations on the scheme .

Church Street Acquisitions

GPH's strategic acquisition budgets are expected to
underspend this financial year as acquisitions are
(1.138)
reprofiled into future years reflecting possibility of a
CPO (Compulsory Purchase Order).

Strand/Aldwych

Some works have been re-profiled due to the launch
event in September, closing the Strand to two-way
(1.554) traffic. This means no construction work will take place
for approximately 6 weeks.

Coroners Court Improvements

The coroners court improvements capital scheme is
unlikely to start until Q4 due to a review of the
procurement process so £1.799m spend is being
reprofiled to 22/23. There is a review of the
(1.799) procurement process currently in place to allow for a
thorough due diligence procurement process to take
place before work can continue and suppliers can be
paid.

Lisson Grove Programme

Forecast has been reduced to £1.304m (variance of
£2.026m) for 2021/22 due to a revised programme
and delayed appointment of the MDCT team (Multi(2.026) Disciplinary Consultancy Team). The budget was
reprofiled to accommodate when the MDCT
spending will start. Since the last period, there has
been a delay in progressing the design works.

Oxford Street District

Variance due to, in part, a reduction in professional
fees from original budget set last year. Some studies
(2.137) and design work on various workstreams such as
wayfinding and landscaping masterplans will now be
undertaken in 2022/23.

Public Conveniences Renovation Programme

Church Street Green Spine Public Realm

The renovation programme was delayed due to
(2.250) Covid and is now likely to begin later this year, with
many sites being refurbished next financial year.
The Church St Green spine project is now expected
to complete in Q1 22/23 due to contractor delays,
resulting in slippage of £2.073m. The underspend of
£1.060m is because the original estimate for a
(3.133)
contractor activity has reduced by £0.700m with the
remaining £0.300m being identified as revenue
costs that will be absorbed within current revenue
budgets

20

Page 506

Parking - Business Processing and
Technology

(3.250)

King Solomon School Expansion

(3.855)

Placeshaping Schemes

(4.117)

Temporary Accommodation acquisition
programme

(6.103)

Total

7.4.

The procurement of the new parking contract has been
delayed by 1 year because of the existing contract
being extended. Therefore, this budget will be profiled
to when the procurement commences.
There is a variance of £3.855m relating to King
Solomon Academy expansion project, in line with the
latest cash flow forecast. Across all project years, the
project is reflecting an overspend of £0.300m relating
to the installation of a ramp.
Reprioritisation of key staff resource within the
Placeshaping Team to address the Council’s response
to the pandemic which has led to a reprofiling of
activity.
The phasing submitted for this acquisition programme
(which comprises 7 separate projects) over the next
few years originally submitted was too optimistic. A
reprofiling over the next 4 years has been proposed by
the service which they believe is more realistic and
achievable and the TA revenue outturn forecast is
based on this reprofiling. The re-profiling has resulted
in expenditure of £18.7m being forecast, a reduction of
£6.1m from the original forecast. The majority of this
reduction relates to the Acquisitions for vulnerable
households project which is now being forecast to start
in 2022/23.

(14.623)

As can be seen in the table above, twelve projects/programmes contribute to the
majority (61%) of the expenditure variance. By way of comparison there are over 500
projects in the 2021/22 capital programme.

21

Page 507

Housing Revenue Account – Capital
7.5.

The HRA capital budget and forecast position is summarised in the table below.

HRA Capital Programme

2021/22
Revised
Budget
£m

2021/22
P4
Forecast
£m

46.787

43.041

(3.746)

106.826

82.119

(24.706)

43.415

40.011

(3.404)

197.028

165.171

(31.857)

Housing Planned Maintenance
Housing Regeneration
Other Projects
Total

2021/22
Budget
Variance
£m

7.6.

The HRA is forecasting an in-year underspend on capital expenditure of £31.857m.
This is mainly due to the knock-on consequences of the extended Covid-19 restrictions
which have had more impact than had been anticipated, particularly on projects that
are in community engagement stages. The impact of Covid-19 has until recently
caused delays to project completion and prevented access to properties in line with
Government guidelines. A number of HRA Planned Maintenance schemes have been
re-profiled into future years. Housing Regeneration and Other Projects will be reprofiled in the coming months through the capital budget setting process. Key
variances on individual projects are set out in the tables below.

7.7.

The HRA Planned Maintenance Programme covers works to existing Council Housing.
The table below summarises the £47m programme across its broad headings and sets
out our latest spend projections for each of the areas:

Component

Electrical & Mechanical Services
Voids and Aids & Adaptations
Fire Safety Programmes
Major Works
Other Schemes*
Total

Full Year
Budget

Forecast
P3

Forecast
P4

£'000

£'000

£'000

6,024
4,639
9,384
22,391
4,349
46,787

6,024
4,640
8,214
21,657
4,093
44,628

5,036
4,640
8,104
21,342
3,920
43,041

Budget Forecast
variance Movement
£'000

£'000

(988)
1
(1,280)
(1,049)
(429)
(3,746)

(988)
0
(110)
(315)
(174)
(1,587)

5.6.4 At period 4 there is a projected underspend of (£3.746m) compared to budget on the
Housing Planned Maintenance Programme. The reduction in the forecast has arisen
from delays on the rolling programme of works following contract negotiations with the
service provider during the pandemic.
7.8.

However, there is a risk of overspend within Voids and Aids and Adaptation due to an
increase in average cost, increases in referrals caused by the ageing population (Aids
and Adaptation) and also due to the poor standard of returned property (Voids).

22

Page 508

7.9.

At Period 4 there is a forecast underspend against budget of £24.7m for regeneration
schemes, this is largely due to programme delay. More specifically this position
includes the following forecast variances:






A £12.393m forecast underspend on the Ebury Regeneration scheme due to
contractor negotiation for Ebury Phase 1.
A £6.647m forecast underspend on Parsons North due to remaining project
contingency being reprofiled into 22/23.
A £4.229m forecast underspend on Lisson Arches due to delay in
the construction programme.
A £2.321m forecast underspend on Church Street Programme acquisitions due
to slippage in the scheme, and
A £0.627m forecast underspend on Carlton Dene due to a change in strategy for
demolition which is now programmed to take place in 22/23.

7.10. At Period 4 there is a forecast underspend against of budget of £3.404m for Other
Projects, again this is largely due to programme delay. This position includes the
following scheme forecasts:




A £2.820m forecast underspend on self-financing schemes due to reprofiling of
acquisition costs.
A £1.350m forecast underspend on 300 Harrow Road (Warwick Rd) due to delay
in the start of scheme construction by Westminster Builds, and
A corresponding delay in the planned buyback of social units into the HRA and a
£0.140m forecast overspend on infills schemes, these revised forecasts reflect
position set out in latest scheme cabinet member report.

Cross Cutting Development and Regeneration Schemes
7.11. There are a number of schemes where costs are budgeted to be incurred across
both the general fund and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). This section will be
used to provide a view of the whole scheme picture and any major variances against
the total scheme budget.
7.12. Church Street: There is a forecast variance of £3.459m on scheme acquisitions
(£1.138m in the GF and £2.321m in the HRA). This is due to delay in the progress of
the Church Street scheme.
7.13.

300 Harrow Road: This scheme is the first development scheme being directly
undertaken by Westminster Builds and as such it has taken longer than expected to
agree the commercial structure, financing and other aspects of this complex scheme.
Some of these elements are still to be finalised but overall this has resulted in a delay
in the programme and an in year underspend of £1.350m in the HRA related to the
planned expenditure for the buyback of social units.
In addition, the scheme review has resulted in some changes to how Affordable
Housing Fund (AHF) has been applied to the scheme. The budgeted 21/22 general
fund loan financing into Westminster Builds assumed that AHF would be used to
apply against company expenditure on the scheme. This assumption has now
changed increasing the loan financing required by the company for this scheme in
21/22 by £8.258m as shown in the Westminster Builds financing. The company will

23

Page 509

benefit from a corresponding increase in the residual land payment that it receives
from the council so scheme viability is not affected.

24

Page 510

8. Council Tax and Business Rates
8.1.


8.2.

Council Tax and Business Rates
The collection of business rates and council tax have been impacted by the Covid-19
outbreak as residents and businesses face an uncertain financial situation. The
restriction on courts has in effect suspend recovery action up to the month May 2021
for unpaid bills and reduced cash receipts, from June 2021 the council have started
recovery actions process and hope for a speedy stable recovery.
Collection Rates



As at July 2021 Council Tax collection rate to date is 43.33% which is 0.04% higher
than the same month last year. The Business Rates collection rate for July 2021 is
32.65%, which is 2.08% lower than the same month last year.



The backlog surrounding courts continues to have a negative effect on income
collected to date. There will be a programme of initiatives implemented to get
collection back on track once the courts are fully functioning and restrictions are
further eased.

8.3.


Overview
Council Tax and Business Rates are the Council’s largest income sources and the
Council has a responsibility to collect on behalf of the GLA and government. It
collects and recognises in its account the following:



Gross Council Tax (including GLA share): £111m
Gross Business Rates (Including GLA & Central Government share): £2.3bn



However, the Council only retains £182m of this income (Council Tax £62m and
Business Rates £120.5m) for its own use. If there is a reduced business rates
income as witnessed through Covid the maximum the Council can lose is £6.8m,
reducing the recognised income from £120.5m to £113.7m.



Also, it should be noted that the collection figures in this section are based on gross
income and collection rates for July 2021.

8.4.

July 2021/22
Collection Rate

July 2020/21
Collection Rate

Business
Rates

32.65%

34.73%

Council Tax

43.33%

43.29%

July 2019/20
Collection Rate
42.9%
47.0%

The collection for business rates and council tax is still below pre pandemic levels.
However, the budget approved in March anticipated this and made an allowance for
lower collection in the Council’s budget.

25

Page 511

8.5.

Business rates are still below pre pandemic levels and the signs are that the Council
will be in a safety net position on its collection fund by the end of the year. Therefore
the Council will need to absorb any loss up to 7.5% of its baseline budget and this
will be considered as part of next year’s budget setting process.

8.6.

Council Tax recovery has surpassed the rates reported last year, especially in the
first 3 months. As at Period 4 we are reporting the same collection rate as last year
but still below pre-pandemic levels.

26

Page 512

9. Treasury and Pensions
Treasury
9.1.

Investment balances as at 31 July 2021 stood at £585.1m. The weighted average
return in period 4 was 0.22%. This compared to an average investment balance of
£612.4m in period 3, which generated an average return of 0.21%.

9.2.

As at 31July 2021, these investments are placed in fixed term deposits (banks and
local authorities), money market funds, UK government treasury bills and notice
accounts.

9.3.

The five largest holdings were:

Counterparty Name
UK Government Treasury Bills
Morgan Stanley Sterling Liquidity Fund
Deutsche Sterling Platinum Liquidity Fund
DMADF (Debt Management Account Deposit Facility)
Santander Bank
Total

27

Page 513

Amount (£m)
130.87
70.00
70.00
56.20
50.00
377.07

%
22.37
11.96
11.96
9.61
8.55
64.45

9.4.

Prudential indicators to 31 July 2021 have all been complied with.

9.5.

All investments are currently within the limits set out in the 2021/22 Treasury
Management Strategy Statement.

Pensions
9.6.

The valuation of the City of Westminster Pension Fund at the end of period 4
increased by £32m from period 3 (£1.844bn) to £1.876bn. This was largely due to
excellent performance within the Morgan Stanley and LGIM equity mandates
alongside a £20m deficit recovery receipt from the Council, which was paid over to
the custodian. The estimated funding level for the Westminster Pension Fund was
101.8% as at 30 June 2021 (102.3% at 31 March 2021). The funding level for
Westminster City Council as an employer has remained stable, with a funding level of
91.0% as at 30 June 2021 (91.0% at 31 March 2021). The Council plans to pay off its
deficit by 2022, with a final payment of £80.0m due during 2021/22.

Asset Values
9.7.

The table below shows 12 months valuations to 31 July 2021.

Market
Value

Aug- SepOct- Nov- DecJan- Feb- MarApr- May- June- July20
20
20
20
20
21
21
21
21
21
21
21
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
1,612 1,593 1,575 1,672 1,707 1,689 1,692 1,749 1,805 1,788 1,844 1,876

Pension Fund Cash Flow
9.8.

The balance on the Pension Fund bank account at the end of period 4 was £3.726m
(£21.48m in period 3). Payments from the bank account will continue to exceed
receipts on a monthly basis. During the year cash withdrawals from cash at custody
are expected to take place to maintain a positive cash balance. A total of £3m was
withdrawn from the custodian over the quarter. In addition to this, the Council made a
£20m deficit recovery payment during June to the Pension Fund, this was paid over
to the custodian for safeguarding.

Total Receipts and Payments in the quarter to 31 July 2021 (£000)
Bank
Opening
Bal

May-21

Jun-21

July-21

£000

£000

£000

£000

5,531

26,289

5,052

(5,150)

(5,695)

(22,806)

380

20,594

(17,755)

886

21,480

3,726

Total Receipts
Total Payments
Net Cash Flow
Cumulative Bank Balance

506

28

Page 514

Update on the London CIV (LCIV)
9.9.

The value of Pension Fund investments managed by the London CIV at the end of
period 4 was £921m (£918m in period 3), a slight increase of £3m. The LCIV
holdings represents 49% of the pension fund investments of £1.876bn at 31 July
2021. A further £433m continues to benefit from reduced management fees, LGIM
having reduced their fees to match those available through the LCIV.

Cash Management
9.10.

Following the sale of the Hermes property mandate during January 2021, the cash
balance held at Northern Trust was c. £60m. Cash balances held within Northern
Trust accounts attract a nominal interest rate of 0.0% on Sterling balances, following
the fall in Bank of England base rase to 0.1% in March 2020. On 24 June 2021, the
Committee approved the account opening and use of the Northern Trust Sterling
Conservative Ultra ESG Fund, as the main account for any future asset transitions
involving cash receipts.

9.11.

The Northern Trust Sterling ESG Fund seeks to provide a yield in excess of money
market funds, with a lower volatility than short duration bond funds. The target
duration of the fund is 0.5 years and is suitable for investors with a three to ninemonth investment horizon. The fund invests within sterling denominated investment
grade government, corporate and asset backed securities. An ESG exclusionary
screening is integrated into the investment process to ensure sustainability of the
investment. The fund is benchmarked against the Bloomberg Barclays Sterling Gilt 0
to 12 months GBP Unhedged and has returned 0.805% since inception in August
2019, outperforming the benchmark by 0.495%.

9.12.

The Pension Fund placed a £50m subscription into the fund on 29 July 2021, with the
intention of holding this investment for at least the next 6-9 months. As the
infrastructure funds drawdown over the next year, cash will be withdrawn from the
ESG short duration fund to finance these subscriptions.

29

Page 515

10. Westminster Schools’ – Period 4 (July) 2021/22
10.1.1 The Bi-Borough Schools’ Finance team provides support to 40 maintained schools
and nurseries in the borough of Westminster with total delegated budgets of £45.1m
funded from the Schools Block of the Dedicated School’s Grant (DSG).
10.1.2 The 2021/22 headcount for schools in the borough reduced by a net of 221 pupils as
per the October 2020 census. Primary school numbers fell by 367 (to 9,039) and
conversely secondary schools increased by 146 (to 9,079). Westminster’s Schools
Block funding increased by 2.7% per pupil.
10.2 Schools with Deficit Balances
10.2.1 Schools in Westminster face a number of challenges this year, particularly primary
schools with falling rolls. There are thirteen schools (including two maintained
nurseries) that ended 2020/21 in deficit. This compares with fourteen schools at the
end of 2019/20.
10.2.2 The thirteen schools shown with revised deficits in table 1 below are all RAG rated as
red to highlight the urgent need for a sustainable position to be maintained in order to
return to a balanced budget position. Collectively, these schools had an aggregate
deficit of £1.778m at 31st March 2021.
10.2.3 Of the thirteen schools, ten now have licensed deficit recovery plans in place and one
will balance in year. Work is in progress to finalise plans with the remaining two
schools. The recovery plans have also been checked to ensure they take account of
the estimated September 2021 reception numbers which is covered in the separate
section below. Monthly reporting to the LA is compulsory for schools with recovery
plans in place and monitoring reports are being actively pursued.
Table 1 – Settings requiring Licensed Deficit Recovery Plans

Licensed Recovery
Plan

School Name
Dorothy Gardner

Yes

Portman

Yes

All Souls' CE Primary School

Yes

Burdett Coutts CE Primary School

Yes

Soho Parish CE Primary School

Yes

St George's Hanover Square

No

St Luke's CE Primary School

Yes

St Mary Magdalene's CE Primary School

Yes

St Mary of the Angels Catholic School

Yes

St Saviour's CE Primary School

Yes

St Stephen's CE Primary School

Balances in year

St Vincent De Paul Catholic School

Yes

Westminster Cathedral Catholic School

No

Total

30

Page 516

10.3 Schools at Risk – RAG Rating and Reserve Balances
10.3.1 Schools RAG rated red (listed in Table 1 above) have no reserves or a deficit
balance and require a deficit recovery plan.
10.3.2 Schools with amber RAG ratings are at risk of future financial difficulty due to their
reserves having reduced by prior or in year deficits to the extent that a further
reduction of similar magnitude would result in a deficit balance within 2 years and so
need to take action to reverse the trend.
10.3.3 These schools have also been offered support with financial management, ranging
from cross-departmental training delivered to staff and governors (involving School
Standards and Finance colleagues) to assistance with producing recovery plans and
budget monitoring and requests received vary according to the school’s needs.
10.3.4 Green RAG rated schools have enough reserves to cover a future in year deficit
equal in value to a current year deficit, should this occur.
Table 2 – RAG Ratings

RAG Rating
Red
Amber
Green
Total

2020/21 Closing (Outturn)
13
1
26
40

2021/22 Closing (Forecast)
11
13
16
40

10.4 Supporting Schools
10.4.1 A financial adviser is supporting schools with deficits in their production of robust
deficit recovery plans and is also starting to review those at risk of going into deficit.
10.4.2 Schools are facing increasing and ongoing funding pressures particularly due to
falling school rolls and with the agreement of the Schools’ Forum, external
consultants ISOS have taken a strategic review of school finances and pupil
projections. The recommendations from the report are being taken forward by a
schools’ working group and meetings have been held with the 12 schools identified
as having the highest risk.
10.4.3 Further meetings will take place with schools deemed to be at high risk into the
autumn to help them develop plans to mitigate those risks, pending a meeting of the
working group in September, a further report to Schools Forum and to the new
Education Partnership Board in the autumn.
10.4.4 ISOS will also conduct some further analysis of school 3-year budget planning and
the viability and risk factors associated with that work given falling pupil rolls.

31

Page 517

10.5 Reception 2021 Outcomes
10.5.1 National offer day for reception 2021 entry was 16 April 2021. A second round of
offers were made on 12 May 2021. Whilst the process of offers and withdrawals is
an evolving process for several months, the declining resident application cohort and
initial offers made provides an early indication of expected numbers that will start
school in September.
10.5.2 The overall resident application cohort was down by 8% (1,126 applications
compared to 1,221 in 2020). To put in context, London as a whole has seen an 8%
decline in primary reception applications. The projected surplus capacity for
reception in September 2021 is currently 25%. A reduction in reception numbers of
8% would result in a DSG reduction of about £0.560m (0.5%). The current year 6
bulge in pupil numbers leaving primary school in July is also estimated to result in a
reduction of about £0.620m (0.5%). Primary school pupil led funding would reduce on
average by £5,136 for each pupil reduction. These reduction in primary pupil
numbers, while not finalised, will increase financial viability risks.
10.6 School Forecasts
10.6.1 The table below sets out year end balances as at 31/03/21 and forecasts for 2021/22
received from schools. Deficit schools are required to provide monthly updates, with
other schools providing quarterly finance reports.

32

Page 518

Schools

(Surplus)/Deficit
@ 31/03/21
£000

Forecast
(Surplus) /
Deficit @
31/03/22
£000

In Year
Movement
£000

Dorothy Gardner

75

(80)

(5)

Mary Patterson

(10)

9

(1)

57

11

68

Tachbrook

(372)

98

(274)

NURSERY SCHOOLS

(250)

38

(211)

Portman

All Souls' CE Primary School

Licensed Recovery
Plan

School Type

Yes

Nursery
Nursery

Yes

Nursery
Nursery

71

(18)

53

Barrow Hill Junior School

(35)

(20)

(55)

Burdett Coutts CE Primary School

149

(0)

149

Christ Church Bentinck CE Primary School

(186)

83

(103)

CE VA

Edward Wilson Primary School

(328)

28

(301)

Community

Essendine Primary School

Yes

CE VA
Community

Yes

CE VA

(87)

(23)

(110)

Community

George Eliot Primary School

(296)

226

(70)

Community

Hallfield Primary School

(276)

201

(75)

Community

Hampden Gurney CE Primary School

(140)

80

(60)

CE VA

Our Lady of Dolours Catholic Primary School

(235)

59

(175)

CATH VA

Queen's Park Primary School

(209)

14

(195)

Community

Robinsfield Infant School

(112)

31

(81)

Soho Parish CE Primary School

256

(125)

131

St Augustine's CE Primary School

(27)

(18)

(45)

CE VA

St Barnabas CE Primary School

(73)

26

(46)

CE VA

St Clement Danes CE Primary School

(90)

34

(56)

CE VA

St Edward's Catholic Primary School

(237)

117

(120)

CATH VA

St Gabriel's CE Primary School

(108)

26

(82)

31

(8)

23

St James' And St John CE School

(85)

33

(52)

St Joseph's Catholic Primary School

(38)

13

(26)

St Luke's CE Primary School

151

(59)

91

Yes

CE VA

St Mary Magdalene's CE Primary School

114

(51)

63

Yes

CE VA

Yes

CATH VA

St George's Hanover Square

Community
Yes

CE VA

CE VA
No

CE VA
CE VA
CATH VA

St Mary Of The Angels Catholic School

121

6

127

St Mary's Bryanston Square CE School
St Matthew's CE Primary School

(37)
(64)

20
12

(17)
(52)

CE VA
CE VA

(213)

104

(109)

CE VA

(2)

(1)

(3)

CE VA

St Saviour's CE Primary School

390

(93)

297

St Stephen's CE Primary School

15

(19)

St Vincent De Paul Catholic School

39

(2)

37

(163)

113

(50)

308

43

351

(1,395)

831

(564)

St Augustine's CE High School

(689)

266

(423)

SECONDARY SCHOOLS

(689)

266

(423)

College Park

(378)

212

(166)

Community

QE2

(646)

241

(405)

Community

SPECIAL SCHOOLS

(1,024)

453

(571)

ALL SCHOOLS TOTAL

(3,357)

1,588

(1,769)

St Peter's CE Primary School
St Peter's Eaton Square CE School

St Vincent's Catholic Primary School
Westminster Cathedral Catholic School
PRIMARY SCHOOLS

33

Page 519

Yes

(4) Balanced in year
Yes

CE VA
CE VA
CATH VA
CATH VA

No

CATH VA

CE VA

11 Subsidiaries
11.1 Overview
The Council owns several subsidiary companies including dormant entities planned for
closure. This report provides a financial overview of the main trading entities of Westminster
Builds (WB), Westminster Community Homes (WCH) and Westco Trading (WestCo) as at
period 4.
11.2 Westminster Builds (WB)
11.2.1 WB (comprised of Westminster Housing Investments Ltd and Westminster Housing
Developments Ltd) undertakes a number of strategic developments and acquisitions
in order to unlock key regeneration sites of the Council and increase the number of
homes in Westminster, particularly for affordable housing. It is wholly owned by the
Council, and WB in turn owns a 50% share in Luton Street Development LLP.
Actual YTD at P4

542

Forecast variance
000's
402

(704)

(715)

(11)

(144)

Net Operating surplus/(Deficit)
Net interest

(564)
310

(173)
161

391
(149)

(97)
24

YTD Surplus/(deficit)

(254)

(12)

242

(73)

Profit and Loss (YTD)

Budget

Forecast

Total Income

140

Total Expenditure

47

Budget v forecast variance comment
Rental Income from the following acquisitions (Farm Street, West End Gate &
Parsons North) that will take place before financial year end are included in
the forecast figure.
Higher than budget expenditure due to revenue costs of the acquisitions
which were not budgeted at the start of the year.
Interest will flex with the scheme forecasting and is expected to deviate from
budget during the year when further refinement of schemes and profiling
occurs. The increase in interest payable is also down to the acquisition sites
above scheduled to come into WB from September.

11.2.2 As at period 4 WB is forecasting a year end loss of (£12k) which is an improvement
of £242k on the budgeted position.
11.2.3 Total income is forecast at £402k above budget due to rent from the acquisition sites
of Farm Street, West End Gate and Parsons North which were not anticipated. There
is also additional income for the management fees from Luton Street Developments
LLP. Within the £402k income variance above is £130k relating to savings identified
below.
11.2.4 A projected overspend of £141k at year end of revenue costs linked to acquisitions
will be offset by savings of £131k, giving a net forecast overspend of £11k.
11.2.5 Net interest is forecast (£149k) below budget due to an increase in interest payable
arising from financing the unbudgeted acquisition schemes. This increase in interest
payable is offset by the increased income from rental income from the acquisition
schemes as highlighted in para 9.2.3 above.
11.2.6 At period 4 WB is reporting a loss of (£73k) which is £80k lower than the loss in the
YTD budget. Key variances are:





£13k underspend on consultants
£20k saving as external resourcing has not been utilised as expected.
£17k in the budget for WB website build which is currently on hold.
£22k reduction in staff expenses. The forecast will be closely monitored in line
with management changes within WB

34

Page 520

11.3 Westminster Community Homes (WCH)
11.3.1 WCH provides affordable housing to Westminster residents, it currently owns and
rents out approximately 500 properties to City Council nominees. In addition, it is also
a housing development vehicle which assists in the delivery of WCC’s strategic
housing objectives. WCH is wholly controlled by the Council.
Budget

Forecast

Total Income

4,270

4,469

Budget v
Forecast variance
000's
199

Total Expenditure

(2,279)

(2,415)

(136)

Profit and Loss (YTD)

P4 YTD Actual
1,490
(805)

Net Operating surplus/(Deficit)

1,991

2,054

63

685

Amortisation and depreciation

(1,424)

(1,426)

(2)

(475)

Gain on sale of net assets

(288)

(288)

-

-

Net interest

(411)

(411)

-

(137)

YTD Surplus/(deficit)

(132)

(70)

62

73

Budget v forecast variance comment
Income is forecasted to be higher than budget mainly due to the prudent
approach taken to setting the rent budget in 20/21.
Expenditure is forecasted to be higher than budget mainly due to the bad
debt provision for tenant arrears following overall increases in rent arrears
YTD. Additionally, YTD there have been higher than forecasted utility bills and
the estimated service charge invoice from WCC Lessee services was
considerably higher than budget.

Amortisation and depreciation are in line with budget as there have been no
disposals and only one property acquisition in 20/21.
There have been no sales in 20/21 and the component write off adjustment
(which is the £288k) will not be completed until P12.
These represent loan interest to WCC which will be paid in P12.

Key points of note are as follows:







As at period 4 WCH forecast an end of year loss of (£70k) which is a £62k
improvement on budget.
Total income is forecast £199k above budget. The approach to rent setting for the
20/21 budget has been revised in light of past overoptimistic budgeting leading to
significant adverse variances.
Total expenditure is forecast (£136k) overspent mainly due to the bad debt provision
for tenant arrears and service charge invoices being higher than budget.
Amortisation and depreciation, gain on sale of net assets and net interest are all
forecast to be in line with budget.
At period 4 WCH is reporting a YTD profit of £73k.

11.4 Westco Trading (WestCo)
11.5 WestCo provides communications support and business transformation programmes
mainly to public sector clients including WCC. WestCo is also wholly owned by the
Council.
Budget

Forecast

Total Income

3,774

3,742

Budget v
Forecast variance
000's
(33)

Total Expenditure

(3,772)

(3,682)

90

(1,395)

2
2

59
59

57
57

9
9

Profit and Loss (YTD)

Net Operating surplus/(Deficit)
YTD Surplus/(deficit)

P4 YTD Actual
1,404

Budget v forecast variance comment
Income is forecasted to be marginally lower than budget as there is a
expectation of reduced work completed by Westco for WCC. This has been
largely offset by external clients with new work secured - particularly from
the campaign hub.
Lower than forecasted expenditure mainly due to staff leavers whose roles
are being backfilled by existing staff.

11.6. Westco is undergoing an internal restructure and therefore the 2021/22 budget has
been set in line with commercial activities known at period 2. There is an expectation
that WCC work will decline but will be partially offset by external client work.
Additionally, there has been a focus on reducing overheads and costs and these
savings are expected to materialise in the latter half of 2021/22.

35

Page 521

11.7. Other key points of note are as follows:






As at period 4 Westco is forecasting a profit of £59k which is £57k above budget.
Income is forecast (£33k) below budget as work from WCC will reduce throughout
21/22. However, YTD there has been an overall increase in external work,
particularly from the campaign hub and this is forecast to continue throughout the
remainder of the year.
Expenditure is forecast £90k below budget mainly as a result of staff leavers roles
being covered by existing staff.
At period 4 Westco is reporting a YTD £9k profit with surpluses in period 3 and period
4 offsetting losses in period 1 and period 2.

36

Page 522

Appendix 1

Directorate

Adults
Adults
Adults
Adults
Adults
Adults
Adults
Adults
Adults

Description/Service

£000s

Adults
Review of Contracts
150
Improved Market Management
300
Bi-Borough Process and Policy Review
75
Promoting Independence
200
Contract saving - Transition into Beachcroft
543
Contract saving - LD services
300
Staffing Review (restructure, agency spend and vacancy factor)
595
Review of Bed Capacity
600
Increased focus on prevention and greater utilisation of community strength and assets
300
Adults Total
3,063

Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's
Children's

Childrens’s
Education Funding and Efficiencies:
EHCP/Joint Funding Strategy
MASH/LSCB
Joint Working Opportunities
Pre-Birth to Five Service Redesign
Passenger Transport Alternative Delivery Mechanisms
Libraries Transformation
Joint Funding with CCG
Traded Service Review - Additional Savings
Agency spend reductions / vacancy factor on salary budgets
Staffing Review
IT Case Management System
Children’s Total

75
250
50
130
250
50
300
350
100
300
625
88
2,568

Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways
Environment & Highways

Environment & City Management
Future City Management
Parking
Highways Fees and Charges Review
Implementation of SMART Lighting
Championing Innovation in Highways Maintenance and Management
Strategic Review of Street Cleansing Provision
Parks - Surrender Leasehold Sites
Parking
Parking
Parking - Traffic-Sensitive Streets Kerbside Management
Public Protection and Licensing
Community Services
Highways Infrastructure & Public Realm
Highways Infrastructure & Public Realm
Highways Infrastructure & Public Realm
Public Protection and Licensing
Public Protection and Licensing
Public Protection and Licensing
Public Protection and Licensing
EMC Total

700
80
40
60
250
158
30
315
70
350
100
200
140
250
90
250
100
110
120
3,413

37

Page 523

Shortfall of
savings not
on-track to
be met
(£000s)

RAG

B
B
B
G
B
B
G
G
G
-

50
250

88
388

250

60
100

410

G
G
A
G
R
G
G
G
G
G
G
A

G
G
G
G
R
G
G
G
G
G
R
R
G
G
G
G
G
G
G

Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing
Growth, Planning & Housing

Innovation and Change
Innovation and Change
Innovation and Change
Innovation and Change
Innovation and Change
Innovation and Change
Innovation and Change

Growth, Planning & Housing
Rental income from Intermediate Housing
Place Shaping and Town Planning - Service Improvements
Reduce Planning overtime to support committee meetings and appeals.
Delete Head of Town Planning post (currently vacant)
Reduction in Regen spend with WestCo
Review of legal costs in Housing Solutions
Review use of transport and storage costs in Housing Solutions
Registered Providers - Grant Funding Review
Targeted Purchases for Vulnerable Households
Capital Letters - Pan London
Cost Recovery of drafting S106 agreements
Stop Press Notices for Planning Apps
TA Purchase Programme
Planning Income
Temporary Accommodation
GPH Total
Innovation and Change
City Promotions, Events and Filming - non-pay budget efficiencies
City Promotions, Events and Filming - post deletion
Policy and Projects - deletion of two posts
Policy and Projects - non pay budget efficiencies
Campaigns and Media - deletion of four posts
Operations - deletion of post
Review of the Communications function
I & C Total

100
150
26
110
100
50
50
500
70
50
20
30
94
500
600
2,450

58
47
155
100
180
50
210
800

Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources
Finance & Resources

Finance & Resources
Technology Refresh
Network and Telephony
Investment Property Growth
Legal Fee Charges for Corporate Management
Local Land Charges income
Repurposing Building
Bi-Borough IT Service Desk consolidation
Reduced use of multi functional devices
Further IT network savings
Review of Bi-Borough IT Service
CED Strategy: microsites
Corporate Finance vacancy saving
Realignment of Claimant Contact Facilities for the Council's Benefits service
Review of C&FM
Cabinet Secretariat, Member and Committee Services - transforming ways of working
Member allowances - non pay efficiencies
Review of internal audit
Senior Management Review
Further IT Contract Savings
Finance and Resources Total

90
300
1,000
50
40
100
95
25
225
250
30
50
90
100
125
20
100
700
100
3,490

Collaborative Savings
Collaborative Savings
Collaborative Savings
Collaborative Savings
Collaborative Savings
Collaborative Savings
Collaborative Savings

Collaborative Savings
Staffing - agency spend
Community Commissioning
Automatic streaming of software licences
Business support review
CED strategy: contact centre review
Consolidating Common Areas of Expenditure
Fees and Charges Increase for 2021/22
Collaborative Total

550
90
15
2,050
500
210
3,209
6,624

HRA Savings
HRA Savings

TOTAL
HRA Savings
Savings on arrangements for Post Inspection of Repairs
Savings on arrangements for Housing Communications
HRA Total
Grand Total

38

Page 524

45

500

A
G
G
G
B
G
G
B
G
G
G
G
G
A
G

545

B
B
B
B
B
B
G
-

250

100
350

2050
500

G
B
G
B
B
G
B
G
G
A
G
B
G
B
B
B
B
G
A

G
G
G
A
A
G
G

2,550

22,407
380
178
558
22,965

B
G
4,243

Audit and Performance
Committee Report
Date:
Classification:
Title:
Wards Affected:
City for All Summary:

Author:

29 September 2021
General Release
2021/22 Quarter One Performance Report
All
This report gives progress updates assessments
against organisational performance, including
progress toward City for All objectives.
Strategy and Performance Team

1.

Executive Summary

1.1.

This performance report summarises the Council’s performance and progress at the
end of quarter one 2021/22. It presents the latest cumulative results available for
each key performance indicator (KPI) at the end of quarter 1 where possible (April
2021 – June 2021). Availability of results for some KPIs vary and may not align to the
quarterly performance reporting cycle. In these cases, the latest position available is
reported.

1.2.

The main body of the report consists of:
 Headline messages including top achievements, issues, risks and KPIs at quarter
one 2021/22
 Top pressures for the Council
 High-level update on the Council’s strategic and operational risks
 Summary of the Covid-19 impacts to date.
The appendix includes detailed performance information by directorate
(achievements, issues, KPIs and risk).

2.

Recommendations

2.1.
2.2.

Committee to note the performance updates at quarter one.
Committee to indicate any areas where they require more information or clarification.

Page 525
1

Quarter One Performance Report – 2021/22
1. Headline Achievements
This section highlights the Council’s headline achievements for quarter one. The Council’s
key achievements across all services can be read in more detail in the appendix.
The Council continued its response to the Covid-19 pandemic shown by the following:
 Vaccination calls workstream - between April and June 2021, the Public Health
team, with the support of wider Council colleagues coordinated the local NHS
programme to call around 24,000 unvaccinated Westminster residents about their
vaccination needs. The calls confirmed residents’ vaccination status and/or offered
help to those needing support to become vaccinated.


Roll out of the 1066 Covid Recovery Project across primary schools - lockdown has
had a particularly serious and detrimental effect on children's mental health and
wellbeing. To promote the wellbeing of children attending our primary schools,
Children’s Services, Libraries and the Archive Service have worked in partnership
with MoD productions to develop a workshop with an historical focus based on the
Norman Conquest of 1066. The programme is aimed at years 4 to 6 and explores
how we can develop resilience and innovation from adversity and tragedy.



Reopening the City – there were two government relaxations of freedom during
the quarter. This has taken a combined effort from the entire ECM directorate
alongside other directorates, volunteers, redeployed officers and partners to
successfully manage the reopening of the City.



Oxford Street showcase delivered to create more space for people to shop and
enjoy Oxford Street. The temporary improvement works include extending
pedestrian space and footways, significant increase in plants and green areas to
enhance the streetscape, contemporary seating, particularly in ‘pocket’ spaces
along the street, colourful, themed banners which will be designed to create a
sense of place and aesthetic continuity and concept lighting.



The West End Activations and Pop-Up Project - this project seeks to trial and test
innovative uses of Westminster’s ground floor spaces to contribute to a more
resilient, inclusive and thriving local economy post-Covid. Throughout the Summer
of 2021, the project will deliver 40 activations across the West End using creative
installations, displaying local creative talent, working with existing UK and
international brands and showcasing innovative start-ups to provide immediate
support for Westminster’s high streets and in particular the West End.

Other achievements to highlight include:
 Westminster City Council unveiled a green plaque in Paddington honouring The
Windrush Generation for the contributions they made to the UK.


Westminster achieved its highest response rate for the census in over 40 years.



The City Highways team and their contractor FM Conways won the Chartered
Institution for Highways and Transportation Ringway Climate Change Award 2021
for the King Street Carbon Efficient Scheme.

Page 526
2

2. Top pressures faced by the Council
This section captures our top pressures, which have been informed by the Council’s top risks
and issues.
Covid-19 continues to cause issues for the Council to address, such as:
 Mental health and emotional wellbeing support needs - the Covid-19 pandemic is
having a detrimental impact on the emotional wellbeing and mental health of children
and young people, with estimates of an increase in need of up to 50% (NHS Digital). In
a survey carried out locally by Young Healthwatch Westminster, 88% of children and
young people said that Covid-19 has had an impact on their mental health. This impact
will be felt longer term over the coming years, with the level of underlying mental
health problems expected to remain significantly higher because of the pandemic.


High youth unemployment figures - over one year after the first lockdown, NEET (16–
17-year-olds) and claimant count (18–24-year-olds) continue at high levels. From a
March 2020 position of 415, the 18-24 claimant count peaked at 1,585 in February
2021. Figures for May 2021 indicate a small decline to 1,480 although it is too early to
indicate whether this is the start of a downwards trend. This trend has been largely
mirrored across other inner London boroughs. The latest figures for August 2021 are
1,210. This shows a substantial fall since the February peak, but still well above precovid levels



Low uptake of vaccines will lead to outbreak situations, with particular risk to our
most ethnically diverse communities, in areas of highest deprivation and amongst care
staff. A vaccination plan has been implemented to ensure engagement across the
system to maximise uptake.



Surge in flu and Covid infections. A robust winter plan will be in place which will
include an approach to targeting flu vaccinations to vulnerable groups and children.
We are awaiting the outcome of clinical guidance to potentially administer Covid-19
and flu vaccines at the same time.

There have been some new issues of significance reported this quarter, which include:
 Government changes to introduce Class E to Residential Permitted Development
Right - Government announced a new permitted development right for change of use
from Class E (wide range of commercial and community uses) to residential. In some
locations, the loss of commercial uses to residential uses within town centres may
undermine place shaping work the Council is undertaking (e.g. along Harrow Road).
The City Planning Policy Team is developing an evidence base, with assistance from
Place Shaping and Town Planning officers, to demonstrate the need for a further
Article 4 Direction preventing Class E to residential permitted changes of use within
other designated ‘Town Centres’ outside the CAZ. These designations were made in
the new City Plan. The Council is aiming to introduce an additional Article 4 Direction
in September 2021 for these areas.


The cost of steel, concrete, shipping containers and diesel (for plant) is increasing.
While this won’t have an immediate impact on the cost of Highways works, it will
result in a rise in contract costs in the next financial year as Indexation for increased

Page 527
3

material price is applied. The financial implication is currently being assessed and will
feature in the budget discussions taking place during Quarter 3 of this year.


At the time of writing, the Marble Arch Mound project has emerged as a key issue for
the Council following the unsuccessful launch at the end of July and the unacceptable
increase in costs. A thorough internal review has been announced which will feed into
future reports to Committee once complete.

As reported last quarter, our risks show that increasing demand for services is still a
significant source of pressure, in addition to the stresses placed on the borough by the
climate crisis:


High pressure on our short breaks service - provision of short breaks is a statutory
duty for Children’s Services. Increased referrals for short break services puts pressure
on our team’s capacity and on funding (some of which comes from our High Needs
Block). Due to the growing demand for short break places we have worked to create
hubs and satellite services that provide access in north and south of the borough. Our
Short Breaks menu has now been created and launched on the local offer website. We
are currently looking at further developments to improve our youth and 0-5 offer
across both boroughs. Referrals have continued to remain high during covid at 6 per
week. However, we have now reorganised the short break practitioner team into
three areas.



Ongoing pressures in the Special Educational Needs or disabilities (SEND) service - an
increasing number of young people are being identified with SEND and
schools/settings are referring them for statutory assessment. This is creating pressure
on services undertaking assessment within statutory timescales, including the
provision of specialist advice from therapists. In June 2021 this pressure resulted in
the first late assessment across Bi borough since Feb 2020. To manage this risk,
schools are engaged in review of high needs and proposals for reducing expenditure
and ensuring the funding is used in the most effective way will be presented to the
Schools Forum. We also undertake regular management oversight of local area
inspection preparations, with management actions taken where necessary.



A range of wider market dynamics contributes to increasing financial pressures
placed on the Council, including changing levels of service demand, the impacts of
Covid-19, Brexit, and central government policy. These affect services across the
Council in different ways; however, ultimately, they could impact service quality and
delivery and therefore residents and businesses, our overall financial position and
reputation. The Medium-Term Planning process is in place as a mitigating action to
ensure the Council balances its budget and identifies savings that can be made.

Page 528
4

The table presented below shows the top scoring risk(s) for each directorate within the Council.
We have witnessed an increase in score this quarter for the High pressure on our short breaks
service to reflect an increase in the likelihood of this risk being realised, and a decrease in
Covid-19 Pandemic as the vaccination programme enabled the easing of lockdown restrictions.
Please see the appendix for detail on the full list of top risks from each directorate.
Risk title and description
Widening Health Inequalities

Directorate

Score (out of 25)
16

There is a risk that health inequalities will widen in
Westminster.

Adult Social Care &
Public Health

0

16

16

0

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

High pressure on our short breaks service
Provision of short breaks is a statutory duty. Increased
referrals for short break services puts pressure on our
team’s capacity and on funding (some of which comes from
our High Needs Block).

12
9

9

Children’s Services

0

0

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

Ongoing pressures with SEN service
An increasing number of young people are being identified
with SEND and schools/settings are referring them for
statutory assessment. This is creating pressure on services
undertaking assessment within statutory timescales,
including the provision of specialist advice from therapists.

12

12

16

12

12

Children’s Services
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

Covid-19 Pandemic
Rates of community transmission continue to increase
week on week as we enter a third wave of Covid-19, driven
by the Delta variant. There are concerns that hospitalisation
could increase as well as increase the number of people
suffering with the effects of long-covid and on the number
of people, school children in particular, isolating because of
positive tests.

25

25

20

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

25

25

25

25

25

Q1
20/21

Q2
20/21

Q3
20/21

Q4
20/21

Q1
21/22

15

15

15

15

Finance & Resources

Building Regulations – Part B & Draft Building Safety
Bill
There is a risk that the Council will be unable to meet the
demands of Building Regulations – Part B & Draft Building
Safety Bill, particularly in regards to resourcing.

25

Environment & City
Management

Financial risk due to Covid-19 and uncertainty
regarding future government funding
There is a risk that insufficient government funding will lead
to income losses. The funding for the financial impact of the
pandemic excludes rental income and must be related to
the delivery of services.

25

15

Growth, Planning &
Housing
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

Page 529
5

3.1 Overachieving KPIs
The indicators presented below are reported by the service are currently exceeding aspirational target levels for quarter one. Detail on each
KPI assessment can be found in the relevant directorate’s section of the appendix.
Directorate KPIs
Aspirational target positions are provided in the descriptions below for each KPI)

2020/21-year
end position

2021/22
ideal
target

89

80

Quarter 1
result and target assessment

ADULTS SOCIAL CARE AND PUBLIC HEALTH
1

Community champions - number of community champions active

2

Stop smoking services – number of 4 week quits

(Q3 figure)

741
(Q1-Q3)

800

92
(Q4 figure)

1,142
(Q4 figure)

Exceeding
target
Exceeding
target

CHILDREN’S SERVICES

Page 530

15

19

40

(lower than target means a better
result)

100%

90%

100%

Number of first-time entrants to the criminal justice system

6

10

(lower than target means a better
result)

6

Number of Serious Youth Violence (SYV) Offences

6

10

4

7

Referrals to social care

452

500

(lower than target means a better
result)

8

Looked after children number

168

187

(lower than target means a better
result)

9

% increase in real and virtual visits to libraries

68%

2%

60.8%

Exceeding
target

3

Education, Health and Care assessments finalised

4

Increased proportion Education, Health and Care assessments which are completed within 20
weeks, excluding exceptions

5

5

442

166

Exceeding target
Exceeding
target
Exceeding
target
Exceeding
target
Exceeding
target
Exceeding
target

ENVIRONMENT AND CITY MANAGEMENT
10

% of urgent lighting defects made safe within agreed timescale

99.5%

98%

100%

Exceeding
target

11

% of carriageway and footway defects repaired or made safe within 24 hours

99.3%

98%

100%

Exceeding
target

6

Directorate KPIs
Aspirational target positions are provided in the descriptions below for each KPI)

2020/21-year
end position

2021/22
ideal
target

Quarter 1
result and target assessment

12

Total licences issued within 28 days from the publication date of the Licensing Sub-Committee
decision

90%

80%

92%

Exceeding
target

13

Number of hazards removed from residential dwellings which pose a serious and immediate
threat to people’s health or safety

247

375

109

Exceeding
target

14

% of women accessing specialist domestic abuse services who report a reduction in abuse

96%

75%

88%

Exceeding
target

15

Vulnerable residents supported to continue living in their homes

659

500

219

Exceeding
target

12

6

Exceeding
target

3% Increase per
year
£954,000

£5,645,970m
Increased by
6.3%
Q1 21/22

Exceeding
target

100

100

Exceeding
target

£2.106m
(£702k p/m)

Exceeding
target

FINANCE & RESOURCES
16

No. of major business impact priority 1 incidents per quarter (critical/major system being
completely down which could affect more than 100 people)

Page 531

17

Increase in total income generated from the Council’s investment portfolio

18

Percentage of clients satisfied with Legal service as measured by the satisfactory survey

19

Procurement Savings delivered council wide (in Year)

2

£5,307,826m
Q1 20/21
92
New measure

£7m
(£584k p/m)

GROWTH, PLANNING AND HOUSING
20

% of ‘major’ planning applications determined within 13 weeks i.e. larger scale development

21

Number of businesses significantly engaged (including vouchers issued, Corporate Social
Responsibility activity)

22

350 Westminster residents into jobs through our Westminster Employment Service (WES)

23

345 Westminster residents supported into Interims (Work trials, training, work placements &
volunteering)

77%

70%

83%

Exceeding
target

12,330

4,500

1,545

Exceeding
target

320

350

128

Exceeding
target

1,078

345

293

Exceeding
target

8%

12%

9%

Exceeding
target

PEOPLE SERVICES
24

12% of staff turnover is managed at appropriate benchmark levels (excluding redundancies)

7

3.2 KPIs ‘off track’ at year-end 2020/21 that have since improved to ‘target on track’
The table below provides an update on KPIs that were missing their target at the end of the last quarter that have now improved. Of the 17
KPIs that were off track at year-end, eight have improved to meeting target or minimum standard in quarter one.
Directorate KPIs
Ideal target positions are provided in the descriptions below
CHILDREN’S SERVICES

29%

Target off
track

25%

Minimum
standard met

-61%

Target off
track

60.8%

Exceeding
target

Improve 65 Houses of Multiple Occupation (buildings with
3 more than one household including shared facilities) – target
on track

32

Target off
track

Remove 375 hazards from residential dwellings which pose a
serious and immediate threat to people’s health or safety

247

1

% of Looked After Children placed in external foster
placements

Year-end 2020/21
Q1 2021/22
result and target assessment result and target assessment

Page 532

2 2% increase in real and virtual visits to libraries

Service commentary
Measure is as a % of total number of LAC. This
represents 42 out of total 166 Looked After
Children.

ENVIRONMENT AND CITY MANAGEMENT

4

5 Total participation in Council sports, leisure and wellbeing
% of visits to Sayers Croft services compared with
2019/2020
FINANCE AND RESOURCES
6

7 Percentage of business rates collected

455,626
432

Target off
track
Target off
track
Target off
track

11

Target on track

109

Exceeding
target

1m

Target on track

12,664

Target on track

88.76%

Target off
track

25.52%

Target on track

230

Target off
track

23

Target on track

Officers only returned to normal service in April
2021; work in HMOs had substantially paused
during the pandemic given the increased risks
presented by these properties.

Leisure centres have been very successful since
re-opening following the lifting of lockdown

GROWTH, PLANNING AND HOUSING
8 Affordable Housing units delivered in 20/21 (1,850 by 2023)

71 units of this year's anticipated supply are due
to be delivered in Q4 so are at some risk of
slippage into 2022-23.

8

3.3 Underperforming KPIs and related risks
The indicators presented below are critical to the Council’s performance and have been highlighted for the attention of the committee.
Target information for some of these KPIs are currently under review in order to ensure they reflect the current operating environment.
The table below also shows the highest scoring risks reported by directorates that would threaten the performance of the KPI (listed
below) if a risk were to be realised. Please see the appendix for detail on the full list of KPIs and top risks from each directorate.
Directorate KPIs
Ideal target positions are provided in
the descriptions below for each KPI)

Year-end
2020/21
result

Q1 ideal
target

Q1 2021/22
result and target assessment

Service commentary

Mitigating actions to manage KPI performance

CHILDREN’S SERVICES

1

Re-referrals to social care
within 12 months

24% rereferral rate

15%

Page 533
2

% of care leavers in education,
training or employment (at age
19, 20, 21) (excluding those not
in touch)

69.3%

80%

Directorate risks that could
impact the performance if risk
materialises:
3

Number of surplus school
placements in Westminster
primary schools

Target
20.6% re-referral rate off
track

67.1%

Target
off
track

There is a range of quality assurance
activities taking place to scrutinise the
reasons for re-referrals and to ensure
the right services are offered at the
right time. We’ve recognised the
pandemic as a potential variable in the
likelihood of re-referral (particularly as
some community services were not
running as usual) and we continue to
monitor this.
Covid-19 has had a considerable effect
on youth unemployment hence the %
of care leavers in EET may be lower
than usual. Additionally, many of our
Care Leavers have suffered trauma
and/or are UASC and this cohort make
up a large proportion of those NEET, as
education or employment may not be
currently appropriate for them.
Furthermore, we have set ourselves a
challenge in our target.

There is a range of quality assurance activities taking place
to scrutinise the reasons for re-referrals and to ensure the
right services are offered at the right time. We have set
ourselves a challenge in our target.

We have an EET panel which targets support to NEET
young people. We have been working with internal
colleagues and external partners to provide and promote
employment and training opportunities for Care Leavers,
including the following:
Other internal services including the Economy team,
providing employment and apprenticeship
opportunities.
Connect, an internal network, offering opportunities
for work experience in hospitality.
The Crown Estate, providing training opportunities.
The Army, promoting employment and training
opportunities.

Covid-19 pandemic - Covid-19 may continue to impact youth unemployment.

20% surplus

23%

21% surplus

Target
off
track

We are operating with a surplus school
capacity of 21% (with caps) in
Westminster primary schools. This is

There are strategies in progress with interim measures in
place, such as informally capping the Published Admission
Numbers (PANs) for schools with falling rolls. Discussions

9

Directorate KPIs
Ideal target positions are provided in
the descriptions below for each KPI)

Year-end
2020/21
result

Q1 ideal
target

Q1 2021/22
result and target assessment

Service commentary
not financially viable for schools or the
Council in the long term.

Page 534

Directorate risks that could
impact the performance if risk
materialises:

Appointments to register births
available within 5 days of
enquiry
4

Directorate risks that could
impact the performance if risk
materialises:

Mitigating actions to manage KPI performance
have also moved forward to more permanent solutions.
One school has had an in-year variation request to the
Schools Adjudicator approved to reduce permanently to a
30 PAN from 45 with effect from September 2022. School
amalgamation discussions and consultation proposals are
likely to progress from September 2021. The target to
reduce overall capacity across the borough, and improve
financial stability for those schools at risk, is a sensitive and
regulated process that will take time. During the autumn
term 2021, an update on pupils’ numbers, and a three-year
financial forecast will inform next steps for schools at risk
that do not yet have an approved recovery plan.

School Budget Deficits - Schools with falling rolls and those with budget reductions of pupils are at risk of developing budget deficits.
Shortage of pupils presents a funding challenge as costs are less flexible and variable, that makes it difficult for schools to balance
budgets and could ultimately lead to future school closures / mergers.

68%

95%

82%

Target
off
track

The service had deployed more staff to
birth registrations to increase
appointment availability to enable
meeting the KPI, and in May hit the KPI
with 99% offered an appointment with
5 days. However, since May, the
computer system for registration
(RON), has been unstable and unusable
for large parts of the working day. This
is affecting all register offices in
England and Wales. As a result,
registrations are taking longer, and the
number of appointments offered
during the day has had to be restricted.

This issue cannot be mitigated by redeploying additional
resources from elsewhere within the service, as all
functions of the service are being impacted by this system
failure, as well as seeing high demand levels. No date for
resolution has been given by the General Register Office
for England and Wales.

Covid-19 pandemic – Increasing death registrations due to Covid-19 and pent up demand for birth registrations, marriage and civil
partnership ceremonies postponed due to lockdowns

FINANCE AND RESOURCES

10

Directorate KPIs
Ideal target positions are provided in
the descriptions below for each KPI)

5

6

Stage 2 complaint responses
despatched within 20 working
days (NEW)

Variance between capital
budget and FY forecast

Year-end
2020/21
result

8

% of calls answered (Agilisys)

Percentage of staff who have
completed mandatory data
protection & cyber security
online training per year

Q1 2021/22
result and target assessment

New
measure
75%

£122.753m
underspent

Page 535
7

Q1 ideal
target

95.1% (4.9%
of calls
abandoned)

70%

On budget
based on
forecast

95%

90%

48%

£17.967m
underspend P4

88.7%

67%

Service commentary

Mitigating actions to manage KPI performance

Target
off
track

The Council was carrying a small
backlog of complaints when we started
Q1, and the older cases had to be
completed before we could start on
new cases received in Q1. The
pandemic backlog has now been
cleared so the percentage of responses
despatched should improve over the
remaining three quarters of the year.

We have cleared the back log and complaints are now up
to date and we are now completing complaints within the
target response time.

Target
off
track

Most of the expenditure variance is
related to growth, planning and
housing large scale regeneration and
development schemes of £21.408m
underspend.

As part of the current ongoing Capital Programme
Spending Review (CPSR) process we will be assessing the
profiling of large-scale regeneration and development
schemes. In particular, those at pre-contract stage with the
aim of reprofiling the current year budget to be more
reflective of the latest knowledge.

Target
off
track

There has been a dip in the ability of
the Contact Centre to meet targets due
to sickness and absence levels being
higher than forecast. Experienced
agents were involved in training and
supporting new recruits which meant
they were not able to take as many
calls. Call volumes were higher than
forecast, particularly out of hours
relating to block issues such as no
power and no water.

The remediation plan included the following actions which
have been taken: all vacancies have now been filled with
over recruitment to a higher level than required. Overtime
has been offered whenever possible to support absences.
Additional training is being undertaken outside of
operational hours or during early morning shifts when call
volumes are considerably lower to reduce the impact to
performance.

Target
off
track

The staff who have carried out training
has reduced to 67%, a reduction of 3%
from the previous quarter at 70%. This
is because a number of staff who
carried out the training over 12 months
ago did not redo the training.

Considerable effort continues in increasing the number of
staff trained through attendance in meetings,
competitions, and direct contact. IT is continuing to utilise
their Business Partners to help push out training.

GROWTH, PLANNING AND HOUSING

11

Directorate KPIs
Ideal target positions are provided in
the descriptions below for each KPI)

9

1
0

% satisfaction with repairs
service

% of ‘non-major’ planning
applications determined within
8 weeks

Year-end
2020/21
result

81%

70%

Q1 ideal
target

84%

73%

Q1 2021/22
result and target assessment

Service commentary

Mitigating actions to manage KPI performance

Page 536

Target
off
track

Hundreds of in-flat repairs which had
been postponed due to lockdown
restrictions (we did not undertake any
routine in-flat repairs) have been
released.

Our contractors are making appointments for all of these
repairs, resulting in a period of catch-up. This is well
underway and being progressed as quickly as possible.

67%

Target
off
track

Reduction in performance on nonmajors during Q1 was due to the
impacts in the preceding quarter of
renewed coronavirus restrictions
(impacting site visits etc.) and an
increase in vacant posts prior to and
during the departmental restructure.

This is being addressed as a departmental priority through
provision of improved performance data for managers,
closer management of officer caseloads, wider use of
extensions of time where appropriate, recruitment to
vacant posts within new structure and introduction of new
more resource efficient Design and Sustainability Team. A
return to >70% (for cumulative Q1 & Q2 period) is
expected by end of Q2.

0.1%

Target
off
track

There are 2 apprentices so far, though
more are expected.

An intake of apprentices are expected in the upcoming
months which will rectify this. The Emerging Leaders (circa
20 starts), Digital Apprenticeships (circa 9 starts) and
Coaching Apprenticeship (circa 20 starts) will start in Q2,
which will bring us back on track to meet target.

84%

Target
off
track

8 non-compliant roles out of 50.
Confirmation received that all noncompliant roles were discussed with
Chief Executive and were acceptable in
the circumstances.

ELT agreed to redouble efforts in this area including
stopping band 4 + appointment as and where appropriate
and restarting.

77%

PEOPLE SERVICES

1
1

% of apprenticeship starts in
relation to the public sector
target of 2.3% of total
headcount

1
2

Positive action - % of Band 4+
roles which have BAME
candidate on the shortlist

5.4%
without
schools/3.4
% with
schools

97%

2.3%
excluding
schools

97%

12

3. Strategic Risks
The strategic risks outlined below are considered to be of strategic significance as they could
impact the sustainability and delivery of the Council’s statutory and non-statutory services and
operations. If these risks were realised, there could be serious legal, financial or reputational
impacts to the Council. Each strategic risk is contextualised and detailed with existing
mitigation measures provided by services across the Council.
A full list of the Council’s strategic risks can be found in the table below:
Title

Description

Subsequent health protection
incidents could compound the
impact of Covid-19 and hinder
the local response – Public
Health

Covid-19 has affected us all, our residents, communities, public institutions,
businesses, and voluntary and community organisations. Resources across the
Council are fully mobilised in reducing the risk of exposure, through effective
outbreak managements, as well as reducing the risk of complications and death
among our residents.

Financial pressures resulting in
an inability to fund services for
residents, businesses and visitors
– Finance and Resources

A range of wider market dynamics contributes to increasing financial pressures
placed on the Council, including changing levels of service demand, the impacts
of Covid-19, Brexit, and central government policy.

Serious information or cyber
security incident due to data
breach, malware outbreak,
phishing, ransomware attack –
Finance & Resources

Increased numbers of cyber-attacks, combined with the pressure to respond
quickly to the emergency and the unprecedented rise in working from home
(while data protection requirements remain unchanged) potentially increases
the risk of unauthorised disclosure, data loss and wrongful use of personal data.

Failure of a major contract or an
inability to secure alternative
provision resulting in the Council
being unable to provide services
or meet its statutory obligations
– Finance and Resources

The Council depends on a range of contracted partners to deliver its services.
This supply chain could be disrupted by several factors such as the Covid-19
pandemic, Brexit, and the economic fallout and uncertainties arising. This could
ultimately delay or disrupt critical services or service delivery, resulting in noncompliance of contractual obligations, non-compliance of legal obligations,
financial loss or impact the Council’s reputation.

A significant incident occurring in
Westminster (e.g. weather
event, fire, terror attack, etc.) –
Environment and City
Management

To help ensure Westminster’s sustainability and resilience, we work closely with
other local authorities, the emergency services and partner organisations. This
coordination enables us to respond quickly if potential threats such as terrorism
or extreme weather were realised. Terrorism Future controls are detailed within
Prevent, Protect and Emergency Planning and Business Continuity. In addition
to carrying out test exercises, the Council participates fully in Safer City, a panLondon annual exercise, and engages in partnership working with the
Metropolitan Police Service. For flooding, the Council follows the Greater
London Authority’s London Strategic Flood Framework and Environment Agency
Guidance, the Serpentine Reservoir Inundation Plan, and it also has its own
Westminster Plan for Major Emergencies, WCC Staff 10 Point Plan for Business
Continuity, and test exercises. The Thames Barrier is also a major existing
control against flood events.

The impact of Brexit on Council
services and communities across
Westminster – Environment, City
and Management

Britain left the EU on 31 January 2020 and Her Majesty’s Government agreed a
trade deal with the EU27 on 24th December 2020, avoiding a “No Deal”
scenario. The impacts of Brexit are far-reaching and have an influence on many
parts to the Council’s service delivery and objectives both medium and long
term. In the short term, Brexit may mean potential workforce shortages,
particularly in key sectors with fragile markets, and potential supply chain
disruption.

Page 537

13

4. Overview of Covid-19 Impacts in Westminster
This summary provides a brief update on the fuller round up of Covid impacts reported to the
Committee for the 2020/21 end of year performance report.
The lifting of most covid restrictions was due to take place on 21 June, during Q1. However, the
increased presence of the more transmissible delta variant caused a 4-week delay, with
restrictions lifted on the 19th July, at the start of the state school summer holidays.
Case numbers
The worst-case modelled numbers of infections nationally (over 100,00 infections a day
modelled in some scenarios) were avoided and figures in mid-August settled to around 30,000 a
day. In Westminster, infection rates by the 16 August were 220 per 100,000 residents. This is
under the national average of 300.
Vaccination rates remain a challenge, with around 71% of the over 50’s vaccinated by midAugust. This is well short of national averages, but partially driven by inflated population
denominators as well as higher than average refusal levels amongst certain communities.
Footfall
Despite the easing health situation, a return to pre-pandemic levels of busyness in Westminster
remains a long way off. Restrictions on overseas travel, and a lack of return to offices amongst
commuters continue to hamper business recovery.
Westminster’s loss of “retail and recreation” volumes are more than four times the national
average - down 42% compared to pre-pandemic levels, compared to a fall of 25% in Greater
London, 11% in the South-East, and 9% nationally. (source Google Mobility as of 15th August,
2021). Commuters have also less been likely to return to their workplace in Westminster than in
the rest of the country, with volumes still down 56% on pre-pandemic levels (source Google
Mobility as of 15th August, 2021).
Employment
On a more positive note, new HMRC employee data shows that whilst the number of residents
employed was at a recent historical high of around 97k just prior to the pandemic, those figures
fell 7% to around 90k in February 2021 but have since recovered and are now at around 94k, just
2% lower than pre-pandemic. The latest data is 95K at July 2021, so is currently 2,000 short of
the peak. In both London as a whole and Inner London the fall between February 2020 and 2021
was 6% but in July 2021 the number of employed residents was still 3% lower than pre-pandemic
(HMRC, PAYE, August 2021).
Claimant counts improved further in July’s figures (now 9,710 claimants against a March high of
11,200), but there is emerging evidence that certain cohorts in Westminster – young males and
the over 50s - are finding it more challenging to get back into employment. Young women (aged
18-24) however, have made great strides in returning to work. The overall claimant count figure
in London for July 2021 was 439,175, with Westminster residents accounting for about 2% of
this. Westminster residents aged 18-24 also account for about 2% of the London-wide 18-24
number of claimants, which totals 65,880 people.

Page 538

14

Appendix –
Directorate
Performance
Detailed performance information for each Council
Directorate area.

Page 539

15

Appendix- Departmental performance

Adult Social Care and Public Health
Achievements
Between April and June 2021, the Public Health team, with the support of wider Council colleagues coordinated the
local NHS programme to call c.24,000 unvaccinated WCC residents about their vaccination needs. The calls
confirmed residents’ vaccination status and/or offered help to those needing support to become vaccinated.
This process demonstrates excellent coordinated working between NHS organisations and the Local Authority and
between Public Health and teams within the Local Authority.
A summary of outputs delivered from the achievement are:
 Over 24,000 calls were attempted, with the LA booking 200+ vaccines.
 70 home vaccination requests and 400 GP call back requests logged.
 An unprecedented data sharing agreement with local GP federation Central London Healthcare to expedite
vaccine support to residents.
 16,000 NHS registered residents with no contact details flagged back to the NHS for contact by letter.
Community Health Worker Pilot
A new one-year Community Health Worker (CHW) pilot is being rolled out from the beginning of June across the
Churchill Gardens estate in Westminster. Led by Westminster City Council and Pimlico Health @ The Marven (a GP
surgery), this new pilot will look after a defined number of households in Churchill Gardens and will see the
Community Health Workers visit each household once a month and provide advice and practical support with health
matters.
This light-touch health support includes helping residents manage long term conditions such as diabetes, increase
the uptake of screening and immunisations, supporting them with their mental health and connecting them with
other services. Evidence from countries where CHW operates shows significant increase in the uptake of screening
and immunisation, reduction in cardiovascular morbidity, greater community cohesion and happier residents.
Issues
There were no issues reported.

Page 540

16

Appendix- Departmental performance

Key performance indicators
Adult Social Care
The table below presents the latest cumulative outturns available for each KPI at quarter 1 (April 2021 – June 2021).
Target
range
definitions

Minimum
Ideal
Aspirational

The minimum level for the KPI that will still allow the service to deliver
A level which is acceptable for service continuity
The level at which the service is improving beyond current capability

Key performance indicator
1.

Page 541

2.

3.

Year-end 2020/21
position

2021/22 target ranges
Minimum



Ideal

Target off track
Exceeding target
Target on track
Minimum standard met

Off track to meet the minimum target level
Exceeded ideal target level
On track to meet the ideal target level
Met the minimum target below ideal level

Position at Q1

Target
assessment

Other contextual insight
There is expected to be an increase in admissions
over the winter months due seasonal winter
pressures alongside Covid 19 and an increase in
flu and other respiratory viruses.

Target
assessment
definitions

 Aspirational

Total number of new permanent
admissions to residential/nursing
care of people aged 65 years and
over (cumulative)

72

105



95



85

31

Target
on track

% of carers (caring for an adult)
who have received an assessment
or review of their needs
(cumulative)

89%%

77%



87%



92%

30%

Target
on track

% of service users receiving an
assessment/review (cumulative)

94%

80%



90%



95%

23%

Target on
track

There is no statutory KPI related to homecare,
and we do not set targets on how many people
4. Average number of homecare
should receive care provision or state a direction
New Measure
N/A
18,572
 N/A
 N/A
hours per week in the month
of travel. Reviews of other London borough
reporting highlighted that they too monitor
rather than target homecare activity.
Service commentary: Additional homecare activity data provided to demonstrate volume of care being provided. This is a monitoring measure and therefore does not have a target or desired direction
of travel but changes in hours can be an indication of demand for service. The figure is not cumulative.

17

Appendix- Departmental performance

Public Health
Key performance indicator

19/20
Position

Year-end 2020/21
position

2021/22 target ranges
Minimum



Ideal

Position at Q1

Target
assessment

 Aspirational

Page 542

5.

Community champions - number
of community champions active

77

89 (Q3)

70



80



90

92
(year-end)

Exceeding
target

6.

Stop smoking services – number
of 4 week quits

1,107

741 (Q1-Q3)

600



800



1,000
(annually)

1142
(year-end)

Exceeding
target

7.

% of alcohol misusers in
treatment, who successfully
completed treatment and did
not re-present within 6 months

36.92%

37.56% (Q3)

30%





40%

38.5%
(year-end)

Target on
track

8.

% of children who receive a 22.5-year development review

68.5%

70.5% (Q3)

65%

 70%



75%

70.5%
(year-end)

Target on
track

9.

Total routine contraception
delivered through e-services

TBC

376
(year-end)

N/A

164

TBC



35%

TBC



Other contextual insight

This is the Q4 published figure. With the 6
months of monitoring that takes place, this
means that these are for completions for
Oct 19 – Sep 20.

Results are year-to-date starting from Q3
2020/21. Before setting targets, we want
to see the provision running for at least a
year without Covid-19 implications.

18

Appendix- Departmental performance

Top scoring departmental risk
Q1 Score

Risk
16

Widening Health Inequalities
Local data shows a widening of health inequalities. This is the gap in life expectancy between the most and least deprived
areas in the borough.
16

Impact
Existing
controls

Westminster has the fourth highest gap. (for women Westminster ranks similar to England average).

Recovering planning underway to support collaborative initiatives which reduce health
disparities.
Future

Public Health Intelligence implementing population health monitoring to support early
controls
identification and prevention initiatives.

BAME action plan being drafted to respond to the disparities identified by Covid.

Page 543

Impact

12



Existing
controls





16

0
0
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22



Fragility of the Care Market and pressures on the local care market
Pressures on the local care market including staffing, training and development and financial pressures are resulting in the
local markets being “fragile”.
Market uncertainty. Number of people being admitted to care homes has reduced - long term outcome uncertain







16

Reduction in demand for residential care could lead to provider failure
Potential staff shortages that could lead to lower market capacity.
Reduced uptake of training and development could lead to impacts on the quality of care provided to residents.
Financial pressures could lead to provider viability issues and ultimate failure.
Covid-19 has resulted in fewer people in residential care and higher levels of voids for providers.
Establishment of a Quality Team across Westminster and Kensington and Chelsea to work with
local providers with a focus on quality.
A more cohesive relationship with the care regulator, the Care Quality Commissioning (CQC)
including bi-monthly meetings.

Bidders required to provide a copy of their business/service continuity plans and confirmation
when last tested for major contracts asked for in tender submissions.
Future
CreditSafe alerts received when a provider’s rating drops to below 50%. CQC provide alerts for controls
providers in the Market Oversight Scheme.
Business critical contracts identified - targeted programme of regular financial monitoring and
strategic engagement at all levels
New indexation clause designed for contracts that takes account of staff costs and wider
factors and pressures affecting the sector

Director of Public Health's annual report
to focus on Health Inequalities. This will
be launched in September 2021.

8

8

12

12

12

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

In the short term, supporting of the market
through the supplier resilience forum, which
is additional monies provided by central
government. However, this is not
sustainable in the long term.

19

Appendix- Departmental performance
Q1 Score

Risk



Programme of Provider Partnership engagement events in place with targeted engagement at
homecare and care home sectors. Share commissioning intentions and collaborative
approaches to support supplier resilience
Proactive pre-procurement market engagement to identify: sector characteristics
12

12

12

12

12

Health Protection (Pandemic Flu)
There is a risk of a Flu Pandemic which may impact residents and workers.
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22
12

Impact

Page 544

Existing
controls



Impact include health of residents and workers, local economy




Health protection/ immunisation campaigns.
Encourage uptake of flu immunisation in front line staff of eligible age groups
(immunocompromised, pregnant or with young children).
Ensure staff are aware of key flu messages.
Public Health have developed a Health Protection Protocol and supporting awareness raising
sessions
A programme to get front line staff vaccinated for flu is in place.
A flu communication plan has been developed.







Future
controls




Health Protection Protocol and supporting
awareness raising sessions
A programme to get front line staff
vaccinated for flu is in place.
The flu communication plan

12

12

12

12

12

Immunisation uptake
Immunisation uptake - Low uptake of vaccinations could see an increase in other infectious diseases.
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

12
Impact
Existing
controls






Herd immunity to infectious diseases may be threatened.
Communications plan in place
Future
Uptake being monitored quarterly
In Westminster NHS England have presented at the audit and performance committee in controls
September 2020 to outline the local response to improve uptake.



The health and wellbeing board oversees
delivery of immunisation to ensure that our
population has sufficient coverage

20

Appendix- Departmental performance

Children’s Services
Achievements
Successful annual engagement meeting with Ofsted
Ofsted’s annual social care engagement visit took place on 7th June 2021. The Executive Director of Children’s Services
and the Senior Leadership team provided HM inspectors with a comprehensive review of Bi-Borough Children’s
services, including our Annual Social Care Self-evaluation, social care performance data, and how we are supporting
children’s evolving needs during the Covid-19 pandemic. The meeting was positively received by HM Inspectors. The
intelligence gathered by Ofsted from the meeting will inform any plans for future inspection activity. The final letter
from Ofsted following the meeting have been received. It sets out a factual summary of the items discussed, including:
the self-evaluation, the current impact of Covid-19 on service delivery, the Council’s current financial and political
context, safeguarding arrangements, and support for Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children. The letter also sets
out the possible scope of future inspections and focused visits, whereby Ofsted have informed us that we may receive
a focused visit or a joint targeted area inspection (JTAI) before the next judgement inspection; we have said that we
would see the added value of a JTAI if it focused on adolescents and if there is a focused visit it would be helpful to
consider protecting children from extra-familial risk.
Roll out of the 1066 Covid Recovery Project across primary schools
Lockdown has had a particularly serious and detrimental effect on children's mental health and wellbeing. To promote
the wellbeing of children attending our primary schools, Children’s Services, Libraries and the Archive Service have
worked in partnership with a theatre company, MoD productions, to develop a workshop with an historical focus
based on the Norman Conquest of 1066. The programme is aimed at years 4 to 6 and explores how we can develop
resilience and innovation from adversity and tragedy. Pupils learn about the development of their city and how this
is linked to the history of Westminster Abbey.
The sessions have been rolled out since May 2021 and, as of July 2021, have been delivered to 41 classes of children
from Westminster and two classes from RBKC (who covered the cost themselves). Feedback has been very positive
from schools and pupils. We have partnered with Westminster Abbey to offer schools follow up sessions through
either an actual or virtual visit to the Abbey. The programme is continuing over the remaining summer term.
Delivery of the HAF programme over Easter break
We have been supporting children and families through the Holidays and Activities Fund (HAF) programme. Over the
Easter holiday period, 1129 children and 24 providers participated in our HAF programme. 66% of children who
participated are eligible for free school meals. Activities included SEND provision, sports and play provision, arts and
youth provision, and family and education provision. 9% of attendees went to SEND specific provision but other
providers also had children and young people with SEND in attendance. Planning is well advanced for our Summer
HAF Programme and it will be published on ‘What’s on Our City’.
A-level and GCSE results
2021 has seen record results for A-levels and GCSEs. Almost half of all grades were awarded at A* or A (44.8%), with
A* accounting for 19.1%. In 2019, around 25% of grades were awarded at A* or A. Our local schools have
commended their students, with all commenting how students have responded positively to the challenges of the
last 2-years. Nationally and locally, schools are seeing record numbers processing to higher education. Students in
schools and colleges across the borough are also securing apprenticeships. They are reporting more students
progressing to degree apprenticeships with the opportunity to achieve a full bachelor’s degree and get paid. At least
36 students across the Harris Federation are set to take up apprenticeships, with many more in the pipeline.

Issues
Mental health and emotional wellbeing support needs
The Covid-19 pandemic is having a detrimental impact on the emotional wellbeing and mental health of children and
young people, with estimates of an increase in need of up to 50% (NHS Digital). In a survey carried out locally by Young
Healthwatch Westminster, 88% of children and young people said that Covid-19 has had an impact on their mental
health. This impact will be felt longer term over the coming years, with the level of underlying mental health problems
expected to remain significantly higher because of the pandemic.
With lockdown easing, we have seen increasing numbers of children and young people accessing our local support
services. Referrals into Mental Health Support Teams in 43 of our Westminster Schools have increased and there was
a 33% increase in new registrations for Kooth (our online counselling and support offer for young people) in the most
recent quarter. Colleges have also been reporting an increase in mental health issues.

Page 545

21

Appendix- Departmental performance
We have recently launched a pilot of having a Mental Health Youth Worker embedded in our Westminster Youth
Hubs. This role will provide effective emotional wellbeing and mental health support to young people who attend
these settings. It will also support the Youth Hubs to develop and embed an improved whole setting approach to
emotional wellbeing and will train and upskill local youth workers as part of this. Additionally, we are piloting an
emotional wellbeing key ring with two secondary schools whereby pupils are given key rings with a QR code that can
be scanned to take young people to the local mental health offer.
Funding has been secured for the ‘Bridging the Gap’ 18-25 pilot service, including a budget of around £650k over the
two-year period. We are in advanced talks with a potential provider with experience of providing a similar service in
another London borough. There is also buy-in from other services which can provide Substance Misuse, Sexual Health,
Employment, and Housing support and advice services within the Hub. The project is held up due to a difficulty in
sourcing a suitable venue to host the service. There is a lack of available sites in areas where the service can be located.
Existing sites are either unsuitable or would clash with incumbent services. The Commissioning Service have a list of
leads which are being explored to resolve this.
High youth unemployment figures
Over one year after the first lockdown, NEET (16–17-year-olds) and claimant count (18–24-year-olds) continue at
high levels. The 18-24 claimant count peaked at 1,585 in February 2021. Figures for May 2021 indicate a small
decline to 1,480 although it is too early to indicate whether this is the start of a downwards trend. 16- and 17-yearold NEET figures were already rising pre-lockdown and have continued to increase. Latest figures (May 21) recorded
63 NEET with much of the increase among 16-year-olds.
Officers recently presented on youth pathways to council members and informal cabinet discussed a paper on youth
unemployment. Members acknowledged youth unemployment as a complicated issue with no single solution.
Members recommended the establishment of a task force to explore the options presented and report to informal
cabinet on which will be taken forward. The taskforce will gather further evidence including youth voice and check
actions are impactful and contribute to increasing the rate of recovery.
Officers will continue to work with schools to confirm Year 11s who have not enrolled following GCSE results day on
12 August and develop a reengagement strategy to run during the summer months. TBAP Alternative Provision is
developing a summer progression programme. Young people aged 18-24 continue to be supported through
Kickstart.
High demand for services to support children with SEND
The prevalence of SEN in England continues to rise, having reached 15.8% of all school pupils with 3.7% of these
Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) (Jan 2021 School Census). EHC plans nationally have grown by 10% on the
previous year (Jan 2021 SEN2). The prevalence of SEN in WCC schools is just below the national average (15.4%). In
January this year, WCC recorded 1261 resident EHC plans which represents a growth of 7.7% on the previous year.
Westminster referrals for assessment of pre-school aged children have continued to rise, with a 30% increase in
cases from April 2020 to April 2021. We are currently receiving an average of 5 a week – with 80% of them typically
being Autism Spectrum Disorder related and 90% likelihood of assessment. Our commissioning plans for SEN
provision are to develop additional in-borough resources to meet the demand for places. We will continue to
monitor pressure on our short breaks service at our Strategic Implementation Group and Children and Families Act
Board, as well as via our quarterly SEND Self-Evaluation Framework.
Historic issues relating to expansion of services are impacting on the provision of services for children and young
people with SEND in Westminster. We are no closer to resolving Tresham Centre issue through Facilities
Management and the launch is delayed until January 2022. We continue to work with local youth clubs to support
children and young people in South Westminster during the holiday period, as well as expanding our inclusion offer
following the appointment of a new officer. Adaptations to local mainstream venues are being shortlisted and
changes made by January 2022, which will result in greater accessibility for children and young people with SEND.
As mentioned in the Q4 update, we are in the process of refreshing our SEND Strategy. Following an extensive
consultation period, engaging with a range of stakeholders, including children and young people, we reviewed and
analysed the feedback received and it has informed the development of the refreshed strategy. We are in the
process of getting feedback on the draft version and we aim to publish the final strategy in September 2021.

Page 546

22

Appendix- Departmental performance

Key Performance Indicators
The table below presents the latest cumulative outturns available for each KPI at quarter 1 (April 2021 – June 2021).
Target
range
definitions

Minimum
Ideal
Aspirational

The minimum level for the KPI that will still allow the service to deliver
A level which is acceptable for service continuity
The level at which the service is improving beyond current capability

Target
assessment
definitions

Target off track
Exceeding target
Target on track
Minimum standard met

Off track to meet the minimum target level
Exceeded ideal target level
On track to meet the ideal target level
Met the minimum target below ideal level

NOTE: results for KPIs 7-14 are provisional figures which may change once statutory returns are completed over the next few months.
Key performance indicator

Year-end
2020/21
position

Minimum



Ideal

2021/22 target ranges
 Aspirational

Q1
position

Target
assessment

1.

Number of Education, Health and
Care assessments finalised

19

50 (max)



40



25

15

Exceeding
target

2.

Increased proportion of Education,
Health and Care assessments
which are completed within 20
weeks, excluding exceptions

100%

80%



90%



100%

100%

Exceeding
target

Other contextual insight

Page 547

3.

Number of first-time entrants to
Exceeding
5
6
20 (max) 
10

5
the criminal justice system
target
Service commentary: There were no young people who were first-time entrants with a caution and 5 young people who were first-time entrants with a conviction. This indicator measures the number
of First time Entrants [FTEs] to the Youth Justice System. FTEs are defined as young people aged 10-17 who receive their first substantive outcome. Data for this measure is derived from the Youth
Offending Team's Case Management System. The most recent data covering the period up to March 2021 shows a reduction for young people becoming a first-time entrant through caution (3 to 0) but
an increase through convictions at Court (3 to 5).
The Youth Justice Board defines SYV as any drug, robbery or
violence against the person offences that has a gravity score of
five or more (scores range from 1 -8).

4.

Number of Serious Youth Violence
(SYV) Offences

6

20 (max)



10



5

4

Exceeding
target

5.

Number of referrals to social care

452

545 (max)



500



480

442

Exceeding
target

6.

Looked after Children numbers

168

201



187



181

166

Exceeding
target

This includes unaccompanied asylum-seeking children (51).

7.

% increase in real and virtual visits
to libraries

-61%

1%



2%



3%

60.8%

Exceeding
target

Our visits are up 60.8% compared to Q1 last year. This
represents 321492 visits compared to 199972. This doesn't
include virtual visits to e-resources.

23

Appendix- Departmental performance
Key performance indicator

Year-end
2020/21
position

2021/22 target ranges
Minimum



Ideal

 Aspirational

Q1
position

Target
assessment

Figures not yet available for Q1. The 2.9% result reported last
quarter is for September to December 2020. The next result
will be available in December as it is taken from the school
census in October.
This represents 161 out of total 168 Care Leavers.

8.

Number of fixed-term exclusions

2.9%

8%



5%



0%

N/A

Target
on track

9.

% Care Leavers in appropriate
accommodation

94.5%

90%



94%



96%

95.5%

Target on
track

Other contextual insight

Minimum
standard
met
Service commentary: 16- and 17-year-old NEET figures were already rising pre-lockdown and have continued to increase since the Covid-19 pandemic. This is a key issue for Children’s Services.
Mitigating action: A taskforce reporting to informal cabinet is being established to gather further evidence including youth voice and check actions are impactful and contribute to increasing the rate of
recovery. Officers will continue to work with schools to confirm Year 11s who have not enrolled following GCSE results day on 12 August and develop a reengagement strategy to run during the
summer months. TBAP Alternative Provision is developing a summer progression programme. Young people aged 18-24 continue to be supported through Kickstart.
10. % of young people who are not in
employment, education or training

Page 548

11. % of Looked After Children placed
in foster care
12. % of Looked After Children placed
in external foster placements

2.63%

3.5%



2.5%



1.5%

2.54%

64%

60%



65%



70%

63%

Minimum
standard
met

29%

25%



23%



21%

25%

Minimum
standard
met

Measure is as a % of total number of LAC. This represents 104
out of total 166 Looked After Children.

Measure is as a % of total number of LAC. This represents 42
out of total 166 Looked After Children.

20% reTarget off
referral
15% re10% re

20.6%
track
rate
referral rate
referral rate
(max)
Service commentary: We’ve recognised the pandemic as a potential variable in the likelihood of re-referral (particularly as some community services were not running as usual) and we continue to
monitor this.
Mitigating action: There is a range of quality assurance activities taking place to scrutinise the reasons for re-referrals and to ensure the right services are offered at the right time. We have set ourselves
a challenge in our target.
13. Number of re-referrals to social
care within 12 months

14. Number of Care Leavers

108 (24%
re-referral
rate)

293

N/A



N/A



N/A

301

Service commentary: No target assessment to be provided for this KPI. There are not many opportunities to lower this number in the short or medium term. Our cohort of looked after children become
our care leavers. New legislation will support care leavers until the age of 25 and it is an indication of good corporate parenting that our carers want to engage and that we offer good support. This is
included as a KPI as it has a direct relationship to our budget pressures.

24

Appendix- Departmental performance
Key performance indicator

Year-end
2020/21
position

2021/22 target ranges
Minimum



Ideal

 Aspirational

Q1
position

Target
assessment

Other contextual insight

15. % care leavers in education,
Target off
training or employment (at age 19,
69.3%
70% (min) 
80%

90%
67.1%
20, 21) (excluding those not in
track
touch)
Service commentary: Covid-19 has had a considerable effect on youth unemployment hence the % of care leavers in EET may be lower than usual. Additionally, many of our Care Leavers have suffered
trauma and/or are UASC and this cohort make up a large proportion of those NEET, as education or employment may not be currently appropriate for them. Furthermore, we have set ourselves a
challenge in our target.
Mitigating action: We have an EET panel which targets support to NEET young people. We have been working with internal colleagues and external partners to provide and promote employment and
training opportunities for Care Leavers, including the following:
 Other internal services including the Economy team, providing employment and apprenticeship opportunities.
 Connect, an internal network, offering opportunities for work experience in hospitality.
 The Crown Estate, providing training opportunities.
 The Army, promoting employment and training opportunities.

Page 549

2233 (with
Target off
cap)
21.2% represents 2406 surplus places (out of 8927 roll
15%

10%

5%
21.2%
(20.0%
numbers).
track
surplus)
Service commentary: We are operating with a surplus school capacity of 21.2% (with caps) in Westminster primary schools. This is not financially viable for schools or the Council in the long term.
Mitigating action: With the commissioned support of Isos Partnership, the expertise and guidance of the established Working Group, the primary school review has progressed to the stage of
recommendations, as approved by Schools Forum. All schools identified as at risk have met with the Local Authority and respective Diocese (where applicable). Whilst interim measures will remain in
place, such as capping of Published Admission Numbers (PANs), discussions have moved forward to more permanent solutions. One school has had an in-year variation request to the Schools
Adjudicator approved to reduce permanently to a 30 PAN from 45 with effect from September 2022. School amalgamation discussions and consultation proposals are likely to progress from September
2021. The target to reduce overall capacity across the borough, and improve financial stability for those schools at risk, is a sensitive and regulated process that will take time if it is to be achieved with
all interested parties fully engaged and informed. During the autumn term 2021, an update on pupils’ numbers, and a three-year financial forecast will inform next steps for schools at risk that do not as
yet have an approved recovery plan.
16. Number of surplus school
placements in Westminster
primary schools

17. % of appointments to register
Target off
82%
births available within 5 days of
68%
95%
95%
98%


track
enquiry
Service commentary: The service had deployed more staff to birth registrations to increase appointment availability to enable meeting the KPI, and in May hit the KPI with 99% offered an appointment
with 5 days.
Mitigating action: Since May, the national computer system for registration (RON), has been unstable and unusable for large parts of the working day. This is affecting all register offices in England and
Wales. As a result, registrations are taking longer, and the number of appointments offered during the day has had to be restricted. This issue cannot be mitigated by redeploying additional resources
from elsewhere within the service, as all functions of the service are being impacted by this system failure, as well as seeing high demand levels. No date for resolution has been given by the General
Register Office for England and Wales.

25

Appendix- Departmental performance

Top scoring directorate risks
Q1

Risk

12
High pressure on our short breaks service
Provision of short breaks is a statutory duty. Increased referrals for short break services puts pressure on our team’s
capacity and on funding (some of which comes from our High Needs Block).
0
Q1
20/21
Impact




Page 550

12


Existing
controls



0
Q2
20/21

9

9

Q3
20/21

Q4
20/21

Q1
21/22

It is known that supporting families early following the diagnosis enables families to cope better and could prevent the risk of families seeking
residential support later.
Due to the growing demand for short break places we have worked to create hubs
and satellite services that provide access in north and south of the borough. Our
Short Breaks menu has now been created and launched on the local offer website.
We are currently looking at further developments to improve our youth and 0-5
offer across both boroughs.
Following a growth bid we have split the Short breaks team into three areas.
The Early Intervention team who support families with children aged 0-5yrs. This
team supports the family as soon as they receive the diagnosis and will work with
the family on a variety of Interventions such as Portage, Behaviour Management,

We will continue to monitor pressure on
Future
Sleep Interventions. These early support Interventions give the families better
our short breaks service at our Strategic
controls
knowledge and support as they learn to parent their Disabled Child. When the
Implementation Group and CfA Board,
child reaches 6 yrs they move into the Care Planning team till they are 13yrs. This
as well as via our quarterly SEND SEF.
team oversees the child’s care package and reviews it yearly. When the Young
Person turns 14 years they move to the Preparing for Adulthood Team. They start
to look at the Future and introduce practical support with travel training and
Independent skills. Once they are 18yrs they move into Adult Services. Across the
three teams they support over 500 Families.
We now have dedicated sites set up in both the north and south of Westminster.
However, we are still hoping to find a permanent dedicated site for CYP in South
Westminster as capacity at this site is limited.

26

Appendix- Departmental performance
Q1

Risk

Ongoing pressures with SEN service
An increasing number of young people are being identified with SEND and schools/settings are referring them for
statutory assessment. This is creating pressure on services undertaking assessment within statutory timescales,
including the provision of specialist advice from therapists. In June 2021 this pressure resulted in the first late
assessment across Bi borough since Feb 2020. The cost of arranging SEN provision, particularly for those aged 20-25,
with Education Health and Care Plans is growing. In RBKC, the high needs budget is in deficit. Other pressure points
including ensuring timely annual review of every EHC Plan.


Impact


12

Page 551




Existing
controls



16
12

12

Q1
20/21

Q2
20/21

Q3
20/21

12

12

Q4
20/21

Q1
21/22

Local Area Inspection: WCC Inspection was completed successfully in March 2020 and is being used to target preparations for future inspection in
RBKC although there have been significant changes in the CCG. Unannounced inspections, suspended during Covid-19, recommence in June. There is
enormous expectation that RBKC will deliver the same successful inspection outcome as WCC. Where the outcome of an inspection is poor, it results
in the authority and its CCG partner being required to provide a written statement of action (WSOA) and remedial action to meet the needs and
expectations of families.
Funding pressures in High Needs Block, particularly in RBKC: The implications of Covid-19 are likely to include an increased demand for support
available for pupils with special educational needs (SEN) including requests to repeat an academic year, enhanced levels of specialist input and
pressure to commission health services such as therapies.
The SEND Strategies were published in April 2018 and work is in hand to refresh
these following consultation with the broadest range of stakeholders. The multiagency Children and Families Act (CFA) Executive Board provides oversight of
delivery through targeted work streams. Self-evaluation is updated quarterly for
reporting to CFA Board.
Schools are engaged in review of high needs and proposals for reducing

Review of current contracts to identify
Future
expenditure and ensuring the funding is used in the most effective way will be
potential future financial opportunities
controls
presented to the Schools Forum. In WCC the high needs block is under pressure
moving forward
but not in deficit. In RBKC there is a significant deficit which is being succesfully
addressed through the review. Additional funding announced by the DfE has partly
reduced the in-year pressure and a deficit management plan has reduced a
forecast unfavourable variance.
Regular management oversight of local area inspection preparations, with
management actions taken where necessary.

27

Appendix- Departmental performance

Environment and City Management
Achievements
Climate Change Award
The City Highways team and their contractor FM Conways have won the Chartered Institution for Highways and
Transportation Ringway Climate Change Award 2021 for the King Street- Carbon Efficient Scheme.
The City Highways team have been developing a strategy with partners to help meet the Council’s target of zero
carbon by 2030. The carbon efficient trial at King Street was used to help inform this strategy with real-world
experience of the challenges involved and the actual savings that can be achieved.
More info about the work done to achieve the award can be found online
Applying parking controls on 92 estates establishing better resident and customer parking.
The process of implementing Traffic Orders onto Westminster’s Housing Estates is now complete. This exhaustive
project, which has taken over 2 years to complete, provides formal permitted parking spaces for residents, visitors
and contractors on 92 of the Council's housing estates and allows the Council to legally enforce illegal parking, such
as where vehicles park adjacent to fire exits or block vehicular access in, out or around the estate
Reopening the City
With two government relaxations of freedom during the quarter, it has taken a combined effort from the entire
ECM Directorate alongside other directorates, volunteers, redeployed officers and partners to successfully manage
the reopening of the City.
ECM worked alongside partners to develop and implement just under 100 public realm schemes, such as the
movement strategy to support social distancing, introducing 11km of additional cycle lanes across the city, 11 school
street zones to make walking to school safer and 19,000m2 of extra pavement space.
We supported over 1000 businesses in the hospitality sector through fast tracking licensing applications and
pavement licences when the City reopened in April 2021. Al fresco hospitality has resulted in the licensing team
processing 708 pavement licences with the support of the consultation team, on top of the recommencement of
normal licensing applications that we would expect.
The funding of 36 Covid-19 marshals has allowed our City Inspectors to concentrate on proactive compliance and
enforcement issues as well as the smooth running of the al fresco hospitality scheme. The establishment of a
Borough Control Centre has enabled us to deal quickly with incoming enquiries. We have also been able to resource
dedicated patrols to ensure the new Street Entertainment scheme was well-managed.
In Quarter 1, the Licensing and Regulatory Service received and processed 645 Pavement Licence applications. We
issued 15 Covid Regulation Fixed Penalty Notices (FPN) in quarter one and 25 Covid Regulation FPNs since the start
of the pandemic.
Electric Waste Fleet
Waste and Parks team secured funding in 2019 to make Oxford Street District street cleansing service a “zero
emission street cleansing service”. As part of this complex decarbonisation project, the cleansing team have
procured 15 specialist cleansing electric vehicles and 5 more electric vehicles. They were imported from Italy and
are now awaiting DVSA registration. Two local cleansing depots electrical infrastructure have been upgraded to
meet the power requirements of the new electric cleansing fleet.
There are multiple benefits from this project, including:
 Meeting the City for All Cleaner and Greener pillar, the Council’s air pollution commitments and Transport
for London’s aspirations of zero emission zones.
 Reducing carbon emissions – in Westminster, waste operations contribute 2954 kt of C02 emissions every
year and this project will reduce this by approximately 10%.
 Reducing noise pollution which makes the environment safer for local residents and visitors.

Page 552

28

Appendix- Departmental performance

Issues
Increase in contract costs from material price increases
The cost of steel, concrete, shipping containers and diesel (for plant) is increasing. While this won’t have an
immediate impact on the cost of Highways works, it will result in a rise in contract cost next financial year as
Indexation for increased material price is applied. The financial implication is currently being assessed and will
feature in the budget discussions taking place during Quarter 3 of this year.

Page 553

29

Appendix- Departmental performance

Key performance indicators
The table below presents the latest cumulative outturns available for each KPI at quarter 1 (April 2021 – June 2021).
Target
range
definitions

Minimum
Ideal
Aspirational

The minimum level for the KPI that will still allow the service to deliver
A level which is acceptable for service continuity
The level at which the service is improving beyond current capability

Key performance indicator

Target off track
Exceeding target
Target on track
Minimum standard met

Target
assessment
definitions

Year-end
2020/21
position

Minimum



Ideal



Aspirational

2021/22 target ranges

Position at Q1

Target
assessment

Page 554

1.

% of urgent lighting defects made safe
within agreed timescale

99.5%

95%



98%



100%

100%

Exceeding
target

2.

% of carriageway and footway defects
repaired or made safe within 24 hours

99.3%

95%



98%



100%

100%

Exceeding
target

3.

% of total licences issued within 28 days
from the publication date of the Licensing
Sub-Committee decision.

90%

70%



80%



90%

92%

Exceeding
target

Off track to meet the minimum target level
Exceeded ideal target level
On track to meet the ideal target level
Met the minimum target below ideal level
Other contextual insight

100% = 65/65 high priority urgent jobs.

4.

Number of hazards removed from
residential dwellings which pose a serious
Exceeding
247
300
 375

450
109
and immediate threat to people’s health
target
or safety
Service commentary: Officers only returned to normal service in April. The service relies on reactive reports from tenants to identify poor conditions. There is the potential for decreases in reporting
because of the pandemic, and also some shrinkage in Westminster’s Private Rented Sector. A new Additional Licensing scheme from 30th August will bring more cases to us where improvements are
required. It is expected that this will allow this target to be exceeded.

5.

Number of vulnerable residents
supported to continue living in their
homes

659

400



500



600

219

Exceeding
target

We are on track to exceed this target.

6.

Number of Houses of Multiple
Occupation (HMOs) improved (buildings
32
50
65
75
11
Target on track


with more than one household including
shared facilities)
Service commentary: On track for the target to be reached. Officers only returned to normal service in April 2021; work in HMOs had substantially paused during the pandemic given the increased risks
presented by these properties. New Additional Licensing scheme from 30th August 2021 will bring more cases to us where improvements are required. It is expected that this will allow this target to be
reached.

30

Appendix- Departmental performance
Year-end
2020/21
position

Minimum



Ideal



Aspirational

% of licensed premises that are safe and
well managed following a single
inspection (Covid-19-secure)

100%

80%



90%



% of women accessing specialist domestic
abuse services who report a reduction in
abuse

96%

75%



75%

4.4m



4.6m

Key performance indicator
7.

8.

2021/22 target ranges

Position at Q1

Target
assessment

100%

90%

Target on track



80%

88%

Exceeding
target



4.8m
(annually)

1m

Target on track

Other contextual insight

Q4: 455,626
9.

Total participation in Council sports,
leisure and wellbeing activities

(44% pre-covid19 target for
Q4)

Targets have been increased for the 2021/22
year.

Service commentary: Leisure centres have been very successful since re-opening following the lifting of lockdown as of 12 April (Step 2), particularly since 17 May (Step 3) with the return of Group
Exercise activities in the penultimate stage of the Government’s four-step roadmap.

Page 555

10. Ensuring parking compliance across the
City is over 97%

This is
biannual
reporting, so
there is no
result for YE.

97%



98%



99%

98%

Target on track

The survey of 300 street sections takes place
at random locations at random times of the
11. % of streets in Westminster that pass the
Minimum
day on random days of the week and our
97%
98%

98%

98%
97.3%
street score survey for litter
standard met
street cleansing operatives aren’t omnipresent to immediately react to people
dropping litter.
Service commentary: For the past 3 years we’ve been around 96-97% for litter, which is an exceptionally high level of street cleanliness. The visible difference between 95% and 100% (which is
technically impossible to achieve) would be imperceivable to our residents and visitors.
Mitigating action: We consider this a very good result, but we will meet with Veolia to look for trends in the data or if any specific area has delivered more litter fails.
12. % of visits to Sayers Croft services
compared with 2019/2020

2%
432 Visitors

20,000



23,000



25,000

12,664

Target on track

31

Appendix- Departmental performance
Year-end
2021/22 target ranges
Target
Key performance indicator
2020/21
Position at Q1
Other contextual insight
assessment
position
Minimum 
Ideal
 Aspirational
Service commentary: Visits are at 78% compared to 2019/20. Visitor numbers for the Sayers Croft Forest school program at Paddington Recreation Grounds are back to normal business levels, as the
restrictions have enabled this service to be fully operational this quarter. Sayers Croft residential centre has seen a rise in numbers, though the number of visitors staying for a school residential is lower
than normal, with no residential visitors in April, 147 in May, and 548 in June. The number of school day visits has meant our visitor numbers are higher than we expected.
Mitigating action: We are on target for meeting our 23,000 visitors, not due to normal operation being fully resumed but due to the unexpected outcome of the number of day visits we are delivering
for schools, and the funded health, activity and food programmes operating from the Forest School and the centre during the summer.
13. Number of emergency planning exercises
completed

9

6



7



10

5

Target on track

Page 556

As per internal audit and FSA Recovery Plan,
newly registered premises currently take
priority over Cat A and B premises
inspections. In Q1, the officers completed 98
14. To complete all high-risk food premises
Minimum
100%
100%
 100%

100%
54%
new premises inspections in Q1. Food
inspections (category A-B)
standard met
service receives approximately 80 new
premises registrations monthly on and about
50 of them require inspection on top of the
existing premises registered with WCC.
Service commentary: 78 Cat A and B premises were due for inspection in Q1, 41 of them were inspected but 35 of them could not be inspected, because they were temporary closed due to Covid-19.
These temporary closed premises have recently reopened, however this caused a backlog of inspections. It is anticipated that it will take few months to clear this backlog.
Mitigating action: We have had staffing issues but are recruiting at present. We have many vacancies which have resulted due to officers leaving, or being in isolation due to being high risk etc.
Businesses which have previously been closed throughout the pandemic are now beginning to reopen as we return to normal. The percentage target is 100% to be completed by the end of the financial
year.
15. Availability of residents parking in
Westminster (Ratio of residential permits
Minimum
86%
85%
95%
85%
 90%

issued against parking bays available on
standard met
the street)
Service commentary: The suspension of a number parking bays as part of the Movement Strategy and outside dining due to Covid restrictions continues to influence availability in some parking zones.
Mitigating action: If required, pay to park bays will be made available for residential use.

32

Appendix- Departmental performance

Top scoring directorate risks
Q1 Score

Risk
Covid-19 Pandemic
Coronavirus disease (Covid-19) is an infectious disease caused by a novel coronavirus first identified in Wuhan City, China
at the end of 2019. The corona virus pandemic has been responsible for approximately 127,000 deaths in the UK and led
to national lockdowns with corresponding economic damage.

25

25

25

25
20

Since the start of the pandemic there have been 19,785 cases of covid in Westminster. Between 28 July – 3 Aug 2021, 576
people in Westminster have tested positive for Covid 19, Cases are now decreasing. The latest decrease was 21% over this
7 day period (28 July-3 Aug 2021).
Measures to prevent and slow down transmission by washing your hands or using an alcohol-based rub frequently and not
touching your face, wearing a mask, maintaining social distance and ventilation of indoor areas are essential. The
vaccination programme is seen as the best way of managing the virus long term, reducing the likelihood of infection,
hospitalisation, and death. However, Westminster has one of the lowest rates of vaccination in the country.


Page 557

Impact



20



Existing
controls





Q1
20/21

Q2
20/21

Q3
20/21

Q4
20/21

Q1
21/22

After periods of reduced community transmission in the summer of 2020, and spring of 2021, the emergence of new variants (Alpha and Delta respectively)
each led to significant waves.
Rates of community transmission continue to increase week on week as we enter a third wave of covid, driven by the Delta variant. There are concerns that
hospitalisations could increase as well as increase the number of people suffering with the effects of long-covid and on the number of people, school children
in particular, isolating because of positive tests.
Business continuity – a review of the first two waves has been
undertaken to identify lessons learned
The primary mitigation is driving up vaccination among all cohorts but
paying particular focus on areas of depravation and 18 – 30 years old
which are the cohorts with the lowest vaccination rates.
Testing - facilities have been set up across Westminster as part of a
community testing plan with DHSC.
Future
Vaccination - sites are operating at ETC (mass site), Little Venice Sports
controls

Review of the Local Outbreak
Centre and Royal Horticultural Halls (PCN), as well as pop-up sites (e.g.
Management Plan
Stowe and Abbey Centre) and a mobile vaccination bus.
We continue to carryout contact tracing and encourage self-isolation to
break the transmission.
Outbreak incidents and situations of concerns continue to be investigated
to ensure risks are being reduced in various settings including businesses,
care homes, educations etc.

33

Appendix- Departmental performance
Q1 Score

Risk
Continued decline in parking income across the majority of revenue streams
The continued decline in parking revenue across the majority of income streams has been worsened by the Covid-19
pandemic. There is a risk that the Council experiences continued decline in parking revenue as a consequence of continued
restrictions and a reduction in vehicles coming into the city.

16

Impact

Existing
controls

Page 558
16

Existing
controls

0
Q4 20/21

Q1 21/22

A reduction in revenue across the majority of parking income streams is still being experienced this financial year resulting in a potential net risk to the Parking
Service budget

2021/22 Income budgets have been reduced by £5.3m, current year
only, in order to help alleviate a further potential deficit as recovery

It is anticipated that there will further
from the pandemic continues.
Future
improvement in parking revenue in Q2

There has already been some recovery experienced in 2021/22 Q1
controls
2021/22 once Covid restrictions cease
income reporting across all income streams, although both Paid for
from 19th July 2021 onwards.
Parking and PCNs continue to be in a deficit position against budgeted
profile.

Flooding
Impact on the City from fluvial or surface water flooding.

Impact

16

• Damage to Council buildings and structures
• Transport disruption
• Cold temperature
• Risks to vulnerable people
• Slip and trip hazards
• Access denial (denied access to somewhere – in the case by large amounts of water)
• Possible power outages and severe infrastructure disruptions (IT, Telephony, Electricity, Water)

London Strategic Flood Framework from GLA

Environment Agency Guidance:

Westminster Plan for Major Emergencies

WCC Staff 10 Point Plan for Business Continuity

Departmental Business Continuity Plans
Future

Flooding the Council follows the GLA’s London Strategic Flood
controls
Framework and Environment Agency Guidance, the Serpentine
Reservoir Inundation Plan, and it also has its own Westminster Plan for
Major Emergencies, WCC Staff 10 Point Plan for Business Continuity,
and test exercises. The Thames Barrier is also a major existing control
against flood events.

12

12

12

16
6

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22





Exercising & testing with WCC Property &
Estates, Bouygues, WCC Facilities
Management, WCC Housing
Management.
Serpentine exercise with The Royal Parks
resulting in lessons to be implemented
across partners

34

Appendix- Departmental performance
Q1 Score

Risk

The current threat level of a terrorist attack
The threat level to the United Kingdom from terrorism is currently ‘Substantial’. This means that a terrorist 'attack is 'likely'.
The level is set by the Joint Terrorism Analysis Centre.

16

Impact






Page 559



12

12

Q1
20/21

Q2
20/21

Q3
20/21

16

Q4
20/21

Q1
21/22

Injury/Loss of Life
Financial impact
Community tensions
Legal/Reputational Damage if the Council is seen to be at fault


Existing
controls

12

16

Work ongoing across three strands of CONTEST to seek to reduce the
likelihood, vulnerability and impact of a terrorist attack in Westminster

Future
controls





Detailed within business plans for Prevent,
Protect and Emergency Planning & Business
Continuity.
Continue to carry out test exercises.
Partnership working with the Metropolitan
Police Service.
Protective security schemes being
implemented in number of vulnerable iconic
locations.

35

Appendix- Departmental performance

Finance and Resources
Achievements
Draft statement of accounts
The Council published its draft 2020/21 statement of accounts on 24 June. Westminster is one of the first
authorities in the country to publish its accounts. This was a significant achievement given the additional complexity
that Covid has brought. The external audit of the accounts has already begun with sign-off expected to take place at
Audit and Performance Committee on 15 September 2021.
Windrush Generation Green Plaque in Paddington Station
The Windrush Generation included soldiers, doctors, nurses, teachers, university students, transit workers, artists,
politicians, and athletes, who came to London between 1948 and 1970 upon to rebuild our nation. On Windrush
Day, Tuesday 22 June 2021, Westminster City Council unveiled a green plaque in Paddington honouring these
everyday heroes for the contributions they made to the UK.
In attendance were many Windrush Generation residents of Westminster including actor, Peter Straker, who
unveiled the plaque and regaled the audience with an impromptu rendition of Day O. Peter also arrived in
Paddington Station in 1955 from Jamaica. The green plaque project was led by Loy Phillips, Project Officer for Legal
Services and Event Lead for the WCC BAME Network. Loy worked with Westminster City Council Plaque Committee,
Network Rail, Great Western Rail, and the Elizabeth Line.
The unveiling received praise and media coverage which can been seen in the press Release on the Council website.
This is best summarised by Cllr Heather Acton, Westminster City Council Cabinet Member for Regeneration and
Communities who said, “The green plaque at Paddington Station will be an enduring, visual reminder for thousands
of people of where the Windrush Generation began in London.”
We want to celebrate our Caribbean community here in Westminster, who represent the rich diversity of our city,
and we want to celebrate them on this day and every day. We must continue to highlight and always remember the
enormous contribution the Windrush Generation made and continues to make in our communities.
The Innovation Hub
The Innovation Hub is a collaboration space on the 17th floor of City Hall. The Hub is an active event environment
that enables employees, guests and partners to effectively engage in the flow of presentations, group discussions,
workshops, problem solving exercises and project-based learning. Rapid reconfiguration of the space is made
possible by balancing flexible furniture and power outlets. The Innovation Hub is now set up for use and we are
receiving positive feedback. The Hub provides significant support for new and future ways of working, rethinking
how we use our office space, it provides space for events and smaller scale collaboration, and will play a key role in
welcoming teams back to the office.
The Electric Vehicle industry session was held recently at the innovation hub, and the team are working with
suppliers to be able to demonstrate new and innovative technologies to people who come and use the area.
Carbon reduction refit to our operational properties
One of the council’s first carbon reduction refits has been completed at Marshall Street Leisure centre as part of the
decarbonisation scheme. The lighting has been replaced with LED lighting at the pool area at Marshall Street Leisure
centre, resulting in an increase in lux levels (illumination) of 2000% and a £14k saving in electricity and 7 tonnes of
carbon per annum.
Forward plan for all upcoming commercial activity across the Council
A core element of the new Procurement operating model is the introduction of a Business Partnering model. The
Heads of Commercial (Business Partners), covering GPH, ECM, Adults & Children’s, and Corporate, are the first point
of contact for internal customers, ensuring that procurement activity is aligned to client business objectives and
strategy. The Procurement Business Partners have worked with stakeholders across the Council during Q1 to
establish strong working relationships and jointly develop commercial pipelines, which sets out a forward plan of all
upcoming commercial activity across the Council. This pipeline will enable earlier engagement and a more planned
and pro-active approach to procurement activity which should reduce the number of direct awards and waivers

Page 560

36

Appendix- Departmental performance
requested and encourage more innovation. Strategic Procurement Boards have also been set up monthly with each
Executive Director’s SLT to improve forward planning, collaboration and oversight of procurement activity.
Procurement Policy & Performance Improvements
The Procurement Policy & Performance team launched the updated Procurement Code in April, which supersedes
the last version dated September 2017. The Code provides the legal and procedural framework for the
procurement of works, goods and services. It forms part of the Westminster City Council Constitution and serves as
a guide to Officers, giving practical effect to Council priorities whilst at the same time mitigating against commercial
and compliance risk.
The updated Code is one of the key parts that will contribute to providing a fundamental shift in the way we work,
transforming how we deliver procurement, being recognised as an enabler and providing a centre of expertise to
our stakeholders. Since the last update in 2017, the Procurement and Commercial Services team has undergone a
significant transformation, and Council priorities have developed and evolved. The updates in this latest version of
the Procurement Code reflect the changes to the department’s operating model and governance procedures, as
well as reflecting wider Council priorities such as City for All and the Climate Change agenda. The structure of the
Procurement Code is also now much easier to follow and understand.
Alongside the Code, the team also launched a new reporting framework in June, which will enable greater oversight
of procurement and contract management activity across the Council. The framework has 3 key elements:


Current activity – updates on implementation of the new operating model for the Procurement &
Commercial Service; new Procurement Code & systems; Responsible Procurement Strategy to support City
for All; current tendering activity and risks; and an overview of contract performance of the Councils
highest value/risk contracts.



Retrospective performance reporting – analysis of key performance indicators measuring delivery of value
and benefits, management of risk, and stakeholder satisfaction.



Forward plan - an overview of the procurement pipeline and upcoming procurement activity, and key
commercial/procurement risks for each directorate.

Issues
Agilisys contact centre – reduction in the percentage of calls answered and the maximum wait time for calls
We have ongoing performance issues with the Agilisys Contact Centre where we are seeing a dip in the ability of the
Contact Centre to meet targets around the percentage of calls answered and the maximum wait time for calls. This
will impact the ability of our service users to gain access to help and support. The contact centre handles calls for
many key Council services.
The main issues which caused the poor performance during this period included:
 Sickness and absence levels were higher than forecast, including long term and unplanned absences both in
and out of hours.
 Experienced agents were involved in training and supporting new recruits which meant they were not able
to take as many calls.
 Call volumes were higher than forecast, particularly out of hours relating to block issues such as no power
and no water.
 Recruitment required more time for positions to be filled than initially envisaged, there were fewer highquality applicants and in some cases no responses to adverts for agents.
The above has been closely monitored and there is a remediation plan in place to ensure that performance
improves. The remediation plan includes the following actions:
 All vacancies have now been filled with recruitment to a higher level than required to provide the
confidence that improved performance is of highest priority.
 Overtime has been offered whenever possible to support absences including using agents to cover
weekend shifts where major issues such as power outages or no water can impact performance.

Page 561

37

Appendix- Departmental performance


Additional training is being undertaken outside of operational hours or during early morning shifts where
volume is considerably lower to reduce the impact to performance.

Financial Markets have reached record highs, resulting in risk of future downturn
Financial markets have reached record highs, and this increases the risk of a future downturn. The Council’s pension
fund has a significant asset allocation in equities. Any downturn in the equities markets will impact the value of the
assets held by the Council’s pension fund.
The investment portfolio is monitored closely by the Council’s pension fund committee which is comprised of ten
specialist investment managers who decide on the investment policy most suitable to meet the liabilities of the
pension scheme.
Beachcroft Residential Care Home – Re-launched procurement exercise
The Council conducted a procurement exercise to find a care provider to support residents at the Council’s new care
home, Beachcroft House. A compliant procurement process took place between January and March 2021.
Unfortunately, in part due to the impact of the pandemic on the residential care market, the council was unable to
award the contract. The tenders submitted did not demonstrate best value from a commercial point of view. The
council has therefore directly awarded a contract for 12 months (with the possibility to extend by 6 months if
required) while detailed market engagement is carried out to understand the appetite of the market, as well as
further engagement with residents. Other options such as bringing the service in-house are also being explored. The
commissioning strategy for Beachcroft will be finalised in October.

Page 562

38

Appendix- Departmental performance

Key performance indicators
The table below presents the latest cumulative outturns available for each KPI at quarter 1 (April 2021 – June 2021).
Target
range
definitions

Minimum
Ideal
Aspirational

The minimum level for the KPI that will still allow the service to deliver
A level which is acceptable for service continuity
The level at which the service is improving beyond current capability

Key performance indicator

1.

Variance between budget and full year
forecast

Year-end
position

£3.851m
overspent

Target off track
Exceeding target
Target on track
Minimum standard met

Target
assessment
definitions

2021/22 target ranges
Minimum



Ideal



Aspirational

Overspend



< £5m
underspent



As per ideal

Off track to meet the minimum target level
Exceeded ideal target level
On track to meet the ideal target level
Met the minimum target below ideal level

Position at Q1

Target
assessment

Other contextual insight

£3.3m
overspend as at
P4

Minimum
standard
met

Continuing pressure on council’s income streams as
activity remains significantly below pre-pandemic
levels.

Page 563

On budget
On budget
On budget
Target
£17.967m
based on  based on 
based on
off
track
underspend P4
forecast
forecast
forecast
Service commentary: The majority of the expenditure variance is related to growth, planning and housing large scale regeneration and development schemes of £21.408m underspend.
Mitigating action: As part of the current ongoing CPSR process we will be assessing the profiling of large scale regeneration and development schemes in particular those at pre-contract stage with the
aim of reprofiling the current year budget to be more reflective of the latest knowledge.
2.

Variance between capital budget and
FY forecast

3.

Percentage of council tax collected

4.

Percentage of business rates collected

£122.753m
underspent

91.06%

88.76%

90%



91%



96.5%

35.58%

Target
on track

At the end of June 2021, Council tax collection rate
was 35.58% against 35.3% at the same point last
year, an increase of 0.28%.
The NNDR figures for the current year are not
comparable with last year due to the different
levels of Retail discount given by the government in
each year.

90%



91%



98.5%

25.52%

Target
on track

5. No. of major business impact priority 1
incidents per quarter (critical/major system
being completely down which could affect
more than 100 people)

2

22



18



12

6

Exceeding
target

6. Significant information security
incident(s) attracting fines under new GDPR
legislation such as Information
Commissioner intervention regarding
handling of data protection

0

0



0



0

0

Target
on track

39

Appendix- Departmental performance
Key performance indicator
7. Number of high-risk incidents reported
to the ICO
8. % of calls answered (Agilisys)

Year-end
position

2021/22 target ranges

of calls
abandoned)

Target
assessment

Minimum



Ideal



Aspirational

0



0



0

0

Target
on track

97%

88.7%

Target
off track

0
95.1% (4.9%

Position at Q1

95%



95%



Other contextual insight
GDPR Incident reporting rules only apply if they
meet the criteria set by the ICO.

Service commentary: There has been a dip in the ability of the Contact Centre to meet targets around the percentage of calls answered and the maximum wait time for calls due to sickness and absence
levels being higher than forecast, including long term and unplanned absences both in and out of hours. Absence levels for 03/2021 - 06/2021 were at 10.5% compared to 2.3% in the same period last
year. Experienced agents were involved in training and supporting new recruits which meant they were not able to take as many calls. Call volumes were higher than forecast, particularly out of hours
relating to block issues such as no power and no water.
Mitigating action: The remediation plan included the following actions which have been taken: all vacancies have now been filled with over recruitment to a higher level than required. Overtime has
been offered whenever possible to support absences, including using in hours agents to cover weekend shifts where major issues such as power outages or no water can impact performance. Additional
training is being undertaken outside of operational hours or during early morning shifts when call volumes are considerably lower to reduce the impact to performance.

Page 564

9. Percentage of staff who have completed
Target
mandatory data protection & cyber security
70%
70%

90%

95%
67%
off track
online training per year
Service commentary: The staff who have carried out training has reduced to 67%, a reduction of 3% from the previous quarter at 70%. This is because a number of staff who carried out the training over
12 months ago did not redo the training.
Mitigating action: Considerable effort continues in increasing the number of staff trained through attendance in meetings, competitions, and direct contact. IT is continuing to utilise their Business
Partners to help push out training, to ensure the percentage of staff who have completed their training increases by the end of the year.
10. Increase in total income generated
from the Council’s investment
portfolio
11. Percentage of clients satisfied with
Legal service as measured by the
satisfactory survey

12. Pension Fund: carbon savings
achieved in year versus the 2018/19
baseline (NEW)

£5,307,826m

92%

New measure

1.5%
increase
per year
£477,000

2%
increase

per year
£636,000

3%
increase

per year
£954,000

70





50%



80

75%



100

100%

£5,645,970m
Increased by
6.3% Q1 21/22

Exceeding
target

100%

Exceeding
target

60%

Minimum
standard
met

No Investment Strategy changes have been made in
Q1. Data will be next reviewed in November 2021.
November 2020 figure is 60%.
Performance to achieve carbon reduction targets
(carbon produced to value invested) will require
accurate measurement of the carbon impact from
investment strategies, provided by a specialist
consultant and investment fund managers. The
pensions fund ambition in terms of carbon
reduction is aligned with the City Council's Greener
and Cleaner ambition and the 2030 net zero carbon
target.

40

Appendix- Departmental performance
Key performance indicator

Year-end
position

2021/22 target ranges
Minimum



Ideal



Position at Q1
Aspirational

13. Unpaid sundry debt over 30+ days
(NEW)

New measure

20%



16%



12%

13%

14. Payment of invoices within 30 days
of receipt (NEW)

New measure

93%



95%



98%

97.7%

Target
assessment

Other contextual insight

Target on
track
Target on
track

If you are not satisfied with a stage 1 response, you
can appeal to the Chief Executive by making a stage
Target off
New measure
70%
75%
80%
48%
2 complaint. Your complaint will be sent to the


track
Complaints and Customer Manager who will carry
out a review of the concern(s).
Service commentary: The Council was carrying a small backlog of complaints when we started Q1 in April, due to being short staffed, a new complaints officer was recruited in April and the older cases
had to be completed before we could start on new cases received in Q1. The pandemic backlog has now been cleared (June 2021,) so the percentage of responses despatched should improve over the
remaining three quarters of the year.
Mitigating action: We have cleared the back log and complaints are now up to date and we are now completing complaints within the target response time.
15. Stage 2 complaint responses
despatched within 20 working days
(NEW)

Page 565

16. Time to process new benefit claims
and benefit changes of circumstance
notifications (NEW)

17. Procurement Savings delivered
council wide (in Year)

New measure

New measure

16

£5m
(£417k
p/m)



10

£6m
 (£500k
p/m)





8

£7m
(£584k p/m)

9 days

£2.106m
(£702k p/m)

Target on
track

Exceeding
target

Savings are defined as cost reductions resulting from
procurement activity, which can be either:
‘Hard Savings’ - competitive supplier selection
resulting in a reduction to budget; or
‘Cost Avoidance’ – competitive supplier selection has
reduced the cost of the contract but this does not
have budget impact (e.g. because the service is new,
or a one-off activity).
In Q1, Hard Savings of £1.25m and Cost Avoidance of
£856k were achieved.

41

Appendix- Departmental performance

Top scoring directorate risks
Q1 Score

Risk
Financial risk due to COVID 19 and uncertainty regarding future government funding
The Covid-19 pandemic has created significant financial risks due to additional expenditure the Council incurred to support its
communities and reduced income that has resulted from a drop in activity in the city from the lockdown and social distancing
measures. The Council have received approximately £30m in government funding to mitigate against the financial impact of the
pandemic. The government will also reimburse authorities for 75% of income losses occurring in 2020-21 as a result of Covid-19 after
the first 5% of losses is absorbed by local authorities. To qualify, income losses must be related to the delivery of services, while
commercial and rental income are excluded. The Council have claimed c£15m from the first two rounds of submissions.


Impact




Page 566



25



Existing
controls




20

25

25

25

25

25

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

If government funding for the financial impact of the pandemic is not sufficient, this would cause overspends and a subsequent reduction in the general fund
balance.
The uncertainty around the future of local government funding could lead to significant budget gaps in the medium term.
The Council is still likely to have a net overspend for this financial year and there is a risk that the current position could worsen if the impacts of the pandemic
remain the same.
There is also great uncertainty about the future of local government funding due to the economic impact of the pandemic and two key policy areas – the Fair
Funding Review and Business Rates Retention scheme have been postponed
Rigorous monthly monitoring which scrutinises forecast projections and challenges material
movements against budgeted targets
Regular and detailed monitoring of COVID 19 impact on fees and charges, however this will
only record not influence impact.
Future
The Council will seek to maximise the recovery of lost income through the government’s
controls
income compensation scheme. It is unknown what the scale of impact from a potential
second wave and further government action would be at this stage.
Medium Term Financial Planning which reviews the Council’s financial position over the next
three years to ensure the Council are pro-active in finding savings, and therefore ensuring
financial resilience.

Project demand/prioritisation
Meeting and managing increasing and unprioritized business demand and challenge to rapidly mobilise resource

The Council will seek to maximise any income
it can receive from government and ensure
strong medium term financial planning –
reviewing both expenditure and income.

16

16

16

16

20

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

42

Appendix- Departmental performance
Q1 Score

Risk
Impact

Existing
controls

Failure to deliver on council service priorities and ultimately impact on end users
Reputational damage to IT and potential operational impact.

Digital Partner framework implemented end-June;

Interim Resource Management in place covering PM, Architecture, Development

Business Partnering with services to prioritise and filter demand

Established formal IT Gate process with project methodology now embedded in an online
portfolio management tool used by all IT PMs to plan, track and report on projects.

Built IT Business Partnering capability within Ent Gov. Aligned Business Partners to key
departments to ensure visibility of roadmaps of prioritised change is key to driving IT
resource investment.

- "Front Door" and Project initiation process now facilitated through PMO led Gate 0 majority of proposals are now submitted through IT Business Partners and relative priorities
of pipeline projects reviewed at regular IT Demand Review Group session.


Future
controls

Delivery of Budgeted Savings
Due to ongoing funding reductions, the Council must make savings from its revenue budget annually. This is crucial to set a
balanced budget which is a legal requirement.

Page 567

COVID 19 led to a number of saving proposals from March 2020 being delayed and further savings put forward as part of the
budget report to full Council in March 2021.
Impact

Existing
controls



20

PMO tool enhanced to include
resource demand reporting to allow
resource "hot-spots" to be managed
IT Business Partners continue
working with service Digital Leads to
agree priorities

20

20

20

20

Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
Q1
20/21 20/21 20/21 20/21 21/22

Failure to realise these budgeted savings will result in overspends and a reduction in balances and reserves. This will have a knock-on impact on future year's budgets
as the savings are intended to be ongoing, making balancing future budgets more difficult.

Robust challenge of all proposed MTP Savings during the MTP process (e.g. through
Corporate Budget Group)

In-year monitoring of agreed MTP Savings

Robust scrutiny in the annual budget
Future

COVID 19 savings non-delivery monitoring
setting process for proposed savings
controls
and effective in year monitoring.

Establishing whether savings will be deliverable even if delayed by Covid-19 response,
This needs to be on-going.
as part of the latest MTP/C4A refresh process

Ensuring delivery of collaborative savings proposals via the MTFP steering group and
reporting to the Innovation and Change Board.

43

Appendix- Departmental performance

Growth, Planning and Housing
Achievements
Changing Futures (CF) Programme funding
The Changing Futures programme is a £64 million joint initiative by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) and The National Lottery Community Fund, the largest funder of community activity in the
UK. The fund is for local organisations to work in partnership to better support those who experience multiple
disadvantages.
On 14 June, Westminster was successfully awarded 3 years’ funding of £3,280,000 to deliver the Changing Futures (CF)
Programme. This funding will help to transform the lives of the most vulnerable individuals and communities living in
Westminster. Led by the Housing service, the money will allow the Council to fund a range of new services including:
 working with young adults who feel lost in the system
 making it easier for vulnerable young people to access housing
 training staff across organisations to better understand multiple disadvantage
The Council were required to provide a delivery plan for the work within CF to set out our objectives and support
our bid. The purpose of the delivery plan was to detail our aims for the theory of change and how our proposal will
improve outcomes for adults experiencing multiple disadvantages. Westminster’s focus is young adults (18-25)
experiencing multiple disadvantages, and 50% of the funding is ringfenced to Family Services, but additionally
MHCLG encouraged the Council to consider including cohorts outside the age profile.
Westminster’s work centred on a programme that achieves a more joined-up, person-centred approach to local
delivery, commitment to making long-term and sustainable change that delivers improved outcomes for individuals
experiencing multiple disadvantages. The Council was required to demonstrate how our delivery of the programme
will make an impact across all 3 areas of the individual, service, and system levels.
Westminster’s track record in innovative work for troubled young people, domestic abuse and rough sleeping meant
the City was one of only 15 areas across the country – and the only borough in London – to be chosen to receive
funding. We now move into the mobilisation plan and recruitment of the project team.
Affordable Housing Programme
At the start of June 2021, planning permission was granted for Phase 1 of Ebury Bridge, including outline consent for
the latter phases of the development. The first phase of the scheme will see delivery of 226 new homes including 97
homes for returning social tenants and 16 for returning leaseholders. The regeneration will also include new shops,
public realm and community facilities, delivering a cohesive and vibrant new housing community in the South of the
borough. Following procurement of a main contractor, construction is anticipated in Autumn this year.
Planning permission has also been granted for the Balmoral and Darwin House scheme which will provide 52 new
homes, comprising 34 specialised housing flats built to HAPPI standards (design principles and accessibility
requirements for an ageing population) and 18 affordable homes. The specialised housing units will be let at social
rents and the general needs apartments at intermediate rents. Along with the new homes, new landscaping will be
provided. Construction of the specialist housing flats is anticipated in Spring 2022, with the intermediate homes on
site in winter 2023.
Planning permission has also been granted for Carlton Dene, which will provide 65 Extra Care and 22 Affordable
homes and is a 100% affordable scheme.
Completion of 6 new social rent homes took place during May through schemes at John Aird Court, Falkirk House,
Sunderland House and Edinburgh House, forming part of the “Estate Offices” package of the Council’s Infill
Programme. This programme has been looking at opportunities to deliver new affordable homes by maximising
council owned space and under-used land across the City to provide homes for people living and working locally
within Westminster.

Page 568

44

Appendix- Departmental performance
The West End Activations and Pop-Up Project
This project seeks to trial and test innovative uses of Westminster’s ground floor spaces to contribute to a more
resilient, inclusive and thriving local economy post-Covid. Throughout the course of the programme, up to 40
activations will be delivered across the West End using creative installations, displaying local creative talent, working
with existing UK and international brands and showcasing innovative start-ups to provide immediate support for
Westminster’s high streets and in particular the West End. A key objective of this project is to respond quickly and
effectively to the impact of Covid-19 on the high street to maximise opportunities to activate the vacant units whilst
also supporting the creative and cultural sectors and start-up businesses. As of August 2021, we have launched 8
pop ups including; a Windrush Living Room; participatory and immersive clothing workshop; interactive artwork
using pouring mechanisms; showcasing artistic works created by artists with learning disabilities and a
contemporary dance hub. The project will continue to run until the end of October as we work collaboratively with
BIDs and property owners to give visitors a wholly unique experience, upon their return to Westminster this
summer.
Westminster Investment Service launched
The service aims to attract sustainable investment to contribute to the creation of employment, assist Londonbased entrepreneurs to scale their businesses within Westminster and support the launch of new occupiers in the
West End in the wake of the pandemic.
The service was launched on 29 June at a hybrid event that was both live-streamed and in-person at the Hampshire
Hotel. Guests heard from the Lord Mayor and Cllr Matthew Green, and featured an expert panel of external
partners. The service is already receiving enquiries from potential investors seeking workspace and those already
here who require support through the newly established Concierge Service, bringing together key council
departments and partners to provide intelligence, navigational support, introductions, and advice.
Meanwhile enterprise space project
In partnership with Interim Spaces, one of London's leading providers of affordable and sustainable workspace, the
Council successfully launched a meanwhile enterprise space at 382 Edgeware Road (on the 1st floor of Site A in
Church Street) in April 2021. The previous tenants moved out which created an opportunity for meanwhile use until
vacant possession is required.
The space is now home to Church Street Studios, offering exceptionally affordable studio space for £1sqft/month all
inclusive. It is fully occupied, with 6 studios in the West Wing with 8 members, 50% of who are Westminster
residents, focusing on fashion and visual arts. The East Wing is home to the WEPT project, a social enterprise that
provides fashion and textiles training to women in the local area, who launched their first programme in mid-June.

Issues
Government changes to introduce Class E to Residential Permitted Development Right
Government announced a new permitted development right for change of use from Class E (wide range of
commercial and community uses) to residential. This can be used by developers from 1 August 2021 to change the
use of Class E uses to residential without the need for planning permission (The Town and Country Planning

(General Permitted Development etc.) (England) (Amendment) Order 2021 No. 428 (legislation.gov.uk)
Uncontrolled changes of use within the designated town centre hierarchy and the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) have
the potential to erode existing conglomerations of commercial and service uses that serve their local communities
and are co-dependent on the footfall that is driven by their grouped locations within designated centres. In some
locations, the loss of commercial uses to residential uses within town centres may undermine place shaping work
the Council is undertaking (e.g. along Harrow Road).
The City Planning Policy Team is consulting on a new Article 4 Direction which will prevent change of use from Class
E to residential from 1 August 2022. However, in the interim, changes of use from Class E uses (excluding offices
which continue to be prevented by the existing office to residential Article 4 Direction) to residential will not need
planning permission. The City Planning Policy Team is developing an evidence base, with assistance from Place
Shaping and Town Planning officers, to demonstrate the need for a further Article 4 Direction preventing Class E to
residential permitted changes of use within other designated ‘Town Centres’ outside the CAZ. These designations
were made in the new City Plan. The Council is aiming to introduce an additional Article 4 Direction in September
2021 for these areas.

Page 569

45

Appendix- Departmental performance
The Council will have a lack of control over changes of use between Class E uses and residential uses until 1 August
2022 in the CAZ (excluding offices) other than the consideration of prescribed issues outlined in legislation. It is
likely that an Article 4 Direction for other town centres would not be in place until September 2022 at the earliest
given the need for a 12-month grace period from the introduction of a new Direction.
Reduced Speed of Decision-Making Performance for Non-Major Applications
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) monitors planning application performance
(both in terms of speed of decision making and quality) over a rolling 24-month period. The MHCLG minimum target
for non-major planning applications determined within 8 weeks is 70% - this target is set for how quickly Councils
decide planning applications. Local Planning Authorities falling below this performance level across the whole 24month period can be required to produce an action plan to deliver improvements. The MHCLG may also allow
applicants to apply directly to the Planning Inspectorate for certain application types. Non-major planning
application performance for Q1 2021-22 was 66%.
The local authority may be subject to sanctions from the MHCLG if underperformance continues to the next
assessment point (end of Q2 2021-22). Measures introduced include enhancement of performance management
data for Team Leaders, closer casework management of planning officers to prioritise the speed of decision making,
use of ‘Extensions of Time’ agreements with applicants where appropriate (e.g. where amendments have been
accepted), introduction of a new departmental structure with a dedicated design and sustainability team to make
most efficient and flexible use of resources and recruitment to vacant posts within the newly introduced structure.
The measures outlined above are in place to the end of Q2 2021-22 by which time the performance for the 24
months to end of September 2021 is expected to have increased to 70% or above. The measures will be reviewed
and may be maintained in full or in part to ensure improved performance going forward in combination with the
new departmental structure.

Page 570

46

Appendix- Departmental performance

Key performance indicators
The table below presents the latest cumulative outturns available for each KPI at quarter 1 (April 2021 – June 2021).

Target
range
definitions

Minimum
Ideal
Aspirational

The minimum level for the KPI that will still allow the service to deliver
A level which is acceptable for service continuity
The level at which the service is improving beyond current capability
Year-end
2020/21
position

Minimum

% of ‘major’ planning applications
determined within 13 weeks i.e.
larger scale development.

77%

Number of cases of homelessness
prevented (Defined as outcomes
from a combination of Housing
Solutions and Shelter work)
Affordable Housing units
delivered in 20/21 (1,850 by 2023)

Key performance indicator

1.

2.

Page 571

3.

2021/22 target ranges

Target
assessment
definitions

Target off track
Exceeding target
Target on track
Minimum standard met

Position at
Q1

Target
assessment

Off track to meet the minimum target level
Exceeded ideal target level
On track to meet the ideal target level
Met the minimum target below ideal level
Other contextual insight



Ideal



60%



70%



75%

83%

Exceeding
target

Targets were reviewed for 21/22. The ideal target increased,
and the aspirational target decreased.

621

500



520



550

148

Target on
track

Targets have been reviewed and are still considered
challenging and realistic for 2021/22.

230
(1,023)

227
(1,250)



263
(1,286)



298
(1,321)

23

Target on
track

Aspirational

Service commentary: 71 units of this year's anticipated supply are due to be delivered in Q4 so are at some risk of slippage into 2022-23.

4.

% satisfaction with repairs service

81%

82%



84%



86%

77%

Target off
track

Targets have been reviewed and are still considered
challenging and realistic for 2021/22.

Service commentary: Hundreds of in-flat repairs which had been postponed due to lockdown restrictions (we did not undertake any routine in-flat repairs) have been released.
Mitigating action: Our contractors are making appointments for all of these repairs, resulting in a period of catch-up. This is well underway and being progressed as quickly as possible.
5.

Satisfaction with anti-social
behaviour (ASB) case handling

65%

63%



67%



70%

68%

Target on
track

Targets reviewed and increased to make more challenging for
2021/22.

6.

% of ‘non-major’ planning
applications determined within 8
weeks

70%

70%



73%



75%

67%

Target off
track

The minimum and ideal targets have been increased for
2021/22 to be more challenging. The aspirational target has
been reduced to be more realistic.

47

Appendix- Departmental performance
Year-end
2021/22 target ranges
Position at
Target
Key performance indicator
2020/21
Other contextual insight
Q1
assessment
position
Minimum 
Ideal
 Aspirational
Service commentary: Reduction in performance on non-majors during Q1 was due to the impacts in the preceding quarter of renewed coronavirus restrictions (impacting site visits etc.) and an increase
in vacant posts prior to and during the departmental restructure.
Mitigating action: This is being addressed as a departmental priority through provision of improved performance data for managers, closer management of officer caseloads, wider use of extensions of
time where appropriate, recruitment to vacant posts within new structure and introduction of new more resource efficient Design and Sustainability Team. A return to >70% (for cumulative Q1 & Q2
period) is expected by end of Q2.
7.

8.

% planning appeals determined in
favour of the Council (Excluding
telephone boxes)
Number of businesses significantly
engaged (including vouchers
issued, Corporate Social
Responsibility activity)

73%

60%



65%



70%

62%

Minimum
standard
met
Exceeding
target

Page 572

12,330

4,000



4,500



5,000

1,545

320

320



350



400

128

10. 345 Westminster residents
supported into Interims (Work
trials, training, work placements &
volunteering)

1,078

293



345



380

293

Exceeding
target

11. 1,000 young people engaged in
enterprise and sector-based
experiences

1,036

750



1,000



1,250

0

Target
on track

4

6

Target
on track

75%

69%

Minimum
standard
met

9.

350 Westminster residents into
jobs through our Westminster
Employment Service (WES)

12. 9 or fewer new rough sleepers in
the quarter who join the ‘Living on
the Streets (LOS) cohort

New
measure

16

13. Contact centre - % calls answered
in 30 seconds

65%

65%





9

70%





Exceeding
target

18 out of 29 successful in Q1. Targets have been reviewed and
the ideal and aspirational targets have been made more
challenging.
The targets were significantly increased last year, to account
for the unprecedented levels of support being provided to
Westminster businesses impacted by the pandemic. Whilst the
2020-21 outturn figure was a one-off, the higher targets have
been retained to reflect our continued work in this area.

Targets have been reviewed and are still considered
challenging and realistic for 2021/22.

As in previous years, most of our engagement activity falls in
Q3 and 4. The targets have been reviewed and are still
considered challenging and realistic for 2021-22.
This is a new KPI which monitors how many new rough sleepers
in the quarter were not accommodated or did not leave the
streets themselves and stay rough sleeping long enough that
they risk becoming entrenched rough sleepers.
Targets have been reviewed and are still considered
challenging and realistic for 2021/22.

48

Appendix- Departmental performance

Top scoring directorate risks
Q1 Score

Risk

Building Regulations - Part B & Draft Building Safety Bill
Building Regulations - Part B has been re-written following an independent review of the building regulations and fire safety
following Grenfell. The buildings "in scope" has been extended to cover many more of the properties within Westminster.
The new draft bill sets requirements for competence and resource of the local Building Control team. It has far reaching
impact across the Council with the requirements for safety cases for Council and private sector properties.
15
Impact

Page 573

Existing
controls

15

15

15

15

15

Q1
20/21

Q2
20/21

Q3
20/21

Q4
20/21

Q1
21/22

Burden on local authority - high call on resources to inspect buildings and legal responsibility for licensing of buildings. There is an estimated requirement for 25-30
Level 6 Qualified Surveyors required for Westminster (LABC figures).

4 surveyors (incl 1 agency) have passed new Local Authority Building

Looking to recruit:
Control (LABC) (the national representative association) competency
Future
o 1 Fire Engineer post
exams. Currently developing 2 Senior surveyors who may be able to fill
controls
o 1 Quality and Regulations Manager
principal posts. WCC has signed up to the LABC Quality Management
o 2 Principal Surveyors.
System.

49

Appendix- Departmental performance

Innovation and Change
Achievements
Worked closely with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) to successfully shape
the new Article 4 policy:
We worked closely with MHCLG to successfully shape the new national Article 4 policy to make sure transition
arrangements were in place to provide vital protection for commercial uses in the Central Activities Zone.
The Council has now started the consultation on a new Article 4 direction for the Central Activities Zone ahead of
the new permitted development rights coming into force on 1 August 2022.
The outcomes of this will be:
 Protecting the national economic function of the Central Activities Zone (CAZ) so it remains London’s
commercial core
 Protecting the integrity of the City Plan’s policies on commercial and residential development so that
proposals for this change of use within the CAZ can be appropriately assessed
 Ensuring the balance of commercial and residential uses within the CAZ remains within the Council’s
control
Polling District and Polling Places Review
The current statutory Polling District and Polling Places review was triggered by the establishment of new ward
boundaries and are coming into effect during the next elections in 2022. It has been more than 20 years since the
last review has taken place, with many new housing developments and population increases substantially altering
the distribution and density of Westminster's electorate in the last two decades. The aim of the review was to
ensure that all polling places are easy to access on foot, optimising their number, and to cut costs as well as making
sure that there are no unnecessary school closures. Following the review of the polling districts and places, it is
estimated that 92% of the electors be a less than 8-minute walk from a polling station, with the remainder of the
electors not needing more than 15 minutes, making the democratic process more accessible and fairer.
Reopening and recovery of the city
The communications team facilitated a safe reopening of the city for residents, businesses, and visitors by
promoting rule changes and guidance as England moved to Step 2 of the Covid-19 Roadmap out of lockdown, in
which shops, pubs and restaurants and other businesses including hairdressers, libraries and community centres,
zoos, and theme parks reopened. The team also supported the wider vaccination effort by sharing information
about testing and vaccination locations and tackling vaccine hesitancy and misinformation by amplifying the voices
of BAME, community and local health professionals.
To help deliver the city’s recovery and attract people back into Westminster, the team also delivered major
announcements to support Oxford Street District Framework projects, including the partnership with the Crown
Estate to create pedestrian piazzas at Oxford Circus.
The team has also provided crucial support to the Council and its communities for a range of events, including the
death of the Duke of Edinburgh, the commemoration of the fourth anniversary of the Grenfell fire, Armed Forces
Day, Pride Month and Windrush Day. Demonstrating the Council’s inclusive approach, it engaged with accessibility
organisation Transport for All as a prelude to signing up to its Pavement Pledge – the first council to do so. Finally,
the team also encouraged eligible residents to apply for the EU Settlement Scheme to do so before the national
deadline.
Census turnout
The response rate for the Census for residents present was the highest seen in the City, thanks to evidence led,
highly agile and effective local campaign to support response rates from groups, with traditionally low engagement.
The combined efforts of data analysis and creative communications to cut-through challenges enabled
Westminster's Census campaign "Make it Count" to achieve over 90% response rate in the borough. This result is
the highest one achieved in over forty years. The campaign has also been recently shortlisted in the “Campaign of
the Year” category of the LGC Awards 2021.

Issues
There were no issues reported.

Page 574

50

Appendix- Departmental performance

Key performance indicators
The table below presents the latest cumulative outturns available for each KPI at quarter 1 (April 2021 – June 2021).
Target
range
definitions

Minimum
Ideal
Aspirational

The minimum level for the KPI that will still allow the service to deliver
A level which is acceptable for service continuity
The level at which the service is improving beyond current capability

Key performance indicator

Year-end
position

Target
assessment
definitions

2021/22 target ranges

Target off track
Exceeding target
Target on track
Minimum standard met

Position at Q1

Minimum



Ideal



Aspirational

Target
assessment

Off track to meet the minimum target level
Exceeded ideal target level
On track to meet the ideal target level
Met the minimum target below ideal level

Other contextual insight

Page 575

1.

Residents feel informed about services
and benefits

70%

64%



69%



74%

This is an annual survey. Results from the City Survey will be available Q3.

2.

Residents feel informed about plans for
your local area

66%

64%



69%



74%

This is an annual survey. Results from the City Survey will be available Q3.

3.

Residents have seen the Westminster
Reporter

59%

51%



56%



61%

This is an annual survey. Results from the City Survey will be available Q3.

Top scoring directorate risks
No risks reported by Innovation & Change this quarter met the minimum scoring threshold for inclusion into the report.

51

Appendix- Departmental performance

People Services
Achievements
New Rewarding Your Contribution (RYC) Scheme launched on 1 April 2021
Following a review of the scheme with the aim to make it more equitable, the following changes were approved and
implemented as of 1 April 2021:
 Improved equity by removing the percentage of salary-based approach and replacing it with fixed amounts
of either £1,000 or £2,000.
 Make employees eligible for one payment per year only (41 individuals received more than one payment in
19/20).
 Retain the delegated authority to line managers to make payments, but in addition Executive Directors to
take responsibility for the appropriate and equitable distribution of awards in their departments.
 Added guidance and criteria for managers to consider when choosing which amount to award.
Q1 outcome
The analysis of the 82 RYC payments made to staff in 2021/22 Q1, which equates to 3% of our workforce, showed a
positive shift towards a much more equitable distribution, in particular:
• There was positive equity across gender with 3.3% of female staff receiving a payment, compared to 2.8%
of male staff. There was also equity across ethnicity with 3.4% of BAME employees receiving a payment,
compared to 3.2% of white employees.

Learning at Work Week (17 – 21 May 2021)
Learning at Work Week (LAWW) was a successful week with 22 events and over 334 delegates. This week
superseded the previous year’s Learning at Work week in May 2020 where we more than doubled our attendance
figures by 123% with all events taking place virtually.
The theme this year was ‘Made for Learning’ which focused on our human capacity to learn and how we can be
great lifelong learners. Events included:
 Active Bystander, Branding for Success: A BAME perspective, Developing a Leadership (Growth) Mindset,
Lifelong Learning through Apprenticeships, Understanding unconscious Bias and Love Learning at home
together (tips for learning at home with kids).
This was made possible in collaboration with colleagues across the Council including Children’s Services, the BAME
Network, IT and Westminster Adult Education Service. We’ve received amazing feedback including one colleague
who said: ‘Thank you for organising and facilitating the events for the Learning at Work Week. Loved the workshops
and learnt so much!’
Learning at Work Week has helped to further increase staff awareness to the wealth of learning and career
development opportunities available to them. This has led to more requests to deliver Connect and Learn sessions
within departments, an increase in the take up of places on our courses and significant increase in the usage of our
OD Hub, Career Zone and Learning Zone with more staff starting to take lead in their personal and career
development.
D&I Events
National Windrush Day: To celebrate National Windrush Day, the BAME Network led events by unveiling the
Windrush Generation Green Plaque at Paddington Station in June to commemorate the achievements of those who
travelled to the UK. Supported by the Council, the team worked in collaboration with Network Rail, Great Western
Rail and the Elizabeth Line. The BAME Network also led the production of a short documentary titled ‘Still We Rise,’
hearing the personal stories of the Windrush generation and their experiences in the UK.
Pride Month: The Rainbow Network LGBTQ+ hosted a range of events and workshops to support a more inclusive
workplace for all staff. The sessions were engaging with positive feedback received. The Network Chairs will take
forward several actions.

Issues
No issues were reported.

Page 576

52

Appendix- Departmental performance

Key performance indicators
The table below presents the latest cumulative outturns available for each KPI at quarter 1 (April 2021 – June 2021).
We will provide KPIs from engagement and staff surveys when these results are received on an annual basis.
Target
range
definitions

Minimum
Ideal
Aspirational

The minimum level for the KPI that will still allow the service to deliver
A level which is acceptable for service continuity
The level at which the service is improving beyond current capability

Key performance indicator
1.

Year-end
position

Target off track
Exceeding target
Target on track
Minimum standard met

Target
assessment
definitions

2021/22 target ranges
Minimum



Ideal



Aspirational

Position at Q1

Target
assessment

Page 577

% of staff turnover is managed at
appropriate benchmark levels (excluding
redundancies)

8%

13%



12%



11%

9%

Exceeding
target

2.

% of BAME employees in senior leadership
roles (band 5 and above)

19%

21%



22%



24%

21%

Minimum
standard met

3.

Increase the number of women in senior
leadership roles (band 5 and above)

45%

44%



46%



50%

44%

Minimum
standard met

Off track to meet the minimum target level
Exceeded ideal target level
On track to meet the ideal target level
Met the minimum target below ideal level
Other contextual insight

33 out of 177 in Q4

Service commentary: 80 out of 180 band 5+ staff are female. It was 80 out of 177 in Q4. This result is a concern and has been discussed twice at the Executive Leadership Team (ELT) meetings to agree
mitigating actions.
Mitigating action: ELT commitment to ensure equity and equal opportunities for all band 5 appointments. This will include ELT attendance at every band 5 and above interview. Analysis of pay gap
information will inform detailed action plan.
5.4%
The total headcount is 4015 (including
without
2%
2.3%
2.3%
schools). 2746 without schools. The
Target off
schools/3.4 including  excluding

including
0.1%
aspirational target percentage is the figure
track
% with
schools
schools
schools
with schools, and the ideal target percentage
schools
is without schools.
Service commentary: There are 2 apprentices so far, though more are expected.
Mitigating action: A large intake of apprentices are expected in the upcoming months which will rectify this. The Emerging Leaders (circa 20 starts), Digital Apprenticeships (circa 9 starts) and Coaching
Apprenticeship (circa 20 starts) are all due to start in Q2. Which will bring us back on track to meet target.
4.

% of apprenticeship starts in relation to
the public sector target of 2.3% of total
headcount

5.

Positive action - % of Band 4+ roles which
Target off
97%
95%

97%

100%
84%
have BAME candidate on the shortlist
track
Service commentary: 8 non-compliant roles out of 50. Confirmation received that all non-compliant roles were discussed with Chief Executive and were acceptable in the circumstances.
Mitigating action: ELT agreed to redouble efforts in this area including stopping band 4 + appointment as and where appropriate and restarting.

Top scoring directorate risks - No risks reported by People Services this quarter met the minimum scoring threshold for inclusion into the report.

53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Audit and
Performance
Committee Report
Date:

29 September 2021

Classification:

General Release

Title:

Internal Audit Progress Report (April to
August 2021)

Wards Affected:

All

City for All Summary

Internal audit provides assurance to the
Council that it has robust systems and
controls in place to meet its priorities.

Financial Summary:

There are no financial implications arising
from this report

Report of:

Gerald Almeroth, Executive Director of
Finance and Resources

Report author:

Moira Mackie, Head of Internal Audit
Contact Details: Moira.Mackie@rbkc.gov.uk.
Tel: 07800 513 192

1.

Executive Summary

1.1

This report summarises the work of Internal Audit in the period April to August
2021. Good progress has been made in completing the audit work that started late
in the last financial year due to the Covid-19 pandemic. In addition, audits in a
number of different areas of the 2021/22 plan have commenced. Although no
overall opinion is given at this time on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Council’s governance, risk management and controls, the Committee can be
assured that sufficient internal audit work is planned to ensure an appropriate
assurance opinion can be provided by the end of the financial year.

1.2

Appendix 1 shows the finalised audits as at the end of August 2021 and the status
of the remaining planned audits.

1.3

Appendix 2 contains a summary of the audits finalised in the reporting period.

2.

Recommendation
That the Committee consider and comment on the results of the internal audit work
carried out during the period.

Page 579

1

3.

Reasons for Decision
The work undertaken by the Internal Audit Service is reported to the Committee
during the financial year to enable the Committee to consider the progress made
against the Internal Audit Plan and the outcomes of the completed audits which
are considered as part of the Annual Assurance Opinion provided by the Shared
Services Director for Audit, Fraud, Risk and Insurance.

4.

Background, including Policy Context

4.1

The Committee are provided with updates at each meeting on progress against
the Annual Audit Plan and on any limited or no assurance audits issued in the
period.

4.2

The Audit Plan for 2021/22 was reviewed by the Committee in March 2021. To
ensure that the Annual Audit Plan is more responsive to changing risks and
challenges, it has been developed as a ‘3 plus 9-month’ plan. This approach
allows for the first three months to be identified in detail with the remaining nine
months being more flexible to suit the needs of the Council at the time. The Plan
is reviewed and updated following discussions with Directors, taking into account
changing risks and priorities. The revised Plan is reported to the Committee on a
quarterly basis and any significant changes in the coverage of the Plan will be
highlighted.
Internal Audit Outcomes (April to August 2021)

4.3

Since the last report to the Committee five audits have been completed:
Audit

Assurance

RAG

St Peter’s Primary School (Eaton Sq)*

Satisfactory

Green

Robinsfield Primary School*

Satisfactory

Green

NNDR*

Substantial

Green

Trading Standards*

Satisfactory

Green

Food Safety (see paragraph 4.5)

Limited

Amber

*Further information on these audits is contained in Appendix 2.
In addition, one advisory report has been issued in respect of the Council’s claim
for Covid-19 Surge Funding.
4.4

Three audits have been issued as draft reports and are due to be finalised shortly.
Environment & City Management – Food Safety (Amber)

4.5

The Food Safety Act stipulates that all food businesses must be registered by law.
It is the duty of the Local Authority to approve, monitor and enforce the Food Safety
Act across all food businesses within its borough. The role includes:




carrying out the powers and functions vested in councils under the Act.
providing day-to-day advice to food businesses and monitoring their
compliance with the Act.
registration of premises and food safety programmes.

Page 580

2



where appropriate, taking enforcement action against food businesses for
breaches of the Act.

4.6

It is expected that the Council maintains a list of food business premises in the
borough upon registration. This will allow the Food Safety function to undertake
the necessary spot checking and planned monitoring. The premises are split into
Categories A – E and the frequency of the visits depends on the type of food and
method of handling, method of processing, consumers at risk, the level of
compliance with food hygiene standards, safety procedures and the structure of
the establishment and if there is any other significant risk.

4.7

The Service has the powers to enter and inspect these premises at all reasonable
hours. They do not have to make an appointment and will usually visit without
notice during normal opening hours in daytime, evenings, and weekends. Should
any food business fail to comply with significant statutory requirements they will be
subject to enforcement action and a revisit inspection.

4.8

The audit identified a number of areas of good practice including:





4.9

Staff have access to procedure notes which were adequately detailed and
comprehensive.
A good level of information is available to businesses regarding food safety
and hygiene. Businesses can also contact the Service and request additional
support if required.
The Service completes regular quality assurance (QA) checks of the work
undertaken and this QA is recorded. There is also 100% compliance check
for all new officers within the Service with appropriate management feedback
provided to identify if improvements are required.
An inspection league of all the councils across the country, showed that
Westminster had completed the most visits during the Covid-19 pandemic.

One high and five medium priority recommendations were made to address
weaknesses identified in the following areas:






It was identified that the Service did not have a formal strategy in place
detailing their priorities. The Service is updating their Food Plan which is
provided to the Food Standards Agency (FSA) on an annual basis, to ensure
that it aligns with the Council’s priorities which will include a forward look on
the Service and will be signed off by the Public Protection & Licensing (PP&L)
Senior Leadership Team and the relevant Cabinet Member.
The records of newly registered properties identified that a significant number
of cases were outside of the 4-week initial visit target, with some dating back
to 2017. The Service are looking at improvements to their processes and to
add to the new ways of working that have already been initiated which include
partial inspections, mobile working, document management support and
dashboard improvements for service planning. Working groups have been
established to look at and analyse staff output, working systems, inspection
targets and IT improvements. The 4-week target for new premises will be
communicated to all food officers and this will be monitored by the Food Lead
and applicable Food Managers and reported as a KPI. Recent work on
updating the dashboard has made this reporting now plausible.
Although quality assurance checks were completed, testing highlighted an
issue with case recording with details of inspections or updates not always
uploaded to the case management system in a timely manner. It was also
noted that, on occasions, documents were uploaded to the wrong file. The
Service is reviewing its existing QA process which will be updated to ensure

Page 581

3





that there is a more intensive sample of cases being reviewed each month.
This will include system (Uniform) checks to ensure that inputting and
attachment of documents is accurate plus consideration of the number of
cases that go through QA. Resources available to assist with the records
management (Idox) and scanning of paperwork will be assessed and
deadlines for paperwork will be monitored. The QA system will be managed
by the Senior Practitioners in the Service
Prior to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Service was put under performance
review due to a back log of Category D cases. In addition, the team were not
able to operate a normal inspection regime during the Covid-19 restrictions
which was likely to increase the backlog of inspections and monitoring visits.
The Service had a plan in place from April 2021 to bring the Service back in
line with the expected standards of the FSA although this may not be possible
within the existing structure of the Service. Recruitment to 4 permanent
Environmental Health /Food Safety Officers had been initiated and 10
Environmental Health Officers throughout the Directorate who are food
qualified have also been identified and repurposed to undertake a proportion
of food hygiene inspections. Business Support staff are going to assist the
Service by completing tasks such as records management and scanning to
enable the officers to carry out more inspections. The Service will continue to
follow the FSA’s guidance on how to prioritise inspections and monitoring of
inspection numbers will be undertaken. The PP & L Service is currently
undergoing a programme of transformation and the Food Service has been
reprioritised within this programme. There will be a project to take a focussed
look at the Food Service to identify how the problems experienced be
addressed.
It is expected that the case management system will allow management to
run reports enabling them to monitor the service provided. It was noted that
the system had limitations which prevented the Service from measuring
deliverables adequately. A project has been initiated by the Service to
identify the issues surrounding the functionality of the current dashboard. The
project will aim to analyse the needs of the Service in terms of reporting, with
IT and Business Intelligence support to ensure that the dashboard meets
these needs.

Although a number of recommendations have been made, it is important to note
that the Service have and are making improvements. In addition, due to the
transformation review in the PP&L directorate, the Service recognise that the
recommendations made in the audit review need to be considered in line with the
transformation programme rather than in isolation.
An initial follow-up audit will be undertaken at the end of calendar year and a
second follow up in April/May 2022 when the inspections backlog is due to be
completed.
Follow up
4.6

One follow-up review was undertaken in the period which confirmed that 78% of
recommendations made had been fully implemented, with the implementation of
the remaining recommendations in progress:

Page 582

4

Audit

Recs Made

Recs
Recs in
Implemented Progress

Recs not
yet
actioned

Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards (DoLS) –
Advisory Review

9

7

2

0

Total High Priority

2

1

1

0

Total Medium Priority

7

6

1

0

Total Low Priority

0

0

0

0

4.7

Follow up work is undertaken when the majority of the recommendations made are
expected to have been implemented as indicated in an agreed management action
plan. Sometimes recommendations cannot be fully implemented in the anticipated
timescales. In these cases, where appropriate progress is being made to
implement the recommendations, these are identified as “in progress”.
Recommendations will be followed up until all high and medium priority
recommendations are implemented or good progress in implementing them can
be demonstrated. Where appropriate, the follow up is included in the next full audit
of the area

5.

Financial Implications
There are no financial implications from this report.

6.

Legal Implications
There are no legal implications from this report.

7.

Staffing Implications
There are no staffing implications from this report.

8.

Consultation
The Internal Audit Plan and the work undertaken by the Internal Audit Service is
prepared in consultation with the Council’s Executive Leadership Team and
officers within the Council and supports the Executive Director’s responsibility
under S151 of the Local Government Act 1972 relating to the proper administration
of the Council’s financial affairs.
If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect
any of the Background Papers - please contact:
Moira Mackie on 07800 513 192 Email: Moira.Mackie@rbkc.gov.uk
or
David Hughes on 07817 507 695 Email: David.Hughes@rbkc.gov.uk

BACKGROUND PAPERS:
Internal Audit Reports

Page 583

5

APPENDIX 1
Internal Audit Status Report as at end August 2021
Completed Audits:
Plan Area

Auditable Area

Issued

Assurance level
given

No of High
Priority Recs

No of Med.
Priority

No of Low
Priority

Recs

Recs

Reported to
Committee

Finance &
Resources

NNDR

Jul-2021

Substantial

0

0

1

Sept-2021

Schools

St Peter’s Primary (Eaton Sq)
(2020/21)

Aug-2021

Satisfactory

0

5

2

Sep-2021

Robinsfield Primary (2020/21)

Jul-2021

Satisfactory

0

2

0

Sep-2021

Trading Standards

May-2021

Satisfactory

1

4

0

Sep-2021

Food Safety

Jun-2021

Limited

1

5

0

Sep-2021

Page 584

Environment &
City
Management

Status of Planned Audits:
Plan Area

Draft Report Issued

In Progress

2021/22 Not Yet Due

Cross-cutting



Governance & Compliance

Adult Social Care



Debt Management

Children’s
Services






Supporting People Claims (on-going)
Purchase Cards
Payments & Direct Payments Team
Placements – Operational & Financial Systems
Integration

6

APPENDIX 1
Internal Audit Status Report as at end August 2021
Plan Area

Draft Report Issued

In Progress

Schools

 Christchurch CE Bentinck Primary
 St Luke’s Primary

 Hampden Gurney Primary
 St Gabriel’s CE Primary

Finance &
Resources

 IT Asset Management

 Treasury Management (2020/21 – report drafted)
 Key Financial Controls (on-going)

People Services

2021/22 Not Yet Due












All Sous Primary
Burdett Coutts Primary
Essendine Primary
Hallfield Primary
St Edward’s RC Primary
St Vincent’s RC Primary
St Augustine’s Federated Schools – Secondary
Schools Thematic Work (VAT)
Council Tax
Housing Benefit
IT – Programmes & Projects Governance

 Payroll Compliance Testing (on-going)

Page 585

Growth, Planning
& Housing

 Lessee Charges (2020/21)
 Housing Health & Safety (Lifts Maintenance and
Electrical Safety)

Environment &
City Management

 Sayers Croft Outdoor Learning Centre

Innovation &
Change

 Performance Reporting

7

APPENDIX 2
Additional Information on Assurance Audits
(main report paragraph 4.3)
Finance & Resources – NNDR (Substantial)
Different aspects of the NNDR system are usually reviewed on a three-year cycle, however,
the audit originally planned for 2020/21 was delayed as the NNDR Service was focused on
processing business grants payable due to the pandemic. To account for this, the recently
completed review included the areas from both the 2020/21 and 2021/22 cycle of the plan
and covered the following areas:










Governance, including segregation of duties
Policy and procedures
Identification of businesses including reconciliations to other data
Set up and amendment of business records
Billing and uprating
Convenient ways to pay
Receipts
Refunds
Covid-19 impact.

The audit provided substantial assurance that all of the areas reviewed were operating
effectively and only one low priority recommendation was made which has already been
implemented.
Schools (Satisfactory)
Audits of the Council’s schools are carried out using an established probity audit
programme, usually on a three-year cycle unless issues dictate a more frequent review. The
programme is designed to audit the main areas of governance and financial control and has
been fully reviewed to facilitate effective remote auditing where required. The programme’s
standards are based on legislation, the Scheme for Financing Schools and accepted best
practice and the purpose of the audit is to help schools establish and maintain robust
financial systems.
In the reporting period, two final reports have been issued in respect of the following schools:



St Peter’s Primary (Eaton Square)
Robinsfield Primary

No significant issues were identified from these audits and any recommendations made will
be followed up later in the year.
Environment & City Management – Trading Standards (Satisfactory)
Trading Standards has a statutory duty to enforce a wide range of primary, criminal and civil
legislation. The Service targets traders and activities considered to pose the most risk to
consumers, legitimate businesses, and the community. As well as dealing with complaints
the Service also provides advice to consumers and businesses, deals with press enquiries
and requests for talks and presentations. Due to COVID-19 and the redeployment of staff,
Trading Standards work had been paused during 2020/21 although as lockdown eased, they
resumed their work and the backlog of work is currently being managed by the Service.

Page 586

8

APPENDIX 2
Additional Information on Assurance Audits
(main report paragraph 4.3)
The audit identified a number of areas of good practice including:







The service has access to sufficient external regulatory notes which provide staff
assistance and guidance, so they are aware of their legal obligations. Procedural
guidance has also been developed and made available to staff.
A good level of information is available to residents regarding Trading Standards
Service, and they are provided with a satisfactory number of methods of reporting.
Businesses can also contact the Service and request additional support which is well
utilised. Advice given to businesses is a chargeable service with billing in 2020/21 of
£100,000, with less than 10% outstanding in debt as they have a robust debt
collection in process in place.
The Service also undertakes visits to businesses to educate and advise on and
ensure compliance with relevant legislation with some, such as underage sales,
undertaken with the Police.
Seized evidence is logged on to the Service’s evidence database and appropriate
records maintained of the disposal of evidence when it is no longer required.

One high and four medium priority recommendations were made to address weaknesses
identified in the following areas:










The Service Priorities were last reviewed in November 2019 and did not reflect the
Council’s revised City for All Vision. The Service undertook to review the priorities to
ensure that they are relevant, appropriate, agreed by management and made
available to staff as well as being considered against the wider review of the Public
Protection & Licensing (PP&L) Strategy.
Some requests that had come through via the call centre that had not been dealt with
in a timely manner by the Service and it was noted that case notes, details of visits
or updates were not always uploaded to the case management system in a timely
manner. There were also issues regarding case closures. The Service is
implementing documented monthly sample checks to verify that information is
correctly and completely recorded and to ensure the timely closure of cases.
Due to the pandemic the Service created an objective with a focus on COVID 19.
This was detailed and contained sufficient information. However, a reduction in staff,
with some resources redeployed to support the Covid-19 response, has impacted on
service output, causing a backlog of complaints being resolved and limited visits
taking place. The Service are reviewing any remaining backlog of work with a plan
in place which ensures that the most urgent cases are prioritised. A review of the
Service and resources available will also be undertaken to ensure there is an
adequate team structure to deliver the Service in the future.
As part of monitoring performance and quality checking it is expected an element of
‘spot checking’ by managers would be undertaken on referrals. Due to the limited
resources and time constraints; this had not been completed on a consistent basis.
The current KPIs are being reviewed and these include a plan for how they will be
monitored and reported with benchmarking opportunities explored. Officer caseloads
will also be reviewed to make sure that they are manageable.
A system error was identified in respect of how entries recorded on the system
(Uniform) were being reported. The Service is reviewing the codes to be recorded

Page 587

9

APPENDIX 2
Additional Information on Assurance Audits
(main report paragraph 4.3)
on the system and will ensure that their officers and call centre staff are advised of
the correct codes to be used once this review is complete. The Service is also
reviewing the reporting functionality of Uniform to ensure that it can provide the
management information required and will arrange training on the system where
required.
With all of the recommendations made, we have asked management to ensure that they
consider how our audit recommendations interlink with the areas being reviewed within the
directorate so that the agreed actions are aligned with the Public Protection & Licensing
transformation programme rather than in isolation.

Page 588

10

Agenda Item 8
The Westminster Audit
and Performance
Committee
Date:

29 September 2021

Classification:

General Release

Title:

Gifts and Hospitality Received by Employees Policy Review

Wards Affected:

All

City for All Summary

The Gifts and Hospitality policy contributes to City
for All by ensuring full transparency and
compliance with legislation

Financial Summary:

N/A

Report of:

Lee Witham, Director of People Services

Author:

Natalie Monaghan, Strategic Wellbeing and
Reward Lead
Contact Details: nmonaghan@westminster.gov.uk

1.

Executive Summary
The purpose of this report is to provide the Committee with an update on our
recent review of the Council’s Policy on the receipt of Gifts & Hospitality (G&H)
by Council employees.

2.

Key Matters for the Committee’s Consideration
The Committee is asked to consider and note the contents of this report.

3.

Background
The Council, along with a number of other Councils, have over the last two years
received Freedom of Information requests (FOIs), requesting historic information
on Gifts and Hospitality (G&H) received by Council employees.
In response to the FOIs, the Chief Executive committed to publishing details of
G&H offered to employees on the Council’s external website to ensure full
transparency. The Chief Executive also commissioned a review of the Council’s
policy on employees acceptance of G&H which highlighted the need for additional

Page 589

1

clarity on what should and should not be accepted and how or what entries should
be recorded on the G&H register.
The review of the G&H policy also offered the opportunity to incorporate the
Council’s commitment to full transparency and publication of the register online
twice a year.
4.

Policy Review
Following engagement and consultation with the Executive Leadership Team, the
Leader of the Council, Deputy Leader and Unions, a new Gifts & Hospitality policy
has been created to ensure clarity of what could be and should not be accepted
by employees, and to allow for full transparency. The new policy was created in
collaboration with Audit and Legal Services.
The key principles of the new G&H policy are:
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Employees may not accept any fee or reward whatsoever other than their
proper contractual pay and benefits.
Employees cannot accept or give gifts, unless in accordance with the limited
exceptions set out in the policy, such as small token value gifts (i.e. pens,
diaries etc).
Hospitality which needs to be recorded, both accepted or declined, is
defined as drinks, meals, events, entertainment, overnight accommodation
and travel with an estimated value of £25 or more.
It may be appropriate in very limited circumstances to accept offers to
modestly priced ticketed events but only if they are taking place within the
City of Westminster and if acceptance would not be viewed as an attempt
to influence that employee's part in a council decision making process.
We have removed managerial sign-off and shifted the ultimate responsibility
onto the individual being offered the gifts and/or hospitality.
If employees have any doubts as to whether it would be appropriate to
accept G&H, then they should not accept it.
We have committed to publishing the G&H register entries on our external
website twice yearly for transparency.

The new Gift & Hospitality policy for officers was launched July 2021, and the
register entries for 2020 have been published on our external transparency page,
here.

APPENDICES:
Appendix 1 - WCC Gift & Hospitality Policy

Page 590

2

GIFTS AND HOSPITALITY: POLICY (WCC)

CLICK HERE FOR QUICK REFERENCE TO KEY ELEMENTS OF THE
POLICY

Date of Issue
July 2021

Date of last issue
October 2020

Review Date
June 2022

Page 591
July 2021

Page 1

QUICK REFERENCE

Summary
Background
Key Principles
Receiving Gifts
Giving Gifts
Receiving Hospitality
Giving Hospitality
Recording Gifts and Hospitality
Draft letter declining gift/hospitality

Page 592
July 2021

Page 2

Summary
This Policy provides all employees with guidance as to when they can receive or
give gifts and hospitality during the course of their work. This Policy also sets out
the procedure for recording all gifts & hospitality accepted and/or declined and
for returning/declining gifts and hospitality.
Background
The Council’s Code of Conduct for Employees requires employees to perform
their duties to the best of their abilities with honesty, integrity, impartiality and
objectivity and contribute to the maintenance of high standards in public service.
The acceptance of gifts and hospitality by employees from persons who have, or
may seek to have, dealings with the Council could be viewed by the public with
suspicion and result in the employee and the Council being vulnerable to
criticism.
The Bribery Act 2010 which came into force on 1 July 2011 makes it an offence
to request, agree to receive or accept an advantage of some kind in return for
improperly performing, or allowing the improper performance of a function or
activity where that function / activity is either of a public nature or done in the
course of business. The Act makes it clear that if the bribery offence is committed
with the consent / connivance of an officer, then that person is also personally
guilty of an offence.
It is a serious criminal offence under the Bribery Act 2010 for employees to
corruptly receive or give any gift, loan, fee, reward, or advantage for doing, or not
doing, anything in connection with their duties. This also applies to showing
favour or disfavour. Employees who are in breach of the provisions of this policy
may also be liable to disciplinary action under the council’s disciplinary code.
Key principles
•

Employees may not accept any fee or reward whatsoever other than their
proper contractual pay and benefits.

•

Employees cannot accept or give gifts and hospitality unless in accordance
with the limited exceptions set out below.

•

Any temporary and agency contractors undertaking work for the Council
cannot accept any gifts or hospitality

•

If you have any doubts, then do not accept the gift or hospitality.

Page 593
July 2021

Page 3

•

All Chief Officers1 must have arrangements in place within their departments
for ensuring all employees are aware of this Policy.

•

The examples set out in this Policy should be regarded as the corporate
minimum. Chief Officers can impose tighter standards where necessary for
staff dealing with sensitive issues. In such circumstances Chief Officers will
notify the staff/teams concerned and ensure that the standards are
documented for ease of reference.

•

If it is alleged that an employee has received or given a gift or hospitality that
is not in compliance with this Policy, it will be for the employee to demonstrate
that this is not the case.

Receiving Gifts
The acceptance of gifts by employees from persons who have, or may seek to
have, dealings with the Council could be viewed by the public with suspicion and
result in the employee and the Council being vulnerable to criticism.
As such an employee should courteously decline any gift which is offered to
them.
The only exceptions to this rule are:
1. small gifts of “token value” often given to a wide range of people, e.g.
calendars, diaries, pens, pencils and similar articles of use in the
workplace. These do not need to be recorded in the Gifts and
Hospitality Register.
In the event of an employee receiving a gift without warning, which does not fall
in any of the exceptions mentioned above, this should immediately be returned
(if the sender is known) or donated to charity. This action must be recorded
in the Gifts and Hospitality Register.
Where a gift has been received which should be returned, the donor should be
notified (see example letter at the end of this Policy).
Giving Gifts on behalf of the Council
Employees must not give gifts to any other party, including other Council
employees, using Council’s money.

1

The term “Chief Officer” for the purposes of this Policy includes the following positions:
• The Chief Executive
• All Executive Leadership Team (ELT) Directors*
• All Directors / Deputy Director, Heads of Services
*all of whom meet the definition of either Statutory or Non-Statutory Chief Officers or Deputy Chief Officers as specified under Part 1, Section 2
(para’s 6-8) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, (LGHA) e.g.

Page 594
July 2021

Page 4

Any gift to be given on behalf of the Council must be fully authorised by relevant
Executive Director and an appropriate audit trail for the purchase demonstrated.
Receiving Hospitality
It is widely recognised that it is important for Council employees to maintain and
build effective networks in order to support the work of the Council, their own
personal and professional development, and to gain a real understanding of the
views of stakeholders.
However, contact with organisations outside the Council can give rise to offers
of hospitality, and while in certain circumstances attending events and functions
that involve hospitality may further the Council’s interests this must be balanced
with upholding high standards of propriety and guarding against any reasonable
suspicion of perceived or actual conflicts of interest or an undue obligation being
created.
Before accepting any offer of hospitality, the employee should consider the
following questions:
• Can the event or function that includes an offer of hospitality clearly and
positively be seen to be in the best interests of the Council?
• Is the hospitality on a scale appropriate to the circumstances, reasonably
incidental to the occasion and not extravagant and where it is clear that
no cause could reasonably arise for adverse criticism of the Council
relating to the acceptance of the hospitality?
• Is there a genuine need to impart or receive information or represent the
Council in the community, establish or maintain good business
relationships, and/or improve the image and reputation of the Council?
• Is the hospitality corporate (for example with a range of stakeholders)
rather than personal (for example an event or function with one or two
people)?
• An employee should not accept hospitality from any party where the
acceptance could be viewed as an attempt to influence that employee's
part in a council decision making process. For example, an employee
involved in a competitive tendering or procurement exercise or working in
other teams involved in the exercise, should not accept hospitality from
any supplier or other party who may be seen to benefit from the
process. An employee involved in the processing of any grant, benefit,
claim or dispensation should not accept hospitality from any applicant or
other parties who may be seen to benefit from such applications.
The overriding principle is that if you have any doubts, then do not accept the
hospitality.
It may be appropriate in limited circumstances for offers to be accepted to
attend modestly priced ticketed events but only if taking place within the City of

Page 595
July 2021

Page 5

Westminster and if acceptance would not be viewed as an attempt to influence
that employee's part in a council decision making process. Any
hospitality/ticketed events with a value of £100 or above cannot be accepted
without Executive Director approval.

Hospitality which needs to be recorded, both accepted or declined, in the
Gifts and Hospitality Register is defined as drinks, meals, events,
entertainment, overnight accommodation and travel with an estimated value of
£25 or more.
Offers of overnight accommodation and travel outside London need clearance
by the relevant Executive Director and recording on the Register.
Where visits to inspect equipment or review services by undertaking site visits
etc. are required, employees should ensure that the Council meets the cost of
such visits to avoid jeopardising the integrity of subsequent procurement
decisions.
Where hospitality has been offered which cannot be accepted, this should be
courteously declined, recorded on the register and communicated to the donor
(see example letter at the end of this Policy).
Useful examples
1. Following a wedding ceremony, the Registrar is given some cash by the
bride(s) and/or groom(s) as a “thank you”
a. Regardless of the amount in question, this should be politely
declined explaining that public officers are not allowed to accept
cash under any circumstances. This would not need to be
recorded in the G&H register.
2. Some planning officers and managers attend a round table or conference
organised by a developer. As part of this event, some refreshments are
provided to all attendees.
a. If the value of the refreshments would be estimated to be £25 or
more then the officer receiving them should record this in the
G&H register.
b. If the refreshments are light e.g. tea and biscuits (and would not
be estimated to be valued at £25 or more) then this does not need
to be recorded in the G&H register.
c. Any hospitality should be declined if the developer is currently an
applicant for planning permission and other applications for
licences, consents and approvals which might raise a perceived
conflict of interest.
3. At a community event a member of staff (who was working at the event as
opposed to attending in their personal capacity as a local resident) is gifted
a raffle ticket and a prize worth more than £25 is won as a result, that

Page 596
July 2021

Page 6

prize should be declined and offered back to the event organiser, in which
case you would NOT need to record this in the G&H register. If, however
this option is not available and you were required to accept the prize, then it
should be donated to charity and this action should be recorded in the G&H
register.
4. A £30 ticket for a cricket match could be acceptable if it is at Lords (within
the City of Westminster) and is part of Council employees maintaining and
building effective partnerships and networks in order to support the work of
the Council and there is no conflict of interest or is not related to any
bid/contract/application. However, a £130 ticket for a Lords match would
not be reasonable unless exceptional and agreed by the ED.
5. A £30 ticket for a cricket match at the Oval (or any venue which is not
within the City of Westminster) should not be accepted. Similarly, a £30
ticket for Wembley should not be accepted.
The Recording of Gifts and Hospitality
•

•

•

Unless otherwise indicated earlier in this Policy, all gifts and hospitality
accepted, declined or given to charity, must be entered in the Gifts and
Hospitality Register immediately after the offer is made and in any event by
no later than 28 days from receipt.
All staff must be aware that, in the interests of transparency, the Council has
taken the decision to publish the G&H register on our Council website every
six months. Any personal details on the Gifts and Hospitality Register will be
redacted on the public facing site.
The Gifts and Hospitality Policy and Register will be maintained and reviewed
by HR and the Internal Audit teams.

Where can I find the online Gifts and Hospitality Register
The Gifts and Hospitality Register and guidance on how to use it, is available
here.

Page 597
July 2021

Page 7

This matter is being dealt with by:
Direct Line:

0207 641 xxxx

Gifts and Hospitality
Dear X
Thank you for your recent offer of XXXX. It is our Council policy that
gifts/hospitality (delete one), however well intended, of the type you have
offered/delivered cannot be accepted on this occasion.
I therefore return the gift herewith/decline the offer/ advise that it was donated to a named
charity.

I trust you will appreciate how important it is for the Council to be as transparent
as possible when it comes to the receipt of gifts and hospitality to avoid
misunderstandings or criticisms of impropriety from the public or third parties.
Thank you for your understanding.
XXX

Page 598
July 2021

Page 8

Agenda Item 9
Audit & Performance
Committee Report
Date:

29 September 2021

Classification:

General Release

Title:

Work Programme

Wards Affected:

N/A

Financial Summary:

No direct financial implications arising from this
report

Report of:

Head of Governance and Committee Liaison

Report Author:

Artemis Kassi
Lead Scrutiny Advisor

1.

Executive Summary

1.1

The Committee is invited to consider its Work Programme for the 2021/22
municipal year attached at Appendix 1, and to confirm the agenda items for its
next meeting on 15th and 29th September 2021.

1.2

The Committee is asked to note that the actions which arose from its meeting on
17th June 2021, as detailed in Appendix 2.

2.

Recommendations
It is recommended that the Committee:

2.1

agree the agenda items for its meetings in September 2021, as set out in this
report and Appendix 1; and

2.2

consider items for the future work programme for 2021/2022.

3.

Choosing items for the Work Programme

3.1

The draft Work Programme for 2021/22 is attached at Appendix 1 to the report.
The scheduled meetings for the remainder of the municipal year are:
 1 December 2021
 16 February 2022
 13 April 2022

Page 599

3.2

Members’ attention is drawn to the Terms of Reference for the Audit and
Performance Committee (attached to this report as Appendix 3,) which may
assist the Committee in identifying issues to be included in the Work Programme.

3.3

As members are aware, the Work Programme will be reviewed at each meeting
of the Committee and items can be removed or added as necessary.

3.4

The Committee is asked to reflect on agenda items for its meeting on 1st
December 2021. It is suggested that, in addition to the Finance, Performance
Internal Audit Monitoring Reports, the Committee consider receiving reports on
immunisations and the Council’s anti-fraud policies.

3.6

Members also may wish to suggest items for inclusion in the work programme,
subject to the Committee’s terms of reference.

4.

Task Groups

4.1

There are no Task Groups operating at present.

5.

Monitoring Actions

5.1

The actions arising from each meeting are recorded in the Action Tracker
attached as Appendix 2. Members are invited to review the work undertaken in
response to those actions.

6.

Resources

6.1

There is no specific budget allocation for the Audit and Performance Committee.

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any of the
Background Papers, please contact:
Artemis Kassi, Lead Scrutiny Advisor/Statutory Officer
Tel: 078 1705 4991 or email: akassi@westminster.gov.uk

APPENDICES:
Appendix 1 - Work Programme 2021/22
Appendix 2 – Action Tracker
Appendix 3 - Terms of Reference
BACKGROUND PAPERS: None

Page 600

Work Programme 2021/2022
Audit and Performance Committee
17 June 2021
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Lead Officer

Performance Report

To review the City Council’s performance
at the end of the 2020/2021 financial year.

Gerald Almeroth
(Finance)
Pedro Wrobel/
Mo Rahman /
Damian Highwood
(Performance)

2020/21 Financial
Outturn

To receive a report on the Revenue and
Capital Outturn for 2020 - 2021

Gerald Almeroth
(Finance)

Treasury Management To note a report on the Treasury
Management Strategy Outturn
Strategy Outturn
2020/2021

Gerald Almeroth
Phil Triggs
(Finance)

External Audit
Certification of Claims
and Returns Annual
Audit 2019/20

To note the annual external review of
grants claimed through a grants
certification process. This includes a
summary of the review of the Housing
Benefit Subsidy claim for 2019/20

Gerald Almeroth/
Martin Hinckley
(Finance)
Grant Thornton

External Audit Plan

To receive an overview of the planned
scope and timing of the statutory audits of
the City of Westminster and the
Westminster Pension Fund

Gerald Almeroth
(Finance)
Grant Thornton

Work Programme
2021/2022

To review the work programme for the
2021/2022 municipal year

Page 601

Artemis Kassi

14 July 2022
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Lead Officer

Period 2 Finance
Report

To review and consider the report of the
Executive Director of Finance and
Resources

Gerald Almeroth
(Finance)

Draft Accounts

To receive a report on the Draft Accounts

Gerald Almeroth
Jake Bacchus
(Finance)

Annual Governance
Statement

To receive a report on the Annual
Governance Statement for 2021 - 2022

Gerald Almeroth
(Finance)

Annual Opinion

To receive the Annual Opinion report on
overall adequacy and effectiveness of the
organisation's framework of governance,
risk management and control

Annual Fraud Report

To review work undertaken by the fraud
service during the period 1 April 2020 to
31 March 2021

Procurement Report

To review Procurement Services at
Westminster following the launch of new
operating models with increased alignment
to the directorates.

Work Programme
2021/2022

To review the work programme for the
2021/2022 municipal year

Page 602

David Hughes
Moira Mackie
(Internal Audit)

Andy Hyatt
(Anti-Fraud)

Gerald Almeroth
Sarah Warman
Caron Smith

Artemis Kassi

29 September 2021
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Lead Officer

Audit Findings Report
2020 - 2021 for the
General Fund and
Pension Accounts
Statement of
Accounts

To receive and review the audited
Statement of Accounts for the Council and
the Pension Fund following a public
inspection period of the accounts from
19th May 2020 to 1st July 2020. To
receive the report by Grant Thornton

Gerald Almeroth
Jake Bacchus
(Finance) / Grant
Thornton

Finance &
Performance
Business Plan
Monitoring Report

To monitor the City Council’s financial
position including revenue forecast
outturn, revenue expenditure including key
risks and opportunities, capital expenditure
and HRA revenue and capital expenditure
and reserves.

Gerald Almeroth
Jake Bacchus
(Finance)

To monitor the quarterly performance
results against the 2021/2022 business
plans (Quarter 1)

Pedro Wrobel/
Damian Highwood/
Mo Rahman
(Performance)

Internal Audit
Monitoring Report

To oversee and monitor the success of the
Audit Service in planning and delivering
outcomes and establishing an effective
and robust internal control framework
(Quarter 1)

David Hughes
Moira Mackie
(Internal Audit)

Verbal Update

To update the Committee on progress
since its meeting of 14 July, following the
thematic review undertaken on health and
safety in schools as part of the Internal
Audit Plan

David Hughes
Moira Mackie
(Internal Audit)

Procurement Contract
Performance

To review Contract Performance in the
procurement context

Council Officers: Gifts To review the Council’s Gifts and
and Hospitality Policy Hospitality Policy, as applicable to Council
Officers

Page 603

Gerald Almeroth
(Finance)
Sarah Warman

Lee Witham
Tasnim Shawkat
Joyce Golder

Work Programme
2021/2022

To review the work programme for the
remainder of the municipal year

Artemis Kassi

1 December 2021
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Lead
Officer

Immunisations

To monitor and review progress (including
the Covid-19 vaccination programme) since
the previous report to the Committee of 23
September 2020

NHSE/ Anna
Raleigh/Natalia
Clifford/Jeffrey
Lake/Sarah Crouch

Finance &
Performance
Business Plan
Monitoring Report

To monitor the City Council’s financial
position including revenue forecast outturn,
revenue expenditure including key risks and
opportunities, capital expenditure and HRA
revenue and capital expenditure and
reserves.

Gerald Almeroth
(Finance)

To monitor Quarter 2 performance results
against the 2021/2022 business plans

Pedro Wrobel/
Damian Highwood/
Mo Rahman
(Performance)

Internal Audit
Monitoring Report

To oversee and monitor the success of the
Audit Service in planning and delivering
outcomes and establishing an effective and
robust internal control framework (Quarter 2)

David Hughes
Moira Mackie
(Internal Audit)

Mid-Year Counter
Fraud Monitoring
Report

To oversee and monitor the success of the
Counter Fraud Service

David Hughes
Moira Mackie
(Internal Audit)

Review Of AntiFraud Policies

To review and approve the following which
are maintained by the Corporate Anti-Fraud
Service: - Whistleblowing Policy; - Fraud
Response Plan; - Anti-Bribery Policy; and Anti-Money Laundering Policy (including
procedures)

Page 604

David Hughes
Moira Mackie
Andy Hyatt
(Internal Audit)

Council Staff
Remuneration

To review the Council’s pay schemes, as per
the Constitution

Work Programme
2021/2022

To review the work programme for the
remainder of the municipal year

Lee Witham

Artemis Kassi

16 February 2021
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Lead Officer

TO BE CONFIRMED

13 April 2022
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Lead Officer

TO BE CONFIRMED

Unallocated Work Programme Items
Agenda Item

Reasons & objective for item

Lead Officer

Metropolitan Police
Basic Command Unit

To monitor and review the performance of
the Metropolitan Police Service Basic
Command Unit for Westminster.

Metropolitan Police
Service / WCC officer
tbc

Page 605

This page is intentionally left blank

APPENDIX 2
COMMITTEE ACTION TRACKER
ACTIONS: 17 June 2021

ACTION

OUTCOME

LEAD OFFICER

PERFORMANCE YEAR END REPORT
1. The Committee to receive details on
the further mitigating actions required and
activities beyond ‘monitoring’ concerning
the demand for care homes risk

In progress

Bernie Flaherty
Paul Wilmette
Manisha Patel

2. The Committee to receive details on
the further mitigating actions required
beyond ‘monitoring’ concerning the looked
after children risk
3. Recirculate the ISOS report

In progress

Sarah Newman
Dayana Kerton

In progress. This was submitted to the
Committee on 2 December 2020 and will be
recirculated.

Artemis Kassi

4. The Committee to receive details about
the Fire Safety Bill and whether the Fire
Safety Bill risk includes the new Home
Office proposals and 15 pieces of
secondary legislation in this area

Completed. The risk covered in the Year
End Performance report relates to
compliance with the requirements of the
Draft Building Safety Bill. The Fire Safety
Bill is a separate piece of legislation

Debbie Jackson
Ian Clarke

5. The Committee to receive information
about whether the Council intends to move
to BS9997, the new fire safety standard

Completed. Officers advised that the
Building Safety Bill (BSB) would have much
greater significance to the Council moving
forward.
Briefing Note to be circulated to the
Committee.
Officers also advised that BS9997 had
been in place since 2019 and is the British
Standard dealing with Fire Risk
Management Systems. This is guidance for
property owners to risk manage fire safety
and did not necessarily demonstrate
compliance with existing and proposed fire
safety legislation.

Debbie Jackson
Ian Clarke

6. The Committee reports to include
targets on all KPI tables in the front
section of the report for consistency

In progress. S&I to implement this for next
quarter's report.

Pedro Wrobel
Annelie
Drabu/Sophie
Shore

In progress

Gerald Almeroth
Jake Bacchus
David Hughes
Andy Hyatt

REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN
STRATEGY MID-YEAR REVIEW
1. The Committee to receive an update
relating to fraud

Page 607

Page 608

APPENDIX 2
AUDIT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE
CONSTITUTION
The Audit and Performance Committee is composed of four Members of the Council,
three Majority Party Members and one Minority Party Member, but shall not include a
Cabinet Member.
TERMS OF REFERENCE
Audit Activity
1. To consider the Head of Internal Audit’s annual report including the Auditor’s opinion
on the Council’s control environment and a summary of internal audit and anti-fraud
activity and key findings.
2. To consider reports, at regular intervals, which summarise: the performance of the
Council’s internal audit and anti-fraud service provider/s audits and investigations
undertaken and key findings progress with implementation of agreed recommendations
3. To consider the External Auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports, and the report to
those charged with governance.
4. To consider specific reports as agreed with the External Auditor.
5. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it gives
value for money.
6. To liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of the Council’s External
Auditor.
7. To comment on the proposed work plans of internal and external audit.
Regulatory Framework
8. To maintain an overview of the Council’s Constitution in respect of contract procedure
rules, financial regulations and codes of conduct and behaviour.
9. To review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive or a Director, or any Council
body.
10. To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management and
corporate governance in the Council.

Page 609

11. To monitor Council policies on ‘Raising Concerns at Work’, the Council’s complaints
process and the Antifraud and Corruption Strategy; specifically, the effectiveness of
arrangements in place to ensure the Council is compliant with the Bribery Act 2010.
12. To oversee the production of the authority’s Statement on Internal Control and to
recommend its adoption.
13. To consider the Council’s arrangements for corporate governance and agreeing
necessary actions to ensure compliance with best practice.
14. To consider the Council’s compliance with its own and other published standards
and controls.
15. To maintain an overview of the arrangements in place for maintaining High Ethical
Standards throughout the Authority and in this context to receive a report annually from
the Director of Law and the Chief Finance Officer.
Accounts
16. To review the annual statement of accounts and approve these for publication.
Specifically, to consider whether appropriate accounting policies have been followed
and whether there are concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit
that need to be brought to the attention of the Council.
17. To consider the External Auditor’s report to those charged with governance on
issues arising from the audit of the accounts.
Performance Monitoring
18. To review and scrutinise the financial implications of external inspection reports
relating to the City Council.
19. To receive the quarterly performance monitoring report and refer any issues which
in the Committee’s view require more detailed scrutiny to the relevant Policy and
Scrutiny Committee.
20. To review and scrutinise personnel issues where they impact on the financial or
operational performance of the Council including but not limited to agency costs, longterm sickness, ill health early retirements and vacancies.
21. To review and scrutinise Stage 2 complaints made against the City Council and
monitor progress.

Page 610

22. To consider and advise upon, prior to tender, the most appropriate contractual
arrangements where a proposed contract has been referred to the Committee by the
Chief Executive.
23. To maintain an overview of overall contract performance on behalf of the Council.
24. To review and scrutinise contracts let by the Council for value for money and
adherence to the Council’s Procurement Code.
25. To review and scrutinise the Council’s value for money to Council tax payers.
26. To scrutinise any item of expenditure that the Committee deems necessary in order
to ensure probity and value for money.
Staffing
27. To advise the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Finance on issues relating to
the remuneration of all staff as necessary.
28. In the course of carrying out its duties in respect of 27 above, to have regard to the
suitability and application of any grading or performance related pay schemes operated,
or proposed, by the Council.

Page 611

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
Audit and
Performance
Committee Report
Date:

29th September 2021

Classification:

General Release (excluding section 4.6)

Title:

Annual Contracts Review FY 2020/21

Wards Affected:

N/A

City for All Summary

The Council spends over £500million each
year on third party services and
contracts. Procurement, commercial
activities, and contract management are
therefore key enablers to deliver City for All
and ensuring the delivery of maximum value
for Westminster and its residents and
partners.

Financial Summary:

N/A

Report of:

Sarah Warman, Director of Commercial
Partnerships (Procurement & Commercial
Services)

Author:

Tony Roy, Head of Supplier Relationship
Management
Contact Details: troy@westminster.gov.uk

1

Page 613

1.

Executive Summary

1.1

A review of Procurement Services at Westminster in 2018 identified the
need for change and improvement. In April 2020, a new target operating
model was launched, with the intention of transforming the Procurement
function and driving improvement to the service.

1.2

In July a report updating on the improvement journey of the Procurement
and Commercial Service was brought to the committee. This included an
update on the progress made and also outlined a new performance
reporting framework.

1.3

This report which follows from July, provides the Annual Contracts Review
for 2020/21 for consideration by the Audit and Performance Committee, in
accordance with their Terms of Reference.

1.4

A fundamental part of the Procurement Service improvement journey is
effective contract management via a set of operating principles, that staff
who are managing supplier relationships and contracts can utilise. In WCC,
the Contract Management Framework (CMF) has been created and is now
being rolled out.

1.5

The key aims of the CMF are:
a) Consistency of approach
b) Value for Money
c) Defined roles and responsibilities
d) Risk controls
e) Skilled resources

1.6

The CMF is supported by a risk-based segmentation of contracts, so that
its principles are applied proportionally. A small support team is being
recruited to ensure its effective application across WCC.

1.7

In addition, we are working with our major contracts and suppliers to
support the City For All objectives, such as the 2030 Net Zero target, by
baselining the carbon attributed to these contracts, and implementing
ambitious plans to reduce carbon through the contract lifespan.

1.8

The National Audit Office has developed a good practice contract
management framework. This outlines the activities that organisations
should consider when planning and delivering contract management and
also provides a helpful tool to be able to assess the contract management
practice across the Council and identify opportunities for improvement.

1.9

These Contract Management Best Practice principles have been applied
to the councils largest 43 major suppliers and contracts (“Platinum” &
2

Page 614

“Silver”), which account for 67% of the councils total third party annual
spend. A survey was sent to all contract managers which has shown
several areas of strength and consistency. It has also highlighted areas
that need to be further enhanced, either through training or better systems
support. The operational performance of these suppliers and outlook, are
largely satisfactory, though some suppliers have been under-performing
which is being managed by the respective services.
1.10 A similar survey was also undertaken on ‘gold’ suppliers which deliver
critical services or could have a reputational impact on the Council i.e.,
higher risk, but have a low spend. While the suppliers are performing well
in most cases, and have a positive future outlook, they are not reviewed
as often as required, and in many cases, further support and training is
needed by contract managers.
1.11 Risk Management of the supply chain has recently been established in
WCC. Using Financial Credit scores, sector metrics and suppliers’ financial
status in a complex model, we are aiming to pro-actively identify suppliers
who may be at potential risk of financial distress. This will allow us to
support them earlier and take timely mitigating actions.
2.

Recommendations

2.1

It is recommended that the Committee note the contents of this report
and provide feedback on whether it meets their needs, as well as
suggesting any changes or additional content they would like to see in
future reports.

3.

Contract Management Approach at WCC
Overall Context of Procurement Transformation & Contract
Management

3.1

Given the council spends over £500million each year on third party
services and contracts, the procurement service has a very important role
to ensure the delivery of outcomes and value for the city, its residents
and partners.

3.2

As reported in July’s committee report, a new operating model for the
service was implemented in April 2020, with the aim of:


creating an integrated ‘Centre of Excellence’



recruiting a team of high-quality professional practitioners, and a
procurement leadership team.



establishing procurement ‘Business Partners’ for each Service Area;
and

3

Page 615



3.3

providing professional practice leadership for contract and supplier
relationship management, including implementation of the Council’s
new Contract Management Framework.

Positive progress has been made on the improvement and
transformation journey, including:


Recruitment of a permanent team is largely complete bringing
extensive experience and diversity to the service



Much improved staff engagement and satisfaction measured via Our
Voice survey (39% improvement in 1 year)



The Procurement Code has been updated and launched



The procurement process has been conducted to select a cloudbased eSourcing procurement and contract management system to
replace the existing CapitalESourcing system and take steps towards
better systems and data oversight



A ‘data readiness’ project to build (and data cleanse) the Council’s
contract register is underway before implementing the new system.
Phase one focuses on identifying and recording in a central database
all contracts for suppliers with annual spend above £100,000 (the
threshold at which Procurement are engaged). Contracts identified to
date cover over 90% of >£100,000 spend, compared with less than
50% of the spend when the project began.



New business partnering model implemented
relationships and planning with stakeholders.



Continued development of the Responsible Procurement strategy,
including supporting the Climate Emergency programme.

with

improved

Contract Management Framework (CMF)
3.4

The CMF was created to set out some best practice principles that could
be applied to all external third-party relationships, across WCC, and to
help secure beneficial outcomes to support our City for All priorities, cost
saving agenda, and reduce and manage risk.
Guiding principles and background

3.5

The CMF is designed to deliver the following:
a) A consistent approach to Contract Management and significantly
improve the awareness of contract management activity across
WCC.
b) Ensure value for money, drive savings throughout the contract period
and mitigate any risks with suppliers.
4

Page 616

c) Define roles and responsibilities of Contract Managers, Budget
Holders, Procurement teams, and any others that play a major role in
contract management.
d) Define the key controls that need to be applied to each contract,
depending on the level of risk and criticality.
e) Ensure that resources are in place and have the necessary skills, to
manage key contracts and suppliers.
3.6

The CMF was created and presented in 2019. However, its
implementation could not be progressed during 2020, due to the
pandemic and restructure and resourcing in the Procurement and
Commercial Service.

3.7

As part of the new Procurement Services operating model, it was
recognised that a strong Supplier & Contract Management function was
also required.

3.8

A new Head of Supplier Relationship Management was recruited in
March 2021 to review and re-launch the CMF. The review is now
complete and during Q3, the revised CMF will be socialised and
launched across the Council. The review also identified the need for
three full time members of staff to support this function, and in particular,
the rollout of the CMF. Recruitment is currently in progress.
Supplier Segmentation

3.9

In line with the Contract Management Framework, supplier contracts are
now categorised into one of four designated groups according to value
and risk. This guides the level and intensity of contract management
required and ensures the council can allocate resources, skills and
governance proportionately taking account of commercial impact,
contract, and supplier risk.
Contracts Segmentation principles

3.10

Contracts are assessed by risk and expenditure and categorised into four
areas, as set out overleaf:

5

Page 617

Higher Criticality/Risk:
High (>£100k) commercial impact, significant
public/customer or market visibility or loss of
critical functions/systems.
Medium Criticality/Risk:
Limited (<£100k) commercial impact, limited
negative reputational or political impact;
functions/systems impacted, but restored
within 2 days
Lower Criticality/Risk:
Negligible commercial impact (< £10K); No
external visibility and no critical effect; negligible
dependency on supplier

3.11

WCC’s 2020-22 third party expenditure was £512m, as set out below:
Segment
Platinum
Silver
Gold
Bronze
Grand Total

No of
suppliers
23
20
151
2614
2808

Spend
£
£
£
£
£

259,851,016
84,524,053
42,799,678
125,212,982
512,387,729

% Share
51%
16%
8%
24%

3.12

The majority of the spend is concentrated in the Platinum and Silver
groups where 67% of spend falls to only 43 suppliers.

3.13

A ‘community of practice’ forum has now been created for contract
managers (now with over 200 members) providing access to contract and
supplier information. This will form the basis of further support and
training for contract managers which will run alongside the new system
implementation during the spring of 2022.
Contract Management System

3.14

The Framework for the new E-Tendering and Contract Management
system has been awarded and it is expected that the call-off contract for
WCC’s new E-Tendering and Contract Management system is expected
to be awarded imminently, with the platform expected to go live in Spring
2022. This will offer an integrated corporate contract register and contract
management module which will provide essential support to contract
managers and enable ‘real time’ reporting of contract performance,
including Social Value KPIs, which are currently done manually.
Performance measurement will become easier and more transparent.

6

Page 618

City for All – Cleaner and Greener
3.15

As part of the Climate Emergency and Net Zero target, we have started a
project to reduce carbon emissions from our key contracts. 10 contracts
have been identified, which have the greatest carbon intensity in their
delivery. We picked a range of contracts that were in the Highways,
Construction, and Waste categories, as these are particularly more
carbon intensive. We are working with the respective suppliers to
calculate the baseline, and initiate action plans which will reduce carbon
emissions over the lifetime of those contracts.
Social Value

3.16

Almost all contracts now have social value obligations (such as
volunteering, skills upliftment, and training), as part of their competitive
tender award. We have developed tools and templates for contract
managers to use, as part of their periodic contract reviews, to ensure that
such obligations are being delivered.

4.

Contract performance

4.1

Suppliers are core to WCC’s objectives of providing a value for money
and effective service to its residents and stakeholders. Regular contract
performance measurement and monitoring provides the assurance that
suppliers are delivering their contractual obligations.

4.2

In the past contract performance has been reported to a limited extent.
This year, we have a more comprehensive reporting of performance,
taken from the contract managers themselves. In addition, we have
begun to measure how well contracts are being managed, using
recognised National Audit Office (NAO) principles, and online surveys.
This process will be repeated quarterly.
NAO Methodology – 10 principles

4.3

The NAO has created a best practice set of principles for effective
contract and supplier management. These principles are being used
widely across Central and Local Government, and we wanted to
benchmark WCC against this standard. The table below shows the
principles and a brief explanation of each factor.
Principle
Planning:

Description
Preparing for contract management through defined ownership
of the contract and processes, including monitoring and
mitigation of issues

7

Page 619

People:

The right people are in place to manage contracts effectively,
they are adequately trained and resourced, and have the
required decision-making authority

Administration: The physical contract is stored and accessible, and contract
management information like closure dates are available on a
system.
Managing
relationships:
Managing
performance:
Payment and
incentives:
Risk:

Contract
development:
Supplier
development:
Supplier
relationship
management:

Internal and external relationships are clearly understood, and
there is effective communication across teams, and used to
resolve issues in a timely manner.
The service is provided in line with the contract, with defined
Service level agreements. Compliance is measured, feedback
provided, and performance reviews are undertaken.
Payments are made to the supplier in line with the contract,
processes are well-defined, and appropriate incentive
mechanisms are in place
Contract managers have a clear understanding of risks
affecting the contract and there are processes for monitoring
and managing contractual and supplier risk
There are defined processes to review the contract regularly,
and an approval process when making changes to the contract
There are processes in place which monitor benefits and
continuously improve supplier performance and capability
There is a programme for managing and developing
relationships with suppliers and capturing innovation

Results from survey of Platinum & Silver Supplier Contract
Managers
4.4

We reviewed the performance and outlook of the 43 Platinum and Silver
suppliers, via their Contract Managers. This was done through a
comprehensive online survey, and all opinions and statements are taken
directly from the contract managers.
Overall Performance

4.5

The contract managers were asked to rate their suppliers on the quality
of their performance. The table below reflects their view. Nearly 90% of
suppliers are performing satisfactorily, or generally meeting standards.
While there may be operational issues in about 60% of cases, these are
managed and resolved through regular dialogue with suppliers.

8

Page 620

Directorate

Good - meets
or exceeds
requirements

Satisfactory
- generally
meets but
some minor
issues

Poor - falling
short of
requirements
though not
critically

1
0
3
2
8
1
0
15
38%

5
0
2
2
6
0
5
20
51%

0
0
3
0
0
0
0
3
8%

Adults Services
Children’s Services
ECM
Finance & Resources
GPH
People Services
Public Health
Grand Total
%

Unsatisfactory
- often falling
short of
requirements
sometimes
critically
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
1
3%

Grand
Total

6
0
8
4
15
1
6
39*
100%

*4 of the 23 “silver” supplier contracts expired during 2021 and were not surveyed.

Details on Poor or Unsatisfactory suppliers
4.6

From the survey of contract managers, four of the council’s top suppliers
were rated as Poor or Unsatisfactory in their day-to-day operational
performance. The details of the four suppliers are in confidential
appendix 1.

Forward Outlook
4.7

Contract managers were asked to state how they viewed their suppliers
performing during the next quarter.

Topic

Survey Result

Performance outlook for the next
quarter

Of the 39 suppliers surveyed, Contract
Managers rated 37 as “Stable” or “Improving“
their current delivery during the next quarter.
2 suppliers (also rated as currently poor) may
be at risk of deteriorating services.
There are active steps in place to manage
their performance, with escalations and
review meetings taking place regularly.

4.8

In the same online survey, we also asked a series of questions based
upon the NAO Contract Management principles. The table below shows
the results. Contract Managers’ comments are shown in italics:

NAO factor

Survey Result

Planning:

Of the 39 suppliers, in 95% of cases, the
contract manager and budget holder have been
defined, and issues and performance are

Preparation through defined ownership
of contract and processes

9

Page 621

reported regularly. However, this is all done
manually within directorates and there are no
shared or common reporting systems in place.

People:
Skilled managers with the right training
and resources in place

While all “Platinum” Contracts are available on
Capital ESourcing, 4 “Silver” contract managers
(10% of total) are reporting a delay in access to
their contracts in the database due to contract
signatures and sign-offs not being completed.

Contract Administration:
Accessibility to relevant contractual
information

Managing relationships:
Clear understanding of roles, along with
effective communication

Managing performance:
Defined & agreed performance criteria,
with regular review

Payment and incentives
Payments in line with contract;
processes in place

Contract managers have a detailed knowledge
of the contract, service level agreements, and
ongoing supplier performance. All stated that
they had appropriate contract management
skills and expertise, with many reporting that
their experience ran to several years. In some
cases, commissioners also act as contract
managers.

82% of Contract managers reported that roles
and responsibilities, both internally at WCC and
at the supplier had been defined, and that
regular communication routes were understood
and being used, both formal and informal. The
remainder were Neutral, mainly due to the
supplier’s roles not always defined, or
changeable.

There was a unanimous response that Service
management in WCC is well structured, and
suppliers understand the service they are
required to deliver. Issues occurs when a
supplier is not adequately geared up to deliver
their obligations in a timely manner.

Similar to the above factor, all contract
managers agreed that payment mechanisms
and processes are documented and well
understood by all parties.

10

Page 622

Risk:
Clear understanding and monitoring of
risks

Financial Risk Monitoring

Contract development:
Variation and change control processes
in place

Supplier development:
Processes in place to continuously
improve supplier capability

Supplier relationship
management:
Managing and developing relationships
with suppliers

In 95% of WCC’s Platinum and Silver contracts,
risks are formally identified and monitored
regularly, usually through Risk Registers that
are held locally. In addition, managers
understand contractual terms & conditions such
as termination, warranties, indemnities, and
insurance.
However, only 50% of the 39 contract
managers appear to monitor the supplier’s
financial health on a regular (i.e., quarterly)
basis. Contract managers rely upon Finance or
Procurement to supply them with such
information, and in some cases are unaware
that this is a requirement. In the current climate,
this may be seen as a potential risk, should a
supplier suddenly become insolvent.

All Contract Managers were aware of the
change control process, for any contract
variations. They also review and update
contracts (where necessary) to ensure it meets
evolving business needs.

95% of Contract Managers reported they work
with suppliers to ensure continuous
improvement in value, performance, and cost.
“..the market is tested for every Task
instructed... We are accountable to
leaseholders for providing value for money so
this is a priority for the whole team”
“Benchmarking is conducted to ensure VFM”.
“..I have set performance targets at a high level
to encourage continuous improvement.. “
Shared activities between the WCC and the
supplier e.g., process or performance
improvement, shared training, task forces,
which strengthen relationships, and deliver
value is only done for 55% of suppliers.
Some examples:
“The supplier sources and manages volunteers,
social work students, et al at their own cost, to
the benefit of the service.”

11

Page 623

“We are working on a system interface (with the
supplier) to reduce double handling and
document management protocol.”
“Community insight from projects has been
invaluable in supporting council Covid
engagement response”

Conclusions and observations – platinum & silver suppliers
4.9

The following conclusions and observations are following this exercise:
a) Overall, Platinum and Silver suppliers (which account for 67% of
expenditure) are rated as “performing satisfactorily, or good”, based
on the response from their Contract Managers.
b) In four cases where their performance has been “Poor” or
“Unsatisfactory”, there are mitigations and corrective measures in
place for three of them. The fourth has now been replaced with a new
supplier.
c) As we do not yet have a system to monitor KPIs or SLAs, we are
reliant on the views of contract managers. Independent assurance is
therefore required, and it is expected that the new system will provide
this with improved corporate challenge and oversight.
d) Contract managers report they feel aware of their responsibilities and
take adequate steps in the initial planning and set-up of contracts.
Managers are also aware of key management processes such as
invoicing and contract variation.
e) Areas that do need improvement are Risk Management, and Supplier
Relationship and development.
Key actions and next steps - platinum & silver suppliers

4.10 Contract managers will continue to monitor operational performance of
their suppliers and the planned new system will make it easier to track
performance on a dynamic basis. The following further actions are listed:
a) For non-performing suppliers, or those with a weak outlook, we will
take more stringent corrective and improvement action, to ensure the
right service levels are being met. If these interventions do not work,
we will consider re-procurement, where necessary.
b) Where Contract managers have not been allocated, due primarily to
changes in organisation, we will work with directorates to ensure this
is rectified.
c) There is a current initiative in place to ensure all contracts over
£100,000 are stored centrally and migrated to the new platform when
it is launched. We will aim to close any gaps through joint working with
services.
12

Page 624

d) We will start communicating monthly or quarterly Financial risk
indicators to contract managers – see Risk section 5.
e) As part of continuous development of contract managers, we will
share examples of collaborative projects so that there is much greater
interaction and pro-activity, which will result in better supplier
relationships. Key to this will be the Contract Managers Forum, which
will be launched soon.
f) Contract management risks will also be escalated reported to each
Directorate’s Procurement Board
Results from Gold suppliers survey
4.11 We conducted an online survey in August 2021 from the managers of the
‘Gold’ suppliers (i.e. those that have relatively lower annual spends under
£2m but pose a higher risk to WCC either due to the criticality of the
service delivered or reputational damage). This accounts for 8% of the
Council’s total third party spend.
4.12 The key observations arising from the survey are:
a) Not every “Gold” supplier has a designated contract manager. The
reasons for this are partly due to the low spends, and where such a
requirement has not been deemed necessary. With the rollout of the
Contract Management Framework, this issue should be resolved in
due course.
b) Almost every contract has performance KPIs.
c) We have observed that only 11% review KPIs monthly, and about a
quarter of the suppliers are not reviewed at all. This is again related to
the lack of clear guidance and training of contract managers.
d) According to their contract managers, 61% of the Gold suppliers are
rated as Satisfactory (meeting expectations generally, but with some
minor issues). 35% are rated Good (meeting or exceeding
expectations). Two suppliers are not performing to standard and are
being replaced by end September.
e) In terms of their costs, all except one supplier is either in line with
budget, or below. The one that is not in line with budget has reported
some cost pressures. “…Good level of performance but there are a
number of requests for change and additional fee items coming
through..”
f) The three month outlook for all Gold Suppliers were rated as either
Stable or Improving.
Key actions and next steps from Gold survey results
4.13 The following actions are being carried out in response to the survey:
13

Page 625

a) We will reinforce the importance of assigning contract managers to
Gold contracts
b) This will be followed up by training and support with tools, via the
procurement hub.
c) Adults and Childrens Services will always be required to spot
purchase some specialist care and support. Work is underway
updating the spot purchase contract. Also, the relevant procurement
boards will ensure sufficient local oversight is given to these providers
alongside national regulation for the majority of spot purchased care
and support via Care Quality Commission and Ofsted.
d) Gold suppliers will also be risk-managed, initially via the Financial
Risk methodology in the following section.
5.

Risk Management of Contracts & Suppliers

5.1

Third Party Risk Management is a key component of effective contract
management. This section discusses the current initiatives that are in
place to manage supplier risk and our plans to enhance them.
Resilience Forum

5.2

A Supplier Resilience forum was set up at the start of the pandemic, to
monitor and assist suppliers at risk of insolvency. This has been very
successful, with several suppliers being assisted in a timely manner.

5.3

Whilst in the first instance utilising national support mechanisms the
council was able to offer support such as accelerated invoice payment,
change to contract requirements, targets and performance indicators as
well as consideration of additional costs that may have been incurred to
maintain valuable services.

5.4

The council communicated directly at the start of the pandemic to make
providers aware of the process they needed to follow.

5.5

Overall, support valued at £1.72m has been provided – with almost 50%
being as additional funding. These figures excluding support for the
leisure services contract which have been managed separately.
Risk Governance Forum

5.6

In order to ensure that we pro-actively monitor supplier risk, we have
recently set up a monthly Risk Governance Forum (RGF). It consists of
the Director of Commercial Partnerships, Heads of Service in
Procurement, Finance, and representatives from the bi-borough
directorates. Their aims are:
14

Page 626

5.7



Review Supplier risks highlighted in the preceding period.



Advise on any escalations or mitigations required,



Escalate report any emerging or inherent risks to the SLT

The RGF is supported by the Head of Supplier Relationship Management
and his team, who monitor Financial Risk, Adverse media alerts and
other risk indicators. The RGF was launched in August 2021 and is in its
early stages of development. It will evolve its remit during this year. The
RGF has effectively taken over, and enhanced, the role previously
performed by the Covid Supply Chain Resilience group.
Anticipating Risk of Supplier Failure – our new methodology

5.8

The pandemic has demonstrated that many suppliers, regardless of size,
are vulnerable to external market conditions. This crisis has exposed the
cash flow position and financial resilience in many sectors, and there is
an ongoing risk of supplier bankruptcy even following the crisis. WCC
therefore need to be vigilant about the financial strength of their critical
suppliers and take action to prevent disruption wherever possible.

5.9

We have recently created a model to identify suppliers at potential risk of
failure by using a combination of the following factors:


Dependency: Suppliers who earn a higher proportion of their
income from WCC are more vulnerable from a loss of earnings



Credit Rating: Our current ratings agency, Creditsafe, provides
monthly updates on suppliers’ credit ratings. A low rating indicates
possible financial distress



Credit Rating Trend: Creditsafe also provide historic credit ratings
for suppliers who report their finances to Companies House. A
weakening rating over time is an indicator of financial issues.



Sector Risk: As we have seen during this crisis, some sectors like
Construction, Travel and the Adults Social Care markets have
been particularly badly hit.

5.10 Using a complex financial model, we have applied these factors to our
critical suppliers. See example table below:

15

Page 627

Supplier ID
1
2
3
4
6
7
9
10
11
13
14
15
23
25
26
27
28

FY Spend 20/21
61,855,696
53,341,250
2,384,477
15,445,960
11,671,012
10,483,893
11,992,623
3,022,903
8,260,783
6,673,091
6,368,375
4,810,868
887,773
3,652,914
3,897,924
2,953,430

Dependency
18.99%
5.18%
27.76%
13.40%
7.15%
48.71%
7.19%
2.34%
0.59%
0.00%
2.89%
0.73%
7.05%
0.15%
10.65%
1.48%
9.36%

Resilience
Indicator

Description of Industry

Current
Rating

Trend
(Score Text)

Serious Impact
Construction of roads and motorways
100
Stable
Severe Impact Activities of other holding companies n.e.c.
60
Falling
Severe ImpactOther business support service activities n.e.c.
34
Falling
Severe Impact
Management of real estate on a fee or contract basis 78
Stable
Low Impact
General public administration activities
96
Stable
Renting
Moderate
and
Impact
leasing of other machinery, equipment and tangible goods
87
n.e.c. Rising
Serious ImpactOther specialised construction activities n.e.c.
92
Stable
Serious Impact
Development of building projects
91
Stable
Severe Impact Information technology consultancy activities
69
Stable
Fairly Low Impact Other residential care activities n.e.c.
80
Stable
Fairly Low Impact
Other business support service activities n.e.c.
77
Falling
Fairly Low Impact
Activities of head offices
94
Stable
Serious Impact
Management of real estate on a fee or contract basis 96
Stable
Low Impact
Trade of electricity
80
Stable
Moderate Impact
Landscape service activities
92
Stable
Moderate Impact
Non-life insurance
97
Stable
Moderate Impact
Other business support service activities n.e.c.
55
Stable

Q1 to Q4 |
OVERALL
(Score Text)
Strong
Mediocre
Weak
Mediocre
Very Strong
Mediocre
Strong
Strong
Mediocre
Strong
Strong
Strong
Strong
Very Strong
Strong
Strong
Mediocre

Results of applying the methodology
5.11 As this is our first attempt at anticipating financial risk, we considered
around 200 Platinum, Gold & Silver suppliers, and applied the four
factors as detailed in section 5.9 to them. Data sources were Creditsafe,
Industry indicators, and our Financial systems. This model does not claim
to be a definitive predictor of risk but may indicate its possibility.
5.12 There was no data available for approximately 25 suppliers since they
have not reported their financial status. These are either NHS entities, or
Charities, many of whom have not got credit ratings. We are working with
the credit agency as well as the suppliers, to obtain this additional
information.
5.13 About 10 suppliers have been flagged for further investigation and
review, based on the 4 factors. They are being reviewed by the relevant
contract managers and with the co-operation and input from the relevant
suppliers.
5.14 Our aim is to further improve our risk management capabilities through
the life of a contract. We are evaluating other risks (like Data Protection,
Information Security, Human Rights, etc.) that could affect our supply
chain, and cause reputational damage to the council, and also reviewing
systems that could give us more visibility of risks. We will evaluate the
best course of action, and report back on the enhancements that we
make.

6.

Next Steps Summary

6.1

In addition to the next steps described above, the following actions will
take place in the final two quarters of 2021/22:
a) Re-Launch of the Contract Management Framework, through a
process of consultation with the service areas and contract managers.
This will include introduction of tools, templates and training for
16

Page 628

contract managers, which will drive consistency and improved
contract performance.
b) Launch of Procurement & Contract management eLearning modules,
to enhance skills and capabilities of Contract Managers across WCC
c) Continued enhancement of the Risk Governance Forum with addition
of new monitoring tools to give us earlier indications of risks.

7.

Financial Implications

7.1

The 2021/22 budget for Procurement is £1.735m. There are no savings
for Procurement in the 2021/22 budget.

7.2

A business justification has been submitted to Corporate Finance for the
capital funding for the new procurement system for the amount of
£0.210m. It is expected that this will be funded from other underspends
within the Finance & Resources Capital programme.
Comments provided by Kim Wreford SFM Corporate Services

8.

Legal Implications

8.1

Under section 3 of the Local Government Act 1999 the Council has a
duty to make arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way
in which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of
economy, efficiency and effectiveness. It must comply
with relevant procurement legislation and rules governing tenders and the
award of contracts as set out in the Procurement Code.

8.2

The measures proposed and implemented by Procurement &
Commercial Services enables the Council to meet its statutory
obligations and corporate priorities.

8.3

Legal Services is working closely with the Procurement team and the
directorates to deliver the various projects set out in the report.
Legal implications by Christina Worrell, Solicitor (Contracts), Bi-Borough
Shared legal Services.

9.

Staffing Implications
N/A

17

Page 629

If you have any queries about this Report or wish to inspect any
of the Background Papers, please contact:
Tony Roy, Head of Supplier Relationship Management
Contact Details: troy@westminster.gov.uk

18

Page 630

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 631

This page is intentionally left blank

